e-ISSN: 2636-8579

JHSM



Journal of Health Sciences and Medicine



HONORARY EDITOR

Osman GÜLER

Department of General Surgery, School of Medicine, Kastamonu University, Kastamonu, TURKEY

EDITOR-IN-CHIEF

Aydın ÇİFCİ

Department of Internal Medicine, School of Medicine, Kırıkkale University, Kırıkkale, TURKEY

Yavuz BEYAZIT

Department of Gastroenterology, School of Medicine, Çanakkale

Onsekiz Mart University, Çanakkale, TURKEY

İbrahim Celalettin HAZNEDAROĞLU

Department of Hematology, School of Medicine, Hacettepe

University, Ankara, TURKEY

Ekrem ÜNAL

Department of Pediatric Hematology-Oncology, School of Medicine,

Erciyes University, Kayseri, TURKEY

Alpaslan TANOĞLU

Department of Gastroenterology, Sancaktepe Şehit Prof. Dr. İlhan Varank Training and Research Hospital, University of Health Sciences, İstanbul, TURKEY

EDITOR

Ahmet EKEN

Department of Medical Biology, School of Medicine, Erciyes University, Kayseri, TURKEY

Murat KEKİLLİ

Department of Gastroenterology, School of Medicine, Gazi University, Ankara, TURKEY

Ercan YUVANÇ

Department of Urology, School of Medicine, Kırıkkale University, Kırıkkale, TURKEY

ASSOCIATE EDITOR

Bekir UÇAN

Department of Endocrinology and Metabolism, Dışkapı Yıldırım Beyazıt Training and Research Hospital, University of Health Sciences, Ankara, TURKEY Department of Hematology and Bone Transplantation Unit, School of Medicine, Yıldırım Beyazıt University, Ankara, TURKEY

ENGLISH LANGUAGE EDITOR

Mustafa CIVELEKLER

Department of Ophthalmology, Gülhane Training and Research Hospital, Ankara, TURKEY

STATISTICS EDITOR

Ahsen CEYLAN

Medical Devices Technical Regulation Expert, Clinical Expert, UDEM, Ankara, TURKEY

EDITORIAL BOARD

Ayşegül ALTUNKESER

Department of Radiodiagnostic, Konya Training and Research Hospital, Konya, TURKEY

Nilgün ALTUNTAŞ

Department of Neonatology, Ankara City Hospital, Yıldırım Beyazıt University, Ankara, TURKEY

Nuray BAYAR MULUK

Department of Ear Nose Throat, School of Medicine, Kırıkkale University, Kırıkkale, TURKEY

Michele CASSANO

Department of Ear Nose Throat, Foggia, ITALY

Can CEDİDİ

Department of Plastic, Reconstructif and Aesthetic Surgery Bremen, GERMANY Salih CESUR

Department of Infectious Diseases and Clinical Microbiology, Ankara Training and Research Hospital, Ankara, TURKEY

Ela CÔMERT

Department of Ear Nose Throat, School of Medicine, Kırıkkale University, Kırıkkale, TURKEY

Kenan ÇADIRCI

Department of Internal Medicine, Erzurum Region Training and Research Hospital, Erzurum, TURKEY

Mustafa ÇAPRAZ

Department of Internal Medicine, School of Medicine, Amasya University, Amasya, TURKEY

Demetrios DEMETRIADES

Department of General and Trauma and Critical Care Surgery, Los Angeles, USA

Mehmet Sinan DAL

Mehmet Emin DEMIR

Department of Nephrology, Gaziosmanpaşa Hospital, Yeni Yüzyıl University, İstanbul, TURKEY

Bulut DEMİREL

Department of Emergency Medicine, Royal Alexandra Hospital, Paisley, Glasgow, UNITED KINGDOM

Süleyman GÖKMEN

Department of Food Engineering, School of Engineering, Karamanoğlu Mehmetbey University, Karaman, TURKEY

Zaim JATIC

Department of Family Medicine, Sarajevo, BOSNIA-HERZEGOVINA

Muhammed KARADENİZ

Department of Cardiology, School of Medicine, Kırıkkale University, Kırıkkale, TURKEY

Hidayet MEMMEDZADE

Department of Endocrinology and Metabolism, Bakü Medical Plaza Hospital, Bakü, AZERBAYCAN

Ranko MLADINA

Department of Ear Nose Throat, Zagrep, CROATIA

Kaan OKYAY

Department of Cardiology, Başkent University Ankara Hospital, Ankara, TURKEY

Ebru OLGUN

Department of Periodontology, School of Dentistry, Kırıkkale University, Kırıkkale, TURKEY

Faruk PEHLİVANLI

Department of General Surgery, School of Medicine, Kırıkkale University, Kırıkkale, TURKEY

Ünsal SAVCI

Department of Clinical Microbiology, Hitit University Erol Olçok Training and Research Hospital, Corum, TURKEY

Ido SOMEKH

Department of Pediatric Hematology Oncology, Schneider Children's Medical Center of Israel, Petah Tikva, Sackler Faculty of Medicine, Tel Aviv University, Tel Aviv, ISRAEL

Mehmet ŞAHİN

Department of Romatology, School of Medicine, Süleyman Demirel University, Isparta, TURKEY

Ziya ŞENCAN

Department of Ear Nose Throat, School of Medicine, Kırıkkale University, Kırıkkale, TURKEY

Gökçe ŞİMŞEK

Department of Ear Nose Throat, Private Clinic, Ankara TURKEY

Yaşar TOPAL

Department of Pediatrics, School of Medicine, Muğla Sıtkı Koçman University, Muğla, TURKEY

Vedat TOPSAKAL

Department of Ear Nose Throat, Antwerp, BELGIUM

Ayça TÖREL ERGÜR

Department of Pediatric Endocrinology, School of Medicine, Ufuk University, Ankara, TURKEY

Emre VURAL

Department of Ear Nose Throat, Arkansas, USA

Alpaslan TUZCU

Department of Endocrinology, School of Medicine, Dicle University, Diyarbakır, TURKEY

M. İlkin YERAL

Department of Gynecology and Obstetrics, School of Medicine, Akdeniz University, Antalya, TURKEY

Kadri YILDIZ

Department of Orthopedics and Traumatology, School of Medicine, Kafkas University, Kars, TURKEY

PUBLICATION BOARD

Fevzi ALTUNTAŞ

Department of Hematology, Dr. Abdurrahman Yurtaslan Ankara Onkoloji Training and Research Hospital, Yıldırım Beyazıt University, Ankara, TURKEY

Bahadır CELEP

Department of General Surgery and Gastroenterologic Surgery, Viyana, AUSTRIA

Mustafa CESUR

Department of Endocrinology, Ankara Güven Hospital, Ankara, TURKEY

Roger CHEN

Department of Endocrinology and Metabolism, Sydney, AUSTRALIA

Aylin ÇAPRAZ

Department of Chest Diseases, School of Medicine, Amasya University, Amasya, TURKEY

Ayşe ÇARLIOĞLU Department of Endocrinology, Private Clinic, Ankara, TURKEY

Murat DOĞAN

Department of Internal Medicine, Hitit University Erol Olçok Training and Research Hospital, Çorum, TURKEY

Meltem HENDEK

Department of Periodontology, School of Dentistry, Kırıkkale University, Kırıkkale, TURKEY

Hakan KAYA

Department of Medical Oncology Hematology, Spokane, USA

Fatma NİŞANCI KILIÇ

Department of Nutrition and Dietetic, School of Health Sciences, Kırıkkale University, Kırıkkale, TURKEY

Neven SKITARELIC

Department of Ear Nose Throat, Zadar, CROATIA

Engin TUTKUN

Department of Public Health, School of Medicine, Bozok University, Yozgat, TURKEY

Özge VERGİLİ

Department of Physiotherapy, School of Health Sciences, Kırıkkale University, Kırıkkale, TURKEY

Yücel YILMAZ

Department of Cardiology, Kayseri Training and Research Hospital, Kayseri, TURKEY

Mehmet ZENGİN

Department of Pathology, School of Medicine, Kırıkkale University, Kırıkkale, TURKEY

FRANCHISE OWNER

MediHealth Academy Publishing (www.medihealthacademy.com)

DESIGN

Fatih Şamil ULUDAĞ (fsuludag@medihealthacademy.com)

CORRESPONDENCE ADDRESS

MediHealth Academy Publishing Emniyet Mah., Yukarı Sk., 6/1, Yenimahalle, Ankara, Turkey E-mail: mha@medihealthacademy.com Phone: +90 312 349 77 77

ARTICLE SUBMISSION ADDRESS

https://dergipark.org.tr/tr/journal/2316/submission/step/manuscript/new

Our dear readers,

We are happy to publish the third issue of our journal for 2022 with 40 articles. In this period when the COVID-19 pandemic has lost its power, we agree that we should devote a significant part of our strength to scientific articles. As we mentioned before, we want to contribute to international literature at an increasing level and to increase the success bar of our journal by entering valuable international indexes. I would like to thank all authors for submitting articles contributing to both domestic and international literature with their comprehensive scientific content for publication in our journal. We hope that this issue will be useful to our readers.

Sincerely yours

Assoc. Prof. Alpaslan TANOĞLU, MD Editor-in-Chief

CONTENTS

Original Article
MR imaging characteristics of Morel-Lavallee lesions in pediatric patients
The effect of <i>Lycium barbarum</i> on reproductive system and the expression of Crisp-1 protein in experimentally diabetic male rats706
Relationship between the amniotic fluid prolactin level at early second trimester and pregnancy outcome
Hyperlipasemia is a poor prognostic factor in patients with COVID-19720
Two-year profile of the records of patients referred to Adana city hospital urology clinic due to PSA high in primary care: a retrospective review
Muscle hydatid diseases: percutaneous treatment with Örmeci technique732
Predictors of colonic diverticulosis in non-elderly patients740
Retrospective evaluation of labial fusion in girls746
Evaluation of preemptive interspace between the popliteal artery and the capsule of the posterior knee (IPACK) block for postoperative pain management in arthroscopic knee surgeries: a retrospective study
The comparison of treatment with orlistat and orlistat plus metformin in relation to insulin resistance and weight loss755
Fetuin A level in advanced placental calcification at term pregnancies
Overview of the angiogenic effect of probiotics (<i>Lactobacillus acidophilus</i> and <i>Lactobacillus rhamnosus</i>) at human umbilical vein endothelial cells
Correlation of vitamin D level with the clinical-radiological severity of COVID-19 in geriatric patients
The effect of main pulmonary artery diameter on the prognosis of COVID-19 patients in the ICU

CONTENTS

Original	Article
----------	---------

Does your sleeping position affect your shoulder pain?782
Evaluation of the alteration in retinal features following bariatric surgery in patients with morbid obesity
Early and late results of intravenous immunoglobulin as potential adjuvant therapies in critically ill COVID-19 patients: a retrospective cohort study
Predictors and outcome of hyponatremia in patients with COVID 19: a single-center experience
The most typical mistakes made during pelvic X-ray in pediatric patients typical mistakes made during pelvic X-ray
Evaluation of the need for hospital-based pediatric palliative care in a single center
Evaluation of anatomical variations with morphological measurements and their relationship with rotator cuff tear and acromion types
Investigation of the CHOKAI score used to predict ureteral stones in patients presenting to the emergency department with renal colic
Measurement of 0 to 2 age normal eyeball volume by the use of multidetector computed tomography
Mediastinal lymphnode positivity clinical scoring system for lung adenocarsinoma-mediastinal lymph node evaluation and staging
Integrity loss of glycosylated hemoglobin with deepening anemia
The diagnostic value of calcium binding protein S100A8/A9 and S100A12 in acute pancreatitis
Evaluation of obstetric and neonatal outcomes and cesarean section rates of Syrian and Turkish adolescent pregnant women according to the Robson ten group classification system
Clinical value of heart type fatty acid binding protein (H-FABP) in acute pulmonary thromboembolism

CONTENTS

Original Article

Histopathological examination of the placenta after delivery in pregnant women with COVID-19
Role of red cell distribution width in colorectal cancer diagnosis and prognosis
Comparison of ocular emergencies in the COVID-19 pandemic and pre-pandemic period in the tertiary hospital of Turkey
Fear of COVID-19: reflections on disease severity, sleep and anxiety in fibromyalgia patients
Is there an association between thyroid function tests and 18F FDG PET/CT parameters in untreated cancer patients?
Impact of patient satisfaction with insulin pens on glycemic control901
Examination of patients admitted to a university hospital with methanol intoxication
Can Saccharomyces boulardii treat and eradicate Helicobacter pylori among children instead of bismuth?912
The relationship between white coat hypertension and the index of cardiac electrophysiological balance (ICEB)917
Clinical, sonographical and cytological comparison of toxic and non-toxic thyroid nodules922
Pneumococcal and influenza vaccination rates among patients with cardiovascular disease

Review

The pathobiological harmony between the local pulmonary/bone marrow RAS	
and its management via tissue-RAS modulating agents in COVID-19	932

MR imaging characteristics of Morel-Lavallee lesions in pediatric patients

[®]Ömer Kazcı¹, [®]Düzgün Can Şenbil², [®]Seda Kaynak Şahap³, [®]Berna Uçan⁴, [®]Sonay Aydin²

¹Yüksek İhtisas University, Department of Radiology, Ankara, Turkey
 ²Erzincan University, Department of Radiology, Erzincan, Turkey
 ³Ankara University, Department of Radiology, Ankara, Turkey
 ⁴Dr. Sami Ulus Children's Hospital, Department of Radiology, Ankara, Turkey

Cite this article as: Kazcı Ö, Şenbil DC, Kaynak Şahap S, Ucan B, Aydın S. MR imaging characteristics of Morel-Lavallee lesions in pediatric patients. J Health Sci Med 2022; 5(3): 702-705.

ABSTRACT

Aim: Morel-Lavallée syndrome (MLS) is a serious posttraumatic soft tissue injury in which the subcutaneous tissues are separated from the underlying fascia by glove-finger (closed type) peeling and replaced by a cavity filled with hematoma and fat. It is most commonly seen in the trochanter major, but it can also be found in the flank, hip, and lumbodorsal regions. The goal of this study is to define the typical findings of MLS in order to avoid misdiagnosis and delay in patient treatment.

Material and Method: This retrospective study was approved by the Institutional Review Board. Informed consent was waived due to the retrospective nature of the study. Between 2015 and 2021, MR images and clinical follow-ups of 22 pediatric patients with clinical and radiological Morel-Lavallée lesions (MLL) were reviewed retrospectively. All patients were evaluated using 1.5T or 3T power MR devices (Siemens Healthineers, Erlangen, Germany).

Results: Of 22 patients diagnosed with MLS, 77% (n=17) were male and 23% (n=5) were female. Patients ranged in age from 7 to 18 years, with a mean of 13.2 years (+/-2,3). The locations of MLL were knee (77%, n=17, 15 patients had anterior knee and 2 patients had posterior knee involvement), hip (14%, n=3) and thigh (9%, n=2) in order of frequency. These lesions all had a similar ovoid shape. The majority of patients (18/22) received solely conservative management but three patients underwent percutaneous drainage.

Conclusion: In our study, the importance of differential diagnosis of MLL from traumatic collections and the importance of MRI findings in diagnosis and treatment were discussed. Accurate diagnosis and treatment of MLL are critical, as the lesion's size may increase as a result of delayed treatment, causing skin necrosis and denervation due to the mass effect.

Keywords: Morel-lavallée, MRI, traumatic collection

INTRODUCTION

Morel-Lavallée syndrome (MLS) is a serious posttraumatic soft tissue injury in which the subcutaneous tissues are separated from the underlying fascia by glove-finger (closed type) peeling and replaced by a cavity filled with hematoma and fat. It is most commonly seen in the trochanter major, but it can also be found in the flank, hip, and lumbodorsal regions (1).

MLS is a trochanter major lesion first described in 1863 by Victor-Auguste-François Morel-Lavellée (2). It is the preferred term for all degloving injuries, including many bone spurs (3-5). Pathological examination of MLS reveals fat lobules within the lesion, which aids in distinguishing MLS from traumatic pathologies such as hematoma and bursitis (3,6).

MLS reduces lymphatic circulation and causes blood vessel damage. The formed cavity collects blood and lymphatic fluid. These fluids' metabolic and inflammatory content increases cellular permeability. As a result, the leakage from the vessels and lymphatics into the formed space becomes more pronounced. This cycle is thought to be responsible for the lesions' continuous growth and development. Because MLS lesions are rare and their diagnosis may be delayed due to trauma history, approximately half of the patients' diagnoses are missed (6,7).

Corresponding Author: Düzgün Can ŞENBİL, senbilcan@gmail.com



The goal of this study is to define the typical findings of MLS in order to avoid misdiagnosis and delay in patient treatment.

MATERIAL AND METHOD

This retrospective study was approved by the Erzincan Binali Yıldırım University Clinical Researches Ethics Committee (Date: 25.01.2021, Decision No: 02/21). Informed consent was waived due to the retrospective nature of the study. All procedures performed in studies involving human participants were in accordance with the ethical standards of the institutional and/or national research committee and with the 1964 Helsinki declaration and its later amendments or comparable ethical standards.

Between 2015 and 2021, magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) and clinical follow-ups of 22 pediatric patients with clinical and radiological Morel-lavallée lesions(MLL) were reviewed retrospectively.

All patients were evaluated using 1.5T or 3T power MR devices (Siemens Healthineers, Erlangen, Germany). Although the modalities used in each patient differed, all patients received fat-suppressed and non-fat-suppressed sequences. Fat-suppressed axial proton density, non-fat-suppressed coronal T1 spin echo (SE), fat-suppressed proton density (PD) turbo spin echo (TSE), fat-suppressed sagittal T2 TSE and PD sequences are available in the standard knee imaging protocol.

A 5-year-experienced pediatric radiologist and a 3-year-experienced radiologist examined subcutaneous collections for location, shape, and signal properties such as the presence of fat, blood products, septations, and thick capsules.

Internal fat droplet presence in the collection was used as a diagnostic criterion for MLL. Furthermore, it was determined which patients required drainage treatment and which MRI findings aided in determining the treatment plan.

Statistical analysis: The data was analyzed using the SPSS package for social sciences (version 20) for Windows (IBM SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL). The Kolmogorov-Smirnov test was used to determine whether the data had a normal distribution. Numerical variables with a normal distribution are reported as mean±standard deviation, while variables with a non-normal distribution are reported as medians with minimum and maximum values. Numbers and percentages are used to report categorical variables. The difference of the variables between conservative and percutaneous treatment subgroups was defined via Chi-square test.

A two-tailed P-value of <0.05 was considered significant.

RESULTS

Of 22 patients diagnosed with MLL, 77% (n=17) were male and 23% (n=5) were female. Patients ranged in age from 7 to 18 years, with a mean of 13.2 years (+/-2,3).

The locations of MLL were knee (77%, n=17, 15 patients had anterior knee and 2 patients had posterior knee involvement)(**Figure 1**), hip (14%, n=3) and thigh (**Figure 2**) (9%, n=2) in order of frequency. These lesions all had a similar ovoid shape. Twenteen (55%) had septation, 8 of them had one and 4 of them had multiple septations. Six (27%) had internal blood products and percutaneous drainage was performed in 3 of these patients. 2 (9%) had thick capsule (>2mm) both of them was treated by percutaneous drainage.

The majority of patients (18/22) received solely conservative management but three patients underwent percutaneous drainage. All of the patients who received treatment were over 11 years old.

Older age (over 11 years), the presence of thick capsule and hemorrhagic content of subcutaneous collection were risk factors for treatment and were statistically significant (p<0.05).



Figure 1. 15 year old boy had post traumatic pain and swelling at the knee. Sagittal proton density without fat saturation demonstrate a fluid containing lesion over the medial retinaculum, with a thin tail extending superficially over the patella (white arrows) with hemorrhagic content (asterix) and fat droplets (black arrows)



Figure 2. 13-year-old boy with swelling and pain at the level of the thigh. Coronal and axial T2 with fat saturation and contrast enhanced T1 with fat saturation demonstrate a large fluid collection containing a fluid-fluid level (white arrow), dark T2 fat droplet (grey arrow) and septations (open arrows) with a thicker capsule (black arrow).

DISCUSSION

Morel-Lavallée is a closed degloving injury, which results from shearing injury that separates the subcutaneous layers from the fascia and it represents a potential space. Then, hemolymphatic collection fills the potential space. Although it is mainly defined in adults when located at the hip in the literature, a limited number of cases in the pediatric age group have been reported. Unlike adults, Morel-Lavallée lesions most commonly affect the knee and especially the anterior knee in children. Lesions are usually ovoid shape and may contain septa, internal blood products and thick capsule. The presence of the internal fat droplet in the collection is an important criteria for the diagnosis of the Morel-Lavallée and it is required for differential diagnosis from other posttraumatic pathologies such as hematoma and prepatellar bursitis (7,8).

Early detection of Morel-lavallée lesions prevents delays in treatment and shortens recovery time. If patients do not comply with treatments such as compression cuffs and do not avoid doing sports, the probability of recurrence and worsening of the lesions increases. The continued growth of the lesion may result in denervation by causing fat and/or skin necrosis as a result of the mass effect (6,9). It is critical to better understand the imaging findings of these traumatic degloving injuries because approximately half (44%) of MLL are misdiagnosed during the initial examination (7).

The majority of patients receive conservative management but older age (>11 years old), the presence of the hemorrhagic content and thick capsule in the collection are MRI findings that can guide the clinician in determining the need for percutaneous drainage. MLL can be misdiagnosed by clinicians-radiologists since they are not very common in the pediatric age group, so Morel-Lavallée should definitely be considered in the differential diagnosis, especially in the presence of a subcutaneous collection in the anterior knee(7,8).

Although there is no definitively accepted treatment for MLL, compression bandages, percutaneous aspiration, drainage, and open debridement have been reported (10-14) In small and acute MLL lesions without fracture, compression bandaging, NSAID, bed rest, and physical therapy can be used as first-line treatments (10-13). When a compression bandage is insufficient and the lesion is large, percutaneous drainage can be used. Sclerotherapy, in addition to percutaneous drainage, may be used if the lesions are chronic (15,16). In patients with long-standing MLL with pseudocapsules that do not respond to percutaneous drainage and may cause recurrence, surgical intervention is indicated (6,17).

Our study's limitations are that it is primarily a retrospective study with a small sample size. Only the patients' MRI findings were presented in our study, and there is a need for large studies in which the patients are evaluated alongside other findings. Children with MLS have a very low cure rate. Our findings on this subject should be validated by increasing the number of children who are eligible for treatment.

CONCLUSION

The importance of differential diagnosis of MLL from trauma collections was determined in our study, and MRI findings aided in treatment planning. Accurate diagnosis and treatment of MLL are critical, as the lesion's size may increase as a result of delayed treatment, causing skin necrosis and denervation due to the mass effect.

ETHICAL DECLARATIONS

Ethics Committee Approval: This study was approved by the Erzincan Binali Yıldırım University Clinical Researches Ethics Committee (Date: 25.01.2021, Decision No: 02/21).

Informed Consent: Because the study was designed retrospectively, no written informed consent form was obtained from patients.

Referee Evaluation Process: Externally peer-reviewed.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

Author Contributions: All of the authors declare that they have all participated in the design, execution, and analysis of the paper, and that they have approved the final version.

REFERENCES

- 1. Gummalla KM, George M, Dutta R. Morel-Lavallee lesion: case report of a rare extensive degloving soft tissue injury. Ulus Travma Acil Cerrahi Derg 2014: 63-5.
- 2. Bonilla-Yoon I, Masih S, Patel DB, et al. The Morel-Lavallée lesion: pathophysiology, clinical presentation, imaging features, and treatment options. Emerg Radiol 2014: 35-43.
- 3. McKenzie GA, Niederhauser BD, Collins MS, Howe BMJSr. CT characteristics of Morel-Lavallée lesions: an under-recognized but significant finding in acute trauma imaging. Skeletal Radiol 2016: 1053-60.
- 4. Cheong SCW, Wong BSSJSmj. Clinics in diagnostic imaging . Morel-Lavallée lesion. Singapore Med J 2016: 45.
- Mellado JM, Bencardino JTJMRIC. Morel-Lavallée lesion: review with emphasis on MR imaging. Magn Reson Imaging Clin 2005: 775-82.
- 6. Shelley J, Noritake A, Ortiz K, Ricca R. Morel-Lavallee lesion in pediatric trauma. Pediatr Surg Int 2017: 921-4.

- Rapp JB, Barrera CA, Ho-Fung VMJPR. Morel-Lavellée lesions: MRI characteristics in the pediatric patient. Pediatr Radiol 2019: 559-65.
- 8. Rha EY, Kim DH, Kwon H, Jung SN. Morel-lavallee lesion in children. World J Emerg Surg 2013: 60.
- van Gennip S, van Bokhoven SC, van den Eede EJCJoSM. Pain at the knee: the Morel-Lavallée lesion, a case series. Clin J Sport Med 2012: 163-6.
- 10.Parra J, Fernandez M, Encinas B, Rico MJSr. Morel-Lavallée effusions in the thigh. Skeletal Radiol 1997: 239-41.
- 11. Mukherjee K, Perrin SM, Hughes PM. Morel-Lavallee lesion in an adolescent with ultrasound and MRI correlation. Skeletal Radiol 2007: 43-5.
- 12.Moriarty J, Borrero C, Kavanagh EJIjoms. A rare cause of calf swelling: the Morel-Lavallee lesion. Irish J Med Sci 2011: 265-8.
- Zecha P, Missotten FJBjops. Pseudocyst formation after abdominoplasty-extravasations of Morel-Lavallée. Br J Plast Surg 1999: 500-2.
- 14. Anakwenze OA, Trivedi V, Goodman AM, Ganley TJJJ. Concealed degloving injury (the Morel-Lavallée lesion) in childhood sports: a case report. JBJS 2011: 148.
- 15. Moran DE, Napier NA, Kavanagh EC. Lumbar Morel-Lavallée effusion 2012.
- 16.Scaranelo AM, Davanço RAJBjops. Pseudocyst formation after abdominal liposuction—extravasations of Morel-Lavallée on MR images. Br J Plast Surg 2005: 849-51.
- 17.Yilmaz A, Yener O. Giant post-traumatic cyst after motorcycle injury: a case report with review of the pathogenesis. Prague Med Rep 2013; 114: 123-7.

The effect of *Lycium barbarum* on reproductive system and the expression of Crisp-1 protein in experimentally diabetic male rats

Ogizem İlter Aktaş¹, OTülin Firat², OFatma Pehlivan Karakaş

¹Ankara Yıldırım Beyazıt University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Histology and Embryology, Ankara, Turkey ²Abant İzzet Baysal University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Histology and Embryology, Bolu, Turkey ³Abant İzzet Baysal University, Faculty of Arts and Science, Department of Biology, Bolu, Turkey

Cite this article as: İlter Aktaş G, Fırat T, Pehlivan Karakaş F. The effect of *Lycium barbarum* on reproductive system and the expression of Crisp-1 protein in experimentally diabetic male rats. J Health Sci Med 2022; 5(3): 706-714.

ABSTRACT

Aim: The main purpose of this study is to investigate the effects of *Lycium barbarum* polysaccharides (LBP) on the male reproductive system and Crisp-1 protein expression in experimentally diabetic Wistar Albino male rats.

Material and Method: In this study Wistar Albino male rats (3-4 months old) were randomly selected and divided into four groups; Control, LBP control (only LBP), Diabetic and Treatment (diabetic + LBP) group. For the experimental diabetes model, a single dose of 55 mg/kg STZ was injected intraperitoneally. In the treatment group, the diabetic rats were administered with 200 mg/kg of LBP by gastric gavage for 15 consecutive days.

Results: In histological examinations, increased intertubular connective tissue, congestion, vacuolization and edema were observed in testicular tissues of the diabetic group. The histopathological changes were improved after LBP treatment. Also, the number of total sperm count and sperm motility were significantly increased in the treatment group. Our biochemical analysis results showed that the serum testosterone level were significantly increased and serum MDA level were significantly decreased after treatment with LBP. Compared to the diabetic group, the apoptotic cells were decreased in the treatment group. Crisp-1 protein expression was increased in the treatment group, Crisp-1 possitive vesicle-like structures and apical blebs were also examined in the epididymal tissues.

Conclusion: It is concluded that *Lycium barbarum* polysaccharides have a therapeutic effect on the male reproductive damages of diabetes and also enhances Crisp-1 protein expression in the epididymis.

Keywords: Antioxidant, crisp-1 protein, cysteine-rich secretory protein, diabetes mellitus, infertility, Lycium barbarum

INTRODUCTION

Diabetes mellitus (DM) is a major metabolic disorder worldwide. It is characterized by chronic hyperglycemia and imbalances in carbohydrate, fat and protein metabolism that develops as a result of failures related to insulin production (1). Hyperglycemia caused by DM causes tissue damage and disruption of the balance between free radical production and antioxidant defence by triggering oxidative stress (2,3). Oxidative stress which occurs as a result of high production of reactive oxygen species (ROS) is responsible for important complications related to diabetes (4). One of these important complications is a malfunction in the male reproductive system and infertility (5-7).

In fertilization process, important events such as sperm binding and penetration of the zona pellucida and merging with the egg plasma membrane take place through cell connections and are regulated by specific molecules found in both gametes. One of these molecules is the rat epididymal Crisp-1 protein, which is the first member of the Cysteine-Rich Secretory Protein (CRISP) family (8). Crisp-1 is expressed from the epididymal epithelium and released into the lumen where it is associated with the surface of the maturing sperm (9-11). Crisp proteins accompany sperm through the passage of both male and female reproductive systems and have many important functions in the fertilization (12). Crisp-1 protein plays important roles in sperm capacitation, sperm-zona pellucida (ZP) binding, and sperm-egg fusion (13-16). As a result of in vitro fertilization studies, it has been shown that sperm lacking Crisp-1 has a disadvantage in its communication with ZP and its ability to fuse with the egg (17).

Corresponding Author: Gizem İLTER AKTAŞ, ilter.gizem@hotmail.com

Received: 05.01.2022 **Accepted:** 09.02.2022



In recent years, natural herbal solutions have been sought in the field of treatment and these studies have attracted attention. *Lycium barbarum*, also known as Goji berry, has been used in traditional Chinese medicine for centuries in herbal treatments and stands out with its antioxidant properties that suppress oxidative stress. Studies have shown many important properties of *Lycium barbarum* polysaccharides (LBP) such as immune system regulator, antitumor, antioxidant, and anti-radiation. For this reason, *Lycium barbarum* stands out as an effective natural material in the treatment of diabetes and male fertility (18-24).

MATERIAL AND METHOD

Experimental Animals and Ethics

The study was carried out with the approval of Abant Izzet Baysal University Clinical Researches Ethics Committee (Date: 28.01.2016, Decision No: 2016/04). All procedures were carried out in accordance with the ethical rules and the principles of the Declaration of Helsinki. The experimental animals were obtained from Abant İzzet Baysal University Experimental Animal Application and Research Center. The animals were kept in a 25±3 °C environment suitable for 12 hours light/dark cycle during the study and were fed with ad libitum food and water. The study was started with 40 healthy male Wistar Albino rats (3-4 months old) but was completed with 31 rats due to deathly complications of diabetes.

Study Design and Groups

Schematic summary of the experimental study design is shown in **Figure 1**. Rats were randomly selected and divided into four groups:

Group 1: Control group (n=6),

Group 2: LBP control group (only LBP administration) (n=6),

Group 3: Diabetic group (STZ) (n=9) and

Group 4: Treatment group (STZ+LBP) (n=10).

Before the experimental study, blood-glucose levels were measured and the rats with normal values (<250 mg/ dl) were included in the study. Streptozotocin (STZ) (Sigma Aldrich, CAS no: 18883-66-4) was used to induce experimental diabetes. Rats were fasted 12 hours before STZ injection. Just before the injection was performed, rats were weighed and fasting blood-glucose values were measured using the Accu-Check Go device from the blood obtained by cutting the tail tip. Besides, the amount of STZ solution was calculated according to the body weight of the rats. A single dose of 55 mg/kg STZ dissolved in citrate buffer (0.1 M pH: 4.5) was administered intraperitoneally. In the 24 hours after injection, 30% dextrose solution was added to the water containers of the rats to prevent deaths due to hypoglycemic shock. Diabetes was determined by measuring blood-glucose values from the blood taken from the tail end of the rats 48 hours after STZ injection. Rats with a blood-glucose level of 250 mg/dl and above were considered as diabetic as previously stated (24).



Figure 1. Schematic summary of the study design and experimental groups

After the rats were accepted as diabetic, *Lycium barbarum* polysaccharides (LBP) were administered by gavage of 200 mg/kg once a day for 15 consecutive days in the LBP treatment group. At the end of 15 days, animals were sacrificed after being treated with anaesthetic agents administered at the indicated doses. All tissues were fixed by 10% formaldehyde. Epididymal tissues were used for both histological examination and sperm smear analysis.

Preparation of Lycium barbarum Polysaccharides

LBP was purchased commercially and prepared based on previous methods (25). Briefly, dried fruit was pulverized with a blender. To separate the fatty parts; chloroform + methanol (2:1) was used and then refluxed with 80% ethanol at 80°C to separate oligosaccharides. The residue was added four times hot water and extracted four times. Then, the filtrate was combined and concentrated in rotary at 60°C, and precipitation was performed with 95% ethanol, 100% ethanol and acetone, respectively. The precipitate was collected and dried in vacuum. The extract was freshly prepared and used.

Histological and Immunohistochemical Examination

After the fixation with 10% formaldehyde, the testicular tissues were embedded in paraffin and sectioned into 4- μ m thick slices with microtome (Leica). Hematoxylin & Eosin, Masson's Trichrome stainings were used for histological examinations. Caspase-3 primary antibody (Invitrogen, Cat no: PA5-16335) was used for examining apoptotic cells in testicular tissue sections. Also, Crisp-1 primary antibody (Mybiosource, Cat no: MBS2032852) was performed for epidydimal tissue sections to examine Crisp-1 protein expression.

Terminal Deoxynucleotidyl Transferase dUTP Nick End Labelling (TUNEL) Assay

TUNEL assay was used to evaluate apoptosis in testicular tissues. The 4-µm thick slices firstly deparafinized and then all the protocol were assessed according to the ApopTag[®] Peroxidase In Situ Apoptosis Detection Kit manual (cat no: \$7100).

Biochemical Analysis

Blood samples were taken from the inferior vena cava and heart from anaesthetized rats for biochemical analysis. Then, sacrification was performed by cutting the aorta. The blood samples were placed in yellow-capped 5 ml gel vacuum serum separator tubes and centrifuged at 4000 rpm for 10 minutes. The serum parts obtained were taken into eppendorf tubes and stored at -80 ° C until the analysis. Testosterone (T) (Elabscience, Catalog no: E-EL-0072), follicle stimulating hormone (FSH) (Elabscience, Catalog no: E-EL-R0391) and oxidative stress parameter malondialdehyde (MDA) (Elabscience, Catalog no: BC0025) levels were examined. In the analysis of these parameters, "Enzyme-Linked Immunosorbent Analysis" (ELISA) method and thiobarbituric acid (TBA) method were used. The kits used in the analyzes were the original Elabscience (Elabscience Biotechnology Co. Ltd; Wuhan; P.R.C.) kits and were used by following the procedure specified by the manufacturer.

Assessment of Sperm Number, Motility and Aniline Blue Staining

For semen analysis, sperms revealed by linting method from cauda epididymis in PBS were counted at 20x magnification under light microscope using Makler sperm counting camera (Makler counting chamber sefi-medical instruments). In semen analysis, number, motility and morphology parameters were examined according to the criteria of the World Health Organization (WHO). Acidic aniline blue staining is used to evaluate sperm chromatin condensation. The sperm smear preparations fixed with 3% glutaraldehyde for 30 minutes and then stained with aniline blue (pH:3.5) for 10 minutes. Washed twice in PBS and left to dry. The preparations were examined under a light microscope at 20x and 100x magnification.

Statistical Analysis

The obtained data were analyzed using SPSS statistical program (IBM Statistics for Mac Os, Version 21.0). Mann Whitney-U test, Kruskal Wallis and One-Way ANOVA tests were used to compare data. Results were evaluated with the significance level as $p \le 0.05$.

RESULTS

The body weights of the rats weighed before and after the experiment. It was observed that the rats in the treatment group lost weight at the end of the experiment, but there was no significant difference. Also, polyuria was observed in diabetic rats.

STZ-Induced Diabetes Leads to Histopathological Changes and LBP Has Therapeutic Effects on Testicular Tissues

In the testicular tissues of the control group (**Figure 2. A**), there is no structural abnormality; seminiferous tubules and spermatogenic cells preserved their structural integrity. In the testicular tissues of the diabetic group, edema in the intertubular areas (**Figure 2. B**) and cell debris in the lumen of the seminiferous tubule (**Figure 2. C**) were observed. In addition, vacuole formation within the seminiferous tubules, increased connective tissue in the intertubular area and congestion in the vessels were observed (**Figure 2. D,E,F,G**). In the testicular tissues of the treatment group, similar to the control group, general structural integrity and intertubular connective tissue were normal (**Figure 2. H**).

LBP Decreases the Diabetes-Related Apoptosis of Spermatogenic Cells

TUNEL assay method was used to identify apoptosis and the apoptotic cells were counted in five different areas with 20x under the light microscope. A statistically significant difference was observed between the control and the diabetic groups (p=0.001, p≤0.05) and also between the diabetic and treatment groups (p=0.024, p≤0.05) (shown in **Figure 3**).

In the immunohistochemical examinations with light microscopy, increased number of TUNEL positive apoptotic cells in the diabetic group indicates that diabetes leads to apoptosis by damaging spermatogenic cells (shown in **Figure 4**). In the treatment group, decreased number of TUNEL positive cells indicates less spermatogenic cell damage and apoptosis compared to the diabetic group.



Figure 2. Histological examinations of testicular tissues. A: Control group. Seminiferous tubules and spermatogenic cells preserved their structural integrity. B-C: Diabetic group, edema in the intertubular areas and cell debris in the lumen of the seminiferous tubule were observed. D-G: Diabetic group, vacuole formations within the seminiferous tubules, increased connective tissue in the intertubular area and congestion in the vessels can be seen. H: Treatment group, the seminiferous tubules were similar to the control group. Masson's Trichrome and Haematoxylin & Eosin histological stainings were performed and examined with x200 and x400 magnifications.



Figure 3. TUNEL immuhistochemical staining. TUNEL positive (apoptotic) cells were counted for each group. A significant difference is found between the diabetic and treatment group (p=0.024, p \leq 0.05). Results were evaluated with the significance level as $p \leq 0.05$



Figure 4. TUNEL apoptotic assay. In the immunohistochemical examinations, increased number of TUNEL positive apoptotic cells in the diabetic group indicates that diabetes lead to apoptosis by damaging spermatogenic cells. A: Control group, B: LBP control group, C-E: Diabetic group, F: Treatment group

Increased Caspase-3 Activation Indicates Apoptotic Cells in Diabetic Testicular Tissue

To determine apoptotic cells in testicular tissues, positively stained cells with Caspase-3 immunolabeling were counted for each group (shown in **Figure 5**). There was a significant difference between the control and diabetes groups (p=0.026, p \leq 0.05). The increase in the number of caspase-3 positive cells in the diabetes group showed that diabetes-induced apoptosis by increasing caspase-3 activation in testicular tissue (shown in **Figure 6**). The number of positive cells in the treatment group showed a significant decrease compared to the diabetes group (p=0.013, p \leq 0.05). In addition, there was no significant difference between the control group and the treatment group (p=0.958, p>0.05).

LBP Enhances Fertility-Related Crisp-1 Protein Expression in the Epididymis

In the Crisp-1 immunolabeling, we observed cytoplasmic Crisp-1 staining in epididymal epithelial cells and also stereocilia stained with Crisp-1 antibody (shown in **Figure 7**). Spermatozoa inside the epididymis tubule lumens were also positively stained. In addition, vesicle-like secretory structures protruding towards the lumen stained positively were observed both in the lumen and on the surface of the epithelial cells like apical blebs (shown in **Figure 7D**).



Figure 5. Caspase-3 immunohistochemical staining. Caspase-3 positive cells were counted for each group. A significant difference is found between the diabetic and treatment group (p=0.013, p≤0.05). Results were evaluated with the significance level as $p \le 0.05$



Figure 6. Caspase-3 immunohistochemical staining for apoptotic cells. A: Control group, B: Diabetic group, C: Teratment group (x200).



Figure 7. Examination of the Crisp-1 protein expression in the epididymal tissues. A,E,F: The cytoplasmic Crisp-1 staining in epididymal epithelial cells and also stereocilia stained with Crisp-1 antibody. B,C: Spermatozoa inside the epididymis tubule lumens were also positively stained. D: Vesicle-like secretory **s**tructures protruding towards the lumen and staining positively were observed both in the lumen and on the surface of the epithelial cells like apical blebs

Crisp-1 positive cell counting was performed for each group (shown in **Figure 8**). There was no significant difference between the control and diabetes groups (p=0.346, p>0.05). There was a statistically significant difference between diabetes and the treatment group (p=0.001, p≤0.05). There was also a statistically significant difference between the control and treatment groups (p=0.013, p≤0.05).



Figure 8. Crisp-1 immunohistochemical staining. Crisp-1 positive cells were counted for each group. A significant increase is found in the treatment group (p=0.001, p \leq 0.05). Results were evaluated with the significance level as p \leq 0.05

It was determined that there was a decrease in the number of Crisp-1 positive cells in the epididymis tissue of the diabetes group, but there was no statistically significant difference when compared with the control group. In the treatment group, there was a significant increase in the number of Crisp-1 positive cells.

LBP Treatment Reduces Diabetes-Related Lipid Peroxidation

To examine oxidative stress, we analyzed the MDA (Malondialdehyde) levels among all groups. A statistically significant difference was observed between the diabetes and treatment groups (p=0.050, $p\leq0.05$) (shown in **Figure 9**). In the diabetic group, there was a slight increase in MDA values, as expected, indicating lipid membrane damage. It was observed that MDA significantly decreased in the treatment group, that is, lipid peroxidation decreased. The MDA values of the treatment group were found to be close to the control group values.

LBP Treatment Has Enhancer Effects on Decreased Serum Testosterone Level

Testosterone levels were analyzed to examine the effect of diabetes on male stereoid hormones and reproductive ability. Testosterone levels were expected to decrease significantly (p=0.015, p ≤ 0.05) in the diabetic group (shown in **Figure 10**), indicating that damage to the male reproductive system and spermatogenesis were

negatively affected. It was observed that testosterone increased significantly (p=0.003, $p\le0.05$) in the treatment group, that is, positively affected spermatogenesis. In addition, testosterone values of the treatment group were determined to be close to each other, not showing a significant difference with the control group.



Figure 9. Biochemical analysis of serum MDA levels. A significant difference is found between the diabetic and treatment group (p=0.050, p≤0.05). Results were evaluated with the significance level as p≤0.05



Figure 10. Biochemical analysis of serum Testosterone levels. Testosterone levels decreased significantly (p=0.015, p ≤0.05) in the diabetic group. It was observed that testosterone levels increased significantly (p=0.003, p≤0.05) in the treatment group. Results were evaluated with the significance level as p≤0.05

LBP Treatment Has No Significant Effect on the Serum FSH Level

The obtained serum FSH values of the groups can be seen in the **Figure 11**. Although there was an increased serum FSH level in the LBP control and the LBP treatment groups, compared to the diabetic group, it was not statistically significant (p=0.356, p>0.05).

Total Sperm Count and Motility Increased with LBP Treatment after STZ-Induced Diabetes

The total sperm count and sperm motility values of the groups were performed immediately after sacrification and shown in the **Table**. The values should be multiplied by 105. There was a statistically significant difference for total sperm count between diabetes and treatment groups (p=0.000, p≤0.05). Total sperm count of the diabetic group showed that diabetes caused a decrease in

sperm number. Compared to the control and LBP control groups, the sperm motility of the diabetic group was decreased. It was also determined that the sperm motility in the LBP treatment group was increased significantly compared to the diabetic group (p=0.000, p≤0.05). There was no difference between the groups for sperm morphology. In addition, no difference was detected with the Aniline blue staining performed to determine the sperm DNA integrity (shown in **Figure 12**).







Figure 12. The Aniline blue staining was performed to epididymal sperm smears. A: Control group. B: Diabetic group

Table. Total sperm counts and sperm motility values of the groups. (The values should be multiplied by 105)				
Groups	Control	LBP control	Diabetic	Treatment
Total sperm count±SD	106±26.65	165.5±67.21	111.89±50.29	191±103.54
Motile sperm count±SD	18.17±9.15	15.33±19.13	1±1.2	28.20±20.14

DISCUSSION

Diabetes Mellitus (DM) is a very common metabolic disease worldwide. One of its most important complications is spermatogenic dysfunction and infertility (26-28). Oxidative stress increases with diabetes and damages directly testicular and epididymal tissues (29). Crisp-1 protein is one of the molecules that regulates fertilization by playing a role in important events such as capacitation, sperm-egg interaction and gamete fusion. Crisp-1 protein secreted from epididymal epithelial cells and delivered to the lumen binds to the sperm surface during epididymal passage (11,30).

In current study, we demonstrated that the diabetesrelated oxidative stress leads to the histopathological and biochemical changes of male reproductive system. In addition, we showed that the LBP, as a natural antioxidant, reduces the harmful effects of diabetes. Also, we showed that the expression of Crisp-1 protein is affected by diabetes-associated oxidative stress, and LBP treatment enhances its expression in the epididymis.

The molecular mechanism of diabetes-related male reproductive system damage and the protective effects of LBP have been elucidated in several studies (19-23). It has been found that LBP had an anti-apoptotic effect by reducing the expression of Caspase-3, which is an indicator of apoptosis, in testicular tissues of diabetic rats (31). Also, it has been reported that LBP could reduce irradiation-induced apoptosis of spermatogenic cells by upregulation of Bcl-2 expression, could increase serum testosterone level and decrease MDA level (22). Consistently, our data showed that the number of apoptotic cells decreased significantly after the LBP treatment. In addition, we showed that the LBP improved serum testosterone level and reduced serum MDA level. The serum FSH level analysis was also performed in our study. Although we showed an increase in the FSH level for the LBP treatment, we could not examine a significant difference between the diabetic and LBP treatment groups. This result could be related with the different mechanisms of hormonal control in the male reproductive system. Treatment of infertility-related hormonal dysfunction requires an understanding of the hormonal basis of spermatogenesis (32). While FSH stimulates spermatogenesis by effecting Sertoli cells, testosterone is mainly secreted from Leydig cells under the control of LH (luteinizing hormone). This can explain why the serum testosterone level was significantly increased but the serum FSH level was not increase at significance level after the LBP treatment. It has been showed that LBP could also improve sperm motility and total density (33). Consistently, our study showed that the total sperm number and sperm motility were improved after LBP treatment. Although we expected a decrease for the sperm motility in STZ-induced diabetic group, it was unexpectedly very low. It might be caused by toxic effect of STZ or a mistake in experimental process during sperm linting etc. Lei et al. (34) reported that the LBP treatment increased the number of HIF-1a positive cells in the testicular tissues of diabetic rats compared with the control group. They also showed that LBP reduce apoptosis, increase sperm motility, and also upregulate PCNA and SIRT-1 expression. Our data was consistent with this study in terms of the histopathological examination, apoptosis and sperm motility. Unlike, we also performed the biochemical analysis for the serum testosterone, MDA and FSH levels. In addition, immunohistochemical examination of the Crisp-1 protein expression in epididymal tissues was performed in our study.

The Crisp-1 protein was first identified in the rat epididymis by Cameo and Blaquier (8). They reported that Crisp-1 is secreted in the epididymis and then it attaches to the sperm surface during the epididymal passage. It has been reported that when Cuasnicu et al. (35) applied polyclonal anti-Crisp-1 to block the Crisp-1 protein, the fusion of sperm with oocyte was inhibited. Busso et al. (36) reported that the epididymal Crisp-1 protein binds to the relevant regions on the egg surface and plays a role in gamete fusion and sperm-ZP interaction. The effect of LBP, which has a known fertility-enhancing effect, on Crisp-1 protein expression was investigated for the first time with our study. We showed that LBP enhances Crisp-1 protein expression in epididymal tissues. Our work is unique in this respect. In our Crisp-1 immunolocalization study, it was observed that stereocilia extending along the epithelium and sperms in the epididymal lumen were stained with Crisp-1 antibody. We also observed that round vesicles that protrude from the epididymal epithelium to the lumen and are free in the epididymal lumen showed Crisp-1 positive staining. Our findings are consistent with the previous studies of Sullivan et al. (37-38). They indicated that there is an apocrine secretion in the apical cytoplasm of principal cells and these apical blebs contain epididymosomes, so we might have observed Crisp-1 protein containing epididymosomes. Epididymosomes were defined as membranous vesicles involved in the transfer of epididymal proteins to sperm and were reported by Sullivan et al. (37-38). Thimon et al. (39) investigated the protein compositions in the epididymosome and determined that it contains many proteins, including the Crisp-1 protein, and reported that the Crisp-1 protein was secreted in the epididymis and then assembled in the epididymosomes.

CONCLUSION

We showed that the Crisp-1 protein is related with the molecular mechanism of diabetes-induced damages of male reproductive system and the protective effects of LBP. However, future comprehensive studies are needed for the Crisp-1 protein to reveal the detailed mechanism of function and the relationship with infertility.

ETHICAL DECLARATIONS

Ethics Committee Approval: The study was carried out with the approval of Abant Izzet Baysal University Clinical Research Ethics Committee (Date: 28.01.2016, Decision No: 2016/04).

Referee Evaluation Process: Externally peer-reviewed.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Financial Disclosure: This study was supported financially by Abant Izzet Baysal University Scientific Research Projects with Project ID: 2016.08.03.1098.

Author Contributions: All of the authors declare that they have all participated in the design, execution, and analysis of the paper and that they have approved the final version.

Acknowledgements: We would like to thank her for her contribution and show our respects to our co-author Dr. Buket KIN TEKCE who passed away in September of 2020. She was a kind person and a great instructor at the Department of Medical Biochemistry at Abant Izzet Baysal University.

REFERENCES

- 1. Alberti KG, Zimmet PZ. Definition, diagnosis and classification of diabetes mellitus and its complications. Part 1: diagnosis and classification of diabetes mellitus provisional report of a WHO consultation. Diabet Med 1998; 15: 539-53.
- 2. Rytter E, Vessby B, Asgard R, et al. Glycemic status in relation to oxidative stress and inflammation in well-controlled type-2 diabetes subjects. British J Nutri 2009; 101:1423-26.
- 3. Kuzuya T, Nakagawa S, Satoh J, et al. Report of the Committee on the classification and diagnostic criteria of diabetes mellitus. Diabetes Res Clin Pract 2002; 55: 65-85.
- 4. Agarwal A, Saleh RA, Bedaiwy MA. Role of reactive oxygen species in the pathophysiology of human reproduction. Fertil Steril 2003; 79: 829-43.
- Agbaje IM, Rogers DA, McVicar CM, et al. Insulin dependent diabetes mellitus: implications for male reproductive function. Hum Reprod 2007; 22: 1871-77.
- Kilarkaje N, Al-Hussaini H, Al-Bader MM. Diabetes-induced DNA damage and apoptosis are associated with poly (ADP ribose) polymerase 1 inhibition in the rat testis. Eur J Pharmacol 2014; 737: 29-40.
- 7. Cavallini G. Male idiopathic oligoasthenoteratozoospermia. Asian J Androl 2006; 8: 143-57.
- 8. Cameo MS, Blaquier JA. Androgen-controlled specific proteins in rat epididymis. J Endocr 1976; 69: 47-55.
- Kohane AC, Cameo MS, Piñeiro L, Garberi JC, Blaquier JA. Distribution and site of production of specific proteins in the rat epididymis. Biol Reprod 1980; 23: 181-7.
- 10.Kohane AC, González Echeverría FM, Piñeiro L, Blaquier JA. Interaction of proteins of epididymal origin with spermatozoa. Biol Reprod 1980; 23: 737-42.
- 11.Cohen DJ, Rochwerger L, Ellerman DA, et al. Relationship between the association of rat epididymal protein "DE" with spermatozoa and the behavior and function of the protein. Mol Reprod Dev 2000; 56: 180-8.
- 12.Da Ros VG, Munoz MW, Battistone MA, et al. From the epididymis to the egg: participation of CRISP proteins in mammal fertilization. Asian J Androl 2015; 17: 711-5.
- 13. Cohen DJ, Da Ros VG, Busso D, et al. Participation of epididymal cysteine-rich secretory proteins in sperm-egg fusion and their potential use for male fertility regulation. Asian J Androl 2007; 9:5 28-32.

- Maldera JA, Munoz MW, Chirinos M, et al. Human fertilization: epididymal hCRISP1 mediates sperm-zona pellucida binding through its interaction with ZP3. Mol Hum Reprod 2014; 20: 341-9.
- 15. Cohen DJ, Ellerman DA, Cuasnicu PS. Mammalian sperm-egg fusion: evidence that epididymal protein DE plays a role in gamete fusion. Biol Reprod 2000; 63: 462-8.
- Cohen DJ, Maldera JA, Munoz MW et al. Cysteine rich secretory proteins and their role in mammalian fertilization. Biol Res 2011; 44: 135-8.
- 17.Da Ros VG, Maldera JA, Willis WD, et al. Impaired sperm fertilizing ability in mice lacking Cysteine-Rich Secretory Protein 1 (CRISP1). Dev Biol 2008; .320: 12-8.
- Dursun R, Zengin Y, Gunduz E, et al. The protective effect of goji berry extract in ischemic reperfusion in testis torsion. Int J Clin Exp Med 2015; 8: 2727-33.
- 19.Zhang C, Wang A, Sun X, et al. Protective effect of *Lycium barbarum* Polysaccharides on testis spermatogenic injury induced by Bisphenol-A in mice. Evidence-Based Complementary and Alternative Medicine 2013.
- 20. Jing L, Cui G, Feng Q, Xiao Y. Evaluation of hypoglycemic activity of the polysaccharides extracted from *Lycium barbarum*. Afr J Med Med Sci 2009; 6: 579-84.
- 21.Luo Q, Li Z, Huang X, et al. *Lycium barbarum* polysaccharides: Protective effects against heat-induced damage of rat testes and H2O₂-induced DNA damage in mouse testicular cells and beneficial effect on sexual behavior and reproductive function of hemicastrated rats. Life Sci 2006; 79: 613-21.
- 22.Luo Q, Li J, Cui X, et al. The effect of *Lycium barbarum* polysaccharides on the male rats .30 reproductive system and spermatogenic cell apoptosis exposed to low-dose ionizing irradiation. J Ethnopharmacol 2014; 154: 249-58.
- 23. Huang XL, Yang ML, Wu XM. Study on protective effect of *Lycium barbarum* polysaccharides on testis tissue damage of male rats. China Public Health 2003.
- 24.Şendoğdu N, Aslan M, Orhan DD, Ergun F, Yeşilada E. Antidiabetic and antioxidant effects of Vitis vinifera L. leaves in streptozotocin-diabetic rats. Turkish J Pharm Sci 2006; 3, 7-18.
- 25. Jin M, Huang Q, Zhao K, Shang P. Biological activities and potential health benefit effects of polysaccharides isolated from *Lycium barbarum* L. Int J Biol Macromol 2013; 54: 16-23.
- 26.Amidu N, Owiredu WK, Alidu H, et al. Association between metabolic syndrome and sexual dysfunction among men with clinically diagnosed diabetes. Diabetol Metab Syndrome 2013; 5: 1-8.
- 27. Abbasi Z, Tabatabaei SR, Mazaheri Y, Barati F, Morovvati H. Effects of sesame oil on the reproductive parameters of diabetes mellitus-induced male rats. World J Mens Health 2013; 31: 141-9.
- 28.Ahangarpour A, Oroojan AA, Heidari H, Ehsan G, Rashidi Nooshabadi MR. Effects of hydro-alcoholic extract of rhus coriaria (Sumac) seeds on reproductive complications of nicotinamidestreptozotocin induced type-2 diabetes in male mice. World J Mens Health 2014; 32: 151-8.
- 29.Simon L, Brunborg G, Stevenson M, Lutton D, McManus J, Lewis SE. Clinical significance of sperm DNA damage in assisted reproduction outcome. Hum Reprod 2010; 25: 1594-1608.
- 30. Kohane AC, González Echeverría FM, Piñeiro L, Blaquier JA. Interaction of proteins of epididymal origin with spermatozoa. Biol Reprod 1980; 23: 737-42.
- 31. Shi GJ, Zheng J, Wu J, et al. Beneficial effects of *Lycium barbarum* polysaccharide on spermatogenesis by improving antioxidant activity and inhibiting apoptosis in streptozotocin-induced diabetic male mice. Food Function 2017; 8, 1215-26.
- 32.Ismael ZK, AL-Anbari LA, Mossa HA. Relationship of FSH, LH, DHEA and testosterone levels in serum with sperm function parameters in infertile men. J Pharm Sci Res 2017; 9 2056-61.

- 33.Qian L, Yu S. Protective effect of polysaccharides from *Lycium* barbarum on spermatogenesis of mice with impaired reproduction system induced by cyclophosphamide. Am J Reprod Immunol 2006; 76: 383-85.
- 34.Lei X, Huo P, Wang Y, et al. Lycium barbarum polysaccharides improve testicular spermatogenic function in streptozotocininduced diabetic rats. Front Endocrinol (Lausanne). 2020;11:164.
- 35.Cuasnicú PS, Echeverría FG, Piazza AD, Cameo MS, Blaquier JA. Antibodies against epididymal glycoproteins block fertilizing ability in rat. J Reprod Fertil 1984; 72, 467-471.
- 36.Busso D, Cohen DJ, Maldera JA, Dematteis A, Cuasnicu PS. A novel function for CRISP1 in rodent fertilization: involvement in sperm-zona pellucida interaction. Biol Reprod 2007; 77: 848-54.
- 37.Sullivan R, Saez F, Girouard J, Frenette G. Role of exosomes in sperm maturation during the transit along the male reproductive tract. Blood Cells Mol Dis 2005; 35, 1-10.
- 38. Sullivan R, Frenette G, Girouard J. Epididymosomes are involved in the acquisition of new sperm proteins during epididymal sperm transit. Asian J Androl 2007; 9: 483-91.
- 39. Thimon V, Frenette G, Saez F, Thabet M, Sullivan R. Protein composition of human epididymosomes collected during surgical vasectomy reversal: a proteomic and genomic approach. Hum Reprod 2008; 23: 1698-707.

HEALTH SCIENCES **MEDICINE**

Relationship between the amniotic fluid prolactin level at early second trimester and pregnancy outcome

DHicran Acar Şirinoğlu¹, Savaş Özdemir², Oya Pekin³, Simten Genc¹,
Çağdaş Nurettin Emeklioğlu¹, Enis Özkaya³

¹Prof. Dr. Cemil Tascioglu City Hospital, Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Istanbul, Turkey ²Sariyer Hamidiye Etfal Research and Training Hospital, Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Istanbul, Turkey ³Zeynep Kamil Women and Children's Health Research and Training Hospital, Istanbul, Turkey

Cite this article as: Acar Şirinoğlu H, Özdemir S, Pekin O, Genc S, Emeklioğlu CN, Özkaya E. Relationship between the amniotic fluid prolactin level at early second trimester and pregnancy outcome. J Health Sci Med 2022; 5(3): 715-719.

ABSTRACT

Aim: The aim of this study was to determine whether early second trimester amniotic fluid prolactin level were associated with pregnancy outcome.

Material and Method: This study included 125 women who underwent amniocentesis for variable indications. Healthy subjects with no history of drug use were included in this study. The gestational age was determined by ultrasonic examination before 10 weeks in all cases. Amniotic fluid specimens were taken while performing amniocentesis for other indications. Amniotic fluid was collected by transabdominal amniocentesis. Amniotic fluid prolactin concentrations were utilized to predict pregnancy complication among women who underwent amniocentesis due to the variable indications.

Results: Among all study population, pregnancy was unremarkable in 102 (81.6%) cases, on the other hand, most common fetal abnormality was found to be the fetal hydrops fetalis and the second most commonly encountered fetal anomaly was trisomy, intrauterine growth restriction and intrauterine fetal demise. All study population was divided into two groups as complicated (n=23) and uncomplicated (n=102) pregnancies. Amniotic fluid prolactin concentration did not have any predictive value for complicated pregnancies (AUC=0.479).

Conclusion: Our data showed; there is no relationship between early second trimester amniotic fluid prolactin level and pregnancy outcome.

Keywords: Decidual prolactin, pregnancy outcome, early second trimester

INTRODUCTION

The biological roles of the decidual protein hormones during pregnancy are unclear, countless studies suggest that the hormones may act locally to affect the function of the placenta, decidua, and fetal development. These decidual hormones are released into the circulation and function to regulate uterus, placenta and fetal membrane activity via autocrine/paracrine factors (1). Prolactin which is one of the decidual hormones ,increase during pregnancy and are involved with many aspects of maternal metabolic adaptation to pregnancy. The metabolic roles of prolactin propose an interesting scenario in which the central nervous system and indirectly whole body development (2).

In a previous study, which was conducted to figure out the possible effect of decidual prolactin on maternofetal physiology,late second trimester amniotic fluid (AF) prolactin levels were shown to be associated with recurrent polyhydramnios (3).

Additionally, previous data indicated significant relationship between AF prolactin and preterm premature rupture of membrane at third trimester , study revealed that increased AF prolactin resulted in impairment of structural integrity of fetal membranes through electrolytes disturbances (4). Furthermore, fetal and maternal tissues were shown to express prolactin receptors in late pregnancy. Increased expression in the chorion, decidua, and placenta was reported during labor and delivery which supported an autocrine/paracrine role for decidual prolactin in the peripartum (5). There is no study in the literature so, we aimed to assess the relationship between early second trimester AF prolactin level and pregnancy outcome.

Corresponding Author: Cagdas Nurettin Emeklioglu, c.n.emeklioglu@gmail.com



MATERIAL AND METHOD

This prospective cohort study was performed at perinatology clinic of Zeynep Kamil Women and Children's Health Training and Research Hospital between January 2017 and April 2018. This study was approved by Zeynep Kamil Women and Children's Health Training and Research Hospital Clinical Researches Ethics Committee (Date: 18.11.2017, Decision No: 144) and informed consent was obtained from each participant. All procedures were carried out in accordance with the ethical rules and the principles of the Declaration of Helsinki.

Sample and study participants: The study group included 125 women who underwent amniocentesis for variable indications.

Healthy subjects with no history of drug use were included in this study. The gestational age was determined by ultrasonic examination before 10 weeks in all cases. AF specimens were taken while performing amniocentesis for other indications. AF was collected by transabdominal amniocentesis.

AF samples were centrifuged at 400 rpm for 10 minutes. The amniotic supernatant and the serum were separated and stored at 20"C until assayed. Total prolactin in AF samples was measured by the Tandem-E PRL immunoenzymetric assay.

Intrauterine growth retardation was diagnosed in cases with a fetal weight that is below the 10th percentile for gestational age as determined through an ultrasound (6).

Cases were accepted to have spina bifida defect if the spinal cord and its meninges are exposed through a gap in the backbone (7).

Hydrops fetalis was defined as abnormal accumulation of fluid in two or more fetal compartments, including ascites, pleural effusion, pericardial effusion, and skin edema (8).

Pregnancies with high blood pressure (140/90 mmHg) that develops during pregnancy or during the postpartum period that is associated with overt protein in the urine or the new development of decreased blood platelets, with the kidney or liver function tests, fluid in the lungs, or signs of neurological symptoms such as seizures and/or visual disturbances were diagnosed to be complicated with preeclampsia (9).

In all cases, amniocentesis was indicated based on the results of screening tests such as ultrasound or biochemical markers. AF prolactin concentrations were utilized to predict any pregnancy complication among women who underwent amniocentesis due to the variable indications. **Data Analysis:** SPSS version 15 (Chicago, USA, 2006) was used for statistical analysis. Student-t test was used to compare continuous variables while categorical variables were compared by Chi-square test. P<0.05 was accepted to be statistically significant.

RESULTS

Summary characteristics of some demographic and clinical characteristics of whole study population were shown in Table 1. Indications for amniocentesis were shown in Table 2, which shows that the most frequent indication as high risk for trisomy detected by first or second trimester screening tests. Fetal sex distributions were shown in Table 3. Among all study population, pregnancy was uneventful in 102 (81.6%) cases, on the other hand, most common fetal abnormality was found to be the fetal hydrops fetalis and the second most commonly encountered fetal anomaly was trisomies, intrauterine growth restriction and intrauterine fetal demise (2.4%, Table 4). All study population was divided into two groups as complicated (n=23) and uncomplicated (n=102) pregnancies. AF prolactin concentration did not have any predictive value for complicated pregnancies (AUC=0.479, Figure 1).

Table 1. Summary characteristics of some demographic and clinical characteristics of whole study population				
	Minimum	Maximum	Mean	Std. Deviation
Age (Years)	19	45	33.4	5.9
Gestational age (weeks)	15	22	18.1	1.5
AF prolactin concentration (mcg/L)	28.9	31.412	5972.7	4774.4
Gestational age at delivery (weeks)	17	42	36.5	5.7

Table 2. Indications for amniocentesis		
	Frequency	Percent
Cystic Hygroma	1	.8
Double Bouble	3	2.4
High risk for trisomy in first trimester screening test	59	47.2
High risk for trisomy in second trimester screening test	41	32.8
Advanced maternal age	6	4.8
High NT thickness	5	4.0
Maternal anxiety	6	4.8
High risk for trisomy in quadriple test	3	2.4
Fetal Hydocephaly	1	.8
Total	125	100.0

Table 3. Fetal sex distributions				
	Frequency	Percent		
Undetermined sex	15	12.0		
Male	55	44.0		
Female	55	44.0		
Total	125	100.0		

Table 4. Pregnancy outcome distributions				
	Frequency	Percent		
Normal fetus	102	81.6		
Undetermined	1	0.8		
Di-George	1	0.8		
Hidrops Fetalis	4	3.2		
Hipoplastic left heart	1	0.8		
Skelatal Dysplasia	2	1.6		
IUGR	3	2.4		
Intrauterine Fetal Demise	3	2.4		
Preeclampsia	1	0.8		
Spina Bifida	2	1.6		
Termination for variable reasons	2	1.6		
Trisomy 13-18	1	0.8		
Trisomy 21	2	1.6		
Total	125	100.0		



Figure 1. ROC cur of AFprolactin to predict poor pregnancy outcome

DISCUSSION

Measuring prolactin level at different trimester of pregnancies inside decidual cells and amniotic fluid indicated that changes in decidual cells are consistent with the changes of the concentration of amniotic fluid prolactin (10) Prolactin was found to be increased by the fetal pituitary gland and was immunologically determined by 10th week and biologically determined at the 18th week. Fetal plasma prolactin levels were low until 30 weeks of gestation, then a striking increase occured between 30 weeks and term (11)

Tyson et al. suggested that AF decidual prolactin may have an inhibitory influence on prostaglandin (PGE2) synthetic pathways (12). When the amniotic membrane disrupts, this inhibitory function of AF prolactin disappears, additionally increasing surface area of distrupted membrane result in higher production of prostaglandin (PGE2). All this data indicate the critical role of AF prolactin on active labor (13,14). This hypothesis led us to consider that, AF prolactin values in postterm pregnancies may be higher than in term pregnants. No significant differences were shown between the amniotic fluid, maternal serum and cord blood prolactin values in term and post-term pregnancies. Thus, the hypothesis has not been supported by the results of the study by Demir et al.(15).

Amniotic fluid, maternal serum and cord blood prolactin values of normal term pregnancy group in a study by Demir et al. were in agreement with those in the literature (13-16). On the other hand, other regulatory factors such as platelet activating factor and calcium in conjunction with estrogens, progesterone and cortisol were shown to have significant impact on the release of prolactin from the decidua (18). Amniotic transport occurs through intercellular channels between amniotic epithelial cells and can be modulated by AF prolactin levels (19). Based on these information some studies have been conducted to assess relationship between prolactin and some pregnancy complications, one of these studies assess prolactin concentrations in women with preeclampsia. Preeclampsia was shown to be characterized by increased excretion of urinary prolactin. Prolactin concentrations and isoforms were suggested to be appropriate markers for assessing the severity of preeclampsia and the occurrence of adverse outcomes. Therefore, it was suggested that prolactin and /or isoforms may play a role in the pathophysiology of preeclampsia (20). Furthermore, it was suggested that hormonal changes may play a role in AF volume arrangement. Prolactin receptors, on both fetal and maternal tissues increase while the pregnancy progresses. It is a deciduous prolactin and it was shown to affect amniotic permeability (2).

In a previous study, prolactin concentrations secreted by decidua were compared among groups of women with different pregnancy complications including induced abortions, and diabetes mellitus, preeclampsia, chronic hypertension, and polyhydramnios and normal term pregnancies. Study revealed lower prolactin levels in amniotic fluid, decidual prolactin content and production were in pregnancies complicated by either hypertension or polyhydramnios (21).

Some physiologic functions of prolactin have been defined, for example prolactin has been found to inhibit the secretion of different proinflammatory chemokines by human fetal membranes (22). Additionally, amniotic prolactin was shown to play a role in the pathogenesis of polyhydramnios due to osmoregulatory effect (23). Maternal serum prolactin levels in normal pregnancies was not found to differ from serum levels in complicated pregnancies, on the other hand significantly lower levels of prolactin in AF of pregnancies complicated by hypertension or polyhydramnios were determined in a previous study, authors suggested that this difference was probably due to adverse effects of these conditions on the synthesis and release of prolactin by decidua (24). Previously published studies showed that amniotic prolactin concentrations in normal human pregnancy decrease from the second trimester of pregnancy and a plateau of low levels were observed in the late third trimester (25, 26). This data consistently support the possible effect of prolactin on labor.

First report of acute recurrent polyhydramnios with high levels of AF prolactin levels was published by De Santis et al. (2). In that study, AF prolactin levels was within normal limits in cases with acute recurrent polyhydramnios but close up to the upper limits of levels in normal pregnancies (24,25). De Santis et al. put forward hypothesis of acute recurrence of polyhydramnios may be linked to the dysfunctional chorionic receptors for prolactin. Previous study assessed AF prolactin levels three times during the pregnancy, study revealed no change with advancing gestational age (27). No change was determined in this study, however intervals that the samples were obtained too short to detect decreasing concentrations with advancing gestational age.

In normal pregnancies, a significant correlation between the production of AF and the amniotic prolactin level, which was shown to peak at 23-25 gestational weeks and reaches a plateau after 34 gestational weeks (26). Peak levels were obtained at 23-25 weeks of gestation in their study. Consistently, decreasing amniotic prolactin levels in the third trimester of normal pregnancies was shown to be parallel to the decreasing amniotic fluid production (28), study speculated that amniotic prolactin concentration measurements may be utilized to determine whether the AF production in polyhydramnios begins to normalize or not.

Further data indicated that, prolactin may have a role in fetal growth process and maturation of the gut mucosa (29).

Decidual cells synthesize endometrial prolactin and some variations in prolactin gene expression were shown within each area of decidua. Study showed periodic differences in prolactin gene expression in the decidual cells during pregnancy (30).

Plasma and AF prolactin concentrations were compared between preterm and term pregnancies. Study included 20 patients with preterm labor and 20 patients with preterm labor who responded to tocolysis and delivered at term. Prolactin concentrations were generally found to be significantly higher in preterm than at term (31). Our data showed that, AF prolactin concentration determined between 16 to 20 gestational ages was not a significant predictor for any pregnancy complication.

All these aforementioned studies suggest that there is still contraversies on the physiological function of decidual prolactin during pregnancy and its relationship between the pregnancy complications.

CONCLUSION

No significant relationship was determined between early first trimester prolactin level and any of the pregnancy complication.

ETHICAL DECLARATIONS

Ethics Committee Approval: This study was approved by Zeynep Kamil Women and Children's Health Training and Research Hospital Clinical Researches Ethics Committee (Date: 18.11.2017, Decision No: 144)

Informed Consent: All patients signed the free and informed consent form.

Referee Evaluation Process: Externally peer-reviewed.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declare that this study has received no financial support.

Author Contributions: All of the authors declare that they have participated in the design, execution, and analysis of the paper, and that they approved the final version.

REFERENCES

- 1. Handwerger S, Richards RG, Markoff E. The physiology of decidual prolactin and other decidual protein hormones. Trends Endocrinol Metab 1992; 3: 91-5.
- 2. Lopez-Vicchi F, De Winne C, Brie B, Sorianello E, Ladyman SR, Becu-VillalobosD. Metabolic functions of prolactin: Physiological and pathological aspects.J Neuroendocrinol 2020; 32: e12888.
- 3. De Santis M, Cavaliere AF, Noia G, Masini L, Menini E, et al. Acute recurrent polyhydramnios and amniotic prolactin. Prenat Diagn 2000: 20: 347-8.
- 4. Shaarawy M, El-Minawi AM. Prolactin and calcitropic hormones in preterm premature rupture of membranes. Int J Gynaecol Obstet 2004; 84: 200-7.
- 5. Maaskant RA, Bogic LV, Gilger S, Kelly PA, Bryant-Greenwood GD. The human prolactin receptor in the fetal membranes, decidua, and placenta. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 1996; 81: 396-405.
- 6. Fetal Growth Restriction: ACOG Practice Bulletin, Number 227
- 7. Copp AJ, Adzick NS, Chitty LS, Fletcher JM, Holmbeck GN, Shaw GM. Spina bifida Nat Rev Dis Primers 2015; 1: 15007.
- 8. Kontomanolis EN, Fasoulakis Z. Hydrops fetalis and the parvovirus B-19. Curr Pediatr Rev 2018; 14: 239-252.
- 9. Ives CW, Sinkey R, Rajapreyar I, Tita ATN, Oparil S. Preeclampsiapathophysiology and clinical presentations: JACC State-of-the-Art Review. J Am Coll Cardiol 2020; 76: 1690-702.

- 10.Wu WX, Brooks J, Glasier AF, McNeilly AS. The relationship between decidualization and prolactin mRNA and production at different stages of human pregnancy. J Mol Endocrinol 1995; 14: 255-61.
- 11.Root AW.Growth hormone and prolactin in the fetus. Prog Clin Biol Res 1976; 10: 107 -26
- 12. Tyson JE, McCoshen JA, Dubin NH. Inhibition of fetal membrane prostaglandin production by prolactin: Relative importance in the initiation of labor. Am J Obstet Gynecol 1985; 151: 1032-8.
- 13.Kletzky OA, Rossman F, Bertolli SI, Platt LD, Mishell DRJ. Dynamics of HCG, PRL, and growth hormone in serum and AFthroughout normal human pregnancy. Am J Obstet Gynecol 1985; 151: 878-84.
- 14. Fang US, Kim MH. Study of maternal, fetal and amniotic human prolactin at term. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 1975; 41: 1030-4.
- Demir N, Celiloglu M, Thomassen PA, Onvural A, Erten O. Maternal, fetal and amniotic fluid prolactin levels in term and postterm pregnancies. Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand 1993; 72: 218-20.
- 16.Ho Yuen B, Mincey EK. Human chorionic gonadotropin, prolactin, estriol and DHEAS concentrations in cord blood of premature and term newborn infants: Relationship to the sex of the neonate. Am J Obstet Gynecol 1987; 156: 396-400.
- 17. Biswas S. Prolactin in amniotic fluid: Its correlation with maternal plasma prolactin. Clin Chim Acta 1976; 73: 363-7.
- 18. Johnsten JM, Bleasdale JE, Hoffman DR. Functions of PAF in reproduction and development: Involvement of PAF in fetal lung maturation and parturition. In: Snyder F, ed. Platelet activating factor and related lipid mediators. New York, London: Plenum Press, 1987: 375-99.
- Leontic EA, Schruefer JJ, Andreassen B, et al. Further evidence for the role of prolactin on human fetoplacental osmoregulation. Am J Obstet Gynecol 1979: 133: 435.
- 20. Leaños-Miranda A, Márquez-Acosta J, Cárdenas-Mondragón GM, et al. Urinary prolactin as a reliable marker for preeclampsia, its severity, and the occurrence of adverse pregnancy outcomes. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2008; 93: 2492-9.
- 21.Luciano AA, Varner MW. Decidual, amniotic fluid, maternal and fetal prolactin in normal and abnormal pregnancies. Obstet Gynecol 1984; 63: 384-8.
- 22.Flores-Espinosa P, Vega-Sánchez R, Mancilla-Herrera I, et al. Prolactin selectively inhibits the LPS-induced chemokine secretion of human foetal membranes. J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med 2019: 1-7.
- 23.Bole-Feysot C, Goffin V, Edery M, Binart N, Kelly PA. Prolactin (PRL) and its receptor: actions, signal transduction pathways and phenotypes observed in PRL receptor knockout mice. Endocr Rev 1998; 19: 225-68.
- 24.Luciano AA, Varner MW: Decidual, amniotic fluid, maternal and fetal prolactin in normal and abnormal pregnancies. Obstet Gynecol 1984; 63: 384-8.
- 25. Tyson JE, Hwang P, Guyda H, Friesen HG. Studies of prolactin secretion in human pregnancy. Am J Obstet Gynecol 1972; 113: 14-20.
- 26.Kletzky OA, Rossman F, Bertolli SI, Platt LD, Mishell DR. Dynamics of human chorionic gonadotropin, prolactin, and growth hormone in serum and AF throughout normal human pregnancy. Am J Obstet Gynecol 1985; 151: 878-84.
- 27. Rode L, Bundgaard A, Skibsted L, Odum L, Jørgensen C, Langhoff-Roos J. Acute recurrent polyhydramnios: a combination of amniocenteses and NSAID may be curative rather than palliative. Fetal Diagn Ther 2007; 22: 186-9.
- 28. Mann SE, Nijland MJ, Ross MG: Mathematic modeling of human AFdynamics. Am J Obstet Gynecol 1996; 175: 937-944.
- 29.Bujanover Y, Wollman Y, Reif S, Golander A. A possible role of prolactin on growth and maturation of the gut during development in the rat. J Pediatr Endocrinol Metab 2002; 15: 789-94.

- 30. Tanaka S, Koibuchi N, Ohtake H, et al. Regional comparison of prolactin gene expression in the human decidualized endometrium in early and term pregnancy. Eur J Endocrinol 1996; 135: 177-83.
- 31. Mazor M, Hershkowitz R, Ghezzi F, et al. Prolactin concentrations in preterm and term pregnancy and labour. Arch Gynecol Obstet 1996; 258: 69-74.

Hyperlipasemia is a poor prognostic factor in patients with COVID-19

DOrhan Coşkun¹, DMustafa Çapraz², DMustafa Cihangiroğlu³, DAhmet Turan Kaya⁴

¹Amasya University, Sabuncuoğlu Şerefeddin Training and Research Hospital, Department of Gastroenterology, Amasya, Turkey
²Amasya University, Sabuncuoğlu Şerefeddin Training and Research Hospital, Department of Internal Medicine, Amasya, Turkey
³Amasya University, Sabuncuoğlu Şerefeddin Training and Research Hospital, Department of Infectious Diseases, Amasya, Turkey
⁴Amasya University, Sabuncuoğlu Şerefeddin Training and Research Hospital, Department of Radiology, Amasya, Turkey

Cite this article as: Coşkun O, Çapraz M, Cihangiroğlu M, Turan Kaya A. Hyperlipasemia is a poor prognostic factor in patients with COVID-19. J Health Sci Med 2022; 5(3): 720-725.

ABSTRACT

Introduction: COVID-19 disease may pose a considerable health threat to healthy individuals and individuals with comorbidity. The SARS-CoV-2 virus affects the respiratory tract and may cause damage to the pancreas by binding to the ACE-2 receptor in the pancreas. In our study, we investigated the effects of hyperlipasemia on morbidity and mortality in patients diagnosed with COVID-19.

Material and Method: In this study, 2350 patients diagnosed with COVID-19 between November 2020 and December 2020 were retrospectively reviewed. Other possible causes of hyperlipasemia were excluded. Hyperlipasemia secondary to COVID-19 was detected in 338 patients. These patients were divided into two groups based on their lipase elevation rates.

Results: Hyperlipasemia was detected in 14.4% of the patients diagnosed with COVID-19, and severe hyperlipasemia (>3x) was detected in 2.3%. The mean age of the patients was 64±13.8 (18-92), of which 59.5% (201) were male. In our study, 24 patients (1%) were diagnosed with acute pancreatitis. When compared according to lipase level, a significant difference was found between the groups regarding the history of HT, CCI score, development of ARF at follow-up, development of ARDS, need for ICU hospitalization, need for intubation, length of stay in ICU, and death rates. A weak correlation was found in the correlation analysis between hyperlipasemia and ARDS development and mortality.

Conclusion: Elevated lipase levels were associated with poor prognosis and mortality in patients with COVID-19 infection.

Keywords: SARS-CoV-2, hyperlipasemia, COVID-19, pancreatitis, viral pancreatitis

INTRODUCTION

The SARS-COV-2 virus has been spreading rapidly worldwide and has threatened all humanity (1). The course of the disease may range from subclinical infection to hospitalization and death (2). As of August 22, 2021, the cumulative number of cases reported globally in the COVID-19 pandemic is roughly 210 million, and the cumulative number of deaths is just over 4.4 million (3). The SARS-CoV-2 virus mostly affects the respiratory tract (2). However, symptoms, such as nausea, vomiting, abdominal pain, and diarrhea, in some patients suggest that the virus also affects the gastrointestinal system (GIS) (4).

Acute pancreatitis (AP) is an inflammatory disease of the pancreas. The clinical spectrum of AP ranges from mild edematous pancreatitis to severe necrotizing pancreatitis (5). There are various causes of acute pancreatitis in

adults. Gallstones are the most common cause of acute pancreatitis. Other causes of pancreatitis include alcohol use, some metabolic disorders, autoimmune diseases, viral infections, exposure to drugs and toxins (5-6). Many viral, bacterial and parasitic infectious agents may cause AP (5). Diagnosis of infection-induced AP requires the absence of other potential causes of AP with evidence of active infection. It has been revealed that viruses, such as coxsackievirus, mumps, cytomegalovirus, hepatitis A, B, C, and Epstein-Barr virus, play a role in the etiology of AP (5). In studies conducted in patients with SARS-CoV-2 infection, ACE-2 expression was slightly higher in pancreatic tissue than in the lungs (7). Moreover, it has been reported that the SARS-CoV-2 virus may lead to pancreatic damage by binding to the ACE-2 receptor in the pancreas (7).

Corresponding Author: Orhan Coşkun, drcoskunorhan@gmail.com



In our study, we analyzed the correlation of hyperlipasemia with morbidity and mortality in patients diagnosed with COVID-19.

MATERIAL AND METHOD

Our hospital is a tertiary center for the diagnosis and treatment of patients with COVID-19 during the pandemic. This study was designed retrospectively. The diagnosis of COVID-19 was made by polymerase chain reaction (PCR) of nasopharyngeal swab samples. All patients over 18 who were positive for SARS-CoV-2 were included in the present study. A total of 2350 patients who underwent COVID-19 PCR testing and were diagnosed with COVID-19 between November 2020 and December 2020 were reviewed. Patients with known chronic renal failure and other causes of acute pancreatitis (biliary pancreatitis, hypertriglyceridemia, alcoholic pancreatitis, malignancy, hypercalcemia) that may be the cause of hyperlipasemia were excluded from this study. Three hundred thirtyeight patients with serum lipase levels above the upper limit of normal reference values were included in this study. One of the revised Atlanta diagnostic criteria is serum amylase and lipase levels >3 times the upper limit of normal. Hence, in our study, we divided the patients into two groups, considering the lipase elevation level as <3-fold (mild elevation) and >3-fold (severe elevation) (8). According to the revised Atlanta criteria, patients with at least two of the three criteria (abdominal pain consistent with pancreatitis, more than 3-fold increase in serum amylase-lipase levels, and appearance compatible with acute pancreatitis on radiological imaging) were diagnosed with AP. Our study was approved by the Amasya University Non-Interventional Clinical Researches Ethics Committee (Date: 18.02.2021, Decision No: E.5718) and was conducted in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki.

Statistical analysis

The software of Statistical Package for Social Sciences (SPSS) (IBM SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL) for Windows 20 was used for our statistical analysis. Normality analysis of the data was evaluated via Kolmogorov-Smirnov and Shapiro-Wilk tests. When analyzing the study data, continuous variables with normal distribution were expressed as mean±standard deviation (SD), while continuous variables without normal distribution were expressed as median (min: max). In group comparisons, a parametric test (Student's t-test) was used for normally distributed continuous variables, whereas a non-parametric test (Mann-Whitney U test) was used for non-normally distributed variables. Fisher's exact test and Pearson's chi-square test were used for discrete variables. Spearman correlation coefficient was used to compute the correlation analysis. Statistical significance was considered p≤0.05 with a confidence interval (CI) of 95%.

RESULTS

Elevated lipase levels were detected in 14.4% of patients diagnosed with COVID-19, while severe lipase levels were detected in 2.3%. The ages of the patients ranged from 18 to 92, with a mean of 64±13.8% and 59.5% (201) male. All of the patients were hospitalized and followed up and treated. Demographic data of the cases are presented in Table 1. In the group with lipase >3 times higher, 22 patients had abdominal pain and one patient had pancreatitis on CT. The patient, whose CT was compatible with pancreatitis, did not have accompanying abdominal pain. In the group with lipase <3 times higher, 82 patients had abdominal pain and three patients had an appearance compatible with pancreatitis on CT. However, only one of the three patients whose CT was compatible with pancreatitis had abdominal pain. A total of 24 patients (n:2350, 1%) met the diagnostic criteria for acute pancreatitis according to the Revised Atlanta criteria.

Table 1. Demographic data of patients with elevated lipase				
		Lipase Level Group (n:338)		
Age		64±13.8 (22:92)		
Gender (F/M)		137/201		
BMI*		29.7±3.8		
CCI		4.4±2.8 (0:12)		
History of CAD $[n/(\%)]$		118 (34.9)		
History of DM [n/(%)]		127 (37.6)		
History of HT $[n/(\%)]$		229 (67.8)		
History of KLD		1 (0.3)		
Dyspnea [n/(%)]		322 (95.3)		
Anorexia [n/(%)]		256 (75.7)		
Nausea [n/(%)]		151 (44.7)		
Diarrhea [n/(%)]		23 (6.8)		
Abdominal pain [n/(%)]		104 (30.8)		
Thorax CT severity (n:66/n:270)	<18 ≥18	236 (70.2) 100 (29.9)		
Abdominal CT sign of pancreatiti	s	4 (1.1)		
ARF		86 (25.4)		
Lipase rising time		11.6 (1:42)		
Length of ICU stay		2.4±5.5 (0:40)		
Length of hospital stay		11.6±8.1 (0:50)		
ARDS		98 (29)		
Intubation		91 (26.9)		
Requirement for ICU [n/(%)]		89 (26.3)		
Mortality [n/(%)]		91 (26.9)		
BMI : Body mass index, CCI: Charlson Comorbidity Index, CAD: coronary artery disease, DM : Diabetes mellitus, HT : Hypertension, CLD:Chronic liver disease, ICU: Intensive care unit, ARDS: Acute respiratory distress syndrome, ARF: Acute renal failure				

Parameters, such as age, BMI, symptoms (dyspnea, anorexia, nausea, abdominal pain), thorax CT severity index and CORADS classification, appearance compatible with pancreatitis on abdominal CT, lipase elevation time, and duration of hospitalization were

similar in both groups (p> 0.05)). However, previous history of hypertension (HT), Charlson comorbidity index (CCI) score, development of acute renal failure (ARF) in follow-up, development of acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS), need for intubation, need for follow-up in the intensive care unit (ICU), duration of ICU stay and mortality rates were similar in both groups (**Table 2**).

When the groups were evaluated regarding laboratory parameters, urea, creatinine, alkaline phosphatase (ALP), lactate dehydrogenase (LDH), direct bilirubin (DB), amylase, uric acid, ferritin, D-Dimer, protein, albumin, leukocytes, hemoglobin, hematocrit, platelets, and C-reactive protein (CRP) levels were significantly different in both groups (**Table 3**).

Table 2. Some clinical and demographic features in groups with high and low lipase levels					
	High Lipase Level Group (n:68)	Low Lipase Level Group (n:270)	Р		
Age	67.4 (37:87)	62.6 (22:92)	0.03		
Gender (F/M)	27/41	110/160	0.9		
BMI	28.9±3.8	29.9±3.8	0.08		
CCI	5.5 (0:12)	4.17 (0:12)	0.001		
History of CAD $[n/(\%)]$	29 (42.6)	89 (33)	0.17		
History of DM $[n/(\%)]$	26 (38.2)	101 (37.4)	0.9		
History of HT $[n/(\%)]$	54 (79.4)	175 (64.8)	0.03		
History of KLD	1 (1.5)	0	0.2		
Dyspnea [n/(%)]	65 (95.6)	257 (95.2)	1		
Anorexia [n/(%)]	54 (79.4)	202 (74.8)	0.52		
Nausea [n/(%)]	37 (54.4)	114 (42.2)	0.07		
Diarrhea [n/(%)]	8 (11.8)	15 (5.6)	0.1		
Abdominal pain [n/(%)]	22 (32.4)	82 (30.4)	0.86		
Thorax CT severity (n:66/n:270) <18 ≥18	47 (70.1) 20 (29.9)	189 (70.3) 80 (29.7)	1		
Thorax CT-CORAD classification low risk high risk	15 (22.4) 52 (77.6	55 (20.4) 214 (79.6)	0.7		
Abdominal CT sign of pancreatitis	1(1.5)	3 (1.1)	1		
ARF	29 (42.6)	57 (21.1)	0.001		
Lipase rising time	11 (1:29)	11.47 (1:42)	0.6		
Length of ICU stay	3.2 (0:24)	2.2 (0:40)	0.006		
Length of hospital stay	11.9 (0:50)	11.9 (1:41)	0.6		
ARDS	32 (47.1)	66 (24.4)	0.001		
Intubation	29 (42.6)	62 (23)	0.002		
Requirement for ICU [n/(%)]	27 (39.7)	62 (23)	0.008		
Mortality [n/(%)]	31 (45.6)	60 (22.2)	0.001		
Steroid usage requirement	65 (95.6)	265 (98.1)	0.2		
NSAID use	6 (8.8)	17 (6.3)	0.6		
n (n 1 () 1 () () 1	a 1.1. a 1	a			

BMI : Body mass index, CCI: Charlson Comorbidity Index, CAD: coronary artery disease, DM : Diabetes mellitus, HT : Hypertension, CLD:Chronic liver disease, ICU : Intensive care unit, ARDS: Acute respiratory distress syndrome, ARF: Acute renal failure

A strong positive correlation was found between lipase elevation and amylase elevation. Furthermore, a weak positive correlation was found between hyperlipasemia and urea, creatinine, uric acid, d-dimer levels, ARDS development, and mortality, whereas a weak negative correlation was found between hyperlipasemia and albumin.

In the correlation analysis with mortality, a very strong positive correlation was found with ARDS, the need for intubation, and ICU admission A strong positive correlation was found between the duration of ICU stay and mortality. A moderate positive correlation was found with CCI score, development of ARF, urea, creatinine, LDH, CRP, and D dimer levels. A weak positive correlation was found with a previous history of HT, uric acid, DB, and ferritin levels. Moreover, a weak negative correlation was found with protein, albumin, and platelet levels (**Table 4**).

Table 3. Laboratory characteristics of groups with high and lowlipase levels			
	High Lipase Level Group (n:68)	Low Lipase Level Group (n:270)	Р
Glucose	231.1 (60:701)	214.1 (41:1043)	0.4
Urea	110.4 (25:277)	63.4 (17:361)	0.001
Creatinin	1.99 (0.2:14)	1.13 (0.3:10.3)	0.001
ALT (0-55 U/L)	48.7 (9:448)	71.1 (3:1302)	0.15
AST (0-55 U/L)	37.5 (7:182)	52.8 (5:1080)	0.4
GGT (9-36 IU/L)	72.9 (11:297)	72.7 (5:861)	0.9
Alkaline phosphatase	83.7 (44:185)	80.3 (20:622)	0.02
LDH	476 (141:1359)	389.2 (57:1426)	0.001
Total Bilirubin	0.63 (0.19:6)	0.48 (0.11:2)	0.2
Direct Bilirubin	0.36 (0.03:4.6)	0.21 (0.01:0.9)	0.007
Amilaz	463.7 (205:1442)	100.4 (61:192)	0.001
Lipaz	463.7 (205:1442)	100.3 (61:178)	0.001
Uric acid	6 (1.2:19.5)	4.4 (1.1:13.4)	0.001
Triglyceride	170.3 (56:769)	201.3 (56:769)	0.12
Leukocyte	13408 (1630:41350)	11039 (2500:36030)	0.06
Hemoglobin	11.8 ± 2.1	12.8±1.8	0.002
Hematocrit	35±5.6	38.1±5.1	0.04
Platelet	230704 (66000:513000)	270306 (82000:601000)	0.01
CRP	64.4 (1.34:436)	35.6 (0.17:223)	0.01
Sedimentation	53.5 (9:144)	48.3 (4:135)	0.4
Fibrinogen	516.4 (185:1170)	486.9 (40-1200)	0.2
Ferritin	725.36 (49:3439)	651.8 (7:7591)	0.06
D-Dimer	1.92 (0.05:7.86)	1.5 (0.01:22.3)	0.001
Protein	5.84 (4.1:7.8)	6.1 (3.9:7.8)	0.03
Albumin	3.15 ± 0.58	3.45 ± 0.48	0.001
ALT : Alanine aminotranspherase, AST : Aspartate aminotranspherase, GGT : Gamma			

ALI : Alanine aminotranspherase, ASI : Aspartate aminotranspherase, GGI : C glutamil transpherase, LDH : lactate dehydrogenase. CRP : C-reactive proteine.

	Lipase elevation amount		Mortality	
	r	Р	r	p
CCI	0.188	0.001	0.523	0.001
HT	0.125	0.02	0.248	0.001
ARF	0.198	0.001	0.595	0.001
ARDS	0.200	0.001	0.920	0.001
Intubation	0.178	0.001	0.925	0.001
Requirement for ICU	0.152	0.005	0.818	0.001
Length of ICU stay	0.149	0.006	0.786	0.001
Mortality	0.211	0.001	1	
Urea	0.271	0.001	0.565	0.001
Creatinin	0.272	0.001	0.525	0.001
Uric acid	0.226	0.001	0.336	0.001
Protein	-0.132	0.03	-0.239	0.001
Albumin	-0.211	0.001	-0.36	0.001
Amylase	0.694	0.001	0.193	0.001
Lipase	0.694	0.001	0.193	0.001
Alkaline phosphatase	0.140	0.02	0.186	0.002
LDH	0.158	0.004	0.515	0.001
Direct bilirubin	0.148	0.006	0.322	0.001
Hemoglobin	-0.170	0.002	-0.165	0.002
Hematocrit	-0.156	0.004	-0.084	0.12
Platelet	-0.134	0.01	-0.375	0.001
CRP	0.135	0.01	0.490	0.001
Ferritin	0.100	0.06	0.271	0.001
D-Dimer	0.250	0.001	0.432	0.001

r=Spearman's Correlation Coefficient

CCI: Charlson Comorbidity Index, HT : Hypertension, ARF: Acute renal failure,

ARDS: Acute respiratory distress syndrome, ICU : Intensive care unit, LDH : lactate dehydrogenase. CRP : C-reactive proteine.

DISCUSSION

Elevations in pancreatic enzymes have been reported in patients diagnosed with COVID-19 (9,10). However, lipase elevation is not unique to pancreatitis (11) and can be released from organs other than the pancreas (12). In renal failure, serum amylase and lipase levels increase due to decreased renal clearance (13,14). In addition to that, increased serum amylase and lipase levels have been reported after trauma, burns, diabetes mellitus, severe gastroenteritis, and cardiovascular surgery (13,14). Based on the Revised Atlanta Criteria, at least two of the three criteria (typical abdominal pain, elevated serum amylase and/or lipase values, and characteristic findings on abdominal imaging) are required to diagnose acute pancreatitis (8). According to the Revised Atlanta Criteria, pancreatitis is a well-known cause of organ failure (such as renal, respiratory and cardiovascular) (8,15). Many viruses may cause pancreatitis (16). However, it has not been fully elucidated whether SARS-CoV-2 directly impacts the pancreas or causes hyperlipasemia secondary to multi-organ failure (MOF) (17,18). Thus, in COVID-19, hyperlipasemia may be secondary to pancreatitis, MOF, or both (19). Studies have demonstrated that ACE-2 expression is higher in pancreatic tissue than in lungs in patients with SARS-CoV-2 infection. This may be a cause of pancreatic injury (7,20).-Pathophysiology of acute pancreaticis activated pancreatic enzymes and pancreatic ischemia secondary to microcirculation disorder of the pancreas play a key role (21). Case-based reports in the literature have revealed cases of acute pancreatitis secondary to COVID-19 (22,23,24). Besides, in the studies, the incidence of pancreatitis secondary to COVID-19 was 0.16%, 7.46%, and 17%, respectively (25,7,9). In our study, the incidence of pancreatitis was 1% (24/2350).

McNabb-Baltar suggested that hyperlipasemia in patients with COVID was not associated with severe illness or poor clinical outcomes. The author stated that hyperlipasemia is not caused by pancreatic injury but might be associated with other gastroenterological manifestations of the virus (11). Liu, on the other hand, argued that in patients with severe COVID-19 infection (even without necrotizing pancreatitis findings), taking pancreatic injury into consideration may impact the prognosis of patients(7). In addition, Lax et al. reported that 36% of patients with COVID-19 without clinical pancreatitis suspected had pancreatic parenchymal necrosis and focal pancreatitis findings (26). Meanwhile, Rasch suggested that pancreatic tissue damage may occur in severe COVID-19 patients, although there are no typical clinical symptoms (10).

In their study, Liu et al. (7) analyzed pancreatic injury due to SARS-CoV-2 infection. They determined elevations in both amylase and lipase levels in 1.85% of mild cases. An increase of 17.9% and 16.4% were detected in amylase and lipase levels of severe COVID-19 patients, respectively. Moreover, McNabb-Baltar detected hyperlipasemia in nine (12.1%) patients (11). In the study of Barlass et al. (19) involving 1003 COVID-19 patients, a >3-fold increase in lipase was found in 14 patients (83% out of 16.8%) . In our study, elevated lipase levels were detected in 14.4% of patients diagnosed with COVID-19, while severe lipase levels were detected in 2.3%.

In the study of Barlass et al. (19), there was a significant predominance of males in the high lipase group (78.6% vs. 38.8%); however, there was no difference regarding other demographic characteristics. Besides, in Rasch's study, it was reported that there was no significant difference between the group with high lipase levels and the control group regarding BMI (11). In our study, no difference was found between the groups regarding sex and BMI. However, patients in the group with severe lipase elevation were older and had a higher CCI score. Moreover, patients with a previous history of HT were more common in the group with severe lipase elevation (p: 0.03). In the study of Barlas, it was revealed that nauseavomiting symptoms were more common in the low lipase group (75.4% vs. 42.3%) (19). However, in our study, symptoms, such as shortness of breath, nausea, vomiting, anorexia, and abdominal pain, and the severity of pulmonary involvement secondary to COVID-19 on thoracic CT imaging were similar in both groups.

Liu reported that pancreatic changes were consistent with pancreatitis in five patients (7.46%) with severe disease findings on lung CT, but none of these patients had signs of acute necrosis in the pancreas (7). In the study of Rasch et al., typical pancreatitis imaging findings were not observed in any of the patients (10). In our study, abdominal CT imaging of one patient with severe lipase elevation and three patients with mild lipase elevation revealed enlargement of the pancreatic parenchyma and peripancreatic inflammation (p>0.05). On the other hand, in our study, pancreatic necrosis was not detected in any patient's abdominal CT imaging.

Many of the studies in the literature have reported a relationship between high lipase levels and worse clinical outcomes in COVID-19 disease (7,10,19). In the study of Rasch et al., the incidence of ARDS was higher in the group with serum lipase activity >180 U/l (p: 0.003). However, in the same study, it was revealed that there was no difference between the groups regarding ventilation duration and mortality (10). Barlass et al. reported higher ICU admission rates (92.9% vs. 32.8%) and intubation rates (23.5% vs. 78.6%) in the group with high (>3 ULN) lipase levels. In addition, in the study of Barlass, no correlation was found between high lipase levels and the duration of hospitalization (19). In our study, the development of ARF during the follow-up period, the development of ARDS, the need for hospitalization in the ICU, the length of ICU stay, and the mortality rates were higher in the group with severe lipase elevation (Table 2). Likewise, in our study, no difference was revealed between the groups regarding the duration of hospitalization. In the correlation analysis with the lipase elevation level, a weak positive correlation was found with amylase, urea, creatinine, uric acid, d-dimer levels, ARDS development, and mortality, whereas a weak negative correlation was found with albumin (Table 4).

The limitation of our study was that this study was designed retrospectively. Studies supported by autopsy findings could elucidate the exact cause of hyperlipasemia.

CONCLUSION

Studies support that COVID-19 does not cause a disease that only affects the lungs but a multisystemic disease. In many studies, it has been demonstrated that ARDS, ICU admission, and mortality are higher in patients with hyperlipasemia. Hyperlipasemia could be utilized as a marker for more severe disease and poor prognosis in the monitorization and treatment follow-up of patients with COVID-19 infection. Furthermore, the SARS-CoV-2 virus should be considered in the etiopathogenesis of acute pancreatitis.

ETHICAL DECLARATIONS

Ethics Committee Approval: The study was approved by the Amasya University Non-Interventional Clinical Researches Ethics Committee (Date: 18.02.2021; Decision No: E.5718).

Informed Consent: Because the study was designed retrospectively, no written informed consent form was obtained from patients.

Referee Evaluation Process: Externally peer-reviewed.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

Author Contributions: All of the authors declare that they have all participated in the design, execution, and analysis of the paper and that they have approved the final version

REFERENCES

- 1. Akkus C, Yilmaz H, Mizrak S, Adibelli Z, Akdas O, Duran C. Development of pancreatic injuries in the course of COVID-19. Acta Gastroenterol Belg 2020; 83: 585-92.
- 2. Li LQ, Huang T, Wang YQ, et al. COVID-19 patients' clinical characteristics, discharge rate, and fatality rate of meta-analysis. J Med Virol 2020; 92: 577-83.
- 3. https://www.who.int/publications/m/item/weeklyepidemiological-update-on-covid-19---24-august-2021.
- Sinonquel P, Aerts M, Badaoui A, et al. BSGIE survey on COVID-19 and gastrointestinal endoscopy in Belgium: results and recommendations. Acta Gastroenterol Belg 2020; 83: 344-54.
- Vege SS. Acute pancreatitis. Feldman M, Friedman LS, Brand LJ (editors). In: Sleisenger and Fordtran's gastrointestinal and liver disease, Eleventh Edition, Chapter 58, p: 893-916.
- 6. Mazrouei SSA, Saeed GA, Al Helali AA. COVID-19-associated acute pancreatitis: a rare cause of acute abdomen. Radiol Case Rep 2020; 15: 1601-3.
- Liu F, Long X, Zhang B, Zhang W, Chen X, Zhang Z. ACE2 expression in pancreas may cause pancreatic damage after SARS-CoV-2 infection. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2020; 18: 2128-30. e2.
- 8. Banks PA, Bollen TL, Dervenis C, et al. Acute Pancreatitis Classification Working Group. Classification of acute pancreatitis--2012: revision of the Atlanta classification and definitions by international consensus. Gut 2013; 62: 102-11.
- 9. Wang F, Wang H, Fan J, Zhang Y, Wang H, Zhao Q. Pancreatic injury patterns in patients with COVID-19 pneumonia. Gastroenterology 2020; 159: 367e70
- 10. Rasch S, Herner A, Schmid RM, Huber W, Lahmer T. High lipasemia is frequent in COVID-19 associated acute respiratory distress syndrome. Pancreatology 2021; 21: 306-11.
- 11. McNabb-Baltar J, Jin DX, Grover AS, et al. Lipase Elevation in Patients with COVID-19. Am J Gastroenterol 2020; 115: 1286-8.

- 12.Berk JE, Shimamura J, Fridhandler L. Amylase changes in disorders of the lung. Gastroenterology 1978; 74: 1313e7
- Pieper-Bigelow C, Strocchi A, Levitt MD. Where does serum amylase come from and where does it go? Gastroenterol Clin N Am 1990; 19: 793e810.
- 14. Hameed AM, Lam VW, Pleass HC. Significant elevations of serum lipase not caused by pancreatitis: a systematic review. HP 2015; 17: 99e112
- 15.Zerem E. Treatment of severe acute pancreatitis and its complications. World J Gastroentero 2014 20: 13879-92
- 16. Rawla P, Bandaru SS, Vellipuram AR. Review of infectious etiology of acute pancreatitis. Gastroenterol Res 2017; 10: 153-8.
- 17.de-Madaria E, Siau K, Cardenas-Jaen K. Increased amylase and lipase in patients with COVID-19 pneumonia: Don't blame the pancreas just yet! Gastroenterology 2020. [Epub ahead of print April 21 2020.
- Thaweerat W. Current evidence on pancreatic involvement in SARSCoV- 2 infection. Pancreatology 2020; 20: 1013-4.
- Barlass U, Wiliams B, Dhana K, et al. Marked elevation of lipase in COVID-19 Disease: a cohort study. Clin Transl Gastroenterol 2020; 11: e00215.
- 20.Dalan R, Bornstein SR, El-Armouche A, et al. The ACE-2 in COVID-19: Foe or Friend?Horm Metab Re 2020; 52: 257-63.
- 21.Chen Z-GZ, You D. Influencing factors of pancreatic microcirculatory impairment in acute panceatitis. World J Gastroenterol 2002; 8: 406-12.
- 22. Cheung S, Fuentes AD, Fetterman AD. Recurrent acute pancreatitis in a patient with COVID-19 Infection. Am J Case Rep 2020; 21: e927076.
- 23.Patnaik RNK, Gogia A, Kakar A. Acute pancreatic injury induced by COVID-19. *ID*Cases 2020; 10: e00959.
- 24. Szatmary P, Arora A, Raraty MGT, Dunne DFJ, Baron RD, Halloran CM. Emerging phenotype of severe acute respiratory syndrome-Coronavirus 2-associated pancreatitis. Gastroenterology 2020; 159: 1551-4.
- 25.Suchman K, Raphael KL, Liu Y, Wee D, Trindade AJ. Northwell COVID-19 Research Consortium. Acute pancreatitis in children hospitalized with COVID-19. Pancreatology 2021; 21: 31-3.
- 26.Lax SF, Skok K, Zechner P, et al. Pulmonary arterial thrombosis in covid-19 with fatal outcome : results from a prospective, singlecenter, clinicopathologic case series. Ann Intern Med 2020; 173: 350e61.

HEALTH SCIENCES MEDICINE

Two-year profile of the records of patients referred to Adana city hospital urology clinic due to PSA high in primary care: a retrospective review

Kadir Karkin, DEdiz Vuruşkan

Adana City Training and Research Hospital, Adana, Turkey

Cite this article as: Karkin K, Vuruşkan E. Two-year profile of the records of patients referred to Adana city hospital urology clinic due to PSA high in primary care: a retrospective review. J Health Sci Med 2022; 5(3): 726-731.

ABSTRACT

Objective: To retrospectively evaluate the two-year records of patients referred to Adana City Training and Research Hospital by family physicians because of high prostate specific antigen (PSA), and to reveal the profile and related outcomes for clinical practices of family physicians about prostate cancer screening.

Material and Method: The files of 102 patients, who were referred to our clinic by their family physicians due to high PSA between April 2019 and May 2021, were retrospectively evaluated. Demographic data of patients, presence of additional disease, family history, control serum PSA value examined in family medicine centers and in our hospital at time of first admission, complete urinalysis (TIT), ultrasonography (USG) and multiparametric magnetic resonance (mpMR) findings, transrectal ultrasonographic biopsy (TRUS-BX) results and biopsy were noted. The treatments administered according to the results (radical prostatectomy, radiotherapy, hormone therapy, chemotherapy) were recorded.

Results: The mean age of the patients was 52.8 ± 8.9 years. The PSA value of the patients at time of admission was 8.0 ± 3.8 ng/ml. The mean PSA values measured at the time of admission to primary care and at the time of admission to Adana clinic after referral were 8.0 ± 3.8 ng/ml and 8.0 ± 3.0 ng/ml, respectively. There was no statistically significant difference between these values (p=0.2). Among all the patients presenting with elevated PSA, 36 (35%) patients underwent TRUS Bx, had prostate cancer as a result of pathology and underwent radical prostatectomy, which was the most common definitive treatment method with statistical significance (p<.001). The sensitivity value obtained from the ROC curve calculated based on the initial PSA value of the patients was 68.09 years and the specificity value was 48.15 years. At the same time, the cut-off PSA value calculated by examining the area under the ROC curve was determined to be <7.5 ng/ml.

Conclusion: An individualized, risk-adjusted strategy for screening should be determined. A shared decision-making process with the patient should be adopted, along with explaining the reasons for and consequences of PSA screening.

Keywords: Family medicine, cancer screening, prostate cancer, prostate specific antigen

INTRODUCTION

Prostate cancer (PCa) is the second most common cancer diagnosed in men worldwide, accounting for 15% of all cancers (1). The prevalence of PCa under the age of 30 years is 5%, while it is 59% over the age of 79 years (2). While digital rectal examination (DRE), serum prostate specific antigen (PSA), transrectal ultrasonography (TRUS) and prostate biopsy (TRUS Bx) are included in the diagnostic evaluation, the introduction of PSA especially has led to serious advances in the diagnosis and treatment of PCa (3). Cancer screening is defined as the systematic examination of asymptomatic people (at risk). Screening for PCa with serum PSA aims to detect PCa at an early and manageable stage, thus directing curative treatment, and ultimately reducing overall and disease-specific mortality (4). Early diagnosis and treatment of PCa was reported to increase cancer-specific survival, and the first widespread screening results, especially in the USA, were associated with a decrease in PCa mortality (5,6). However, clinically insignificant PCa can also be detected as a result of screening, and the number of associated prostate biopsies that may cause sepsis increases in patients who undergo TRUS Bx (7). Therefore, it is useful to develop an individualized, risk-adapted strategy for early detection. People especially at risk including those over the age of

Corresponding Author: Kadir Karkin, kadir_karkin@msn.com



50 years, with a family history, over the age of 45 years, of African origin, and with familial BRCA1 mutations should be prioritized for early diagnosis (8-10).

As can be seen from the literature above, PCa screening continues to be one of the most controversial issues in urology practice (11). The current situation also affects the decisions of family physicians. However, it is very important for family physicians to inform their patients about cancer screening. In addition, it is important to apply the necessary screening tests or to refer the patients to the relevant branches. Studies in the literature generally analyzed the attitudes of family physicians towards prostate cancer screening by assessing their attitudes towards PCa with questionnaire-based questions (12). In our study, we aimed to reveal the profile and related results about clinical practices of family physicians about prostate cancer screening by retrospectively evaluating the twoyear records of patients referred to Adana City Training and Research Hospital (Adana) because of elevated PSA.

MATERIAL AND METHOD

Study Design

Our study retrospectively evaluated the files of 102 patients who were referred to our clinic by primary care family medicine centers between April 2019 and May 2021, after being approved by the Adana City Training and Research Hospital Clinical Researches Ethics Committee (Date: 2021, Decision No: 1595). All procedures adhered to the ethical rules and principles of the Helsinki Declaration. Data recorded included the demographic data of the patients, presence of additional disease, family history, control serum total PSA value examined in family medicine centers and in our hospital at time of first admission, complete urinalysis (TIT), ultrasonography (USG) and multiparametric magnetic resonance (mpMR) findings, transrectal ultrasonographic biopsy (TRUS) -BX) results, the treatments applied (radical prostatectomy, radiotherapy, hormone therapy, chemotherapy) and urinary tract infection according to the biopsy results, and serum total PSA value after antibiotic treatment. Serum total PSA level was measured using an electrochemiluminescence immunoassay (normal range; 0-2.5 ng/ml for age 40-49, 0-3.5 ng/ml for age 50-59, 0-4.5 for age 60-69, 70-79 0-6.5 ng/ml for age) (13).

Data Collection

The principles set out in the Declaration of Helsinki were followed. All methods were carried out in accordance with the relevant guidelines and regulations. Adana electronic hospital information system was used to obtain epidemiological data including demographic, clinical and laboratory findings. The serum total PSA value measured in venous blood samples was recorded. Peripheral venous blood samples were evaluated using standard procedures in the central laboratory of Adana City Training and Research Hospital. Biochemical hormonal parameters were measured with a Siemens ADVIA 1800 automated biochemistry analyzer (Siemens Healthcare Diagnostics Inc, Laboratory Diagnostics, Advia Centaur XPT, manufactured in Erlangen, Germany, Ireland).

Statistical Analysis

SPSS 23.0 package program (IBM, Armonk, NY) was used for statistical analysis of the data. Categorical measurements are summarized as numbers and percentages, and continuous measurements as mean and standard deviation (median and minimum-maximum where necessary). Chi-square and Fisher's exact tests were used to compare categorical variables. Shapiro-Wilk test was used to determine whether the parameters in the study showed normal distribution. In the comparison of continuous measurements between the groups, the distributions were checked and the Mann Whitney test was used for the parameters that did not show normal distribution in the double group analysis, and the Kruskal Wallis test was used for the analysis of more than two groups. In the study, the cut-off value was determined by calculating the sensitivity (sensitivity) and specificity (specificity) values based on the initial PSA value of the patients and examining the area under the ROC curve. Statistical significance level was taken as 0.05 in all tests.

RESULTS

The mean age of the patients was 52.8 ± 8.9 years. Of patients, 8.8% had a family history of prostate cancer. The mean PSA value of the patients at the time of admission was 8.0 ± 3.8 ng/ml. Only 50 patients had TRUS bx (**Table 1**).

The mean PSA values measured at the time of admission to primary care and at the time of admission to the ASEAH clinic after referral were 8.0 ± 3.8 ng/ml and 8.0 ± 3.0 ng/ml, respectively. There was no statistically significant difference between these values (p=0.2) (**Table 2**).

When the data of patients aged 40-45 years, 46-50 years and over 50 years of age were compared, the definitive treatments (RP, RT, HT) and Gleason score values in patients over 50 years old were relatively high, but only the presence of additional disease was statistically significantly higher (p<.001) (**Table 3**).

Among all the patients presenting with elevated PSA, 36 (35%) patients who underwent TRUS Bx, had prostate cancer as a result of pathology and underwent radical prostatectomy, which was the most common definitive treatment method with statistical significance (p<.001). There were 19 (18%) patients who received radiotherapy/ hormonotherapy (**Table 4**).

Table 1. Demographic data in the study			
	Frequency (n)	Percent (%)	
Family history			
No	93	91.2	
Yes	9	8.8	
Additional illness			
No	50	49.0	
Yes	52	51.0	
Urinary tract infection			
No	68	66.7	
Yes	34	33.3	
TRUS Bx			
No	50	49.0	
Yes	52	51.0	
Radical Prostatectomy			
No	66	64.7	
Yes	36	35.3	
Radiotherapy / Hormonotherapy			
No	83	81.	
Yes	19	18.6	
Chemotherapy			
No	100	98.0	
Yes	2	2.0	
Gleason score			
3+3	24	23.5	
3+4	4	3.9	
4+3	7	6.9	
4+4	9	8.8	
4+5	1	1.0	
None	57	55.9	
	Mean±SD	Med (Min-Max)	
Age	52.8±8.9	52 (40-75)	
Initial PSA ng/ml	8.0±3.8	7 (3.9-20)	
Control PSA ng/ml	8.0±3.0	7.5 (3.8-19)	
PSA after antibiotics	4.6±4	3 (1-13)	
mpMR PIRADs value	3.25±1.0	3 (1-5)	
PSA: Prostate specific antigen, mpMR: Multiparametric magnetic resonance, TRUS-			

BX: Transrectal ultrasonographic biopsy

Table 2. Comparison of PSA at the time of admission in primary care and the control PSA value measured at first admission to ASEAH			
	Mean±SD	Med (Min-Max)	р
Initial PSA ng/ml	8.0±3.8	7 (3.9-20)	0.2
Control PSA ng/ml	8.0±3.0	7.5 (3.8-19)	
PSA: Prostate specific antigen			

Table 4. Definitive treatments applied to patients diagnosed with prostate cancer as a result of TRUS Bx			
Radical Prostatectomy			р
	No	Yes	
	(n=66)	(n=36)	
Radiotherapy /Hormonotherapy			
No	47 (71.2)	36 (100)	< 001
Yes	19 (28.8)	0 (0)	<.001

TRUS Bx was applied to only 52 (51%) patients with elevated PSA. Gleason score 3+3 pathology was present in 24 (46%) patients, which was statistically significantly higher than other Gleason scores (p<.001) (**Table 5**).

and over 50 ye	ar old patients	iala 101 40-43	year old, 40-50	year old
	40-45 years	46-50 years	>50 years	р
Family history				
No	24 (88.9)	20 (95.2)	49 (90.7)	0.734
Yes	3 (11.1)	1 (4.8)	5 (9.3)	
Additional illn	ess			
No	21 (77.8)	10 (47.6)	19 (35.2)	0.001
Yes	6 (22.2)	11 (52.4)	35 (64.8)	
Urinary tract i	nfection			
No	20 (74.1)	15 (71.4)	33 (61.1)	0.442
Yes	7 (25.9)	6 (28.6)	21 (38.9)	
TRUS Bx				
No	15 (55.6)	11 (52.4)	24 (44.4)	0.604
Yes	12 (44.4)	10 (47.6)	30 (55.6)	
Radical Prosta	tectomy			
No	19 (70.4)	13 (61.9)	34 (63)	0.770
Yes	8 (29.6)	8 (38.1)	20 (37)	
Radiotherapy	/Hormonother	apy		
No	22 (81.5)	17 (81)	44 (81.5)	0.998
Yes	5 (18.5)	4 (19)	10 (18.5)	
Chemotherapy	7			
No	26 (96.3)	21 (100)	53 (98.1)	0.654
Yes	1 (3.7)	0 (0)	1 (1.9)	
Gleason score				
3+3	8 (29.6)	5 (23.8)	11 (20.4)	0.753
3+4	0 (0)	0 (0)	4 (7.4)	
4+3	2 (7.4)	2 (9.5)	3 (5.6)	
4+4	1 (3.7)	2 (9.5)	6 (11.1)	
4+5	0 (0)	0 (0)	1 (1.9)	
None	16 (59.3)	12 (57.1)	29 (53.7)	
	40-45 years	46-50 years	Over 50 years	р
Age	6.45 (3.9-15)	6.9 (4-19)	7.25 (3.9-20)	0.214
Initial PSA ng/ml	6 (3.8-16)	8 (3.8-15)	7.9 (3.8-19)	0.119
Control PSA ng/ml	3 (2-13)	3.25 (1-13)	3 (1-13)	0.970
PSA after antibiotics	3 (2-5)	3 (2-5)	4 (1-5)	0.637
PSA: Prostate specific antigen, mpMR: Multiparametric magnetic resonance, TRUS-				

BX: Transrectal ultrasonographic biopsy

Table 5. Gleason score distribution of patients who underwent TRUS Bx			
	TRU	TRUS Bx	
	No (n=50)	Yes (n=52)	Р
Gleason score			
3+3		24 (46.2)	
3+4		4 (7.7)	
4+3		7 (13.5)	(001
4+4		9 (17.3)	<.001
4+5		1 (1.9)	
None	50 (100)	7 (13.5)	
TRUS-BX: Transrectal ultrasonographic biopsy			

The sensitivity value obtained from the ROC curve calculated based on the initial PSA value of the patients was 68.09 years and the specificity value was 48.15 years. At the same time, the cut-off PSA value calculated by examining the area under the ROC curve was determined to be <7.5 ng/dl (**Figure 1**).



Figure 1. Sensitivity, specificity and cut-off values according to the ROC curve based on the initial serum PSA value

	Initial PSA	95% CI	
AUC	0.579	0.476-0.676	
Cut-off	<7.5		
Sensitivity	68.09	52.9-80.9	
Specificity	48.15	34.3-62.2	
+LR	1.31	1.0-1.8	
-LR	0.66	0.4-1.1	
PPV	53.3	45.3-61.2	
NPV	63.4	51.2-74.1	
p	0.166		
*p<0.05, **p<0.001, ROC curve			

DISCUSSION

Clinically localized PCa is usually asymptomatic. Therefore, PSA and PRM are accepted as diagnostic tests to detect PCa while PCa is confined to the prostate (14). Although the first widespread screening results in the USA were associated with a decrease in mortality (6), in 2012 the US preventive services task force and 2013 AUA (American Urology) guidelines published a recommendation against PSA-based screening, resulting in a reduction in the use of PSA for early detection (15-17). However, Fenton et al. (18) in a systematic review conducted in 2018 and İliç et al. (7) as a result of their systematic review and meta-analysis, concluded that PSA population screening has a long-term benefit in reducing cancer-specific mortality. According to a Cochrane analysis published in 2013 by Ilic et al. (19), the diagnosis of PCa increased with screening and was associated with more localized disease. However, five available randomized controlled trials involving 341,000 men reported no overall survival benefit specific to PCa. Another issue among the questions of whether or not to perform screening is whether only PSA screening is sufficient? In their randomized clinical

study investigating the effect of PSA-based screening on prostate cancer mortality in 2018, Martin et al. (20) found that a single PSA screening detected lower-risk PCa, but had no benefit for PCa mortality after 10 years of follow-up. Therefore, for screening and early detection of PCa, men should be offered PSA screening after being given detailed information about the potential risks and benefits and presenting a personalized and risk-adapted strategy to patients with a life expectancy of more than 10 years (EAU 2021).

Early screening for PCa is important for those with family history and inherited germline mutations. Significant cancers were detected at a younger age in male BRCA1 and 2 mutations as a result of PSA screening compared to carriers without mutations (21). Increasing evidence supports the use of genetic counseling and germline testing for early diagnosis and management of PCa. early screening and detection of germline mutations is essential for men with metastatic PCa; men with high-risk PCa and a family member <60 years of age diagnosed with PCa; men with multiple family members diagnosed with PCa at age <60 years, or a family member dying from PCa cancer; with a family history of high-risk germline mutations or a family history of more than one cancer on the same side (22).

PSA is prostate specific but not cancer specific; therefore, it may also increase due to benign prostatic enlargement (BPH), prostate inflammation (prostatitis) and other non-malignant causes. PSA, as an independent variable, predicts PCa better than PRM and TRUS, but serum PSA value is considered as <4 ng/dl despite the lack of a standard PSA value range.3 The European Association of Urology (EAU) prostate guidelines also contains a threshold value. Although not specified, the PSA<2.5-3 ng/dl range is recommended for young men. Broeck et al. reported that those with PSA >1 ng/dl at the age of 40 and $PSA \ge 2 \text{ ng/dl}$ at the age of 60 are at risk of death due to PCa, and that these patients should be followed up every 2 years. Those who are not in this risk group according to their initial PSA value should be followed up but they suggested that it could be delayed to 8 years (23).

Apart from PSA, DRE is also important for the diagnosis of PCa. PCa develops from the prostate peripheral zone and the tumor volume must be at least >0.2 ml for cancer detection by DRE. At the same time, tumors can be detected in 18% of cases with DRE alone, regardless of PSA level (24). Imaging methods also play an important role in PCa detection. Smeenge et al. (25) reported that standard transrectal USG is not a reliable method for detecting PCa in their study. EAU guidelines suggest multiparametric magnetic resonance imaging (mpMR) for patients undergoing biopsy for the first time or for whom a repeat biopsy is recommended due to elevated
PSA to be performed before biopsy. If suspicious areas are detected in imaging (PI-RADS 3 and above lesion description), targeted and systematic biopsy should be performed by the transrectal route. TRUS Bx recommends taking at least 10-12 core biopsies from each lobe and region (EAU 2021 guideline). The most commonly used histological grading system pathologically after TRUS bx is the Gleason score. The Gleason score ranges from 2 (1+1) to 10 (5+5). It is calculated by adding the most common primary pattern and the second most common secondary pattern forming the tumor in the evaluated tissue and finding a value between 2-10 (International Society of Urological Pathology (ISUP) 2014). Treatment of localized PCa is radical prostatectomy. It is recommended for patients with organ-confined disease and a life expectancy of more than 10 years (23). Radiotherapy is another method that provides biochemical control and survival, similar to radical prostatectomy in the same patient group, and the standard recommended dose is 74-80 Gy (26). Hormone suppression therapy combined with radiotherapy, as well as luteinizing hormone-releasing hormone (LHRH) analogue therapy, are applied for 3 months, between 6 months and 3 years in medium and high risk groups, and its superiority was proven in this risk group compared to radiotherapy treatment along (27-29).

If the results of our study are evaluated in light of the above information, family physicians most frequently refer patients with PSA values of 7.5 ng/dl and below to our urology clinic. At the same time, the most sensitive age group in the patient group referred for PSA elevation was 68 years, while the most specific age group was 48 years. Although only 9 (8.8%) of the referred patients had a family history, these patients were screened for PSA under the age of 45 years in line with the literature. Although the lowest patient age was 40 years and the oldest was 75 years, the median age of the patients was 52 years. In light of this information, PSA screening was performed at around the age of 50 years in accordance with the literature, and the screening reached the target age group. As standard, according to the studies described above and EAU 2021 guideline recommendations, every patient with high PSA level, regardless of the PSA value, had prostate lesion screening with mpMR imaging and PIRADS risk classification before the biopsy. It was observed that the PIRADS risk classification in mpMR is relatively higher in patients over 50 years of age (4 and above), leading to more biopsies and more prostate cancer detection. Another issue that deserves attention is that only 52 (50.9%) of the 102 patients referred to us with PSA elevation were biopsied. Fifty patients who were not biopsied were called for 3-month PSA followup because the PSA value fell below 4 after antibiotic treatment, they were PIRADS 3 and below in mpMR images, and the control PSA value checked in our clinic was lower than the PSA value from family medicine center. One of the remarkable issues in our study are the results of the patients who underwent biopsy. Cancer was not detected in only seven (13%) of the patients who underwent biopsy. The most common pathological Gleason score in 45 (87%) patients with cancer was 3+3 (46.2%); in other words, most of the patients were caught at an early stage and this demonstrates the importance of screening. The first definitive treatment choice of patients with PCa as a result of biopsy was radical prostatectomy, with statistical significance, and cancer patients over 50 years of age choose surgery relatively more often. Among the patients with PCa as a result of biopsy, only one patient had metastatic disease (bone metastasis; M1b metastatic group), was referred to oncology and received chemotherapy (CT).

CONCLUSION

The issue of screening in prostate cancer is still controversial. An individualized, risk-adapted strategy for screening should be established. A shared decisionmaking process with the patient should be adopted, along with detailed information about the reasons for and consequences of PSA screening. At the end of the shared decision-making process between the family physician and the patient, if PSA screening is decided; instead of looking at PSA alone, digital rectal examination together with PSA should definitely be included in the screening. At the same time, PSA elevation does not mean that the patient has prostate cancer; it should be explained that PSA may increase due to many conditions. In addition, patients with PSA elevation were not directly biopsied by urology, control PSA was examined after treatment in patients with urinary tract infection, mpMR was taken before biopsy and biopsy was performed for those with 3 or more lesions according to PIRADS staging, other patients were followed up with 3-month PSA checks, if necessary. It should be noted that new mpMR imaging was performed.

ETHICAL DECLARATIONS

Ethics Committee Approval: The study was initiated with the approval of the Adana City Training and Research Hospital Clinical Researches Ethics Committee (Date: 2021, Decision No: 1595).

Informed Consent: Because the study was designed retrospectively, no written informed consent form was obtained from patients.

Referee Evaluation Process: Externally peer-reviewed.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declare that this study has received no financial support.

Author Contributions: All of the authors declare that they have participated in the design, execution, and analysis of the paper, and that they approved the final version.

- 1. Ferlay J, Soerjomataram I, Dikshit R, et al. Cancer incidence and mortality worldwide: sources, methods and major patterns in GLOBOCAN 2012. Int J Cancer 2015; 136: E359.
- Bell K, Mar C, Wright G, Dickinsonet J, Glasziou P. Prevalence of incidental prostate cancer: A systematic review of autopsy studies. Int J Cancer; 2015; 137: 1749.
- Catalona WJ, Richie JP, Ahmann FR, et al. Comparison of digital rectal examinationand serum prostate specific antigen in theearly detection of prostate cancer: results of a multicenter clinical trial of 6,630 men. J Urol 1994; 151: 1283-90.
- 4. Vickers AJ. Prostate cancer screening: time to question how to optimize the ratio of benefits and harms. Ann Int Med 2017; 509-10.
- Bill Axelson A, Holmberg L, Ruutu M, et al. Radical prostatectomy versus watchful waiting in early prostate cancer. N Engl J Med 2005; 352: 1977-84.
- Loeb S. Guideline of guidelines: Prostate cancer screening. BJU Int 2014; 114: 323.
- Ilic D, Djulbegovic M, Jung JH, et al. Prostate cancer screening with prostate-specific antigen (PSA) test: a systematic review and meta-analysis. BMJ 2018; 5: k3519.
- Carlsson S, Assel M, Ulmert D, et al. Screening for prostate cancer starting at age 50-54 years. a population-based cohort study. Eur Urol 2017; 71: 46.
- Kamangar F, Dores MG, Anderson WF. Patterns of cancer incidence, mortality, and prevalence across five continents: defining priorities to reduce cancer disparities in different geographic regions of the world. J Clin Oncol 2006; 24: 2137.
- 10.Bancroft EK, Page AC, Castro E, et al. Targeted prostate cancer screening in BRCA1 and BRCA2 mutation carriers: results from the initial screening round of the IMPACT study. Eur Urol 2014; 66: 489.
- 11.Etzioni R, Gulati R, Cooperberg MR, Penson DM, Weiss NS, Thompson LM. Limitations of basing screening policies on screening trials: The US Preventive Services Task Force and Prostate Cancer Screening. Med Care 2013; 51: 295.
- Akerman JP, Allard CB, Tajzler C, Kapoor A. Prostate cancer screening among family physicians in Ontario: An update on attitudes and current practice. Canadian Urol Assoc J 2018; 12: E53.
- Partin AW, Criley SR, Subong EN, Zincke H, Walsh PC, Oesterling JE. Standard versus age-specific prostate specific antigen reference ranges among men with clinically localized prostate cancer: a pathological analysis J Urol 1996; 155: 1336-9.
- 14.Carroll P, Coley C, McLeod D, et al. Prostate-specific antigen best practice policy--part I: early detection and diagnosis of prostate cancer. Urology 2001; 57: 217-24.
- Moyer VA. Screening for prostate cancer: U.S. Preventive Services Task Force recommendation statement. Ann Intern Med 2012; 157: 120.
- 16.Carter HB, Albertsen PC, Barry MJ, et al. Early detection of prostate cancer: AUA Guideline. J Urol 2013; 190: 419.
- 17.Drazer MW, Huo D, Eggener SE. National prostate cancer screening rates after the 2012 US Preventive Services Task Force recommendation discouraging prostate-specific antigen-based screening. J Clin Oncol 2015; 33: 2416.

- 18. Fenton JJ, Weyrich MS, Durbin S, Liu Y, Bang H, Melnikow J. Prostate-specific antigen-based screening for prostate cancer: evidence report and systematic review for the US Preventive Services Task Force. Jama 2018; 319: 1914.
- 19.Ilic D, Neuberger MM, Djulbegovic M, Dahm P. Screening for prostate cancer. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2013; Cd004720.
- 20. Martin RM, Donovan JL, Turner EL, et al. Effect of a low-intensity psa-based screening intervention on prostate cancer mortality: the CAP randomized clinical trial. JAMA 2018; 319: 883.
- 21. Page EC, Bancroft EK, Brook MN, et al. Interim results from the IMPACT study: evidence for prostate-specific antigen screening in BRCA2 mutation carriers. Eur Urol 2019; 76: 831.
- 22.Giri VN, Knudsen KE, Kelly WK, et al. Implementation of germline testing for prostate cancer: philadelphia prostate cancer consensus conference 2019. J Clin Oncol 2020; 38: 2798.
- 23. Van den Broeck T, Van den berg RCN, Briers E, et al. Biochemical recurrence in prostate cancer: The European association of urology prostate cancer guidelines panel recommendations. Eur Urol Focus 2020; 6: 231-4.
- 24. Richie JP, Catalona WJ, Ahmann FR, et al. Effect of patient age on early detection of prostate cancer with serum prostate-specific antigen and digital rectal examination. Urology 1993; 42: 365.
- 25.Smeenge M, Barentsz J, Cosgrove D, et al. Role of transrectal ultrasonography (TRUS) in focal therapy of prostate cancer: report from a Consensus Panel. BJU Int 2012; 110: 942.
- 26. Peeters ST, Heemsbergen WD, Koper PCM, et al. Dose-response in radiotherapy for localized prostate cancer: results of the Dutch multicenter randomized phase III trial comparing 68 Gy of radiotherapy with 78 Gy. J Clin Oncol 2006; 24: 1990-6.
- 27. Pilepich MV, Winter K, Lawton CA, et al. Androgen suppression adjuvant to definitive radiotherapy in prostate carcinoma long term results of phase III RTOG 85-31. Int J Radiation Oncol Biol Physics 2005; 61: 1285-90.
- 28. Lawton CA, DeSilvio M, Roach III M, et al. An update of the phase III trial comparing whole pelvic to prostate only radiotherapy and neoadjuvant to adjuvant total androgen suppression: Updated analysis of RTOG 94-13, with emphasis on unexpected hormone/ radiation interactions. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2007; 69: 646-55.
- 29. Mottet N, Peneau M, Mazeron JJ, Molinie V, Richaudet P. Addition of radiotherapy to long-term androgen deprivation in locally advanced prostate cancer: an open randomised phase 3 trial. Eur Urol 2012; 62: 213-9.

Muscle hydatid diseases: percutaneous treatment with Örmeci technique

®Necati Örmeci¹, ®Özgün Ömer Asiller², ®Cemil Yağcı³, ®Tuğrul Örmeci⁴, ®Zeynep Ellik⁵, ®Çağdaş Kalkan⁰, ®Atilla İlhan7

¹Istanbul Health and Technology University, School of Medicine, Department of Internal Medicine, Division of Gastroenterology, Istanbul, Turkey
²Ankara University, School of Medicine, Department of Anesthesiology, Ankara Turkey
³Ankara University, School of Medicine, Department of Radiology, Ankara, Turkey
⁴Medipol University, School of Medicine, Department of Radiology, Istanbul, Turkey
⁵Ankara University, School of Medicine, Department of Gastroenterology, Ankara, Turkey
⁶Ministry of Health, Ankara City Hospital, Ankara, Turkey
⁷Ankara University, School of Medicine, Department of Medical Statistics, Ankara, Turkey

Cite this article as: Örmeci N, Asiller ÖÖ, Yağcı C, et al. Muscle hydatid diseases. percutaneous treatment with Örmeci technique. J Health Sci Med 2022; 5(3): 732-739.

ABSTRACT

Aim: To present results of percutaneous treatment with Örmeci technique for muscle hydatid diseases.

Material and Method: Twelve patients (9 male, 3 female) with 16 hydatid cysts (10 CE Type 1, 6 CE Type3B) were treated by percutaneous treatment with Örmeci technique. The percutaneous puncture was performed under sonographic guidance using a 22-gauge Chiba needle as a one-step procedure in CE type 1 and 3A. However, two to six Chiba needles according to size of the cysts were used in different locations at the same time in the cyst of CE type 2, and 3B). For every 1 cm of the long diameter of the cyst lesion, 3cc of fluid from the cysts was aspirated, which was almost the same amount of cc in volume for the CE type 1 and CE type 3A hydatid cysts. A 2cc of pure alcohol (96 %) and 1cc of polidocanol 1% (ethoxysclerol 1%, Kreussler Pharma, Wiesbaden, Germany) were injected into the cysts right after the aspiration of CE type 1 and type 3A, without the aspiration of CE type 2 and 3B, for each centimeter of the long diameter of the cysts. The total amount of pure alcohol and polidocanol were injected equally among the CE type 2 and type 3B cyst's needles. It was waited for five minutes for all scolexes to be killed and the needle/or needles were taken back. The patients with hydatid disease were followed up mean 34.75 ±14.39 (maximum 65-minimum 15) months.

Findings: Fifteen out of 16 hydatid cysts (93.75%) cured. We had two complications of treatment. One patient had an abscess in the cyst after the percutaneous treatment. After the percutaneous drainage, patient was cured well, and he had no symptoms during the follow up. Another patient had torpidity in his leg after the treatment. After three months, he had no symptoms.

In Conclusion, Percutaneous treatment with Örmeci technique is outpatient based, successful, safe, repeatable, cheap and It can be used as an alternative treatment in selected patients.

Keywords: Hydatid cyst, percutaneous treatment, Örmeci technique

INTRODUCTION

Hydatid disease (HD) is still an important health and economic problem especially in endemic areas such as Turkey, Eastern Europe, Eastern Africa, South America, Australia, and New Zealand; in which livestock grows up. The larvae of *Echinococcus granuloses* causes the HD in Human as an intermediate host. Normally, adult parasite resides in the intestine of carnivores. Several thousand eggs of parasite are casted by feces in every day. Human being is accidentally infected by those eggs. When the egg is ingested by the host, larvae of *Echinococcus granuloses* hatches and penetrates intestinal wall and comes to the liver by the portal vein. If it pass through the filters of liver and lungs, it may reaches any organ like muscles in the body. When it resides in any organ, grows 1-3 cm in diameter in a year; the bigger the more complications occur. It compresses the vital organs, fistulize into the spaces like peritoneum, pleura, bile ducts. Besides, the disease gives big economic burden on the endemic countries. It was found that the total cost of a single hospitalization, including hospital stay, surgical intervention, personnel,

Corresponding Author: Necati Örmeci, normeci@yahoo.com



drugs, and administrative costs ranged from \pounds .5,874 to 23,077 (median \pounds .11,033) per patient in Pavia, Italy (1).

Hydatid disease mainly locates in the liver (70%) and the lungs (20%). Musculo-skeletal system is one of the rare locations of this disease; and it varies 0.5-5% in the literature (2).

Aim of this study is to present the results of percutaneous treatment with Örmeci technique for 12 patients with 16 muscle HD.

MATERIAL AND METHOD

The study was carried out with the permission of Ankara University Faculty of Medicine Ethics Committee (Date: 26.10.2015, Decision No: 16-689-15). All procedures were carried out in accordance with the ethical rules and the principles of the Declaration of Helsinki.

Nine hundred forty-two patients with 1367 cysts were diagnosed as hydatid disease among the ones who applied to Ankara University Medical School, Department of Gastroenterology. Sixteen patients with 24 cysts out of 1367 (1.36 %) were diagnosed muscle hydatid cyst (Figure 1). Three patients were not treated because two of them received Albendazole and one patient had type 4 hydatid cyst which is not necessary for the treatment. Four out of twenty-one hydatid cysts located both in the muscles and liver. One patient was lost to follow up. Twelve patients with 16 hydatid cysts included in the study. Nine out of 12 (75%) were males, three of them were females (25%), mean age was 38.83±12.27 year. Ten cysts (62.5%) were CE Type 1, six out of 16 (37.5%) was CE Type 3. Eight cysts (50%) located at upper part of left leg, while five cysts (31.25%) placed upper part of the right leg. One cyst on the right side, another cyst on the left side located at left lower part, lower extremity. One cyst located at right thoracal paraspinal area. Mean diameter of the cysts was 60.15±37.35 mm. Seventeen out of 21 hydatid cysts were in the muscle (80.95%, primary) and four out of 21 cysts (19.05%, secondary) were in the liver in thirteen patients. Baseline characteristics of the patients with muscle hydatid diseases is seen in Table 1.

The patients were diagnosed hydatid disease by ultrasonographic findings which were described by Gharbi HA and WHO-Informal Working Group on Echinococcosis improved Gharbi's classification for the diagnosis of echinococcosis in 2003 (3,4). Besides that On the MRI examination; occurrence of the hydatid matrix, daughter cysts, floating membranes in the cyst cavity, the wall of hydatid cyst which was shown as characteristically low signal intensity, as "rim" on T2 weighted MR images was accepted as hydatid disease.(5). Similarly, On the CT examination; occurrence of water attenuation cyst with well-defined, all daughter cysts which appear as round, peripherally located cystic lesions in the mother cyst, the high density fluid surrounding the daughter cysts which appears like "spoked wheel pattern", small, round daughter cysts among the solid matrix in the mother cyst, detached germinative membrane from the ectocyst which appear floating, thin and hypodense membrane which is called "water lily pattern" was accepted as hydatid disease (5).

Table 1. Basic characteristics					
Parameter	Mean±Ste (max-n	Number (%)			
Age	38.83±1 (70-2	2.27 1)			
Follow-up	34.75±14.39 (65-15 months)				
Baseline Diameter	60.15±37.35 (160-25)				
Hydatid Cyst Type 1				10 (62.5%)	
Hydatid Cyst Type 3				6 (37.5%)	
Gender (Male- Female)				9 (75%) 3 (25%)	
Primer-Seconder Cysts				13 (81.3%) 3 (16.8%)	
		Upper	Right	5 (31.25%)	
	Lower	part	Left	8 (50%)	
Hydatid Cyst Localization	Extermity	Lower	Right	1 (6.25%)	
		part	Left	1 (6.25%)	
	Medulla S	pinalis		1 (6.25%)	



Figure 1. Flowchart of the patients for the study

All alive hydatid cysts were treated by percutaneous way with Örmeci technique. The patients with dead hydatid cyst were excluded from the study. All patients signed an additional informed consent before the enrollment. The study conducted according to the principles of the World Medical Association Declaration of Helsinki "Ethical Principles for Medical Research Involving Human Subjects", (amended in October 2013). All procedures were performed under sonographic guidance in the ultrasonography unit of a gastroenterology department that was fully equipped

against an emergency condition. An intravenous line was established. The patients were positioned according to the location of the cysts as face-down or supine position. All patients were given 5mg of meperidine and 40mg methyl prednisolone as sedo-analgesia just before the procedure. The percutaneous puncture was performed under sonographic guidance using a 22-gauge Chiba needle as a one-step procedure in CE type 1 and 3A. However, two to six Chiba needles according to size of the cysts were used in different locations at the same time in the cyst of CE type 2, and 3B. For every 1 cm of the long diameter of the cyst lesion, 3cc of fluid from the cysts was aspirated, which was almost the same amount of cc in volume for the CE type 1 and CE type 3A hydatid cysts. A 2 cc of pure alcohol (96 %) and 1cc of polidocanol 1% (ethoxysclerol 1%, Kreussler Pharma, Wiesbaden, Germany) were injected into the cysts right after the aspiration of CE type 1 and type 3A, without the aspiration of CE type 2 and 3B, for each centimeter of the long diameter of the cysts. The polidocanol (1%), had been used by our group for the first time to close the connection among the cysts and blood vessels, lymphatic vessels and/or biliary ducts since 1991. The total amount of pure alcohol and polidocanol were injected equally among the CE type 2 and type 3B cyst's needles. We waited for five minutes for all scolexes to be killed and the needle/ or needles were taken back. This technique was reported before by our group(6). Although CE Type 2 and Type 3B are difficult to treat compared to CE Type 1, we added Albendazole 10 mg/kg/day for 6 months right after the percutaneous treatment. All patients were followed up for the function of vital organs for two to three hours and the patients were sent to their home. The patients were followed up one day, three months and six months after and each year by USG in terms of treatment criteria, blood checking and sometimes CT or MRI.

Every patient was evaluated in terms of treatment criteria as follows:

- a. Diameter of the cysts before and after the treatment
- b. Detachment of germinative membrane especially in CE Type 1 hydatid cysts
- c. Degeneration and pseudo-solidification of the cysts
- d. Weather is there any daughter cyst in mother cyst or not?

A statistical analysis was performed using Statistical Package for Social Sciences for Windows version 11.5.(SPSS Inc.; Chicago, IL, USA). Descriptive statistics were summarized as counts and percentages for categorical variables, mean and standard deviations and median (minimum and maximum) for others. The difference between the two dependent groups was evaluated with a Wilcoxon test. A p value less than 0.05 was considered significant.

RESULTS

The patients with hydatid disease were followed up mean 34.75 ±14.39 (maximum 65-minimum 15) months. Diameter of the cysts were decreased after the treatment compared before in 11 out of 16 cysts (P=0.036). Right after injection pure alcohol (96%) and polidocanol 1 % germinative membrane whitened, riddled and detached from ectocyst in 6 (60%) out of 10 Type 1 hydatid cysts. Right after the treatment of type 3 hydatid cyst, daughter cysts distorted, whitened and they showed degenerative changes on the ultrasonographic examinations. (Figure 2). Most of the patients showed pseudo-solidification during the follow up. On the MR examinations, it was shown that daughter cysts degenerated, solidified, and decreased the diameter of the mother cysts (Figure 3A, 3B, 3C, 3D, 3E, 3F, 3G). Fifteen out of 16 hydatid cysts (93.75%) cured. One out of 16 cysts (6.25%) unchanged (Table 2).



Figure 2. Left leg is swollen because of CE type 3 hydatid cyst in musculus gastrocnemius. Two needles were placed into the cyst at the same session

Table 2. Treatment outcomes of the cysts						
	Mean±Std.	Count				
	Dev	(Percent)				
Previous diameter	60.15 ± 37.35					
Diameter after the treatment	39.75±36	p=0.036				
Unchanged		1(6.25%)				
Pseudo-solidification 1/3		2(12.5%)				
Pseudo-solidification 2/3		1(6.3%)				
Pseudo-solidification 3/3		12(75%)				
Detachment of cyst germinati	6(37.5%)					
Decreasing of the cyst diameter	er	11(68.8%)				



Figure 3A: 44-year-old man with cystic echinococcosis (CE). A well-circumscribed multiple daughter cyst (asterisks) with solid content (CE 3b according to WHO) is observed in the muscle. The cysts appear anechoic with smooth contour and do not contain calcification. The solid matrix appears isoechoic with neighboring muscle structures



Figure 3B: One-year follow-up ultrasonography after the treatment shows that the cystic lesions are hardly noticeable, and the lesion is almost completely solidified



Figure 4A: 37-year-old man with cystic echinococcosis (CE). A large, well-circumscribed semisolid cystic lesion (CE 3b according to WHO) containing a big cyst and multiple daughter cyst (asterisks) with different sizes is observed in the muscle



Figure 4B and 4C. Two follow-up ultrasonography's performed one- year- periods after the treatment show that the cystic lesion has solidified



Figure 5A. 44-year-old man with cystic echinococcosis (CE 3b according to WHO). (Same case as Fig.3). A Coronal T2-weighted SPAIR (Spectral Attenuated Inversion Recovery) MR image. A well-circumscribed multiloculated semisolid lesion is observed in the crura region. Multiple, uniformly demarcated, and homogeneous internal structured daughter cysts (asterisks) are present in the lesion. The cysts are paper hyperintense on T2 weighted image. The walls of the cysts are seen as hypointense on T2 weighted image (rim sign). Solid matrix of the lesion is seen slightly hyperintense relative to neighboring muscle structures on T2 weighted image. Calcification has not been detected yet



Figure 5B. Coronal T2-weighted SPAIR MR image, after 1 year, overall size of the lesion is constant, but there is minimal reduction in the size of the cysts



Figure 5C. Coronal T2-weighted SPAIR MR image, there is a decrease both number and the size of cysts in the 2nd year follow-up after treatment. In addition, a decrease is also observed in the size of the mass itself



Figure 6A. 37-year-old man with cystic echinococcosis (CE 3b according to WHO). (Same case as Fig.4). A Sagittal T2 weighted turbo spin-echo MR image. The lesion containing cysts of various sizes (daughter cysts, asterisks) and floating membranes (arrows) is observed within the Vastus muscles. The peri cyst (long arrows) of the lesion which appears hypointense on T2-weighted image (rim sign). The daughter cysts appear homogeneous hyperintense on T2 weighted image



Figure 6B. Axial post-contrast fat sat T1-weighted turbo spin-echo MR image, the peripheral type of enhancement is seen on the cyst itself and the cystic components



Figure 6C. Coronal T2-weighted SPAIR and Fig 6D: Axial postcontrast fat sat T1-weighted turbo spin-echo MR images, one year after the treatment, a decrease in lesion size and the detached endocyst (black arrows) are seen



Figure 6D. axial post-contrast fat sat T1-weighted turbo spin-echo MR images, one year after the treatment, a decrease in lesion size and the detached endocyst (black arrows)are seen

DISCUSSION

Muscle hydatid disease is rarely seen in almost 0.5-5 % of all hydatid cysts 5. We found the incidence of muscle HD in 1.36 % among 1367 hydatid cysts in our series. The liver (70%) and the lungs (20%) are the most common locations of the disease because the liver and the lungs are natural mechanical filters of the oncosphere of hydatid cyst. If the oncosphere can pass through the liver and lungs, it can place in any organ like spleen, kidneys, muscles, brain, and bones by the systemic circulation. In primary muscle HD, the cyst located in only muscles. However, in the secondary HD, cysts place not only in muscles, but also in other organs such as the liver, the lungs or peritoneum. In this case series, it was found that the incidence of primary and secondary muscle hydatid cysts was 81.3% and 16.8%, respectively. It is difficult for oncosphere to place in the muscles because of lactic acidosis which occurs in working muscles. The need of

oxygen also increases when the hydatid cyst growing up and oxygenation of the cyst become difficult due to lactic acidosis. Another point is permanent contraction of muscles which gives rise to restrict of it to place in the muscles (2). The most common localizations of the hydatid cyst at the muscles are proximal part of the thigh, pelvis, paravertebral region, shoulder and humerus due to large volume of muscles and rich vascularization (2, 7) Most of the cysts (81.25%) located in proximal parts of the lower extremities in this series.

Usually, the patients with muscle hydatid cyst have no symptoms but one third of the patients may present palpable mass with pain on the thighs or hips. Serologic examinations for antigens of hydatid juice such as ELISA, LATEX agglutination test, immunoblotting test in muscle hydatid diseases is found negative on most of the cases (8).Ultrasonography is the method of choice for diagnosis of the disease. Gharbi (3) described the diagnostic criteria of hydatid disease on ultrasonographic examination in 1981.WHO-Informal Working Group on Echinococcosis improved Gharbi's classification for the diagnosis of echinococcosis in 2003. Ultrasonography has several advantages compared to CT or MR such as easy to find everywhere, no radiation, cheap, high diagnostic sensitivity and specificity (9). It can be decided easily stage of cyst, number of the cyst and distribution of the cyst(9).

Anechoic cyst with posterior acoustic enhancement and double wall sign, hydatid sand (it is dispersed in the cyst an appear as falling snowflakes "snowstorm sign" when the patient turn on right or left side), detachment of germinative membrane from the ectocyst "water lily sign", multivesicular cyst (multiple daughter cyst which are seen as anechoic, round cysts in the mother cyst are some of the characteristics of hydatid disease on the ultrasound examinations(3-5).(8) Daughter cysts locate at the peripheral areas in the mother cyst. After becoming mature, they fully filled inside of the mother cyst which is named "spoked wheel pattern(10).

On the CT examination, CE Type 1 cyst appears as water attenuation cyst with well-defined wall. CE type 2; daughter cysts appear as round, peripherally located cystic lesions in the mother cyst. After becoming mature, the high-density fluid surrounding the daughter cysts appears like "spoked wheel pattern". Small, round daughter cysts among the solid matrix in the mother cyst is described as CE type 3b. Detached germinative membrane from the ectocyst appear floating, thin and hypodense membrane which is called "water lily pattern" (CE type 3a). Calcification , infection in the cyst, peritoneal and bones invading of the cysts are shown best on CT examination.(5) On the MRI examination, hydatid cyst appears hypointense on T1 weighted images and hyperintense on T2 weighted images. The hydatid matrix, daughter cysts, floating membranes in the cyst cavity are clearly seen compare to CT (10). The wall of hydatid cyst is shown as characteristically low signal intensity, as "rim" on T2 weighted MR images (5).

Differential diagnosis should be performed among hydatid disease and single or multiple hemangiomas, fungal, pyogenic or amoebic abscess, neoplasia with hemorrhage and/or necrosis, metastasis, post-surgical sequela and textiloma, lipoma, myositis, Tbc, aneurism, hernia synovial cyst etc. (9,11)

Stojkovic et al. (12) reported that 711 patients with 1308 liver and peritoneal hydatid cyst were treated by benzimidasole derivatives. They estimated that 40 % of the cysts are active or become active after two years. Similarly, Franchi C et al. (13) treated 448 patients with 929 hydatid cysts by mebendazole or albendazole for 3-6 months. After the long term (1-14 years) follow up, 74.1% of patients were shown degenerative changes, however almost 25 % of those cyst relapsed again. Benzimidazole derivatives are not recommended for the treatment of hydatid disease alone. They can be combined with before and after surgical treatment and Puncture, Aspiration, Injection, Re-aspiration (PAIR) Technique.

The combination of surgical and albendazole treatment is the method of choice for the treatment of hydatid diseases (1,11,14-18). Togral et al. (19) treated 5 patients with muscle and bone hydatid disease by the combination of surgical and albendazole treatment. One patient had relapse after 1-9 years follow up. Arazi et al. (11) treated 15 patients (n: 7 muscle, n:8 bone) with hydatid diseases by the combination of Albendazole and Surgical treatment. Four patients with bone hydatid disease had relapsed during the follow up for 30 months. However most of the case treated by surgery related the muscle HD reported cure without relapse (20).

Surgical treatment has some disadvantages such as large incision, longer hospital stays and expensive. Battelli G et al. (21) reported that while a patient who was operated on hydatid disease cost 14 000 USD, compared to the one who was not operated on hydatid disease cost 2500 USD.

PAIR technique had been using since 1985, as an alternative method compared to surgery for the treatment of hepatic hydatid diseases because of short hospital staying, less mortality and morbidity and cheaper than surgery. However, PAIR method and catheterization techniques for the treatment of hydatid disease with extrahepatic localization may have more complication and longer hospital stay. Arslan et al. (22) treated with 27 patients, PAIR (n:20) and Catheter technique (7 patients)

with extrahepatic localizations. Hospital staying was mean 2.3 days (1-14 days), occurrence of abscess was 16.6%.

Percutaneous treatment with Örmeci technique had been using since 1991 (2,23-26). This technique has some advantages such as, outpatient bases, no fistula occurrence, repeatable, less morbidity, cheaper, easy to use compared to PAIR method (27). We have published preliminary report related hydatid cysts in muscle in 2007(2).

In our best knowledge, this is the largest series about percutaneous treatment of muscle hydatid disease in the literature. Sixteen hydatid cysts in 12 patients were treated by percutaneous way. Fifteen out of 16 hydatid cysts (93.75%) cured. Two patients who had CE type 3 hydatid cysts had second puncture due to incomplete treatment of the first attempt. One patient who had CE type 3B hydatid cyst, 135×120×65 mm in diameter could not be cured. Ten CE type 1 and 3 CE type 3 were cured well after the treatment.

We had two complications of treatment. One patient had an abscess in the cyst after the percutaneous treatment. After the percutaneous drainage, patient was cured-well and he had no symptoms during the follow up. Another patient had torpidity in his leg after the treatment. After three months, he had no symptoms. The weak point of this study is to be retrospective study.

CONCLUSION

Percutaneous treatment with Örmeci technique, is useful in patients with muscle hydatid disease. It is successful, safe, repeatable, easy to perform and cheap. It can be an alternative treatment in patients who had contraindications to surgical treatment or who do not accept the surgical treatment.

ETHICAL DECLARATIONS

Ethics Committee Approval: The study was carried out with the permission of Ankara University Faculty of Medicine Ethics Committee (Date: 26.10.2015, Decision No: 16-689-15).

Informed Consent: Because the study was designed retrospectively, no written informed consent form was obtained from patients.

Referee Evaluation Process: Externally peer-reviewed.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

Author Contributions: All of the authors declare that they have all participated in the design, execution, and analysis of the paper and that they have approved the final version.

- 1. Narra R, Maestri M, Budke CM, et al. Costs associated with surgically treated cases of abdominal cystic echinococcosis: a single center's experience for 2008 t 2014, Pavia, Italy. Am J Trop Med Hyg 2016; 95: 405-9.
- 2. Ormeci N, Idilman R, Akyar S, et al. Hydatid cysts in muscle: a modified percutaneous treatment approach. Int J Infect Dis 2007; 11: 204-8.
- 3. Gharbi HA, Hassine W, Brauner MW, Dupuch K. Ultrasound examination of the hydatic liver. Radiology 1981; 139: 459-63.
- 4. International classification of ultrasound images in cystic echinococcosis for application in clinical and field epidemiological settings. Acta Trop 2003; 85: 253-61.
- 5. Pedrosa I, Saíz A, Arrazola J, Ferreirós J, Pedrosa CS. Hydatid disease: radiologic and pathologic features and complications. Radio Graphics 2000 20: 795-817.
- 6. Ormeci N, Soykan I, Bektas A, et al. A new percutaneous approach for the treatment of hydatid cysts of the liver. Am J Gastroenterol 2001; 96: 2225-30.
- Gougoulias NE, Varitimidis SE, Bargiotas KA, Dovas TN, Karydakis G, Dailiana ZH. Skeletal muscle hydatid cysts presenting as soft tissue masses. Hippokratia 2010; 14: 126-30.
- 8. Brunetti E, Kern P, Vuitton DA. Expert consensus for the diagnosis and treatment of cystic and alveolar echinococcosis in humans. Acta Trop 2010; 114: 1-16.
- 9. McManus DP, Gray DJ, Zhang W, Yang Y. Diagnosis, treatment, and management of echinococcosis. BMJ 2012; 344: e3866.
- Pendse HA, Nawale AJ, Deshpande SS, Merchant SA. Radiologic features of hydatid disease: the importance of sonography. J Ultrasound Med 2015; 34: 895-905.
- 11. Arazi M, Erikoglu M, Odev K, Memik R, Ozdemir M. Primary echinococcus infestation of the bone and muscles. Clin Orthop Relat Res 2005: 234-41.
- 12. Stojkovic M, Zwahlen M, Teggi A, et al. Treatment response of cystic echinococcosis to benzimidazoles: a systematic review. PLoS neglected tropical diseases 2009; 3: e524-e.
- 13. Cristiana F, Bruno Di V, Antonella T. Long-term evaluation of patients with hydatidosis treated with benzimidazole carbamates. Clin Infect Dis 1999; 29: 304-9.
- 14. Kurz K, Schwabegger A, Schreieck S, Zelger B, Weiss G, Bellmann-Weiler R. Cystic echinococcosis in the thigh: a case report. Infection 2019; 47: 323-9.
- 15. Al-Hakkak SMM. Adductor magnus muscle primary hydatid cyst rare unusual site: A case report. Int J Surg Case Rep 2018; 51: 379-84.
- 16.Hasanoglu I, Aytekin MN, Agackiran Y, Ugurlu M, Guner R, Tosun N. Don't miss it, it might be a hydatid cyst in the gluteus. Trop Doct 2017; 47: 63-5.
- 17. Boyaci N, Boyaci A, Karakas E, Altay MA. Primer hydatid cyst of the deltoid muscle. BMJ Case Rep 2013: 2013.
- 18. Moretti B, Panella A, Moretti L, Garofalo R, Notarnicola A. Giant primary muscular hydatid cyst with a secondary bone localization. Int J Infect Dis 2010; 14: e192-5.
- 19. Toğral G, Arıkan Ş M, Ekiz T, Kekeç AF, Ekşioğlu MF. Musculoskeletal hydatid cysts resembling tumors: a report of five cases. Orthop Surg 2016; 8: 246-52.
- 20. Charalambous GK, Katergiannakis VA, Manouras AJ. Three cases of primary hydatidosis of the gluteus muscle: our experience in clinical, diagnostic and treatment aspects. Chirurgia (Bucur) 2014; 109: 555-8.

- 21.Battelli G. Socio-economic impact of cystic echinococcosis and of its control: some data and considerations. Parassitologia 2005; 46: 359-62.
- 22. Arslan S, Bakdik S, Oncu F, Tolu I, Eryilmaz MA. Successful percutaneous treatment of extrahepatic cystic echinococcosis through PAIR and single puncture catheter techniques. Jpn J Radiol 2017; 35: 296-302.
- 23.Ormeci N, Soykan I, Palabiyikoğlu M, et al. A new therapeutic approach for treatment of hydatid cysts of the spleen. Dig Dis Sci 2002; 47; 2037-44.
- 24.Ormeci N, Idilman R, Tüzün A, Erdem H, Palabiyikoğlu M. A new percutaneous approach for the treatment of hydatid cyst of the kidney: long-term follow-up. Int Urol Nephrol 2005; 37: 461-4.
- 25.Örmeci N, Kalkan Ç, Karakaya F, et al. Percutaneous treatment with the Örmeci technique for hydatid disease located in the spleen: Single center experience for twenty six years. Turk J Gastroenterol 2018; 29: 566-73.
- 26.Örmeci N, Kalkan C, Ellik Z, et al. Percutaneous treatment with the Örmeci technique of cystic echinococcosis: experience of single center. Gastroenterol Hepatol 2020; 11: 223-30.
- 27.Ormeci N. PAIR vs Örmeci technique for the treatment of hydatid cyst. Turk J Gastroenterol 2014; 25: 358-64.

HEALTH SCIENCES MEDICINE

Predictors of colonic diverticulosis in non-elderly patients

DAbdurrahman Şahin¹, DMustafa Cengiz², Oktay Sarı³

¹Gaziosmapasa University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Gastroenterology, Tokat, Turkey
 ²Gulhane Training and Research Hospital, Department of Gastroenterology, Ankara, Turkey
 ³Gulhane Training and Research Hospital, Department of Department of Family Medicine, Ankara, Turkey

Cite this article as: Şahin A, Cengiz M, Sarı O. Predictors of colonic diverticulosis in non-elderly patients. J Health Sci Med 2022; 5(3): 740-745.

ABSTRACT

Aim: To investigate the clinical and laboratory features patients under aged 65 years with diverticulosis and to compare them to subjects with no diverticula.

Material and Method: This retrospective case-control study included subjects aged under 65 years who underwent a colonoscopy in the period from January 2016 to June 2018 for diverse indications. Patients with diverticulosis as detected by a colonoscopy were compared to patients without diverticulosis. The comparison parameters included demographic data, comorbidities, and laboratory parameters, including a complete blood count, blood biochemistry, erythrocyte sedimentation rate (ESR), and C-reactive protein.

Results: The study included 129 patients with diverticulosis and age and sex-matched 130 patients with no diverticula. Diverticula were predominantly left-sided in 64.3%, right-sided in 9.3%, and bilateral in 26.4%. Hypertension was more prevalent among patients with diverticulosis compared to control subjects (31% vs 17%, p<0.01). The median ESR was higher in diverticulosis group than in control group (13 ± 1.6 mm/h vs 9 ±0.9 mm/h, p=0.01). The mean creatinine was higher (0.86 ±0.25 mg/dL vs 0.76 ±0.19 mg/dL, p<0.01) and the mean albumin was lower (4.3 ± 0.4 g/dL vs 4.5 ± 0.3 g/dL, p<0.01) in diverticulosis group compared to control group. Hypertension, ESR, creatinine and albumin were independent predictors of the presence of diverticulosis in univariate and multivariate logistic regression analysis.

Conclusion: It is important to determine the characteristic features of asymptomatic patients with diverticulosis in earlier ages. The presence of hypertension, in conjunction with high creatinine and low albumin values increase the probability of the presence of asymptomatic colonic diverticula.

Keywords: Albumin, colonic diverticula, creatinine, hypertension, non-elderly

INTRODUCTION

Colonic diverticulum is the herniation of the mucosal and submucosal layers outward due to deficiency in the muscle layer of colon. Although diverticulosis is an anatomical definition indicating the presence of a single or multiple diverticula in the colon in asymptomatic individuals, diverticular disease is defined as the presence of symptoms associated with diverticula and is observed in approximately 25% of patients(1). While several complications including diverticulitis, bleeding, obstruction, and perforation may develop in the course of disease in some of the cases, most of the symptomatic patients remain complication free for a long time(2). Older age, genetic predisposition, constipation, high intake of red meat, low-fiber diet, low level of physical activity, obesity and smoking have been linked as predisposing factors for the development of diverticulosis(3, 4).

Geographical location influences diverticulosis prevalence, and is more common in Western countries than in Africa and Asia. In Western countries, diverticulosis affects around 30% at 65 years, and up to 66% in those aged 80 years or older(5). On the other hand, the prevalence of colonic diverticulosis has been reported between 1.9% and 20% from Asian countries and the Mediterranean area(6, 7). Moreover, the location of diverticula varies among nations. While a dominancy of left-sided location is seen in Western populations, right-sided location is more prevalent in Asia.

Diverticulosis is an age-related disorder that is rare under age 40 years and is found in more than one-half of adults over the age of 65 years in Western countries. Diverticulosis can occur in younger ages in several connective tissue disorders like Marfan or Ehlers-Danlos

Corresponding Author: Abdurrahman Sahin, arahmansmd@gmail.com



syndromes(8). Right-sided diverticulosis can also appear in younger ages and presents predominantly with gastrointestinal bleeding.

Most of the studies about colonic diverticulosis have been carried out on geriatric population. There is little known about colonic diverticulosis in patients under 65 years old. In this study, we aimed to investigate the clinical and laboratory features of patients under 65 years who developed diverticulosis and to compare them to age and sex-matched subjects with no diverticula.

MATERIAL AND METHOD

Study Subjects

This retrospective case-control study included subjects aged between 18 and 64 years who underwent a colonoscopy for several indications, mostly for colorectal cancer screening, from January 2016 to June 2018. Patients who had diverticulosis on colonoscopic examination were recorded. Sex and age-matched subjects who had no diverticula on colonoscopic examination were also recorded. Subjects who had a history of colitis, colorectal cancer, and colonic surgery, subjects attended to the hospital with lower gastrointestinal bleeding or acute diverticulitis were excluded. Demographic data, co-morbidities including diabetes mellitus (DM), hypertension (HT), hyperlipidemia (HL) and coronary arterial disease (CAD) were recorded. Laboratory parameters, including a complete blood count, blood biochemistry, erythrocyte sedimentation rate (ESR), and C-reactive protein (CRP) were collected from the patients' medical records.

Ethical Considerations

Ethics committee approval was obtained for the study from Firat University Non-Interventional Research Ethics Committee (Date: 19.07.2018, Decision No: 2018/13-18). All the procedures followed were in accordance with the ethical standards of the ethics committee and with the Declaration of Helsinki.

Statistical Analysis

All statistical analyses were performed using the SPSS[°] statistical package, version 22.0 (SPSS Inc., Amrok, NY, USA) for Windows[°]. Categorical variables are presented as frequencies and percentages. Categorical variables were appropriately analyzed by the Chi-square test or Fisher's exact test. The Shapiro-Wilk test was used to measure the normality of the data distribution for continuous variables. All the normally distributed continuous variables were presented as the mean and standard deviation while the non-normally distributed continuous variables were presented as the median and standard error of mean. The Mann-Whitney U test

was applied for continuous variables without a normal distribution analysis, where appropriate. Univariate and multivariate logistic regression analyses were used to analyze the factors influencing the presence of colonic diverticulosis. In all analyses, the significance level was set at 0.05.

RESULTS

A total of 129 patients aged <65 years with diverticulosis and 130 patients aged <65 years who had no diverticula were recruited into the study. While the mean age of the diverticulosis group was 54.7 ± 7.5 years, the mean age of control subjects was 54.1 ± 7.8 years (p=0.52). Seventyeight of subjects (61%) in diverticulosis group and 75 of control subject (58%) were male (p= 0.65). Diverticula were located at left colon in 83 subjects (64.3%), at right colon in 12 subjects (9.3%) and pancolonic in 34 subjects (26.4%).

Diabetes was found in 19 subjects with diverticulosis (15%) and, 23 subjects who had no diverticula (18%) (p=0.52). Likewise, hyperlipidemia did not differ between diverticulosis group and control group [24(19%) vs 16(12%), p=0.16]. Coronary arterial disease was another disorder that didn't differ between two groups [10(8%) vs 8(6%) respectively, p>0.61]. On the other hand, HT was more prevalent among subjects with diverticulosis compared to subjects without diverticulosis [40(31%) vs 22(17%), p<0.01].

The laboratory characteristics of the two groups of participants are presented in **Table 1**. The median erythrocyte sedimentation rate was higher in the diverticulosis group than in the control group $(13\pm1.6 \text{ mm/hour vs } 9\pm0.9 \text{ mm/hour, } p=0.01)$ (**Figure 1**). We could not detect any difference between the groups in terms of CRP $(3.4\pm2.3 \text{ mg/L vs } 3.0\pm2.8 \text{ mg/L, } p=0.15)$. The mean creatinine value was higher $(0.86\pm0.25\text{mg/dL})$ in the diverticulosis group when compared to the control group $(0.76\pm0.19 \text{ mg/dL})$ (p<0.01) (Figure 1). On the other hand, albumin was lower in subjects with diverticulosis compared to control subjects $(4.3\pm0.4 \text{ g/dL vs } 4.5\pm0.3 \text{ g/dL, } p<0.01)$ (**Figure 1**). Other laboratory parameters didn't differ between two groups (for all, p>0.05).

Univariate analysis for the presence of diverticulosis demonstrated that the presence of HT, erythrocyte sedimentation rate, creatinine and albumin were statistically significant independent predictive factors (**Table 2**). Variables that were statistically significant in the univariate logistic regression model were further subjected to a multivariate logistic regression analysis and all of them remained statistically significant independent predictors for the presence of diverticulosis (**Table 3**).

Table 1. Comparison of laboratory features between patients with diverticulosis and patients who had no diverticula					
	Patients with tdiverticulosis (n=129)	Patients without diverticulosis (n=130)	р		
WBC (x10 ³ /uL)	7302±2259	7100±2011	0.45		
Hemoglobin (g/dL)	13.9±1.8	14.3±1.5	0.09		
Platelet (x10 ³ /uL)	263±73	257±76	0.55		
Fasting blood glucose (mg/dL)	104±30	107±33	0.53		
ALT (U/L)*	23±1.3	24 ± 1.2	0.43		
AST (U/L)*	22±0.8 (18-27)	24±0.8	0.56		
GGT (U/L)*	26±3.5	25±6.4	0.16		
ALP (U/L)*	72±3.1	72±2.4	0.40		
Bilirubin, total (mg/ dL)*	0.5 ± 0.04	0.6±0.03	0.11		
Blood urea (mg/dL)	32.1 ± 9.5	30.2±9.8	0.12		
Creatinine (mg/dL)	0.86 ± 0.25	0.76 ± 0.19	< 0.01		
Total protein (mg/dL)	7.3±0.7	7.4±0.6	0.06		
Albumin (g/dL)	4.3 ± 0.4	4.5±0.3	< 0.01		
Triglyceride(mg/dL)*	151±16.2	143±7.8	0.39		
LDL (mg/dL)	129 ± 42	123±35	0.24		
HDL (mg/dL)	44±12	45±15	0.69		
ESR (mm/h)*	13±1.6	9±0.9	0.01		
CRP (mg/L) *	3.4 ±2.3	3.0 ± 2.8	0.15		

(*) Data are presented as median±SE of mean, WBC, white blood cell count; ALT, alanine aminotransferase; AST, aspartate aminotransferase; GGT, gamma-glutamyl transferase; ALP, alkaline phosphatase; LDL, low-density lipoprotein cholesterol; HDL, high-density lipoprotein cholesterol; ESR, erythrocyte sedimentation rate; CRP, C-reactive protein

Table 2. Univariate logistic regression analysis for predictors of diverticulosis					
	В	OR	%95 CI OR	р	
Age	0.010	1.010	0.979-1.043	0.524	
Sex, male	0.115	1.122	0.683-1.841	0.650	
Diabetes mellitus	-0.219	0.804	0.414-1.560	0.518	
Hypertension	0.791	2.206	1.222-3.985	0.009	
Hyperlipidemia	0.488	1.629	0.820-3.234	0.163	
Coronary artery disease	0.248	1.282	0.489-3.358	0.614	
White blood cell count	0.000	1.000	1.000-1.000	0.477	
Hemoglobin	-0.127	0.881	0.762-1.019	0.088	
Platelet	0.001	1.001	0.998-1.004	0.547	
Fasting blood glucose	-0.002	0.998	0.990-1.005	0.533	
Alanine aminotransferase	-0.006	0.994	0.977-1.011	0.477	
Aspartate aminotransferase	-0.012	0.988	0.962-1.015	0.381	
Gamma-glutamyl transferase	-0.001	0.999	0.995-1.004	0.759	
Alkaline phosphatase	0.004	1.004	0.995-1.012	0.422	
Bilirubin, total	-0.073	0.929	0.468-1.846	0.834	
Blood urea	0.021	1.021	0.995-1.048	0.120	
Creatinine	2.039	7.682	2.459-24.003	< 0.001	
Total protein	-0.405	0.667	0.439-1.014	0.058	
Albumin	-1.072	0.342	0.173-0.677	0.002	
Triglyceride	0.002	1.002	0.999-1.004	0.185	
Low-density lipoprotein cholesterol	0.004	1.004	0.997-1.011	0.236	
High-density lipoprotein cholesterol	-0.004	0.996	0.977-1.016	0.685	
Erythrocyte sedimentation rate	0.033	1.033	1.012-1.055	0.002	
C-reactive protein	0.005	1.005	0.992-1.018	0.444	

Table 3. Multivariate lediverticulosis	ogistic reg	ression ai	nalysis for predi	ctors of
	В	OR	%95 CI OR	р
Hypertension	0.876	2.401	1.242-4.642	0.009
Creatinine	2.628	13.852	3.729-51.457	< 0.001
Albumin	-0.761	0.467	0.220-0.993	0.048
Erythrocyte sedimentation rate	0.034	1.035	1.010-1.061	0.007







Figure 1. Comparison of erythrocyte sedimentation rate, creatinine and albumin values between diverticulosis group and control subjects

DISCUSSION

Diverticulosis is essentially considered an asymptomatic condition, frequently observed as an incidental finding in patients undergoing radiologic or endoscopic assessment for several indications. Technical advances in radiologic and endoscopic assessment of the colon and widespread use of these tools in the clinical assessment lead to increased diagnosis of colonic diverticulosis. The conventional idea about diverticular disease is that it typically affects older people. Several studies have reported an increased incidence of diverticular disease over time with a meaningful increase in younger aged people (9-11). The incidence of diverticulitis in people aged between 40 and 49 years old increased by 132% from 1980 through 2007 (12). Unlike these results, many time-trend studies demonstrated that there is no increase in the prevalence of symptomatic diverticular disease and hospitalization over time in younger ages (13). Though several studies have been carried out in younger people with symptomatic diverticular disease, especially acute diverticulitis, there is no satisfactory data on the frequency of asymptomatic diverticulosis.

In the current study, we assessed demographic clinical and laboratory features of asymptomatic patients with diverticulosis and, compared with subjects with no diverticula. As stated earlier, right-sided diverticulosis is related with the presentation of diverticulosis in earlier ages of the life, and several reports from Asia give information about the features of subjects with diverticulosis in non-geriatric population. In a prospective study from China on asymptomatic subjects undergoing colonoscopic evaluation that most of them under 70 years old, diverticula were right-sided in twothird of patients with diverticulosis (14). In our study, 64.3% of colonic diverticula were located in the left colon, 9.3% in the right colon, and 26.4% were located bilaterally. The distribution of colon diverticula varies geographically. Left-sided diverticulosis is more prevalent in Western world, Africa and the Mediterranean area. In a previous study from Middle East, 62% of colonic diverticula were located in the left colon and only 13% were located in the right colon (15). In a prospective study from Italy, diverticula were detected in 27.8% of 438 patients undergoing colorectal cancer screening and, 97.8% of diverticula was left-sided (16). Our findings were compatible with the results of studies form the Mediterranean area.

Hypertension is a well-known associated disorder with diverticulosis. In a Japan study on subjects undergoing colonoscopic evaluation aged between 51 and 59 years, HT and DM were observed more frequently in subjects with diverticulosis compared to those without diverticula (17). In the aforementioned study, HT was found to be 31% and 20% between patients with and without diverticula, respectively. Similar results were observed in the Middle East study, and HT, DM and HL were found at higher rates in patients with diverticulosis (15). In addition to the high rate of HT detected as 64% in those with diverticula, it was found that the presence of HT increased the likelihood of colonic diverticulosis by 2.3 times. On the other hand, in a population of aged under 70 years from China, HT was found more prevalent among patients with diverticulosis compared to those with no diverticula (14,17). In the current study, HT, but not DM, was found more prevalent among patients with diverticulosis. On the other hand, we couldn't detect any difference among patients aged over 65 years in terms of HT, DM and HL according to the presence of diverticulosis in our previous study (8). Moreover, a study from Israel showed that DM and hypothyroidism were associated with diverticulosis, while the presence of HT and HL were not (18). Further studies are needed to evaluate the relationship between colonic diverticulosis and associated disorders.

In the comparison of inflammatory markers, although CRP values were similar in both groups, ESR values were higher in patients with diverticulosis. CRP is a useful marker that can be used in the prediction of acute inflammatory conditions such as acute diverticulitis. The fact that our study group consisted of patients with asymptomatic diverticulosis and, the absence of acute inflammation in these patients explains normal CRP values. Leukocytosis, which is another indicator of acute inflammation, was not observed in patients with diverticulosis and, the leukocyte count was similar to the controls. The higher ESR values in patients with diverticulosis may be associated with the ongoing low level of systemic inflammation. C-reactive protein that is a direct acute phase reactant, shows short term alterations related to acute inflammation, while the change in ESR, which is an indirect indicator of inflammation, requires longer time.

In the current study, we found higher values of creatinine and lower albumin values among patients with diverticulosis than those had no diverticula. These results were compatible with our previous study on geriatric patients with diverticulosis (7). There is scarce data about laboratory parameters of subjects with diverticulosis on the literature. The underlying pathological mechanisms that cause the formation of colonic diverticula are likely to be the result of complex interactions among age, diet, colonic microbiota, genetic factors, colonic motility, and changes in colonic structure (19). Several metabolic alterations occur in extracellular matrix components of the colon as a result of aging process. Two major extracellular matrix components, collagen and elastin, have been

found to be altered in diverticulosis. The smaller, more densely packed collagen fibrils and an overexpressed cross linking of collagen molecules with increased rigidity and a subsequent loss of tensile strength occur (20). An increase of elastic fibers confined to the longitudinal muscle layer results in the thickening of the colonic wall (21). Chronic kidney disease (CKD) is characterized by the development of renal fibrosis, which is the inevitable consequence of continuous accumulation and activation of myofibroblasts and extracellular matrix deposition in interstitial space leading to organ dysfunction. Fibrosis occurs in every type of CKD, regardless of the cause, and it contributes to a progressive and irreversible loss of renal function (22). It is suggested that pathogenetic mechanisms that lead to the formation of diverticula are similar to the mechanisms that lead to the development of CKD. Thus, an identical fibrotic process may either cause the development of colon diverticulum and impairment of renal functions. Lower albumin values that were found in diverticular group may be associated with dietary factors or as a result of ongoing low grade inflammation.

There are some limitations to our study that is mainly associated with its retrospective nature. Several pathogenic life-style factors that reported to be associated with colonic diverticulosis; in particular, physical activity, familial and hereditary factors, obesity, and a detailed quantitative dietary history with regard to fiber, red meat and fat intake could not be incorporated into the analyses due to the study design. This is a single-center, retrospective, case-control study with a limited number of subjects undergoing colonoscopic examination. Future prospective studies are necessary to confirm the results of the present study. Third, self-election bias of the participants in the study might exist because, all of the study subjects intended to pay more attention to their health condition. Thus, the current findings cannot be generalized for all subjects under 65 years.

CONCLUSION

Consequently, the diagnosis of colonic diverticulosis has been increasing in younger aged people recently. It is important to determine the demographic, clinical and laboratory features that can help to indirectly identify asymptomatic patients with diverticulosis. Patients with HT was found to have an increased risk for the development of colonic diverticulosis in this study. Higher ESR and creatinine values in conjunction with lower albumin values were found as laboratory features of patients with diverticulosis. Further studies are needed to define the characteristic features that will enable the identification of patients with diverticulosis at an earlier age.

ETHICAL DECLARATIONS

Ethics Committee Approval: Ethics committee approval was obtained for the study from Firat University Non-Interventional Research Ethics Committee (Date: 19.07.2018, Decision No: 2018/13-18).

Informed Consent: Because the study was designed retrospectively, no written informed consent form was obtained from patients.

Referee Evaluation Process: Externally peer-reviewed.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

Author Contributions: All of the authors declare that they have all participated in the design, execution, and analysis of the paper and that they have approved the final version.

- 1. Tursi A, Scarpignato C, Strate LL, et al. Colonic diverticular disease. Nat Rev Dis Primers 2020; 6: 20.
- 2. Martel J, Raskin JB. History, incidence, and epidemiology of diverticulosis. J Clin Gastroenterol 2008; 42: 1125-7.
- 3. Bohm SK. Risk Factors for Diverticulosis, diverticulitis, diverticular perforation, and bleeding: a plea for more subtle history taking. Viszeralmedizin 2015; 31: 84-94.
- 4. Strate LL. Lifestyle factors and the course of diverticular disease. Dig Dis 2012; 30: 35-45.
- 5. Tan JP, Barazanchi AW, Singh PP, Hill AG, Maccormick AD. Predictors of acute diverticulitis severity: a systematic review. Int J Surg 2016; 26: 43-52.
- 6. Hong W, Geng W, Wang C, et al. Prevalence of colonic diverticulosis in mainland China from 2004 to 2014. Sci Rep 2016; 6: 26237.
- Sahin A, Tunc N, Demirel U, Kursat Poyrazoglu O, Yalniz M, Bahcecioglu IH. Relationship between diverticulosis and nonalcoholic fatty liver disease in elderly patients. J Int Med Res 2018; 46: 1545-54.
- 8. Brown SR, Cleveland EM, Deeken CR, Huitron SS, Aluka KJ, Davis KG. Type I/type III collagen ratio associated with diverticulitis of the colon in young patients. J Surg Res 2017; 207: 229-34.
- 9. Vather R, Broad JB, Jaung R, Robertson J, Bissett IP. Demographics and trends in the acute presentation of diverticular disease: a national study. ANZ J Surg 2015; 85: 744-8.
- 10. Nguyen GC, Sam J, Anand N. Epidemiological trends and geographic variation in hospital admissions for diverticulitis in the United States. World J Gastroenterol 2011; 17: 1600-5.
- 11. Syed U, Companioni R, Bansal R, Alkhawam H, Walfish A. Diverticulitis in the young population: reconsidering conventional recommendations. Acta Gastroenterol Belg 2016; 79: 435-9.
- 12. Strate LL, Morris AM. Epidemiology, pathophysiology, and treatment of diverticulitis. Gastroenterology 2019; 156: 1282-98 e1.
- 13. Skoldberg F, Granlund J, Discacciati A, Hjern F, Schmidt PT, Olen O. Incidence and lifetime risk of hospitalization and surgery for diverticular disease. Br J Surg 2019; 106: 930-9.
- 14. Yang F, Zheng Y, Jiang X, et al. Sex differences in risk factors of uncomplicated colonic diverticulosis in a metropolitan area from Northern China. Sci Rep 2018; 8: 138.

- 15. Azzam N, Aljebreen AM, Alharbi O, Almadi MA. Prevalence and clinical features of colonic diverticulosis in a Middle Eastern population. World J Gastrointest Endosc 2013; 5: 391-7.
- 16. Cassieri C, Pica R, Avallone EV, et al. Prevalence of colonic diverticulosis in patients affected by ulcerative colitis: a prospective study. J Clin Gastroenterol 2016; 50: S33-5.
- 17. Sakuta H, Suzuki T. Prevalence rates of type 2 diabetes and hypertension are elevated among middle-aged Japanese men with colonic diverticulum. Environ Health Prev Med 2007; 12: 97-100.
- Kopylov U, Ben-Horin S, Lahat A, Segev S, Avidan B, Carter D. Obesity, metabolic syndrome and the risk of development of colonic diverticulosis. Digestion 2012; 86: 201-5.
- 19. Tursi A. Diverticulosis today: unfashionable and still underresearched. Therap Adv Gastroenterol 2016; 9: 213-28.
- 20.Pantaroto M, Lopes Filho Gde J, Pinto CA, Antico Filho A. Comparative study of collagen deposition in the colon wall of patients operated for sigmoid diverticular disease. Acta Cir Bras 2015; 30: 715-9.
- 21. Whiteway J, Morson BC. Elastosis in diverticular disease of the sigmoid colon. Gut. 1985; 26: 258-66.
- 22.Devocelle A, Lecru L, Ferlicot S, et al. IL-15 prevents renal fibrosis by inhibiting collagen synthesis: a new pathway in chronic kidney disease? Int J Mol Sci 2021; 22.

Retrospective evaluation of labial fusion in girls

DAhmet Hikmet Şahin¹, DMurat Sabri Yılmaz²

¹Balikesir University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Pediatric Surgery, Balikesir, Turkiye ²Balikesir Ataturk City Hospital, Pediatric Surgery Clinic, Balikesir, Turkiye

Cite this article as: Şahin AH, Yılmaz MS. Retrospective evaluation of labial fusion in girls. J Health Sci Med 2022; 5(3): 746-749.

ABSTRACT

Aim: The aim of this study was to determine the factors affecting fusion in girls treated for labial fusion retrospectively over a three-year period.

Material and Method: The research has a cross-sectional design. The research sample consists of girls with ICD10 code Q52.5 who were brought to the hospital with labial fusion symptoms in a three-year period (January 2018-December 2020). The data were obtained from the hospital information system. Variables that were effective in labial fusion recurrence were determined by Chi-Square analysis, and the marginal effects of effective variables on recurrence were analyzed by Poison Regression analysis.

Results: 52.9% of 308 cases were younger than one year old (mean age 4.36±1.10 months). Symptom presentation is 10.4% in children younger than one year of age, and 84.83% in older. The most commonly presented symptoms are pain, burning, soiling of underwear, and bad odor during urination. Labial fusion recurrence is 14.1% in children younger than one year of age, and 62.8% in older. Manual opening was applied in all cases, and weekly follow-ups were performed with topical treatment. The Poison Regression analysis revealed that a history of allergy (1.31 times; z:3.61, p:0.000), winter (0.86 times; z:3.22, p:0.001), and diaper dermatitis (1.22 times; z:5.19, p:0.000) increased the number of labial fusion recurrence.

Conclusion: The findings of our study are similar to the literature in terms of factors causing labial fusion and treatment type. The recurrence rate was found to be higher in our study. It should be kept in mind that labial fusion is asymptomatic, especially in girls in the first year of life. Considering the possibility of recurrence of labial fusion, mothers and physicians examining the child should be aware of this issue.

Keywords: Labial fusion, labial adhesion, recurrence, manual opening, follow-up

INTRODUCTION

Labial fusion is the adhesion of the labia minora in the midline to cover the vaginal entrance and/or the urethral meatus, usually in girls between the ages of 3 months and 6 years (1). Labial fusion is reported in 0.6% to 5% of girls (1,2). Considering that the cases are asymptomatic and detected incidentally, the frequency of labial fusion may be higher (2).

In labial fusion, symptoms are associated with the pooling of urine behind the attached labia minora. Common symptoms are recurrent urinary tract infection, vulvovaginitis, activity-related perineal pain, post-void urine drip, and urinary retention resulting from complete adhesions of the labia minora (1,2). In girls presenting with these symptoms, physicians should keep in mind that there may be labial fusion, and the diagnosis can be easily made by careful physical examination (3,4).

There is no consensus on the etiology of labial fusion.

However, it has been suggested that microtrauma and reepithelialization of the labium minora skin, vulvar irritation and hypoestrogenism may have an effect on adhesion (2,5).

There are opinions that labial fusion heals spontaneously with the production of estrogen at puberty, and that the treatment should be applied only to patients with symptoms in the prepubertal period (1). In the treatment of labial fusion, only case follow-up can be performed, but there are also treatment options with manual removal of adhesions and surgical intervention. The recommendation of gynecologists regarding the treatment of labial fusion cases is the use of estrogencontaining creams and follow-up (5).

Due to the increase in maternal observations and anxiety about adhesions in the labia minora, there has been a significant increase in the number of visits to the

Corresponding Author: Ahmet Hikmet Şahin, drhikmet.sahin@gmail.com



outpatient clinic compared to previous years. For this reason alone, more clinical attention should be given to the issue of labial fusion and requires a more detailed analysis of factors related to prevention.

The aim of this study was to determine the factors affecting fusion in girls treated for labial fusion retrospectively over a three-year period.

MATERIAL AND METHOD

The study was initiated approval by the Clinical Researches Ethics Committee of the Balıkesir University Medical Faculty (Date: 24.11.2021, Decision No: 2021/257). All procedures were carried out in accordance with the ethical rules and the principles of the Declaration of Helsinki.

The research has a cross-sectional design. The research sample consists of girls with ICD10 code Q52.5 who were brought to the hospital with labial fusion symptoms in a three-year period (January 2018-December 2020). The data were obtained from the hospital information system. For a three-year period, 308 patients with ICD10 Q52.5 code were identified in the hospital information system.

Data from the hospital information system were grouped (Group 1 and Group 2) by age, based on clinical observations of the abundant detection of labial fusion despite the absence of any symptoms in patients under one year of age. In Group 1, where asymptomatic but labial fusion cases were common, families were interviewed by telephone and a questionnaire was applied to determine the factors affecting labial fusion. In the questionnaire, such as patient's age, weight, allergy history, previous infection history, history of labial fusion in sibling, breastfeeding, frequency of diaper dermatitis, use of perineal cleaning products, adhesion season, labial fusion symptoms, number of hospital admission and treatment type variables were questioned.

In the obstetrics and gynecology literature, treatment with estrogen-containing creams is emphasized in labial fusion (6,7). Differently, treatments with estrogencontaining creams are not recommended in pediatric surgery due to side effects detected in infants or children (6,8-11). According to the treatment protocol applied in our clinic for patients presenting with labial fusion symptoms, manual opening is applied in all patients after the approval of the family in the first stage. In some cases, local anesthesia is applied with EMLA® 5% cream before manual opening. In many cases, the fusion can be easily opened manually without the need for this. In manual opening, the labia majora is gently pulled laterally to open the labia minora at the level of the commissura posterior. After manual opening, it is recommended to use epithelial cream (Fucidin 2% cream) and the patient

is followed up on a weekly basis. In case of recurrence of labial fusion, manual opening is performed again and it is recommended to use 1% Betnovate cream during the follow-up. The recurrence of labial fusion is followed on a weekly basis. Patient follow-up ends with the disappearance of labial fusion and the family is informed about recurrence.

Statistical Analysis

In the analysis of the data, descriptive statistics were calculated. Variables that were effective in labial fusion recurrence (the number of hospital re-admissions with the same symptom) were determined by Chi-Square analysis, and the marginal effects of effective variables on recurrence were analyzed by Poison Regression analysis. SPSS statistical package (version:23) and Gretl program were used in data analysis.

RESULTS

When the hospital information system was filtered for the three-year research period, 308 patients with ICD10-Q52.5 code (labial fusion) were accessed. When grouped by age, 52.9% (n: 163) of the patients reached were under one year old (Group 1), and 47.1% (n: 145) were over one year old (Group 2).

The mean age of Group1 was 4.36 ± 1.10 months, and only 10.4% (n:17) of these patients admitted to the hospital with labial fusion symptoms. It is noteworthy that labial fusion occurs without symptoms in this group of patients. The labial fusion recurrence rate in this group of patients is 14.1% (n:23) (**Table 1**).

Table 1. Characteristics of cases					
	Group 1	Group 2			
Number	163 (52.9%)	145 (47.1%)			
Mean age	4.36±1.10 months	2±1.44 years			
Symptom rate (%)	17/163 (10.4%)	123/145 (84.83%)			
Recurrence rate (%)	23/163 (14.1%)	91/145 (62.8%)			

The mean age of Group 2 was 2 ± 1.44 years, 84.8% (n:123) of these patients admitted to the hospital with complaints such as pain, dysuria, staining on their underwear, and bad odor during urination. 22.06% (n:32) of these patients were diagnosed with the attention of their mothers or the examination of physicians. Despite treatment, labial fusion recurred in 62.75% (n:91) of this group of patients.

In Group 1, families were interviewed by telephone and a questionnaire was applied to determine the factors affecting labial fusion. The families of 37 patients (22.69%) were contacted by phone and a questionnaire was applied. These patients admitted to the hospital 2.78 times due to labial fusion. 38% of the patients have a history of allergy and the frequency of diaper dermatitis is 3.1 times higher. It was determined that all patients were fed with breast milk and their perineum was cleaned with wet wipes. None of the patients had a history of urinary tract infection. Labial fusion occurred in 75.70% of patients during the winter months, and all patients were treated with manual opening.

Patients were admitted to the hospital an average of 2.78±0.82 (median:3) times with symptoms related to labial fusion. As a result of chi-square analysis, variables (diaper dermatitis, age, weight, allergy history, season) were found to be effective in labial fusion recurrence (Chi-square: 36.99, p:0.0000). The marginal effects of these variables on recurrence were calculated by Poison Regression analysis (Table 2). The analysis revealed that a history of allergy (1.31 times; z:3.61, p:0.000), winter (0.86 times; z:3.22, p:0.001), and diaper dermatitis (1.22 times; z:5.19, p:0.000) increased the number of labial fusion recurrence. The weight of the patients is not effective in the emergence of labial fusion. The age variable differed in the regression analysis. In other words, as the age of the patients increases, the labial fusion decreases and accordingly the admittance to the hospital decreases.

Table 2. Marginal effects of variables							
Variables	Coefficient (Marginal effect)	Std. Error	Z	p-value			
Diaper dermatitis	1.221158	.2353893	5.19	0.000			
Allergy history	1.307848	.3622907	3.61	0.000			
Season (winter)	.8639268	.2684333	3.22	0.001			
Weight	4480946	.451941	-0.99	0.321			
Age	1217027	.0575402	-2.12	0.034			

DISCUSSION

In this study, factors affecting patients treated for labial fusion were investigated retrospectively for a threeyear period. Labial fusion is a clinical condition seen in the postnatal period (8). Although the etiology is not certain, it is widely believed that allergens, materials used in perineal cleaning and mechanical friction facilitate labial fusion, and urine pooling behind adherent labia is the cause of the symptoms (2). It has been reported that inflammation due to infection or trauma causes erosion and fusion in the epithelium of the labia minora (9,12). Bacon states that the most common reason for recurrence of labial fusion is dermatitis, and the history of allergy (38%) and the winter season (24%) facilitate recurrence (12). Wejde (13) emphasized that perineal ammonia dermatitis causes local inflammation and recurrence of labial fusion. Factors such as late changing of the baby's diaper, diarrhea, allergy and atopic nature, change in stool composition due to transition to complementary foods, zinc deficiency, antibiotic use, materials used in perineal cleaning are effective on perineal dermatitis (13). Similar to the literature, in our study, history of allergy, winter season and diaper dermatitis were effective on labial fusion.

In the literature, recurrence is reported in 7-55% of labial fusion cases (5,6). In our study, the recurrence rate (14-62%) was higher in girls older than one year.

There are different methods in the treatment of labial fusion. Acer (14) stated that labial fusion should be opened in symptomatic cases, but there is no consensus in asymptomatic cases. It has been reported that topical treatment should be the first choice treatment, but treatment failure is also high (6,9). Bacon (12) reported that with the onset of endogenous estrogen production with the adolescence period, the problem will resolve spontaneously and 0.05% betamethasone cream will be sufficient for treatment. Myers (9) states that follow-up with steroid cream is not sufficient and manual opening is necessary for labial fusion treatment. The most common treatment method is manual opening. A cotton papix or feeding tube can also be used to manually open the labial fusion (2,6). Repeated manual or surgical opening may cause labial fibrosis (9). In our study, in accordance with the literature, manual opening was applied in all cases and epithelializing and steroid creams were used gradually in the follow-up of the case. Estrogen-containing creams were not used in any of the cases in our study. Our cases were followed up on a weekly basis until there was no labial adhesions. No labial fibrosis was detected in the follow-ups.

Recurrence of labial fusion is a notable issue (15). Poor perineal hygiene, dermatitis, allergies and sexual abuse are reported as effective variables on recurrence (16-19). Kumetz (20), on the other hand, stated that the frequency of dermatitis, the duration of breastfeeding and the presence of infection were not associated with recurrence of labial fusion. According to Melek et al. (19) recommends medical treatment in recurrent or persistent labial fusion. Berkowitz (21) reports that treatment for relapse with topical estrogen is successful in 35%. In our study, similar to the literature, labial fusion recurrence was quite high and therefore the number of admissions to the hospital was high. Manual opening and topical therapy were used in the treatment of recurrences.

Although the study data are sufficient to determine the factors affecting labial fusion, the hospital-based data can be considered as a limitation of our study.

CONCLUSION

Our study findings have shown that labial fusion can be symptomatic or non-symptomatic. It should be kept in mind that labial fusion is asymptomatic, especially in girls in the first year of life. Considering the possibility of recurrence of labial fusion, mothers and physicians examining the child should be aware of this issue. Mothers should be informed about perineal hygiene, allergies, diaper dermatitis and the effect of changing diapers frequently. Physicians, on the other hand, should carefully examine each case, be able to manually open the labial fusion when detected, and carefully investigate recurrent urinary tract infections by considering the possibility of labial fusion.

In the future study, it is aimed to inform family physicians about labial fusion, to detect labial fusion in girls early, and to inform mothers about preventing adhesions.

ETHICAL DECLARATIONS

Ethics Committee Approval: The study was initiated approval by the Clinical Researches Ethics Committee of the Balıkesir University Medical Faculty (Date: 24.11.2021, Decision No: 2021/257).

Referee Evaluation Process: Externally peer-reviewed.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

Author Contributions: All of the authors declare that they have all participated in the design, execution, and analysis of the paper, and that they have approved the final version.

- 1. Dowlut-McElroy T, Higgins J, Williams KB, Strickland JL. Treatment of prepubertal labial adhesions: a randomized controlled trial. J Pediatr Adolesc Gynecol 2019; 32: 259-63.
- Huseynov M, Hakalmaz AE. Labial adhesion: new classification and treatment protocol. J Pediatr Adolesc Gynecol 2020; 33: 343-8.
- Gonzalez D, Anand S, Mendez MD. Labial Adhesions. [Online]. Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls Publishing; 2022 [cited 2022 January. Available from: HYPERLINK "https://www.ncbi.nlm. nih.gov/books/NBK470461/" https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/ books/NBK470461/.
- 4. Chang SJ, Tsai LP, Hsu CK, Yang SS. Elevated postvoid residual urine volume predicting recurrence of urinary tract infections in toilet-trained children. Pediatr Nephrol 2015; 30: 1131-7.
- 5. Leung AK, Robson WL, Tay-Uyboco J. The incidence of labial fusion in children. J Paediatr Child Health 1993; 29: 235-6.
- 6. Vilano SE, Robbins CL. Common prepubertal vulvar conditions. Curr Opin Obstetr Gynecol 2016; 28: 359-365.
- Schober J, Dulabon L, Martin-Alguacil N, Kow LM, Pfaff D. Significance of Topical Estrogens to Labial Fusion and Vaginal Introital Integrity. J Pediatr Adolesc Gynecol 2006; 19: 337-9.
- Mayoglou L, Dulabon L, Martin-Alguacil N, Pfaff D, Schober J. Success of treatment modalities for labial fusion: a retrospective evaluation of topical and surgical treatments. J Pediatr Adolesc Gynecol 2009; 22: 247-50.
- Myers JB, Sorensen CM, Wisner BP, Furness PD, Passamaneck M, Koyle MA. Betamethasone cream for the treatment of prepubertal labial adhesions. J Pediatr Adolesc Gynecol 2006; 19: 407-11.
- 10. Kumetz LM, Quint EH, Fisseha S, Smith YR. Estrogen treatment success in recurrent and persistent labial agglutination. J Pediatr Adolesc Gynecol 2006; 19: 381-4.

- 11. Soyer T. Topical Estrogen Therapy in Labial adhesions in children: therapeutic or prophylactic? J Pediatr Adolesc Gynecol 2007; 20: 241-44.
- 12. Bacon JL, Romano ME, Quint EH. Clinical recommendation: labial adhesion. J Pediatr Adolesc Gynecol 2015; 28: 405-9.
- Wejde E, Ekmark AN, Stenström P. Treatment with oestrogen or manual separation for labial adhesions-initial outcome and longterm follow-up. BMC Pediatr 2018; 18-104.
- 14. Acer T, Otgün I, Oztürk O, et al. Do hygienic factors affect labial fusion recurrence? A search for possible related etiologic factors. J Pediatr Surg 2012; 47: 1913-18.
- 15. Mingin GC, Hinds A, Nguyen HT, Baskin LS. Children with a febrile urinary tract infection and a negative radiologic workup: factors predictive of recurrence. Urology 2004; 63: 562-65.
- 16.Bacon JL. Prepubertal labial adhesions: Evaluation of a referral population. Am J Obstet Gynecol 2002; 187: 327-32.
- Muram D. Treatment of prepubertal girls with labial adhesions. J Pediatr Adolesc Gynecol 1999; 12: 67-70.
- Azarfar A, Ravanshad Y, Bagheri S, Esmaeeli M, Nejad MM. Labial adhesion and bacteriuria. J Turk Ger Gynecol Assoc 2015; 16: 68-9.
- 19. Melek E, Kılıçbay F, Sarıkaş NG, Bayazıt AK. Labial adhesion and urinary tract problems: The importance of genital examination. Journal of Pediatric Urology 2016; 12: 111.e1-5.
- 20. Kumetz LM, Quint EH, Fisseha S, Smith YR. Estrogen treatment success in recurrent and persistent labial agglutination. J Pediatr Adolesc Gynecol 2006; 19: 381-4.
- 21.Berkowitz CD, Elvik SL, Logan MK. Labial fusion in prepubescent girls: A marker for sexual abuse? Am J Obstetr Gynecol 1987; 156: 16-20.

Evaluation of preemptive interspace between the popliteal artery and the capsule of the posterior knee (IPACK) block for postoperative pain management in arthroscopic knee surgeries: a retrospective study

Murat Alparslan¹, [®]Zeynep Nur Akçaboy², [®]Gülçin Aydın³, [®]Işın Gençay³, [®]Kevser Peker³,
 [®]Birhan Oktaş⁴, [®]Ahmet Tuğrul Şahin⁵

¹Gevaş State Hospital, Department of Anesthesiology and Reanimation, Van ,Turkey

²Health Sciences University, Gülhane Faculty of Medicine, Department of Anesthesiology and Reanimation ,Ankara, Turkey

³Kırıkkale University , Faculty of Medicine, Department of Anesthesiology and Reanimation, Kırıkkale, Turkey

⁴Kırıkkale University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Orthopedic and Traumatology, Kırıkkale, Turkey

⁵Tokat State Hospital, Department of Anesthesiology and Reanimation, Tokat ,Turkey

Cite this article as: Alparslan M, Akçaboy ZN, Aydın G, et al. Evaluation of preemptive interspace between the popliteal artery and the capsule of the posterior knee (IPACK) block for postoperative pain management in arthroscopic knee surgeries: a retrospective study. J Health Sci Med 2022; 5(3): 750-754.

ABSTRACT

Background: Interspace between the popliteal artery and the capsule of the posterior knee (IPACK) block is block, which is done by infiltration of local anesthetic to block terminal branches of genicular nerves and popliteal plexus that innervate the posterior capsule of the knee joint. In this study, we retrospectively reviewed our patient's data to which IPACK block was applied for arthroscopic knee surgery. Our aim was to evaluate the effectiveness of IPACK block on postoperative analgesia, effects on additional analgesic consumption and patient satisfaction.

Material and Method: The data of 60 patients who underwent arthroscopic knee surgery under spinal anesthesia with or without applied preemptive IPACK block for postoperative analgesia were collected between October 2019 and December 2020. Group I consisted of 30 patients with preemptive IPACK block, while 30 patients without block were classified as the control group (Group II). Postoperative 0-1-2-6-12 and 24th hour VAS scores, additional analgesic needs, patient satisfaction scores, were compared in groups as primary outcome.

Results: As a result of the comparison between the groups, it was seen that there was a significant difference between the groups in favor of the IPACK Block group in terms of postoperative VAS scores after 1st hour, postoperative analgesic needs and patient satisfaction (p<0.001).

Conclusion: Preemptive IPACK block, performed in patients who will undergo arthroscopic knee surgery, reduces the patient's pain in the postoperative period, shortens the length of hospital stay, positively affects patient comfort and increases patient satisfaction considerably. We believe that IPACK block alone or in addition to other blocks or methods will be effective in preventing arthroscopic knee surgery pain and it will be useful to conduct new studies with more patients.

Keywords: Interspace between the popliteal artery and the capsule of the posterior knee (IPACK) block, artroscopic knee surgery, preemptive, analgesia, peripheric block

INTRODUCTION

Anesthesia applications offer different options to anesthetists. Different techniques can be applied depending on the general condition of the patient, the operation area and the way it is done, the possibilities at hand and the wishes of the patient. In recent years, attempts to reduce health expenditures have been tried. The anesthesia method to be used in surgical procedures is aimed to be a method that will both accelerate the discharge of the patient and provide effective intraoperative and postoperative analgesia, increasing patient satisfaction (1,2).

Corresponding Author: Zeynep Nur Akçaboy, zakcaboy@gmail.com



Postoperative pain is an acute pain that begins with surgery and gradually decreases with healing of the tissue. Despite the advances in anesthesia and surgery postoperative pain remains a challenging. It is critical to relieve pain, especially to prevent the development of chronic pain, and also to protect patient's cognitive functions and improve the quality of life. Postoperative analgesia for knee surgeries can be achieved by oral and systemic analgesics, intra-articular drug infiltration and regional anesthesia techniques (3-5).

A new technique for posterior knee joint pain is a block of interspace between the popliteal artery and the capsule of the posterior knee (IPACK), which is done by infiltration of local anesthetic to block terminal branches of genicular nerves and popliteal plexus that innervate the posterior capsule of the knee joint. This technique involves very selective blocking of the terminal sensory branches of the posterior aspect of the knee without the involvement of the motor branches of the tibial and peroneal nerves, resulting in reduced pain with no effect on muscle strength (6,7).

In recent years, studies evaluating the effectiveness of the IPACK block have begun to appear in the literature. We applied this relatively new and easy-to-do technique to our patients who were undergoing arthroscopic knee surgery in our training hospital; to learn the technique and to assess the effectiveness on postoperative analgesia.

In this study, we retrospectively reviewed our patient's data to which IPACK block was applied for arthroscopic knee surgery. Our aim was to evaluate the effectiveness of IPACK block on postoperative analgesia, effects on additional analgesic consumption and patient satisfaction.

MATERIAL AND METHOD

This retrospective study was conducted with the approval by the Non-Interventional Clinical Researches Ethics Committee of the Kırıkkale University (Date: 10/12/2020 Decision no: 2020.11.25). All procedures were carried out in accordance with the ethical rules and the principles of the Declaration of Helsinki. The data of patients who underwent arthroscopic knee surgery under spinal anesthesia with or without applied preemptive IPACK block for postoperative analgesia were collected in our clinic between October 2019 and December 2020.

The preemptive analgesia block application procedure of our clinic is as follows: All patients are taken to the block room, routinely monitored before performing the blocks, nasal oxygen supply is provided, and sedated with 0.03-0.05 mg/kg IV midazolam. After the block is performed, the patients are taken to the operating room. We perform IPACK block according to methods previously described in literature (8). After patient's knee flexed at supine position, ultrasound (USG) probe (Esaote MyLab 30, Geneva; Italy) is placed from the medial side; femur and popliteal artery are visualized. Then an 18 Gauge 50 mm needle (Pajung,Geisingen,Germany) is advanced in plane until it reaches the gap between popliteal artery and posterior knee joint capsule, where 3 mL isotonic saline is injected to ensure the correct placement; and then 20 mL of 0.5% bupivacaine (Buvasin 0.5%,Vem, İstanbul, Turkey) solution is injected into this space. The cephalic and caudal distribution of local anesthetic is observed by USG (**Figure 1**).



Figure 1. IPACK Block USG image (F: Femur, PA: Popliteal artery)

In accordance with the spinal anesthesia application procedure for arthroscopic knee surgery of our clinic, the procedure is performed in the operating room; with 2.5-3 mL of 0.5% hyperbaric bupivacaine (Buvasin 0.5% Spinal Heavy, Vem; İstanbul, Turkey) at the L3-L4 or alternatively L2-L3 interspaces. For postoperative pain, if there are no contraindications, patients receive tramadol 100 mg IV immediately before the end of surgery.

For our study, the files of patients who underwent arthroscopic knee surgery under spinal anesthesia between October 2019 and December 2020 were scanned first. Among these patients, it was determined that there were 30 patients who had preemptive IPACK block and had the necessary data for the study in their file and these patients were grouped as Group I (IPACK Block). Among scanned patients, those who had spinal anesthesia as mentioned above, but no block was made for preemptive analgesia; and whose files had complete data required for the study were identified. Thirty of them were randomly selected and grouped as Group II (Control).

Demographic data, ASA scores, postoperative 0-1-2-6-12 and 24th hour VAS scores, additional analgesic needs, patient satisfaction scores, presence of complications and adverse effects, and length of hospital stay were collected from the anesthesia and service follow-up forms of the patients. While assessing patient satisfaction, we use a 5-point Likert scale (9), in which 5: Very satisfied 4: Satisfied 3: Not sure 2: Not satisfied 1: Not at all satisfied.

The data obtained in the study were evaluated using the IBM SPSS Statistics 16 (IBM SPSS, Turkey) (Statistical Package of Social Science) program. Assessment of whether the data are normally distributed was made using the Kolmogorov-Smirnov test. Continuous variables were analyzed using the Student's t Test. Categorical data were analyzed using Chi-square test and expected count analysis were interpreted using Fisher's exact test, Continuity Correction or Likelihood Ratio as appropriate. VAS values are given as median, and all other values are given as mean±standard deviation. P<0.05 was considered statistically significant in all results.

RESULTS

Between October 2019and December 2020, 60 patients scheduled in this study in which 30 patients received IPACK block+spinal anesthesia (Group I) and 30 patients received only spinal anesthesia alone (Group II) for arthroscopic knee surgery. The entire study group included 33 male and 27 female patients of which 16 males and 14 females were in IPACK block group (Group I) and 17 males and 13 males in control group (Group II). The overall demographic perioperative characteristics in both groups were similar (p>0.05) and given in **Table 1**.

Table 1. The patient characteristics in groups					
	Group I (IPACK Block) n=30	Group II (Control) n=30			
Age (years)	47.8±16.5	42.5±17.4			
Sex (M/F)	16 / 14	17 / 13			
Weight (kg)	79.1±13.5	78.9±13.2			
Height (m)	1.68 ± 0.1	1.69 ± 0.1			
Duration of surgery (min)	87.7±22.7	100.7±27.7			
ASA (I/II/III)	6 / 20 / 4	4 / 20 / 6			
The values are mean±SD, number as appropriate.					

As a result of the comparison between the groups, it was seen that there was a significant difference between the groups in favor of the IPACK Block group in terms of postoperative VAS scores after 1st hour, postoperative analgesic needs and patient satisfaction. It was determined that the VAS scores at the time of the patient's removal from the surgery (VAS 0) did not differ significantly between the groups; while the VAS scores were lower in the IPACK Block in all other time periods, which were also statistically significant (**Table 2**).

Patient satisfaction scores in the postoperative period were higher in IPACK Block group and this difference was statistically significant. All of the patients in the Control group needed additional analgesics, while none of the patients in IPACK Block group needed additional analgesics (p<0.001). In addition, when the discharge times between the groups were compared, it was seen that patients in IPACK Block were discharged earlier, which was also statistically significant (**Table 3**).

Table 2. VAS so	cores in groups		
	Group I (IPACK Block) n=30	Group II (Control) n=30	р
VAS 0.hr	0 (0-2)	0 (0-9)	0.550
VAS 1.hr	2 (0-5)	6 (1-9)	< 0.001*
VAS 2.hr	2 (0-4)	6 (2-9)	< 0.001*
VAS 6.hr	2 (0-3)	5 (2-10)	< 0.001*
VAS 12.hr	1 (0-3)	4 (1-8)	< 0.001*
VAS 24.hr	0 (0-1)	2 (0-5)	< 0.001*
The values are med	ian (range), *: statistically signi	ificant	

Table 3. Patient sati discharge times, and	sfaction d in grou	ls, additional analg ups	esic needs a	nd	
		Group I (IPACK Block) n=30	Group II (Control) n=30	р	
Patient satisfaction	1	0	0		
	2	0	3	<0.001*	
	3	0	18		
	4	8	9		
	5	22	0		
Additional analgesie (n of patient)	c need	0	15	< 0.001*	
Discharge time (days) 2.5±0.9 3.1±1.2 0.013*					
The values are mean±SD, number as appropriate. *: Statistically significant					

No reported complications and adverse effects were detected in either group.

DISCUSSION

In this retrospective study, we aimed to evaluate the effect of IPACK block applied for preemptive analgesia on postoperative pain and patient comfort in patients undergoing arthroscopic knee surgery. At the end of our study, we determined that preemptive IPACK block applied to arthroscopic knee surgery patients operated under spinal anesthesia resulted in a significant decrease in postoperative VAS scores, increased patient satisfaction and shortened the discharge times.

Preemptive analgesia is defined as alleviating the severity of pain and reducing the pain-induced stress response by using an analgesic medication or performing a nerve block before a painful stimulus, as well as reducing the need for postoperative analgesics (10). IPACK block, which is a relatively new block, is a block that we apply as a preemptive analgesia method for patients who will undergo arthroscopic knee surgery. In this study, we wanted to evaluate the effectiveness of this block for this purpose. The increase in the number of knee surgeries performed worldwide increases the importance of postoperative pain control. This has led to the emergence of various postoperative pain management strategies, where peripheral nerve blocks have gained popularity (11). If the literature is reviewed, it is seen that various drugs and methods like systemic analgesic administration, neuraxial blocks, peripheral nerve blocks, local anesthetic infiltration and intra-articular injections are applied for knee surgery to reduce postoperative pain and increase patient satisfaction (12).

Peripheral nerve blocks like femoral nerve block (FNB), adductor canal block (ACB) and sciatic nerve block (SNB) have been used to control pain after knee surgeries (13-15). One of the peripheral nerve blocks, ACB is a nerve block that has been reported to provide significant pain relief and earlier mobilization in patients as it preserves quadriceps muscle strength (16). However, this technique provides pain relief only in anterior and medial areas since it has no effect on deep genicular nerves and is not effective in posterior knee pain. Therefore, full knee extension and early ambulation are prevented, resulting in a delay in rehabilitation (14,17-18). FNB may provide effective pain control, but it may also cause weakness in the quadriceps muscle after surgery (13). Neither of these blocks is effective in relieving posterior knee pain (19-21). To alleviate posterior knee pain, periarticular multimodal drug injection (PMDI), sciatic nerve block (SNB) and IPACK can be applied (8). PMDI can be performed easily and quickly without risk of injury to nerves and blood vessels. However, direct injection into the knee joint has a potential risk of infection (22). Also, PMDI can only be performed during surgery and additional injections are not possible. SNB can also reduce posterior knee pain but foot drop in 65-68% of cases reported in literature (19,23).

IPACK is the administration of a local anesthetic agent into the space between the popliteal artery and the posterior capsule to block the deep genic nerves supplying the posterior aspect of the knee joint. The technique involves very selective blocking of the terminal sensory branches of the posterior aspect of the knee without involvement of the motor branches of the tibial and peroneal nerves, resulting in reduced pain with no effect on muscle strength (21).

When the literature on the use of IPACK block after knee surgeries for postoperative analgesia is reviewed, it is seen that studies are mostly performed in addition to ACB. In the study of Zhen et al. (15) postoperative 72-hour VAS scores were evaluated after ACB and FNB were applied to patients who had undergone total knee artroplasty operations. While the VAS scores measured in the first 24 hours were found to be significantly lower in the FNB group, they found that the VAS scores at the 48th and 72nd hours were similar.

Elliot et al. (22) in their study on knee surgeries showed that IPACK block applied together with ACB shortened the hospital stay and improved the response to physical therapy. They found that it had positive effects on pain scores, opioid consumption, physical therapy performance and discharge times.

Sahaneani et al. (23) reported significantly increased range of motion and walking distance as well as reduced visual analog scale scores after total knee arthroplasty in the ACB and IPACK block combined group compared to a group receiving ACB alone. Grevstad et al. reported that the femoral nerve catheter can provide significant postoperative analgesia, but on the other hand, it causes significant weakness in the quadriceps, which prevents early physical activity (13).

Amer et al. (24), in their study investigating the efficacy of peripheral nerve blocks in meniscal surgeries, documented that ACB and IPACK blocks are more effective than combined ACB and intra-articular infiltration for postoperative pain following surgery. They showed that their patients' VAS values were low in ACP and IPACK blocks.

Our study has some limitations. It is a retrospective study & the sample size is not large. We frequently apply spinal anesthesia as neuraxial block and ACB as peripheral block in our patients who have approved for arthroscopic knee surgery in our clinic. IPACK block is a relatively new block and we wanted to evaluate the effectiveness of this block, which we applied alone and in a limited number of patients for preemptive analgesia in our education clinic; and also compare it with the control group.

As a result of this evaluation, we found that the VAS scores of the patients, who had IPACK block, were lower from the 1st postoperative hour to the 24th hour. Although IPACK block is effective on the pain of the posterior side of the knee, we have also seen that this decrease in VAS scores increases the satisfaction of the patients and reduces the use of additional analgesics. The absence of any complications and the shortening of the discharge times were also considered as positive effects.

In conclusion; in this study, we observed that preemptive IPACK block, performed with ultrasonography in patients who will undergo arthroscopic knee surgery, reduces the patient's pain in the postoperative period, shortens the length of hospital stay, positively affects patient comfort and increases patient satisfaction considerably. We believe that IPACK block alone or in addition to other blocks or methods will be effective in preventing arthroscopic knee surgery pain and it will be useful to conduct new studies with more patients.

ETHICAL DECLARATIONS

Ethics Committee Approval: The study was carried out with the permission of Kırıkkale University Hosptial, Non-invasive Clinical Researches Ethics Committee (Date: 10/12/2020, Decision No: 2020.11.25).

Informed Consent: Because the study was designed retrospectively, no written informed consent form was obtained from patients.

Referee Evaluation Process: Externally peer-reviewed.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

Author Contributions: All of the authors declare that they have all participated in the design, execution, and analysis of the paper and that they have approved the final version

- O'Donnell BD, Iohom G. Regional anesthesia techniques for ambulatory orthopedic surgery. Curr Opin Anaesthesiol 2008; 21: 723-8.
- 2. Buckenmaier CC. Anaesthesia for outpatient knee surgery. Best Pract Res Clin Anaesthesiol 2002; 16: 255-70.
- 3. Lamplot JD, Wagner ER, Manning DW. Multimodal pain managementin total knee artroplasty. J Arthroplasty 20014; 29: 329-34.
- Cullom C, Weed JT. Anesthetic and analgesic management for outpatient knee artroplasty. Curry Pain Headache Rep 2017; 21: 23.
- 5. Manickam B, Perlas A, Duggan E, Brull R, Chan VW, Ramlogan R. Feasibility and efficacy of ultrasound-guided block of the saphenous nerve in the adductor canal. Reg Anesth Pain Med 2009; 34: 578-80.
- Niesen AD, Harris DJ, Johnson CS, et al. Interspace between popliteal artery and posterior capsule of the knee (IPACK) injected spread: a cadaver study. J Ultrasound Med 2019; 38: 741-5.
- Tran J, Giron Arango L, Peng P, Sinha SK, Agur A, Chan V. Evaluation of the IPACK block injectate spread: a cadaveric study. Reg Anesth Pain Me 2019; 44: 689-94.
- 8. Elliot CE, Thobhani S. The adductor canal catheter and interspace between the popliteal artery and the posterior capsule of the knee for total knee arthroplasty. Reg Anesth Pain Med 2014; 18: 126-9.
- 9. Voutilainen A, Pitkäaho T, Kvist T, Vehviläinen-Julkunen K. How to ask about patient satisfaction? The visual analogue scale is less vulnerable to confounding factors and ceiling effect than a symmetric Likert scale. J Advanc Nurs 2016; 72: 946-57.
- 10. Woolf CJ, Chong MS. Preemptive analgesia- treating postoperative pain by preventing the establishment of central sensitization. Anesth Analg 1993; 77: 362-79.
- 11.Terkawi AS, Mavridis D, Sessler DI, et al. Pain management modalities after total knee arthroplasty: a network meta-analysis of 170 randomized controlled trials. Anesthesiology 2016; 126: 923-37.
- 12. Moucha CS, Weiser MC, Levin EJ. Current strategies in anesthesia and analgesia for total knee artroplasty. J Am Acad Orthop Surg 2016; 24: 60-73.

- 13. Grevstad U, Mathiesen O, Valentiner LS, Jaeger P, Hilsted KL, Dahl JB. Effect of adductor canal block versus femoral nerve block on quadriceps strength, mobilization, and pain after total knee artroplasty: a randomized, blinded study. Reg Anesth Pain Med 2015; 40: 3-10.
- 14.Pham DC, Gautheron E, Guilley J, et al. The value of adding sciatic block to continous femoral block for analgesia after total knee replacement. Reg Anesth Pain Med 2005; 30: 128-33.
- Hunt KJ, Bourne MH, Mariani EM. Single injection femoral and sciatic nerve blocks for pain control after knee arthroplasty. J Arthroplast 2009; 24: 533-8.
- 16. Vora MU, Nicholas TA, Kassel CA, Grant SA. Adductor canal block for knee surgical procedures: review article. J Clin Anesth. 2016; 35: 295-303.
- 17. Wegener JT, Dijk NV, Hollmann MW, Preckel B, Stevens MF. Value of single-injection or continuous sciatic nerve block in addition to a continuous femoral nerve block in patients undergoing total knee arthroplasty: a prospective, randomized, controlled trial. Reg Anesth Pain Med 2011; 36: 481-8.
- 18. Nader A, Kendall MC, Manning DW, et al. Single-dose adductor canal block with local infiltrative analgesia compared with local infiltrate analgesia after total knee arthroplasty: a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. Reg Anesth Pain Med 2016; 41: 678-84.
- 19. Sinha SK, Abrams JH, Arumugam S,et al. Femoral nerve block with selective tibial nerve block provides effective analgesia without foot drop after total knee arthroplasty: a prospective, randomized, observer-blinded study. Anesth Analg. 2012; 115: 202-6.
- 20. Yadeau JT, Goytizolo EA, Padgett DE, et al. Analgesia after total knee replacement: local infiltration versus epidural combined with a femoral nerve blockade; a prospective, randomized pragmatic trial. Bone Joint 2013; 95: 629-35.
- 21. Vendittoli PA, Makinen P, Drolet P, et al. A multimodal analgesia protocol for total knee arthroplasty. A randomized, controlled study. J Bone Joint Surg Am 2006; 88: 282-9.
- 22. Jeong MS, Song EK, Seon JK, Byun JW, Lee KJ, Jung YW. Effectiveness of pain relief for femoral nerve block in multimodal pain control protocols in total knee arthroplasty. J Korean Orthop Assoc 2011; 46: 237.
- 23.Danelli G, Fanelli A, Ghishi D, et al. Ultrasound vs nerve stimulation multiple injection technique for posterior popliteal sciatic nerve block. Anesthesia 2009; 64: 638-42.
- 24. Amer N. Combined adductor canal and i-PAK blocks is better than combined adductor canal and periarticular injection blocks for painless ACL reconstruction surgery. J Anesth Crit Open Access. 2018; 10: 154-7.

The comparison of treatment with orlistat and orlistat plus metformin in relation to insulin resistance and weight loss

Işılay Kalan Sarı¹, Serkan Ceylan²

¹University of Health Sciences, Antalya Training and Research Hospital, Department of Endocrinology and Metabolic Disorders, Antalya, Turkey ²University of Health Sciences, Antalya Training and Research Hospital, Department of General Surgery, Antalya, Turkey

Cite this article as: Kalan Sarı I, Ceylan S. The comparison of treatment with orlistat and orlistat plus metformin in relation to insulin resistance and weight loss. J Health Sci Med 2022; 5(3): 755-759.

ABSTRACT

Introduction: Obesity is a growing health problem. Many drugs have been developed to treat obesity. Orlistat is a widely used drug to treat this disease. Metformin is an antidiabetic drug. Clinicians often prescribe it to treat insulin resistance and achieve weight loss. Our research aims to compare the effects of orlistat alone and its combination with metformin on weight loss and insulin resistance.

Material and Method: This retrospective study was conducted by scanning the data of patients who presented to Antalya Training and Research Hospital Endocrinology, and General Surgery Clinics between 2016 and 2021. 42 morbidly obese patients who met inclusion and exclusion criteria and were prescribed orlistat plus metformin (group 1, n: 28) or orlistat alone (group 2, n: 14) along with a low-calorie diet for three months and were taking it regularly were included. Subsequently, weight, body mass index, fasting blood glucose, fasting insulin, and HOMA-IR (homeostasis model assessment for insulin resistance) were recorded and analyzed at baseline and after three months of taking the medications.

Results: After 3 months of treatment, significant weight loss was achieved in both groups compared to baseline weight (p=0.001 group 1, p=0.003 group 2). HOMA-IR values decreased significantly in both groups (p=0.001 group 1, p=0.01 group 2). Both groups lost the same amount of weight after three months (p=0.06).

Conclusion: In morbidly obese patients without prediabetes or diabetes, the addition of metformin to orlistat therapy did not add benefits in terms of weight loss or insulin resistance.

Keywords: Orlistat, obesity, metformin, insulin resistance

INTRODUCTION

Obesity is a growing health problem (1,2). The risk of diabetes, metabolic syndrome, hypertension, cardiovascular and cerebrovascular disease, gastrointestinal disease, and various malignancies increases with obesity (3). Weight loss of 5% to 10% of body weight is sufficient to reduce morbidity and mortality (1,4,5). Some patients who have difficulty adapting to diet and exercise and do not lose enough weight require medical or sometimes surgical treatment. Orlistat is one of the weight loss agents approved for the treatment of obesity (6). It specifically and effectively inhibits gastric and pancreatic lipase activity in the intestinal lumen and reduces fat absorption from food (7). It binds to the active serine region of gastric and pancreatic lipases via a covalent bond and thus exerts its effect. Therefore, it indirectly leads to weight loss by preventing the formation of monoacylglycerols and free fatty acids

and providing a caloric deficit (6). Orlistat exerts all of its pharmacological effects in the gastrointestinal tract and does not alter neurotransmitter levels, as it has no effects on the central nervous system (6). However, the main adverse effects are gastrointestinal. Since orlistat decreases the absorption of fat-soluble vitamins, some associated health problems may occur if the necessary vitamin supply is not provided (6). Through weight loss, orlistat improves lipid profile, blood pressure, fasting blood glucose (FBG), and insulin concentration (8-12). The potential for gastrointestinal discomfort and moderate weight loss may limit the clinical usefulness of the agent. Metformin is an antidiabetic agent that promotes tissue utilization of glucose and decreases insulin resistance (13). Abdominal discomfort, decreased appetite, diarrhea, or constipation are some of the side effects of this drug (13). Weight loss has also been noted



in patients treated with metformin. However, there are conflicting studies on the effects of metformin on weight loss (13-16). While significant weight loss was achieved with metformin in some studies (13,14), no consistent weight loss was observed in other studies (15,16). The aim of our study is to compare orlistat alone with combined therapy with metformin on body weight and insulin resistance.

MATERIAL AND METHOD

This retrospective study was conducted by scanning data from patients who presented to the Endocrinology and General Surgery Clinics at University of Health Science Antalya Training and Research Hospital between 2016 and 2021. The Ethics Committee of the University of Health Science Antalya Training and Research Hospital approved the study protocol dated June 24, 2021 and No. 9/19, and the report followed the Declaration of Helsinki. Patients were between 18 and 70 years of age, had a BMI (body mass index) \geq 40 kg/m², no malignancies, cardiovascular disease, diabetes, or prediabetes (subjects with HbA1c (glycated hemoglobin) <5.7% and FBG <100), who had been taking orlistat regularly for three months or, in the case of insulin resistance, orlistat and metformin, were included in the study. To determine insulin resistance, we used the HOMA-IR (Homeostasis Model Assessment for Insulin Resistance) index and calculated it according to the following formula: HOMA-IR=insulin x FBG (mg/dl)/405. If the value of HOMA-IR was \geq 2.7, insulin resistance was assumed (17). As exclusion criteria, we specified that patients were under 18 or over 70 years of age, had a BMI of < 40, were pregnant or breastfeeding, had chronic kidney disease, malignancy, a history of significant cardiovascular disease, diabetes mellitus or prediabetes (FPG ≥ 100 or HbA1c $\geq 5.7\%$), were taking medications that affect glucose metabolism, or had not used orlistat or combination therapy regularly for 3 months. We retrospectively obtained the sex, age, chronic diseases, medications, height, weight, BMI, and laboratory results of patients presenting to our outpatient clinics from their records. We included 42 morbidly obese patients in our study who met the inclusion and exclusion criteria. 28 patients had insulin resistance and were prescribed orlistat 3x120 mg and metformin 2x500 mg and took these drugs regularly for 3 months along with a low-calorie diet (group 1). 14 patients without insulin resistance according to the HOMA-IR index were prescribed orlistat 3x120 mg and took this medication regularly for 3 months along with a lowcalorie diet (group 2). We then recorded baseline weight, BMI, FBG, HbA1c, fasting insulin level and after three months of medication. Biochemical tests, including FBG, creatinine, AST, ALT and others, were analyzed by spectrophotometric method using Beckman coulter AU5800 (Beckman coulter Inc. CA, USA) autoanalyzer. Insulin and other necessary hormone tests were analyzed by chemiluminescence method on Beckman coulter DxI800 (Beckman coulter Inc. CA, USA) analyzer. The reference range for fasting insulin in our hospital is 5-35 μ U\ml.

Statistical Analysis

We used IBM SPSS version 20 to analyze the data. We used descriptive statistics to define continuous variables (number (n), percentage (%), mean±standard deviation). We performed Student's t-test or Mann-Whitney U-test to compare the two independent groups depending on whether the data were parametric or not. A 'p' value < 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

RESULTS

According to the exclusion and inclusion criteria, the data of a total of 42 patients were fully accessed. The mean age of the patients was 40.6±7.3 years. Thirty cases were female and twelve were male. Twenty-eight subjects were found to have insulin resistance in addition to obesity as established by the HOMA-IR result, and these patients were assigned to group 1. The remaining 14 patients were not found to have insulin resistance, and these patients were assigned to group 2. The mean age of group 1 was 39.9±8.2 years and that of group 2 was 41.1±5.6 years. The age and gender of the two groups were similar (p=0.51 and p=0.92, respectively). The baseline weight of group 1 was 112.6±9.4 kg and that of group 2 was 109.0±11.5 kg. There was no significant difference in baseline weight between the two groups (p=0.06). The baseline value of HOMA-IR was 3.16±1.2 for group 1 and 1.98±0.5 for group 2. The HOMA-IR value was significantly higher in group 1 (p=0.001) (Table 1). At the end of the third month, no significant difference was found between the two groups in terms of weight and BMI (p=0.09 and p=0.07, respectively). While weight loss in group 1 was 4.6±2.1 kg, it was 5.2±2.5 kg in group 2. There was no significant difference between the two groups in the amount of weight loss (p=0.06). The HOMA-IR value of group 1 was significantly higher than that of group 2 (2.11±1.5 group 1, 1.45±0.7 group 2) at the end of 3 months (p=0.002) (Table 2). Patients in both treatment groups significantly lost weight with these therapies compared to baseline (p=0.001 group 1, p=0.003 group 2). As expected, a significant decrease was observed in HOMA-IR (p=0.001) and FBG (p=0.02) values at the end of 3 months in the group using metformin. However, a significant decrease was achieved in FBG (p=0.04) and HOMA-IR (p=0.01) values at the end of the 3rd month in group 2 who received only orlistat. HOMA-IR was significantly reduced in both groups (p=0.001 group 1, p=0.01 group 2) (Table 3).

the patients	listics and i	basenne paran	
	Group 1 (n=28)	Group 2 (n=14)	р
Age (years) (mean±sd)	39.9±8.2	41.1±5.6	0.51
Gender (n/%)			
Male	8 (%28)	4 (%28)	
Female	20 (%72)	10 (%72)	0.92
Body weight (kg) (mean±sd)	112.6±9.4	109.0±11.5	0.06
Body mass index (kg/m²) (mean±sd)	45.5±3.7	44.2±3.1	0.08
Fasting blood glucose (mg/dl) (mean±sd)	90.1±7.9	87.8±9.3	0.98
Fasting insulin (µU/ml) (mean±sd)	13.8±6.6	10.1±3.2	0.002*
HOMA-IR	3.16±1.2	1.98 ± 0.5	0.001*
*<0.05 statistically significant. HOMA-I	R; homeostasis	model assessmen	t for insulin

Table 2. Control parameters of the patients at the 3rd month after treatment					
	Group 1 (n=28)	Group 2 (n=14)	Р		
Body weight (kg) (mean±sd)	106.0 ± 8.1	104.2 ± 9.5	0.09		
Weight loss after 3 months (mean±sd)	4.6±2.1	5.2±2.3	0.06		
Body mass index (kg/m²) (mean±sd)	43.2±4.1	42.3±2.9	0.07		
Fasting blood glucose (mg/dl) (mean±sd)	85.2±7.5	84.4±8.9	0.62		
Fasting insulin (µU/ml) (mean±sd)	9.7±6.3	7.5 ± 2.1	0.008*		
HOMA-IR (mean±sd)	2.11±1.5	1.45 ± 0.7	0.002*		
*<0.05 statistically significant. HOMA-IR; homeostasis model assessment for insulin					

resistance

Table 2 Comparison of the p

and after 3 months				
	Baseline	After 3 months	р	
Body weight (kg) (mean±sd)				
Group 1	112.6±9.4	106.0 ± 8.1	0.001*	
Group 2	109.0±11.5	104.2±9.5	0.003*	
Body mass index (kg/m²) (mean±sd)				
Group 1	45.5±3.7	43.2±4.1	0.001*	
Group 2	44.2±3.1	42.3±2.9	0.005*	
Fasting blood glucose (mg/dl) (mean±sd)				
Group 1	90.1±7,9	85.2±7.5	0.02*	
Group 2	87.8±9,3	84.4±8.9	0.04^{*}	
Fasting insulin (μU/ml) (mean±sd)				
Group 1	13.8±6.6	9.7±6.3	0.001*	
Group 2	10.1±3.2	7.5±2.1	0.002*	
HOMA-IR (mean±sd)				
Group 1	3.16±1.2	2.11±1.5	0.001*	
Group 2	$1.98{\pm}0.5$	1.45 ± 0.7	0.01*	
*<0.05 statistically significant. HOMA-IR; homeostasis model assessment for insulin resistance				

DISCUSSION

Our study shows that in patients with morbid obesity who do not have prediabetes or diabetes, the addition of metformin to orlistat therapy has no benefit in treating obesity and insulin resistance. As expected, FBG and HOMA-IR levels decreased significantly at the end of the third month in the group receiving combination therapy. However, we observed a significant improvement in insulin resistance and FBG levels, possibly as a result of weight loss in the patients receiving orlistat alone. Obesity is a major cause of hypertension, diabetes, dyslipidemia, and insulin resistance (3). Many drugs have been developed to treat obesity. Orlistat is a drug for the treatment of morbid obesity that reduces cardiovascular risk in these individuals (9,10). This benefit has been reported in some studies as a result of weight loss, but it has also been observed in other studies in which weight loss was not a factor (9,10). In diabetic patients, Kelley et al. (9) observed significant improvement in glycemic parameters and other risk factors for cardiovascular events after 1 year of orlistat treatment, in addition to substantial weight loss. In studies investigating the effects of shortterm orlistat use on the risk of cardiovascular events, Bloch et al. observed significant reductions in diastolic blood pressure, FBG, weight, and total cholesterol levels in obese hypertensives after 3 months of orlistat use (12). In previous studies, orlistat treatment increased insulin sensitivity and significantly decreased HOMA-IR (4,5,15). In their study, Heymsfield et al. demonstrated that orlistat prevented the progression of prediabetes and diabetes in obese individuals (5). In the study of Song et al. (18) in obese and overweight women with polycystic ovary syndrome, it is shown that orlistat has fewer side effects and is better tolerated than metformin and provides more benefits in terms of lipid profile and weight loss. Berne et al. (19) showed that orlistat administration in patients with type 2 diabetes resulted in significant improvement in glycemic parameters, insulin resistance, apolipoprotein B levels, and beta cell function, as well as weight loss after approximately 13 months of treatment. We could not investigate other cardiovascular risk factors in our study because it was a retrospective study and patient data were insufficient, but our results are consistent with these studies regarding the benefits of orlistat on weight loss, FBG, and insulin resistance. Metformin may promote weight loss in obese individuals, although some studies have shown no effect in terms of weight. In the study by Kay et al. (23), the metformin group achieved more significant weight loss than the group taking the placebo while in another study, it was observed that taking metformin for six months did not result in noticeable weight loss (16). In another study, weight loss was observed after three months of taking metformin, but it was not statistically significant

(20). Insulin-sensitising drugs such as metformin have been shown in studies to reduce hyperinsulinemia and increase hepatic insulin sensitivity in individuals with obesity, diabetes, or polycystic ovary syndrome, all of which are associated with insulin resistance (16,20). The study conducted by Gokcel et al. (14) showed a significant decrease in weight and HOMA-IR values in individuals treated with orlistat or metformin for six months. In this study, orlistat resulted in a 9.06% weight loss and metformin alone resulted in a 9.90% weight loss. HOMA-IR decreased by 32.73% with orlistat and 39.28% with metformin. We did not include patients taking metformin alone in our study. This is a shortcoming of our study. Therefore, we could not compare the metformin use alone with the orlistat use alone, but we indirectly note that we did not detect any additional effect of metformin in terms of weight, FBG, and insulin resistance. The prospective study by Sari et al. (15) in obese patients showed similar results in terms of insulin resistance or weight loss with the use of orlistat alone and the combined use of metformin and orlistat. These results were consistent with ours. Our study had several limitations. These include its retrospective nature, low metformin dose, small study population, short treatment duration, and lack of overweight and obese groups. Because of the lack of a patient group taking metformin alone and the lack of analysis of other cardiovascular risk factors, it is not possible to comment on the superiority of orlistat over metformin and the benefit of orlistat on other cardiovascular risk factors.

CONCLUSION

Orlistat therapy alone resulted in weight loss and reduced insulin resistance. The addition of metformin to orlistat treatment showed no additional benefit in these parameters. Considering that combination therapy increases costs and side effects, treatment with diet and orlistat might be sufficient to improve insulin sensitivity and lose weight in morbidly obese patients who do not have prediabetes or diabetes.

ETHICAL DECLARATIONS

Ethics Committee Approval: The study was initiated with the approval of the Antalya Training and Research Hospital Ethics Committee (Date: 24.06.2021, Decision No: 9/19).

Informed Consent: Because the study was designed retrospectively, no written informed consent form was obtained from patients.

Referee Evaluation Process: Externally peer-reviewed.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

Author Contributions: All of the authors declare that they have all participated in the design, execution, and analysis of the paper, and that they have approved the final version.

- 1. Nicklas JM, Huskey KW, Davis RB, Wee CC. Successful weight loss among obese U.S. adults. Am J Prev Med 2012; 42: 481-5
- 2. Rössner S, Sjöström L, Noack R, Meinders AE, Noseda G. Weight loss, weight maintenance, and improved cardiovascular risk factors after 2 years treatment with orlistat for obesity. European Orlistat Obesity Study Group. Obes Res 2000; 8: 49-61.
- 3. Manson JE, Willett WC, Stampfer MJ, et al. Body weight and mortality among women. N Engl J Med 1995; 333: 677-85.
- Goldstein DJ. Beneficial health effects of modest weight loss. Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord 1992; 16: 397-415.
- 5. Heymsfield SB, Segal KR, Hauptman J, et al. Effects of weight loss with orlistat on glucose tolerance and progression to type 2 diabetes in obese adults. Arch Int Med 2000; 160: 1321-6.
- 6. Heck AM, Yanovski JA, Calis KA. Orlistat, a new lipase inhibitor for the management of obesity. Pharmacotherapy 2000; 20: 270-9.
- 7. Tanakol R. Obezite Tedavisinde Orlistat. Turk Jem 2003; 7: 87-97.
- 8. Ballinger A. Orlistat in the treatment of obesity. Expert Opin Pharmacother 2000; 1: 841-7.
- 9. Kelley DE, Bray GA, Pi-Sunyer. Clinical efficacy of orlistat therapy in owerweight and obese patients with insulin treated-type 2 diabetes: a 1-year randomized controlled trial. Diabetes Care 2002; 25: 1033-41.
- 10. Derosa G, Mugellini A, Ciccarelli L, Fogari R. Randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled comparison of the action of orlistat, fluvastatin, or both an anthropometric measurements, blood pressure, and lipid profile in obese patients with hypercholesterolemia prescribed a standardized diet. Clin Ther 2003; 25: 1107-22.
- 11. Muls E, Kolanowski J, Scheen A, Van Gaal L; ObelHyx Study Group. The effects of orlistat on weight and on serum lipids in obese patients with hypercholesterolemia: a randomized, doubleblind, placebo-controlled, multicentre study. Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord 2001; 25: 1713-21.
- 12. Bloch KV, Salles GF, Muxfeldt ES, Da Rocha Nogueira A. Orlistat in hypertensive overweight/obese patients: results of a randomized clinical trial. J Hypertens 2003; 21: 2159-65.
- 13. Kay JP, Alemzadeh R, Langley G, D'Angelo L, Smith P, Holshouser S. Beneficial effects of metformin in normoglycemic morbidly obese adolescents. Metabolism 2001; 50: 1457-61.
- 14.Gokcel A, Gumurdulu Y, Karakose H, et al. Evaluation of the safety and efficacy of sibutramine, orlistat and metformin in the treatment of obesity. Diabetes Obes Metab 2002; 4: 49-55.
- Sari R, Balci MK, Coban E, Yazicioglu G. Comparison of the effect of orlistat vs orlistat plus metformin on weight loss and insulin resistance in obese women. Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord 2004; 28: 1059-63.
- 16. Freemark M, Bursey D. The effects of metformin on body mass index and glucose tolerance in obese adolescents with fasting hyperinsulinemia and a family history of type 2 diabetes. Pediatrics 2001; 107: 55.
- 17. Balkau B, Charles MA. Comment on the provisional report from the WHO consultation. European Group for the study of Insulin Resistance (EGIR). Diabet Med 1999; 16: 442-3.

- 18.Song J, Ruan X, Gu M, Wang L, Wang H, Mueck AO. Effect of orlistat or metformin in overweight and obese polycystic ovary syndrome patients with insulin resistance. Gynecol Endocrinol 2018; 34: 413-7.
- 19.Berne C; Orlistat Swedish Type 2 diabetes Study Group. A randomized study of orlistat in combination with a weight management programme in obese patients with Type 2 diabetes treated with metformin. Diabet Med 2005; 22: 612-8.
- 20. Arslanian SA, Lewy V, Danadian K, Saad R. Metformin therapy in obese adolescents with polycystic ovary syndrome and impaired glucose tolerance: amelioration of exaggerated adrenal response to adrenocorticotropin with reduction of insulinemia/insulin resistance. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2002; 87: 1555-9.

Fetuin A level in advanced placental calcification at term pregnancies

[®]Esin Merve Erol Koc¹, [®]Selen Yaman¹, [®]Yasemin Tasci², [®]Nihal Omur³, [®]Fatma Meric Yilmaz⁴,

[®]Yeksin Helvacioglu Karatas⁵, [®]Salim Erkaya⁵, [®]Ali Ozgur Ersoy⁵, [®]Jale Karakaya⁶, [®]Rahime Bedir Findik¹

¹Ankara City Hospital, Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Ankara, Turkey

²Kütahya Training and Research Hospital, Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Kütahya, Turkey

³Ankara Numune Training and Research Hospital, Department of Biochemistry, Ankara, Turkey

⁴Ankara Yıldırım Beyazıt University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Biochemistry, Ankara, Turkey

⁵Ankara Zekai Tahir Burak Women Health Training and Research Hospital, Ankara, Turkey

⁶Hacettepe University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Biostatistics, Ankara, Turkey

Cite this article as: Erol Koc EM, Yaman S, Tasci Y, et al. Fetuin A level in advanced placental calcification at term pregnancies. J Health Sci Med 2022; 5(3): 760-764.

ABSTRACT

Aim: Fetuin A is a multifunctional protein which is a marker of pathological calcification in several diseases. This study aimed to evaluate serum fetuin A level in term pregnancies with grade 3 placental calcification.

Material and Method: Fifty-seven pregnant women who applied obstetrics outpatient clinic for routine pregnancy follow-up at term were included in this study. The study was designed prospectively. Patients with grade 3 placental calcification (n=29) were compared to patients with non-calcified placenta (n=28) in terms of serum fetuin A levels.

Results: Maternal serum calcium levels of pregnant women with grade 3 calcified was significantly increased compared to pregnant women with non-calcified placenta. There was no significant difference between the fetuin A levels of study and control groups. The fetuin A level was not found to be correlated with maternal serum calcium level.

Conclusion: Fetuin A has been targeted as a marker for pathological calcification. The findings of the current study may support the thought that term placental calcification may be physiological rather than a pathological process.

Keywords: Placental calcification, term pregnancy, calcium, fetuin A

INTRODUCTION

Fetuin A is a plasma glycoprotein which exists in all vertebrates and takes role in metabolic events mineralization, inflammation, cell adhesion, as proliferation, and differentiation. It is mainly synthesized in liver and sequestered at physiological and pathological calcification areas (1-3). Fetuin A is a potential inhibitor of ectopic calcification, as well as takes role in normal osteogenetic activity of bone tissue (2, 4). Increased serum fetuin A levels were shown to be significantly related with gestational and type 2 diabetes mellitus (GDM and DM), preeclampsia, cardiovascular diseases (CVD), chronic kidney disease, hypertension (HT), metabolic syndrome and cigarette smoking (5-8).

Placental calcification is a widespread calcium deposition of placenta. The calcification can be clinically detected through ultrasonographic evaluation. Grannum et al. established the grading scale for placental maturity. Advanced degree (grade 3) placental calcification was indicated to be related with pulmonary maturity (9). The placental calcification at third trimester was shown to indicate adverse pregnancy outcomes including preeclampsia, intrauterine growth restriction and stillbirth. Besides, its clinical significance was reported as more prominent when it is detected at early weeks of the third trimester (10-14).

Despite the studies reporting the adverse outcomes of grade 3 placental calcification at the third trimester of pregnancy, the pathophysiology of placental calcification at term is not clearly elucidated yet. In this study, we aimed to evaluate the change in serum fetuin A levels in grade 3 placental calcification at term pregnancies.

Corresponding Author: Esin Merve Erol Koc, esinmerve87@gmail.com



MATERIAL AND METHOD

This study was performed by participation of 57 Caucasian singleton pregnant women who consecutively applied to Ankara Dr. Zekai Tahir Burak Women Health and Research Hospital, Ankara, Turkey, for routine pregnancy follow-up. Approval for the study was granted by Ankara Zekai Tahir Burak Women Health Training and Research Hospital Ethics Committee (Date: 26.06.2014, Decision No: 8). The study design was prospective, and data collection was completed in six months starting from June 2014. Informed consent was taken from all participants before the data collection. All procedures were carried out in accordance with the ethical rules and the principles of the Declaration of Helsinki.

Healthy pregnant women at term were included in this study. The study group consisted of pregnant women with grade 3 placental calcification (n=29). The control group included pregnant women without grade 3 placental calcification (n=28). Detailed medical history was taken from all participants. Physical examination was performed including systolic blood pressure measurement and body mass index (BMI) calculation. Routine laboratory parameters including complete blood count, liver and kidney function tests were also evaluated whether they are in normal ranges. The clinical characteristics and demographic features of the participants were recorded. Pregnant women with the history of smoking, comorbidities including DM, GDM, HT, preeclampsia, cardiovascular diseases, metabolic syndrome, thyroid dysfunction, connective tissue disorders, inflammatory diseases, active infectious conditions, rupture of membranes, and presence of structural/chromosomal fetal abnormalities were excluded.

Placental calcification was assessed through Grannum's classification (9). Ultrasonographic evaluation was performed with MindrayM5 brand ultrasound scanner (Mindray, Shenzhen, China) by the same obstetrician. Fetuin A level was examined from blood serum samples taken from antecubital vein. Boster brand ELISA kit (USA, Catalog #EK0757) based on quantitative sandwich ELISA principle was used for serum analyses. The results were presented as ng/ml.

Statistical Analyses

Statistical analyses were carried out by IBM-SPSS for Windows V21 (IBM-SPSS, Armonk, NY, USA). Categorical variables were expressed as number and percentages, numerical variables were expressed as mean, median and standard deviation. Independent samples t-test was used for normally distributed numerical variables. Chi-Square test was used to compare categorical variables. Spearman's rho correlation analysis was used to investigate the relationship between not normally distributed numerical variables. Two-tailed P-value <0.05 was considered statistically significant. Binary logistic regression analysis was used to investigate the variables affecting the placental calcification through forward stepwise LR method. G-Power Version 3 was used in for sample size analysis (Universitat Kiel, Kiel, Germany), before the study start. The sample size was found to be 25 for each group with assumed power of 0.84, a significance level of 0.05 and effect size of 0.5. A p value lesser than 0.05 was defined as statistically significant.

RESULTS

This study included 60 pregnant women. However, 3 participants were excluded from the study due to preeclampsia development after their participation in the study. The data of 57 pregnant women were evaluated at final analysis. Demographic features and clinical characteristics of study and control groups were presented in **Table 1**.

Table 1. Demographic features and clinical characteristics of study and control groups					
Variables	Placental calcification (n=29)	Control Group (n=28)	P-value		
Maternal age (years) Mean±SD	25.03±5.15	27.14±4.9	0.12		
BMI (kg/m²) Mean±SD	27±2.66	27.65±3.40	0.87		
Gestational age (weeks) Mean±SD	39±1.62	39±1.95	0.93		
Birth weight (g) Mean±SD	3417.93±374.26	3281.78±364.42	0.17		
APGAR score 5th min <7 n (%)	4/29 (13)	3/28 (10)	0.75		
BMI: Body mass index; SD: Standard deviation P-value <0.05 was considered statistically significant					

The fetuin A levels were similar for the study and control groups (350.72 ± 63.68 vs. 336.27 ± 56.96 , respectively; p=0.370). Maternal serum calcium level was significantly higher in pregnant women with grade 3 placental calcification (p=0.022) (**Table 2**).

Table 2. Maternal serum calcium level and maternal serum fetuinA level of the study group compared to control group					
Variables	Placental calcification (n=29)	Control Group (n=28)	P-value		
Maternal serum calcium level (mg/dl) Mean±SD	8.51±0.42	8.15±0.70	0.02*		
Maternal serum Fetuin A level (ng/ml) Mean±SD	350.72±63.68	336.27±56.96	0.37		
SD: Standard deviation, *P-value <0.05 was considered statistically significant					

There correlation of fetuin A level with the maternal serum calcium level was not significant (p > 0.05) (**Table 3**).

Table 3. Correlation between maternal serum Fetuin A level and the related parameters				
Variables	r	P-value		
Birth weight (g)	-0.16	0.21		
Maternal serum calcium level (mg/dl)	-0.21	0.11		
P-value <0.05 was considered statistically significant				

Logistic regression analysis indicated that 1 unit (mg/dl) increase at maternal serum calcium level was resulted in 3.58-fold increase at possibility of placental calcification development [CI 95%=3.58 (1.08-11.86), p=0.037].

DISCUSSION

Fetuin A is a marker for pathological calcification in several pregnancy related comorbidities. Grade 3 placental calcification at last trimester of pregnancy may be related with adverse pregnancy outcomes. The current study evaluated serum fetuin A level in grade 3 placental calcification in term pregnancies. Serum fetuin A level was slightly decreased in study group however, the difference was not significant. On the other hand, maternal serum calcium level was found to be an independent estimator of placental calcification with a 3.58-fold increase regarding to 1 unit increase in calcium level.

Actual mechanism of placental calcification is unclear and may be physiological in course of placental aging (15). On the other hand, placental calcification may be the result of a pathological process such as dystrophic changes under ischemic conditions or metastatic calcification related with mineral supersaturation (16, 17). In the current study, maternal serum calcium level of the pregnancies with grade 3 placental calcification was significantly higher than the control group. Maternal serum calcium level was detected as a determinant of placental calcification. However, serum calcium levels of both the study group and control group were within the normal range. Therefore, the significant difference should not be assumed as a pathological increase in calcium level in the study group. The correlation analysis between fetuin A level and maternal serum calcium level was also not reveal a significant relation.

Previous studies on fetuin A have been concentrated on preeclampsia and GDM in pregnant population. Fetuin A executes some cell protective functions by inhibiting receptor tyrosine kinases. However, the inhibitory pathways triggered by increased amount of fetuin A may impair trophoblast invasion in the early weeks of gestation, consequently leading to preeclampsia development (18). Through the inactivation of receptor tyrosine kinase activity, fetuin A also takes role in pathogenesis of GDM and liver diseases (19-21). In addition, fetuin A levels also increase in normal course of pregnancy by advancing gestational age (22). Subsequent studies also shown that fetuin A levels decrease by young maternal age and morbid obesity (18, 21, 23). In this study, the study and control groups were similar in terms of gestational age, maternal age, and maternal BMI.

Fetuin A is known to be a negative acute phase reactant in inflammatory diseases and infectious conditions besides to be a calcification marker (24, 25). Previous studies have shown that serum fetuin A level is significantly lower in preeclamptic patients with hemolysis-elevated liver enzymes-low platelets (HELLP) syndrome compared to the healthy controls and compared to preeclamptic cases without HELLP syndrome. This situation was explained through that fetuin A is a negative inflammatory mediator (26, 27). In this regard, the current study included the pregnant cohort without any systemic inflammatory or infectious condition.

Advanced placental calcification before 36 weeks of gestation is defined as preterm placental calcification. It was indicated to be related with pregnancy complications as preeclampsia, placental abruption, and stillbirth (11, 13, 15). Advancing gestational age, that is related with the increasing fetuin A level is as well as responsible for increasing amount of placental calcium deposition. On the other hand, prominent placental calcification at term thought to be a physiological process with 39.4 % incidence (28). Similar serum fetuin A levels between the groups also appear as evidence for the physiologic basis of grade 3 calcification at term. The birthweight and 5th minute APGAR score were also similar between the study and control groups. The results of the current study appear to be consistent with the general approach which is towards to accept placental calcification at term as physiological.

The similarity of clinical, and demographic features between the groups and inclusion of healthy subjects appears to be the strongest aspects of the study. On the other hand, the study has a number of limitations. In this study, ELISA method was used to was measure serum fetuin A level. However, some previous studies reported that quantitative measurement of fetuinmineral complexes may better exhibit calcification stress and give more accurate results (29, 30). Another limitation of the current study is that umbilical cord fetuin A level was not evaluated. Due, possible relations between of umbilical cord fetuin A level with placental calcification could not be evaluated. This study did not examine preterm placental calcification, which may lead to adverse pregnancy outcomes, can be also considered as a limitation. A third study group composed of pregnancies with preterm placental calcification might give us some notable findings regarding the role of fetuin A in pathogenesis of placental calcification.

The study findings supported the general thought that placental calcification at term may not be accepted as a component of fetal wellbeing. This study did not show any significant relation between the placental calcification and serum fetuin A level. There is need for studies designed in pregnant cohort with preterm placental calcification to evaluate the role of fetuin A in pathophysiology of calcified placenta.

CONCLUSION

In this current study, fetuin A, which is a marker of dystrophic calcification, was not found to be increased in advanced degree placental calcification at term. The current findings indicate that the development of placental calcification at term may be based on a physiological course.

ETHICAL DECLARATIONS

Ethics Committee Approval: Approval for the study was granted by Ankara Zekai Tahir Burak Women Health Training and Research Hospital Ethics Committee (Date: 26.06.2014, Decision No: 8).

Informed Consent: Because the study was designed retrospectively, no written informed consent form was obtained from patients.

Referee Evaluation Process: Externally peer-reviewed.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

Author Contributions: All of the authors declare that they have all participated in the design, execution, and analysis of the paper, and that they have approved the final version.

- 1. Brylka L, Jahnen-Dechent W. The role of fetuin-A in physiological and pathological mineralization. Calcified tissue international 2013; 93: 355-64.
- Mori K, Emoto M, Inaba M. Fetuin-A: a multifunctional protein. Recent patents on endocrine, metabolic & immune drug discovery 2011; 5: 124-46.
- Dautova Y, Kozlova D, Skepper JN, Epple M, Bootman MD, Proudfoot D. Fetuin-A and albumin alter cytotoxic effects of calcium phosphate nanoparticles on human vascular smooth muscle cells. PloS one 2014; 9: e97565.
- 4. Seto J, Busse B, Gupta HS, et al. Accelerated growth plate mineralization and foreshortened proximal limb bones in fetuin-A knockout mice. PloS one 2012; 7: e47338.
- 5. Iyidir OT, Degertekin CK, Yilmaz BA, et al. Serum levels of fetuin A are increased in women with gestational diabetes mellitus. Archives of gynecology and obstetrics 2015; 291: 933-7.
- Chaemsaithong P, Romero R, Tarca AL, et al. Maternal plasma fetuin-A concentration is lower in patients who subsequently developed preterm preeclampsia than in uncomplicated pregnancy: a longitudinal study. J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med. 2015; 28: 1260-9.

- 7. Bostom A, Pasch A, Madsen T, et al. Serum calcification propensity and fetuin-a: biomarkers of cardiovascular disease in kidney transplant recipients. Am J Nephrol 2018; 48: 21-31.
- Pan X, Wen SW, Bestman PL, Kaminga AC, Acheampong K. Fetuin-A in Metabolic syndrome: a systematic review and metaanalysis. PloS One 2020; e0229776.
- 9. Grannum PA, Berkowitz RL, Hobbins JC. The ultrasonic changes in the maturing placenta and their relation to fetal pulmonic maturity. Am J Obstet Gynecol 1979; 133: 915-22.
- McKenna D, Tharmaratnam S, Mahsud S, Dornan J. Ultrasonic evidence of placental calcification at 36 weeks' gestation: maternal and fetal outcomes. Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand 2005; 84: 7-10.
- 11. Mirza FG, Ghulmiyyah LM, Tamim H, Makki M, Jeha D, Nassar A. To ignore or not to ignore placental calcifications on prenatal ultrasound: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med 2018; 31: 797-804.
- 12. Wallingford MC, Benson C, Chavkin NW, Chin MT, Frasch MG. Placental vascular calcification and cardiovascular health: it is time to determine how much of maternal and offspring health is written in stone. Front Physiol 2018; 9: 1044-.
- Jamal A, Moshfeghi M, Moshfeghi S, Mohammadi N, Zarean E, Jahangiri N. Is preterm placental calcification related to adverse maternal and foetal outcome? J Obstetr Gynaecol 2017; 37: 605-9.
- 14. Chen KH, Seow KM, Chen LR. The role of preterm placental calcification on assessing risks of stillbirth. Placenta 2015; 36: 1039-44.
- 15. Chen KH, Chen LR, Lee YH. Exploring the relationship between preterm placental calcification and adverse maternal and fetal outcome. Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol 2011; 37: 328-34.
- Poggi SH, Bostrom KI, Demer LL, Skinner HC, Koos BJ. Placental calcification: a metastatic process? Placenta 2001; 22: 591-6.
- Emmrich P. [Pathology of the placenta. X. Syncytial proliferation, calcification, cysts, pigments and metabolic disorders]. Zentralblatt fur Pathologie. 1992; 138: 77-84.
- 18.Gomez LM, Anton L, Srinivas SK, Elovitz MA, Parry S. Effects of increased fetuin-A in human trophoblast cells and associated pregnancy outcomes. Am J Obstet Gynecol 2012; 207: 484.e1-8.
- 19.Sun ZL, Xie QY, Guo GL, Ma K, Huang YY. Serum fetuin-A levels in patients with cardiovascular disease: a meta-analysis. BioMed Res Int 2014; 2014: 691540.
- 20.Singh M, Sharma PK, Garg VK, Mondal SC, Singh AK, Kumar N. Role of fetuin-A in atherosclerosis associated with diabetic patients. J Pharm Pharmacol 2012; 64: 1703-8.
- 21.Kalabay L, Cseh K, Pajor A, et al. Correlation of maternal serum fetuin/alpha2-HS-glycoprotein concentration with maternal insulin resistance and anthropometric parameters of neonates in normal pregnancy and gestational diabetes. Eur J Endocrinol 2002; 147: 243-8.
- 22. Farhan S, Handisurya A, Todoric J, et al. Fetuin-A characteristics during and after pregnancy: result from a case control pilot study. Int J Endocrinol 2012; 2012: 896736.
- 23.Brix JM, Stingl H, Hollerl F, Schernthaner GH, Kopp HP, Schernthaner G. Elevated fetuin-A concentrations in morbid obesity decrease after dramatic weight loss. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2010; 95: 4877-81.
- 24. Wang H, Sama AE. Anti-inflammatory role of fetuin-A in injury and infection. Curr Mol Med 2012; 12: 625-33.
- 25.Oncu K, Yazgan Y, Tanoglu A, et al. Can serum fetuin-A be regarded as an inflammatory marker among patients with familial Mediterranean fever? Dig Dis Sci 2013; 58: 3212-7.
- 26. Johnstone ED, Sawicki G, Guilbert L, Winkler-Lowen B, Cadete VJ, Morrish DW. Differential proteomic analysis of highly purified placental cytotrophoblasts in pre-eclampsia demonstrates a state of increased oxidative stress and reduced cytotrophoblast antioxidant defense. Proteomics 2011; 11: 4077-84.

- 27. Molvarec A, Prohászka Z, Nagy B, et al. Association of increased serum heat shock protein 70 and C-reactive protein concentrations and decreased serum alpha(2)-HS glycoprotein concentration with the syndrome of hemolysis, elevated liver enzymes, and low platelet count. J Reprod Immunol 2007; 73: 172-9.
- 28.Miller JM, Jr., Brown HL, Kissling GA, Gabert HA. The relationship of placental grade to fetal size and growth at term. Am J Perinatol 1988; 5: 19-21.
- 29.Jung HH, Kim SW, Han H. Inflammation, mineral metabolism and progressive coronary artery calcification in patients on haemodialysis. Nephrol Dial Transplant 2006; 21: 1915-20.
- 30. Hermans MM, Brandenburg V, Ketteler M, et al. Study on the relationship of serum fetuin-A concentration with aortic stiffness in patients on dialysis. Nephrol Dial Transplant 2006; 21: 1293-9.

Overview of the angiogenic effect of probiotics (*Lactobacillus acidophilus* and *Lactobacillus rhamnosus*) at human umbilical vein endothelial cells

[®]Mualla Pınar Elçi¹, [®]Tuğba Fatsa², [®]Sinem Kaya³, [®]Nesli Ersoy⁴, [®]Merve Alpay⁵, [®]Taner Özgürtaş⁶

¹University of Health Sciences Gülhane Faculty of Medicine, Institute of Stem Cell Laboratory, Turkey

²University of Health Sciences Gülhane Health Institute, Molecular Laboratory, Turkey

³University of Health Sciences Gülhane Training and Research Hospital,, Medical Microbiology, Turkey

⁴Hacettepe University, Faculty of Health Sciences, Department of Nutrition and Dietetics, Turkey

⁵Düzce University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Medical Biochemistry, Turkey

⁶University of Health Sciences Gülhane Faculty of Medicine, Department of Medical Biochemistry, Turkey

Cite this article as: Elçi MP, Fatsa T, Kaya S, Ersoy N, Alpay M, Özgürtaş T. Overview of the angiogenic effect of probiotics (*Lactobacillus acidophilus* and *Lactobacillus rhamnosus*) at human umbilical vein endothelial cells. J Health Sci Med 2022; 5(3): 765-770.

ABSTRACT

Introduction: Angiogenesis (neovascularization), which means new vessel construction, is normal and physiologically, wound healing, embryogenesis, a necessary menstrual cycle it's a mechanism. When taken in appropriate amounts together with or separately with nutrients, mucosal and by regulating systemic immunity, ensuring nutritional and microbial balance in the intestines living nonpatogenic microorganisms that positively affect the health of the host it is called "probiotics". Lactic acid bacteria, the most probiotic microorganisms it constitutes its important group. Where probiotics have an effect on angiogenesis, and it is thought to help heal wounds through the road. With this research indicated that roles of *Lactobacillus acidophilus* and *Lactobacillus rhamnosus* on angiogenesis if present to demonstrate in vitro methods and the gene expression responsible for the formation of these effects it is intended to reveal.

Material and Method: This study is an experimental study conducted in vitro human umbilical cord vein endothelial cell (HUVEC) MTT test in cell culture with (3-[4,5-Dimethylthiazole-2-yl]-2,5-diphenyltetrazolium bromide; Thiazolyl blue) evaluation of viability and proliferation wound healing model, tube formation method and gene expression with real rime-polymer chain reaction (RT-PCR) methods of appointment were used.

Results: HUVEC cells *L. acidophilus* 10° CFU\ml after extract application statistical of mRNA expression of VEGF and FGF genes by control group 24 per hour it was found to increase significantly. *L. rhamnosus* 10 6 CFU\ml and 10° CFU\ml after application of extracts VEGF gene mRNA by control group 24 per hour its expression was found to be statistically significantly increased. Also *L. rhamnosus* extracts cell proliferation and migration of in vitro wound model it was found to increase statistically significantly.

Conclusion: In this study, in vitro *L. acidophilus* 10⁹ CFU\ml extract and 10⁶ CFU\ml and 10⁹ CFU\ml extract of *L. rhamnosus*, VEGF gene mRNA revealed to be effective on angiogenesis in HUVEC cells by increasing expression it is.

Keywords: Probiotics, angiogenesis, HUVEC, wound healing model

INTRODUCTION

Angiogenesis (neovascularization), which means new vessel construction, is actually a necessary mechanism for normal and physiological wound healing, embryogenesis, menstrual cycle. Angiogenesis is a very complicated process that progresses with endothelial cells proliferation, migration and new vessel formation. Angiogenesis as a dynamic event occurs as a result of releasing proteolytic enzymes to the environment in certain proportions, breaking the extracellular matrix and reconstructing the endothelial cells by migration from the microvascular field. Provided to all these processes, new capillaries and blood vessels are formed from the existing microvascular bed by proliferation of endothelial cells in the capillaries. The quality of all angiogenic interactions has not yet been clarified. The greatest possibility is that the balance between angiogenic stimulants and angiogenesis inhibitors ensures that the vascular components normally remain silent. Increased angiogenic stimuli and decreased angiogenesis inhibitors initiate angiogenesis (1).

Corresponding Author: Merve ALPAY, mervealpay86@yahoo.com


Stimulation of endothelial cells by some factors also initiates a series of events that cause angiogenesis. The occurrence of pathological angiogenesis is responsible for many diseases such as diabetic retinopathy, hemangioma, psoriasis and collagen tissue diseases, as well as tumor growth and metastasis development. In triggering angiogenesis, which plays an important role in cell proliferation; by gaining importance again, especially in the field of industrial microbiology, it has brought probiotic bacteria to the agenda, which take part in many biological processes such as wound healing. Although vascular endothelial cells in adult humans are typically at low turnover rate, they have the capacity to proliferate to form new blood vessels throughout their lifetime (2-3).

Angiogenic stimulation activates endothelial cells shortly after proteolytic destruction. Endothelial cells migrate to the extracellular matrix and multiply. The most effective angiogenic factor in this process is vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF). Angiogenesis begins with the formation of hemostatic buffer with the release of PDGF, TGF- β and FGF from platelets. VEGF is released in combination with other cytokines. Thus, neovascularization begins by increasing endothelial cells. When the angiogenesis process progresses, a rich vascular network forms from the healthy vessels to the wound area. The oxygen levels in the tissues regulate the angiogenesis process by interacting with oxygen proteins that regulate the transcription of angiogenic and anti-angiogenic genes.

Wound healing is a natural physiological process and microflora is one of the important factors that can affect this process both negatively and positively. In the case of wounds or burns, bacterial colonization occurs due to disruptions in the skin barrier and an infection-prone condition occurs. The wound is a stressful condition and causes the release of neuroendocrine and stressors such as cortisol, epinephrine, norepinephrine, acetylcholine, catectatin, substant P, a-melanotropin. These molecules increase the risk of infection and complicate wound healing (4-5).

Probiotics are thought to be effective in the expression of various growth factors such as ornithine decarboxylase (ODC), VEGF, fibroblast growth factor (FGF), B-cell lymphoma 2 (Bcl-2) and epidermal growth factor receptor (EGF receptor) by affecting these mechanisms. These molecules activate mechanisms such as chemotaxis, cell proliferation, angiogenesis, extracellular matrix deposition and reconstruction (6-9).

Probiotic bacteria can survive in the gastrointestinal environment without being damaged. When taken with food, probiotics can maintain up to 1-4 hours in an stomach with an pH between 2.0 and 3.0 in an enzymatic environment. Probiotic bacteria can grow in the mucous substance secreted from the mucosa. Can use mucin in this secretion as an energy source (10-12). *L. acidophilus* is naturally present in the human intestinal microflora. These microorganisms, which have a facultative anaerobic feature, develop in the colonic intestinal epithelial tissue they form, and prevent them from adhering to the surface and show antagonistic effect. In particular, dairy products containing *L. acidophilus* have been found to decrease serum cholesterol levels and increase antibody responses, and have effects to increase the number of fecal lactobacilli (13-16).

Lactobacillus rhamnosus is a type of beneficial bacteria that produces L (+) lactic acid and ethanol in an oxygenfree environment, is naturally found in the human intestinal flora, resistant to low pH environments, and can attach to the wall of the gastrointestinal tract. Some studies show that *L. rhamnosus* can stimulate natural barrier mechanisms in patients with atopic dermatitis and food allergy and can be an effective therapy method in the treatment of diseases such as food allergy (17,18).

The aim of our study is to show the effects of lactic acid bacteria commonly used in the field of industrial microbiology such as *Lactobacillus acidophilus* and *Lactobacillus rhamnosus* in vitro methods and to analyze the gene expressions responsible for the occurrence of these effects.

MATERIAL AND METHOD

Ethics committee approval is not required for cell culture research in preclinical studies. All procedures were performed adhered to the ethical rules and principles of the Helsinki Declaration.

Cell Culture

HUVEC cell line (supplied by ATCC) was used and in vitro analysis were performed at vascular biology lab in the study. HUVEC is in stem cell structure, it has the basic features of vascular endothelial cells, and are frequently used in angiogenesis studies the reason for preferred.

The medium for HUVEC cells was prepared as 90% DMEM (L-glutamine), 10% FBS. Cells were produced in 25 cm² and 75 cm² flasks containing this nutrient medium by keeping them in an incubator with a 5% CO₂, 95% air mixture and humidity inside the 37° C and routine passage 3 times a week cell model in studies related to angiogenesis.

After the cells were evaluated cytotoxicly with the MTT test, it was decided to study the bacterial extracts with the most appropriate proliferation property on HUVEC cells in the wound model. In order to evaluate the effects on wound healing, 4 test groups and a control group were created for HUVEC cells.

Would Healing Assay

Petri dishes (35 mm, high), which are physically suitable for cell adhesion and proliferation, with a highly hydrophobic unbedded surface, have used. In addition, a silicone structure was placed on the graders at the base of these flasks in order to mimic the shape of the wound edges just before cultured the cells. After the cells were expected to completely cover the bottom of the wells, the previously placed silicone structures were carefully removed. Then, *Lactobacillus acidophilus* and *Lactobacillus rhamnosus* were treated which has determined optimum concentrations and 0, 8, 24 h incubation period. In the in vitro mimic wound healing model, the effects of bacteria species on cellular activities were compared with the control group.

Tube Formation Model

M-Slide Angiogenesis and M-Plate Angiogenesis Tube Formation plates, which were placed in a 37°C incubator with BD Matrigel gel solution 12 hours before, were removed from the incubator and 10 microliter gel solution was added to each in middle of well. Bacterial extracts and cell suspensions were prepared and cultivated on the matrigel stabilized in the wells. Within 12-24 hours, the results were visualized by phase contrast microscope and scoring was taken considering the tube length, number and density.

Gene Expression by RT-PCR

In order to perform gene expression study mRNA molecule (QIAGEN Cat.No.74104 RNeasy Mini Kit) from each cell application group, the Transcriptor First Strand cDNA synthesis kit (ROCHE-Germany) was used primarily for obtaining cDNA. Quantitative RT-PCR method followed by cDNA synthesis used Light Cycler FastStart DNA Master SYBR Green I kit (Roche-Germany) in gene expression analysis. "Betaactin" gene was studied as a reference gene. Target mRNA normalization rates were determined using the Lightcycler software 4.0 program version. Normalization rates were calculated automatically from the amplification curves of the program samples. ROCHE Lightcycler 480 device was used in the study. Statistical evaluations were made using target mRNA primers, FGF, VEGF, whose expression level want to be measured.

RESULTS

MTT cell viability test was performed to determine the effect of different concentrations $(10^6-10^9 \text{ CFU}\text{ml})$ of bacterial extras on the HUVEC cell line. Significant results were obtained after 24-hour incubation of bacterial extras on the HUVEC cell line. Changing cell viability effects at different concentrations and different incubation points are shown in **Figure 1**.



Figure 1. MTT cytotoxic assay of *L. acidophilus* and *L. rhamnosus* on HUVEC cells (different time point)

According to datas, 10° of *L. acidophilus* concentration had more effective. Compared to *Lactobacillus acidophilus*, *L. rhamnosus* has more dominant role on endothelial cell functions.

Images of the cell culture wound model created with *L. acidophilus* 10⁹ CFU/ml extract were taken under the inverted microscope at 0, 8, and 24 hours. No statistically significant effect on cell migration compared to the control group. However, *L. rhamnosus* 10⁹ CFU/ml extract were taken under an inverted microscope at 0, 8 hours and observed that it increased the cell migration statistically significantly compared to the control group and closed the wound model at 8 hour time point (**Figure 2**).



Figure 2. Wound healing cell migration rate on HUVEC cells

Genes involved in angiogenesis and wound healing in HUVEC cells were evaluated by RT-PCR method. While *L. acidophilus* 10⁶ did not show a significant effect at the dose, in the 10⁹ CFU/ml group, 5 times more gene expression was observed among VEGF gene expressions compared to the control group, and FGF gene expression increased 2-fold in this group (**Table 1**). For *L. rhamnosus* 10⁹ CFU/ml group, there was a statistically significant difference in VEGF gene expression 2 times more than in the control group, but no statistically significant difference was found for FGF gene expression.

Table 1. RT-PCR results of VEGF and FGF on Lactobacillusapplication group								
	Control group	<i>L.</i> acidophilus 10 ⁶	p Value	<i>L.</i> acidophilus 10°	p Value			
VEGF	$0.105 {\pm} 0.001$	0.125 ± 0.022	p>0.05	$0.525 {\pm} 0.021$	p<0.05			
FGF	0.040 ± 0.012	0.040 ± 0.223	p>0.05	0.095 ± 0.011	p<0.05			
	Control group	L. rhamnosus 10 ⁶	p Value	L. rhamnosus 10 ⁹	p Value			
VEGF	$0.105 {\pm} 0.001$	0.250 ± 0.022	p<0.05	0.019 ± 0.021	p<0.05			
FGF	0.040 ± 0.012	0.040 ± 0.012	p>0.05	0.045 ± 0.013	p>0.05			

The effect of *L. acidophilus* and *L. rhamnosus* bacteria on tube formation was investigated by using tube formation analysis (Wimasis) on matrigel, which was stabilized in the wells by preparing bacterial extracts and cell suspensions. It could not determined tube formation effect that *L. acidophilus* bacteria, which applied 106 CFU/ml dose. While a slight effect of *L. rhamnosus* bacteria administered 10^6 CFU/ml dose was observed on tube formation, a statistically significant difference was found for *L. acidophilus* and *L. rhamnosus* bacteria at 109 CFU/ml dose (**Figure 3**)



Figure 1. MTT cytotoxic assay of *L. acidophilus* and *L. rhamnosus* on HUVEC cells (different time point)

DISCUSSION

In recent studies in the field of angiogenesis and wound healing, it is aimed to find new molecules that increase cell proliferation, support migration and regulate cellular activities. In this respect, biological molecules, namely probiotics, which do not show cytotoxic properties, do not damage other organs and systems of the body, come to the fore. Live non-pathogenic microorganisms that provide microbial balance in the intestines and positively affect the health of the host in this way by regulating mucosal and systemic immunity when taken together with the nutrients or separately, are called "probiotic" (19-21). According to the increasing number of scientific research results, it is pointed out that living microorganisms can be used in the prevention and even treatment of some diseases. In this context, the importance of probiotics is increasing day by day. It has been proven that human and animal model studies that probiotics have many beneficial effects in the organism, especially in the GI system. Therefore, the place of probiotic bacteria has become indisputable in the treatment of a healthy life and diseases (22,23).

Lactobacillus and *Bifidobacterium* are the most important and most frequently used group of probiotic cultures. Factors such as delivery method, antibiotic use, age, nutrition, genetic factors, stress and pregnancy affect the richness of microflora. Because probiotics are sensitive to factors such as pH, gastric and pancreatic fluids, bile, and intestinal mucosa, studies are often geared towards stabilizing bacteria. It is thought that probiotics may also have an effect on angiogenesis and in this way can help wound healing (24).

In our study, the effect of probiotics on migration on HUVEC cells was investigated by in vitro wound model. According to the studies in the literature, Halper et al. (25) reported that Lactobacillus supernatants have angiogenesis and wound healing properties in vitro and in vivo. In another study, L. acidophilus was reported to form reepithelialization in HaCaT cells. According to the study of Eunok et al. (26) probiotic B.polyfermenticus increases migration and proliferation on endothelial cells. Studies using L. acidophilus encapsulated with ginger extract have shown that gastric ulcer heals in rats without signs of mucosal damage. In our study, it was found that L. rhamnosus 106 CFU\ml and 109 CFU\ml extracts significantly increased cell proliferation and migration compared to the control group. While the proliferative effect of L. acidophilus extracts in HUVEC cells was observed, no effect on migration was observed in the in vitro wound model (27). In a study, it was reported that probiotic B. polyfermenticus is effective in tube formation in human intestinal endothelial cells. Besides our study, a statistically significant difference was found in tube formation at 18 hours after application of L. acidophilus 10° CFU\ml and L. rhamnosus 10° CFU\ml extracts to HUVEC cells. These results are also consistent with the findings of VEGF and FGF gene expression at the final stage of the study (28,29).

VEGF is an effective substance, from early vascular development to tube formation. After this stage, angiopoietin (Ang) interferes with the endothelium for vascular stabilization, collects periendothelial cells and vascular stabilization is achieved. In the literature, *L. acidophilus* has been shown to significantly accelerate wound healing and provide a significant increase in collagen content, which is one of the markers that show wound healing. In a study, it has been reported that probiotic culture [*Lactobacillus acidophilus*, bulgaricus, casei, plantarum, Bifidobacteria breve, infantis, longum and Streptococcus], which increase the angiogenesis by VEGF, have a statistically positive effect on wound healing in gastric ulcers (30).

It is stated that probiotics act on angiogenesis in the inflammatory process by VEGF receptor signaling in the gastrointestinal tract. By angiogenesis, VEGF stimulates new microvesel formation and granule formation. Simulation of angiogenesis has a wound healing effect. In our study, the fact that VEGF and FGF genes expressing a role in angiogenesis in the experimental group where *L. acidophilus* 10⁹ CFU\ml extract was applied to HUVEC cells compared to the control group supports the literature findings (31-33).

Although many studies have been conducted on probiotics for the treatment of gastrointestinal infections and cancer prevention, the results of these studies cannot be compared due to differences in many factors such as the type of probiotic microorganism used, its dosage, or whether the study was in vitro or in vivo. There are also significant differences between the in vitro effects of two different *L. acidophilus* and *L. rhamnosus* probiotic microorganisms we use. In addition, this shows that not only the variety but also the concentration changes applied may affect the results.

CONCLUSION

These findings support that probiotic microorganisms may differ depending on the type and nature. It is thought that it would be beneficial to support the data in this area and to reach new data by using different probiotics. It is also considered that it would be appropriate to try a variety of combinations including probiotics, prebiotics or their relationships with each other. After our research, realized that evaluate the probiotic effect of angiogenesis more detaily, it must be treated with other strains of *Lactobacillus*. The results of this in vitro study should be also shown in vivo and must be enriched with clinical applications.

Where the effects of probiotics on angiogenesis and human health are examined, we think that the results will provide an important data for the more comprehensive and more detailed studies to be conducted. In addition, human studies are currently underway that strongly support the use of probiotics. After all these studies, it seems possible to benefit from probiotics in the diagnosis and treatment of diseases in the near future.

ETHICAL DECLARATIONS

Ethics Committee Approval: No interventional procedure was performed with the method and study protocol infrastructure of the study. Due to the absence of clinical studies, ethics committee approval is not required for cell culture research in invitro study.

Referee Evaluation Process: Externally peer-reviewed.

Conflict of Interest: The authors have no conflicts of interest for declaration.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

Author Contributions: All of the authors of this article declare that they have all participated manuscript design, metod execution, and analysis of the paper, that they have written parts and approved the final version.

REFERENCES

- 1. Nie D, Tang K, Diglio C, Honn KV. Eicosanoid regulation of angiogenesis: role of endothelial arachidonate 12-lipoxygenase. Blood 2000; 95: 2304-11.
- 2. Dharmani P, Simone CD, Chadee K. The probiotic mixture VSL# 3 accelerates gastric ulcer healing by stimulating vascular endothelial growth factor. Plos One 2013; 8: 58671.
- Ersoy N, Açıkgöz A, Özgürtaş T. Probiyotikler ve yara iyileşme sürecine etkileri: anjiyogenez üzerine etki mekanizması. J Nutr Diet 2018; 46: 303-10.
- 4. El-Ghazely M, Mahmoud WH, Atia MA, Eldip EM. Effect of probiotic administration in the therapy of pediatric thermal burn. Ann Burns Fire Disasters 2016; 29: 268.
- Ashoori Y, Mohkam M, Heidari R. Development and in vivo characterization of probiotic lysate-treated chitosan nanogel as a novel biocompatible formulation for wound healing. Biomed Res Int 2020: 8868618.
- Kerry RG, Patra RJ, Gouda S, Park Y, Shin H, Das G. Benefaction of probiotics for human health: A review. J Food Drug Anal 2018; 26: 927-39.
- 7. Tsiouris CG, Kelesi M, Vasilopoulos G, Kalemikerakis J, Papageorgiou EG. The efficacy of probiotics as pharmacological treatment of cutaneous wounds: meta-analysis of animal studies. Eur J Pharm Sci 2017. 104: 230-9.
- 8. Tsiouris CG, Tsiouri MG. Human microflora, probiotics and wound healing. Wound Medicine 2017. 19: 33-38.
- 9. Fuller R. Probiotic in man and animals. J Appl Bacteriol 1989; 66: 131-9.
- 10.Oh S, Kim SH, Worobo RW. Characterization and purification of a bacteriocin produced by a potential probiotic culture, *Lactobacillus acidophilus* 30SC. J Dairy Sci 2000; 83: 2747-52.
- 11. Gürsoy O, Kınık Ö, Gönen İ. Probiyotikler ve gastrointestinal sağlığa etkileri. Türk Biyoloji Cemiyeti Derg 2005: 136-48.
- 12. Parvez S, Malik KA, Kang SA, Kim HY. Probiotics and their fermented food products are beneficial for health. J Appl Microbiol 2006; 100: 1171-85.

- 13. Vinderola CG, Prosello W, Ghiberto TD, Reinheimer JA. Viability of probiotic (*Bifidobacterium*, *Lactobacillus acidophilus* and *Lactobacillus casei*) and nonprobiotic microflora in Argentinian Fresco cheese. J Dairy Sci 2000; 83: 1905-11.
- 14.Hotel AC, Cordoba AJ, et al. Health and nutritional properties of probiotics in food including powder milk with live lactic acid bacteria. Prevention 2001; 5: 1-10.
- 15.Saarela M, Mogensen G, Fondén R, Mättö J, Sandholm T. Probiotic bacteria: safety, functional and technological properties. J Biotechnol 2000; 84: 197-215.
- Reid G, Burton J. Use of *Lactobacillus* to prevent infection by pathogenic bacteria. Microbes Infect 2002; 4: 319-24.
- 17.Gopal PK., Sullivan P, Smart J. Utilisation of galactooligosaccharides as selective substrates for growth by lactic acid bacteria including *Bifidobacterium* lactis DR10 and *Lactobacillus rhamnosus* DR20. International Dairy Journal 2001; 11: 19-25.
- 18.Goldin BR, Gorbach SL, Saxelin M, Barakat S, Gualtieri L, Salminen S. Survival of *Lactobacillus* species (strain GG) in human gastrointestinal tract. Dig Dis Sci 1992; 37: 121-8.
- 19.19. Teuber M, Schwarz F, Meile L. Acquired antibiotic resistance in lactic acid bacteria from food. Antonie Van Leeuwenhoek 1999; 76: 115-37.
- 20.Mathur S, Singh R. Antibiotic resistance in food lactic acid bacteria—a review. Int J Food Microbiol 2005; 105: 281-95.
- 21.D'Aimmo MR, Modesto M, Biavati B. Antibiotic resistance of lactic acid bacteria and *Bifidobacterium* spp. isolated from dairy and pharmaceutical products. Int J Food Microbiol 2007; 115: 35-42.
- 22. Avonts L, Uytven EV, De Vuyst L. Cell growth and bacteriocin production of probiotic *Lactobacillus* strains in different media. International Dairy Journal 2004; 14: 947-55.
- 23.González F, Guerrero C, Quijano G. The benefits of probiotics on human health. J Microbial Biochem Technol 2011; 1: 1948-5948
- 24.Qinghui Mu, Vincent J, Luo X. Role of *Lactobacillus* reuteri in Human Health and Diseases. Front. Microbiol 2018.
- Halper J, Leshin LS, Lewis SJ, Li W. Wound healing and angiogenic properties of supernatants from *Lactobacillus* cultures. Exp Biol Med 2003; 228: 1329-37.
- 26.Elliott SN, Buret A, McKnight W, Miller M, John L. Wallace Bacteria rapidly colonize and modulate healing of gastric ulcers in rats. Am J Physiol 1998; 275: 425-32.
- 27.Lombardi F, Palumbo P, Mattei A, et al. Soluble fraction from lysates of selected probiotic strains differently influences reepithelialization of HaCaT scratched monolayer through a mechanism involving nitric oxide synthase 2. Biomolecules 2019; 9: 756.
- 28. Sinha A, Sagar S, Madhumathy M, Osborne W. Probiotic bacteria in wound healing; an in-vivo study. Iranian J Biotech 2019; 17: 2188.
- 29.Singh PK, Kaur P. Synbiotic (probiotic and ginger extract) loaded floating beads: a novel therapeutic option in an experimental paradigm of gastric ulcer. J Pharm Pharmacol 2012; 64: 207-17.
- 30.Gudadappanavar AM, Hombal PR, Timashetti SS, Javali SB. Influence of *Lactobacillus acidophilus* and *Lactobacillus* plantarum on wound healing in male Wistar rats-an experimental study. Int J App Basic Med Res 2017; 7: 233.
- 31.Barrientos S, Stojadinovic O, Golinko MS, Brem H, Tomic M. Growth factors and cytokines in wound healing. Wound Repair Regen 2008; 16: 585-601.
- 32. Zahedi F, Nasrabadi M, Tajabadi M, Aboutalebi H. Comparison of the effects of *Lactobacillus brevis* and *Lactobacillus plantarum* on cutaneous wound healing in rats. African J Microbiol Res 2011; 5: 4226-33.
- 33.Giorgetti G, Brandimarte G, Fabiocchi F. Interactions between innate immunity, microbiota, and probiotics. J Immunol Res 2015: 501361.

Correlation of vitamin D level with the clinical-radiological severity of COVID-19 in geriatric patients

DHüsnü Baykal, DAyşe Füsun Ülger

Atatürk Chest Diseases and Thoracic Surgery Training and Research Hospital, Department of Chest Diseases, Ankara, Turkey

Cite this article as: Baykal H, Ülger AF. Correlation of vitamin D level with the clinical-radiological severity of COVID-19 in geriatric patients. J Health Sci Med 2022; 5(3): 771-777.

ABSTRACT

Objective: This study was planned to investigate the effect of 25-OH-Vitamin D (Vit D) deficiency on clinical and radiological findings of coronavirus disease-2019 (COVID-19) in geriatric patients hospitalized due to COVID-19.

Material and Method: Seventy-five patients who were treated for COVID-19 were reviewed retrospectively, and grouped in relation with their ages [(1) 65-74, (2) 75-84, (3) >84 years] and the severity of Vit D deficiency [(1) severe deficiency: <10 ng/ mL, (2) moderate deficiency: 10-20 ng/mL, (3) minor deficiency: 21-30 ng/mL, (4) normal: >30 ng/mL]. The complaints on admission, comorbidities, intensive care unit (ICU) need, length of hospital stay, laboratory data, and mortality of the ones who had and did not have Vit D replacement (n=18/75) were recorded. The patients were analyzed for COVID-19 severity using radiological and clinical markers.

Results: Moderate Vit D deficiency (10-20 ng/mL) was frequently detected. When the disease severity and Vit D levels were analyzed, it was found that the disease was more severe (46.6%) in the Vit D <10 ng/ml group, and milder (37.5%) in the >30 ng/ml group, but there was no statistically significant difference among the groups. Low or high Vit D levels did not show any significant correlations with the severity of pneumonia or the thorax CT findings. The intensive care unit (ICU) admission rate was significantly lower in those who had Vit D replacement (p<0.001).

Conclusion: The ICU admission rate was lower in patients who had Vit D replacement, however, serum Vit D concentrations were not correlated with COVID-19 severity or mortality risk.

Keywords: COVID-19, vitamin D, pneumonia, elderly, intensive care unit

INTRODUCTION

Individuals of all ages have been affected by the COVID-19 pandemic worldwide; however, the COVID-19-related mortality rate is significantly higher in the elderly. Several researchers investigated potential models to reduce infection rates and reported various molecules, including Vit D (1). A European study reported an inverse correlation between serum Vit D levels and the number of COVID-19 cases and mortality, however, another study reported the correlation between Vit D supplementation with less severe disease and a lower mortality rate in the elderly hospitalized patients (2,3).

The European Food Safety Authority (EFSA) has determined that six vitamins are important for maintaining a healthy immune system: vitamins D, C, A, ß-carotene, and B vitamins (B6, folate, and B12) (4).

Vit D plays an important role in the immune system: Vit D reduces the risk of microbial and viral infections by maintaining cellular physical defense and enhancing cellular immune responses (5,6).

Vit D contributes to humoral defense and has a regulatory role in proinflammatory cytokine production. Vit D can reduce cytokine storm and improve cellular immunity in severe COVID-19 patients (7-9).

Considering the hyper-inflammatory immune response induced by COVID-19, Vit D regulates vital antiinflammatory mediators, and current data suggest that patients with Vit D deficiency may be more susceptible to being infected by SARS-CoV-2, and they may more likely develop severe symptoms (10). The high mortality rates observed in the elderly care facilities, particularly in the Northern countries with little exposure to sunlight, suggest that Vit D deficiency increases the severity of COVID-19 (11).

Corresponding Author: Hüsnü Baykal, drhusnubaykal@hotmail.com



Old age is an independent risk factor for Vit D deficiency (12). A recent study reported that although Vit D deficiency is common in older people, the difference between older and oldest adults is negligible. Therefore, all seniors may carry a high risk for Vit D deficiency and should have Vit D supplementation regardless of their age (13).

COVID-19 infection affects all age groups, but the elderly appear to be more severely affected. Cytokine storm and high pro-inflammatory cytokine release appear to be an important pathophysiological mechanisms in the elderly COVID-19 patients (14).

In 2020, Ebadi and Montano-Loza reported that Vit D could suppress the expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines including IL-1 α , IL-1 β , and TNF- α , found Vit D deficiency in 50% of COVID-19 cases and approximately 70% of the ones who died due to COVID-19 (15).

Ilie et al. investigated the relationship of mean Vit D levels with morbidity and mortality of COVID-19 in 20 European countries and reported negative correlations of Vit D levels (mean 56 mmol/L) with the number and mortality of COVID-19 cases (2).

A study on nutritional status in COVID-19 patients reported that Vit D deficiency was the most common deficiency. The mean Vit D level was reported as 15.73 ng/ dl, and there was severe deficiency (≤ 10 ng/dl) in 24% of the patients. 100% of mechanically ventilated COVID-19 patients had Vit D deficiency (16). It was reported that the severity of Vit D deficiency was correlated with the prognosis of COVID-19 (relative risk 1.59 if <30 ng/mL) and risk of death (relative risk 1.56) (17,18). In another study, it was reported that the 14-day mortality rate was 31.3% in older adults who did not have Vit D supplements (3).

Vit D deficiency appears to be correlated with infection severity and mortality. However, findings cannot be generalized, and there is a need for randomized controlled trials (19).

In a study on COVID-19 patients who had and did not have Vit D replacements, only 1 patient (2.7%) died in the Vit D replacement group while 24 patients (14.1%) died in the non-replacement group (p=0.038). It has been reported that a single dose of 300,000 IU Vit D may be useful in the treatment of COVID-19 (20). Unlikely, another study reported that there was no link between serum Vit D concentrations and the risk of severe COVID-19 infection or death (21).

We investigated the effect of the severity of Vit D deficiency and high dose replacement therapy on the clinical and radiological findings of COVID-19 in geriatric patients hospitalized with the diagnosis of COVID-19.

MATERIAL AND METHOD

The ethics committee approval for this study was obtained by Health Science University Keçiören Education and Training Hospital Clinical Studies Ethics Board (Date: 28/12/2021, Decision No: 2012-KAEK-15/2440). All procedures were carried out in accordance with the ethical rules and the principles of the Declaration of Helsinki.

The data of the elder patients (>65 years old) with a confirmed diagnosis of COVID-19 [clinical-radiological diagnosis or with polymerase chain reaction (PCR)] and hospitalized between April 01, 2020, and March 01, 2021, were reviewed retrospectively from the electronic database of our hospital. The age groups were determined as (1) 65-74 years, (2) 75-84 years, and (3) >84 years. There were 75 patients (28 women and 47 men) included in the study. Whether the patients received Vit D replacement during the hospitalization period, their initial symptoms, comorbid diseases, hospital admission, intensive care unit (ICU) admission, length of hospital stay, mortality status, and their laboratory and radiological data were obtained from the electronic database.

The inclusion criteria were being ≥ 65 years old and the presence of measured Vit D levels. The ones who were younger than 65 years old and the ones who did not have Vit D level measurements were excluded.

Laboratory Data

Serum Vit D, ferritin, CRP, LDH, D-dimer, and troponin levels of the patients hospitalized for COVID-19, measured on the day of hospitalization, were recorded (previous Vit D supplementation status was unknown). The patients who had and did not have 300,000 IU Vit D replacement during hospitalization were determined. The severity of Vit D deficiency was categorized as; (1) severe Vit D deficiency: <10 ng/mL, (2) moderate deficiency: 10-20 ng/mL, (3) minor deficiency: 21-30 ng/ mL, (4) normal: >30 ng/mL (22,23).

Clinical evaluation of COVID-19 severity was classified into mild, moderate, severe, or critical (WHO 2020. "Clinical management of COVID-19) [mild disease: Symptomatic patients meeting the case definition for COVID-19 without evidence of viral pneumonia or hypoxia, moderate disease: clinical signs of pneumonia (fever, cough, dyspnea, fast breathing) but no signs of severe pneumonia, including SpO₂ ≥90% on room air, severe disease: with clinical signs of pneumonia (fever, cough, dyspnea, fast breathing) plus one of the following: respiratory rate >30 breaths/min; severe respiratory distress; or SpO₂ <90% on room air, critical disease: respiratory failure not fully explained by cardiac failure or fluid overload. The patients admitted to the second or tertiary intensive care units, requiring high flow oxygen (HFO) or non-invasive/invasive mechanical ventilation (NIMV/IMV) were regarded to have critical disease].

Radiological Evaluation

Postero-anterior chest X-rays (CXR) and thorax computerized tomography (CT) performed at the first admission to the hospital were examined. Radiologic classification on high-resolution CT (HRCT) (typical, indeterminate, atypical, negative for pneumonia) and CXR grading of lung involvement (mild, moderate, severe) (RSNA Chest CT/ CXR findings related to COVID-19) were recorded (24).

Statistical Analysis

For the distribution of all numerical values, the Kolmogorov-Smirnov or Shapiro-Wilk test, skewnesskurtosis values, coefficient of variation, histogram, and detrended plot graphs were examined. Categorical data were analyzed with Chi-square or Fisher test, as appropriate. Categorical data were displayed as n / %. In our study group, 65-74-year-old, 75-84-year-old, and ≥85 years old groups were analyzed with ANOVA test, according to the Vit D levels. The relationship between gender and Vit D level was analyzed with Student's t-test. In our study group, the correlation between Vit D levels and COVID-19 severity (mild, moderate, severe, critical) was analyzed with an ANOVA test. Similarly, analyses of the numerical values in more than two groups were performed with Anova or the Kruskal Wallis tests, as appropriate. All analyses were performed using SPSS version 22. P values smaller than 0.05 were considered statistically significant.

RESULTS

There were 75 patients in total; 37.3% (n=28) were females and 62.7% (n=47) were males. Among the age groups, the 65-74-year-old age group comprised 48.0% (n=36) of all patients, and it was the most crowded group (Table 1). Each patient had at least one comorbid disease (%90, n=68). The most common comorbidity in women was cardiovascular disease (CVD) in 92% (n=26), and diabetes mellitus (DM) in 50% (n=14) of the females. In men, CVD was present in 78% (n=34), DM in 34% (n=14); non-pulmonary cancer 19% (n=8) and cerebrovascular disease (CVD) 21% (n=9) were also more common in men (not shown in the **Table**).

Dyspnea was present in 91.6% (n=31), 83.8% (n=26) and 87.7% (n=7), cough in 38.8% (n=14), 29% (n=9) and 62.5% (n=5), and fever was seen in 47.2% (n=17), 29% (n=9) and 12.5% (n=1) of the age groups, respectively. Dyspnea was more frequent in patients who needed ICU care (93.1%) (n=41) and in the ones who died (94.2%) (n=33), and fever was more frequent in those who did not need ICU care (41.9%) (n=13) and in those who survived (35.9%) (n=14), but there was no statistically significant difference among the groups (not shown in

the **Table**). Mortality (47.2% (n=17), 46.6% (n=14), 50% (n=4), respectively) and ICU admission [(61.1% (n=22), 58% (n=18), and 50% (n=4)], respectively) were similar in the age groups studied, and no statistically significant correlations were found (not shown in **Table**).

Table 1. The distribution of the age groups and genders						
	Number (n)	Percent (%)				
Gender						
Female	28	37.33				
Male	47	62.67				
Age (years)						
65-74	36	48.00				
75-84	31	41.33				
85+	8	10.67				

Overall, the Vit D levels were low in all age groups, and the Vit D level did not significantly decrease in parallel to aging. Moderate Vit D deficiency (10-20 ng/mL) was frequently detected. The mean Vit D was level 22.25±20.1 ng/mL (median: 16.46 ng/mL) in the 65-74-year-old age group, but the levels were not significantly different among the age groups. The mean Vit D levels were similar in males and females showing moderate Vit D deficiency, however, there was no statistically significant difference (**Table 2**).

Table 2. Vitamin D levels by age group and gender							
	Vitamin D levels (ng/ml)						
	Mean	Median	р				
Age (years)			0.095				
65-74	22.25 ± 20.1	16.46					
75-84	14.78 ± 9.73	11.33					
85+	18.35 ± 11.16	16.72					
Gender			0.322				
Female	$18.94{\pm}20.64$	12.15					
Male	18.63±12.58	15.74					

When the disease severity and Vit D levels were analyzed, it was found that the disease was more severe (46.6%) (n=14) in the Vit D <10 ng/ml group, and milder (37.5%) (n=3) in the >30 ng/ml group, but there was no statistically significant difference among the groups. Due to the small number of patients in the groups, disease severity and Vit D levels data were divided into two subgroups to increase the number of patients and analyzed with Fisher's exact test. No statistical significance was found between the groups (**Table 3**).

Vit D level groups did not show any statistically significant correlations with the severity of pneumonia or the thorax CT findings. CXR, chest CT findings, and Vit D level data were divided into two subgroups and analyzed with Fisher's exact test. No statistical significance was found between the groups (**Table 4**).

Table 3. The clinical severity of COVID-19 and the Vitamin D levels							
	Vitamin	D levels (n	g/ml)		p *		
Clinical stage	0-10 ng/ml (%)	10-20 ng/ml (%)	20-30 ng/ml (%)	>30 ng/ml (%)			
Mild n (%)	0 (0)	4 (50)	1 (12.5)	3 (37.5)			
Moderate n (%)	2 (16.67)	8 (66.67)	2 (16.67)	0 (0)	0.083		
Severe n(%)	14 (46.67)	8 (26.67)	5 (16.67)	3 (10)			
Critical n(%)	7 (28)	12 (48)	3 (12)	3 (12)			
	Vitamin	D levels (n	g/ml)		p **		
Clinical stage	<20r	ng/m	>20r	ng/m			
	n	%	n	%			
Mild- Moderate	14	25.45	6	30.00	0,452		
Severe- Critical	41	74.55	14	70.00			
*Chi-square test *	*Fisher test ***	WHO 2020. "C	linical manager	ment of COVII)-19.		

grouped as mild, moderate, severe, or critical)

Table 4. Vitamin D level groups, pneumonia severity, and chest CTfindings							
Vitamin D levels (ng/	/ml)				p value*		
Chest X-ray pneumonia severity	0-10	10-20	20-30	30+	0.265		
Normal n(%)	1(33.33)	0(0)	1(33.33)	1(33.33)			
Mild n (%)	3(12)	16(64)	4(16)	2(8)			
Moderate n(%)	14(48.28)	9(31.03)	2(6.9)	4(13.79)			
Severe n (%)	5(27.78)	7(38.89)	4(22.22)	2(11.11)			
Chest CT findings							
Typical n (%)	15(30)	23(46)	7 (14)	5(10)			
Indeterminate n (%)	3 (60)	2(40)	0 (0)	0(0)	0.265		
Atypical n (%)	1(16.67)	2(33.33)	1(16.67)	2(33.33)			
Negative n (%)	0 (0)	1(100)	0 (0)	0(0)			
Chest X-ray	Vit	nl)	p value*				
pneumonia	<20 n	ıg/m	> 20 1	ng/m			
severity	n	%	n	%			
Normal- Mild	20	36.36	8	40.00	0.488		
Moderate- Severe	35	63.64	12	60.00			
	Vit	amin D le	evels (ng/n	nl)	p value**		
Chest CT	< 20 r	ng/m	> 20 1	ng/m			
lillalings	n	%	n	%			
Typical- Indeterminate	43	78.18	12	60.00	0.102		
Atypical- Negative	12	21.82	8	40.00			

*Chi-square test; **Fisher test; CT, Computerized tomography

Vit D groups did not show any statistically significant correlations with the lymphocyte or eosinophil counts, or CRP, D-dimer, ferritin, and troponin levels (not presented in the **Table**).

Vit D levels did not have any statistically significant correlations with mortality or ICU admission. ICU admission, mortality, and Vit D level data were divided into two subgroups and analyzed using Fisher's exact test. No statistical significance was found between the groups (**Table 5**).

Table 5. Vitamin D levels, ICU admission, and mortality								
		Vit	Vitamin D levels (ng/ml)					
		0-10	10-20	20-30	30+	P		
ICU	Not admitted	5(16.13)	16 (51.61)	6(19.35)	4(12.9)	0.141		
n(%)	Admitted	18(40.91)	16(36.36)	5(11.36)	5(11.36)			
Mortality	Died	12(34.29)	14(40)	5(14.29)	4(11.43)	0.956		
n(%)	Survived	11(28.21)	17(43.59)	6(15.38)	5(12.82)			
	. 1	Vi	p**					
ICU admis	ssion, and	<20ng/m	>20ng/m					
litortailty		n	%	n	%			
ICU		26	48.15	9	45.00	0,509		
Mortality		28	51.85	11	55.00			
*Chi-square test **Fisher test, ICU: Intensive care unit								

The days of hospitalization were determined as 13.7 days, 14.5 days, 11.3 days, and 10.2 days, in the Vit D level groups <10 ng/mL, 10-20 ng/mL, 21-30 ng/mL, and >30 ng/mL, respectively. There was no significant difference among the Vit D groups (not shown in the Table).

In the first hospitalization period, high-dose vit D replacement was given to only 18 patients with low serum Vit D levels. The analysis of Vit D replacement status (n=18/75) and ICU admission showed a statistically significant difference (p<0.001). Those who had Vit D replacement had a lower ICU admission rate, however, no statistically significant difference was observed in the mortality rates (**Table 6**). The number of days of hospitalization did not show any statistically significant correlation with the laboratory parameters (CRP, LDH, D-dimer, troponin) when the groups that had and did not have Vit D replacement were compared (not shown in the table).

Table 6. ICU admission and mortality in patients who had and did not have Vitamin D supplementation.									
		No V supple	vitamin D ementation	Had supple	р				
		n	%	n	%	-			
Commission	Died	28	50.00	7	38.89	0.292			
Survivai	Survived	28	50.00	11	61.11				
ICU	No	18	31.58	13	72.22	< 0.001			
admission	Yes	39	68.42	5	27.78				
ICU: Intensive	ICU: Intensive care unit								

DISCUSSION

Vit D plays a key role in modulating the immune system, and its deficiency is associated with immune system disorders (5). Vit D reduces the risk of bacterial and viral infections with both the continuity of cellular physical defense and the strengthening of innate and adaptive cellular immunity.6 Bulut et al. found that Vit D deficiency is a frequent occurrence in COPD and is correlated with the frequency of exacerbation and hospitalization in COPD patients (25). Due to the hyper-inflammatory nature of COVID-19, the anti-inflammatory mediator regulatory capacity of Vit D is noteworthy. In terms of regulation of anti-inflammatory mediators, one may suggest that patients with Vit D deficiency may be more susceptible to COVID-19, and the disease may be more severe (10). Higher number of cases and higher mortality were reported in the ones with Vit D deficiency and COVID-19, however higher disease severity and higher survival rates were reported in the ones who had Vit D supplementation (3,4).

In our study, the Vit D levels were generally low in all age groups. Consistent with the literature, moderate Vit D deficiency (10-20 ng/mL) was determined. The mean Vit D level was the highest at 22.25±20.1 ng/ml (median: 16.46 ng/ml) in the 65-74-year-old age group, however, there was no significant difference among the age groups. The mean Vit D levels were similar in males and females, and both genders had moderate Vit D deficiency (26).

The age groups (the old and the oldest) did not show severe Vit D deficiency or decrease in Vit D levels parallel to aging, however, there are dissimilar results in the literature (13).

Bassatne et al. (27) reported that they observed an increasing trend in COVID-19 disease severity in patients with serum 25(OH) D <30 ng/ml (RR=3.0, 95% CI) in their meta-analysis.

There was no statistically significant difference among the Vit D groups for COVID-19 severity, but the number of severe stage patients was higher in the severe Vit D deficiency (<10 ng/ml) group, and the number of mild stage patients was higher in the normal Vit D level group (11).

Although a negative correlation was reported between Vit D level and radiological pulmonary involvement in the literature (26), no statistically significant correlation was found between Vit D level and CXR pneumonia severity or chest CT findings in our study.

D-dimer is one of the most important indicators associated with mortality risk in COVID-19. Studies have reported a negative correlation between Vit D and D-dimer levels. In our study, Vit D groups did not show any negative or positive correlations with D-dimer, CRP, lymphocyte, eosinophil, ferritin, or troponin values (28,29).

Bassatne et al. (27) pooled data from three individual studies (30-32) (n=480) and found that the risk of intensive care unit admission was increased in COVID-19 patients with low 25(OH) D levels (<20 ng/ml). However, in conclusion, none of the outcomes evaluated showed a clear and strong correlation between vitamin D status on COVID-19 health-related outcomes.

Similar to literature data, the ICU admission rate was higher (40%) (n=18) in the group with severe Vit D deficiency (0-10 ng/ml), but the difference among the Vit D groups was not statistically significant (16,33).

The highest mortality rate in the Vit D subgroups was observed in the moderate (10-20 ng/ml) 40% (n=14) and severe deficiency (0-10 ng/ml) 34.2% (n=12) groups. However, no significant difference was found among the Vit D subgroups in terms of mortality. Our results are not in line with the previous studie (18,19,29).

Hernandez et al. (31) reported significantly longer hospital stays in COVID-19 patients with low serum 25(OH)D (<20 ng/ml) than in the normal group (p=0.013). But Baktash et al. (28) found no significant difference between Vit D groups in COVID-19 patients in terms of mean hospital stay.

In our study, the number of hospitalization days was 13.7 days in the severe Vit D deficiency group and 10.2 days in the normal Vit D level group. There was no significant difference among the Vit D groups for this parameter.

In a meta-analysis involving hospitalized COVID-19 patients, it was found that there was no statistically significant difference in mortality in patients who received vitamin D supplementation compared to patients who did not receive it (p=0.87) (34).

Our results (mortality rate 38% (n=7) in the group that had Vit D replacement, 50% (n=28) in the group that did not have it) were not similar to the previously reported results in terms of mortality, hospitalization days, and laboratory values (CRP, LDH, D-dimer, troponin) when the patients who had and did not have Vit D replacement were compared (35).

In a meta-analysis (n=532) of data from two randomized controlled trials and a retrospective case-control study involving hospitalized COVID-19 patients, it was reported that patients who received vitamin D supplementation had a statistically (p<0.0001) lower ICU requirement than patients who did not (34).

Tan et al. (36) In their prospective cohort study, it was observed that 17 patients with COVID-19 who received 1000 IU of vitamin D3, magnesium, and B complex daily for up to 14 days had a reduced risk of admission to ICU compared to 26 patients who did not receive.

Similar to the studies in the literature, a statistically significant difference was found when the status of having a Vit D replacement (n=18/75) and ICU admission were compared (p<0.001). Those who had Vit D replacement had a lower ICU admission rate (ICU admission rate was 27.7% (n=5) in the group that had Vit D replacement, 68.4% (n=39) in the group that did not have Vit D replacement) (3).

However, contrary to the results of these studies; there is also a study reporting that a single oral supplement of vitamin D3 (200,000 IU of vitamin D3) (n=120/120) did not improve COVID-19-related health outcomes, such as mortality, intensive care unit admission, and need for mechanical ventilation, compared to placebo (37).

It is not possible to generalize the results of this singlecenter study. We could not obtain data related to Vit D deficiency including obesity, socioeconomic status, population demographics, and exposure to sunlight. We believe that these factors would influence the results of the study (12). We did not have any information on the Vit D replacement statuses of the patients before they had COVID-19. We were unable to distinguish whether Vit D deficiency was a pre-existing deficiency in patients with COVID-19, or the decrease was due to the inflammatory process as a result of rapid metabolism of Vit D, and/or because Vit D is a negative acute-phase reactant (19).

CONCLUSION

The results of the systematic review and meta-analysis revealed inconclusive evidence of a relationship between low serum 25(OH) D levels (<20 ng/ml) and the risk of mortality, admission to the intensive care unit, mechanical ventilation, and the need for non-invasive ventilation. puts it. In addition, no associations were found between disease severity and risk of ARDS, and length of hospital stay.

Although the ICU admission rate was found to be low in patients who had Vit D replacement in our study, our findings do not support a potential link of Vit D concentrations in general with disease severity or mortality risk of COVID-19 infection in hospitalized elderly patients. To achieve statistical significance in disease severity, mortality, and the benefit of Vit D replacement, expanding the sample size at the national level may be helpful. New studies should be conducted to determine whether a low Vit D level is the cause or consequence of the COVID-19-related inflammatory process.

ETHICAL DECLARATIONS

Ethics Committee Approval: The ethics committee approval for this study was obtained by Health Science University Keçiören Education and Training Hospital Clinical Studies Ethics Board (Date: 28/12/2021, Decision No: 2012-KAEK-15/2440).

Informed Consent: Because the study was designed retrospectively, no written informed consent form was obtained from patients.

Referee Evaluation Process: Externally peer-reviewed.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The author has no conflicts of interest to declare.

Financial Disclosure: The author declared that this study has received no financial support.

Author Contributions: The author declare that they have all participated in the design, execution, and analysis of the paper, and that they have approved the final version.

REFERENCES

- 1. Glinsky GV. Tripartite combination of candidate pandemic mitigation agents: vitamin D, Quercetin, and Estradiol manifest properties of medicinal agents for targeted mitigation of the COVID-19 pandemic defined by genomics-guided tracing of SARS-CoV-2 targets in human cells. Biomedicines 2020; 8: 129.
- 2. Ilie PC, Stefanescu S, Smith L. The role of vitamin D in the prevention of coronavirus disease 2019 infection and mortality. Aging Clin Exp Res 2020; 32: 1195-98.
- 3. Annweiler G, Corvaisier M, Gautier J, et al. Vitamin D supplementation associated to better survival in hospitalized frail elderly COVID-19 patients: The GERIA-COVID quasiexperimental study. Nutrients 2020; 12: 3377.
- 4. EFSA Panel on Dietetic Products, Nutrition and Allergies (NDA). Scientific Opinion on the substantiation of health claims related to vitamin D and normal function of the immune system and inflammatory response (ID 154, 159), maintenance of normal muscle function (ID 155) and maintenance of normal cardiovascular function (ID 159) pursuant to Article 13(1) of Regulation (EC) No 1924/2006. EFSA J 2010; 8: 1-17.
- 5. Sassi F, Tamone C, D'Amelio P. Vitamin D: nutrient, hormone, and immunomodulator. Nutrients 2018; 10: 1656.
- 6. Grant WB, Lahore H, McDonnell SL, et al. Evidence that vitamin D supplementation could reduce risk of influenza and COVID-19 infections and deaths. Nutrients 2020; 12: 988.
- 7. Sloka S, Silva C, Wang J, Yong VW. Predominance of Th2 polarization by vitamin D through a STAT6-dependent mechanism. J Neuroinflammation 2011; 8: 56.
- 8. Bertoldi G, Gianesello L, Calò LA. Letter: ACE2, Rho kinase inhibition and the potential role of vitamin D against COVID-19. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2020; 52: 577-8.
- 9. Huang C, Wang Y, Li X, et al. Clinical features of patients infected with 2019 novel coronavirus in Wuhan, China. Lancet 2020; 395: 497-506.
- 10. Daneshkhah A, Agrawal V, Eshein A, Subramanian H, Roy HK, Backman V. Evidence for possible association of vitamin D status with cytokine storm and unregulated inflammation in COVID-19 patients. Aging Clin Exp Res 2020; 32: 2141-58.
- 11. Rhodes JM, Subramanian S, Laird E, Griffin G, Kenny RA. Perspective: Vitamin D deficiency and COVID-19 severityplausibly linked by latitude, ethnicity, impacts on cytokines, ACE2 and thrombosis. J Intern Med 2021; 289: 97-115.
- 12. Wyskida M, Wieczorowska-Tobis K, Chudek J. Prevalence and factors promoting the occurrence of vitamin D deficiency in the elderly. Postepy Hig Med Dosw (Online) 2017; 71: 198-204.
- 13. Cheng Q, Du Y, Hong W, et al. Factors associated to serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D levels among older adult populations in urban and suburban communities in Shanghai, China. BMC Geriatr 2017; 17: 246.
- 14.Zhao M. Cytokine storm and immunomodulatory therapy in COVID-19: Role of chloroquine and anti-IL-6 monoclonal antibodies. Int J Antimicrob Agents 2020; 55: 105982.
- 15.Ebadi M, Montano-Loza AJ. Perspective: improving vitamin D status in the management of COVID-19. Eur J Clin Nutr 2020; 74: 856-9.

- Im JH, Je YS, Baek J, Chung MH, Kwon HY, Lee JS. Nutritional status of patients with COVID-19. Int J Infect Dis 2020; 100: 390-3.
- 17.Maghbooli Z, Sahraian MA, Ebrahimi M, et al. Vitamin D sufficiency, a serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D at least 30 ng/mL reduced risk for adverse clinical outcomes in patients with COVID-19 infection. PLoS One 2020; 15: e0239799.
- Hastie CE, Mackay DF, Ho F, et al. Vitamin D concentrations and COVID-19 infection in UK Biobank. Diabetes Metab Syndr 2020; 14: 561-5.
- 19.Oscanoa TJ, Amado J, Vidal X, Laird E, Ghashut RA, Romero-Ortuno R. The relationship between the severity and mortality of SARS-CoV-2 infection and 25-hydroxyvitamin D concentration-a metaanalysis. Adv Respir Med 2021; 89: 145-57.
- 20.Yildiz M, Senel MU, Kavurgaci S, Ozturk FE, Ozturk A. The prognostic significance of vitamin D deficiency in patients with COVID-19 pneumonia. Bratisl Lek Listy 2021; 122: 744-7.
- 21.Hastie CE, Pell JP, Sattar N. Vitamin D and COVID-19 infection and mortality in UK Biobank. Eur J Nutr 2021; 60: 545-8.
- 22.Kweder H, Eidi H. Vitamin D deficiency in elderly: Risk factors and drugs impact on vitamin D status. Avicenna J Med 2018; 8: 139-46.
- 23. Hanley DA, Cranney A, Jones G, et al; Guidelines committee of the scientific advisory council of osteoporosis Canada. Vitamin D in adult health and disease: a review and guideline statement from Osteoporosis Canada. CMAJ 2010; 182: E610-8.
- 24.Simpson S, Kay FU, Abbara S, et al. Radiological Society of North America Expert Consensus Statement on Reporting Chest CT Findings Related to COVID-19. Endorsed by the Society of Thoracic Radiology, the American College of Radiology, and RSNA-Secondary Publication. J Thorac Imaging 2020; 35: 219-27.
- 25.Bulut S, Karamanlı H, Şahin ME, Çelik D, Biber Ç. Association between vitamin D levels and frequency of disease exacerbations and hospitalizations in patients with COPD. J Health Sci Med 2022; 5: 471-7.
- 26.De Smet D, De Smet K, Herroelen P, Gryspeerdt S, Martens GA. Serum 25(OH)D level on hospital admission associated with COVID-19 stage and mortality. Am J Clin Pathol 2021; 155: 381-8.
- 27.Bassatne A, Basbous M, Chakhtoura M, El Zein O, Rahme M, El-Hajj Fuleihan G. The link between COVID-19 and Vitamin D (VIVID): a systematic review and meta-analysis. Metabolism 2021; 119: 154753.
- Baktash V, Hosack T, Patel N, et al. Vitamin D status and outcomes for hospitalized older patients with COVID-19. Postgrad Med J 2021; 97: 442-7.
- 29. Sulli A, Gotelli E, Casabella A, et al. Vitamin D and lung outcomes in elderly COVID-19 patients. Nutrients 2021; 13: 717.
- 30.Cereda E, Bogliolo L, Klersy C, Lobascio F, Masi S, Crotti S. Vitamin D 25OH deficiency in COVID-19 patients admitted to a tertiary referral hospital. Clin Nutr 2021; 40: 2469-72.
- 31.Hernandez JL, Nan D, Fernandez-Ayala M, Garcia-Unzueta M, Hernandez-Hernandez MA, Lopez-Hoyos M. Vitamin D status in hospitalized patients with SARS-CoV-2 infection. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2021; 106: e1343. e135.
- 32. Jain A, Chaurasia R, Sengar NS, Singh M, Mahor S, Narain S. Analysis of vitamin D level among asymptomatic and critically ill COVID-19 patients and its correlation with inflammatory markers. Sci Rep 2020; 10: 1-8.
- 33.Ohaegbulam KC, Swalih M, Patel P, Smith MA, Perrin R. Vitamin D supplementation in COVID-19 patients: a clinical case series. Am J Ther 2020; 27: e485-90.
- 34.Shah K, Saxena D, Mavalankar D. Vitamin D supplementation, COVID-19 and disease severity: a meta-analysis. QJM 2021; 114: 175-81.

- 35. Panagiotou G, Tee SA, Ihsan Y, et al. Low serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D (25[OH]D) levels in patients hospitalized with COVID-19 are associated with greater disease severity. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf) 2020; 93: 508-11.
- 36. Tan CW, Ho LP, Kalimuddin S, Cherng BPZ, Teh YE, Thien SY. A cohort study to evaluate the effect of combination Vitamin D, Magnesium and Vitamin B12 (DMB) on progression to severe outcome in older COVID-19 patients. medRxiv 2020
- 37. Murai IH, Fernandes AL, Sales LP, Pinto AJ, Goessler KF, Duran CS. Effect of a single high dose of vitamin D3 on hospital length of stay in patients with moderate to severe COVID-19: a randomized clinical trial. JAMA 2021; 17: 2021.

HEALTH SCIENCES **MEDICINE**

The effect of main pulmonary artery diameter on the prognosis of COVID-19 patients in the ICU

Ogökhan Çoraplı¹, DErcan Çil¹, Ayşe Şahin Tutak², Mahmut Çoraplı³

¹Adıyaman University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Chest Diseases, Adıyaman, Turkey ²Adıyaman University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Internal Medicine, Adıyaman, Turkey ³Adıyaman Education and Research Hospital, Department of Radiology, Adıyaman, Turkey

Cite this article as: Çoraplı G, Çil E, Tutak AŞ, Çoraplı M. The effect of main pulmonary artery diameter on the prognosis of COVID-19 patients in the ICU. J Health Sci Med 2022; 5(3): 778-781.

ABSTRACT

Aim: The aim of this study was to examine the effect of main pulmonary artery diameter (MPAD), which is evaluated in patients when first admitted to the intensive care unit due to COVID-19, on mortality.

Material and Method: Thoracic computed tomography examinations performed during the initial admission to hospital of patients who were treated in the intensive care unit between October 1, 2020, and June 1, 2021, were evaluated retrospectively. Cox regression analysis was performed with the program R-Project to evaluate the relationship between MPAD and mortality.

Results: No significant correlation was found between MPAD and mortality in models used with or without adjusting for age and sex (respectively P: 0.890 and P: 0.920).

Conclusion: The MPAD value measured at the initial admission of COVID-19 patients hospitalized in the intensive care unit is not a parameter that can be used to predict mortality.

Keywords: COVID-19, main pulmonary artery diameter, intensive care unit, mortality

INTRODUCTION

Coronavirus disease is contracted through a newly identified viral infection caused by SARS-CoV-2, which can cause respiratory tract disease (1). This disease was first seen in the city of Wuhan located in Hubei Province in the People's Republic of China in the last days of 2019 (2). Due to the abundance of asymptomatic cases, it spread rapidly around the world (3). On March 11, 2020, this situation was declared a pandemic by the World Health Organization(WHO) (4). According to WHO data, as of January 15, 2022, the number of cases in the world exceeded 326 million and deaths exceeded 5.55 million (https://www.worldometers.info/coronavirus/). Although SARS-CoV-2 infection usually affects the lung and respiratory system, it can disrupt the structural integrity of the endothelial wall of the vascular structures and disrupt the functionality of the vascular structure. Endothelial cells provide vascular vasodilation and anticoagulation in the circulatory system through the cytokines they secrete in physiological state. When an inflammatory process such as COVID 19 is experienced, this situation reverses and causes vasoconstriction and procoagulation (microthrombus, etc.). This situation

affects the entire vascular system as well as the pulmonary artery system, which plays an important role in the cardiopulmonary circulation. It can lead to increased pressure in the pulmonary artery, that is, pulmonary hypertension (5, 6).

Pulmonary hypertension can be regarded as the main reason for increases in the diameter of the pulmonary artery. Pulmonary hypertension is the case when mean pulmonary artery pressure, usually measured by cardiologists, is above 25 mmHg in right heart catheterization (7). During this procedure, the patient should be at rest (7). If the mean pulmonary artery pressure is between 21 and 24 mmHg, it is called borderline pulmonary hypertension (8). Diseases causing pulmonary hypertension are classified into five groups according to clinical, physiopathologic, and hemodynamic characteristics. Generally, primary lung pathologies are included in group 3 (9). The diagnosis of pulmonary hypertension is made by electrocardiogram, chest X-ray, pulmonary function tests, arterial blood gas, Doppler echocardiography, lung ventilation-perfusion

Corresponding Author: Gökhan Çoraplı, gcorapli02@gmail.com



scintigraphy, and thoracic computed tomography (CT). The increase in pulmonary pressure causes an increase in the diameter of the pulmonary artery. Pulmonary hypertension is suspected if the main pulmonary artery diameter (MPAD) is greater than or equal to 29 mm or the ratio of the diameter of the main pulmonary artery to the diameter of the ascending aorta is greater than one in thoracic CT (10, 11). It has been shown by previous studies that the increase in pulmonary diameter is associated with prognosis in patients other than COVID-19 (5, 6, 11). In line with all this information, the effect of MPAD in predicting the probability of mortality due to SARS-CoV-2, the biggest pandemic this century, was examined.

MATERIAL AND METHOD

This study was approved by the Ministry of Health of the Republic of Turkey and Adıyaman University Non-Invasive Clinical Researches Ethics Committee (Date: 15.03.2022, Decision No: 2022/3-31). All procedures were carried out in accordance with the ethical rules and the principles of the Declaration of Helsinki.

Patient Selection

Patients hospitalized in the intensive care unit of our hospital between October 1, 2020 and June 1, 2021 due to SARS-CoV-2 infection were included in this retrospective study. Those over the age of 18 were included. Patients who were confirmed by real-time polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR) for the SARS-CoV-2 RNA test and who had involvement congruent with COVID-19 pneumonia on thoracic CT imaging were included. Those with a negative RT-PCR for the SARS-CoV-2 RNA test and with no involvement in the thoracic CT examination were excluded. Patients with chronic liver disease, chronic kidney disease, malignancy, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD), and/ or hematological diseases were excluded (Diagram 1). The criteria for admission to the intensive care unit were set according to those included in the COVID-19 adult patient treatment guideline of the Ministry of Health of the Republic of Turkey (12).



Diagram 1. Flow-chart for patient selection

Image Acquisition

Patients included in the study were screened using a 16-detector CT scanner (MX16, Philips Medical Systems, Eindhoven, the Netherlands). Pulmonary artery diameter was measured using the program Oracle Database version 1.10.48.299 on the images obtained. These patients were evaluated by a radiologist (M.Ç.) with at least 10 years of experience in the field of thoracic CT images upon initial admission to the hospital. Patients were excluded from the study in the event of conditions that prevented the main MPAD from being evaluated in the thoracic CT examination (artifact, inappropriate extraction, scoliosis, etc.). As recommended in the literature, MPAD was measured from wall to wall of the pulmonary artery at the level where it was seen at its widest level in the axial plane (13, 14) (**Figure 1**).



Figure 1. Axial noncontrast thoracic computed tomography images of a 63-year-old male patient A) Measurement of the main pulmonary artery diameter (27 mm) B) Peripheral ground-glass areas due to COVID-19 involvement in the upper lobes of both lungs at the time of initialadmission

Statistical Analysis

Frequency analysis, descriptive statistics, and survival analysis of the study were performed. Cox regression analysis was also performed to examine the effects of pulmonary artery diameter on the survival period of the patients. The results were obtained separately for the adjusted model and the unadjusted model, which was obtained by removing the effects of age and sex in Cox regression analyses. The margin of error was taken as 5% and the significance level was considered P < 0.05. The entire analysis was conducted with the program R-Project (R CoreTeam, 2020) (15).

RESULTS

In total 284 patients were included in the study. The results of the patients were calculated according to the descriptive statistics. Of the patients, 169 (59.5%) were male and 115 (40.5%) were female. Of these followed-up patients, 182 (64.1%) died and 102 (35.9%) were discharged alive. The mean age of the patients was 69.82 (range: 27-95) years (**Table 1**).

The mean MPAD of the patients was 29.33 mm. The narrowest MPAD was 21 mm and the widest was 44 mm (**Table 2**). No significant correlation was found between MPAD and mortality in the model unadjusted for age

and sex (P: 0.890). No significant correlation was found between MPAD and mortality in the model adjusted for age and sex either (P: 0.920). According to these results, an increase in MPAD did not cause a statistically significant increase in mortality (**Table 3**).

Table 1. Patients included in the study and their outcomes						
	n	%				
Sex						
Male	169	59.5				
Female	115	40.5				
Outcome						
Exitus	182	64.1				
Alive	102	35.9				

Table 2. Descriptive statistics of MPAD							
	Mean	SD	Min	Max			
MPAD	29.33	3.88	21.00	44.00			

Table 3. Cox regression analysis results used as age and sex factor adjustment and established without correction effect								
	Adjusted Model				Unadjusted Model			
	OR	Lower limit	Upper limit	Р	OR	Lower limit	Upper limit	Р
MPAD	1.003	0.961	1.047	0.890	1.002	0.959	1.047	0.920

DISCUSSION

It was demonstrated that there was no significant relationship between MPAD, which was evaluated in the thoracic CT examination obtained during the initial admission of patients who needed intensive care due to COVID-19 pneumonia and were followed up in the intensive care unit, and mortality. Although there are many studies in the literature evaluating the relationship between MPAD and COVID-19, the present study is unique in terms of study population and study design, since patients in intensive care units were evaluated and there were a large number of patients.

In the study by QQ Zhu et al. (16) that investigated the prediction of mortality using the pulmonary artery diameter of 180 COVID-19 patients, the contribution of pulmonary artery diameter to the increase in mortality was significant. In that study, the MPAD cut-off value used was 29 mm and a pulmonary artery diameter above 29 mm was considered large. However, in the present study, the effect of MPAD increase on mortality was examined without using a cut-off value. In addition, the mortality rates in the present study were quite high compared to those in the study by QQ Zhu et al. (16) (64.1% vs. 7.8%) due to the high mean age of the patients included in the present study (69.82 years vs. 46.99 years) and the patients requiring intensive care treatment.

In the study conducted by Erdoğan et al. (17) investigating the effect of MPAD, ascending aorta diameter, and the ratio of these two diameters on the prognosis of COVID-19 patients, the increase in the diameter of these vessels had a significant effect on mortality. They showed that MPAD was the most significant in relation to mortality among the three parameters they evaluated. In the study by Erdoğan et al., in which they included 255 patients hospitalized for COVID-19, the mean age was 55 and the mortality rate 21.9% (17). However, the patient profile included in the present study differed from the patient profile of Erdoğan et al.'s study, which caused the results obtained in the two studies to be different.

In their study conducted with 101 patients, Yıldız et al. (18) showed that the correlation of MPAD with the severity of COVID-19 pneumonia was significant. In that study with a small group of patients, they did not evaluate the relationship between MPAD and mortality (18). The relationship between pneumonia severity and MPAD was not examined in the patients included in the present study. Since the patient group in the present study consisted of intensive care unit patients, evaluation of pneumonia severity was not considered. The mortality status of the patients was evaluated as the prognosis.

In a COVID-19 study using the data of 1469 patients hospitalized in seven tertiary hospitals in Italy, the relationship between MPAD and mortality was examined (19). In that study, MPAD equal to or greater than 31 mm was the parameter that increased the mortality rates of COVID-19 patients. Although the border diameter length referenced was greater, it was determined that the mortality rate increased as MPAD increased. The mean age of the patients in that study was 69 years, which is similar to that of the present study. The mortality rate was 21%, which is lower than the rate in the present study (19). However, in that multicentric study, thoracic CT examinations were not obtained during the initial admission of the patients to the hospital, and thoracic CT examinations obtained 72 hours after admission were evaluated. Another difference from the present study is that only intensive care patients were included. In addition, cut-off values were not used to evaluate the diameter of the pulmonary artery in the present study.

Although the primary outcome revealed that it had no significant effect on mortality due to MPAD and COVID-19, this study has some limitations. One of the main limitations is that it was carried out as a single-center, retrospective, and nonrandomized study. The effect of COVID-19 disease could not be evaluated because MPAD was not evaluated during the intensive care period. The lack of data on the history of the patients in terms of pulmonary thromboembolism and heart diseases is another limitation of the study. In addition, thoracic CT images included in the study were without contrast and were obtained without using electrocardiography gating. In the present study, information about the dynamic state of the pulmonary artery could not be obtained, since additional examinations such as echocardiography and right heart catheterization were not performed. Finally, the long-term effect of COVID-19 disease was not investigated, since MPAD follow-up could not be performed after treatment.

CONCLUSION

Despite the limitations of this study, it was shown that MPAD obtained at the time of initial admission to the hospital in intensive care units due to COVID-19 disease is not a parameter that can be used to predict mortality.

ETHICAL DECLARATIONS

Ethics Committee Approval: This study was approved by the Ministry of Health of the Republic of Turkey and Adıyaman University Non-invasive Clinical Researches Ethics Committee (Date: 15.03.2022, Decision No: 2022/3-31).

Informed Consent: Because the study was designed retrospectively, no written informed consent form was obtained from patients.

Referee Evaluation Process: Externally peer-reviewed.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The author has no conflicts of interest to declare.

Financial Disclosure: The author declared that this study has received no financial support.

Author Contributions: The author declare that they have all participated in the design, execution, and analysis of the paper, and that they have approved the final version.

REFERENCES

- 1. Çil B, Kabak M. Comparative evaluation of tocilizumab versus high dose methylprednisolonetherapy in mild acute respiratory distress syndrome related to COVID-19 pneumonia: a retrospective cohort study. New Trend Med Sci 2021; 2: 130-5.
- 2. Hui DS, Azhar EI, Madani TA, et al. The continuing 2019-nCoV epidemic threat of novel coronaviruses to global health—The latest 2019 novel coronavirus outbreak in Wuhan, China. Int J Infect Dis 2020; 91: 264-6.
- 3. Sohrabi C, Alsafi Z, O'neill N, et al. World Health Organization declares global emergency: A review of the 2019 novel coronavirus (COVID-19). Int J Surg 2020; 76: 71-6.
- 4. Rothan HA, Byrareddy SN. The epidemiology and pathogenesis of coronavirus disease (COVID-19) outbreak. J Autoimmun 2020; 109: 102433.
- Sharma A, Tiwari S, Deb MK, Marty JL. Severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus-2 (SARS-CoV-2): a global pandemic and treatment strategies. Int J Antimicrob Agents 2020; 56: 106054.
- 6. Libby P, Lüscher T. COVID-19 is, in the end, an endothelial disease. Eur Heart J 2020; 41: 3038-44.
- Hoeper MM, Bogaard HJ, Condliffe R, et al. Definitions and diagnosis of pulmonary hypertension. Turk Kardiyoloji Dernegi Arsivi 2014; 42: 55-66.

- 8. Douschan P, Kovacs G, Avian A, et al. Mild elevation of pulmonary arterial pressure as a predictor of mortality. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2018; 197: 509-16.
- 9. Simonneau G, Galie N, Rubin LJ, et al. Clinical classification of pulmonary hypertension. J Am Coll Cardiol 2004; 43: 5-12.
- 10. Nazzareno G, Marc H, Jean LV, Simon G, Irene L, Adam T. ESC/ ERS Guidelines for the diagnosis and treatment of pulmonary hypertension. The Joint Task Force for the Diagnosis and Treatment of Pulmonary Hypertension of the European Society of Cardiology (ESC) and the European Respiratory Society (ERS). Eur Heart J 2016; 37: 67-119.
- 11. Tan RT, Kuzo R, Goodman LR, Siegel R, Haasler GR, Presberg KW. Utility of CT scan evaluation for predicting pulmonary hypertension in patients with parenchymal lung disease. Chest 1998; 113: 1250-6.
- 12. Republic of Turkey Ministry of Healhty, Adult patient treatment in COVID-19, December 2021. https://covid19.saglik.gov.tr/Eklenti/42169/0/covid19rehberieriskinhastayonetimivetedavi20122021v6pdf.pdf. (Accessed February 10,2022).
- 13. Truong QA, Massaro JM, Rogers IS, et al. Reference values for normal pulmonary artery dimensions by noncontrast cardiac computed tomographyclinical perspective: The Framingham Heart Study. Circ Cardiovasc Imaging 2012; 5: 147-54.
- 14. Mahammedi A, Oshmyansky A, Hassoun PM, Thiemann DR, Siegelman SS. Pulmonary artery measurements in pulmonary hypertension: the role of computed tomography. J Thorac Imaging 2013; 28: 96-103.
- 15. R Core Team (2020). R: A language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria. URL https://www.R-project.org/.
- 16.Zhu QQ, Gong T, Huang GQ, et al. Pulmonary artery trunk enlargement on admission as a predictor of mortality in inhospital patients with COVID-19. Jpn J Radiol 2021; 1-9.
- 17.Erdoğan M, Öztürk S, Erdöl MA, et al. Prognostic utility of pulmonary artery and ascending aorta diameters derived from computed tomography in COVID-19 patients. Echocardiography 2021; 38: 1543-51.
- Yildiz M, Yadigar S, Yildiz BŞ, et al. Evaluation of the relationship between COVID-19 pneumonia severity and pulmonary artery diameter measurement. Herz 2021; 46: 56-62.
- 19.Esposito A, Palmisano A, Toselli M, et al. Chest CT-derived pulmonary artery enlargement at the admission predicts overall survival in COVID-19 patients: insight from 1461 consecutive patients in Italy. Eur Radiol 2021; 31: 4031-41.

Does your sleeping position affect your shoulder pain?

Nilüfer Aygün Bilecik, OSıdıka Büyükvural Şen, OGülşah Yaşa Öztürk

University of Health Sciences, Adana City Training and Research Hospital, Internal Medicine, Physical Therapy and Rehabilitation, Adana, Turkey

Cite this article as: Aygün Bilecik N, Büyükvural Şen S, Yaşa Öztürk G. Does your sleeping position affect your shoulder pain?. J Health Sci Med 2022; 5(3): 782-788.

ABSTRACT

Aim: This study aimed to evaluate patients with shoulder pain according to their sleeping positions based on their clinical and magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) findings and to determine possible factors affecting shoulder pain.

Material and Method: A total of 115 patients were included in the study. The severity of shoulder pain was evaluated with the visual analog scale (VAS), shoulder function was evaluated with the simple shoulder test, and the ability to perform physical activities was evaluated with the QuickDASH questionnaire. The biceps tendon, rotator cuff (RC), subacromial-subdeltoid bursa, glenohumeral joint (GHJ), and acromioclavicular joint (ACJ) were evaluated using MRI.

Results: Of the patients with shoulder pain, 66.1% were female, 50.4% were primary school graduates, 53.9% were housewives, and 41.7% had a systemic disease. The mean age of the patients was 50.48 ± 13.61 years while the median BMI and VAS values were 26.1 (18.2-41.4) and 8 (2-10), respectively. Considering the sleeping positions, it was found that 39.1% (most common) of the patients were sleeping in the fetus position, and considering the results of patients' MRI examinations, the most common problem was related to the pathologies of the supraspinatus tendon (42.6%). It was found that sleep quality, which was poor in all patients, was worse in females (p=0.311), in those over 50 years of age (p=0.007), and those with a systemic disease (0.325). It was discovered that Pittsburgh's sleep quality index score was generally worse in those who slept in the soldier position and in the log position (p>0.05). The rates of pathologies of the supraspinatus tendon were found to be the highest in those that slept in the fetus position (p=0.931). It was also found that the rates of impingement, bicipital tendinitis, combined problems, and adhesive capsulitis did not differ significantly according to sleeping positions. Although occupational variables for supraspinatus degeneration remained significant in the model, having a desk job statistically significantly increased the probability of supraspinatus degeneration by 3.38 times when compared to being a housewife (95% CI=1.143-9.996; p=0.028) and it was identified that the probability of acromicclavicular degeneration increased by 1.16 times for every 1-unit increase in BMI.

Conclusion: Different sleeping positions may predispose to different shoulder pathologies and shoulder pain, and shoulder pathologies may lead to deterioration of sleep quality, especially in older patients. For this reason, suggesting correct and appropriate sleeping positions may be a useful treatment method in reducing pain and disability and increasing sleep quality.

Keywords: Sleep position, shoulder pain, magnetic resonance

INTRODUCTION

The shoulder joint is the joint that anatomically connects the thorax and the upper extremity. The shoulder joint has a wide range of motion but little stability, and therefore, it is frequently exposed to traumas and injuries. Shoulder pathologies are very painful conditions due to the rich sensory innervation network (1). Prevalence studies indicate that the prevalence of shoulder pain affects 7-10% of the society (2). The most common causes of pain are rotator cuff (RC) pathologies originating from the tendon and bursa. Subacromial impingement syndrome (SIS) occurs as a result of the compression of the structures within the RC between the acromion, the coracoacromial ligament, the coracoid process, and the acromioclavicular joint (ACJ) through glenohumeral joint (GHJ) movements (especially during flexion and rotation) (3). SIS is the most common cause of shoulder pain with a prevalence of 44-65% (4). Vascular, degenerative, traumatic, mechanical, and anatomical causes are believed to lead to etiopathogenesis (5). Additionally, adhesive capsulitis, calcific tendinitis, ACJ degeneration, GHJ osteoarthritis, glenohumeral instability are among the causes of shoulder pain. Even though shoulder pain increases during the day due to activities of daily living

Corresponding Author: Nilüfer Aygün Bilecik, drnilaygun@gmail.com



and sports activities (swimming, volleyball, handball, etc.) that involve shoulder overhead mobility (6), night pain is one of the most common symptoms of shoulder pain. Some patients first complain of the pain that wakes them up in the middle of the night or that they feel when they wake up in the morning (7-9).

Considering that people spend most of their lives sleeping, sleeping positions can entail a risk for shoulder pain. In this study that was based on the view that some sleeping positions may trigger shoulder pain by increasing the subacromial pressure and disrupting the blood supply of anatomical structures, we aimed to evaluate patients with shoulder pain according to their sleeping positions using clinical and magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) findings and to determine possible factors affecting shoulder pain.

MATERIAL AND METHOD

The study protocol was approved by the Adana Çukurova University Balcalı Hospital Clinical Trials Ethics Committee (Date: 12.02.2021, Decision No: 55). All procedures were carried out in accordance with the ethical rules and the principles of the Declaration of Helsinki. We retrospectively reviewed the medical records of this patients, who applied to the Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation Polyclinic of Adana City Training and Research Hospital with the complaint of shoulder pain from February to May 1, 2021, and who underwent MRI. Patients with a history of shoulder surgery and trauma, malignancy, and neurological, systemic, endocrine, metabolic, and rheumatic diseases were not included in the study. Demographic, clinical, and MRI findings of the patients were recorded. The patients were divided into 6 different groups according to their sleeping positions as fetus, log, yearner, soldier, prone, and starfish (Figure 1). The severity of shoulder pain (at motion/rest) was evaluated via the VAS. Shoulder function was evaluated with the SST, the ability to perform physical activities with the QuickDASH questionnaire, and the quantitative measurement of sleep quality was conducted with the Pittsburgh sleep quality index (PSQI).

QuickDASH allows evaluating a patient's ability to perform physical activities, taking their condition within the last week into account. This questionnaire consists of 11 questions scored between 1-5 according to the degree of difficulty. A special formulation is used in the calculation and the total QuickDASH score ranges from 0 to 100.

SST is a questionnaire consisting of 12 items concerning shoulder function. The total score that can be obtained from the questionnaire is between 0 and 12, and the items are scored using "Yes" or "No". The lower the score is, the greater the disability is. PSQI provides an assessment of sleep quality, amount of sleep, presence, and severity of sleep disturbance in the previous month. This index consists of 7 subscales, namely subjective sleep quality, sleep latency, sleep duration, habitual sleep efficiency, sleep disturbances, use of sleep medication, and daytime drowsiness. Total PSQI score is obtained by summing 7 subscales and can range from 0-21 points. A total PSQI score of \leq 5 indicates good sleep quality, and that of >5 indicates poor sleep quality. The biceps tendon, RC, subacromial-subdeltoid (SA-SD) bursa, GHJ, and ACJ of the patients were evaluated in MRI examination.

Statistical Analysis

 $Continuous variables were expressed as mean \pm standard$ deviation and median (min-max) while categorical data were expressed in numbers and percentages. Normality analyzes of the continuous variables were performed with the Kolmogorov-Smirnov Goodness of Fit Test. When the data did not normally distribute, the Mann Whitney U Test was used for comparisons between two groups, and the Kruskal Wallis Test was employed for comparisons between three or more groups (the Mann Whitney U Test with Bonferroni correction was used for further analysis). The categorical data were analyzed through the Chi-Square Test. To predict the presence of findings evaluated by MRI, possible risk factors examined within the scope of the study and having a significance level of p<0.25 as a result of univariate analyzes were evaluated with the multivariate (Binary) Logistic Regression Model. The Hosmer Lemeshow Test was used for model fit. Analyzes were performed using the IBM SPSS version 22.0 (IBM Corporation, Armonk, NY, USA). The cases in which the type 1 error level was below 5% were considered significant.

RESULTS

The demographic and clinical characteristics of the 115 patients included in the study are shown in **Table 1**. When the sleeping positions were examined, it was observed that most of the patients (45%) were sleeping in the fetus position.

When the nominal demographic data were compared in terms of QuickDASH and PSQI scores, it was observed that the PSQI scores were significantly higher in the patients with shoulder pain aged 50 years and over compared to those aged 50 years and below in both genders [15 (3-21) vs. 9 (1-21)], and that the QuickDASH test scores were significantly higher in females than in males [61.3 (22.8-95.0) vs. 45.4 (13.6-90.9)] (p=0.007 and p=0.003, respectively) (**Table 2**).

The VAS, QuickDASH, and PSQI scores were found to be significantly higher in housewives (p=0.007) (**Table 2**).

The QuickDASH test scores [61.3 (22.8-95.0) vs. 45.4 (13.6-90.9)] were found to be significantly higher in females than in males (p=0.003) (**Table 2**).

The SST scores were found to be significantly higher in patients with supraspinatus degeneration (p<0.05) (**Table 2**).

The VAS scores were found to be significantly higher in patients that had combined problems (more than one disorder in the shoulder) (p<0.05) (**Table 2**).

The PSQI scores were found to be significantly higher in those with adhesive capsulitis (p<0.05) (**Table 2**).

It was observed that in those sleeping in the starfish position, the median values of the SST [7 (1-8)] were generally higher compared to those sleeping in the other positions, and the differences were statistically significant compared to those sleeping in the fetus position [2 (0-8)] and the soldier position [2 (0-4)] (p<0.05) (**Table 3**).

While those sleeping in the soldier position [18 (2-21)] and the log position [17 (2-21)] had the highest PSQI scores, those sleeping in the yearner position [10 (1-21)] and the fetus position [12 (2-19)] had the lowest PSQI scores. However, there was no statistically significant difference between the sleeping positions regarding the PSQI scores (p>0.05) (**Table 3**).

The rates of acromioclavicular degeneration were found to be the highest in those sleeping in the starfish position (16.7%) (p=0.618). The supraspinatus degeneration rates were found to be the highest in those sleeping in the fetus position (46.7%) (p=0.931). Similarly, the rates of impingement, bicipital tendinitis, combined problems, and adhesive capsulitis did not show a significant difference according to the sleeping positions (**Table 3**).

In order to predict the presence of findings evaluated by MRI, possible risk factors examined within the scope of the study and having a significance level of p<0.25 as a result of univariate analyzes were evaluated with multivariate logistic regression analysis. Although the variables of occupation and SST for supraspinatus degeneration remained significant in the model, when compared to being a housewife, having a desk job increased the probability of supraspinatus degeneration statistically significantly by 3.38 times (95% CI=1,143-9.996; p=0.028) (**Table 4**), and each 1-unit increase in BMI increased the probability of acromioclavicular degeneration by 1.16 times (**Table 5**).

Total

group experiencing shoulder pain	cristics of the patient
	Patient group (n=115)
Age (years) (Avg.±SD.)	50.48±13.61
BMI (kg/m²) [median (min-max)]	26.1 (18.2-41.4)
VAS [median (min-max)]	8 (2-10)
Gender (n, %)	
Female	76 (66.1)
Male	39 (33.9)
Educational background (n, %)	
Illiterate	13 (11.3)
Primary School graduate	58 (50.4)
Secondary-High School graduate	31 (27.0)
University graduate	13 (11.3)
Occupation (n, %)	
Housewife	62 (53.9)
Blue-collar	14 (12.2)
Desk job	20 (17.4)
Retired	19 (16.5)
Systemic disease (n, %)	
Yes	48 (41.7)
No	67 (58.3)
Shoulder pain (n, %)	
At motion	76 (66.1)
At rest	39 (33.9)
Sleeping positions (n, %)	
Fetus	45 (39.1)
Prone	25 (21.7)
Starfish	6 (5.2)
Soldier	7 (6.1)
Yearner	24 (20.9)
Log	8 (7.0)
Acromioclavicular degeneration (n, %)	
No	105 (91.3)
Yes	10 (8.7)
Supraspinatus degeneration (n, %)	
No	66 (57.4)
Yes	49 (42.6)
Impingement (n, %)	
No	104 (90.4)
Yes	11 (9.6)
Bicipital tendinitis (n, %)	
No	100 (87.0)
Yes	15 (13.0)
Combined problems (n, %)	
No	96 (83.5)
Yes	19 (16.5)
Adhesive capsulitis (n, %)	
No	111 (96.5)
Yes	4 (3.5)

115 (100.0)

Table 1 Demographic and clinical characteristics

Table 2. Comparison of the VAS, SST, Quick dash test, and PSQI scores of the patient group with shoulder pain according to specificdemographic and clinical characteristics

	VAS	Р	SST	р	Quick dash test	р	PSQI	р
Age (year)		0.470*		0.086*		0.329*		0.007*
≤50 (n=57)	7 (3-10)		4 (0-8)		55.8 (20.4-95.0)		9 (1-21)	
>50 (n=58)	8 (2-10)		2 (0-10)		56.3 (13.6-90.9)		15 (3-21)	
BMI (kg/m ²)		0.281*		0.685*		0.853*		0.251*
<30 (n=87)	8 (3-10)		3 (0-8)		55.8 (18.1-95.0)		10 (1-21)	
≥30 (n=28)	8 (2-10)		3 (0-10)		57.9 (13.6-90.9)		15 (2-21)	
Gender (n, %)		0.111*		0.310*		0.003*		0.311*
Female	8 (3-10)		2 (0-8)		61.3 (22.8-95.0)		14.5 (2-21)	
Male	7 (2-10)		4 (0-10)		45.4 (13.6-90.9)		10 (1-21)	
Educational attainment (n, %)		0.093**		0.059**		0.307**		0.335**
Illiterate	8 (7-10)		2 (0-8)		63.4 (18.8-90.9)		14 (3-21)	
Primary school	8 (3-10)		2 (0-8)		58.0 (18.1-95.0)		15 (1-21)	
Secondary-High school	7 (2-10)		4 (0-10)		47.7 (13.6-86.3)		10 (2-21)	
University	7 (3-10)		3 (0-7)		52.2 (25.0-72.7)		10 (3-17)	
Occupation (n, %)		0.004**		0.125**		0.001**		0.016**
Housewife	8 (5-10)a		2 (0-8)		63.4 (22.8-95.0)a		15 (2-21)a	
Blue-collar	7 (3-9)a		4 (0-8)		44.2 (20.4-75.0)a		6 (1-21)a	
Desk job	7 (3-10)a		4.5 (0-8)		52.2 (25.0-78.5)		8 (3-18)	
Retired	7 (2-10)		3 (0-10)		43.1 (13.6-90.9)a		12 (5-21)	
Systemic disease (n, %)		0.100*		0.561*		0.016*		0.325*
Yes	7 (2-10)		2.5 (0-10)		52.8 (13.6-86.3)		15 (2-21)	
No	8 (3-10)		3 (0-8)		59.0 (20.4-95.0)		12 (1-21)	
Shoulder pain (n, %)		0.686*		0.049*		0.125*		0.785*
At motion	8 (2-10)		2 (0-10)		60.9 (13.6-90.9)		14 (1-21)	
At rest	7 (5-10)		4 (0-8)		53.4 (18.1-95.0)		10 (2-21)	
Acromioclavicular degeneration (n, %)		0.023*		0.082*		0.113*		0.521*
No	8 (2-10)		2 (0-10)		56.8 (13.6-95.0)		14 (1-21)	
Yes	6.5 (4-8)		3 (2-8)		38.6 (25.0-68.1)		11 (2-21)	
Supraspinatus degeneration (n, %)		0.127*		0.028*		0.469*		0.095*
No	8 (3-10)		2 (0-8)		58.0 (18.1-95.0)		14 (2-21)	
Yes	7 (2-10)		4 (0-10)		55.4 (13.6-86.3)		10 (1-21)	
Impingement (n, %)		0.614*		0.943*		0.552*		0.360*
No	8 (3-10)		3 (0-10)		56.3 (13.6-90.9)		12 (1-21)	
Yes	7 (2-10)		4 (0-7)		47.7 (18.1-95.0)		15 (2-21)	
Bicipital tendinitis (n, %)		0.865*		0.775*		0.871*		0.505*
No	8 (2-10)		3 (0-10)		56.8 (13.6-95.0)		14 (1-21)	
Yes	8 (6-10)		2 (0-7)		47.7 (25.0-86.3)		8 (3-21)	
Combined disorders (n, %)		0.001*		0.004*		0.226*		0.623*
No	7 (2-10)		3 (0-10)		54.5 (13.6-95.0)		12 (1-21)	
Yes	9 (7-10)		1 (0-8)		61.3 (22.7-90.9)		14 (2-21)	
Adhesive capsulitis (n, %)		0.043*		0.829*		0.813*		0.016*
No	8 (2-10)		3 (0-10)		55.8 (13.6-95.0)		12 (1-21)	
Yes	6 (5-7)		2.5 (0-7)		54.5 (25.0-68.1)		19 (17-21)	
* Mann Whitney U Test, ** Kruskal Wallis Test (aMa	inn Whitney U	Test with Bo	onferroni correc	tion; the diffe	rence between the two gro	oups is statistic	ally significant, p<0	.01)

Table 3. Comparison of som	e clin	ical and MRI	findi	ngs according	g to	sleeping po	siti	ons					
	n	Fetus position	n	Prone Position	n	Starfish position	n	Soldier position	n	Yearner position	n	Log position	Р
Pain at motion (VAS) [median (min-max)]	33	8 (5-9)	16	8 (4-10)	3	5 (3-7)	3	8 (7-10)	16	7 (2-10)	5	7 (7-8)	0.084*
Pain at rest (VAS) [median (min-max)]	12	7.5 (5-9)	9	7 (6-10)	3	5 (5-9)	4	7.5 (7-9)	8	7.5 (6-9)	3	9 (5-10)	0.798*
SST [median (min-max)]	45	2 (0-8)a	25	3 (0-8)	6	7 (1-8)a	7	2 (0-4)a	24	4 (0-10)	8	3 (0-5)	0.057*
Quick dash test [median (min-max)]	45	61.3 (22.8-86.3)	25	56.8 (18.1-90.9)	6	32.1 (27.2-95)	7	51.5 (43.1-77.2)	24	44.2 (13.6-86.3)	8	59.7 (25-75)	0.226*
PSQI [median (min-max)]	45	12 (2-19)	25	15 (4-21)	6	14 (2-21)	7	18 (2-21)	24	10 (1-21)	8	17 (2-21)	0.626*
Acromioclavicular degenera	tion (1	n, %)											0.618**
No	41	91.1	22	88.0	5	83.3	6	85.7	24	100.0	7	87.5	
Yes	4	8.9	3	12.0	1	16.7	1	14.3	0	0.0	1	12.5	
Supraspinatus degeneration	(n, %))											0.931**
No	24	53.3	15	60.0	4	66.7	5	71.4	13	54.2	5	62.5	
Yes	21	46.7	10	40.0	2	33.3	2	28.6	11	45.8	3	37.5	
Impingement (n, %)													0.179**
No	42	93.3	23	92.0	4	66.7	6	85.7	23	95.8	6	75.0	
Yes	3	6.7	2	8.0	2	33.3	1	14.3	1	4.2	2	25.0	
Bicipital tendinitis (n, %)													0.135**
No	42	93.3	21	84.0	6	100.0	5	71.4	18	75.0	8	100.0	
Yes	3	6.7	4	16.0	0	0.0	2	28.6	6	25.0	0	0.0	
Combined problems (n, %)													0.707**
No	35	77.8	21	84.0	5	83.3	6	85.7	21	87.5	8	100.0	
Yes	10	22.2	4	16.0	1	16.7	1	14.3	3	12.5	0	0.0	
Adhesive capsulitis (n, %)													0.166**
No	44	97.8	25	100.0	6	100.0	7	100.0	23	95.8	6	75.0	
Yes	1	2.2	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0	1	4.2	2	25.0	

* Kruskal Wallis Test (aMann Whitney U Test with Bonferroni correction; the difference between the two groups is statistically significant, p<0.008), ** Chi-square Test

Table 4. Logistic re	egression	analysis	for supr	aspinatus dege	neration
	В	SE**	OR**	%95 CI**	р
Occupation (ref=housewife)					0.120*
Occupation (blue-collar)	0.912	0.615	2.488	0.745-8.314	0.139*
Occupation (white-collar)	1.218	0.553	3.380	1.143-9.996	0.028*
Occupation (retired)	0.368	0.544	1.445	0.497-4.200	0.499*
Simple shoulder test	0.119	0.082	1.127	0.960-1.322	0.144*
Constant	-1.068	0.358	0.344		0.003

* Multivariate (Binary) Logistic Regression Test (Backward: LR), (Omnibus Tests of Model Coefficients =0.037, Nagelkerke R Square=0.114, Hosmer and Lemeshow Test=0.627), ** SE=Standard error, OR=Odds Ratio, CI=Confidence interval, *** Age, gender, educational attainment, occupation, VAS, Simple shoulder test and Pittsburg sleep quality test were included in the model.

Table 5. Logistic regression analysis for acromioclavicular degeneration					
	В	SE**	OR**	%95 CI**	р
VAS	-0.373	0.180	0.689	0.484-0.980	0.038*
BMI	0.156	0.076	1.169	1.007-1.356	0.040*
Constant	-4.168	2.417	0.015		0.085

* Multivariate (Binary) Logistic Regression Test (Backward: LR), (Omnibus Tests of Model Coefficients =0.016, Nagelkerke R Square=0.155, Hosmer and Lemeshow Test=0.177), ** SE=Standard error, OR=Odds Ratio, CI=Confidence interval, *** Age, gender, BMI, VAS, Simple shoulder test, Quick dash test were included in the model

DISCUSSION

When the shoulder pathologies were examined according to the sleeping positions of patients with shoulder pain, it was found that the rates of acromioclavicular degeneration were higher in those sleeping in the starfish position, and the rates of supraspinatus lesions were higher in those sleeping in the fetus position. Moreover, it was determined that age was predictive in all shoulder pathologies, pain scale scores were higher in patients with combined shoulder disorders, and sleep quality was worse in patients diagnosed with adhesive capsulitis.

Pathologies of the supraspinatus tendon are the most common causes of shoulder pain and dysfunction. The incidence of shoulder pain is increased in activities in which the arms are held above the head. Therefore, different sleeping positions may affect shoulder pain and pathologies in different ways. Holdaway et al. (10) believe that prone and starfish sleeping positions are the most risky because keeping the arms above the head leads to the narrowing of the subacromial space and increases intra-articular pressure, and the RC mechanism is compressed between the acromion, coracoacromial ligament, coracoid process, and ACJ. Zenian reported that the risk of pain in the shoulder on which one lies increases in the lateral recumbent position (11). In their study, Werner et al. (12) defined 4 different sleep positions and measured the subacromial pressure with the catheter inserted in the SA-SD bursa, and observed the lowest pressure in the supine sleeping position (soldier position) and the highest pressure in the supine position with the arms next to the head, prone (prone-starfish) and lateral recumbent positions. Karabay et al. (13) found that the risk of pain caused by shoulder movement, SIS, and partial supraspinatus tendon rupture increased in the most preferred "fetus" position, which is a lateral recumbent position. In our study, in compliance with the literature, supraspinatus degeneration rates were found to be highest in those sleeping in the fetus position. There is a smaller contact area between the body and the bed in the lateral recumbent position than in the supine or prone positions, so more pressure is placed on the shoulders. Measuring skin pressure, Seiler et al. (14) showed that body weight creates more pressure on the shoulder contact area in the lateral recumbent position than in the supine position.

It was observed in our study that adhesive capsulitis did not develop in any of the participants sleeping in the "soldier" position, which did not increase the subacromial pressure, and of those sleeping in the prone and starfish positions. In addition, it was found that biceps tenosynovitis did not develop at all in those sleeping in the starfish and log positions. Holdaway et al. (10) reported that sleep positions that do not increase subacromial pressure are preferred in patients with shoulder pain. These results suggest that shoulder pathologies may occur due to the sleeping position and that patients may choose a sleeping position in which they will feel less pain. Therefore, it is possible to say that there is an inevitable relationship between sleeping positions and shoulder pain: sleeping position may be the cause of pain or it may be used as a measure to protect/recover from pain, or the sleeping position may be a result of shoulder pain.

According to Neer, osteophytes that develop due to degenerative changes that occur with age in ACJ cause impingement syndrome by extending into the subacromial space (15-16). In line with the literature, our study shows that the incidence of shoulder pathologies increases with age.

At the beginning of the twentieth century, Ernest Amory Codman reported in his studies that pain and movement limitations in shoulder abduction without trauma were caused by complete and partial RC muscle tears, as well as SA bursitis (17-20). Similarly, in our study, impingement and supraspinatus pathologies were observed at a higher rate in those sleeping in the starfish position in which the arms were slightly abducted. The most well-known and widely accepted association between sleep and shoulder pain is that shoulder pain reduces sleep quality (21-22). Patients with shoulder pain experience sleep problems in a spectrum between feeling tired when they wake up in the morning, and waking up in the middle of the night and taking painkillers to relieve the pain (23). Our study found that most of the patients had poor sleep quality and this rate was higher in those over 50 years of age. Apart from sleep quality, another possible relationship between shoulder pain and sleep is due to sleep posture. In the study published by Werner et al. in 2010 on the subject, a pressure-measuring catheter was inserted into the SA bursa in 20 healthy volunteers, and the amount of SA pressure and pressure changes were recorded during four different arm positions and body posture combinations. The results revealed that SA pressure was higher on the shoulder on which the participant was lying and on the shoulder with the arm being abducted (24). It can be thought that having pain in the shoulder will prevent the person from lying on that shoulder, and they should turn to the side of the shoulder that does not hurt in order to protect themselves. However, the pain in question here is not a rapidly transmitted one that is observed in acute situations such as fractures, which undergo rapid changes when moving. The pain occurring with SIS is blunt and is slowly transmitted. Since the pain does not occur suddenly or increase with pressure, it does not prevent the person from lying on the aching shoulder (25). Our study revealed that most of the patients with poor sleep quality have increased pain at night. These findings suggested that sleep disorder could effect daily life of patients negatively and the patients with shoulder pain need to be further researched in terms of night pain.

The limitations of our study are as follows: the sleeping positions of the patients were recorded based on their own statements, and more objective and indicative data such as polysomnography were not obtained, the distribution within the groups was heterogeneous and there was no control group. On the other hand, among the strengths of the study are the patients were evaluated based on their MRI findings and tests assessing shoulder pain and function in detail.

In conclusion, it should be taken into consideration that evaluating sleep positions can be guiding in providing treatment for shoulder pain, which is one of the problems that can significantly affect daily life activities and the labor force and recommending correct and appropriate sleeping positions can be a useful treatment method in reducing pain and increasing sleep quality.

ETHICAL DECLARATIONS

Ethics Committee Approval: Approval for the study was granted by the Adana Çukurova University Balcalı Hospital Clinical Trials Ethics Committee (Date: 12.02.2021, Decision No: 55).

Informed Consent: Because the study was designed retrospectively, no written informed consent form was obtained from patients.

Referee Evaluation Process: Externally peer-reviewed. Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors have no

conflicts of interest to declare.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

Author Contributions: All of the authors declare that they have all participated in the design, execution, and analysis of the paper, and that they have approved the final version.

REFERENCES

- Filiz MB, Çakır T. Omuz ağrıları tedavisinde konservatif yaklaşım. Turkiye Klinikleri Physical Medicine Rehabilitation-Special Topics 2014; 7: 52-9.
- 2. Kelle B, Kozanoğlu E. Lokalize omuz ağrıları ve tedavi yaklaşımları. ADU Tıp Fakültesi Dergisi 2013; 14: 59-65.
- 3. Matsen FA III, Arntz CT. Subacromial impingement. In: Rockwood CD Jr, Matsen FA III, eds. The Shoulder. 2nd ed. Philadelphia: WB Saunders; 1990. p.623-45.
- Bhattacharyya R, Edwards K, Wallace AW. Does arthroscopic sub-acromial decompression really work for sub-acromial impingement syndrome: a cohort study. BMC Musculoskelet Disord 2014; 15: 324.
- Dalton SE. The shoulder. In: Hochberg MC, Silman AJ, Smolen JS, Weinblatt M, Weisman MH, eds: Rheumatology. 3rd ed. Mosby London; 2003. p. 615-23.
- Consigliere P, Haddo O, Levy O, Sforza G. Subacromial impingement syndrome: management challenges. Orthop Res Rev 2018; 10: 83-91.
- 7. Zenian J. Sleep position and shoulder pain. Med Hypotheses 2010; 74: 639-43.
- 8. Belzer JP, Durkin RC. Common disorders of the shoulder. Prim Care 1996; 23: 365-88.
- 9. Wehby CT, Wehby JH. Sleep shoulder syndrome. Ohio State Med J 1980; 76: 691-2.
- 10.Holdaway LA, Hegmann KT, Thiese MS, Kapellusch J. Is sleep position associated with glenohumeral shoulder pain and rotator cuff tendinopathy: a cross-sectional study. BMC Musculoskelet Disord 2018; 19: 408.
- 11.Zenian J. Sleep position and shoulder pain. Med Hypotheses 2010; 74: 639-43.
- 12. Werner CML, Blumenthal S, Curt A, Gerber C. Subacromial pressures in vivo and effects of selective experimental suprascapular nerve block. J Shoulder Elbow Surg 2006; 15: 319-23.
- Karabay İ, Yaşar E, Tezel K, Demir Y, Gürçay E. Does the sleeping position affect shoulder pain? a clinical and sonographic study. J PMR Sci 2020; 23: 174-82.
- 14.Seiler WO, Allen S, Stähelin BH. Influence of the 30 laterally inclined position and the "super-soft" 3-piece mattress on skin oxygen tension on areas of maximum pressure implications for pressure sore prevention. Gerontology 1986; 32: 158-66.

- 15. Neer CS. Anterior acromioplasty for the chronic impingement syndrome in the shoulder: a preliminary report. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 1972; 54: 41-50.
- 16. Neer CS, Kirby RM. Revision of humeral head and total shoulder arthroplasties. Clin Orthop Relat Res 1982; 170: 189-95.
- 17.Codmnan EA. On Stiff and Painful Shoulders. Bost Med Surg J 1906; 154: 613-20.
- Singh B, Bakti N, Gulihar A. Current concepts in the diagnosis and treatment of shoulder impingement. Indian J Orthop 2017; 51: 516-23.
- 19.Codman EA. Rupture of the supraspinatus tendon. 1911. Clin Orthop Relat Res 1990; 224: 3-26.
- 20. Codman EA, Akerson IB. The pathology associated with rupture of the supraspinatus tendon. Ann Surg 1931; 93: 348- 59.
- 21. Mulligan EP, Brunette M, Shirley Z, Khazzam M. Sleep quality and nocturnal pain in patients with shoulder disorders. J Shoulder Elb Surg 2015; 24: 1452-7.
- 22. Cho C-H, Jung S-W, Park J-Y, Song K-S, Yu K-I. Is shoulder pain for three months or longer correlated with depression, anxiety, and sleep disturbance? J Shoulder Elb Surg 2013; 22: 222-8.
- 23. Tekeoglu I, Ediz L, Hiz O, Toprak M, Yazmalar L, Karaaslan G. The relationship between shoulder impingement syndrome and sleep quality. Eur Rev Med Pharmacol Sci 2013; 17: 370-4.
- 24.Werner CML, Ossendorf C, Meyer DC, Blumenthal S, Gerber C. Subacromial pressures vary with simulated sleep positions. J Shoulder Elb Surg 2010; 19: 989-93.
- 25. Arendt-Nielsen L, Fernández-de-Las-Peñas C, Graven-Nielsen T. Basic aspects of musculoskeletal pain: from acute to chronic pain. J Man Manip Ther 2011; 19: 186-93.

Evaluation of the alteration in retinal features following bariatric surgery in patients with morbid obesity

Derived Ferhat Cay¹, DGözde Sahin Vural²

¹Balıkesir University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of General Surgery Balıkesir, Turkey ²Balıkesir University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Ophthalmology, Balıkesir, Turkey

Cite this article as: Çay F, Şahin Vural G. Evaluation of the alteration in retinal features following bariatric surgery in patients with morbid obesity. J Health Sci Med 2022; 5(3): 789-793.

ABSTRACT

Aim: The aim of the study is to evaluate the effect of bariatric surgery on the retina and choroid in non-diabetic and non-hypertensive patients with morbid obesity using optic coherence tomography (OCT) retrospectively.

Material and Method: Seventy-four eyes of seventy-four patients who have been underwent sleeve gasterectomy for morbid obesity in Balıkesir University Medicine Faculty & February 2019 and November 2020 were evaluated. All participants has a detailed ophthalmologic examination including best-corrected visual acuity (BCVA), intraocular pressure (IOP), slit-lamp biomicroscopy, retinal examination through non-dilated pupil via 90 D fundus lens, the retinal thickness (central, perifoveal, and parafoveal superior/nasal/inferior/temporal quadrants), and choroidal thickness through optic coherence tomography (RTVue XR Avanti, Optovue) in immediate preoperative and postoperative sixth-month. All values were compared.

Results: The macular thickness was increased significantly in all quadrants in postoperative visits (p<0.05). There was no change in choroidal thickness with surgery (p:0.898). The change in BMI was found correlated with the postoperative paranasal macular thickness (R:0.273, p:0.024) and mean macular thickness (R: 0.244, p: 0.045). There was no correlation between preoperative BMI, and preoperative/postoperative macular thickness (p<0.05). The correlation between preoperative BMI and preoperative choroidal thickness was significant (R: 0.416, p<0.05).

Conclusion: In patients with morbid obesity, the retinal thickness increases with an effective BMI change after bariatric surgery while choroidal thickness was not affected. The effective weight loss has a significant effect on retinal structure.

Keywords: Morbid obesity, sleeve gastrectomy, retinal thickness, choroidal thickness, optic coherence tomography

INTRODUCTION

The prevalence of obesity has been a huge burden worldwide in recent years. There are more than 1.9 billion overweight adults over the age of 18, and approximately 650 million of them are obese (1). The diagnosis of obesity and morbid obesity is depended on body mass index (BMI), which is calculated as weight/height2 (kg/ m^2). The definition of obesity is a BMI over 29.99 kg/ m^2 , obese class I BMI 30.00-34.99, obese class II BMI 35-39.99, and obese class III or morbidly obese BMI \geq 40 kg/ m². Another definition of morbid obesity is a BMI \geq 35 kg/m² with concomitant health problems (2). Morbid obesity is associated with significant comorbidities, such as systemic diseases (diabetes mellitus, cardiovascular diseases, hypertension, etc.), and also ocular diseases such as glaucoma, age-related macular degeneration, and cataracts (3,4).

The treatment of morbid obesity with bariatric surgery has been popular in recent years. Besides the effect of weight loss, bariatric surgery provides an improvement in other comorbidities (5). The frequently used technique is sleeve gastrectomy, which is carried out by removing 80% of total stomach volume including the fundus and major curvature of the stomach. As a result of the surgery, the amount of food intake is reduced, and the hormone secretion that increases appetite decreases, and weight loss occur (6).

Obesity is a multisystemic disease, and it affects all tissues as well as the eye. The effects of obesity on ocular tissues have been reported in previous studies (7-9). Especially, the changes in the retina due to microvascular damage and inflammation may be observed. The effect of bariatric surgery on the retina and choroid is still



Corresponding Author: Ferhat ÇAY, cayferhat@gmail.com

controversial. In the light of these information, the aim of this study is to evaluate the changes in retina and choroid after bariatric surgery in patients with morbid obesity at the time of effective weight loss (10). In our opinion, this study has the largest case number in literature which obtain the alterations in retinal structure.

MATERIAL AND METHOD

The study followed the tenets of the Declaration of Helsinki, and it was approved by the Balıkesir University Faculty of Medicine Clinical Researches Ethics Committee (Date: 11.08.2021, Decision No:2021/168). The written informed consent was obtained from all participants. In this study, seventy-six (n:76) patients who have been diagnosed with morbid obesity (BMI >40 or \geq 35 kg/m² when associated with comorbidities such as arterial hypertension, dyslipidemia, sleep apnea, or diabetes) and performed bariatric surgery between February 2019 and November 2020 at Department of General Surgery in Balıkesir University were evaluated. In each visit, BMI, abdominal circumference (AC), heart-rate, systolic and diastolic blood pressure, blood sugar were recorded. The patients who were candidate for sleeve gastrectomy was consulted to the department of ophthalmology for routine ophthalmic examinations at the immediate preoperative period and postoperative sixth months. The patients who have been performed sleeve gastrectomy were included while two patients who underwent Roux-en-Y gastric bypass and biliopancreatic diversion with duodenal switch were excluded. Other exclusion criteria were being under the age of 18, the refractive error above 2.00 Diopters (D), best-corrected visual acuity (BCVA) under 8/10, axial length more than 24 mm or less than 21 mm, diabetes mellitus, diabetic retinopathy, systemic hypertension, any type of retinopathy history, drug usage that may cause retinopathy (amiadoron, plaquenil, etc.), glaucoma or glaucoma suspect, history of retinal photocoagulation, history of ocular trauma or intraocular surgery, media opacity that may block the imaging of the retina. In the preoperative period, the blood sugar and Haemoglobin A1c (HbA1c) have been investigated, and the patients with blood sugar more that 110 mg/dL or HbA1c more than %5.5 were also excluded.

All included cases were directed to the Department of Ophtalmology and underwent a detailed ophthalmological examination including refractive error, BCVA, IOP, slit-lamp biomicroscopy, retinal examination through non-dilated pupil via 90 D fundus lens. Additionally, the retinal thickness (central, perifoveal, and parafoveal superior/nasal/inferior/ temporal quadrants), and choroidal thickness were

790

recorded via optic coherence tomography (RTVue XR Avanti, Optovue). The retinal thickness measurements were automatized while the choroidal thickness was measured manually as described in previous studies. The choroidal images were taken in "Enhanced deep imaging-optical coherence tomography" (EDI-OCT) mode. The cursor was placed above the hyperreflective retina pigment epithelium in the subfoveal area and lined towards the choroid-scleral junction. The vertical length of the line was calculated. Three repeated measurements were applied, and the average value was accepted as choroidal thickness. The choroidal thickness evaluation was performed between 9-10 A.M without smoking cigarettes or alcohol/caffeine consumption at least for two hours to prevent being affected by diurnal rhythm, and environmental factors. The data obtained from patients in the pre&post operative period were compared.

Statistical Analysis

Statistical analyses were performed using the Statistical Package for Social Sciences for Windows V.23 (SPSS, Inc, Chicago, Illinois, USA). All values were reported as mean±standard deviation (SD). The normality of the data distribution was evaluated by the Shapiro-Wilk test. For the difference between the parameters in the first and last examination, paired t-test was used for dependent groups, and the chi-square test was used for parametric values. The relationship between the parameters at the first examination and the anatomical changes was evaluated by regression analysis. Spearman correlation analysis was used to understand the relationship between BMI change and retinal thickness. P-value under 0.05 was accepted statistically significant.

RESULTS

The study was initiated with 77 patients with morbid obesity, but the routine ophthalmological examination data of three patients was absent, so three patients were excluded. Finally, the study was included 74 eyes of 74 cases (F/M:52/22). The mean age of the patients was 31.66±9.65 (21-59) years. In the preoperative and postoperative period, the mean BMI was 43.12±2.13, and 31.71±4.82 kg/m² (p<0.05), and AC was 132.97±6.17 and 108.38±6.26 cm (p<0.05), respectively. The mean BMI change was 14.71±5.32 (6-26) kg/m². The mean BCVA was 0.98±0.11 and 1.00±0 (p:0.170), IOP was 18.07±3.35 mmHg and 15.40±3.00 mmHg (p<0.05) in preoperative and postoperative visit, respectively. The macular thickness was increased significantly in all quadrants in postoperative visits (p<0.05). There was no change in choroidal thickness with surgery (p:0.898) (Table 1).

retinal and choroidal thickness in preoperative and postoperative sixth-months after bariatric surgery in morbidly obese patients					
	Preoperative (n:74)	Postoperative (n:74)	p value		
Body-mass Index (BMI)	43.12±2.13	31.71±4.82	< 0.05*		
Abdominal Circumference (AC)	132.97±6.17	108.38±6.26	< 0.05*		
Visual Acuity	$0.98 {\pm} 0.11$	1.00	0.170		
Intraocular Pressure (IOP)	18.07±3.35	15.40±3.00	< 0.05*		
Central Macular Thickness	231.18±27.31	242.56±29.71	< 0.05*		
Parafoveal Macular Th	ickness				
•Superior	305.65 ± 13.74	$320.44{\pm}16.92$	< 0.05*		
•Nasal	300.76±17.10	309.43±17.64	< 0.05*		
•Inferior	303.00 ± 20.72	313.81±20.09	< 0.05*		
•Temporal	295.41 ± 20.07	307.94±19.10	< 0.05*		
Perifoveal Macular Thi	ickness				
•Superior	276.44±14.27	$283.90{\pm}12.90$	< 0.05*		
•Nasal	278.59 ± 19.96	$274.94{\pm}17.88$	< 0.05*		
 Inferior 	265.54±19.16	$274.94{\pm}17.88$	< 0.05*		
•Temporal	267.85 ± 22.33	278.57 ± 21.60	< 0.05*		
Mean Retinal Thickness	279.40±9.92	289.81±11.19	< 0.05*		
Subfoveal Choroidal Thickness	250.99±34.35	251.59±22.31	0.898		
p value: statittically significance ratio					

The change in BMI was found correlated with the postoperative paranasal macular thickness (R:0.273, p:0.024) and mean macular thickness (R: 0.244, p: 0.045). There was no correlation between preoperative BMI, and preoperative / postoperative macular thickness (p>0.05). The correlation between preoperative BMI and preoperative choroidal thickness was significant (R: 0.416, p<0.05).

DISCUSSION

In this study, we investigated the effect of the change in BMI after bariatric surgery on retina and choroid in patients with morbid obesity and resulted that the retinal thickness increases with an effective BMI after surgery while choroidal thickness was not affected. Doğan et al. (11) showed a significant decrease in central and total macular thickness in the third and sixth months after surgery, and the increase was in the normal range. They commented that the increase in macular thickness may be related to the decrease in macular pigment density in the foveal area. Lutein and zeaxanthin locate in the fovea, and play a role as a blue-light filter to block ultraviolet (UV) light. In patients with obesity, the density of macular pigments decreases due to accumulation in the adipose tissue, and the density returns to normal levels after weight loss with bariatric surgery and the macular thickness increases. Similarly, Laigin et al. (8) detected increased macular thickness and no change in choroidal thickness after bariatric surgery. Additionally, they examined the inner and outer layers of the retina and resulted that the main reason for increase in the retinal thickness was related to inner retinal layers while outer retinal layers have not an influence. As known, the balance between vasoconstrictor and vasodilator mediators is disturbed in favor of vasoconstrictors in patients with obesity (12). The vasoconstrictor mediators such as angiotensinogen and endothelin-1 (ET-1), which increase in patients with obesity, cause vasospasm in the microcirculation and return to normal levels with metabolic control after bariatric surgery (13). We think that there is an increase in retinal thickness associated with the increase in microvascular flow. As proof of this thesis, it has been shown that there is an increase in central retinal artery flow after bariatric surgery with Doppler ultrasonographic studies (7). To reveal the effects of vasoactive substances on retinal blood flow, OCT-Angio studies that show the vascular structure of the retina in more detail should be helded. Since the increase in retinal thickness after surgery was still within the normal range, we should consider this not as macular edema, but an atrophic retina recovering normal limits. Thus, systemic inflammation in patients with obesity may cause atrophy in the retina as well as all tissues. The level of systemic inflammatory markers is increased in obesity (14-17). Since we did not compare the data of patients with obesity with controls, it is not possible to claim whether the retina was atrophic in the preoperative period. However, we can comment that the inhibition of inflammation after surgery leads to improvement in the retina.

According to the results, there was no significant change in choroidal thickness after surgery. Since we did not compare choroidal thickness measurement in the preoperative period with the control group, we could not exactly claim about the changes in choroidal thickness in obesity. Gönul et al. (9) compared the patients with morbid obesity with control group and found that choroidal thickness was increased in patients with obesity compared to the normal population. Similarly, in this study, although patients with obesity were not compared with the control group, a significant correlation was found between preoperative BMI and subfoveal choroidal thickness even if we could not study on controls (R: 0.416, p<0.05). The increased choroidal thickness may be associated with venous congestion. Consistent with our results, Bulus et al. (18) showed that the choroidal thickness increase in patients with obesity, and that BMI and subfoveal choroidal thickness were correlated. The authors attributed this to the increased leptin and obesityrelated inflammatory factors in patients with obesity.

Yumusak et al. (19) also found a positive correlation between BMI and choroidal thickness. In patients with obesity, the intraorbital fat volume may expand likewise visceral adipose tissue, and it may lead to an increase in venous pressure, and an increase in choroidal thickness which is fed by the veins. After surgery, the decrease in choroidal venous congestion with decreased intraorbital pressure is expected (20). In this study, the change in choroidal thickness was not significant even the IOP was decreased significantly. In contrast, it has been shown that the choroidal thickness is not different from the normal population (21), or thinner (11,22,23) in previous studies. This result can be associated with the follow-up duration. The postoperative measurements were recorded at sixth-month when the structural changes initiate (10). Since the changes in choroidal thickness may occur in a long time (24), we think that the different results may be obtained if a longer followup time was required. In contrast to our results, Dogan et al. (11) found a significant increase in choroidal thickness even in the immediate postoperative period. The controversial results may be related to the difference in choroidal measurement methods, and the choroidal thickness is also affected by many environmental factors (19). We measured choroidal thickness in accordance with the diurnal rhythm, and without smoking cigarettes or alcohol/caffeine consumption in order to minimize the effect of choroidal thickness. Additionally, the multivariate regression analysis was helded to reveal the relationship between preoperative choroidal thickness, and preoperative BMI, AC, central macular thickness to support our results. The preoperative BMI was found significantly correlated with preoperative BMI and AC (respectively; R:0.383 p:0.024, R: 0.264 p: 0.015). The evaluation with new methods, such as OCT-A may be useful in determining the vascular density and flow index to reach more reliable results.

There are a few limitations of this study. First of all, the relatively small number of patients with single-center limits the diversity of data. Also, the sub-analyses about the retinal layers (inner/outer) were not performed. We have not compared the preoperative data of patients with morbid obesity with the control group, so we could not comment that whether the preoperative results were in the normal range. Additionally, the choroidal thickness measurements were made manually, because the device has not an automatic software to quantify choroidal thickness. To deal with this, three repetitive measurements in two different visits were recorded, and the average of values was accepted as correct. Although the follow-up period was six months when the effective weight loss was achieved, the long-term results were not concluded.

CONCLUSION

We evaluated the effect of bariatric surgery on the posterior segment in patients with morbid obesity by excluding the influence of diabetes mellitus and hypertension which are frequently encountered as risk factors for retinopathy. The thickening in all retinal quadrants was detected after bariatric surgery while choroidal thickness had no change. The multi-center studies with larger series are needed for more reliable results.

ETHICAL DECLARATIONS

Ethics Committee Approval: The study was carried out with the permission of Balıkesir University Faculty of Medicine Clinical Researches Ethics Committee (Date: 11.08.2021, Decision No:2021/168)

Informed Consent: The written informed consent was obtained from all participants.

Referee Evaluation Process: Externally peer-reviewed.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The author has no conflicts of interest to declare.

Financial Disclosure: The author declared that this study has received no financial support.

Author Contributions: The author declare that they have all participated in the design, execution, and analysis of the paper, and that they have approved the final version.

REFERENCES

- 1. Dogan B, Erol MK, Dogan U, et al. The retinal nerve fiber layer, choroidal thickness, and central macular thickness in morbid obesity: An evaluation using spectral-domain optical coherence tomography. Eur Rev Med Pharmacol Sci 2016; 20: 886-91.
- 2. Obesity and overweight [Internet]. [cited 2021 Aug 24].
- 3. Grundy SM. Metabolic complications of obesity. Endocrine 2000; 13: 155-65.
- 4. Cheung N, Wong TY. Obesity and eye diseases. Surv Ophthalmol 2007; 52: 180-95.
- Segal JB, Clark JM, Shore AD, et al. Prompt reduction in use of medications for comorbid conditions after bariatric surgery. Obes Surg 2009; 19: 1646-56.
- 6. Chang S, Stoll CRT, Song J, Varela JE, Eagon CJ, Colditz GA. The effectiveness and risks of bariatric surgery: an updated systematic review and meta-analysis, 2003-2012. JAMA Surg 2014; 149: 275-87.
- 7. Brynskov T, Laugesen CS, Floyd AK, Sørensen TL. Thickening of inner retinal layers in the parafovea after bariatric surgery in patients with type 2 diabetes. Acta Ophthalmol 2016; 94: 668-74.
- 8. Laiginhas R, Guimarães M, Cardoso P, et al. Bariatric surgery induces retinal thickening without affecting the retinal nerve fiber layer independent of diabetic status. Obes Surg 2020; 30: 4877-84.
- 9. Gonul S, Yilmaz H, Gedik S, Ozturk BT, Oflaz AB, Sahin M. Evaluation of the choroidal thickness and retinal nerve fiber layer, and visual field in morbid obesity: Does bariatric surgery affect retinal structure and function? Indian J Ophthalmol 2020; 69: 301-6.

- 10.Subramaniam K, Low W-Y, Lau P-C, et al. Eating behaviour predicts weight loss six months after bariatric surgery: a longitudinal study. Nutr 2018; 10: 1616.
- 11.Dogan B, Dogan U, Erol MK, Habibi M, Bulbuller N. Optical coherence tomography parameters in morbidly obese patients who underwent laparoscopic sleeve gastrectomy. J Ophthalmol 2016; 2016.
- 12.Grizelj I, Cavka A, Bian J, et al. Reduced flow-and acetylcholineinduced dilations in visceral compared to subcutaneous adipose arterioles in human morbid obesity. Microcirculation 2015; 22: 44-53.
- 13. Tarzia P, Lanza G, Sestito A, et al. Long-term effects of bariatric surgery on peripheral endothelial function and coronary microvascular function. Obes Res Clin Pract 2017; 11: 114-7.
- 14.Donath MY, Shoelson SE. Type 2 diabetes as an inflammatory disease. Nat Rev Immunol 2011; 11: 98-107.
- Chawla A, Nguyen KD, Goh YPS. Macrophage-mediated inflammation in metabolic disease. Nat Rev Immunol 2011: 738-49.
- 16. Ouchi N, Parker JL, Lugus JJ, Walsh K. Adipokines in inflammation and metabolic disease. Nat Rev Immunol 2011: 85-97.
- 17. Hotamisligil GS, Arner P, Caro JF, Atkinson RL, Spiegelman BM. Increased adipose tissue expression of tumor necrosis factor-α in human obesity and insulin resistance. J Clin Invest 1995; 95: 2409-15.
- Bulus AD, Can ME, Baytaroglu A, Can GD, Cakmak HB, Andiran N. Choroidal thickness in childhood obesity. Ophthalmic Surg Lasers Imaging Retin 2017; 48: 10-7.
- Yumusak E, Ornek K, Durmaz SA, Cifci A, Guler HA, Bacanli Z. Choroidal thickness in obese women. BMC Ophthalmol 2016; 16: 1.
- 20. Stojanov O, Stokic E, Šveljo O, Naumovic N. Uticaj retrobulbarnog masnog tkiva na intraokularni pritisak kod gojaznih osoba. Vojnosanit Pregl 2013; 70: 469-76.
- Panon N, Luangsawang K, Rugaber C, et al. Correlation between body mass index and ocular parameters. Clin Ophthalmol 2019; 13: 755-62.
- 22. Teberik K, Eski MT, Doğan S, Pehlivan M, Kaya M. Ocular abnormalities in morbid obesity. Arq Bras Oftalmol 2019; 82: 6-11.
- 23.Baran R, Baran S, Toraman N, Filiz S, Demirbilek H. Evaluation of intraocular pressure and retinal nerve fiber layer, retinal ganglion cell, central macular thickness, and choroidal thickness using optical coherence tomography in obese children and healthy controls. Niger J Clin Pract 2019; 22: 539-45.
- 24.Tanabe H, Ito Y, Iguchi Y, Ozawa S, Ishikawa K, Terasaki H. Correlation between cross-sectional shape of choroidal veins and choroidal thickness. Jpn J Ophthalmol 2011; 55: 614-9.

HEALTH SCIENCES **MEDICINE**

Early and late results of intravenous immunoglobulin as potential adjuvant therapies in critically ill COVID-19 patients: a retrospective cohort study

[®]Canan Gürsoy¹, [®]Özge Oral Tapan², [®]Emrah Doğan³, [®]Sinan Pektaş¹, [®]Semra Gümüs Demirbilek¹

¹Muğla Sıtkı Koçman University, Department of Department of Anesthesiology and Reanimation, Muğla, Turkey ²Muğla Sıtkı Koçman University, Department of Chest Diseases, Muğla, Turkey ³Muğla Sıtkı Koçman University, Department of Radiology, Muğla, Turkey

Cite this article as: Gürsoy C, Oral Tapan Ö, Doğan E, Pektaş S, Gümüs Demirbilek S. Early and late results of intravenous immunoglobulin as potential adjuvant therapies in critically ill COVID-19 patients: a retrospective cohort study. J Health Sci Med 2022; 5(3): 794-798.

ABSTRACT

Introduction: Intravenous immunoglobulin (IVIG), which is one of the adjuvant therapy strategies, has been started to be used in critically ill COVID-19 patients due to its anti-inflammatory and immunomodulatory effects.

Material and Method: In our study, it was aimed to evaluate the effect of IVIG used in critically ill COVID-19 patients in the intensive care unit on early laboratory findings and late lung damage. Twenty-two critically ill COVID-19 patients who met the inclusion criteria were included in the study. Laboratory data of the patients who received 0.4 gr/kg/day IVIG for 5 days were analyzed before the treatment and on the 1st and 5th days of the treatment. For the percentage of injured lung areas was evaluated with chest CT.

Results: Respiratory rate and CRP decreased with IVIG, while an increase was observed in PaO₂/FiO₂, WBC, lymphocyte count, D-Dimer and fibrinogen values, which was statistically significant (p<0.05). When IL-6 values before treatment and on the 3rd day of treatment were compared, it was observed that there was a statistically significant decrease (p<0.001). A statistically significant improvement in lung damage was found when the average percentage of injured lung area calculated from chest CT taken at hospitalization and 1 month after discharge was compared (p<0.001).

Conclusion: IVIG can be considered as an effective adjuvant therapy because it causes improvement in oxygenation, clinical symptoms and hyperinflammatory response. It should not be forgotten that it also provides improvement in the damaged lung areas in the late period.

Keywords: COVID-19, immunoglobulin, IVIG, pneumonia

INTRODUCTION

Coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19), caused by severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2), can be asymptomatic depending on the host's immune response and comorbidities, or it can cause lifethreatening multi-organ dysfunction. In severe cases with refractory hypoxemia and developing acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS), mortality is determined by factors such as age, hypertension and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, while the limited number of devices and intensive care beds in the health care system cannot meet the needs (1). In order to reduce the pressure of the disease on the health system, national and global vaccination programs have been initiated. Vaccination aims to reduce the severity of the disease and decrease mortality rates. Despite the rapid increase in vaccination rates all over the world, the emerging COVID-19 variants and the lack of effective treatment show that the pandemic remains serious. Today, while efficacy studies on vaccines continue, the role of adjuvant therapies such as convalescent plasma treatment, immunoglobulins, inflammatory modulators and stem cell therapies used against COVID-19 in the treatment is still being investigated (2).

Intravenous immunoglobulin (IVIG) has the ability to provide passive immunity against various pathogens and also can reduce the uncontrolled hyperinflammatory response against SARS-CoV-2 and inflammationrelated lung damage by creating immunomodulation

Corresponding Author: Özge Oral Tapan, ozgeeoral@hotmail.com



in severely and critically ill COVID-19 patients (3). However, the routine use of IVIG in the treatment of COVID-19 is controversial due to the lack of adequate clinical studies.

In this study, we aimed to present the effect of IVIG therapy used in critically ill COVID-19 patients in the intensive care unit (ICU) on symptoms, laboratory findings and percentage of injured lung area (ILA).

MATERIAL AND METHOD

After obtaining approval from the Ethical Committee for Clinical Researches of the Muğla Sıtkı Koçman University (Date: 03/02/2021, Decision No: 3/V), patients who were followed up in the Intensive Care Unit due to COVID-19related acute respiratory failure (ARF) and were treated with IVIG at a dose of 0,4 mg/kg/day for 5 days in the years 2020 and 2021 were included in the study. All procedures were carried out in accordance with the ethical rules and the principles of the Declaration of Helsinki. Medical records of 31 patients were reviewed retrospectively. Patients younger than 18 years of age, incomplete medical data and patients for whom 5-day IVIG treatment could not be completed were excluded (**Figure 1**).



Figure 1. Flow chart displaying selective and exclusive process of patients with COVID-19 in the current study

Age, gender, APACHE II score, comorbidities, steroid use, presence of intubation, the day of initiation of IVIG treatment, number of days of hospitalization in the ICU and discharge status of the 22 patients included in the study were recorded. Before IVIG treatment, on the 1st, 3rd, and 5th days of the treatment, Sequential Organ Failure Assessment (SOFA) Score, the ratio of arterial partial pressure of oxygen to fraction of inspired oxygen (PaO₂/FIO₂), respiratory rate (RR), white blood cell (WBC), lymphocyte, Lactate dehydrogenase (LDH), C-Reactive protein (CRP), D-Dimer, fibrinogen values were recorded. Interleukin-6 Cytokine (IL-6) values were noted before and on the 3rd day of treatment. All these data were considered as early results.

For late-term results, ILA percentages were calculated from thorax computed tomography taken at the time of admission to the ICU and 1 month after discharge. The percentage of ILA was calculated using chest CT taken during diagnosis of patients. Chest CT shots were obtained without contrast agent injection, during deep inspiration, in the supine position. The images were evaluated on a high-resolution medical screen. Three lobes on the right lung and 2 lobes on the left lung were examined separately. Each lobe was accepted by 20% and lobe volume was measured. The areas in the view of the consolidated and ground-glass area were calculated by volumetric voxel and calculated on the computer through the program. Their percentages were calculated over the total volume. The percentage values of all lobes were collected and total loss of lung aeration was found.

Statistical Analyses

NCSS (Number Cruncher Statistical System) 2007 (Kaysville, Utah, USA) program was used for statistical analysis. While evaluating the study data, the distribution of the data was evaluated with the Shapiro-Wilk Test as well as the descriptive statistical methods (Mean, Standard Deviation, Median, Frequency, Ratio, Minimum, Maximum).

A total of 22 patients met the enrolment criteria of the study but the sample size was insufficient for comparison analysis in those with exitus. For this reason, comparison analyzes were made on living cases. The Friedman test was used for comparisons of quantitative data over three periods or more that did not show normal distribution. Wilcoxon test was used for comparison of the quantitative data between two periods that did not show normal distribution. Significance was evaluated at the p<0.05 level.

RESULTS

A total of 22 patients met the enrolment criteria of the study. The overall mortality was 18.18% (4/22) so 18 patients was evaluated after excluded exitus patients. The mean age of the patients was 53.64±11.75. Three (16.7%) were females and 15 (83.3%) were males. Eight of the patients (38,9%) had no comorbidities. While 3 (16.7%) of the patients were intubated, non-invasive mechanical ventilation, oxygen mask and/or high-flow oxygen therapy were used in 15 (83.3%) patients. (**Table 1**). The mean of APACHE II was calculated as 10.55±3.19 in the ICU hospitalizations of the patients (**Table 2**).

It was determined that steroids were used together with IVIG in the treatment of all patients. Dexamethasone was used in the treatment of 9 (40.9%) patients, and methylprednisolone was used in 13 (59.1%) patients. And patients received steroids for at least the duration of

IVIG therapy. Patients were treated with IVIG on average 8.95 ± 3.39 days after the onset of the first COVID-19-related symptom. The duration of stay in the ICU was 14.9 ± 10.85 days, and the duration of hospitalization was 26.62 ± 20.74 days (**Table 2**).

Table 3 includes the data of the patients on the 1st, 3rd and 5th days of the treatment, and before IVIG treatment was started. While RR, SOFA, CRP values decreased with IVIG treatment, an increase was observed in PaO₂/ FIO₂, white blood cell, lymphocyte count, D-Dimer and fibrinogen values, which was statistically significant (p<0.05). There was no statistical difference in lactate dehydrogenase and alanine aminotransferase values (p>0.05). While the mean of Interleukin 6 (IL-6) was 225.15±590.97 before IVIG treatment, it was calculated as 14,50±13,85 on the 3rd day of treatment, and this decrease in IL-6 was statistically significant (p<0.001) (**Table 4**). There were no complications associated with IVIG therapy in the patients.

When the average of the percentage of ILA calculated from the chest CT taken at the hospitalization and 1 month after the discharge was compared; It was determined that it regressed from $63.22 \pm 13.76\%$ to $14.50 \pm 13.85\%$, and this improvement was found to be statistically significant (p<0.001) (**Table 5**).

Table 1. Demographic parameters of Patient (1)				
	N (18)	%		
Sex				
Female	3	16.7		
Male	15	83.3		
Comorbidity				
No comorbidity	7	38.9		
Diabetes mellitus	2	11.1		
Hypertension	4	22.2		
Asthma	3	16.7		
CAD	1	5.6		
COPD	1	5.6		
Steroids				
Dexamethasone	9	50.0		
Methylprednisolone	9	50.0		
Intubation				
No	15	83.3		
Yes	3	16.7		

CAD; coronary artery disease, COPD; Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease

Table 2. Demographic parameters of Patients (2)				
	Mean ±Sd	Min-Max (Median)		
Age	53.64±11.75	36-76 (52.5)		
APACHE II	10.55±3.19	6-17 (9.5)		
IVIG starting day	8.95±3.39	4-14 (8.5)		
Length of stay in ICU	14.90 ± 10.85	3-35 (11)		
Length of stay in hospital	26.62±20.74	9-109 (22)		
APACHE II; Acute Physiology and Chronic Health Evaluation II score, ICU; Intensive care unite				

Table 3. Compariso	Table 3. Comparisons of SOFA and blood samples before IVIG treatment, 1st 3rd and 5th days of IVIG treatment					
		Before IVIG	DAY 1	DAY 3	DAY 5	p-value
SOFA	Mean ±Sd Min-Max (Median)	4.33±0.77 4-6 (4)	3.94±0.73 2-6 (4)	2.89±1.57 1-8 (2)	$1.83 \pm 1.1 \\ 1-4 \\ (1.50)$	0.001**
PaO ₂ /FIO ₂	Mean ±Sd Min-Max (Median)	83.50±22.56 60-140 (77.50)	101±29.05 69-189 (94)	112.61±35.57 76-192 (107.50)	135.56±34.51 75-190 (140)	0.001**
RR	Mean ±Sd Min-Max (Median)	31.89±3.14 25-38 (32.50)	29.11±4.06 24-38 (28)	23.06±5.61 14-35 (22)	18.53±2.56 16-25 (18)	0.001**
WBC	Mean ±Sd Min-Max (Median)	11.56±4.41 4.72-22.12 (10.32)	11.67±3.99 4.12-21.9 (11.43)	10.82±3.42 6.83-23 (10.55)	9.27±3.51 5.55-21.9 (8.85)	0.029*
Lymp	Mean ±Sd Min-Max (Median)	0.64 ± 0.22 0.29 - 0.95 (0.65)	$0.66{\pm}0.27 \\ 0.21{-}1.41 \\ (0.61)$	$0.9 \pm 0.38 \\ 0.48 - 1.98 \\ (0.79)$	1.02±0.36 0.37-2.06 (0.99)	0.001**
LDH	Mean ±Sd Min-Max (Median)	403.28±182.54 167-906 (363.50)	427.78±199.53 227-924 (374.50)	458.5±288.03 227 1403 (359.50)	490.39±370.28 190- 1661 (398.50)	0.721
ALT	Mean ±Sd Min-Max (Median)	52.72±44.54 13-198 (34.50)	52.56±52.06 17-246 (40)	55.50±47.65 19-197 (38)	59.22±42.91 24-170 (42)	0.777
CRP	Mean ±Sd Min-Max (Median)	107±80.39 20-327 (87)	92.87±67.12 9.6-246 (74)	63.43±40.82 8.78-143 (67)	47.33±58.35 4-257 (37.50)	0.001**
D-Dimer	Mean ±Sd Min-Max (Median)	732.78±570.54 144-1900 (683.50)	1106.10±1061.90 150-4073 (690)	1358.50±1093.7 269-4444 (880.50)	1434.94±1647.5 259-7412 (862)	0.012*
Fibrinogen	Mean ±Sd Min-Max (Median)	493.50±140.97 267-740 (528.50)	549.17±179.63 217-894 (550)	533.10±162.8 188 790 (521.50)	530.50±146.23 339-835 (500)	0.173

SOFA; Sequential Organ Failure Assessment Score, PaO₂/FIO₂; PaO₂ to FIO₂ Ratio, RR; Respiratory Rate, WBC; White blood cell, Lymp; lymphocyte count, LDH; Lactate dehydrogenase, ALT; alanine aminotranspherase, CRP; C-reactive protein, * P-value<0.005, ** P-value<0.001

Table 4. Comparison of IL-6 value before and at the 3rd day of IVIG treatment					
		Day 0	Day 3	p-value	
IL-6	Mean ±Sd Min-Max (Median)	225.15±590.97 4.48-2503 (58.50)	156.44±295.3 1.36-1111 (31)	0.028*	
IL-6; Interleukin 6, *P-value<0.005					

Table 5. Comparison of ILA percentage in chest CT at the hospitalization to ICU and discharge from hospital					
		Day 0 in ICU	Discharge Day	p-value	
Percantege of ILA	Mean ±Sd Min-Max (Median)	63.22±13.76 40-80 (62)	14.5±13.85 0-40 (16)	0.001**	
Percentage of ILA; percentage of injured lung area, ** P-value<0.001					

DISCUSSION

The most effective treatment method has not been found for COVID-19, which has been affecting the whole world and increasing its pressure on health systems since December 2019. The failure of antiviral agents used in treatment has directed clinicians to use potential adjuvant therapies. IVIG is one of them and has been used in the treatment of COVID-19 due to its antiinflammatory and immunomodulatory effects. There are different hypotheses regarding these immunomodulatory effect mechanisms (3). These are pathogenic antigen neutralization by divalent antibody fragments (F(ab)'2)mediated mechanisms, immunomodulatory effects on endothelial cells and adaptive immune cells by fragment crystallisable (Fc)-mediated mechanisms, and immunomodulatory effects on other innate immune cells by Fc-mediated mechanisms (3). ((A) Neutralization of pathogenic antigens through the F(ab)'2-mediated mechanisms; (B) The immunomodulatory effects on endothelial cells through the Fc-mediated mechanisms; (C) The immunomodulatory effects on other innate immune cells through the Fc -mediated mechanisms; (D) The immunomodulatory effects on adaptive immune cells through the Fc-mediated mechanisms.) Although the molecular mechanisms for IVIG have been partially clarified, its role in the treatment of COVID-19 remains unclear. In this study, we evaluated in detail of the early clinical and laboratory data obtained during the treatment of COVID-19 patients receiving IVIG therapy.

It was observed that the PaO₂/FIO₂ ratios increased, RR decreased, and WBC, lymphocyte and CRP values decreased with high-dose IVIG treatment in our study. All values were analyzed before IVIG and on the 1st, 3rd and 5th days of treatment to emphasize the early results of IVIG treatment. In a prospective randomized trial, it was shown that there was an increase in PaO₂/FIO₂ and a decrease in the progression of mechanical ventilation requiring respiratory failure with IVIG treatment, and this was statistically significant in patients with an A-a gradient >200 mmHg (4). In this study, PaO₂/FIO₂ was evaluated on day 7. Herth et al. (5) emphasized that symptoms and laboratory findings improved with treatment in 12 cases they evaluated. This retrospective case series supports our study because it evaluated oxygenation simultaneously with treatment. Raman et al. (6) reported normalization in respiratory rate and oxygenation with IVIG. There are case reports in the literature in which IVIG was used in COVID-19 pneumonia and clinical improvement and improvement in oxygenation were observed (7-9). Although the results are promising, no data supporting the beneficial effect of IVIG use in COVID-19 could be obtained in the randomized controlled study of Tabarsi et al. (10). In the study, laboratory data were evaluated on days 0, 7 and 14, and no data on oxygenation was shared except for the need for mechanical ventilation. Secondary conditions occurring within the 14-day period may affect the laboratory data and cause different interpretation of the results (10). In our study, it was determined that the patients who received IVIG treatment had an improvement in oxygenation and respiratory rate. This situation can be considered as clinical improvement.

Theoretically, IVIG-related immunomodulatory effect occurs with high doses (3). Different doses of IVIG are used in studies in the treatment of COVID-19. In a multicentre retrospective cohort study conducted by Shao et al. (11), 28 and 60-day mortality was found to be lower in those who received IVIG higher than 15 g per day. However, high or low dose IVIG treatment had no effect on the number of days of hospitalization. In another study, it was reported that 20 g/day IVIG administration for 3 consecutive days may be effective and safe (12). In our study, high dose (0.4kg/kg/day) IVIG was administered to all patients for 5 days. In the study by Shao et al. (11), it was shown that the 60-day mortality decreased in those who started IVIG treatment within the first 7 days after hospital admission. There are also opinions that patients will not benefit much from IVIG treatment when systemic damage develops (13). In our study, the onset time of IVIG was 8.95±3.39 days after the onset of the first COVID-19-related symptom, and it can be said that IVIG treatment was started early.

The hyperinflammatory state resulting from the overproduction of proinflammatory cytokines such as IL-6 changes the prognosis of the disease (14). In our study, the IL-6 levels of the patients before IVIG treatment and on the 3rd day of treatment were compared and a statistically significant decrease was observed. According to our study results, it can be said that the hyperinflammatory state will decrease on the 3rd day of the treatment, and this may lead to positive results in the prognosis of the disease. Similar to our results, in a study comparing standard treatment and two groups using IVIG in addition to standard treatment, IL-6 levels were found to be lower in the group using IVIG (4).

In addition to the data evaluated during the treatment, the effect of IVIG use on late lung damage was also examined. A significant improvement was observed in the ILA percentages calculated from chest CT 1 month after discharge. Tabarsi et al. (10) evaluated 50% improvement in tomography on the 14th day of IVIG treatment, but they could not find a statistical difference. It is known that residual lung injury in post-COVID-19 syndrome continues even 4 months after clinical recovery (15). In this case, it may not be correct to associate the lack of improvement in the lung at the end of 14 days with IVIG treatment.

Our study has potential limitations. One limitation is the retrospective design of this study and the other limitation is the use of a single group and single ICU data. Despite the emphasis on the reduction in 28 and 60-day mortality with high-dose and early IVIG use (11), the relationship between IVIG and mortality was not evaluated in our study to avoid misinterpretation due to the low number of patients who died. This can be considered as a limitation.

CONCLUSION

As a result, IVIG can be considered as an effective adjuvant therapy in the COVID-19 pandemic, which could not be terminated despite the vaccines produced in a short time, because it causes improvement in oxygenation, clinical symptoms and hyperinflammatory response with high doses and early use. It should not be forgotten that it also provides improvement in the damaged lung areas in the late period.

ETHICAL DECLARATIONS

Ethics Committee Approval: The study was carried out with the permission of Muğla Sıtkı Koçman University, Clinical Researches Ethics Committee (Date: 03/02/2021, Decision No: 3/V).

Informed Consent: Because the study was designed retrospectively, no written informed consent form was obtained from patients.

Referee Evaluation Process: Externally peer-reviewed.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

Author Contributions: All of the authors declare that they have all participated in the design, execution, and analysis of the paper and that they have approved the final version.

REFERENCES

- 1. Grasselli G, Greco M, Zanella A, et al. Risk factors associated with mortality among patients with COVID-19 in intensive care units in Lombardy, Italy. JAMA Intern Med 2020; 180: 1345-55.
- 2. Salian VS, Wright JA, Vedell PT, et al. COVID-19 Transmission, current treatment, and future therapeutic strategies. Mol Pharm 2021; 18: 754-71.
- 3. Liu X, Cao W, Li T. High-dose intravenous immunoglobulins in the treatment of severe acute viral pneumonia: the known mechanisms and clinical effects. Front Immunol 2020; 11: 1660.
- Sakoulas G, Geriak M, Kullar R, et al. Intravenous Immunoglobulin (IVIG) significantly reduces respiratory morbidity in COVID-19 pneumonia: a prospective randomized trial. medRxiv 2020; 20157891.
- 5. Herth FJF, Sakoulas G, Haddad F. Use of intravenous immunoglobulin (Prevagen or Octagam) for the treatment of COVID-19: retrospective case series. Respiration 2020; 99: 1145-53.
- 6. Raman RS, Bhagwan Barge V, Anil Kumar D, et al. A Phase II safety and efficacy study on prognosis of moderate pneumonia in coronavirus disease 2019 patients with regular intravenous immunoglobulin therapy. J Infect Dis 2021; 223: 1538-43.
- 7. Çolak M, Kalemci S, Sarıhan A. Treatment of a case with COVID-19 administering intravenous immunoglobulin. J Glob Antimicrob Resist 2020; 24: 106-7.
- 8. Suzuki Y, Tanino Y, Nikaido T, et al. Severe coronavirus disease 2019 that recovered from respiratory failure by treatment that included high-dose intravenous immunoglobulin. Intern Med 2021; 60: 457-61.
- 9. Tatar E, Karatas M, Bozaci I, et al. Intravenous immunoglobulin and favipiravir treatment for a kidney transplant patient with severe COVID-19 pneumonia. Transfus Apher Sci 2020; 59: 1-3.
- 10. Tabarsi P, Barati S, Jamaati H, et al. Evaluating the effects of intravenous immunoglobulin (IVIg) on the management of severe COVID-19 cases: a randomized controlled trial, Int Immunopharmacol 2021; 90: 107205.
- 11. Shao Z, Feng Y, Zhong L, et al. Clinical efficacy of intravenous immunoglobulin therapy in critical ill patients with COVID-19: a multicenter retrospective cohort study. Clin Transl Immunol 2020; 9: 1-10.
- 12. Gharebaghi N, Nejadrahim R, Mousavi SJ, Sadat-Ebrahimi SR, Hajizadeh R. Correction to: The use of intravenous immunoglobulin gamma for the treatment of severe coronavirus disease 2019: a randomized placebo-controlled double-blind clinical trial. BMC Infect Dis 2020; 20: 1-8.
- 13. Cao W, Liu X, Bai T, et al. High-dose intravenous immunoglobulin as a therapeutic option for deteriorating patients with coronavirus disease 2019. Open Forum Infect Dis 2020; 7: 1-6.
- 14. Giamarellos-Bourboulis EJ, Netea MG, Rovina N, et al. Complex immune dysregulation in COVID-19 patients with severe respiratory failure. Cell Host & Microbe 2020; 27: 992-1000.
- 15. Kamal M, Abo Omirah M, Hussein A, Saeed H. Assessment and characterisation of post-COVID-19 manifestations. Int J Clin Pract 2021; 75: 1-5.

HEALTH SCIENCES MEDICINE

Predictors and outcome of hyponatremia in patients with COVID 19: a single-center experience

Dercan Türkmen¹, DMahmut Altındal², Derah Taran¹, Tuba Kuruoğlu³, Aydın Deveci³, Melih Akpunar⁴, Seyyid Bilal Açıkgöz⁵, Nurhan Köksal⁶

¹Ondokuz Mayıs University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Nephrology, Internal Medicine, Samsun, Turkey
 ²Altınbaş University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Internal Medicine, Division of Nephrology, Istanbul, Turkey
 ³Ondokuz Mayıs University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Clinical Microbiology and Infectious Diseases, Samsun, Turkey
 ⁴Ondokuz Mayıs University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Internal Medicine, Samsun, Turkey
 ⁵Ondokuz Mayıs University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Internal Medicine, Division of Rheumatology, Samsun, Turkey
 ⁶Ondokuz Mayıs University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Chest Diseases, Samsun, Turkey

Cite this article as: Türkmen E, Altındal M, Taran F, et al. Predictors and outcome of hyponatremia in patients with COVID 19: a single-center experience. J Health Sci Med 2022; 5(3): 799-804.

ABSTRACT

Aim: Hyponatremia (serum sodium <135 mEq/L) portends a worse prognosis in patients with community-acquired pneumonia. Data regarding the outcome of hyponatremia in hospitalized COVID-19 patients are insufficient and controversial. The present study aimed to identify the predictors of hyponatremia and its impact on clinical outcome measures in hospitalized COVID-19 patients.

Material and Method: We conducted a retrospective study on 787 adult patients with SARS-CoV-2 infection admitted to a university hospital between March 10, 2020, and December 15, 2020, February. Demographic and laboratory features, comorbid diseases, medications, radiology results, and clinical outcome measures of the patients were obtained retrospectively from their medical records.

Findings: One hundred fifty-nine (20.2%) patients out of 787 had hyponatremia. Hyponatremia was mild (sodium: 130 -134 mEq/L) in majority of cases (n=124). The severity of pneumonia (p=0.013) and having diabetes (p < 0.001) were the independent predictors of hyponatremia at the time of admission. The median length of hospital stay (LOS) was longer in patients with hyponatremia than patients with normonatremia (10 days vs. 8 days, p < 0.001). In multivariate analysis, hyponatremia was significantly associated with ICU admission or the need for mechanical ventilation (adjusted OR, 1.72; 95% confidence interval [95% CI], 1.03 to 2.85; p=0.036). The severity of pneumonia, hemoglobin and lactate dehydrogenase levels, neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio (NLR), and body temperature were also associated with ICU admission or the need for mechanical ventilation. The oxygen saturation, male sex, serum albumin, NLR, and the ICU admission but not the hyponatremia on admission were significantly related to mortality.

Conclusion: Hyponatremia on admission predicts ICU admission or mechanic ventilation need but not mortality in COVID-19 patients, and it should be considered in risk stratification.

Keywords: Hyponatremia, COVID-19, outcomes

INTRODUCTION

Since it has been officially declared by World Health Organization (WHO) at the beginning of 2020, the severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2) pandemic has had a significant impact on health and economy worldwide (1-5). Hyponatremia (serum sodium <135 mEq/L), even when mild, was found to be associated with mortality in a diverse spectrum of diseases, including cancer (6-9). Hyponatremia was linked to increased mortality and length of hospital stay in patients with community-acquired pneumonia (10-12). Hyponatremia was related to intensive care unit (ICU) admission and death in patients with SARS-CoV-1 (13). Older age, obesity, comorbid diseases, immunosuppressive use, and some laboratory variables (Lymphocytes count, C-reactive protein, lactate dehydrogenases, ferritin, vs.) have been associated with mortality and a worse outcome in patients with coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) (4,5,14). Studies



dealing with the impact of hyponatremia on outcomes and mortality in COVID-19 patients revealed conflicting results. The risk stratification is of supreme importance during pandemic given the limited hospital resources; whether hyponatremia at admission should be added to risk stratification tools is unknown. In the present study, conducted in a relatively large cohort of patients hospitalized for COVID-19, we aimed to investigate the association of hyponatremia with in-hospital mortality, length of hospital stay, ICU admission, and the need for mechanical ventilation. We also aimed to examine the risk factors for the development of hyponatremia in COVID-19 patients.

MATERIAL AND METHOD

The present study was designed retrospectively. This study was approved by Ondokuz Mayıs University Clinical Researches Ethics Committee (Date: 26.08.2021, Decision No: 2021/408). All procedures were carried out in accordance with the ethical rules and the principles of the Declaration of Helsinki.

Patients with real-time reverse transcription-polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR) confirmed SARS-CoV-2 infection who were hospitalized at Ondokuz Mayıs University Hospital between March 10, 2020, and December 15, 2020, were enrolled in this study. Patients under the age of 18 were excluded. Normonatremic (serum sodium level 135-145 mEq/L) and hyponatremic (serum sodium level < 135 mEq/L) patients were included in the study. Hyponatremia was classified as mild (Na 130-134 mEq/L) and moderate-severe (Na < 130 mEq/L). Since hypernatremia could affect mortality, patients with hypernatremia (Na \geq 146 mEq/L) were excluded. Patients with pseudo-hyponatremia due to elevated serum glucose, triglycerides, or osmotic agents were excluded from the statistical analysis.

The demographic (age, sex) and laboratory features (including serum sodium, potassium, blood urea nitrogen (BUN), creatinine, glucose, alanine aminotransferase (ALT), lactate dehydrogenase (LDH), troponin I, D-dimer, albumin, hemoglobin, white blood cell and lymphocyte counts, mean platelet volume (MPV), neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio (NLR), platelet counts, C-reactive protein (CRP), procalcitonin); clinical findings (volume status, fever, oxygen saturation) comorbid diseases (diabetes mellitus (DM), hypertension, previous or current malignancy, coronary artery disease (CAD), heart failure, chronic kidney disease (CKD), chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD), any chronic liver disease), all medications (including reninangiotensin-aldosterone system blockers and diuretics), radiology results, and clinical outcome measures of the patients (in-hospital mortality, length of hospital stay,

ICU admission, or ventilator need) were obtained from medical records of the patients. The presence and extent of pneumonia were assessed by thoracic computerized tomography (CT), which was performed at the time of admission in all patients. The severity of pneumonia was classified as none, unilateral or bilateral pneumonia. All patients were treated according to the protocols released by the Turkish Ministry of Health.

Statistical Analysis

Data were analysed by using IBM SPSS Statistics for Windows, version 22 (IBM Corp., Armonk, N.Y., USA). Kolmogorov-Smirnov test was used to determine whether the variables showed a normal distribution or not. Normally distributed numerical variables were specified as mean±standard deviation, and the numerical variables not showing normal distribution were expressed as median (Interquartile range, IQR). Categorical data were expressed as numbers and percentages (%). Student's t-test or Mann-Whitney U-test was used to compare betweengroup differences in numerical variables depending upon normal distribution. The Chi-square test or Fisher's Exact test was performed to assess categorical variables. Multivariate logistic regression models were used to explore the risk factors associated with mortality and the need for ICU or mechanical ventilation. A p-value of less than 0.05 was accepted as statistically significant.

RESULTS

A total of 787 patients were included in the study. One hundred fifty-nine (20.2%) patients had hyponatremia. One hundred twenty-four of hyponatremic individuals (78%)hadamildhyponatremia.Themedianagewas61(22) years and 427 patients (54.3%) were female. Hypertension was the most common comorbid disease observed in 309 (39.3%) patients. Table 1 lists the demographic and clinical features of the patients with hyponatremia and normonatremia. In multivariable analysis, the severity of pneumonia (adjusted OR, 1.66; 95% confidence interval (95% CI), 1.11 to 2.48; p < 0.013) and having diabetes (adjusted OR, 2.40; 95% confidence interval (95% CI), 1.49 to 3.86; p < 0.001) were significantly associated with hyponatremia (Table 2). The median length of hospital stay (LOS) was significantly longer in patients with hyponatremia (10 days vs. 8 days, p < 0.001) than patients with normonatremia (Table 3). Two hundred twelve (26.9%) patients required either ICU admission or mechanical ventilation. During follow-up, the need for mechanical ventilation was more common in patients with hyponatremia than patients with normonatremia (45.3% vs. 22.3%; p < 0.001). In multivariate analysis, hyponatremia was significantly associated with ICU admission or the need for mechanical ventilation (adjusted OR, 1.72; 95% confidence interval (95% CI),

1.03 to 2.85; p=0.036). The median length of hospital stay, the need for mechanical ventilation or ICU admission, and the mortality rate did not differ significantly between patients with mild hyponatremia and moderate to severe hyponatremia (serum Na < 130). Other important factors independently associated with ICU admission or need for mechanical ventilation were severity of pneumonia, hemoglobin and LDH levels, neutrophil-to-lymphocyte ratio (NLR), and body temperature (Table 4). Overall, 102 of 787 (13%) patients died in hospital. The patients with hyponatremia had a higher mortality rate compared to patients with normonatremia (24.5% vs. 10%; p < 0.001). Nevertheless, in multivariate analyses, oxygen saturation, male sex, serum albumin, NLR, and the ICU admission but not the hyponatremia were significantly associated with mortality (Table 5).

Table 2. Univariate and multivariate analysis of factors associated with hyponatremia					
	Univariat	te	Multivariate		
Variable	OR (95% CI)	р	OR (95% CI)	р	
Age (years)	1.02 (1.01-1.04)	< 0.001	1.01 (0.99-1.02)	0.589	
Sex (male)	1.61 (1.13-2.31)	0.009	1.32 (0.81-2.13)	0.263	
Diabetes mellitus (yes)	2.60 (1.79-3.79)	< 0.001	2.40 (1.49-3.86)	<0.001*	
CAD (yes)	1.80 (1.10-2.93)	0.018	1.07 (0.55-2.07)	0.840	
CKD (yes)	1.91 (1.15-3.17)	0.013	1.24 (0.64-2.41)	0.532	
Fever (yes)	1.44 (1.09-2.06)	0.045	1.29 (0.81-2.06)	0.283	
Oxygen saturation	0.96 (0.94-0.98)	< 0.001	0.99 (0.96-1.02)	0.598	
Pneumonia severity classified as none, unilateral, bilateral	1.77 (1.33-2.37)	<0.001	1.66 (1.11-2.48)	0.013*	
Albumin	0.44 (0.31-0.61)	< 0.001	0.76 (0.47-1.23)	0.256	
Hemoglobin	0.94 (0.86-1.01)	0.106	1.06 (0.94-1.20)	0.340	
NLR	1.03 (1.02-1.05)	< 0.001	1.01 (0.99-1.03)	0.265	
CRP	1.01 (1.00-1.01)	< 0.001	1.00 (1.00-1.01)	0.209	
Procalcitonin	1.06 (1.02-1.11)	0.005	1.01 (0.97-1.05)	0.555	
LDH	1.00 (1.00-1.00)	0.003	1.00 (0.99-1.00)	0.752	
D-dimer	1.25 (1.00-1.00)	0.248	1.00 (1.00-1.00)	0.166	
CAD: Coronary artery disease; CKD: Chronic kidney disease; NLR: Neutrophil to lymphocyte ratio; CRP: C-reactive protein; LDH: Lactate dehydrogenase; OR: Odds					

ratio; (95% CI): 95% Confidential interval; *p<0.05: Statistically significant parameters

Table 4. Risk factors for intensive care unit admission or	
mechanical ventilation need in COVID-19 patients	

	ICU admission or mechanical ventilation need					
Variable	Univaria	te	Multivariate			
	OR (95% CI)	р	OR (95% CI)	р		
Hyponatremia	2.80 (1.90-4.13)	< 0.001	1.72 (1.04-2.86)	0.036*		
Procalcitonin	1.08 (1.03-1.13)	0.003	0.98 (0.94-1.01)	0.134		
CRP	1.01 (1.01-1.01)	< 0.001	1.00 (1.00-1.01)	0.051*		
NLR	1.07 (1.05-1.09)	< 0.001	1.03 (1.00-1.05)	0.035*		
Pneumonia severity	3.80 (2.31-6.26)	< 0.001	1.66 (1.09-2.45)	0.018*		
Body temperature	2.03 (1.40-2.89)	< 0.001	1.55 (1.17-2.06)	0.002*		
LDH	1.00 (1.00-1.00)	< 0.001	1.00 (1.00-1.00)	0.006*		
Hemoglobin	0.76 (0.70-0.83)	< 0.001	0.84 (0.75-0.95)	0.005*		
ICU: Intensive care unit; CRP: C-reactive protein; NLR: Neutrophil to lymphocyte						

ICU: Intensive care unit; CRP: C-reactive protein; NLR: Neutrophil to lymphocyte ratio; LDH: Lactate dehydrogenase; OR: Odds ratio; (95% CI): 95% Confidential interval. *p<0.05: Statistically significant parameters

Table 1. Comorbidities, demographic and clinical characteristics of hypo- and normonatremic patients				
	Hyponatremia (n=159)	Normonatremia (n=628)	Р	
	n (%)			
Sex (male)	101 (63.5)	326 (76.3)	0.009*	
Diabetes mellitus	61 (38.4)	121 (19.3)	< 0.001*	
Hypertension	69 (43.4)	240 (38.2)	0.232	
Malignancy	19 (11.9)	49 (7.8)	0.096	
CAD	27 (17)	64 (10.2)	0.017*	
Heart failure	12 (7.5)	26 (4.1)	0.073	
CKD	25 (15.7)	56 (8.9)	0.012*	
COPD	13 (8.2)	58 (9.2)	0.677	
RAAS blocker	51 (32.1)	170 (27.0)	0.210	
Diuretic use	47 (29.6)	141 (22.4)		
Thiazide	27 (17)	93 (14.8)	0.098	
Furosemide	22 (13.8)	61 (9.7)		
Spironolactone	6 (3.8)	12 (1.9)		
Pneumonia on CT	, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	× ,	< 0.001*	
None	14 (8.8)	137 (21.8)		
Unilateral	4 (2.5)	35 (5.6)		
Bilateral	141 (88.7)	457 (72.7)		
	Media	an (IQR)		
Age, years	60 (22)	64 (21)	< 0.001*	
Fever‡ (%)	66 (41.5)	208 (33.1)	0.047*	
Hemoglobin, gr/dL	12 (2.6)	12.7 (2.9)	0.029*	
White blood cell	12 (2:0)		01025	
$10^3/\text{mm}^3$	7.2 (5.5)	6.3 (3.7)	0.001*	
Lymphocyte, 10 ³ /mm ³	0.98 (0.87)	1.20 (0.82)	0.007*	
MPV, fL	10.1 (1.4)	10.2 (1.1)	0.919	
NLR	6.73 (10.18)	3.59 (5.74)	< 0.001*	
Platelet, 10 ³ /mm ³	225 (110)	204 (111)	0.397	
Oxygene saturation, %	94 (8)	96 (5.0)	< 0.001*	
CRP, mg/dL	89.1 (117.3)	34.8 (89.2)	< 0.001*	
Procalcitonin, ng/mL	0.22 (0.35)	0.08 (0.11)	< 0.001*	
LDH, IU/L	347 (233)	275 (170)	< 0.001*	
D-dimer, ng/mL	1109 (1917)	568 (869)	< 0.001*	
Troponin I, ng/mL	0.1 (0.0)	0.1 (0.0)	0.301	
Glucose, mg/dL	128 (81)	123 (68)	0.371	
BUN, mg/dL	17.7 (16.2)	16.9 (14.7)	0.090	
Creatinine, mg/dL	0.95 (0.55)	0.97 (0.48)	0.629	
Sodium, mEq/L	132 (3)	139 (4)	< 0.001*	
Potassium, mEq/L	4.3 (0.8)	4.3 (0.7)	0.676	
ALT, IU/L	25 (26)	22 (25)	0.053	
	Mean±SD			
Albumin, gr/dL	3.3±0.6	3.6±0.6	< 0.001*	
IQR: Interquartile range; SD: Standard deviation, CAD: Coronary artery disease; CKD: Chronic kidney disease; COPD: Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease; RAAS: Renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system; MPV: Mean platelet volume; NLR:				

RAAS: Renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system; MPV: Mean platelet volume; NLR: Neutrophil to lymphocyte ratio; LDH: Lactate dehydrogenase; CRP: C-reactive protein; BUN: Blood urea nitrogen; ALT: Alanine aminotransferase; Fever‡>37.5 °C; CT: Computerized tomography; *p<0.05: Statistically significant parameters

Table 3. Outcome stratified by serum sodium level						
	Hyponatremia (n=159)	Normonatremia (n=628)	р			
Length of hospital stay, day	10 (9)	8 (8)	< 0.001*			
ICU admission or ventilator need, n (%)	72 (45.3)	140 (22.3)	< 0.001*			
Death, n (%)	39 (24.5)	63 (10.0)	< 0.001*			
ICU: Intensive care unit; *p<0.05: Statistically significant parameters						
J	Health	Sci	Med	2022;	5(3):	799-804
---	--------	-----	-----	-------	-------	---------
---	--------	-----	-----	-------	-------	---------

Mortality							
Variable	Univariate	e	Multivaria	ite			
	OR (95% CI)	р	OR (95% CI)	р			
Sex (male)	1.36 (0.89-2.08)	0.157	2.30 (1.07-4.96)	0.034*			
Hyponatremia	2.92 (1.87-4.55)	< 0.001	1.45 (0.75-2.80)	0.268			
Procalcitonin	1.11 (1.05-1.18)	< 0.001	1.05 (0.99-1.12)	0.084			
CRP	1.01 (1.01-1.01)	< 0.001	1.00 (1.00-1.01)	0.135			
NLR	1.06 (1.04-1.09)	< 0.001	1.03 (1.00-1.06)	0.035*			
Albumin	0.15 (0.10-0.24)	< 0.001	0.34 (0.17-0.71)	0.004*			
Oxygen saturation	0.90 (0.87-0.92)	< 0.001	0.95 (0.91-0.99)	0.017*			
LDH	1.00 (1.00-1.00)	< 0.001	1.00 (1.00-1.00)	0.637			
Hemoglobin	0.79 (0.72-0.87)	< 0.001	0.88 (0.76-1.03)	0.122			
ICU admission	14.88 (9.24-23.85)	< 0.001	8.08 (3.65-17.87)	< 0.001*			

dehydrogenase; ICU: Intensive care unit; OR: Odds ratio; (95% CI): 95% Confidential interval. *p<0.05: Statistically significant parameters

DISCUSSION

In the present study, we examined the predictors of hyponatremia on admission and its outcome in patients hospitalized for COVID-19. Our findings showed that diabetes mellitus and the severity of pneumonia were the independent predictors of the development of hyponatremia at the time of admission. Additionally, although we have not found a correlation between increased mortality and hyponatremia, we have documented that hyponatremia was associated with longer in-hospital stay and a higher incidence of ICU admission or ventilator need.

Hyponatremia is the most common electrolyte abnormality in hospitalized patients. It is identified in 30% of patients with community-acquired pneumonia (11,15). Although previous smaller studies had reported a higher incidence of hyponatremia in patients with COVID-19, more recent and more extensive studies had revealed a lower incidence that ranges from 20% to 45% (16-21). Leong et al. (13) have documented a similar incidence of hyponatremia (29%) in previous SARS epidemic in Hong Kong. We have found hyponatremia in 159 patients (20.2%), most of whom had mild hyponatremia in line with the previous reports.

The pathogenic mechanisms for the development of hyponatremia in patients with community-acquired pneumonia remain uncertain. Inappropriate ADH secretion stimulated by pain, hypovolemia, nausea, and certain medications has been postulated causative factors. The International Health Outcome Predictive Evaluation for COVID-19 (HOPE-COVID-19) registry found that chronic kidney disease, bilateral pneumonia, tachypnea, male sex, and at age \geq 70 years were associated with hyponatremia (17). Similar to our findings, a French study revealed that pulmonary lesions on the thoracic CT-scan performed during admission were significantly more extensive in the hyponatremic patients with COVID-19 compared to the normonatremic group (22). Inflammation and increased IL-6 levels have been linked with non-osmotic ADH secretion (23). Bernie et al. (24,25) documented an inverse relationship between IL-6 levels and serum Na. IL-6 levels were available only for a limited number of patients in our study, so we did not include them in statistical analysis. Although we have found significantly higher serum levels of inflammatory markers including CRP, procalcitonin, and NLR in patients with hyponatremia than the normonatremic group, these markers were not associated with hyponatremia in multivariate analysis.

In the present study, we noted that the patient group with hyponatremia had a longer length of hospital stay than the normonatremic group. The former group needed ICU admission and mechanical ventilation more frequently. In a longitudinal retrospective cohort study, Tzoulis et al. (18) documented that hyponatremia at admission was linked with a 2.2-fold increase in the likelihood of needing ventilator support but not associated with length of hospital stay in patients with COVID-19. Similar to our findings, Atilla et al. (19) found that hyponatremia was associated with length of hospital stay, need for mechanical ventilation, and ICU admission in COVID-19 patients. In a retrospective, multicenter, observational cohort study of 4645 COVID-19 patients from New York, investigators concluded that hyponatremia was associated with increased risk of encephalopathy and mechanical ventilation. Comorbid diseases, serum creatinine, D-dimer, procalcitonin, ferritin, IL-6 levels, lymphocyte, and neutrophil numbers have been linked with the severity and the prognosis of COVID-19 infection (3,26-30). We believe that risk stratification is essential in the efficient use of hospital resources during the pandemic. We suggest that hyponatremia at the time of admission could be added to risk stratification tools for predicting clinical outcomes in COVID-19 patients.

We have found a relatively high in-hospital mortality (13%) rate for the entire cohort. The data considering the association of increased mortality and hyponatremia in COVID-19 patients are controversial (17-21). Our results revealed a higher mortality rate in patients with hyponatremia than patients with normonatremia. However, hyponatremia was not found to be an independent predictor of mortality in multivariate analysis. Nevertheless, most of our patients had mild hyponatremia, and our results regarding mortality and hyponatremia relationship in COVID-19 patients should be interpreted in the appropriate context.

Although we included a relatively large number of patients from a single center in our study and analyzed the effect of multiple factors besides hyponatremia on clinical outcome measures, several limitations of our study deserve mention. First, the study design was retrospective. Second, we did not include the patients in the hyponatremia group if they were normonatremic at admission but developed hyponatremia during hospitalization. Third, we could only document volume status and the exact cause of hyponatremia in a minority of cases, given the study's retrospective nature and the lack of urine studies and serum osmolality. Finally, follow-up serum Na levels were not included in the analysis.

CONCLUSION

Our results indicated that hyponatremia is quite common among hospitalized patients with COVID-19. We have shown that hyponatremia was associated with more extended in-hospital stay and a higher incidence of ICU admission or ventilator need. Diabetes and the severity of pneumonia were found to be the independent predictors of hyponatremia in COVID-19 patients. We suggest that hyponatremia at the time of admission could be added to risk stratification tools in patients hospitalized for COVID-19.

ETHICAL DECLARATIONS

Ethics Committee Approval: This study was approved by Ondokuz Mayıs University Clinical Researches Ethics Committee (Date: 26.08.2021, Decision No: 2021/408).

Informed Consent: Because the study was designed retrospectively, no written informed consent form was obtained from patients.

Referee Evaluation Process: Externally peer-reviewed.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

Author Contributions: All of the authors declare that they have all participated in the design, execution, and analysis of the paper, and that they have approved the final version.

- 1. Wu Z, McGoogan JM. Characteristics of and important lessons from the coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) outbreak in china: summary of a report of 72 314 cases from the Chinese Center for Disease Control and Prevention. JAMA 2020; 323: 1239-42.
- COVID-ICU Group on behalf of the REVA Network and the COVID-ICU Investigators. Clinical characteristics and day-90 outcomes of 4244 critically ill adults with COVID-19: a prospective cohort study. Intensive Care Med 2021; 47: 60-73.
- 3. Suleyman G, Fadel RA, Malette KM, et al. Clinical characteristics and morbidity associated with coronavirus disease 2019 in a series of patients in Metropolitan Detroit. JAMA Netw Open 2020; 3: e2012270.

- Bellan M, Patti G, Hayden E, et al. Fatality rate and predictors of mortality in an Italian cohort of hospitalized COVID-19 patients. Sci Rep 2020; 10: 20731.
- Kim L, Garg S, O'Halloran A, et al. Risk factors for intensive care unit admission and in-hospital mortality among hospitalized adults identified through the US coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19)-associated hospitalization surveillance network (COVID-NET). Clin Infect Dis 2021; 72: 206-14.
- 6. Fucà G, Mariani L, Lo Vullo S, et al. Weighing the prognostic role of hyponatremia in hospitalized patients with metastatic solid tumors: the HYPNOSIS study. Sci Rep 2019; 9: 12993.
- Sun L, Hou Y, Xiao Q, Du Y. Association of serum sodium and risk of all-cause mortality in patients with chronic kidney disease: A meta-analysis and sysematic review. Sci Rep 2017; 7: 15949.
- 8. Kovesdy CP, Lott EH, Lu JL, et al. Hyponatremia, hypernatremia, and mortality in patients with chronic kidney disease with and without congestive heart failure. Circulation 2012; 125: 677-84.
- 9. Sato N, Gheorghiade M, Kajimoto K, et al; ATTEND Investigators. Hyponatremia and in-hospital mortality in patients admitted for heart failure (from the ATTEND registry). Am J Cardiol 2013; 111: 1019-25.
- 10. Tokgöz Akyil F, Akyil M, Çoban Ağca M, et al. Hyponatremia prolongs hospital stay and hypernatremia better predicts mortality than hyponatremia in hospitalized patients with communityacquired pneumonia. Tuberk Toraks 2019; 67: 239-47.
- Nair V, Niederman MS, Masani N, Fishbane S. Hyponatremia in community-acquired pneumonia. Am J Nephrol 2007; 27: 184-90.
- 12. Ravioli S, Gygli R, Funk GC, Exadaktylos A, Lindner G. Prevalence and impact on outcome of sodium and potassium disorders in patients with community-acquired pneumonia: A retrospective analysis. Eur J Intern Med 2021; 85: 63-7.
- 13.Leong HN, Chan KP, Oon LL, et al. Clinical and laboratory findings of SARS in Singapore. Ann Acad Med Singap 2006; 35: 332-9.
- 14. Nurlu N, Ozturk OO, Cat A, Altunok ES, Gumus A. Could some laboratory parameters predict mortality in COVID-19? Clin Lab 2021; 67.
- 15. Krüger S, Ewig S, Giersdorf S, et al. CAPNETZ study group. Dysnatremia, vasopressin, atrial natriuretic peptide and mortality in patients with community-acquired pneumonia: results from the german competence network CAPNETZ. Respir Med 2014; 108: 1696-705.
- Aggarwal S, Garcia-Telles N, Aggarwal G, Lavie C, Lippi G, Henry BM. Clinical features, laboratory characteristics, and outcomes of patients hospitalized with coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19): Early report from the United States. Diagnosis (Berl) 2020; 7: 91-6.
- Ruiz-Sánchez JG, Núñez-Gil IJ, Cuesta M, et al. Prognostic impact of hyponatremia and hypernatremia in COVID-19 pneumonia. A HOPE-COVID-19 (Health Outcome Predictive Evaluation for COVID-19) Registry Analysis. Front Endocrinol (Lausanne) 2020; 11: 599255.
- 18. Tzoulis P, Waung JA, Bagkeris E, et al. Dysnatremia is a predictor for morbidity and mortality in hospitalized patients with COVID-19. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2021; 106: 1637-48.
- Atila C, Sailer CO, Bassetti S, et al. Prevalence and outcome of dysnatremia in patients with COVID-19 compared to controls. Eur J Endocrinol 2021; 184: 409-18.
- 20. Frontera JA, Valdes E, Huang J, et al. Prevalence and impact of hyponatremia in patients with coronavirus disease 2019 in New York City. Crit Care Med 2020; 48: 1211-7.
- 21. Hirsch JS, Uppal NN, Sharma P, et al. Prevalence and outcomes of hyponatremia and hypernatremia in patients hospitalized with COVID-19. Nephrol Dial Transplant 2021; 36: 1135-8.

- 22.De Carvalho H, Letellier T, Karakachoff M, et al. Hyponatremia is associated with poor outcome in COVID-19. J Nephrol 2021; 34: 991-8.
- 23. Mastorakos G, Weber JS, Magiakou MA, Gunn H, Chrousos GP. Hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis activation and stimulation of systemic vasopressin secretion by recombinant interleukin-6 in humans: potential implications for the syndrome of inappropriate vasopressin secretion. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 1994; 79: 934-9.
- 24.Berni A, Malandrino D, Parenti G, Maggi M, Poggesi L, Peri A. Hyponatremia, IL-6, and SARS-CoV-2 (COVID-19) infection: may all fit together? J Endocrinol Invest 2020; 43: 1137-9.
- 25.Berni A, Malandrino D, Corona G, et al. Serum sodium alterations in SARS CoV-2 (COVID-19) infection: impact on patient outcome. Eur J Endocrinol 2021; 185: 137-44.
- 26.Henry BM, de Oliveira MHS, Benoit S, Plebani M, Lippi G. Hematologic, biochemical and immune biomarker abnormalities associated with severe illness and mortality in coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19): a meta-analysis. Clin Chem Lab Med 2020; 58: 1021-8.
- 27.Imam Z, Odish F, Gill I, et al. Older age and comorbidity are independent mortality predictors in a large cohort of 1305 COVID-19 patients in Michigan, United States. J Intern Med 2020; 288: 469-76.
- 28. Alwafi H, Naser AY, Qanash S, et al. Predictors of length of hospital stay, mortality, and outcomes among hospitalised COVID-19 patients in Saudi Arabia: A Cross-Sectional Study. J Multidiscip Healthc 2021; 14: 839-52.
- 29.Liao D, Zhou F, Luo L, et al. Haematological characteristics and risk factors in the classification and prognosis evaluation of COVID-19: a retrospective cohort study. Lancet Haematol 2020; 7: 671-8.
- 30.Bannaga AS, Tabuso M, Farrugia A, et al. C-reactive protein and albumin association with mortality of hospitalised SARS-CoV-2 patients: a tertiary hospital experience. Clin Med (Lond) 2020; 20: 463-7.

HEALTH SCIENCES MEDICINE

The most typical mistakes made during pelvic X-ray in pediatric patients typical mistakes made during pelvic X-ray

Mahmud Aydın¹, Serkan Sürücü², Onur Özel¹, Onur Demirsu¹, Murat Yılmaz¹

¹Haseki Education Research Hospital, Department of Orthopaedics and Traumatology, İstanbul, Turkey ²University of Missouri Kansas City, Department of Orthopaedic Surgery, Kansas City, United States

Cite this article as: Aydın M, Sürücü S, Özel O, Demirsu O, Yılmaz M. The most typical mistakes made during pelvic X-ray in pediatric patients typical mistakes made during pelvic X-ray. J Health Sci Med 2022; 5(3): 805-808.

ABSTRACT

Aim: This study aimed to identify the most common mistakes made during pelvic radiography in pediatric patients and to give advice to physicians and technicians on how to avoid these mistakes.

Material and Method:Between 2016 and 2020, 1150 pelvic radiographs (in pediatric patients for any reason) were analyzed by two independent orthopaedic surgeons. Radiographs taken in trauma patients were not included in the study due to the patient's discomfort and agitation. Interobserver and intraobserver reliability for radiographic measurements were determined using intra-class correlation coefficients (ICC) obtained from three replicate sets of measurements on a sample of 1150 radiographs recorded by each observer at least one week apart.

Results: The mean age of the patients included in this study was 4.28 ± 3.86 (range: 0-14) years. Of the 1150 patients, 935 (81.30%) were female and 215 (18.69%) were male. When pediatric pelvic radiographs were evaluated, the most common mistake was made during gonad protection. It was found that 71.22% of the patients' gonads could not be protected. While this rate was 82.24% in female patients, this rate was 23.34% in male patients. There was a statistically significant difference when compared by gender (p= 0.015). Giving the malposition was the second most common mistake.

Conclusion: The most common errors in pediatric pelvic radiographs are failure to provide gonad protection and malposition of the patient. To minimize these errors, it is necessary to inform both the doctor and the technician.

Keywords: Gonad protection, malposition, pediatric patients, pelvic radiography

INTRODUCTION

Children are more susceptible to radiation exposure than adults due to an abundance of rapidly proliferating cells in the bodies (1-3). Additionally, pediatric patients' longer life expectancy significantly increases their risk of developing cytochemia as a result of radiation dosages when compared to adult patients (3). Due to the significant differences between pediatric imaging algorithms and those used in the adult population, it has been established that treating radiography errors differently in children versus adults is critical (4,5).

Menashe et al. focused their research on radiographic errors in pediatric chest and abdomen radiography. They raised awareness regarding radiographic errors through the cases presented in their study (5,6). Another critical issue with pediatric patients is the preservation of the gonads on pelvic radiographs (7-9). We were unable to locate any study investigating the frequency of radiographic errors made during pelvic radiography in pediatric patients when we searched the literature. The purpose of this study was to determine the most frequently committed errors during pelvic radiography in pediatric patients and to advise physicians and technicians on how to avoid them.

MATERIAL AND METHOD

The study was approved by the SBÜ Haseki Training and Research Hospital Ethics Committee (Date: 24.11.2021, Decision No: KAEK- 2021-232). All procedures were carried out in accordance with the ethical rules and the principles of the Declaration of Helsinki.

Between 2016 and 2020, 1150 pelvic radiographs (in pediatric patients for any reason) were analyzed by two

Corresponding Author: Mahmud Aydın , mahmut_aydn@windowslive.com



independent orthopedic surgeons using data received from the institution's database. Due to the patient's pain and agitation, radiographs obtained in trauma patients were excluded from the study. Independent analysis of the compared images was performed to ascertain the data's consistency. Interobserver and intraobserver reliability for radiographic measurements were determined using intra-class correlation coefficients (ICC) obtained from three replicate sets of measurements on a subset of 1150 radiographs taken at least one week apart by each observer. The following scores were used: ICC >0.80 indicates excellent; 0.70-0.80 indicates very good; 0.60-0.70 indicates good; 0.40-0.60 indicates fair; and 0.40 indicates poor.

The top five mistakes made during pelvic X-rays in pediatric patients were identified.

- 1. Positioning
- 2. Gonad protection
- 3. Radiation dose
- 4. Labels or markers
- 5. Movement

Positioning: X-ray of the pelvis, both hips visible, the obturator foramen should be in its optimal symmetrical position (10).

Radiation dose: The optimal radiation dose should be between 3.06 and 4.57 μ Sv (11).

Gonad protection: Shields should be placed around the testicles of males and the ovaries of females to protect them (12).

Labels or markers: While marking the radiographic, it was found essential to enter the patient's name, age, and the radiographic's direction.

Movement: The patient should not move during the X-ray.

For descriptive statistics, categorical variables were presented as numbers and percentages, and continuous variables were presented as mean, standard deviation, minimum and maximum values.

RESULT

The mean age of the patients included in this study was 4.28 ± 3.86 years (range, 0-14 years). 935 (81.30%) of the 1150 patients were female, while 215 (18.69%) were male.

When pediatric pelvic radiographs were evaluated, the most common mistake was made during gonad protection. It was shown that 71.22% of patients' gonads were unable to be protected (**Figure 1**) (**Table 1**). While this rate was 82.24% for female patients, it was just 23.34% for male patients. When gender was compared, there was a statistically significant difference (p= 0.015) (**Table 2**). Giving the incorrect position was the second most frequent

mistake (**Figure 2**). It was discovered that 27.34% of patients were unable to be properly positioned. In 5.65% of patients, a movement was identified during radiography. Radiation doses were within the acceptable level in all cases. 2.42% of patients had radiographs with incorrect labels or markers. There was no statistically significant correlation between the patients' ages and the mistakes made (p<0.001)



Figure 1. X-ray of the pelvis with incorrect application of the gonad protector



Figure 2. X-ray of the pelvis of a patient who has been given a malposition

When we analyzed intraobserver and interobserver correlations, we discovered that angle measurements had an almost perfect interobserver agreement (ICC, 0.97; confidence interval [CI], 0.96-0.99) and intraobserver agreement (ICC, 0.97; CI, 0.96-0.99) (ICC, 0.94; CI, 0.89-0.96).

Tablo 1. Percentage of mistakes				
Mistakes	percent			
Gonad protection	71.22%			
Positioning	27.34%			
Movement	5.65%			
Labels or markers	2.42%			
Radiation dose	0.0%			

Table 2. Comparison of gonad protection mistakes by gender						
Gender	Number	Percent	p-value			
Female	935	81.30%	0.015			
Male	215	18.69%				

DISCUSSION

The study revealed that the most frequently made error in pediatric patients was a failure to protect the gonads. We discovered that this error was made in 71.22% of cases. In comparison to other types of mistakes, this rate was relatively high. When we compared the findings to the existing literature, they were found to be consistent.

According to Liokas et al. (8), present shielding procedures did not adequately protect the ovaries from radiation exposure during pelvic radiography. They concluded that we did not preserve the gonads on prepubertal female pelvic X-rays. Kaplan et al. (13) stated in their study that the gonads could not be adequately protected in females and that the radiation dose absorbed by the gonads increased as a result of the protectors' incorrect positioning. They advised against its use. Kumar et al. (14) likened the gonadal shield to an Albatross hanging around the neck of developmental hip dysplasia. They reported that when gonad protectors are utilized, they degrade the image and may result in data loss. We believe that gonad protectors are unnecessary, as girls' gonads cannot be preserved. However, we advocate that male patients receive gonadal protection because it is simple and effective.

Malpositioning was the second most frequently occurring error in pediatric patients, occurring at a rate of 27.34%. Malpositioning might result in incorrect radiographic interpretation and misdiagnosis. According to Li et al. (15), malpositioning impairs the assessment of the lateral and anterior central margin angles. This study highlights the crucial importance of validating the radiographic quality to guide hip pathology treatment. Brockmeyer et al. (16) examined the use of basic devices to assure proper placement. The study's findings, however, indicated that simple positioning devices do not yield standardized anteroposterior pelvic radiographs. We recommend that technicians be taught how to properly position the graph to avoid positioning issues.

Another error that occurs during pediatric pelvic X-rays is the mismarking of the X-ray. The most critical

information to note on the X-ray is the patient's name and age for accurate diagnosis and treatment. When we analyzed the radiographs, it was revealed that the most significant error made when marking was the lack of the direction sign. Given the critical nature of determining the correct orientation during surgical procedures, it is critical to eliminate this error.

Hip developmental dysplasia is the most prevalent reason for pelvic X-rays in children. From this vantage point, the fact that the same patient is repeatedly exposed to radiation during the controls is worrisome. Vogel et al. (16) assessed the radiation risk associated with children's X-ray exposure and identified the lifetime risk of malignancy in individuals undergoing roentgenography for hip developmental dysplasia as very low risk. Additionally, they stated that this information might be utilized to reassure parents who are concerned.

The limitations of this study were single-centered and the requirement of radiography was not evaluated.

CONCLUSION

The most frequently made errors in pediatric pelvic radiographs are failing to protect the gonads and patient malposition. To minimize these mistakes, the doctor should first be informed in detail about the issue, followed by the technician, who should be informed based on the frequency of the errors.

ETHICAL DECLARATIONS

Ethics Committee Approval: The study was approved by the SBÜ Haseki Training and Research Hospital Ethics Committee (Date: 24.11.2021, Decision No: KAEK-2021-232).

Informed Consent: Because the study was designed retrospectively, no written informed consent form was obtained from patients.

Referee Evaluation Process: Externally peer-reviewed.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

Author Contributions: All of the authors declare that they have all participated in the design, execution, and analysis of the paper and that they have approved the final version.

- 1. Kutanzi KR, Lumen A, Koturbash I, Miousse IR. Pediatric Exposures to Ionizing Radiation: Carcinogenic Considerations. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2016; 13: 1057.
- 2. Kleinerman RA. Cancer risks following diagnostic and therapeutic radiation exposure in children. Pediatr Radiol 2006; 36: 121-5.

- Khong PL, Ringertz, H, Donoghue V, et al. Radiological protection in pediatric diagnostic and interventional radiology. Ann. ICRP 2013; 42: 1-63.
- Bisset GS, Crowe J. Diagnostic errors in interpretation of pediatric musculoskeletal radiographs at common injury sites. Pediatr Radiol 2014; 44: 552-7
- Menashe SJ, Iyer RS, Parisi MT, Otto RK, Weinberger E, Stanescu AL. Pediatric abdominal radiographs: common and less common errors. AJR Am J Roentgenol 2017; 209: 417-29.
- Menashe SJ, Iyer RS, Parisi MT, Otto RK, Stanescu AL. Pediatric chest radiographs: common and less common errors. AJR Am J Roentgenol 2016; 207: 903-11.
- Wainwright AM. Shielding reproductive organs of orthopaedic patients during pelvic radiography. Ann R Coll Surg Engl 2000; 82: 318-21.
- Liakos P, Schoenecker PL, Lyons D, Gordon JE. Evaluation of the efficacy of pelvic shielding in preadolescent girls. J Pediatr Orthop 2001; 21: 433-5.
- 9. Gürsu S, Gürsu T, Çamurcu Y, Yıldırım T, Gürsu A, Şahin V. Efficacy of gonadal shielding in pediatric pelvis X-rays. Eklem Hastalik Cerrahisi 2013; 24: 87-90.
- 10. Alzyoud K, Hogg P, Snaith B, Flintham K, England A. Optimum positioning for anteroposterior pelvis radiography: a literature review. J Med Imaging Radiat Sci 2018; 49: 316-24.
- 11.Kloth JK, Neumann R, von Stillfried E, et al. Quality-controlled dose-reduction of pelvic X-ray examinations in infants with hip dysplasia. Eur J Radiol 2016; 85: 233-8.
- 12. Fawcett SL, Barter SJ. The use of gonad shielding in pediatric hip and pelvis radiographs. Br J Radiol 2009; 82: 363-70.
- Kaplan SL, Magill D, Felice MA, Xiao R, Ali S, Zhu X. Female gonadal shielding with automatic exposure control increases radiation risks. Pediatr Radiol 2018; 48: 227-34.
- 14. Kumar A, Chau WW, Hung AL, Wong JK, Ng BKW, Cheng JCY. Gonadal shield: is it the Albatross hanging around the neck of developmental dysplasia of the hip research? J Child Orthop 2018; 12: 606-13.
- 15.Li RT, Hu E, Gould H, Valentin N, Salata MJ, Liu RW. Does pelvic rotation alter radiologic measurement of anterior and lateral acetabular coverage? Arthroscopy 2019; 35: 1111-6.
- 16. Brockmeyer M, Lott S, Stroeder J, et al. Simple mechanical devices did not improve pelvis positioning in AP pelvis radiographs for reliable assessment of the acetabular orientation. J Exp Orthop 2019; 6: 20.
- 17.Vogel E, Leaver T, Wall F, Johnson B, Uglow M, Aarvold A. Repeated pelvic radiographs in infants, after harness treatment for developmental dysplasia of the hip, carry very low radiation risk. Indian J Orthop 2021; 55: 1543-8.

Evaluation of the need for hospital-based pediatric palliative care in a single center

Dihal Durmaz¹, Dahar Öztelcan Gündüz¹, Erman Ataş²

¹Gülhane Training and Research Hospital, Department of Pediatrics, Ankara, Turkey ²Gülhane Training and Research Hospital, Department of Pediatric Hematology and Oncology, Ankara, Turkey

Cite this article as: Durmaz N, Öztelcan Gündüz B, Ataş E. Evaluation of the need for hospital-based pediatric palliative care in a single center. J Health Sci Med 2022; 5(3): 809-814.

ABSTRACT

Introduction/Aim: Cancer is one of the leading causes of death for children . Evidence suggests that these children experience substantial suffering from physical and emotional symptoms. Over the past two decades, paediatric palliative care has emerged as an approach that aims to ease suffering for children and their families coping with any life-threatening illness. Our aim is to encourage the expansion of palliative care centers for children with cancer and integration of these into healthcare services to assist clinicians and policy makers in developing services that address these needs.

Material and Method: Our study is a single-center retrospective cohort study. The records of 39 patients who were followed up in the pediatric oncology clinic between 2010-2021 and died were reviewed retrospectively.

Results: The age of diagnosis of patients was the most in the 6-12 range (n=16; 41%) and the least in the adolescent (n=11; 28.2%) age range. The cause of death was related to a disease in 79.5%. Treatment-related deaths were seen in eight patients, four of which were chemotherapy toxicity, two were engraftment failure in autologous hematopoietic stem cell transplantation, and two were post-transplant GVHD. 76.9% of the patients died in the intensive care unit.

Conclusion: In our study, patients with cancer and those who lost their lives were evaluated retrospectively in terms of symptom load, invasive procedures, and psychosocial needs and the need for end-of-life palliative care. Many studies have confirmed that the timely integration of palliative care into routine oncological care has many advantages, such as improvements in physical and psychological symptoms, quality of life and prognosis, as well as reducing costs. In Turkey, palliative treatment is tried to be provided to late stage pediatric cancer patients by pediatric intensive care units and pediatric oncologists. This both increases the workload of physicians and causes intensive care bed occupation. The development and expansion of palliative care on late stage pediatric cancer patients will contribute significantly to the quality of life of both children and their families.

Keywords: Palliative care, children, cancer

INTRODUCTION

Cancer is the leading cause of death for children, especially in high-income countries (1). Despite important medical developments in recent years, approximately 20% of children diagnosed with cancer die (2). Children with cancer in low- and middle-income countries are four times more likely to die from the disease than children in high-income countries (1). It is estimated that 2500-3000 new pediatric cases will be seen in Turkey every year (3).

Palliative care is an approach that improves the quality of life of patients and their families facing a life-threatening disease-related problem through early detection, accurate assessment and treatment of pain and other problems (4). Palliative care is a multidisciplinary approach and is provided by a team that can handle the child's physical symptoms as well as the spiritual and psychosocial needs of children and their family (5). The World Health Organization evaluates cancer patients' access to pain relief and palliative care within global health inequalities and accepts palliative care as a human right (4).

There are limited number of studies on the palliative care needs of pediatric oncology patients in Turkey. In our study, patients with cancer and those who lost their lives were evaluated retrospectively in terms of symptom load, invasive procedures, and psychosocial needs, and the need for end-of-life palliative care. The necessity of endof-life care, and palliative care units for pediatric cancer patients was discussed.

Corresponding Author: Nihal Durmaz, drmznhl@gmail.com



MATERIAL AND METHOD

The study was carried out with the permission of Health Sciences University Non-interventional Clinical Researches Ethics Committee (Date: 08.01.2019, Decision No: 18/364). All procedures were carried out in accordance with the ethical rules and the principles of the Declaration of Helsinki.

Our study is a single-center retrospective cohort study. The records of 39 patients who were followed up in the pediatric oncology clinic between 2010-2021 and died were reviewed retrospectively. Patients' age, diagnosis, diagnosis category (leukemia/lymphoma, brain and other solid tumor), admission complaints, psychological support status, length of stay in hospital and intensive care unit, frequency and duration of intensive care hospitalization, invasive procedures, invasive supportive treatments, hematopoietic cell transplantation information, pain treatment and types, cardiopulmonary resuscitation, cause of death, and place of death were recorded. Ethics committee and patient and parents consent were obtained before the study was initiated. Inclusion criteria of the patients were determined as being in the pediatric age group, having received treatment in the oncology clinic, and being the patient who died.

Statistical Analysis

Statistical analyses were performed using SPSS version 15. Normality was checked by Shapiro Wilk and singlesample Kolmogorov Smirnov tests, histogram, and drawing QQ plot and box plot graphs. Data were given as mean, s.deviation, median, minimum, maximum, frequency, and percentage. Variables between two groups were analyzed with the Mann Whitney U test. Nominal variables were evaluated with Chi square test with Yates correction and Fisher's exact probability tests. The level of significance was taken as p<0.05 and bidirectional.

RESULTS

The mean age of the patients was 8.51 ± 4.59 years (1-17), 26 (66.7) were male and 13 (33.3) were female. The most common type of malignancy was solid tumors (n=22, 56.4%), followed by brain tumors with 30.8% (n=12). Five patients (12.8%) had leukemia/lymphoma. The age of diagnosis of patients was the most in the 6-12 range (n=22; 56.4%) and the least in the adolescent (n=11; 28.2%) age range. Demographic data of the patients are shown in **Table 1**. The cause of death was related to a disease in 79.5%. Treatment-related deaths were seen in 8 patients, four of which were chemotherapy toxicity, 2 were engraftment failure in autologous hematopoietic stem cell transplantation, and 2 were post-transplant GVHD. 76.9% of the patients died in the intensive care unit. For the last three months, pain was the most common complaint

Table 1. Sociodemographic characteristi	cs of the patien	its
	Mean±SD	Range
Age of diagnosis, years	8.51±4.59	1-17
Age of death, year	10.59 ± 4.84	2-18
	n	%
Gender		
Male	26	66.7
Female	13	33.3
Age of Diagnosis (years)		
1-5	12	30.8
6-12	16	41
>13	11	28.2
Leukemia/lymphoma (n=5;12.8)		
Hodgkin's Lymphoma	1	2.56
Non-Hodgkin's lymphoma	2	5.13
Leukemia	2	5.13
Glioma (n=12;30.8)		
Anaplastic Astrocytoma	3	7.69
Diffuse Astrocytoma	1	2.56
Glioblastoma	3	7.69
Gliomatosis Cerebri	1	2.56
Medulloblastoma	4	10.25
Solid Tumor (n=22;56.4)		
Adrenocortical Carcinoma/ Rhabdomyosarcoma	1	2.56
Ewing Sarcoma	5	12.82
Hepatocellular Carcinoma	1	2.56
Neuroblastoma	11	28.21
Norofibroma/ Angiosarcoma	3	7.69
Retinoblastoma/ Osteosarcoma	1	2.56
Mix-Germ Cell Tumor	1	2.56
Cause of Death		
Treatment related	8	20.5
Disease related	31	79.5
Place of death		
Service	6	15.4
Intensive care	30	76.9
Home	3	7.7
Patient provided with spiritual care	0	0
Child patient receiving psychological support	22	56.41
Social Service Support	1	

Table 2. General complaints of patients with cancer diagnosis						
Application complaint n %						
Pain	19	48.7				
Fatigue	13	33.3				
Nausea-vomiting	3	7.7				
Dyspnoea	1	2.6				
Fever	1	2.6				
Paroxysm	1	2.6				
Blackout	1	2.6				

(n=19; 48.7%). Pain was significantly higher especially in children with solid tumors (n=14; 63.6%) (Table 2). There was no statistical difference between the number of symptoms and age groups (p=0.13). It was observed that the number of symptoms was higher in children age groups. Fifteen patients (38.4%) underwent an invasive procedure in end-of-life care. The most common invasive procedure applied to the patients was chest tube and tracheostomy (n=4; 8.52%), while the invasive method was ventilator (n=28; 72.8). Ventilator support was provided to 28 patients (71.8%) and dialysis support was provided to 5 (12.8%). Late stage supportive treatments that the patients received are shown in Table 3. A total of 19 patients (48.7%) received pain treatment in their late stages. The most common treatment was Morphine by IV ROA (94.7%). Two of the patients with tracheostomy had brain tumors and two were Graft Versus Host Patient (GVHD) with lung involvement. Two of our patients who had a chest tube had neuroblastoma with a thoracic mass, one had Ewing's sarcoma originating from the ribs and causing compression in the lungs, and one had anaplastic ependymoma who was kept on the ventilator for a long time and developed pneumonia. Approximately one third of the patients (n=11, 28%) underwent HSCT (Hematopoietic Stem Cell Transplantation) at least once. Transplantation was performed after ten patients were in remission after chemotherapy, and one patient was transplanted while in partial remission. Of these patients, 5 had lymphoma/leukemia, 4 had neuroblastoma, and 2 had Ewing sarcoma. 71.8% (n:28) of the patients needed intensive care from the moment they were diagnosed. 95 percent of them were treated in the intensive care unit in the last month. The rate of those who were treated

Table 3. Patients' complaints and psychological support status according to their cancer types					
	Application complaint		Psycho assis	ological tance	
-	n	%	n	%	
Leukemia/ lymphoma					
Pain	2	40	2	5.1	
Fatigue	3	60			
Brain			7	17.9	
Pain	3	25			
Fatigue	3	25			
Dyspnoea	1	8.3			
Nausea- vomiting	2	16.7			
Fever	1	8.3			
Paroxysm	1	8.3			
Blackout	1	8.3			
Solid tumor			15	38.5	
Pain	14	63.6			
Fatigue	7	31.8			
Nausea-vomiting	1	4.5			

in the intensive care unit three times or more was approximately 15%. The mean duration of stay of the patients in the ICU was determined as 11.67 ± 3.2 days. Psychiatric support was provided to more than half of the patients (n=22; 56.4%). (Table 4) Their complaints before death were respiratory failure in 31 patients, bleeding in 7 patients, and 1 patient died due to liver failure. CPR was performed on every patient died in the hospital, but not on those who died at home.

Table 4. Distribution of supportive treatme	Table 4. Distribution of supportive treatments applied to patients						
	Mean±SD	Range					
The length of hospital stay, days	109±25	2-357					
ICU length of stay, days	11.6±3.2	1-120					
	n	%					
Hospitalization for >3 weeks without clin	ical improver	nent					
Yes	22	62.86					
No	13	37.14					
Invasive procedures applied							
Liver biopsy	1	2.13					
Paracentesis	2	4.26					
Peritoneal catheter	1	2.13					
Thoracentesis	3	6.38					
Chest tube	4	8.51					
Tracheotomy	4	8.51					
Invasive support							
Ventilator	28	71.8					
Dialysis	5	12.8					
Stem cell transplantation							
Yes	11	28.2					
No	28	71.8					
Number of transplants							
0	28	71.8					
1	8	20.5					
2	2	5.1					
3	1	2.6					
Pain Treatment							
Yes	19	48.7					
No	20	51.3					
Which pain treatment?							
Morphine	7	36.84					
Fentanyl, morphine	5	26.32					
Fentanyl,morphine, tramadol	5	26.32					
Morphine, tramadol, pethidine	1	5.26					
Tramadol, fentanyl	1	5.26					
Intensive care need							
Yes	28	71.8					
No	11	28.2					
Frequency of i ntensive care hospitalizatio	n						
1 hospitalization	18	64.29					
2 hospitalizations	6	21.43					
3 or more hospitalizations	4	14.29					
CPR *							
Yes	36	92.3					
No	3	7.7					
*Three patients died at home. Two families were hesita for it	nt about CPR, yet	later asked					

DISCUSSION

Cancer is the leading cause of childhood death in Turkey and 30% of children diagnosed with cancer succumb to their disease. Child mortality from cancer ranks fourth in Turkey after infectious diseases, heart diseases, and accidents (4). Children in the terminal stage have to cope with symptoms such as pain, dyspnea, nausea-vomiting, which will necessitate palliative care in the last stages of their lives (5). Many studies have confirmed that the timely integration of palliative care into routine oncological care has many advantages, such as improvements in physical and psychological symptoms, quality of life and prognosis, as well as reducing costs. Since pediatric palliative clinics have not become widespread in Turkey yet, this service is provided by oncologists. Physicians working in oncology centers in Turkey stated that there is a lack of personnel, training, and physical space for pediatric palliative services, and that they do not feel qualified for this service (6). In order to contribute to the organization of the palliative care needs and scope of pediatric oncology patients, in this study, patients with palliative care needs were evaluated retrospectively.

Some of the late stage cancer patients need invasive procedures such as intensive care treatment, tracheostomy, and thoracic tube. In the study conducted by Corkum et al. (7) on advanced cancer patients, the rate of patients who underwent tracheostomy was found to be 30% (n=62), and the rate of patients who had a thoracic tube inserted was 14% (n=345). In our study, the rate of patients who underwent tracheostomy was 8.51% (n=4), and the rate of patients who had a thoracic tube inserted was 8.51% (n=4). Two of our patients with tracheostomy had brain tumors and two had GVHD with lung involvement. Two of our patients who had a chest tube had neuroblastoma with a thoracic mass, one had Ewing's sarcoma originating from the ribs and causing compression in the lungs, and one had anaplastic ependymoma who was kept on the ventilator for a long time and developed pneumonia. Invasive procedures may be required for masses or infections involving the thoracic region.

Stem cell transplantation, which is performed by applying high-dose chemotherapy and/or radiotherapy and can sometimes cause early and late side effects, is used as a treatment method in children with relapsed or advanced cancer and contributes to the decrease in mortality rates (5,8). One third of the patients had HSCT for at least once in the study. Of these patients, 5 had lymphoma/leukemia, 4 had neuroblastoma, and 2 had Ewing sarcoma. Palliative care, which requires patientspecific care, family support and multidisciplinary teamwork, has an important place in the management of symptoms, which emerge on patients with advanced cancer after performing HSCT, such as pain, dyspnea, nausea-vomiting. Especially in the parents of the patients who underwent HSCT and died, depression, anxiety and deterioration in quality of life were observed more than the parents of those who did not get HSCT treatment (8). Palliative care is extremely important for these families and patients.

Children with cancer included in our study and their families expressed pain as their most common symptom. Wolfe et al. (9) in their study, showed that pain in children with cancer at late stage increased heavily in the last 12-week period of their lives. It has been found that children who receive palliative care support in the last period of life manage pain better than those who do not (10). In our study, approximately half of the patients used morphine and similar opioids. Within the scope of the Pallia-Turk project, which was initiated in Turkey in 2010, it was aimed to increase the availability of opioids and to put the community-based palliative care model into practice (11). The use of opioid analgesics in Turkey has increased over the years, but has not reached the desired level (12). The amount of opioids per individual was 14.6 mg in Turkey in 2010. Considering that the average of the first twenty countries with the highest amount of opioid use is 216.7 mg, this is quite low (13). Access to opioid drugs in Turkey has become much more possible with the increase in adult palliative care. However, there are several barriers in opioid use. In a study conducted in Turkey, the obstacles for the pain treatment of pediatric patients were investigated, and these were determined as the pain was not evaluated regularly and permanently by physicians, the nurses did not fill the pain scales, and the absence of psychosocial support units in hospitals (14). Another study showed that mothers of children cancer patients who were treated at home avoided the use of analgesics because of insufficient education and concerns about side effects (15).

Three fourth of the patient group examined in this study received intensive care treatment. Studies have shown that one out of every three to four children with cancer receives intensive care treatment and the mortality of these patients is four to five times higher than the mortality of patients hospitalized in the pediatric intensive care unit (PICU) for non-cancer reasons (16,17). Pediatric intensive care units, which are limited in number in Turkey, are used by palliative patients (18). In the literature, it has been shown that pediatric oncology patients with early integration into pediatric palliative have lower intensive care unit admission and intervention rates, and have lower costs (19-22). We think that, with the spread of palliative care centers, pediatric intensive care units will be used less and invasive interventions will decrease in late stage patients.

In our study, most of the patients died in the hospital, mostly in the intensive care unit. It was determined that children who died in a hospital environment suffered more and their relatives experienced more depression, anxiety, stress, and a difficult mourning period than those of the children who died outside the hospital (23). It has been shown that the mortality rate of children receiving palliative care in the terminal stage in the intensive care unit and hospital decreases (10). The fact that the majority of patients in our study died in hospitals and intensive care units may be due to the lack of a palliative center in our hospital.

Life-threatening diseases confront individuals with the reality and imminence of death, and spirituality becomes more important to end-of-life patients. Spiritual care has been practiced in a modern setting for over a hundred years in Europe and the United States. The American Society of Clinical Oncology (ASCO) and the American Academy of Hospice and Palliative Medicine defined spiritual care for oncology patients as one of the criteria for quality palliative care (24). The European Association of Palliative Care (EAPC) also prepared guidelines on spiritual care in 2014 (25). However, spiritual care is a newly developing concept in Turkey (26). In our study, there was no record of whether the patients in the terminal stage received spiritual care or not.

In our study, only 12.5% of patient relatives did not want resuscitation (DNR). There are publications showing that pediatric patients who do not receive palliative care are almost eight times more likely to be resuscitated at the time of death than patients who do receive palliative care (10). There is no legal basis for limiting end-of-life support (EOL) in Turkey. There are not enough studies on end-of-life decisions and DNR among pediatricians in Turkey.

Studies have shown that the treatments applied on cancer patients, the side effects of the treatment, the fear of death, the uncertainty about life and treatment cause more emotional and behavioral problems in these children (27,20). Palliative care centers provide psychosocial support for both children and families. As in many hospitals in Turkey, psychosocial services are not a part of routine patient care in the hospital where we conducted the study. In cases in which the patient is thought to be in need, psychological support and social service support can be provided upon the request of the relevant physician. Psychiatric support was provided to more than half of the children in our study. Many studies have confirmed that the timely integration of palliative care into routine oncological care has many advantages, such as improvements in physical and psychological symptoms, quality of life and prognosis, as well as reducing costs.

CONCLUSION

In Turkey, palliative treatment is tried to be provided to late stage pediatric cancer patients by pediatric intensive care units and pediatric oncologists. This both increases the workload of physicians and causes intensive care bed occupation. In Turkey, the development and expansion of palliative care on late stage pediatric cancer patients will contribute significantly to the quality of life of both children and their families.

Our recommendation is to encourage the expansion of palliative care centers for children with cancer and the integration of these into healthcare services.

ETHICAL DECLARATIONS

Ethics Committee Approval: The study was carried out with the permission of Health Sciences University Non-interventional Clinical Researches Ethics Committee (Date: 08.01.2019, Decision No: 18/364).

Informed Consent: Because the study was designed retrospectively, no written informed consent form was obtained from patients.

Referee Evaluation Process: Externally peer-reviewed.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

Author Contributions: All of the authors declare that they have all participated in the design, execution, and analysis of the paper and that they have approved the final version

- 1. WHO | Global Initiative for Childhood Cancer [Internet]. WHO. World Health Organization; 2018 [cited 2021 May 29]. Available from: http://www.who.int/cancer/childhood-cancer/en/
- 2. Siegel RL, Miller KD, Jemal A. Cancer statistics, 2018. CA Cancer J Clin 2018; 68: 7-30.
- 3. Kutluk T, Yeşilipek A. pediatric Cancer Registry in Turkey 2009-2018. siOp 2019 Congress meeting. Abstracts from the 51st Annual Conference of the international society of paediatric Oncology (siOp) pediatric Blood&Cancer 2019; 66: s566
- 4. WHO | Palliative care. WHO [Internet] 2016 [cited 2021 May 29]; Available from: http://www.who.int/cancer/palliative/en/
- Kaye EC, Gushue CA, DeMarsh S, et al. Illness and end-of-life experiences of children with cancer who receive palliative care. Pediatr Blood Cancer 2018; 65: 10.1002/pbc.26895.
- 6. Mutafoglu K, Ince D, Kutluk T. Availability of palliative care services for children with cancer in Turkey. Asia Pac J Clin Oncol 2014; 10: 71.
- 7. Corkum KS, Lautz TB, Hebal FN, et al. Procedural burden experienced by children with cancer during their terminal hospital admission. J Pediatr Surg 2019; 54: 133-9.
- 8. Ullrich CK, Dussel V, Hilden JM, Sheaffer JW, Lehmann L, Wolfe J. End-of-life experience of children undergoing stem cell transplantation for malignancy: parent and provider perspectives and patterns of care. Blood 2010; 115: 3879-85.

- Wolfe J, Orellana L, Ullrich C, et al. Symptoms and distress in children with advanced cancer: prospective patient-reported outcomes from the PediQUEST study. J Clin Oncol 2015; 33: 1928-35.
- 10.Osenga K, Postier A, Dreyfus J, et al. A comparison of circumstances at the end of life in a hospital setting for children with palliative care involvement versus those without. J Pain Symptom Manage 2016; 52: 673-80.
- 11.Ozgul N, Gultekin M, Koc O, et al. Turkish community-based palliative care model: a unique design. Ann Oncol 2012; 23: 76-8.
- 12.Göksel F, Şenel G, Oğuz G, et al. Development of palliative care services in Turkey. Eur J Cancer Care 2020; 29: 6-11.
- 13. Duthey B, Scholten W. Adequacy of opioid analgesic consumption at country, global, and regional levels in 2010, its relationship with development level, and changes compared with 2006. J Pain Symptom Manag 2014; 47.
- 14. Elçigil A, Maltepe H, Eşrefgil G, Mutafoğlu K. Bir üniversite hastanesinde hemşirelerin ağrının değerlendirilmesi ve yönetiminin önündeki engeller, Pediatrik Hematoloji/Onkoloji Dergisi 2011; 33: S33-S38.
- Boztepe H, Ay A, Akyüz C. Maternal pain management at home in children with cancer: a Turkish sample. J Pediatr Nurs 2020; 50: e99-e106.
- 16. Wösten-van Asperen RM, van Gestel JPJ, van Grotel M, et al. PICU mortality of children with cancer admitted to pediatric intensive care unit a systematic review and meta-analysis. Crit Rev Oncol Hematol 2019; 142: 153-63.
- 17. Al Haj Moussa A, Maaz AUR, Faqih N, Sundaram M. critically ill pediatric oncology patients: what the intensivist needs to know? pediatric critical care medicine. Indian J Crit Care Med 2020; 24: 1256-63.
- 18.Bozan G, Dinleyici EÇ, Bozan G, Yarar C, Ulukapi HB, Çarman KB. Palliative care need in pediatric intensive care unit: single center experience. Osmangazi Tıp Derg 2020; 42: 357-362.
- 19.Kaye EC, Gushue CA, DeMarsh S, et al. Illness and end-of-life experiences of children with cancer who receive palliative care Pediatr Blood Cancer 2018; 65: 10.1002/pbc.26895.
- 20.Snaman JM, Kaye EC, Lu JJ, Sykes A, Baker JN. Palliative care involvement is associated with less intensive end-of-life care in adolescent and young adult oncology patients. J Palliat Med 2017; 20: 509-16.
- 21.Snaman, J. Pediatric Palliative Care in Oncology. J Clin Oncol 2020; 20: 38: 954-62.
- 22.Rossfeld ZM, Miller R, Tumin D, Tobias JD, Humphrey LM. Implications of pediatric palliative consultation for intensive care unit stay. J Palliat Med 2019; 22: 790-6.
- Rosenman MB, Vik T, Hui SL, Breitfeld PP. Hospital resource utilization in childhood cancer. J Pediatr Hematol Oncol 2005; 27: 295-300.
- 24.Osman H, Shrestha S, Temin S. Palliative care in the global setting: ASCO Resource-Stratifed practice guideline. J Glob Oncol 2018; 4: 1-24. 10.
- 25.Ehman J. References to spirituality, religion, beliefs, and cultural diversity in the joint commission's comprehensive accreditation manual for hospitals 2018. 2018 edition.
- 26.Best M, Leget C, Goodhead A, Paal P. An EAPC white paper on multi-disciplinary education for spiritual care in palliative care. BMC Palliat Care 2020; 19: 9.
- 27.Şirin T, Göksel F. Investigation of the spiritual care effects on anxiety, depression, psychological distress and spiritual levels of Turkish muslim radiotherapy patients. J Relig Health 2021; 60: 2484-502.
- Weaver MS, Heinze KE, Kelly KP, et al. Palliative care as a standard of care in pediatric oncology. Pediatr Blood Cancer 2015; 62: S829-S833.

HEALTH SCIENCES **MEDICINE**

Evaluation of anatomical variations with morphological measurements and their relationship with rotator cuff tear and acromion types

Süleyman Öncü¹, DFatma Zeynep Arslan², Muslu Kazım Körez³

¹Tokat State Hospital, Department of Radiology, Tokat, Turkey ²Başakşehir Çam and Sakura City Hospital, Department of Radiology, İstanbul, Turkey ³Selçuk University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Biostatistics, Konya, Turkey

Cite this article as: Öncü S, Arslan FZ, Körez MK. Evaluation of anatomical variations with morphological measurements and their relationship with rotator cuff tear and acromion types. J Health Sci Med 2022; 5(3): 815-821.

ABSTRACT

Introduction: There many more anatomical measurements such as the acromiohumeral distance and lateral acromion angle and acromial configuration was reported as might be associated with rotator cuff tear. In our study, we aimed to reveal the effect of acromion index, acromiohumeral distance, lateral acromion angle, critical shoulder angle values and the acromion type in the development of rotator cuff tear.

Material and Method: In our retrospective study, 58 patients and 29 asymptomatic volunteers who underwent shoulder magnetic resonance imaging examinations were examined. acromion index, acromion humaral distance, lateral acromion angle and critical shoulder angle were measured and their relationship with rotator cuff tear and acromion types were evaluated. **Results**: Type III (hooked) of acromial shapes, higher acromion index and critical shoulder angle values, lower acromiohumeral distance and lateral acromion angle values are more frequently seen in rotator cuff tear patients, in our study.

Conclusion: Thus, we revealed anatomical malformations that predispose to rotator cuff tear concerning the shoulder joint.

Keywords: Shoulder joint, acromion types, rotator cuff tears

INTRODUCTION

The acromion is an important anatomical structure that exists in various configurations and some of these variations may lead to rotator cuff tear (RCT) (1). RCT is a frequently seen disease of shoulder, Almost 35% of patients undergoing magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) with shoulder pain have RCT. This rate reaches 50% in patients over the age of 66 (2). MRI enables a more comprehensive assessment of the glenohumeral joint by revealing the articular cartilage and labroligamentous structures in detail (3). Acromiohumeral distance (AHD) is measured as interval between the humeral head and the acromion (4). On MRI a narrowed AHD may cause decreased in lowering function of infraspinatus muscle and humeral head rise. Recently, narrowed AHD is found to be associated subacromial impingement and rotator cuff tear (4). Recently an relationship between the critical shoulder angle (CSA) and acromion index (AI) with RCTs were described (5). A high CSA (>35) was related to increased risk of RCT. Thus, shear forces apply an increasing force to the origin of the glenoid and rotator cuffs (5). As the lateral projection of the acromion increases, higher AI is measured (6). For this reason, increased AI is associated with RCT. There many more anatomical measurements such as the AHD and lateral acromion angle (LAA) and acromial configuration was reported as might be associated with RCT (1). In our study, we aimed to reveal the effect of AI, AHD, LAA, CSA values and the acromion type in the development of RCT.

MATERIAL AND METHOD

The study was carried out with the permission of Tokat Gaziosmanpasa University Hospital, Non-invasive Clinical Researches Ethics Committee (Date: 20.01.2022, Decision No: 2022/02). All procedures were carried out in accordance with the ethical rules and the principles of the Declaration of Helsinki.

Corresponding Author: Fatma Zeynep Arslan, Zeynep_a1002@hotmail.com



General Data

In our retrospective study, 68 patients and 29 asymptomatic volunteers who underwent shoulder MRI examinations between 2019 and 2021 were examined. A total of 10 patients who have previous surgery, prosthesis, fractures or solid lesions involving shoulder joint, cases with acromial spurs or severe osteoarthritis, history of chemoradiotherapy, and known systemic disease were excluded from our study. Since our measurements were highly affected by shoulder and arm position, many patients without appropriate positioning on MRI were excluded from the study. During shoulder MRI, the patient is placed in supine position and the arm adducted with a mild external rotation.Fifty-eight patients with RCT and 29 asymptomatic volunteers were enrolled in this study. Patients are divided into two groups partialthickness tear and full thickness tear on MRI. The supraspinatus, infraspinatus, subscapularis and teres minor muscles are evaluated as rotator cuff muscles. Fullthickness RCTs are accepted as the tears extends from the bursal surface to the articular surface. Partial-thickness RCTs are accepted as the tears lack of full transmural extension from the articular to the bursal surfaces. On fat-saturated PD or T2W images, tear is detected as fluid signal intensity within the tendon. Types of the acromion were evaluated on the T1W sagittal oblique images. The acromion has group into four type according to its shape (7). Type 1 acromion is described as flat. Type 2 is accepted as curved with a concave surface. Type 3 has a hooked shape in the most anterior portion of acromion. Type 4 was described as convex shaped acromion (Figure 1). All measurements are performed by a radiologist (S.Ö).



Figure 1. a) Type 1 acromion is described as flat. **b)** Type 2 is accepted as curved with a concave surface. **c)** Type 3 has a hooked shape in the most anterior portion of acromion (black star: acromion)

Measurements

In the coronal plane AI, AHD, LAA and CSA were measured (**Figure 2**). Measurements were obtained from the image where the lateral end of the glenoid and acromion could be seen simultaneously in the coronal section. The ratio between the distance from the glenoid cavity to the lateral edge of the humerus and the distance from the glenoid cavity to the lateral edge of the lateral edge of the acromion is calculated as AI (8). To measure AHD two parallel auxiliary lines were drawn. First line placed on the lower edge of the acromion and second line is

placed on the the osseous humeral head. The middle image of all images that represent the glenoid is chosen, on which the glenoid is shown larger (9). LAA was measured as the angle between the line passing through the middle of the joint and the line passing through the inferior surface of the acromion in the coronal plane where the acromioclavicular joint is best seen. CSA is measured as the angle between the superior and inferior bone margins of the glenoid and the most lateral border of the acromion (10). MRI image protocol was shown in **Table 1**.



Figure 2. a.) Acromiohumeral distance (AHD) is measured as interval between the humeral head and the acromion b.) Acromion index (AI) is calculated as the ratio between the distance from the glenoid cavity to the lateral edge of the humerus and the distance from the glenoid cavity to the lateral edge of the acromion. c.) Critical shoulder angle (CSA) is measured as the angle between the superior and inferior bone margins of the glenoid and the most lateral border of the acromion d.) Lateral acromial angle (LAA) was measured as the angle between the line passing through the middle of the joint and the line passing through the inferior surface of the acromion

Table 1. Pulse sequence					
	FOV (cm)	Slice thickness (mm)	Matrix	TR/TE (ms)	
Axial PD fat suppression	20x20	4	512×512	3000/77	
Coronal oblique T1	20x20	4.5	512×512	700/9	
Coronal oblique PD with fat suppression	20x20	4.5	512×512	2350/62	
Sagittal oblique PD with fat suppression	20x20	4.5	512×512	2350/62	
FOV: field of view, TE: echo time, TR: repetition time, cm: centimeter, mm: millimeter, ms: millisecond, PD: Proton density					

Statistical Analysis

All statistical analysis was performed using R version 3.6.0 (The R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria; https://www.r-project.org). Shapiro-Wilk's normality test and Q-Q plots were used to assess the normality of the data, and Levene's test was used to check the homogeneity of the variances. Numerical variables were expressed as mean±standard deviation, and estimated mean with 95% confidence intervals (CI) in case controlling for age. Categorical variables were described as count (n) and percentage (%). One-Way ANOVA (analysis of variances) and Welch's F test, and also independent sample t-test were used to compare the age, AI, AHM, LAA, and CSA values between the groups. The differences between the groups were investigated with Tukey HSD test after the ANOVA, and Games-

Howell multiple comparison test after the Welch's F test. Moreover, the analysis of covariance (ANCOVA) was run to determine the AI, AHM, LAA and CSA of study groups by controlling for age, since the age distribution of the groups were different. Multiple comparisons were performed with Bonferroni correction. Besides, Pearson chi-square test following by two proportion Z-test was applied to examine the association between study groups and gender distribution, and acromial shapes. The effect of the study groups on the acromial shapes was analyzed by multinomial logistic regression analysis by controlling for age. The receiver operating characteristic (ROC) curve analysis were conducted for AI, AHM, LAA, and CSA as a marker in diagnosing the RCT, and the area under the curve (AUC) values were calculated with 95% confidence intervals. An optimal cut-off values were determined using the Youden J index. The sensitivity, specificity, negative and positive predictive values were calculated with 95% confidence intervals for determined cut-off values. A p-value less than 5% was considered as statistically significant.

RESULTS

Fifty-eight patients with RCT were enrolled in this study. They were 31 (49.4%) females and 27 (50.6%) males. Their ages ranged from 23 to 81 years with a mean of 57.59 ± 12.11 years. A control group of 29 asymptomatic volunteers without RCT was added. They were 12 females and 17 males. Their ages ranged from 21 to 68 years with a mean of 44.14 ± 13.11 years. The mean age was 57.59 ± 12.11 (ranged, 23-81) in RCT patients were higher than the healthy controls (44.14 ± 13.11 , ranged: 21-68, p<.001). However, the gender distribution of the

groups was similar (p=.240). There was no statistically significant association between study groups and acromial shapes (p=.051). As a result of both ANOVA and age-adjusted ANCOVA analysis, AI and CSA values were significantly higher in patients with RCT compared to healthy controls, while AHM and LAA values were significantly lower (all p-values <.001, **Table 2**).

There was a significantly association between study groups and Type III (hooked) of acromial shapes, Type III proportion of acromial shapes was significantly higher in RCT patients than in healthy controls (n=14/58 [24.1%] vs. n=1/29 [3.4%], p=.031, **Table 3**). However, this association was not statistically significant when controlling for age (OR=3.68, 95% CI: 0.28-48.65, p=.323).

The mean and adjusted mean of the AI, AHM, LAA, and CSA values according to study groups were given in Table 4. A one-way ANOVA and Welch's F test were run to determine whether there was a statistically significant difference in AI, AHM, LAA and CSA values between study groups. There was a statistically significant difference in AI, AHM, LAA and CSA values between study groups (all p<.001). But, since the age distributions between the groups were different, a one-way covariance (ANCOVA) analysis was conducted to compare the AI, AHM, LAA and CSA of study groups by controlling for age. There was a significant difference in AI values between the study groups (F2,83=22.86, p<.001, η 2=0.36). Post-hoc analysis, which is performed with a Bonferroni adjustment, showed that the AI values in patients with full thickness tear was (0.69, 95%) CI:0.66-0.71) higher than patients with partial thickness tear (0.63, 95% CI: 0.61-0.66, adj. p=.005) and healthy controls (0.57, 95% CI: 0.54-0.59, adj. p<.001). In addition, the AI values were significantly higher in patients with

Table 2. Demographical characteristics and acromial measurements of the study groups						
	Healthy controls (n=29)	RCT patients (n=58)	p-value			
Age (years)	44.14±13.11 (21-68)	57.59±12.11 (23-81)	<.0011			
Gender (Female/Male)	12/17	31/27	.240 ²			
Acromial shapes			.051 ²			
Type I (flat)	9 (31)	16 (27.6)				
Type II (curved)	19 (65.5)	28 (48.3)				
Type III (hooked)	1 (3.4)	14 (24.1)				
AI						
Mean±SD	0.57±0.05	0.66±0.06	<.0011			
Estimated mean (95% CI)	0.57 (0.55-0.60)	0.66 (0.64-0.67)	<.001 ³			
AHM (mm)						
Mean±SD	8.45±1.13	6.32±1.38	<.0011			
Estimated mean (95% CI)	8.23 (7.72-8.74)	6.43 (6.08-6.77)	<.001 ³			
LAA°						
Mean±SD	77.07±4.20	69.64±5.25	<.0011			
Estimated mean (95% CI)	76.99 (75.01-78.98)	69.68 (68.32-71.03)	<.001 ³			
CSA°						
Mean±SD	31.25±1.88	34.38±2.27	<.0011			
Estimated mean (95% CI)	31.55 (30.70-32.40)	34.68 (34.10-35.26)	<.001 ³			
Data were presented as mean±standard deviation (range) and estimated mean with 95% confidence inte	ervals, and also were described as count (n) and p	percentage (%). Bold values			

Data were presented as mean±standard deviation (range) and estimated mean with 95% confidence intervals, and also were described as count (n) and percentage (%). Bold values denote that statistically significant difference between the groups. 1 Independent samples t-test 2 Pearson chi-square 3 ANCOVA Abbreviations: SD; standard deviations, AI; acromial index, AHM;, LAA; lateral acromion angle, CSA; critical shoulder angle, 95% CI; 95% confidence interval, RCT; rotator cuff tear

partial thickness tear compared to healthy controls (adj. p<.001) (Graphic 1-A). There was a significant difference in AHM values between the study groups (F2,83=41.71, p<.001, η 2=0.50). Post-hoc analysis, which is performed with a Bonferroni adjustment, showed that the AHM values in patients with full thickness tear was (5.33, 95% CI:4.87-5.78) lower than patients with partial thickness tear (7.27, 95% CI: 6.88-7.66, adj. p<.001) and healthy controls (8.49, 95% CI: 8.06-8.92, adj. p<.001). In addition, the AHM values were significantly lower in patients with partial thickness tear compared to healthy controls (adj. p<.001) (Graphic 1-B). There was a significant difference in LAA values between the study groups (F2,83=17.53, p<.001, η 2=0.30). Post-hoc analysis, which is performed with a Bonferroni adjustment, showed that the LAA values in patients with full thickness tear (68.65, 95% CI:66.53-70.77) and in patients with partial thickness tear were (70.46, 95% CI: 68.62-72.30) lower than healthy controls (77.24, 95% CI: 75.22-79.25, all adj. p<.001). However, the LAA values were similar in patients with full thickness tear and partial thickness tear (adj. p=.653) (Graphic 1-C). There was a significant difference in CSA values between the study groups (F2,83=22.44, p<.001, n2=0.35). Post-hoc analysis, which is performed with a Bonferroni adjustment, showed that the CSA values in patients with full thickness tear was (35.68, 95% CI:34.81-36.55) higher than patients with partial thickness tear (33.91, 95% CI: 33.16-34.67, adj. p=.012) and healthy controls (31.31, 95% CI: 30.48-32.14, adj. p<.001). In addition, the CSA values were significantly higher in patients with partial thickness tear compared to healthy controls (adj. p<.001) (**Graphic 1-D**).

The diagnostic performance of AI, CSA, AHM, and LAA to differentiate RCT patients from healthy controls were given in **Table 4** and **Graphic 2**. The cut-off values for discriminating the RCT and healthy controls were as follows: AI>0.61, AHM \leq 7.1, LAA \leq 72 and CSA>32.7. The area under the curve (AUC) was 0.885 (95% CI, 0.799-0.944) with 81% of sensitivity, 83% of specificity, 90% of PPV, and 69% of NPV for the AI, 0.894 (95% CI, 0.809-0.950) with 74% of sensitivity, 93% of specificity, 96% of PPV, and 64% of NPV for the AHM, 0.857 (95% CI, 0.765-0.923) with 71% of sensitivity, 90% of specificity, 93% of PPV, and 61% of NPV for the LAA, and 0.888 (95% CI, 0.802-0.945) with 85% of sensitivity, 80% of specificity, 89% of PPV, and 72% of NPV for the CSA.

Table 3. The comparisons of den	nographical characteristics and acron	nial measurements in healthy contr	ols and RCT patient groups			
			RCT patients			
	Heathy controls (n=29)	Partial thickness (n=29)	Full thickness (n=29)	p value		
Age (years)	44.14±13.11ª	50.79 ± 10.45^{a}	64.38±9.68 ^b	<.0011		
Gender (F/M)	12/17	13/16	18/11	.240 ²		
Acromial shapes				.0312		
Type I (flat)	9 (31)	10 (34.5)	6 (20.7)			
Type II (curved)	19 (65.5)	15 (51.7)	13 (44.8)			
Type III (hooked)	$1 (3.4)^{a}$	4 (13.8)	10 (34.5) ^b			
AI						
Mean±SD	0.57 ± 0.05^{a}	0.63 ± 0.05^{b}	$0.69 \pm 0.06^{\circ}$	<.0011		
Est. mean (95% CI)	$0.57 \ (0.54-0.59)^{a}$	0.63 (0.61-0.66) ^b	0.69 (0.66-0.71) ^c	$<.001^{4}$		
AHM (mm)						
Mean±SD	8.45±1.13ª	7.26 ± 0.78^{b}	5.37±1.19°	<.0011		
Est. mean (95% CI)	8.49 (8.06-8.92) ^a	7.27 (6.88-7.66) ^b	5.33 (4.87-5.78)°	$<.001^{4}$		
LAA°						
Mean±SD	77.07 ± 4.20^{a}	70.41±5.88 ^b	68.86 ± 4.50^{b}	<.001 ³		
Est. mean (95% CI)	77.24 (75.22-79.25) ^a	70.46 (68.62-72.30 ^b	68.65 (66.53-70.77) ^b	$<.001^{4}$		
CSA°						
Mean±SD	31.25±1.88ª	33.90±1.92 ^b	35.76±2.25°	<.0011		
Est. mean (95% CI)	31.31 (30.48-32.14) ^a	33.91 (33.16-34.67) ^b	35.68 (34.81-36.55)°	$<.001^{4}$		
Data were presented as mean±standard deviation (range) and estimated mean with 95% confidence intervals, and also were described as count (n) and percentage (%). Bold values denote that statistically significant difference between the groups. Different superscript small letters in each row shows statistically significant difference between groups after pairwise comparison tests. 1 One-Way ANOVA 2 Pearson chi-square 3 Welch's F test 4 ANCOVA Abbreviations: SD; standard deviations, AI; acromial index, AHM;, LAA; lateral						

Table 4.	Table 4. Diagnostic performance of the AI, AHM, LAA, and CSA in diagnosis of RCT								
	ROC curve analysis				Statistical diagnostic measures, (95% CI)				
	AUC (95% CI)	p-value	Cut-off	J	Sensitivity	Specificity	PPV	NPV	
AI	0.885 (0.799-0.944)	<.001	>0.61	0.638	81 (69-90)	83 (64-94)	90 (81-96)	69 (56-79)	
AHM	0.894 (0.809-0.950)	<.001	≤7.1	0.672	74 (61-85)	93 (77-99)	96 (85-99)	64 (54-74)	
LAA	0.857 (0.765-0.923)	<.001	≤72	0.603	71 (57-82)	90 (73-98)	93 (82-98)	61 (50-70)	
CSA	0.888 (0.802-0.945)	<.001	>32.7	0.638	85 (73-93)	80 (60-92)	89 (80-94)	72 (58-83)	
Abbreviatio	Abbreviations: AI; acromial index, AHM;, LAA; lateral acromion angle, CSA; critical shoulder angle, AUC (95% CI); area under the curve (95% confidence interval), ROC; receiver								



Graphic 1. Box-plots of AI, AHM, LAA, and CSA in patients with RCT and healthy controls. (A) the level of AI in study groups



Graphic 2. Receiver operating characteristics (ROC) curve analysis of the diagnostic performance of AI, CSA, AHM, and LAA

DISCUSSION

Anatomical variations of the acromion may be a predisposing factor for RCT by causing changes in the resultant of vector forces. The extent to which the anatomical factors play a role in RCT is not fully known (1). MRI provide us to evaluated the status of the rotator cuff and the shape of the acromion. Hamid et al. reported

that classification for acromial morphology is unreliable and operator dependent. AI is not significantly associated with RCTs but increased AI is related to shoulder pain (11). In another study, they argued that the reason why the relationship between acromion shape and RCT is not fully established in the literature is that it is affected too much by interobserver variability during the evaluation of acromine classification. And they argued from the same study that the shape of acromine should be considered 3-dimensional (12). Thus, it was revealed that bone spurs at the anterior and lateral edges of the acromion lead to RCT (12). In our study we found that there was a significantly association between study groups and Type III (hooked) of acromial shapes, Type III proportion of acromial shapes was significantly higher in RCT patients than in healthy controls. Hirano et al. reported that the size of rotator cuff tears in type III acromions was significantly larger (13), which was consistent with our results. In several studies, they found that the type III acromion was the most frequently seen in patients with RCT (12,14). Nicholson et al. (15) revealed that while one of the most important causes of RCTs is increased age, it is seen that the acromial shape is an age-independent anatomical structure. They also argued that changes such as bone spur within the acromion develop over time as a result of RCT rather than the cause of RCT. Unlike many studies, Almokhtar et al. (16) found that a flat acromion is the most frequently seen type among all patients with RCTs.

AI provides the evaluation of the morphology of the acromion and compared the lateral extension of the acromion. Many studies suggested that AI was significantly higher in patients with RCT and AI as a reliable predictor of a rotator cuff tear (17). Kum et al. (17) suggested that AI was an effective predictive factor for RCT in a Korean population while other researchers suggested that AI might be changed according to race. Our study showed that the AI values in patients with full thickness tear was higher than patients with partial thickness tear. In addition, the AI values were significantly higher in patients with partial thickness tear compared to healthy controls. In another study, reported that AI is a useful measurement in distinguishing a partial-thickness articular-side tear and a large-to-massive rotator cuff tear pre-operatively. But the AI can not estimate the tear size in full-thickness tear patients (18).

Another anatomical variation that leads to large and massive RCT is reduced AHD and increased CSA. The AHD <6 mm and CSA >35° is usefulin predicting RCT. However, the AHD <6 mm, an acquired pathology as a result of RCT. With weakening of the rotator cuff muscle, the humeral head subluxes superiorly, resulting in narrowing of the AHD (19). The joint shear and joint

compression forces are in the balanced within the joint. The enlarged CSA is deteriorate the compensatory effect of the supraspinatus tendon (20). In our study, AHD values in patients with full thickness tear was lower than patients with partial thickness tear and healthy controls. In addition, the AHM values were significantly lower in patients with partial thickness tear compared to healthy controls. While it is stated in the literature that AHD <7 mm may cause poor outcome after RCT repair, it has been stated that repair of the infraspinatus rupture is most likely not possible when AHD <4 mm. We found that the cut-off values for discriminating the RCT and healthy controls were as follows: AI >0.61, AHM \leq 7.1, LAA ≤72 and CSA >32.7. Narrowed AHD lead to the fatty degeneration of the infraspinatus (21). Saupe et al. (22) suggested that AHD measurement is not affected from the inter and itraobservervariability, and they also suggested that AHD is an effective measurement in predicting RCT on both radiograph and MRI. However, in another study emphasize that there is a significant difference in AHD measurements between radiograph and MRI and should not be used interchangeably (23). Many of the studies suggested AHD is useful in predicting RCT, but literature still remain controversary on which imaging modality more reliable (21-23).

CSA is one of the important biomechanical measurement which is highly affected the shoulder abduction, glenoid compression, and joint shear forces. It is a delicate measurement and may interfere with different positioning of the scapula and acromion (24). Measured CSA on radiograph can estimate the necessity of preoperative MRI in the evaluation of the rotator cuff. As the CSA increased, number of tendons torn and anchors used for repair is increased (24). The CSA >35° may alter deltoid vectors and cause increased superior shear forces on the rotator cuff muscles. Increased shear forces may predispose for the RCT. The CSA <30° is related to osteo arthritis by the mechanism of the increased compressive forces across the glenohumeral joint (25). In our study CSA values in patients with full thickness tear was higher than patients with partial thickness tear and healthy controls. LAA reflect the inclination of the inferior surface of the acromion proportionate to the glenoid plane.of scapula (1). LAA is helpful measurement in understanding the shape of the acromion and its association with RCT. Decreased LAA might be related to RCT. Recently in a study found that acromial thickness, AHD, AI and LAA, were significantly different in patients with type-III acromial shape and RCT (1). Guishan et al. (25) defined these morphological variations of the acromion as "congenital and osteal etiological Factors" for RCT. We also found that LAA values in patients with full thickness tear and in patients with partial thickness tear were lower than healthy controls.

Our study has some limitations. First, the mean age of the patients with RCT and the control group were different from each other, and the different results that would arise from this were not taken into consideration. Another limitation of our study is that it was not conducted prospectively and only a small number of patients were examined.

CONCLUSION

Type III (hooked) of acromial shapes, higher AI and CSA values, lower AHD and LAA values are more frequently seen in RCT patients, in our study. Thus, we revealed anatomical malformations that predispose to RCT concerning the shoulder joint.

ETHICAL DECLARATIONS

Ethics Committee Approval: The study was carried out with the permission of Tokat Gaziosmanpaşa University Hospital, Non-invasive Clinical Researches Ethics Committee (Date: 20.01.2022, Decision No: 2022/02).

Informed Consent: Because the study was designed retrospectively, no written informed consent form was obtained from patients.

Referee Evaluation Process: Externally peer-reviewed.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

Author Contributions: All of the authors declare that they have all participated in the design, execution, and analysis of the paper and that they have approved the final version

- 1. Mohamed RE, Abo-Sheisha DM. Assessment of acromial morphology in association with rotator cuff tear using magnetic resonance imaging. Egypt J Radiol Nuclear Med 2014: 45; 169-80.
- Tempelhof S, Rupp S, Seil R. Age-related prevalence of rotator cuff tears in asymptomatic shoulders. J Shoulder Elbow Surg 1999; 8: 296-9.
- 3. McCrum E. MR Imaging of the rotator cuff. Magn Reson Imaging Clin N Am 2020; 28: 165-79.
- 4. Goutallier D, Le Guilloux P, Postel JM et al. Acromio humeral distance less than six millimeter: its meaning in full-thickness rotator cuff tear. Orthop Traumatol Surg Res 2011; 97: 246-51.
- 5. MacLean IS, Gowd AK, Waterman BR et al. The effect of acromioplasty on the critical shoulder angle and acromial index. Arthrosc Sports Med Rehabil 2020; 2: 623-8.
- RW Nyffeler, CM Werner, A Sukthankar et al. Association of a large lateral extension of the acromion with rotator cuff tears J Bone Joint Surg Am 2006; 80: 800-5.
- 7. Getz J, Recht M, Piraino D et al. Acromial morphology: relation to sex, age, symmetry, and subacromial enthesophytes. Radiology 1996; 199: 737-42.

- İncesoy MA, Yıldız KI, Türk ÖI, et al. The critical shoulder angle, the acromial index, the glenoid version angle and the acromial angulation are associated with rotator cuff tears. Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc 2021; 29: 2257-63.
- Hufeland M, Brusis C, Kubo H, et al. The acromiohumeral distance in the MRI should not be used as a decision criterion to assess subacromial space width in shoulders with an intact rotator cuff. Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc 2021; 29: 2085-9.
- 10.Li H, Chen Y, Chen J, et al. Large Critical Shoulder Angle Has Higher Risk of Tendon Retear After Arthroscopic Rotator Cuff Repair. Am J Sports Med 2018; 46: 1892-00.
- 11. Hamid N, Omid R, Yamaguchi K, et al. Relationship of radiographic acromial characteristics and rotator cuff disease: a prospective investigation of clinical, radiographic, and sonographic findings. J Shoulder Elbow Surg 2012; 21: 1289-98.
- 12. Fujisawa Y, Mihata T, Murase T, et al. Three-dimensional analysis of acromial morphologic characteristics in patients with and without rotator cuff tears using a reconstructed computed tomography model. Am J Sports Med 2014; 42: 2621-6.
- Hirano M, Ide J, Takagi K. Acromial shapes and extension of rotator cuff tears: magnetic resonance imaging evaluation. J Shoulder Elbow Surg 2002; 11: 576-8.
- MacGillivray JD, Fealy S, Potter HG, O'Brien SJ. Multiplanar analysis of acromion morphology. Am J Sport Med 1998; 26: 836-40.
- 15.Nicholson GP, Goodman DA, Flatow EL, Bigliani LU. The acromion: morphologic condition and age-related changes. A study of 420 scapulas. J Shoulder Elbow Surg 1996; 5: 11.
- 16.Almokhtar AA, Qanat AS, Mulla A, Alqurashi Z, Aljeraisi A, Hegaze AH. Relationship between acromial anatomy and rotator cuff tears in Saudi Arabian Population. Cureus 2020; 12: 8304.
- 17.Kum DH, Kim JH, Park KM, Lee ES, Park YB, Yoo JC. Acromion index in korean population and its relationship with rotator cuff tears. Clin Orthop Surg 2017; 9: 218-22.
- Kim JR, Ryu KJ, Hong IT, Kim BK, Kim JH. Can a high acromion index predict rotator cuff tears? Int Orthop 2012; 36: 1019-24.
- Razmjou H, Palinkas V, Christakis M, Robarts S, Kennedy D. Reduced acromiohumeral distance and increased critical shoulder angle: implications for primary care clinicians. Phys Sportsmed 2020; 48: 312-19.
- 20.Gerber C, Snedeker JG, Baumgartner D, Viehofer AF. Supraspinatus tendon load during abduction is dependent on the size of the critical shoulder angle: A biomechanical analysis. J Orthop Res 2014; 32: 952-7.
- 21.Jeon YD, Yoon JY, Jeong HJ et al. Significance of the acromiohumeral distance on stress radiography for predicting healing and function after arthroscopic repair of massive rotator cuff tears. J Shoulder Elbow Surg 2021; 30: 471-81.
- 22. Saupe N, Pfirrmann CW, Schmid MR, Jost B, Werner CM, Zanetti M. Association between rotator cuff abnormalities and reduced acromiohumeral distance. AJR Am J Roentgenol 2006; 187: 376-82.
- 23. Mirzayan R, Donohoe S, Batech M, Suh BD, Acevedo DC, Singh A. Is there a difference in the acromiohumeral distances measured on radiographic and magnetic resonance images of the same shoulder with a massive rotator cuff tear? J Shoulder Elbow Surg 2020; 29: 1145-51.
- 24. Vellingiri K, Ethiraj P, Shanthappa AH. Critical shoulder angle and its clinical correlation in shoulder pain. Cureus 2020 17; 12: 9810.
- 25.Li X, Olszewski N, Abdul-Rassoul H, Curry EJ, Galvin JW, Eichinger JK. Relationship between the critical shoulder angle and shoulder disease. JBJS Rev 2018; 6: 1.
- 26.Guishan G, Ming Y. Imaging features and clinical significance of the acromion morphological variations. J Nov Physiother 2013; 2: 003.

Investigation of the CHOKAI score used to predict ureteral stones in patients presenting to the emergency department with renal colic

Mehmet Kemal Emem¹, [®]Nihat Müjdat Hökenek², [®]Mazlum Kılıç³

¹Balıklıgöl State Hospital, Department of Emergency Medicine, Şanlıurfa, Turkey ²University of Health Sciences, Kartal Dr[.] Lütfi Kırdar City Hospital, Department of Emergency Medicine, İstanbul, Turkey ³University of Health Sciences, Fatih Sultan Mehmet Training and Research Hospital, Department of Emergency Medicine, İstanbul, Turkey

Cite this article as: Emem MK, Hökenek NM, Kılıc M. Investigation of the CHOKAI score used to predict ureteral stones in patients presenting to the emergency department with renal colic. J Health Sci Med 2022; 5(3): 822-825.

ABSTRACT

Aim: To investigate the adequacy of the CHOKAI score in the prediction of ureteral stones in patients presenting to the emergency department with renal colic.

Material and Method: The data of all patients aged over 18 years, who presented to the emergency department with the complaint of renal colic and were diagnosed with ureteral stones during the study period were retrospectively analyzed using the electronic-based hospital information system. The area under the receiver operating characteristic curve and the area under the curve were used to assess for each patient to determine the cut-off value of the CHOKAI score in the prediction of ureteral stones.

Results: The study was completed with 219 patients, of whom 146 were men, and the mean age was 39.4±16.1 years. When the cut-off value of the CHOKAI score was >6, its sensitivity was 84.1%, specificity was 96.7%, positive likelihood ratio was 25.2, negative likelihood ratio was 0.2, positive predictive value was 99.4%, and negative predictive value was 49.2%.

Conclusion: In this study, it was concluded that the CHOKAI score had high accuracy in terms of diagnostic power in detecting ureteral stones. However, further studies are needed to demonstrate the broader applicability of the score.

Keywords: CHOKAI score, diagnosis, emergency medicine, ureter

INTRODUCTION

While the prevalence of urolithiasis was one in 20 people in 1994, it increased to one in 14 people in 2010. The general prevalence of urinary system stone disease in Turkey has been reported as 14.8%. In Turkey, the incidence of this disease in men is three times higher compared to women. There is a recurrence rate of approximately 50% within five years of stone formation. In developed countries, it is seen at a rate of 1-5%. The average lifetime prevalence of symptomatic urolithiasis is 13% in men and 7% in women. In recent years, the prevalence of stone disease has been increasing due to dietary habits and dietary changes in Western societies. Twenty-five percent of patients with urolithiasis have a family history of the disease. The incidence of urolithiasis is also higher in Caucasians and in cold climates. In Turkey, the disease is more commonly seen in the Mediterranean, Black Sea and Southeastern Anatolia regions (1-5).

Scoring systems are widely used in emergency practice. Using scoring systems, early diagnosis and rapid intervention are possible in many critical diseases, such as acute abdomen and gastrointestinal bleeding (6-9). Scoring systems have also been developed for early diagnosis in patients with renal colic, which is one of the most common reasons for presentation to the emergency department. The CHOKAI score was developed by Fukuhara et al. in 2017 to predict the presence of ureteral stones. This score consists of seven parameters including nausea or vomiting, hydronephrosis, hematuria, stone history, gender, age, and pain duration, each scored from 0 to 4, and the total score varies between 0 and 13. While 0-5 points represent low risk for ureteral stones, 6-13 points indicate high risk (10).

The aim of this study was to investigate the adequacy of the CHOKAI score in the prediction of ureteral stones in patients presenting to the emergency department with renal colic.

Corresponding Author: Nihat Mujdat Hokenek, nihathokenek@gmail.com



MATERIAL AND METHOD

This single-center, retrospective, and observational study was carried out in the emergency department of a tertiary teaching hospital between July 1, 2021, and January 1, 2022. The research was approved by the Kartal Dr. Lütfi Kırdar City Hospical Clinical Researches Ethics Committee (Date: 30.03.2022, Decision No: 2022/514/222/20). All procedures were carried out in accordance with the ethical rules and the principles of the Declaration of Helsinki.

During the period determined for the study, all the patients aged over 18 years, who presented to the emergency department with the complaint of renal colic and were diagnosed with ureteral stones using computed tomography (CT) constituted the population of the study. Patients with abnormal vital signs (high fever and hypotension), active cancer, and leukocytes in urinalysis and C-reactive protein concentration of ≥ 6 mg/L, those who did not undergo ultrasound (USG)-CT or complete urinalysis, and those whose CHOKAI score could not be calculated were excluded. After recording the data of each patient included in the study, their CHOKAI scores were separately calculated. The accuracy of the CHOKAI score was determined with reference to CT, which is the gold standard in the diagnosis of ureteral stones.

Statistical Analysis

Statistical analysis was performed using IBM SPSS Statistics version 26.0 and MedCalc Statistical Software version 19.0.6. Descriptive criteria were presented as median, minimum-maximum, and percentage values. The conformity of the data to the normal distribution was checked with the Kolmogorov-Smirnov test. The receiver operating characteristic (ROC) analysis was used to determine the cut-off value of the CHOKAI score in detecting ureteral stones. The ROC analysis was performed using the DeLong method. The area under the curve (AUC), sensitivity, specificity, positive likelihood ratio (LR+), negative likelihood ratio (LR-), positive predictive value (PPV), negative predictive value (NPV), and Youden's J index (YJI) were calculated to evaluate the performance of the CHOKAI score in predicting ureteral stones. The statistical significance level was taken as p < 0.05.

RESULTS

This study was completed with a total of 219 patients with a mean age of 39.4 ± 16.1 years. Seventy-three patients were female and 146 were male. Various characteristics of the individuals participating in the study are presented in **Table 1**.

Table 1. General characteristics of the study population								
	Min	Max	Mean Number	SDPercentage				
Age	16.0	92.0	39.4	16.1				
Gender								
Female Male			73 146	33.3 66.6				
Nausea Vomiting			77 20	35.2 9.1				
Onset of pain <6 hours 6-24 hours >24 hours			86 64 69	39.3 29.2 31.5				
Stone			189	86.3				
Stone side Right Left			97 108	47.3 52.7				
Stone localization Proximal Middle Distal			32 21 136	16.9 11.1 72.0				
Hematuria			139	63.5				
Stone history			88	40.2				
Hydronephrosis			186	84.9				
Stone size	3.0	20.0	6.2	2.5				
CHOKAI score	1.0	13.0	8.4	2.9				
SD, standard deviation								

As a result of the ROC analysis of the CHOAKI score in the prediction of urinary stones, the AUC value was calculated as 0.959 (95% confidence interval: 0.923-0.981), and YJI was 0.808. According to the statistical analysis, the CHOAKI score was statistically significant in predicting the presence of stones. When the cut-off value of the CHOKAI score was taken as >6, it had a sensitivity of 84.1%, specificity of 96.7%, LR+ value of 25.2, LR- value of 0.2, PPV of 99.4%, and NPV of 49.2% (**Table 2, Figure 1**).



Figure 1. Receiver operating characteristic curve of the CHOKAI score (AUC, area under the curve)

Table 2. Results of the ROC analysis of the CHOKAI score for the diagnosis of ureteral stones									
	AUC	Cut-off	Sensitivity	Specificity	LR+	LR-	PPV	NPV	Youden's index
CHOKAI score	0.959 (0.923-0.981)	>6	84.1(77.5-88.3)	96.7(82.7-99.4)	25.2	0.2	99.4	49.2	0.808
AUC, area under the curve; LR+, positive likelihood ratio; LR-, negative likelihood ratio; PPV, positive predictive value; NPV, negative predictive value									

DISCUSSION

Renal colic is one of the common reasons for presentation to the emergency department. Generally, these patients have very severe pain complaints and require early diagnosis and pain palliation. The current study aimed to validate the CHOKAI score in the prediction of ureteral stones in patients presentation to the emergency department with renal colic. It was concluded that the CHOKAI score had high diagnostic accuracy with an AUC value of 0.95.

In 2017, Fukuhara et al. (10) defined the CHOKAI score in a study conducted with 96 patients of Japanese origin, and reported the AUC value of this score to be 0.97 at a cut-off value of 6. The authors reported the LR+ and LRvalues of the score as 15.49 and 0.094, respectively. It is generally accepted that LR+ >10 and LR- <0.1 provide strong evidence to rule out or not exclude a diagnosis (11). In the current study, we determined that at a cutoff value of >6, the CHOKAI score had an LR+ value of 25.2 and LR- value of 0.2.

When used together with other parameters in the diagnosis of urolithiasis, in addition to its diagnostic advantage, ultrasonography (USG) has been reported to provide a significant reduction in the cumulative radiation exposure caused by repeated CT imaging and the duration of stay in the emergency department (12,13). In cases where USG will not be used as a diagnostic imaging method, in order to reduce radiation exposure, the American Association of Urology (AUA) and the European Association of Urology (EAU) recommend using low-dose CT, which has almost the same sensitivity and specificity as non-contrast CT, in the detection of ureteral stones (14). The CHOKAI score also involves checking whether there is hydronephrosis on USG for the prediction of ureteral stones, and the presence of hydronephrosis is scored 4 points.

When studies on the CHOKAI score in the literature are examined, it is observed that this score was mostly compared with the STONE scoring system. The STONE score, which was defined by Moore et al. (15) consists of five variables (gender, duration of pain, race, nauseavomiting, and hematuria), each scored between 0 and 13. In calculating the probability of kidney stones, 0-5, 6-9, and 10-13 points represent low, moderate and high probability, respectively. In a multicenter prospective validation of the CHOKAI score, it was found to have an AUC value of 0.95, sensitivity of 0.93, specificity of 0.90, LR+ of 9.3, and LR- of 0.079. In the same study, it was reported that at an AUC value of 0.88, the STONE score had a sensitivity of 0.68, specificity of 0.90, LR+ of 6.8, and LR- of 0.36 (16). In another study comparing the two scores, the sensitivity of the CHOKAI score in detecting ureteral stones was 83% and its specificity was 94.87%, while the cut-off value was calculated to be >6 (AUC=0.945). The STONE score was found to have a sensitivity of 79.50% and specificity of 84.62% in detecting ureteral stones, and its cut-off value was found to be >6 (AUC=0.860) (17). In a study conducted in Turkey, the external validation of the STONE and CHOKAI scores was performed, and the specificity and sensitivity values in the diagnosis of ureteral stones were determined to be 64.71% and 71.70%, respectively for the STONE score and 66.67 and 90.57, respectively for the CHOKAI score (18). The results of our study were similar to previous studies in the literature. When the cut-off value of the CHOKAI score was taken as >6 in determining the presence of stones, the sensitivity was calculated as 84.1%, specificity as 96.7%, LR+ as 25.2, LR- as 0.2, PPV as 99.4%, and NPV as 49.2.

Limitations

The main limitation of our study is its single-center design and retrospective design. Since CT is the gold standard in the diagnosis of ureteral stones and USG was used in the CHOKAI scoring system, we excluded patients who did not undergo CT and USG, which resulted in a smaller sample size.

CONCLUSION

In this study, it was determined that the CHOKAI score had high accuracy in terms of diagnostic power in detecting ureteral stones. However, further studies are needed to demonstrate the wider applicability of this scoring system.

ETHICAL DECLARATIONS

Ethics Committee Approval: The research was approved by the Kartal Dr. Lütfi Kırdar City Hospical Clinical Researches Ethics Committee. (Date: 30.03.2022, Decision No: 2022/514/222/20).

Informed Consent: Because the study was designed retrospectively, no written informed consent form was obtained from patients.

Referee Evaluation Process: Externally peer-reviewed.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The author has no conflicts of interest to declare.

Financial Disclosure: The author declared that this study has received no financial support.

Author Contributions: The author declare that they have all participated in the design, execution, and analysis of the paper, and that they have approved the final version.

- 1. Muslumanoglu AY, Binbay M, Yuruk E, et al. Updated epidemiologic study of urolithiasis in Turkey Changing characteristics of urolithiasis. Urol Res 2011; 39: 309-314.
- 2. Khan SR, Pearle MS, Robertson WG, et al. Kidney stones. Nat Rev Dis Primers 2016; 2: 1-23.
- Borghi L, Schianchi T, Meschi T, et al. Comparison of two diets for the prevention of recurrent stones in idiopathic hypercalciuria. NEJM, 2002; 346: 77-84.
- 4. Fontenelle LF, Sarti TD. Kidney stones: treatment and prevention. Am Fam Physcian 2019; 99: 490-6.
- Romero V, Akpinar H, Assimos DG. Kidney stones: a global picture of prevalence, incidence, and associated risk factors. Rew Urol 2010; 12.2-3: e86.
- Ak R, Kurt E, Bahadirli S.. Comparison of 2 risk prediction models specific for COVID-19: the Brescia-COVID respiratory severity scale versus the quick COVID-19 severity index. Disaster Med Public Health Prep 2021; 15: 46-50.
- Erdogan MÖ, Hokenek NM. How to score acute pancreatitis in the emergency setting: five systems against ED-SAS. Signa Vitae 2021; 1: 8.
- Ak R, Hökenek NM. Comparison of AIMS65 and Glasgow Blatchford scores in predicting mortality in patients with upper gastrointestinal bleeding. Rev Assoc Med Bras 2021; 67: 766-770.
- Ak R, Doğanay F, Unal Akoğlu E, et al. Predictive value of scoring systems for the diagnosis of acute appendicitis in emergency department patients: Is there an accurate one?. Hong Kong J Emerg Med 2020; 27: 262-9.
- 10. Fukuhara H, Ichiyanagi O, Midorikawa, et al. Internal validation of a scoring system to evaluate the probability of ureteral stones: the CHOKAI score. Am J Emerg Med 2017; 35: 1859-66.
- 11.Deeks JJ, Altman DG. Diagnostic tests 4: likelihood ratios. BMJ 2004; 329: 168–9.
- 12. Daniels B, Gross CP, Molinaro A, et al. STONE PLUS: evaluation of emergency department patients with suspected renal colic, using a clinical prediction tool combined with point-of-care limited ultrasonography. Ann Emerg Med, 2016; 67: 439-48.
- 13.Elkoushy MA, Andonian S. Lifetime radiation exposure in patients with recurrent nephrolithiasis. Curr Urol Rep 2017; 18: 1-11.
- 14.Fulgham, PF, Assimos DG, Pearle MS, Preminger GM. Clinical effectiveness protocols for imaging in the management of ureteral calculous disease: AUA technology assessment. Urol J 2013; 189: 1203-13.
- 15. Moore CL, Bomann S, Daniels B. Derivation and validation of a clinical prediction rule for uncomplicated ureteral stone—the STONE score: retrospective and prospective observational cohort studies. Bmj 2014; 348: g2191.
- 16. Fukuhara H, Kobayashi T, Takai S. External validation of the CHOKAI score for the prediction of ureteral stones: a multicenter prospective observational study. Am J Emerg Med 2020; 38: 920-4.
- 17.Rohat AK, Kurt E, Şenel Ç. The comparison of two prediction models for ureteral stones: CHOKAI and STONE scores. Am J Emerg Med 2021; 44: 187-91.
- 18.Acar YA, Uysal E. External validation of STONE, modified STONE, and CHOKAI scores for the diagnosis of ureteral stones in the Turkish population. Hong Kong J Emerg Med 2020; 4: 1-7.

HEALTH SCIENCES MEDICINE

Measurement of 0 to 2 age normal eyeball volume by the use of multidetector computed tomography

Mustafa Kaya¹, DEnes Gürün², Dİsmail Akdulum³

¹Gazi University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Radiology, Ankara, Turkey ²Samsun University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Radiology, Samsun, Turkey ³İsmail Akdulum Office, Kızılırmak, Galen Center, Ankara, Turkey

Cite this article as: Kaya M, Gürün E, Akdulum İ. Measurement of 0 to 2 age normal eyeball volume by the use of multidetector computed tomography. J Health Sci Med 2022; 5(3): 826-830.

ABSTRACT

Aim: To diagnose microphthalmia or macrophthalmia, it is necessary to know the normal reference values of the eyeball volumes. However, we do not have a table of normal reference values to evaluate normal eyeball volume at 0-2 years of age. To compensate for this deficiency, we aimed to detect normal eyeball volumes in the age group of 0-2 years with multidetector computed tomography (MDCT).

Material and Method: A total of 90 patients who underwent MDCT with a prior diagnosis of head trauma but without traumatic pathology were included in the study. Patients were divided into age groups of 0-1 months, 2-6 months, 7-12 months, 13-24 months. The mean values of patients in each age group were examined with a 95% confidence interval. The correlation between bilateral eyeball volumes and age was calculated using the Pearson correlation test. The relationship between the age groups and the volume of the eyeball was studied using one-way ANOVA test. The relationship between eyeball volumes and sex was evaluated using the Mann Whitney U test.

Results: Mean eyeball volume was measured as 3.91 ± 0.54 cm³ for 0-1 months, 4.44 ± 0.66 cm³ for 2-6 months, 5.81 ± 0.68 cm³ for 7-12 months, and 5.83 ± 1.09 cm³ for 13-24 months. A strong positive correlation was observed between eyeball volume and age (p < 0.001). There was no statistically significant relationship between eyeball volume and sex (p > 0.05). No statistically significant difference was observed between right eyeball volume and left eyeball volume (p > 0.05).

Conclusions: The increase in eyeball volume is most rapid in the first year of life. In this study, the reference eyeball volumes were determined in order to properly assess this rapid increase.

Keywords: Eye, eye length, buphtalmos, microphtalmos

INTRODUCTION

The eye is a visual receptor organ that contains dense nerve endings in the posterior part and is filled with humor in the central part (1). Eyeball volume can change in many diseases. Trauma, benign or malignant neoplasms, glaucoma, myopia etc. Normal values are required to diagnose microphthalmos, buphthalmos or macrophthalmos and to consider appropriate treatment options. In addition, it is important to know the eyeball volume for craniofacial surgery (2-5).

In the literature, there are publications using ultrasonography, computed tomography or magnetic resonance for measurement of eyeball volume or other structures (6-12). There are volumetric eyeball measurements for various races, but the majority of them are for adults. There have been studies on the diameters of orbital structures in pediatric age groups (13-15). With the help of computer programs, it is possible to obtain volume measurements that are as close to the truth as possible in tomography images, reducing the margin of error. In comparison to a single diameter comparison, two-dimensional images produce more accurate results.

The aim of this study was to determine the normal value range of eyeball volume in the pediatric patient population aged 0-2 years, and to evaluate its relationship with gender and age in multi-detector computed tomography (MDCT) images.

Corresponding Author: Mustafa Kaya, radmustafakaya@hotmail.com

Received: 12.03.2022 **Accepted:** 17.04.2022



MATERIAL METHOD

The study was approved by the Gazi University Non-Interventional Studies Ethics Committee (Date: 29.1.2021, Decision Number:140). All procedures were carried out in accordance with the ethical rules and the principles of the Declaration of Helsinki. The informed consent was waived due to the retrospective nature of the study and the assessment utilized anonymous research findings. The study included 107 cranial MDCT scans. All cases consisted of patients who were referred to the emergency radiology department due to traumatic reasons such as falling from a height and an in-vehicle traffic accident. Cases with fractures involving the orbital walls and images that were not clear, due to motion artifacts were excluded from the study. The final group consisted of 90 patients (47 males, 43 females). This study was conducted over a nine-month period from March 2021 to December 2021.

All of the MDCT studies were performed using a multidetector 192 row helical CT scanner (Somatom Force, Siemens Healthineers). The following parameters for scanning were applied: tube voltage 120 Kv, tube current 300 mA, beam collimation 1 mm×16, field of view 240 mm, gantry rotation time was 0.75 s. Thinsection CT data were reconstructed at a slice thickness of 1 mm with 0.8-mm intervals. Image matrix of 512 x 512. Intravenous contrast medium was not administered.

Volume of the eyeball were analyzed using a workstation Syngo.via (Siemens Healthineers) by only one radiologist (M.K.) with 15 years experienced in Head - Neck Imaging. The eyeball contour was manually evaluate by the examiner.

Via a closed polygon tool, the contours of the eyeball were defined by two dimensional segmentation. The volumes were measured by manually segmenting the region of interest in each CT slice using Syngo. via (Siemens Healthineers) postprocessing imaging software after drawing the outlines of the eyeball in all slices. Eventually, the volume was measured by the software and three-dimensional reconstruction of the organ was produced (**Figure 1A,1B,1C**). The eyeball volume was measured as cm³.



Figure 1A,B,C. Orbital diameter and volume measurements

The bilateral eyeball was re-evaluated 1 week after the initial evaluation to assess the reproducibility of the same observer for 20 patients.

Statistical Analysis

Statistical analyzes were performed via the SPSS v.22 package program (IBM SPSS Statistics, Chicago, IL, USA). Participant age and gender were recorded. Descriptive statistics are given with mean, standard deviation, median, minimum, maximum values for categorical variables. Kolmogorov-Smirnov test was used as a test of normality. Patients were divided into age groups of 0-1 months, 2-6 months, 7-12 months, 13-24 months. Minimum, maximum, mean and standard deviations have been calculated for all age groups and all case groups. The relationship between eyeball volume and gender, and the relationship between right eyeball volume and left eyeball volume were evaluated using the Mann Whitney U test. In addition, one way ANOVA tests were used to assess the relationship between age groups and eyeball volumes. The correlation between the bilateral eyeball volumes and age was calculated with the Pearson test. P-value of less than 0.05 was considered statistically significant. The intraclass correlation coefficient (ICC) test was used to analyze intraobserver reliability for repeated measurements with a 95% confidence interval. ICC was interpreted as follows: below 0.50: poor, between 0.50 and 0.75: moderate between 0.75 and 0.90: good, above 0.90: excellent.

RESULTS

A total of 107 participants were included in the study. The clinical characteristic of the participants are presented in **Table 1**. In 17 patients, the measurement could not be obtained due to the technical reasons, such as the motion artifact.

Table 1. The clinical characteristic of the participants						
Clinical characteristic	Total (n=90)					
Age (month)	7.27±6.28 (1-24)					
Gender (M/F)	47/43					
-Data are expressed as n (number) or the mean± standard deviation (range). F: Female						
M: Male						

The ICC values for all diameter measurements and volumes were>0.80-0.90, indicating good and excellent agreement.

There was no statistically significant relationship between eyeball diameters, volumes and sex (p>0.05). No significant difference was observed between the right and left eyeballs in terms of diameters and volumes (P>0.05).

Pearson correlation analysis was performed for comparison of eyeball diameters, volumes and age. It was observed that age had a strong positive correlation with eyeball diameters and eyeball volumes (p<0.001) (Table 2).

Because the Levene test did not show a significant difference between all age groups, the datashowed a homogeneous distribution (P>0.05). Mean eyeball measurements with upper and lower 95% confidence intervals for right and left eyeball according to age groups are listed in **Table 3**. In REAPD, although a significant

relationship was found between the 1st and 2nd age groups, no statistically significant relationship was found in other measurements. In addition, no significant difference was found in measurements of eyeball diameter and volume in the 3rd and 4th groups in all age groups (p> 0.05).

Table 2. Correlation Test Between month and eyeball diameters and volumes								
Parameters	REAPD	RETRD	RECCD	REV	LEAPD	LETRD	LECCD	LEV
r	.729**	.740**	.750**	.783**	.759**	.731**	.757**	.792**
Pa	.000	.000	.000	.000	.000	.000	.000	.000
*Pearson correlation test. Statistically significant at P<.05. REAPD: Right eyeball anterior posterior diameter. LEAPD: Left eyeball anterior posterior diameter. RETRD: Right eyeball								
transverse diameter I	ETPD: Left eveball	transverse diamet	er PECCD: Dight	eveball cranico	audal diameter II	ECCD: Left eveball cran	iocaudal diameter PEV	Pight eveball volume

transverse diameter. LETRD: Left eyeball transverse diameter. RECCD: Right eyeball craniocaudal diameter. LECCD: Left eyeball craniocaudal diameter. REV: Right eyeball volume. LEV: Left eyeball volume

Table 3. E	Table 3. Eyeball diameters and volumes according to age groups (Months)								
		N	Moon	Std.	95% Confidence I	nterval for Mean	- E	Da	Difference
		IN	Mean	Deviation	Lower Bound	Upper Bound	Г	Fa	Difference
	1 (0 to 1)	13	18.92	.862	18.40	19.44		0.029	1 to 2
	2 (2 to 6)	35	20.06	1.103	19.68	20.44		.000	1 to 3
	3 (7 to 12)	18	21.58	.845	21.16	22.00	20.048	.000	1 to 4
KEAPD	4 (13 to 24)	24	21.61	1.672	20.89	22.33	20.048	.000	2 to 3
Tot	Total	00	20.60	1 551	20.27	20.02		.000	2 to 4
	Total	90	20.60	1.551	20.27	20.95		1.000	3 to 4
	1 (0 to 1)	13	18.77	.832	18.27	19.27		0.076	1 to 2
	2 (2 to 6)	35	19.74	1.067	19.38	20.11		.000	1 to 3
LEADD	3 (7 to 12)	18	21.89	.832	21.47	22.30	20.460	.000	1 to 4
LEAPD	4 (13 to 24)	24	21.70	1.636	20.99	22.40	30.400	.000	2 to 3
	Total	00	20 54	1.666	20.10	20.90		.000	2 to 4
	Total	90	20.54	1.000	20.19	20.89		1.000	3 to 4
	1 (0 to 1)	13	19.85	.899	19.30	20.39		.913	1 to 2
	2 (2 to 6)	35	20.43	1.139	20.04	20.82		.000	1 to 3
DETDD	3 (7 to 12)	18	22.61	.916	22.16	23.07	22 400	.000	1 to 4
KEIKD	4 (13 to 24)	24	22.30	1.690	21.57	23.04	25.400	.000	2 to 3
	Total	00	21.27	1 6 4 9	20.02	21.62		.000	2 to 4
	Iotal	90	21.2/	1.040	20.92	21.02		1.000	3 to 4
	1 (0 to 1)	13	19.69	.947	19.12	20.26		.181	1 to 2
	2 (2 to 6)	35	20.56	1.143	20.16	20.95		.000	1 to 3
LETRD	3 (7 to 12)	18	22.33	1.085	21.79	22.87	21 710	.000	1 to 4
	4 (13 to 24)	24	22.30	1.490	21.66	22.95	21.710	.000	2 to 3
	Total	00	21.24	1 579	20.01	21.57		.000	2 to 4
	IOtal	90	21.24	1.378	20.91	21.37		1.000	3 to 4
	1 (0 to 1)	13	19.85	1.345	19.03	20.66		.195	1 to 2
	2 (2 to 6)	35	20.76	1.114	20.37	21.14		.000	1 to 3
PECCD	3 (7 to 12)	18	22.72	1.074	22.19	23.26	23 028	.000	1 to 4
RECCD	4 (13 to 24)	24	22.78	1.622	22.08	23.48	23.920	.000	2 to 3
	Total	00	21.54	1 722	21.19	21.01		.000	2 to 4
	IOtal	90	21.34	1./22	21.10	21.91		1.000	3 to 4
	1 (0 to 1)	13	20.08	1.115	19.40	20.75		1.000	1 to 2
	2 (2 to 6)	35	20.59	1.154	20.19	20.98		.000	1 to 3
LECCD	3 (7 to 12)	18	22.56	1.042	22.04	23.07	23 891	.000	1 to 4
LLCCD	4 (13 to 24)	24	22.78	1.594	22.09	23.47	25.071	.000	2 to 3
	Total	90	21.48	1 679	21.12	21.83		.000	2 to 4
	Iotai	70	21.40	1.079	21.12	21.05		1.000	3 to 4
	1 (0 to 1)	13	3.9231	.55701	3.5865	4.2597		.193	1 to 2
	2 (2 to 6)	35	4.4886	.67247	4.2576	4.7196		.000	1 to 3
RFV	3 (7 to 12)	18	5.8278	.66049	5.4993	6.1562	27 216	.000	1 to 4
ICL V	4 (13 to 24)	24	5.8261	1.12501	5.3396	6.3126	27.210	.000	2 to 3
	Total	90	5 0225	1 10049	4 7907	5 2543		.000	2 to 4
	Iotai	70	5.0225	1.10042	4.7707	5.2545		1.000	3 to 4
	1 (0 to 1)	13	3.9000	.53229	3.5783	4.2217		.285	1 to 2
	2 (2 to 6)	35	4.4057	.64941	4.1826	4.6288		.000	1 to 3
LEV	3 (7 to 12)	18	5.7944	.70333	5.4447	6.1442	30 911	.000	1 to 4
	4 (13 to 24)	24	5.8391	1.06248	5.3797	6.2986	50.711	.000	2 to 3
	Total	90	4 9831	1 10064	4 7513	5 2150		.000	2 to 4
	10(41	70	1.7031	1.10001	1.7515	5.2150		1.000	3 to 4

ANOVA=analysis of variance. a One-way ANOVA. Statistically significant at P < .05. REAPD: Right eyeball anterior posterior diameter, LEAPD: Left eyeball anterior posterior diameter, RETRD: Right eyeball transverse diameter, LETRD: Left eyeball transverse diameter, RECCD: Right eyeball craniocaudal diameter, LECCD: Left eyeball craniocaudal diameter, REV: Right eyeball volume, LEV: Left eyeball volume, *Unit of length: mm, *Unit of volume: cm³

DISCUSSION

Understanding the normal value ranges for the eyeball volume is critical for diagnosis, treatment and, evaluation prior to surgical procedures (16-19). Although MDCT is more successful than other in vivo imaging modalities for assessing eyeball volume, it is not preferred for routine examination because it contains ionizing radiation (7). However, as demonstrated in our study, volume calculations can be performed retrospectively on MDCTs obtained for any reason (e.g., trauma).

In our study, mean eyeball volume was measured as 3.91 ± 0.54 cm³ for 0-1 months, 4.44 ± 0.66 cm³ for 2-6 months, 5.81 ± 0.68 cm³ for 7-12 months, and 5.83 ± 1.09 cm³ for 13-24 months. The volume of the eyeball increased with age.

In their study of 198 participants (83 females, 115 males) aged 5 to 74 years, Ozer et al. (16) found that right eyeball volume was 6.50 ± 0.80 ml and left eyeball volume was 6.46 ± 0.76 ml in the entire study group. In the same study, no statistically significant relationship was found between eyeball volumes and gender. Furthermore, in the same study, no significant relationship was found between age and eyeball volumes in the entire study group. Our study differs from the study of Özer et al. in terms of age group. In our study, pediatric age groups were defined as follows: 0-1 month, 2-6 months, 7-12 months, 13-24 months. Eyeball volume increased with age in both boys and girls. In addition, a positive correlation between age and eyeball volume was found in the entire study group.

In their study of 200 participants (122 males, 78 females) aged 3 to 84 years, Igbinedion et al. (7) reported both eyeball volumes as 5282.23 mm³±1755.13 mm³ (mean±2SD) The right eyeball volume was 5264.26 mm³ ± 1781.12 mm³, and the left eyeball volume was 5300.20 mm³ ±1771.57 mm³. In the same study, they found a positive correlation between the ages of the patients and their eyeball volumes. Chau et al. (20) found no significant relationship between gender and the volume of both eyeballs in a magnetic resonance study of 33 adult patients with varying degrees of ametropia. In this study, the mean eyeball volume was reported as 6.70 cm³ (5.11-8.83). Hahn et al. (6) found a rapid rise in eyeball volume from birth to two years of age, followed by a relative increase until the age of thirty in their CTbased investigation with 100 participants. In our study, we found that the increase in eye volume increased rapidly from birth to the first year of life, but there was no significant increase in eye volume between the ages of 1 and 2 years.

Our study had two major limitations. First of all,our study includes only a limited number of patients and is single centered. Future multi-center studies with higher patient numbers will provide more accurate information. Secondly, ethnicity may alter the normal values obtained, our study reflects only the normal values in the Turkish population. We think that our study will serve as a modal for larger series and multicenter studies conducted in other ethnic groups in the pediatric age group.

CONCLUSION

It is vital to understand the variations in eyeball volumes with age in order to diagnose macrophthalmos or microphthalmos. To the best of our knowledge, our study is the most comprehensive MDCT study showing normal eyeball volumes in the age group 0-2 years.

ETHICAL DECLARATIONS

Ethical Committee Approval: The study was approved by the Gazi University Non-Interventional Studies Ethics Committee (Date: 29.1.2021, Decision Number:140).

Informed Consent: Because the study was designed retrospectively, no written informed consent form was obtained from patients.

Referee Evaluation Process: Externally peer-reviewed.

Conflict of interest: The authors declare that they have no conflict of interest.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

Author Contributions: All of the authors declare that they have all participated in the design, execution, and analysis of the paper and that they have approved the final version

- 1. Chader GJ, Taylor A. Preface: the aging eye: normal changes, agerelated diseases, and sight-saving approaches. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 2013; 54: ORSF1-ORSF4.
- 2. Diaconu SC, Dreizin D, Uluer M, Mossop C, Grant MP, Nam AJ. The validity and reliability of computed tomography orbital volume measurements. J Cranio-Maxillofac Surg 2017; 45: 1552-7.
- 3. Fan X, Li J, Zhu J, Li H, Zhang D. Computer-assisted orbital volume measurement in the surgical correction of late enophthalmos caused by blowout fractures. Ophthalmic Plastic Reconstr Surg 2003; 19: 207-11.
- 4. Deveci M, Öztürk S, Şengezer M, Pabuşcu Y. Measurement of orbital volume by a 3-dimensional software program: an experimental study. J Oral Maxillofac Surg 2000; 58: 645-8.
- 5. Gupta H, Natarajan S, Vaidya S, et al. Traumatic eye ball luxation: A stepwise approach to globe salvage. Saudi J Ophthalmol 2017; 31: 260-5.
- 6. Hahn F, Chu W-K. Ocular volume measured by CT scans. Neuroradiology 1984; 26: 419-20.
- Igbinedion B, Ogbeide O. Measurement of normal ocular volume by the use of computed tomography. Nigerian J Clin Pract 2013; 16: 315-9.
- 8. Akdulum İ, Gürün E, Tiken R, Aydemir AB, Boyunaga ÖL. Optic canal diameters according to age in the pediatric population. J Pediatr Ophthalmol Strabismus 2021; 58: 319-23.

- 9. Gurun E, Kaya M, Gurun KH. Evaluation of normal adrenal gland volume and morphometry and relationship with waist circumference in an adult population using multidetector computed tomography. Med Bull Sisli Etfal Hosp 2021; 55: 333.
- 10. Wales RC. Ocular measurement by simple gravimetric methods. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 1977; 16: 580-2.
- 11.Acer N, Sahin B, Ucar T, Usanmaz M. Unbiased estimation of the eyeball volume using the Cavalieri principle on computed tomography images. J Craniofac Surg 2009; 20: 233-7.
- 12.Hahn FJ, Chu WK. Ocular volume measured by CT scans. Neuroradiology 1984; 26: 419-20.
- 13. Forbes G, Gehring DG, Gorman CA, Brennan MD, Jackson IT. Volume measurements of normal orbital structures by computed tomographic analysis. Am J Neuroradiol 1985; 6: 419-24.
- Boruah DK, Dutta HK, Sarma K, Hazarika K, Sharma BK, Goswami A. Normative magnetic resonance imaging measurements of orbital structures in pediatric population of North-Eastern India: A retrospective cross-sectional study. Indian J Ophthalmol 2021; 69: 2099-105.
- 15.Ozgen A, Aydingöz U. Normative measurements of orbital structures using MRI. J Comput Assist Tomogr 2000; 24: 493-6.
- 16. Özer CM, Öz II, Serifoglu I, Büyükuysal MÇ, Barut Ç. Evaluation of eyeball and orbit in relation to gender and age. J Craniofac Surg 2016; 27: e793-e800.
- 17. Pearce E, Bridge H. Is orbital volume associated with eyeball and visual cortex volume in humans? Annals Human Biol 2013; 40: 531-40.
- Wilkinson CM, Mautner SA. Measurement of eyeball protrusion and its application in facial reconstruction. J Forensic Sci 2003; 48: 1-5.
- 19. Thaller V. Enucleation volume measurement. Ophthalmic plastic and reconstructive surgery 1997;13:18-20.
- 20. Chau A, Fung K, Pak K, Yap M. Is eye size related to orbit size in human subjects? Ophthal Physiol Optics 2004; 24: 35-40

Mediastinal lymphnode positivity clinical scoring system for lung adenocarsinoma-mediastinal lymph node evaluation and staging

[®]İsmail Ağababaoğlu¹, [®]Özgür Ömer Yıldız², [®]Dilek Yapar³, [®]Hasan Ersöz⁴, [®]Seray Hazer⁵, [®]Özant Helvacı⁶, [®]Selim Şakir Erkmen Gülhan⁵, [®]Nurettin Karaoğlanoğlu²

¹Yıldırım Beyazıt University Yenimahalle Research and Training Hospital, Department of Thoracic Surgery, Ankara, Turkey ²Yıldırım Beyazıt University, Department of Thoracic Surgery, Ankara, Turkey

³Gazi University, Department of Public Health, Ankara, Turkey

⁴Katip Çelebi University, Department of Thoracic Disease, İzmir, Turkey

⁵Atatürk Chest Disease and Thoracic Surgery Research and Training Hospital, Department of Thoracic Surgery, Ankara, Turkey ⁶Yildırım Beyazıt University Yenimahalle Research and Training Hospital, Department of Nephrology, Ankara, Turkey

Cite this article as: Ağababaoğlu İ, Yıldız ÖÖ, Yapar D, et al. Mediastinal lymphnode positivity clinical scoring system for lung adenocarsinomamediastinal lymph node evaluation and staging. J Health Sci Med 2022; 5(3): 831-838.

ABSTRACT

Aim: The study-cohort aims to assess PET-CT's correlation with adenocarcinomas' subtypes and propose a scoring system for mediastinal lymph nodes staging.

Material and Method: The patient cohort is a multicenter, retrospective analysis of 268 patient that underwent surgery for NSCLC adenocarcinoma. Preoperative PET-CT results for mediastinal lymph node staging was pathologically confirmed on tissue specimens obtained at anatomical resection. Statistical evaluation of PET CT, radiological and pathological outcomes were performed on all subgroups.

Results: The low FDG affinity in the lepidic pattern was statistically significant in the study (p < 0.001). Among all cases, 65 had an increase in the disease stage to 3B. According to the multivariate logistic regression analysis, Stage 3 disease (OR=2.7), SUV max \geq 6.85 (OR=2.1), lepidic type disease (OR=2.6), and tumor size \geq 31 mm (OR=2.2) were found to be independently associated with post-op stage 3B disease. Based on their respective odds ratios, points were assigned to each item ranging from 2 to 3. AUC of the scoring system to diagnose post-op stage 3B disease was 0.753 (0.686-0.819), p<0.001. The optimal threshold was \geq 4 points; this yielded a sensitivity of 80%, a specificity of 64%, a positive likelihood ratio of 2.2, and a diagnostic odds ratio of 7 (95% CI=3.5-13.6).

Conclusion: The lepidic subtype of adenocarcinomas could have a lower FDG affinity. The MLP scoring system based on SUVmax, tumor size, pathological subtype and cancer stage could help the clinicians to evaluate the mediastinal staging in NSCLC Adenocarcinomas accurately.

Keywords: Lung cancer, adenocarcinomas, mediastinal staging, pozitron emission tomography

INTRODUCTION

The most critical step in the surgical treatment of lung cancers is staging. Avoidance of unnecessary surgery depends on it. Furthermore, proper staging leads to improved preoperative planning. In the past, staging necessitated a combination of multiple invasive and noninvasive procedures. Nowadays,the positron emission tomography scan (PET-CT) has become the clinical standard (1). Mediastinal lymph node assessment is probably the most crucial part of the work-up. Computed tomography (CT) has both low sensitivity and specificity

in the evaluation of lymph node metastasis (2). For lymph nodes under 1 centimeter, its value is even further reduced for CT (3).

One of the biggest challenges in staging non-small cell lung cancers (NSCLC) with PET-CT is the evaluation of adenocarcinomas and stage 3B cases that have not been detected preoperatively. Lung adenocarcinomas can show heterogeneous assessments in PET-CT Some parenchymal lesions that do not show malignant

Corresponding Author: İsmail Ağababaoğlu, ismailagababaoglu@gmail.com



involvement in PET CT may actually be malignant lesions. (4,5). For this reason, invasive staging may be required for patients with preoperatively diagnosed adenocarcinoma.

In 2011, the pathological classification of lung adenocarcinomas was changed (5). Each subtype has the potential to express different metabolic activity at the cellular level, which may lead to varying FDG uptakes. Therefore, in our study, we aimed to evaluate the lung adenocarcinoma subgroups in terms of FDG uptake for diagnosis and mediastinal staging.

MATERIAL AND METHOD

The study was approved by the Ethical Committees of the İzmir Katip Çelebi University (Date: 2021, Decision No: 371). All procedures were carried out in accordance with the ethical rules and the principles of the Declaration of Helsinki. All patients gave written informed consent.

This study is a retrospective analysis of patients that underwent surgery for lung adenocarcinoma. The patients cohort was derived from medical records of Yıldırım Beyazıt University, Ankara Chest Diseases Hospital, and Katip Çelebi University. In our study, in addition to evaluating the FDG affinity of the NSCLC adenocarcimoma subgroups, we aimed to compare the PET-CT mediastinal staging of the subgroups in the new pathological classification with the pathology mediastinal staging that we accept as gold-standard. So, all patients had a preoperative PET-CT and postoperative pathological subtyping results of the adenocarcinoma. The Association for the Study of Lung Cancer/American Society/European Respiratory Thoracic Society International Multidisciplinary Classification of Lung Adenocarcinoma (2011) was used for pathological evaluation (6).

The age and gender of the patients, as well as primary tumor diameter (longest axis that determines the stage), anatomical location of the tumors and the type of surgeries performed were recorded. The stages of the cases were determined with preoperative PET-CT, and standart up-take value (SUV-max) values were added to analysis. The International Cancer Control Association and the American Cancer Committee eighth TNM classification were used for staging (7). Tumoral involvement of the mediastinal lymph nodes and their specific location were derived from pathological records. Lymph node evaluation was done according to Mountain and Dresler's classification (8).

Exclusion criterias were: diabetes or hyperglycemia defined as plasma glucose >140 mg/dL before PET-CT, preoperative chemotherapy and/or radiotherapy, interstitial lung disease, and rheumatological connective tissue disorder. Patients with insufficient data and/or inadequate surgery were excluded. Patients diagnosed with metastatic cancer at sixth-month control were also excluded. (**Figure 1**). Naturally, cases having mediastinal and parenchymal lymph node involvement were not included in this study. In our study, we applied the exclusion criteria to minimize the effect of N1 disease and anatomical location, which we believe that there might be other effective factors to evaluate the distribution of NSCLC adenocarcimoma subgroups in skipped stage 3B cases.



Figure 1. Distribution of PatientsAccordingtoPreoperativestage in thepostoperativeperiod

The surgical approach applied for all patients was anatomical resection and mediastinal lymph node dissection with posterolateral thoracotomy. Since there may not be standardization in mediastinal sampling in anatomical resections performed with thoracotomy and Video-Assisted Thoracoscopy Surgery (VATS), patients who underwent VATS were excluded from the study. Mediastinoscopy, mediastinostomy, and other invasive staging methods cases were not evaluated in this study since mediastinal lymph node stations were not fully exemplified.

All centers used the same device and protocol for PET-CT (ECAT model 951/31, Siemens/ CTI, Knoxville, Tenn.). FDG was synthesized according to the standard method by a high-performance liquid chromatography controlled synthesis modul (9). Patients were instructed to fast for six hours before the imaging and FDG (370 MBq) was administered intravenously. Data were reconstructed into coronal, sagittal, and transverse sections and a three-dimensional rotating projection. SUV-max 2.5 and above for mediastinal lymph nodes were accepted as the cut-off value for malignancy (10).

Statistical analyses were done using IBM SPSS Statistics for Windows, version 22.0 (IBM Corp., Armonk, NY, USA). Descriptive statistics are presented as numbers and percentages for categorical variables and mean±standard deviation, median (IRQ) for continuous variables. Normal distribution for continuous variables was assessed with visual (histograms and probability graphics) and analytic methods (Kolmogorov-Smirnov and Shapiro-Wilk's test). The data that does not fit the normal distribution, the Mann-Whitney U test was used for comparative analysis between the two independent groups and the independent sample t-test was used for the data that fit the normal distribution. Comparison analyses for categorical variables between separate groups were done by the chi-square test.

We used receiver operating charecteristic (ROC) analysis to determine cut-off SUV-max and tumor size values to predict Stage 3B disease. The area under the ROC curve (AUC) results were considered excellent for AUC values between 0.9-1, good for AUC values between 0.8-0.9, fair for AUC values between 0.7-0.8, poor for AUC values between 0.6-0.7 and failed for AUC values between 0.5-0.6 (11,12). Yound index was used to decide the cut-off point [the Youden Index is calculated as max (sensitivity + specificity - 1)] (13). Variables that may be independent risk factors for stage 3B in the post-op period were evaluated by multivariate logistic regression analysis. In order to predict the mediastinal involvement of the patients in the preop period (post op stage 3B), a scoring was developed by weighting with the odds ratio (OR) values of independent predictor factors (significant ones in multivariate analysis) (14).

RESULTS

Considering the basal demographic characteristics of the groups; there was no statistical difference between the groups in terms of age distribution (p=0.971), gender (p=0.097), surgical characteristics (p=0.825) and primary tumor size (p=0.493). While there was no significant difference in receiving radiotherapy after the postoperative staging (p=0.683), there was a significant difference was determined in the rate of receiving chemotherapy (p=0.001)(There was no significant difference who delivered radiotherapy after the postoperative staging (p=0.683) whereas there was a significant difference who received chemotherapy (p=0.001) (**Figure 1**)(**Table 1**).

When we examined the pathological subtypes according to SUV-max, the values were; 7.6 (4-12.3) for aciner, 7.8 (5.4-10.4) for micropapillary, 5.1 (2.2-8.1) for lepidic, 7 (3.8-10) for papillary and 9.4 (5.2-13.8) for solid subtypes. The low SUV-max in lepidic pattern was statistically significant (p < 0.001).

Postoperative pathological stages were different than preoperative PET-based staging, as expected. Number of patients that had an upgrade in disease stage to 3B were as follows: nill for 1A1 group, 1(2.7%) for 1A2, 7 (20.6%) for 1A3, nill for 1B, 10 (23.8%) for 2A, 10 (24.4%) for 2B and 37 (56.9%) for 3A patients. In total 65 patients were up-staged.

The percentage of patients that was diagnosed postoperatively with stage 3B had no statistically difference according to adenocancer subtype (p=0.198) (**Figure 2**) (**Table 1**).



Figure 2. Transition rates to post-operative stage 3B according to histological types

Patients with lepidic subtype cancer tended to have malignant disease within the lesions with SUV-max lesser than 2.5 (p=0.010). The difference was not significant between patients with other subtypes. In addition, Stage 1 disease was marginally associated with lesions with SUV-max less than 2.5 (p=0.049).

The comparison results of the patient groups diagnosed at stage 3B and other stages in the postop period are presented in **Table 2**. The age and gender distributions of both groups were similar. SUV-max and tumor size measurements of the post-op Stage 3B group were significantly higher than the other groups (p < 0.001 and p < 0.001, respectively). It is noteworthy that 56.9% of pre-operative 3A cases had been diagnosed as 3B disease postoperatively. This is the highest percentage when all cases are considered (p<0.001). The cut-off values that could predict Stage 3B in the postop period for SUV-max and tumor size were examined by ROC analysis (**Table 3**, **Figure-3a**).



Figure 3.ROC Curves for Postoperative Stage of 3B. The Mediastinal lap Positive Score (MLP-Score) including the Four Markers (Preoperative Stage, Suv-Max, Histopathology and Radiological Tumor Size) for Predicting the Diagnosis of Postoperative Stage 3B

Table 1. Baseline data of patients									
Characteristics N=268	Aciner N=71	Micropapillary N=45	Lepidic N=54	Papillary N=46	Solid N=52	р			
Age (year) Mean±sd	59.4 ± 8.4	58.4±7.6	59.0±8.8	59.1±6.2	58.9±6.6	0.971*			
Sex, n(%)						0.097#			
Female	14 (19.7)	10 (22.2)	16 (29.6)	19 (41.3)	12 (23.1)				
Male	57 (80.3)	35 (77.8)	38 (70.4)	27 (58.7)	40 (76.9)				
KT, n(%)						0.001#			
No	31 (43.7)	6 (13.3)	22 (40.7)	8 (17.4)	13 (25)				
Yes	40 (56.3)	39 (86.7)	32 (59.3)	38 (82.6)	39 (75)				
RT, n(%)						0.683#			
No	57 (80.3)	38 (84.4)	45 (83.3)	34 (73.9)	40 (76.9)				
Yes	14 (19.7)	7 (15.6)	9 (16.7)	12 (26.1)	12 (23.1)				
Surgery Type, n (%)						0.825#			
LLL	13 (18.3)	10 (22.2)	13 (24.1)	12 (26.1)	14 (26.9)				
LUL	20 (28.2)	7 (15.6)	12 (22.2)	7 (15.2)	8 (15.4)				
RBI Lobectomy	1 (1.4)	1 (2.2)	2 (3.7)	2 (4.3)	4 (7.7)				
RLL	14 (19.7)	15 (33.3)	13 (24.1)	12 (26.1)	9 (17.3)				
RUL	19 (26.8)	10 (22.2)	13 (24.1)	12 (26.1)	15 (28.8)				
Segmentectomy	4 (5.6)	2 (4.4)	1 (1.9)	1 (2.2)	2 (3.8)				
Primer Tm size Median (IRQ)	25 (15-45)	28 (15.5-43.5)	29.5 (17.8-40)	28 (14.8-48.5)	34 (21-48)	0.493**			
Suv max Median (IRQ)	7.6 (4-12.3)	7.8 (5.4-10.4)	5.1 (2.2-8.1)	7 (3.8-10)	9.4 (5.2-13.8)	< 0.001**			
Suv max, n (%)			× /	,	, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	0.010#			
<2.5	8 (11.3)	4 (8.9)	15 (27.8)	6 (13.0)	3 (5.8)				
≥2.5	63 (88.7)	41 (91.1)	39 (72.2)	40 (87.0)	49 (94.2)				
Postop Stage I	~ /			· · · ·	~ /	0.049#			
Suv max, n (%)	n=22	n=13	n=18	n=12	n=16				
<2.5	8 (36.4)	2 (15.4)	10 (55.6)	5 (41.7)	2 (12.5)				
≥2.5	14 (63.6)	11 (84.6)	8 (44.4)	7 (58.3)	14 (87.5)				
Preop stage, n (%)						0.093#			
1A1	5(7)	7 (15.6)	8 (14.8)	9 (19.6)	4 (7.7)				
1A2	11 (15.5)	6 (13.3)	10 (18.5)	4 (8.7)	6 (11.5)				
1A3	19 (26.8)	3 (6.7)	3 (5.6)	2 (4.3)	7 (13.5)				
1B	0	0	0	0	1 (1.9)				
2A	8 (11.3)	8 (17.8)	8 (14.8)	8 (17.4)	10 (19.2)				
2B	9 (12.7)	10 (22.2)	8 (14.8)	8 (17.4)	6 (11.5)				
3A	19 (26.8)	11 (24.4)	17 (31.5)	15 (32.6)	18 (34.6)				
Postop stage, n (%)		()		()	()	0.258#			
1A1	5(7)	2(4.4)	2(3.7)	3 (6.5)	0				
1A2	9(12.7)	7 (15.6)	12 (22.2)	3 (6.5)	7 (13.5)				
1A3	7 (9.9)	2 (4.4)	3 (5.6)	6 (13)	9 (17.3)				
1B	1 (1.4)	2 (4.4)	1 (1.9)	0	0				
2A	14 (19.7)	10 (22.2)	9 (16.7)	10 (21.7)	10 (19.2)				
2B	11 (15.5)	12 (26.7)	4 (7.4)	6 (13)	9 (17.3)				
3A	10(14.1)	2 (4.4)	4 (7.4)	5 (10.9)	6 (11.5)				
3B	14 (19.7)	8 (17.8)	19 (35.2)	13 (28.3)	11(21.2)				
*Independent Student T-test, #Chi-Square '	Test. **Mann-Whitne	v U test	17 (0012)	10 (20.0)	()				

Variables that have independent risk factors for stage 3B in the postoperative period were evaluated by multivariate logistic regression analysis. Variables with p <0.2 as a result of univariate analyzes (**Table 2**) (stage in preop period, suv max, histological type and tm size) were included in the multivariate logistic regression model (**Table 4**). According to the results of the multivariate logistic regression analysis; stage 3 disease (OR=2.7), suv max \geq 6.85 (OR=2.1), lepidic type disease (OR=2.6) and tumor size \geq 31 mm (OR=2.2) predict postoperative stage 3B disease. According to the scoring system formed by weighting with the OR values from the multivariate

logistic regression, the stage 3 disease in the preop period was assigned 3 points, suv max ≥ 6.85 got 2 points, lepidic type disease 3 points and tumors size ≥ 31 mm as 2 points. The patients can get maximum 10 minimum from 0 points for this scoring. (Table 4).

In order to predict mediastinal LAP involvement (The Mediastinal Lymph Adeno-Pathy Positive Score), the optimal cut off obtained by ROC analysis (**Figure-3b**) was found to be 4. For this cut off, diagnostic Odds ratio (DOR), sensitivity and specificity were found 7 (95% CI=3.5-13.6), 80% and 64% respectively (**Table 3**).

Table 2. Evaluation according to the postoperative stage								
Characteristics N=268		Stage 3A ve others N=203	Stage 3B N=65	р				
Age (year)				0.291*				
Mean±sd		58.7±7.4	59.9±8.4					
Sex, n(%)				0.636#				
Female		51 (25.1)	20 (30.8)					
Male		152 (74.9)	45 (69.2)					
Histopathology, (%)				0.198#				
Aciner		57 (28.1)	14 (21.5)					
Micropapillary		37 (18.2)	8 (12.3)					
Lepidic		35 (17.2)	19 (29.3)					
Papillary		33 (16.3)	13 (20)					
Solid		41 (20.2)	11 (16.9)					
Suv max								
Median (IRQ)		6.8 (3.6-10)	9.2 (6.2-13.2)	<0.001**				
Preop stage, (%)				<0.001#				
Stage 1		97 (47.8)	8 (12.2)					
Stage 2		63 (31.0)	20 (30.8)					
Stage 3A		43 (21.2)	37 (56.9)					
Suv max, n (%)				0.009#				
	<2.5	34 (16.7)	2 (3.1)					
	≥2.5	169 (83.3)	63 (96.9)					
Preop Stage 1A 1B 1C		n=97	n=8	0.264#				
	<2.5	34 (35.1)	1 (12.5)					
	≥2.5	63 (64.9)	7 (87.5)					
Preop Stage 2A 2B		n=63	n=20	0.241#				
	<2.5	0	1 (5)					
	≥2.5	63 (100)	19 (95)					
Preop Stage 3A		n=43	n=37	NA				
	<2.5	0	0					
	≥2.5	43 (100)	37 (100)					
Primer Tm size	Median (IRQ)	25 (15-40)	39 (30-50)	<0.001**				
Preop Stage 1A 1B 1		n=97	n=8	0.264#				
	<2.5	34 (35.1)	1 (12.5)					
	≥2.5	63 (64.9)	7 (87.5)					
Preop Stage 2A 2B		n=63	n=20	0.241#				
	<2.5	0	1 (5)					
	≥2.5	63 (100)	19 (95)					
Preop Stage 3A		n=43	n=37	NA				
	<2.5	0	0					
	≥2.5	43 (100)	37 (100)					
Primer Tm size	Median (IRQ)	25 (15-40)	39 (30-50)	<0.001**				
Preop Stage 1A 1B	Median (IRQ)	n=97 15 (12-20)	n=8 31 (21.3-38.8)	0.004**				
Preop Stage 2A 2B	Median (IRQ)	n=63 30 (25-36)	n=20 31 (28-35)	0.514**				
Preop Stage 3A	Median (IRQ)	n=43 59 (47-60)	n=37 46 (35.5-55)	0.122**				
*Independent Student T test, #Chi-S	Square Test, **Mann-Whitney U te	st, NA: not available						

Table 3. Statistical Parameters of Various Diagnostic Approaches for Post-operative 3B Stage									
	AUC (95% CI)	Р	Cut-off	Sensitivity (%)	Specificity (%)	+LHR	PPV (%)	NPV (%)	Max Youden index
SUV MAX	0.662 (0.590-0.734)	< 0.001	≥6.85	70.8	51.7	1.4	31.9	84.7	0.23
TM Size	0.700 (0.632-0.767)	< 0.001	≥31	70.8	64.5	1.9	39	87.3	0.35
MLP SCORE (0-10)	0.753 (0.686-0.819)	< 0.001	≥ 4	80	64	2.2	41.3	90.8	0.44
+LHR: Positive Likelihood Rati	+ I HR: Positive Likelihood Ratio PPV: Positive Predictive Value NPV: Negative Predictive Value MIP score=The Mediastinal Lan Positive score								

Table 4. Multivariate logistic regression analysis on risk factors for positive mediastinal lymphadenopathy and scoring system for the diagnosis of positive mediastinal lymphadenopathy

		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · /	
	Multivariate lo regression analys		
	Adjusted OR (95% CI)	Р	MLP Score (points)
Preop Stage 3A (ref: stage I and II)	2.7 (1.3-5.6)	0.007	3
Histopathology (ref: aciner)			
Micropapillary	0.8 (0.3-2.2)	0.662	
Lepidic	2.6 (1.1-6.4)	0.037	2
Papillary	1.6 (0.6-4.1)	0.331	3
Solid	0.8 (0.3-2.1)	0.662	
SUV Max, ≥6.85, (ref: <6.85)	2.1 (1.1-4.2)	0.046	2
TM size, ≥31 (ref: <31)	2.2 (1.1-4.6)	0.049	2

DISCUSSION

Developments in PET-CT technology have reduced diagnostic difficulties in lung cancer. PET-CT aids clinicians in diagnosis, staging and treatment followup Hochhegger et al. (1) and Groheux D et al. (15). Nevertheless, lung adenocarcinoma still has potential limitations that is partly because some adenocarcinomas may manifest as subsolid nodule with malignancies commonly have low levels of FDG afinity Erasmus JJ et al. (5). Evaluation of mediastinal lymph nodes and solitary pulmonary nodules is especially challenging Feng M et al. (16). This situation also limits the clinical benefits of PET-CT Song SH et al. (17). The heterogeneous nature of FDG uptake of lung adenocarcinomas requires detailed evaluation. In 2011, the pathological classification of lung adenocarcinomas was changed Erasmus JJ et al. (5). Therefore, evaluating the clinical correlation with PET-CT in newly defined subtypes of lung adenocarcinomas may provide valuable information in daily clinical routine practices.

In the study, SUV-max values were found to be significantly lower in some adenocarcinoma pathological subtypes, especially in lepidic pattern Xiaoliang S et al. (18) and Şanlı B. (19). This represents a different level of glucose metabolism at both the morphological and cellular levels. Early diagnosis and treatment of early stage tumors are crucial for correct intervention. Solitary pulmonary nodules due to adenocarcinomas have a higher potential for being misdiagnosis as benign Erasmus JJ et al. (5), Xiaoliang S et al. (18), Cruickshank A et al. (20). PET-CT is less reliable when the tumor size is less than 8-10 mm, however it yields much better results for tumors larger than 11 mm in size Tang K et al. (21). Also, our results indicate that false negative PET-CT results even for large tumors can be seen lepidic pattern. This finding implies low FDG affinity SPN's might be due to adenorcarcinoma with lepidic pattern. Some certain morphologic findings and anatomical location in chest CT's can be used in such cases. However, this approach is subjective and dependent on the clinician's experience Tang K et al. (21).

The most critical step in determining the correct treatment approach for lung cancers is the correct evaluation of the mediastinal lymph nodes. If N2 disease is not present, curative surgery may be possible Schmidt HM et al. Erasmus JJ et al. (3,5). PET-CT in evaluation of mediastinal lymph nodes have been extensively studided. In a review involving 45 study PET-CT's sensitivity and specificity estimates for the SUVmax ≥2.5 PET-CT positivity criterion were 81.3% (95% CI 70.2 to 88.9) and 79.4% (95% CI 70 to 86.5), respectively. The review has shown that accuracy of PET-CT is insufficient to allow management based on PET-CT alone. In fact, the risk of unforeseen nodal involvement in low-FDG avid tumors has been considered before in the 2014 Revised ESTS guidelines for preoperative mediastinal lymph node staging De-Leyn P et al. (22,23). However, this does not exactly represent the data we want to test or access.

In our study, we tried to reach data that could provide us with new information only in adenocarcinoma subgroups. Therefore, we aimed to minimize the impact of anatomic location and N1 disease in our results. It is a fact that we will have a very high reliability evaluation chance with the programs that can be created with the development of digital algorithms. Thus, it is to be able to see in mediastinal sampling whether the feature of adenocarcinoma subgroups can gain a place in the algorithm. Though this review is limited by heterogenity of the studies. Most of them involve all pathologic subtypes in non-squamous lung cancers Ambrasini et al. (24).

Conducting these studies separately in each pathological subtype such as isolated adenocarcinomas and evaluating the sub-pathological types of adenocarcinoma will provide much more valuable information. Our study is the only study conducted in this respect and our results contain very valuable data. Invasive mediastinal lymph node sampling is recommended for this patient group with insufficient evidence based data which results in unnecessary sampling with EBUS and EUS. Furthermore if sampling is not performed, the rate of unnecessary surgery and more invasive procedures increase Sivriköz CM et al. (25) and Thornblade LW et al. (26). In this dilemma, the desired results are not achieved in this patient group. For such reasons, much more objective quantitative approaches are needed in the evaluation of lung adenocarcinomas.

Patients with lepidic pattern cancers have more mediastinal lymph nodes which are negative preoperatively but postoperatively detected. However, the difference is not statistically significant. Perhaps statistically significant results can be reached in larger series. But the findings led us to steer to a scoring system, which includes tumor size, pre-op stage, SUV-max. That particular system provides better sensitivity and spesificity than PET CT. MLP score has a great negative predictive value when under 4. It is also efficient in predicting post-operative 3B disease risk. We believe MLP score will reduce the rate of unnecessary surgery. Our statistics prove that this scoring system is more valuable than PET CT for each of its components.

The approach defined by the European Society for Medical Oncology in 2013 has had general acceptance in clinical practice Eberhardt WE et al. (27). If the mediastinal lymph node is negative in PET-CT, invasive staging is not recommended. The exceptions to this are; centrally located tumors and N1 lymph node above the long axis of the tumor is >3cm, while Thorax Ct are cases with lymph nodes more than 1 cm in the short axis. Of course, there are also various suggestions from the literature Ambrasini V et al. (24) and Smith DE et al. (28). Tumor localization has an important place in some of the studies. Although it is very logical about lymphatic drainage, classification and evaluation can not be standardized.

Stage 3A is undoubtedly the most troublesome in terms of staging. Tumor size was seen to be significant when over 3 cm and our data is compatible Tang K et al. (21) and Eberhardt et al. (27). For the SUV-max value, higher metabolic levels have better results for positive predictive values Yalçınkaya E et al. (29). This is in line with the hypotheses, which suggest SUV-max cut-off values over 2.5 need to be evaluated for mediastinal lymph nodes Yalçınkaya E et al. (29).

Our scoring system defines a baseline systematic and naturally it has many constraints. Our study includes a retrospective evaluation and was conducted on a limited patient population. For this reason, our results needs testing with prospectively designed multicenter and multinational studies. Tumor volumes instead of the tumor size yield more meaningful results. Mediastinal lymph node localization needs international standardization, after which studies may focus on locations. N1 disease and anatomical location would be appropriate to be included in the evaluation criteria. Of course, standardization of the anatomical location should not depend on subjective criteria.

Finally, our scoring system has a great negative predictive value but an under desired positive predictive value. This may be due to our focus on the goal of reducing the number of cases with unnecessary surgery with correct staging. Despite these limitations, our study is the only study including a large number of patiens, focused on PET-CT with a new pathological classification of lung cancer adenocarcinoma. We believe it will contribute positively to the clinical decision-making process and the future studies in establishing a baseline systematic.

CONCLUSION

Up to date pathological subtypes of lung adenocarcinoma greatly correlate with PET-CT results and clinical features. The lepidic subtype has a lower FDG affinity. Negative PET scan results should be considered in solitary pulmonary nodules especially when lepidic subtype is present, which underlines the importance of surveillance in solitary nodules. Mediastinal staging for lung adenocarcinomas employing clinical scoring with subtype, tumor size, FDG uptake and PET scan stage has a high accuracy. MLP scoring may form the basis for new studies about mediastinal lymph node evaluation and will be able to provide more precise data by adding new criteria.

ETHICAL DECLARATIONS

Ethics Committee Approval: The study was initiated with the approval of the İzmir Katip Çelebi University Hospital Ethics Committee (Date: 2021, Decision No: 371).

Informed Consent: Because the study was designed retrospectively, no written informed consent form was obtained from patients.

Referee Evaluation Process: Externally peer-reviewed.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

Author Contributions: All of the authors declare that they have all participated in the design, execution, and analysis of the paper, and that they have approved the final version.

Acknowledgement: Our research's data was presented in 19. National Thoracic Surgery Society Congress as 'Oral Presentation' on October 2021.

- 1. Hochhegger B, Alves GR, Irion KL, et al. PET/CT imaging in lung cancer: indications and findings. J Bras Pneumol 2015 May-Jun; 41: 264-74.
- 2. Zhao L, He ZY, Zhong XN, Cui ML. (18)FDG-PET/CT for detection of mediastinal nodal metastasis in non-small cell lung cancer: a meta-analysis. Surg Oncol 2012; 21: 230-6.
- Schmidt-Hansen M, Baldwin DR, Hasler E, Zamora J, Abraira V, Roqué I Figuls M. PET-CT for assessing mediastinal lymph node involvement in patients with suspected resectable non-small cell lung cancer. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2014; 2014(11): CD009519.
- 4. Sara V, Jason MA, Angela T, Adam P, Giuseppe A, Aman SC. The role of positron emission tomography in the diagnosis, staging and response assessment of non-small cell lung cancer. Ann Transl Med 2018; 6: 95.
- 5. Erasmus JJ, Macapinlac HA. Low-sensitivity FDG-PET studies: less common lung neoplasms. Semin Nucl Med 2012; 42: 255-60.
- 6. Travis WD, Brambilla E, Noguchi M, et al. International association for the study of lung cancer/american thoracic society/european respiratory society international multidisciplinary classification of lung adenocarcinoma. J Thorac Oncol 2011; 6: 244-85.
- 7. Goldstraw P, Chansky K, Crowley J, et al. The IASLC lung cancer staging project: proposals for revision of the TNM stage groupings in the forthcoming (eighth) edition of the TNM Classification for Lung Cancer. J Thorac Oncol 2016; 11: 39-51.
- 8. Mountain CF, Dresler CM. Regional lymph node classification for lung cancer staging. Chest 1997; 111: 1718-23.
- Hamacher K, Coenen HH, Stöcklin G. Efficient stereospecific synthesisof no-carrier-added 2-(18F)-fluoro-2-deoxy-D-glucose using aminopolyether supported nucleophilic substitution. J Nucl Med 1986; 27: 235-8.
- 10.Öztaş S, Öztürk AV,Acartürk E, et al. The role of tumor SUVmax/ lymph node SUVmax ratio viewed on PET-CT in the detection of mediastinal metastasis in patients with lung cancer. Turk Gogus Kalp Dama 2012; 20: 544-51.
- 11.Obuchowski NA. Receiver operating characteristic curves and their use in radiology. Radiology 2003; 229: 3–8.
- 12.Metz CE. Basic principles of ROC analysis. Semin Nucl Med. 1978; 8: 283–98.
- 13. Böhning D, Holling H, Patilea V. A limitation of the diagnosticodds ratio in determining an optimal cut-off value for a continuous diagnostic test. Stat Methods Med Res 2011; 20: 541-50.
- 14.Zogheib E, Cosse C, Sabbagh C, et al. Biological scoring system for early prediction of acute bowel ischemia after cardiac surgery: the PALM score. Ann Intensive Care 2018; 8: 46.
- 15.Groheux D, Quere G, Blanc E, et al. FDG PET-CT for solitary pulmonary nodule and lung cancer: A literature review. Diagn Interv Imaging 2016; 97: 1003-17.
- 16.Feng M, Yang X, Ma Q, He Y. Retrospective analysis for the false-positive diagnosis of PET-CT scan in lung cancer patients. Medicine (Baltimore) 2017; 96: e7415.
- 17. Song SH, Ahn JH, Lee HY, et al. Prognostic impact of a nomogram based on whole tumor size, tumour disappearance ratio on CT and SUVmax on PET in lung adenocarcinoma. Eur Radiol 2016; 26: 1538–46.
- 18.Xiaoliang S, Rong N, Zhenxing J, Xiaonan S, Yuetao W. Role of PET/CT in management of early lung adenocarcinoma. American J Roentgenol 2020; 214: 437-45.
- 19.Şanlı BA, Ulugün Fİ, Karaçam V, et al. Positron emission tomography/computed tomography findings of lung invasive adenocarcinoma subgroups and comparison of their short-term survivals. Turk J Thoracic Cardiovasc Surg 2021; 29: 370-6.
- 20. Cruickshank A, Stieler G, Ameer F. Evaluation of the solitary pulmonary nodule. Intern Med J 2019; 49: 306-15.
- 21.Tang K, Wang L, Lin J, Zheng X, Wu Y. The value of 18F-FDG PET/CT in the diagnosis of different size of solitary pulmonary nodules. Medicine (Baltimore).2019; 98: e14813.
- 22.De Leyn P, Dooms C, Kuzdzal J, et al. Revised ESTS guidelines for preoperative mediastinal lymph node staging for non-small-cell lung cancer. Eur J Cardiothorac Surg. May 2014; 45: 787-98.

- 23.De Leyn P, Lardinois D, Van Schil PE, et al. ESTS guidelines for preoperative lymph node staging for non-small cell lung cancer. Eur J Cardiothorac Surg. Jul 2007; 32: 1-8.
- 24. Ambrosini V, Nicolini S, Caroli P, et al. PET/CT imaging in different types of lung cancer: an overview. Eur J Radiol 2012; 81: 988-1001.
- 25. Sivrikoz CM, Ak I, Simsek FS, Döner E, Dündar E. Is mediastinoscopy still the gold standard to evaluate mediastinal lymph nodes in patients with non-small cell lung carcinoma?. Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2012; 60: 116-21.
- 26. Thornblade LW, Wood DE, Mulligan MS, et al. Variability in invasive mediastinal staging for lung cancer: a multicenter regional study. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2018; 155: 2658-71.
- 27. Eberhardt WE, De Ruysscher D, Weder W, et al. Panel Members. 2nd ESMO Consensus Conference in Lung Cancer: locally advanced stage III non-small-cell lung cancer. Ann Oncol 2015; 26: 1573-88.
- 28. Smith DE, Fernandez AJ, Da Lozzo A, Montagne JA, Beveraggi E, Dietrich A. Accuracy of positron emission tomography and computed tomography (PET/CT) in detecting nodal metastasis according to histology of non-small cell lung cancer. Updates Surg 2019; 71: 741-6.
- 29. Yalcınkaya E, Anar C, Yavuz YM, et al. Prognostic importance of SUVmax value in PET/CT and correlation SUVmax Value between lymph node, distant metastasis in non-small cell lung cancer. Izmir Gogus Hastanesi Derg 2015; 24: 127-37.

Integrity loss of glycosylated hemoglobin with deepening anemia

Bünyamin Aydın^{1,} Aysun Gönderen²

¹Health Sciences University, Kütahya Evliya Celebi Training and Research Hospital, Division of Endocrinology and Metabolism, Kütahya, Turkey

²Health Sciences University, Kütahya Evliya Celebi Training and Research Hospital, Division of Hematology, Kütahya, Turkey

Cite this article as: Aydın B, Gönderen A. Integrity loss of glycosylated hemoglobin with deepening anemia. J Health Sci Med 2022; 5(3): 839-843.

ABSTRACT

Introduction: Iron deficiency anemia (IDA) has been shown to cause a false increase in glycosylated hemoglobin (HBA1c), but how much increase in hemoglobin (Hgb) causes a certain decrease in HBA1c remains unknown. Knowledge of this ratio will enable more accurate clinical diagnosis and follow-up of diabetes. This study aimed to investigate whether IDA causes a decrease in HBA1c and if it does, how much of a decrease it causes.

Material and Method: One hundred and twenty-two patients with IDA made up the study group and sixty-two health volunteers formed the control group. 270 mg ferrous sulphate (=80 mg elemental iron) were administered to the study group each day, orally for 3 months, and a control of age/sex matched healthy participants were monitored. Hgb, serum iron, serum iron binding capacity (SIBC), ferritin and HbA1c levels of all participants were measured and compared at baseline and at the third month of the study.

Results: There was a significant decrease in HbA1c and SIBC levels at baseline and 3 months in the study group (p<0.001, p<0.001, p<0.001 respectively) and a significant increase in serum iron, ferritin and Hgb (p<0.001, p<0.001, p<0.001 respectively). It was found that a 1 mg/dl increase in Hgb level resulted in a 0.113% decrease in HbA1c.

Conclusion: As anemia deepens, HBA1c loses its reliability for diagnosis and follow-up of DM. IDA should be considered before any diagnosis or treatment decisions are made according to HbA1c levels.

Keywords: anemia, diabetes, glycosylated hemoglobin

INTRODUCTION

Anemia is a worldwide public health issue affecting 1.62 billion people or a quarter of the world's population, both in the first world and developing countries. There are a range of anemia types but the most prevalent is IDA, which constitutes one third of all anemia cases in the world (1).

HbA1c is commonly used to diagnose as well as monitor DM (2). The main factor influencing HbA1c is blood glucose, however, circumstances such as IDA, hemolytic anemia, alcohol, pregnancy, blood loss and uremia are believed to alter HbA1c levels independent of glycemic state (3). Relying only on HbA1c measurements for patients with DM is controversial, and studies have shown IDA to cause false high HbA1c values (4-6), though the cause remains elusive (7). Glycosylation of hemoglobin is irreversible, therefore, HbA1c levels in RBC rise with

cell age (8). IDA is correlated with longer RBC survival which leads to higher HbA1c levels. In addition, elevated malondialdehyde (MDA) levels in IDA increase Hgb glycosylation. It has been alleged that a combination of these two mechanisms may result in an erroneous increase in HbA1c levels in patients with IDA (9).

Both DM and IDA are very common around the world and as such, the possibility of these two diseases coexisting is also very high (3). Clinical consequences of any correlation between body iron and HBA1c will affect many patients with DM and IDA. Because false raised HBA1c will lead to an incorrect diagnosis of diabetes and inappropriate follow-up and treatment of diabetic patients. If the HBA1c level decreases after iron treatment in a patient with IDA, it is necessary to demonstrate how much increase in Hgb causes a decrease in HBA1c

Corresponding Author: Bünyamin Aydın, aydınbunyamin@yahoo.com



in order for the decrease in HBA1c to be useful in the diagnosis and follow-up of diabetic patients. There is only one study on this subject in the diabetic patient population without a control group (10), and further studies are needed. Our study was carried out in the non-diabetic patient group in comparison with the control group. Our study was conducted to investigate whether the HBA1c level decreases after iron deficiency anemia treatment and if it does, how much of an increase in Hgb causes a certain decrease in HBA1c.

MATERIAL AND METHOD

The clinical trial protocol was approved by the Ethics Committee of Kütahya Health Sciences University, Kütahya Evliya Çelebi Training and Research Hospital (Date: 08.07.2021 Decision No: 2021/12-04). All procedures were carried out in accordance with the ethical rules and the principles of the Declaration of Helsinki.

Study Design

This study was carried out between October 2020 and July 2021 in the Department of Endocrinology and Metabolism Diseases of Kütahya Health Sciences University, Kütahya Evliya Çelebi Training and Research Hospital. Patients who met the inclusion criteria were sequentially included in the study after written informed consent was obtained.

Patients with IDA included in the study group did not have any prior diagnosis of DM, were not on any anti-diabetic medication and had fasting plasma glucose (FPG) < 100 mg/dl, HbA1c < 6.5% female hemoglobin (Hgb) < 12 g/ dl and male 13 g/dl, mean corpuscular volume (MCV) < 80 (fL), ferritin < 15 ng/ml. Since ferritin, which shows iron stores in the body, is also an acute phase reactant and may be influenced by any infectious circumstance, only patients with normal c-reactive protein (CRP) values were included in the study. Patients on any medication that may influence body weight were excluded from the study as these may alter HbA1c by affecting insulin resistance.

One hundred and thirty four patients of the study group and 66 healthy volunteers in the control group meeting the inclusion and exclusion criteria were included in the study. In the study group, 3 patients who did not comply with treatment and follow up, 6 patients who could not tolerate oral iron treatment and 3 patients whose Hgb failed to increase despite iron treatment were excluded from the study. Also, four patients who failed to comply with follow up were excluded in the control group. The study was completed with 122 patients in total in the study group and 62 healthy volunteers in the control group.

Eligibility

Inclusion criteria: (a) Male and female patients over age 18 (b) No previous diagnosis of DM and not on any antidiabetic medication (c) For study group, a diagnosis of IDA (male Hgb <13 mg/dl, female Hb <12 mg/dL, MCV <80 (fL), ferritin <15 ng/dl), for control group male Hb >13 mg/dl, female Hb >12 mg/dL, MCV >80 (fL), ferritin >15 ng/dl) (d) CRP within normal range (e) Compliance with treatment and follow up (f) Acceptance of inclusion in the study.

Exclusion criteria: (a) Diagnosed with DM or use of any anti-diabetic medication (b) Diagnosis of anemia other than IDA (c) Patients whose Hgb failed to increase despite oral iron treatment (d) Patients with high CRP values (e) Patients on medications which aid weight loss such as a glucagon like peptid-1 (GLP1) analogue or orlistat (f) Patients on any medication known to affect body weight (g) Patients with abnormal thyroid function tests, on levothyroxine or anti-thyroid medication (h) Patients with a history of surgery for obesity (i) Patients with any endocrinopathy that may result in obesity (Cushing's syndrome, acromegaly, hypothyroidism, etc.) (j) Patients with acute coronary syndrome, heart failure, cerebrovascular disease, pregnancy, chronic liver disease, abnormal renal function tests and malignancy (k) Patients with a history of blood transfusion during the past year (1) Patients who failed to comply with monitoring and treatment (m) Patients who declined to be included in the study.

Treatment and Follow-up

Patients were administered 270 mg/day ferrous sulphate (=80 mg elemental iron) for three months for the treatment of IDA. Age/sex matched healthy participants were followed as the control group. Hb, MCV, hematocrit (Hct), red blood cells (RBC), platelets (PLT), white blood cells (WBC), serum iron, serum iron binding capacity (SIBK), serum ferritin, fasting plasma glucose (FPG), HbA1c, body mass index (BMI), CRP, aspartate aminotransferase (AST), alanine aminotransferase (ALT), creatinine and blood urea nitrogen (BUN) values of patients were measured at the start and following 3 months of treatment with iron and compared.

Biochemical Analysis

Blood samples were obtained in the morning at the start of the study and following 3 months of treatment with iron after at least 10 hours of fasting through the night. Venous fasting blood samples were obtained from one antecubital vein in 8 ml anticoagulant free tubes. Blood in the straight tubes was allowed to coagulate for 30 minutes and centrifuged at 3000 rpm at room temperature. Repeated freezing and defrosting was avoided. HbA1c was measured with high performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) using a TOSOH device, and serum ferritin was measured with electrochemiluminescence immunoassay (ECLIA) using a Beckman Coulter UniCel Dxl 600 device. Hemogram was evaluated flow cytometrically with a Mindray BC-6800 device. Serum iron, SIBK, CRP, FPG, creatinine, AST, ALT, BUN values were measured with a Beckman Coulter Systems' au5800 series device using spectrophotometry.

Statistical Analysis

The normality of distribution was examined using the Kolmogorov-Smirnov test. Descriptive statistical methods including percentage and mean±standard deviation (SD) or median (min.- max.) were used to provide basic characteristics of the data. A Wilcoxon signed ranks test was used for non-normally distributed continuous variables for the study group (FPG, Hgb, Hct, RBC, MCV, WBC, serum iron, SIBC, ferritin, CRP) and the control group (FPG, Hgb, RBC, MCV, PLT, serum iron, ferritin, CRP). A paired samples t-test was used for normally distributed continuous variables of the study group (HBA1c, BMI, PLT) and control group (HBA1c, Hct, WBC, SIBC, BMI) Statistical analyses were carried out using SPSS23.0 version (IBM Corporation, Armonk, NY, US). When two-tailed p <0.05, differences were considered statistically significant. Regression models were used for increases and decreases in Hgb values. Results were obtained by using Hgb values at baseline and third month. A regression model analysis was carried out using Excel 16.0 (2016).

RESULTS

Baseline Characteristics

The total number of patients included 93 women (76.23%) and 29 men (23.7%) in the study group, and 47 women (75.81%) plus 15 men (24.19%) in the control group. The median age of women was 41.13 ± 8.73 and men 44.21 ± 8.42 in the study group, and 41.04 ± 7.58 for women and men 44.93 ± 4.34 in the control group (**Table 1**). When the baseline and 3 month data were compared, there was no significant difference between the study group and the control group in terms of BMI (p:0.332, p:0.399 respectively) (**Table 2-3**).

Blood Glucose Parameters

While the baseline HbA1c for the study group was 5.90 ± 0.37 (%), it was 5.48 ± 0.48 (%) at third month, which was significantly lower (p <0.001). Baseline HbA1c for the control group was 5.52 ± 0.33 (%) and 5.53 ± 0.30 (%) at the third month, showing no statistically significant difference (p:0.578). Baseline and third month FPG (mg/dL) levels for the study group were 94.00 (81-138) and 92.00 (80-142) respectively, and there were no statistically significant difference (p:0.256). Baseline and third month FPG (mg/dL) levels for the control group (mg/dL) were 94.50 (81-128) and 92.00 (80-138) respectively and also showed no statistically significant difference (p:0.071) (**Table 2-3**).

Table. 1 Demographic parameters					
Characteristic	Study group (n=122)	Control group (n=62)			
Mean age, years	Male : 44.21±8.42	Male: 44.93±4.34			
	Female: 41.13±8.73	Female: 41.04±7.58			
Sex male/female %	Male: 29 (23.77 %)	Male: 15 (24.19%)			
	Female: 93 (76.23 %)	Female: 47 (75.81%)			

Table 2. Comparison of baseline and 3rd month values of study group						
	Baseline	3rd Month	р			
HbA 1c, (%) †	5,90±0,37	$5,48\pm0,48$	< 0.001			
FPG (mg/dL) *	94.00 (81-138)	92.00 (80-142)	0.256			
Hgb (g/dL) *	10.25 (5.7-11.8)	12.70 (11.6-15.0)	< 0.001			
Hct (%) *	32.95 (23.1-38,0)	40.25 (38.1-45.4)	< 0.001			
RBC (10 ⁶ /uL) *	4.40 (2.7-5.6)	4.80 (3.9-6.8)	< 0.001			
MCV (fL) *	73.00 (62.0-79.0)	82.90 (77.5-92.0)	< 0.001			
PLT (10 ³ /uL) †	335.17±77.43	287.52 ± 64.70	< 0.001			
WBC (10 ³ /uL)*	7.40 (3.9-7.3)	7.50 (4.2-8.3)	0.190			
Serum Iron (ug/dL) *	20.00 (2-57)	58.00 (18-272)	< 0.001			
SIBC (ug/dL) *	417.50 (273-584)	331.00 (131-481)	< 0.001			
Ferriti (ug/L) *	3.00 (1-29)	14.00 (3-208)	< 0.001			
CRP (mg/L) *	1.60 (0.10-4.70)	1.80 (0.20-4.60)	< 0.001			
BMI (kg/m²) †	26.94±3.32	26.97±3.38	0.332			

HBA1c: glycosylated hemoglobin, FPG: fasting plasma glucose, Hgb: hemoglobin, Hct: hematocrit, RBC: red blood cell, MCV: mean corpuscular volume, PLT: thrombocyte, WBC: white blood cells, SIBC: serum iron binding capacity, CRP: c-reactive protein, BMI: body mass index

* Data are presented as median (minimum-maximum and compared by Wilcoxon signed ranks)

† Data are presented as mean±SD and compared by paired samples t test

Table 3. Comparison group	n of baseline and 3rd	month values of co	ontrol
	Baseline	3rd Month	р
HbA 1c, (%) †	5.52 ± 0.33	5.53 ± 0.30	0.578
FPG (mg/dL)*	94.50 (81-128)	92.00 (80-138)	0.071
Hgb (g/dL)*	13.00 (12.0-14.9)	13.10 (12.0-14.4)	0.441
Hct (%)†	41.37±1.68	40.92 ± 1.32	0.017
RBC (10 ⁶ /uL)*	4.80 (4.1-5.8)	4.85 (4.2-6.8)	0.494
MCV (fL) *	84.67±2.81	84.89 ± 2.84	0.558
PLT (10 ³ /uL)*	281.50 (184-442)	286.00 (175-442)	0.685
WBC (10 ³ /uL)†	7.10 ± 1.74	7.38 ± 1.75	0.067
Serum Iron (ug/dL)*	61.50 (12-266)	61.50 (20-185)	0.840
SIBC (ug/dL)†	314.08±62,10	308.03±71,05	0.537
Ferritin (ug/L)*	18.00 (6-96)	20.00 (5-113)	0.768
CRP (mg/L)*	1.60 (0.10-4.70)	1.80 (0.20-4.60)	0.592
BMI (kg/m²)†	27.07±3.09	27.11±3.17	0.399
	11		

HBA1c: glycosylated hemoglobin, FPG: fasting plasma glucose, Hgb: hemoglobin, Hct: hematocrit, RBC: red blood cell, MCV: mean corpuscular volume, PLT: thrombocyte, WBC: white blood cells, SIBC: serum iron binding capacity, CRP: c-reactive protein, BMI: body mass index * Data are presented as median (minimum-maximum and compared by Wilcoxon signed ranks)

† Data are presented as mean±SD and compared by paired samples t test

Hematological Parameters

When baseline and third month WBC levels in the study group were compared, no significant differences were observed (p:0.190), however, SIBC and PLT showed significant decreases (p<0.001, p<0.001 respectively), and RBC, MCV, serum iron, ferritin and Hgb showed significant increases (p<0.001, p<0.001, p<0.001, p<0.001,

p<0.001, p<0.001 respectively) (**Table 2**). When baseline and third month serum iron, SIBC, ferritin, Hgb, MCV, RBC, WBC and PLT in control group values were compared, no statistically significant differences were observed (p:0.840, p:0.537, p:0.768, p:0.441, p:0.558, p:0.494, p:0.067, p:0.685 respectively) (**Table 3**).

Regression between Hgb and HbA1c

An increase of 1 mg/dL in Hgb was found to result in a 0.113784 % decrease in HbA1c. The table below shows the progression of the regression method when 1 was added to Hgb values of 3 randomly selected patients.

HbA1c values showed a 0.113784% decrease at the third month of study							
	Baseline HbA1c Study Group	Baseline Hgb Study Group	Hgb at 3rd Month Study Group	HbA1C at 3rd Month Study Group	Difference		
Patient 1	7.1	11.2	12.9	6.452213505	0		
Patient 1	7.1	11.2	13.9	6.338429777	0.113784		
Patient 1	7.1	11.2	14.9	6.224646049	0.113784		
Patient 2	5.7	10.7	12.1	5.427191807	0		
Patient 2	5.7	10.7	13.1	5.313408079	0.113784		
Patient 2	5.7	10.7	14.1	5.199624351	0.113784		
Patient 3	6	11.1	13.8	5.479490192	0		
Patient 3	6	11.1	14.8	5.365706464	0.113784		
Patient 3	6	11.1	15.8	5.251922736	0.113784		

DISCUSSION

In our study, IDA was found to be correlated with increased HbA1c concentrations with statistically significant decreases observed following iron treatment. The most important finding of our study was that a 1 mg/dL increase in Hgb level causes a 0.113% decrease in HBA1c. We believe this may be due to normalization of RBC survival which was prolonged and decrease in malondialdehyde levels following iron treatment.

The first research to study the influence of IDA on HbA1c levels was by Horton and Huisman (11), who showed HbA1c concentrations to be medium, 5.3%, in 14 healthy individuals and 4.9% in patients with IDA.

Studies were often performed on normoglycemic patient groups and the relationship between IDA and HbA1c evaluated. The baseline HbA1c of 50 patients with IDA without DM and 50 healthy volunteers without IDA or DM were compared and HbA1c was observed to be significantly higher in the group with IDA (12). Similarly, in a study by Son et al. (13), of 112 patients with IDA and 217 healthy individuals without IDA, the baseline HbA1c was proposed to have low specificity in the group with anemia, therefore, HbA1c was a limited parameter for diagnosis of DM. In studies with IDA patients without DM where HbA1c levels were evaluated following iron treatment, HbA1c showed significant decreases with iron and HbA1c was reported to result in the false diagnosis of DM in patients with IDA (4-6, 14-15).

In a review in 2017, it was concluded that IDA is correlated with increased HbA1c concentrations both in diabetic and non-diabetic individuals and iron treatment results in a decrease in HbA1c (7). The findings of our study are consistent with these studies. All data support the idea that iron deficiency should be corrected before making a diagnosis of pre-diabetes or diabetes.

Although the design and results of our study and the studies mentioned above differ, the rationale for research is similar. In short, there is an uncertainty and possibility of error in utilizing HbA1c in the diagnosis and monitoring of diabetes. The International Expert Committee warned clinicians to be wary of any conditions which may affect RBC turnover during the follow-up with diabetes patients (16). IDA is the most prevalent reason affecting RBC turnover. The interpretation of HbA1c based on information from a hematological examination and iron metabolism indices may help to prevent misdiagnosis or under-diagnosis, and HbA1c should be evaluated carefully as a parameter of glycemic control in patients with IDA (17).

The American Diabetes Association (ADA) suggested using only plasma glucose, not HbA1c as a diagnostic criterion for diabetes in patients with IDA (18). In accordance with the ADA, our study also supports not using HbA1c for the diagnosis and monitoring of patients with IDA.

Following the observation that HbA1c decreases with treatment of IDA, the first question is: how much HbA1c decrease is caused by the rise in Hgb. There is only one study on this subject in diabetic patients without a control group, and it was found that 2.2 mg/dL increase in Hgb value caused a 0.4% decrease in HBA1c level (10). In our study, it was determined that 1 mg/dL increase in Hgb value caused a 0.113% decrease in HBA1c value. This means that the deeper the IDA, the more the reliability of HBA1 is lost. This ratio should be supported with multicentre studies and more patient participation. We believe our study is valuable to future research as it may be the beginning of a new ratio to be included in DM diagnosis and monitoring guidelines.

IDA is more common especially in young women of reproductive age (1). The majority of the patient

population in our study consisted of female patients at this age. The results of our study showed that it is of particular importance whether IDA is coexisting when diagnosing diabetes according to HBA1c in women in this group or when following a diabetic patient. If IDA coexists, it would be more appropriate to diagnose and follow-up diabetes based on the HBA1c level after eliminating the iron deficiency. Gestational diabetes mellitus (GDM), is one of the most widely encountered metabolic disturbances. Macrosomy, neonatal hypoglicemia, neonatal hypocalcemia, neonatal hypomagnesemia and potential respiratory problems of newborn are more prevalent in the newborn of women with GDM (19). For this reason, in a pregnant patient, examining HBA1c level after the iron deficiency is eliminated would enable a more accurate diagnosis of whether it is gestational DM or is it pregestational DM.

The limitations of our study are low patient numbers and study being performed in a single centre. Multi-centre studies with more participants are required.

CONCLUSION

In our study, we found that a 1 mg/dL increase in Hbg causes a 0.113% decrease in HBA1c. This shows that HBA1c loses its reliability in the diagnosis and followup of DM as the anemia deepens. Elimination of iron deficiency before any diagnosis or treatment decision is made based on the HbA1c level will prevent patients from being misdiagnosed with diabetes and prevent additional unnecessary intervention in diabetes treatment of diabetic patients. Nevertheless, implementing additional treatment to diabetic patients with IDA based on the high HBA1c will increase the risk of hypoglycemia in patients and will bring additional drug costs to the state economy. Early diagnosis and treatment of IDA in diabetic patients can improve glycemic control and prevent or delay complications.

ETHICAL DECLARATIONS

Ethics Committee Approval: The study was carried out with the permission of Clinical Research Ethics Committee of Kütahya Health Sciences University, Kütahya Evliya Çelebi Training and Research Hospital (Date: 08.07.2021 Decision No: 2021/12-04).

Informed Consent: Because the study was designed retrospectively, no written informed consent form was obtained from patients.

Referee Evaluation Process: Externally peer-reviewed.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The author has no conflicts of interest to declare.

Financial Disclosure: The author declared that this study has received no financial support.

Author Contributions: The author declare that they have all participated in the design, execution, and analysis of the paper, and that they have approved the final version.

REFERENCES

- 1. Marton I, Agócs S, Babik B. Az anaemiák epidemiológiája [Epidemiology of anemia]. Orv Hetil 2020; 161: 1569-73.
- Harreiter J, Roden M. Diabetes mellitus-definition, klassifikation, diagnose, screening und prävention (Update 2019) [Diabetes mellitus-Definition, classification, diagnosis, screening and prevention (Update 2019)]. Wien Klin Wochenschr 2019; 131: 6-15.
- 3. Guo W, Zhou Q, Jia Y, Xu J. Increased levels of glycated hemoglobin a1c and iron deficiency anemia: a review. Med Sci Monit 2019; 25: 8371-78.
- 4. Coban E, Ozdogan M, Timuragaoglu A. Effect of iron deficiency anemia on the levels of hemoglobin A1c in nondiabetic patients. Acta Haematol 2004; 112: 126-28.
- 5. Brooks AP, Metcalfe J, Day JL, Edwards MS. Iron deficiency and glycosylated haemoglobin A. Lancet 1980; 2: 141.
- 6. Madhu SV, Raj A, Gupta S, Giri S, Rusia U. Effect of iron deficiency anemia and iron supplementation on HbA1c levels Implications for diagnosis of prediabetes and diabetes mellitus in Asian Indians. Clin Chim Acta 2017; 468: 225-29.
- Soliman AT, De Sanctis V, Yassin M, Soliman N. Iron deficiency anemia and glucose metabolism. Acta Biomed 2017; 88:112-18.
- 8. Vikøren TB, Berg JP, Berg TJ. Sources of error when using haemoglobin A1c. Tidsskr Nor Laegeforen 2014; 134: 417-21.
- 9. Intra J, Limonta G, Cappellini F, Bertona M, Brambilla P. Glycosylated hemoglobin in subjects affected by iron-deficiency anemia. Diabetes Metab J 2019; 43:539-44.
- 10. Aydın B, Özçelik S, Kilit TP, Eraslan S, Çelik M, Onbaşı K. Relationship between glycosylated hemoglobin and iron deficiency anemia: A common but overlooked problem. Prim Care Diabetes 2022; S1751-9918(22)00002-X.
- 11. Skali H, Lin J, Pfeffer MA, et al. Hemoglobin stability in patients with anemia, CKD, and type 2 diabetes: an analysis of the TREAT (Trial to Reduce Cardiovascular Events With Aranesp Therapy) placebo arm. Am J Kidney Dis 2013; 61: 238-46.
- 12. Shanthi B, Revathy C, Manjula Devi AJ, Subhashree. Effect of iron deficiency on glycation of haemoglobin in nondiabetics. J Clin Diagn Res 2013; 7: 15-17.
- 13.Son JI, Rhee SY, Woo JT, et al. Hemoglobin A1c may be an inadequate diagnostic tool for diabetes mellitus in anemic subjects. Diabetes Metab J 2013; 37: 343-48.
- 14.Gram-Hansen P, Eriksen J, Mourits-Andersen T, Olesen L. Glycosylated haemoglobin (HbA1c) in iron- and vitamin B12 deficiency. J Intern Med 1990; 227: 133-6.
- 15. Pilla R, Palleti SK, Rayana R, Skss SR, Abdul Razzack A, Kalla S. Glycated haemoglobin (HbA1c) variations in nondiabetics with nutritional anemia. Cureus 2020; 12: e11479.
- 16. International Expert Committee. International Expert Committee report on the role of A1C assay in the diagnosis of diabetes. Diabetes Care 2009; 32: 1327-34.
- 17.Guo W, Zhou Q, Jia Y, Xu J. Increased levels of glycated hemoglobin A1c and iron deficiency anemia: a review. Med Sci Monit 2019; 25: 8371-78.
- American Diabetes Association. 2. Classification and Diagnosis of Diabetes: Standards of Medical Care in Diabetes-2020. Diabetes Care 2020; 43: 14-31.
- 19.Kurban Y, Uyar KI, Alan MM. Evaluation of sialic acid levels in the umbilical cord blood of newborns of diabetic and nondiabetic mothers and the relation with poor neonatal outcome. Int J Gynecol Obstet Reprod Med Res 2021; 27: 79-83.

HEALTH SCIENCES MEDICINE

The diagnostic value of calcium binding protein S100A8/A9 and S100A12 in acute pancreatitis

Okan Bardakcı¹, [®]Murat Daş¹, [®]Müşerref Hilal Şehitoğlu², [®]Ece Unal Cetin³, [®]Ünzile Atalay¹, [®]Uğur Küçük⁴, [®]Fatih Kamiş³, [®]Alpaslan Tanoğlu⁵, [®]Yavuz Beyazit³

¹Çanakkale Onsekiz Mart University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Emergency Medicine, Çanakkale, Turkey

²Çanakkale Onsekiz Mart University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Medical Biochemistry, Çanakkale, Turkey

³Çanakkale Onsekiz Mart University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Internal Medicine, Çanakkale, Turkey

⁴Canakkale Onsekiz Mart University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Cardiology, Canakkale, Turkey

⁵University of Health Sciences, Sancaktepe Şehit Profesör İlhan Varank Training and Research Hospital, Department of Gastroenterology, İstanbul, Turkey

Cite this article as: Bardakci O, Daş M, Şehitoğlu MH, et al. The diagnostic value of calcium binding protein S100A8/A9 and S100A12 in acute pancreatitis. J Health Sci Med 2022; 5(3): 844-849.

ABSTRACT

Background: S100A8/A9 and S100A12 which are the major calcium-binding proinflammatory proteins secreted by granulocytes, has been proposed to be related to distinct disease states of inflammatory origin. This study aims to explore the circulating levels of S100A8/A9 and S100A12 in acute pancreatitis (AP) and reveal their relationship with conventional inflammatory markers.

Material and Method: Serum S100A8/A9 and S100A12 were determined in AP patients (male/female: 17/13) by using a specific enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) method at both onset and remission and in 30 healthy controls (male/ female: 17/13).

Results: Significantly higher S100A8/A9 and S100A12 levels were found in AP patients compared to healthy controls (p<0.001). Circulating levels of S100A8/9, S100A12 and C-reactive protein (CRP) were found to be elevated in AP patients at disease onset compared with remission. The correlation analysis demonstrated a significant association between S100A8/A9 and S100A12 (r=0.366, p=0.047). The cut-off level for S100A8/A9 for detecting AP was \geq 54.4 ng/ml with a sensitivity and specificity of 96.7% and 73.3% (AUC: 0.958). The optimum cut-off level for S100A12 for detecting AP was \geq 350.25 ng/ml with a sensitivity and specificity of 73.3% and 76.7% (AUC: 0.752) respectively.

Conclusion: Circulating S100A8/A9 and S100A12 levels were found to be elevated in AP patients. Both of these markers might serve as an additional tool in the diagnostic workup in AP since S100A8/A9 and S100A12 were significantly correlated with CRP.

Keywords: Acute pancreatitis, S100A8/A9, S100A12, CRP, inflammation

INTRODUCTION

Acute pancreatitis (AP) is one of the most encountered gastrointestinal reason for emergency department (ED) admission and shows an annual incidence up to 12 to 45 per 100,000 population (1). An increase in serum amylase and lipase levels with an acute onset of abdominal pain continues to be the most widely used diagnostic criteria of AP. Although both of these enzymes are usually used for the diagnosis, their popularity does not appear to be justified because of their low specificity in which elevated levels could also be observed in perforated gastric or duodenal ulcers, kidney diseases, gastrointestinal obstruction, tuboovarian disease, and mesenteric infarction (2). Although

there are several additional diagnostic assays including urinary trypsinogen-2 and trypsinogen activation peptide exist, they are unfortunately less widely available. Therefore there is an eager need for better noninvasive diagnosing markers that can help identify the exact diagnosis at an earlier time point, and evaluate the efficacy of medical treatment.

Amongst a number of calcium-binding proteins (CBP), S100 protein family consists the mostly encountered one. From this CBPs, S100A8, S100A9, and S100A12, are very well defined by a distinctive expression pattern,

Corresponding Author: Murat DAŞ, muratdas58@gmail.com



with strong prevalence in myeloid origin cells (3). In this context, the S100A8/A9 heterocomplex and the S100A12 are elements of the calgranulin family and released from inflammatory cells of the myeloid lineage. It has been suggested that increased circulating S100A8/A9 and S100A12 levels might be an indicator of a subclinical inflammation in which increased levels were reported in distinct disease states including inflammatory bowel disease, otitis media, alcoholic liver cirrhosis, Hodgkin lymphoma, and myocarditis (4-10). Unfortunately, there is no literature data that reveals the possible role of these CBPs in AP pathophysiology.

Based on the emerging roles of S100A8/A9 and S100A12 in inflammation-associated diseases, we designed the current trial to examine the possible involvement of S100A8/A9 and S100A12 in AP and to determine whether these two parameters are correlated with conventional inflammatory markers commonly used to evaluate inflammatory response in AP course.

MATERIAL AND METHOD

The study was approved by the Çanakkale Onsekiz Mart University Clinical Researches Ethics Committee (Date: 27.11.2019, Decision No: 2019-19). All procedures were carried out in accordance with the ethical rules and the principles of the Declaration of Helsinki.

Study Participants

Thirty patients with AP (M/F: 17/13) admitted to the ED of Çanakkale Onsekiz Mart University (COMU) and hospitalized whether to a regular ward or intensive care unit (ICU) were initially recruited for the study. After treatment, all patients achieved remission and were included in the main analysis. Thirty healthy subjects (M/F: 17/13) were recruited from healthy individuals seeking a routine health check-up who had no previous history of acute/chronic inflammatory disorders, or a history of any drug use. Exclusion criteria of the study included; patients referred from an outside hospital, patients with an inflammatory and malignant condition including inflammatory bowel disease, otitis media, alcoholic liver cirrhosis, Hodgkin lymphoma, chronic pancreatitis and myocarditis. Each of the 30 patients was diagnosed with AP within 12 h of admittance to ED and this assessment was based on the revised Atlanta classification that includes physical examination with the presence of abdominal pain, elevated levels of serum lipase and/or amylase (more than three times from upper normal limit), and characteristic computed tomography (CT) or magnetic resonance imaging (11). After hospitalization, each patient was closely followed up until discharge from the hospital. Remission of AP was defined as the disappearance of symptoms and radiologic imaging findings after the initial medical treatment.

Clinical and Laboratory Assessment

Clinical, demographic and biochemical parameters of each patient were recorded. The obtained data include; age, gender, and disease severity Routine hemogram and laboratory parameters including lipase, amylase, lipase, alanine aminotransferase, aspartate aminotransferase, albumin, creatinine, calcium, glucose, lactate dehydrogenase, C-reactive protein (CRP) and sedimentation rate (ESR) were recorded. Fasting serum samples were obtained from each study participant at both the onset and remission of the disease after overnight fasting without any anticoagulant use. Blood samples were left on the clot, and serum was separated from cellular elements by centrifugation (3,000 rounds per minute for 15 minutes) within two hours after blood sampling. All serum samples were stored at -80°C until the analysis was performed.

S100A 8/9 and S100A 12 Assay

S100A 8/9 levels were measured by a double antibody Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) kit, from Bioassay Technology Laboratory made in Shangai China, Catalogue Number E4010Hu. S100A 12 levels were measured using commercially available ELISA kits from Bioassay Technology Laboratory made in Shangai China, Catalogue Number E3074Hu.

Statistical Analysis

Frequencies and percentages (%) were used to express categorical variables. Continuous variables were expressed median and interquartile range (IQR). The Shapiro-Wilk test was used to evaluate the normality assumption for the continuous variables. Mann–Whitney U test was performed for analyzing differences between two groups in conditions with the existence of nonnormally distributed continuous variables. Categorical variables were evaluated using Pearson's chi-square test or Fisher's exact test. Spearman's correlation test was used to perform correlation analysis. ROC analysis was used to calculate the areas under the receiving operator curves (AUROC) with 95% confidence intervals for S100A8-9 and S100A12 to predict acute pancreatitis. Statistical evaluations were performed by using SPSS19.0 for Windows (IBM Corp., Armonk, NY, USA). P values below 0.05 were accepted as significant.

RESULTS

A total of 30 patients with AP and 30 control subjects were enrolled in this study. Thirteen (43.3%) AP patients and 13 (43.3%) of the healthy controls were female. Median age of AP patients was 67.0 (57.0-75.0) years and healthy controls had a median age of 63.5 (48.5-76.3) years. No significant differences were demonstrated between study groups in respect to age and sex. The median serum S100A 8/9 levels in patients with AP was significantly elevated (p<0.001) compared with healthy control group [102.2(64.7-177.5)] (ng/mL) vs 51.2(43.9-55.4) (ng/mL)]. Similarly the median serum S100A12 levels in patients with AP was significantly elevated (p<0.001) compared with healthy control group [409.5(304.8-711.8) (ng/mL) vs 312.4(268.1-346.2) (ng/mL)]. **Table 1** demonstrates the clinical, demographic characteristics and biochemical values of the study groups. **Figure 1** demonstrates the median S100A 8/9 and S100A12 levels of the AP patients at the onset and remission compared with those of the healthy controls.

Table 1. Demographic characteristics and laboratory values of the acute pancreatitis patients and controls						
	Acute pancreatitis (n=30)	Control group (n=30)	р			
Age (years)	67.0 (57.0-75.0)	63.5 (48.5-76.3)	0.280			
Sex (F/M)	17/13	17/13	1.00			
Amilaz (U/L)	1123.0 (514.0-1922.0)	64.5 (42.0-82.3)	< 0.001			
Lipaz (U/L)	1908.0 (1178.0-3912.0)	37.0 (28.5-52.0)	< 0.001			
ALT (U/L)	35.0 (15.0-173.0)	16.0 (13.75-23.25)	0.004			
AST (U/L)	40.0 (23.0-227.0)	21.0 (16.0-30.3)	< 0.001			
ALP(U/L)	114.0 (78.0-197.0)	76.5 (53.25-93.5)	< 0.001			
GGT (U/L)	142.0 (37.0-298.0)	27.0 (12.8-36.3)	< 0.001			
Total Bilirubin (mg/dl)	1.0 (0.6-3.0)	0.5 (0.33-0.73)	0.001			
WBC (/mm ³ ×10 ³)	11.4 (9.0-14.7)	6.7 (5.4-8.4)	< 0.001			
Hemoglobin (g/dL)	13.0 (11.5-14.5)	12.7 (11.6-13.6)	0.416			
Platelet (/mm ³ ×10 ³)	248.0 (208.0-310.0)	221.5 (169.0-280.0)	0.109			
CRP (mg/L)	5.9 (2.7-13.6)	0.40 (0.2-0.7)	< 0.001			
Sedimentation (mm/h)	34.0 (17.0-60.0)	15.0 (11.0-20.3)	0.003			
S100A8/A9 (ng/mL)	102.2 (64.7-177.5)	51.2 (43.9-55.4)	< 0.001			
S100A12 (ng/mL)	409.5 (304.8-711.8)	312.4 (268.1-346.2)	< 0.001			

ALT: Alanine aminotransferase, AST: Aspartate aminotrasferase, ALP: Alkaline Phosphatase, GGT: Gamma Glutamyl Transferase, WBC: White Blood Count, CRP: C-Reactive Protein



Figure 1. Bar plots and corresponding error bars of (A) median S100A 8/9 and S100A 12 levels of the acute pancreatitis patients and controls; (B) median S100A 8/9 and S100A 12 levels of the acute pancreatitis patients at onset and remission

The comparison of serum inflammation markers in conjunction with S100A 8/9 and S100A12 are given in **Table 2**. Both S100A 8/9 and S100A12 were found to be elevated at onset of the disease compared with remission. Likewise, white blood cell (WBC), CRP and ESR values were significantly elevated in AP patients at onset of the disease. Spearman correlation analysis revealed a significant correlation between CRP and S100A 8/9 (r=0.467, p=0.009) and S 100A 12 (r=0.555, p=0.001) (**Figure 2**). Moreover, both S100A 8/9 and S100A12 levels were found to be correlated at the onset of the disease (r=0.366, p=0.047) (**Table 3**).

Table 2. Comparison of serum S100A8/A9 and S100A12 levelsand other markers of inflammation at onset and remission of acutepancreatitis						
	Onset	Remission	р			
WBC	11.4	6.8	< 0.001			
(/mm ³ ×103)	(9.0-14.7)	(5.15-8.7)				
Neutrophil	10.3	4.5	< 0.001			
(/mm ³ ×10 ³)	(6.9-13.1)	(2.9-5.7)				
Lymphocyte	1.1	1.4	0.047			
(/mm ³ ×10 ³)	(0.7-1.4)	(1.1-1.9)				
Platelet	248.0	240.0	0.976			
(/mm ³ ×10 ³)	(208.0-310.0)	(188.5-350.0)				
CRP (mg/dL)	5.9 (6.7-13.6)	0.8 (0.5-1.5)	< 0.001			
Sedimentation	34.0	17.0	0.007			
(mm/h)	(17.0-60.0)	(11.5-26.0)				
S100A8/A9	102.2	54.2	< 0.001			
(ng/mL)	(64.7-177.6)	(49.7-59.9)				
S100A12	409.5	282.9	0.015			
(ng/mL)	(304.8-711.8)	(242.7-564.5)				
WBC: White Blood Cou	unt, CRP: C-Reactive Pro	tein				



Figure 2. Correlations of (A) S100A 8/9 with CRP; (B) S100A 12 with CR

The Receiver Operating Characteristic (ROC) curve analysis revealed that the ideal S100 A8/9 level cutoff points for determining AP was \geq 54.4 ng/ml with a sensitivity, specificity, negative predictive value (NPV) and positive predictive value (PPV) of 96.7%, 73.3%, 95.7 and 78.4 respectively (AUC: 0.958). The optimum S100A12 level cut-off value for determining AP was \geq 350.25 ng/ml with a sensitivity, specificity, NPV and PPV of 73.3, 76.7%, 74.2 and 75.9, respectively (AUC: 0.752) (**Table 4**). **Figure 3** demonstrates ROC curve analysis to predict acute pancreatitis.

Table 3. Correlation analysis of study variables at onset of acute pancreatitis								
	S100A8/9		S100A 12		Sedimentation		CRP	
	r	р	r	р	r	р	r	р
WBC	0.036	0.851	0.118	0.535	0.487	0.010	0.258	0.169
CRP	0.467	0.009	0.555	0.001	0.309	0.117	-	-
Sedimentation	0.326	0.097	0.091	0.651	-	-	-	-
S100A12	0.366	0.047			-	-	-	-
WBC: White Blood Count, CRP: C-Reactive Protein								

Table 4. ROC analyses of S100A8/A9 and S100A12 with other conventional inflammation markers to determine acute pancreatitis								
Acute pancreatitis vs controls	AUC	Cut-Off	Sensitivity (%)	Specificity (%)	PPV (%)	NPV (%)		
WBC (/mm ³ ×10 ³)	0.849	7.1	93.3	60.0	70.0	90.0		
CRP (mg/dl)	0.959	1.0	93.3	83.3	84.8	92.6		
Sedimentation (%)	0.731	16.5	70	63.3	65.6	67.9		
S100 A8/9 (ng/ml)	0.958	54.4	96.7	73.3	78.4	95.7		
S100 A12 (ng/ml)	0.752	350.25	73.3	76.7	75.9	74.2		
WBC: White Blood Count, CRP: C-Reactive Protein, AUC: Area Under Curve, PPV: Positive Predictive Value, NPV: Negative Predictive Value, ROC: Reciever Operating								
Characteristics								



Figure 3. Receiver operating characteristic curves of study parameters to predict acute pancreatitis

DISCUSSION

This study demonstrated that S100A8/A9 and S100A12 levels are increased in AP compared to healthy controls. Moreover, in AP patients after remission was achieved, S100A8/A9 and S100A12 levels were returned to normal values compatible with healthy controls. In addition, circulating S100A8/A9 and S100A12 levels were found to have high specificity, sensitivity, and predictive values in patients with AP suggesting that both of these markers could be regarded as useful serum markers of inflammation in these patient group. Thus, our findings add new and relevant proof to the growing body of evidence on the role of proinflammatory S100 proteins in AP patients with a prospect for potential diagnostic and therapeutic strategies

At present, the severe form of AP is associated with an exceptionally high mortality rate rising to 30% due to rapid inflammatory development and complex pathophysiological conditions during the disease course (12,13). Therefore, there is an urgent and compelling need to determine the inflammatory status in AP patients especially in the very first days of hospital admission (14). In order to accomplish this goal and to determine the existence and the severity of pancreatic inflammation, clinical and biochemical evaluations are generally used in clinical practice (15). Unfortunately, the precise molecular mechanisms underlying pancreatic inflammation and destruction is still challenging (16). In this context, this study for the first time uncovered the potential role of two CBPs, S100A8/A9 and S100A12, in AP patients and investigated their roles in inflammation by analysing their correlation with conventional inflammation markers.

The S100 protein family involves over 20 members which are expressed entirely in vertebrates and exert intra- and extracellular regulatory properties (17). Of the S100 protein family, S100A8, S100A9 and 100A12 are strictly associated with inflammation (17-20). S100A8 and S100A9, both of which are different proteins, constitute the greater part of the calcium-binding capability in phagocytes and arise a heterocomplex to create the structure of calprotectin (21). S100A8/A9 heterocomplex increase the secretion of nuclear factor kappa B and proinflammatory mediators upon Tolllike receptor 4 (TLR4) stimulation. Furthermore, the S100A8/A9 is substantially responsive to oxidative stress and has a key function in the scavenging of the oxidants and the maintenance of tissue components and proteins (17,22) Although, there is no literature data revealing a possible role of S100A8/A9 heterodimer in pancreatitis, a recent paper by Gammal et al. (23) the role of S100A8/ A9 protein in chronic pancreatitis, intraductal papillary mucinous tumour and adenocarcinoma of the pancreas

was investigated. Authors' reported that in all of these three diseases S100A8/A9 serum levels were increased and they suggested that S100A8/A9 heterodimer levels could help to distinguish patients with malignant and/ or inflammatory disease from normal and non-malignant pathological conditions. In this study, we also revealed that S100A8/A9 heterodimer is increased in AP and we think that this finding is important because it provides mechanism that centers S100 protein family in the pathophysiology of AP.

The other calcium binding protein that is investigated in the present study is S100A12 which is a protein that is specifically expressed in granulocytes and early differentiation stages of monocytes (24). S100A12 has been demonstrated to be present on circulating leukocytes and is considered a susceptible marker for the local inflammatory process related to oxidative stress. Similarly to S100A8/A9, S100A12 is considered phagocyte-specific, displays pro-inflammatory activities and has already been related to distinct diseases of inflammatory origin, including inflammatory bowel disease, otitis media, hepatitis B-related acute-on-chronic liver failure and juvenile idiopathic arthritis (4,5,25,26). Even though there is no data in humans on the relation between S100A12 and AP, there is one study in literature exploring a potential effect of S100A12 on severity evaluation and curative effect of severe AP in a mice model of AP (27). This experimental mice model shows huge promise that S100A12 can be used to monitor the development and prognosis of severe AP. Furthermore, the inhibition of S100A12 expression, the excessive activation of neutrophils demonstrated to be controlled, which will weaken the inflammatory reaction of severe AP by reducing the release of inflammatory mediators.

This study has several limitations that need to be addressed. First, we accept that the relatively low number of patients recruited for this study limits us to generalize our findings. Second, although we found that S100A8/ A9 and S100A12 are sensitive markers of inflammation, our study does not clearly address whether these findings are specific for AP. Third, it would be noteworthy of examining the other factors such as oxidative stress marker expression, in order to fully understand the pathophysiological role of S100A protein family in AP associated inflammatory response.

CONCLUSION

It is apparent that the upregulation of S100A8/A9 heterocomplex and S100A12 is not limited to the boundaries of pancreas region, but is also reflected systemically and consequently observed in patient serum. Furthermore elevated levels of S100A8/A9 and s100A12 is related to AP development and significantly correlated with CRP. These findings suggest that S100A8/ A9 heterocomplex and S100A12 in serum might be a potential biomarker of AP with providing significant information regarding ongoing inflammatory status in AP patients.

ETHICAL DECLARATIONS

Ethics Committee Approval: The study was approved by the Çanakkale Onsekiz Mart University Clinical Researches Ethics Committee (Date: 27.11.2019, Decision No: 2019-19).

Informed Consent: Because the study was designed retrospectively, no written informed consent form was obtained from patients.

Referee Evaluation Process: Externally peer reviewed.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The author has no conflicts of interest to declare.

Financial Disclosure: This research is supported by The Scientific Research Projects Coordination Unit of Canakkale Onsekiz Mart University (Project ID: THD-2020-3255).

Author Contributions: All of the authors declare that they have all participated in the design, execution, and analysis of the paper, and that they have approved the final version.

REFERENCES

- 1. Yadav D, Lowenfels AB. The epidemiology of pancreatitis and pancreatic cancer. Gastroenterology 2013; 144: 1252-61.
- 2. Gumaste VV. Diagnostic tests for acute pancreatitis. Gastroenterologist. 1994; 2: 119-30.
- 3. Foell D, Roth J. Proinflammatory S100 proteins in arthritis and autoimmune disease. Arthritis Rheum 2004; 50: 3762-71
- 4. Manolakis AC, Kapsoritakis AN, Georgoulias P, et al. Moderate performance of serum S100A12, in distinguishing inflammatory bowel disease from irritable bowel syndrome. BMC Gastroenterol 2010; 10: 118.
- 5. Liu K, Pichichero ME. Clinical significance of serum S100A12 in acute otitis media in young children. Pediatr Infect Dis J 2012; 3: e56-8.
- 6. Gohar F, Anink J, Moncrieffe H, et al. S100A12 Is Associated with Response to Therapy in Juvenile Idiopathic Arthritis. J Rheumatol 2018; 45: 547-54
- 7. Hinze CH, Foell D, Johnson AL, et al. Serum S100A8/A9 and S100A12 Levels in children with polyarticular forms of juvenile idiopathic arthritis: relationship to maintenance of clinically inactive disease during anti-tumor necrosis factor therapy and occurrence of disease flare after discontinuation of therapy. Arthritis Rheumatol 2019; 71: 451-9.
- Prystupa A, Kiciński P, Luchowska-Kocot D, et al. Analysis of novel serum markers of fibrosis and angiogenesis in patients with alcoholic liver cirrhosis. Ann Agric Environ Med 2020; 27: 568-73.
- 9. Şumnu Ş, Mehtap Ö, Mersin S, et al. Serum calprotectin (S100A8/ A9) levels as a new potential biomarker of treatment response in Hodgkin lymphoma. Int J Lab Hematol 202; 43: 638-44
- 10.Müller I, Vogl T, Kühl U, et al. Serum alarmin S100A8/S100A9 levels and its potential role as biomarker in myocarditis. ESC Heart Fail 2020; 7: 1442-51.

- 11.Banks PA, Bollen TL, Dervenis C, et al. Acute Pancreatitis Classification Working Group. Classification of acute pancreatitis--2012: revision of the Atlanta classification and definitions by international consensus. Gut 2013; 62: 102-11.
- van Dijk SM, Hallensleben NDL, van Santvoort HC, et al. Acute pancreatitis: recent advances through randomised trials. Gut 2017; 66: 2024-32.
- 13. Vatansever S, Doğru R, Pakoz ZB, Genç H, Ünsal B. Evaluation of laboratory findings and mortality in elderly patients with acute biliary pancreatitis. Sisli Etfal Hastan Tip Bul 2018; 52: 274-8.
- 14. Ünal Çetin E, Kamiş F, Çetin AU, Beyazit Y, Kekilli M. Serum chitotriosidase and YKL-40 in acute pancreatitis: Reliability as prognostic marker for disease severity and correlation with inflammatory markers. Turk J Med Sci 2021; 51: 3038-46.
- 15.Gezer NS, Bengi G, Baran A, et al. Comparison of radiological scoring systems, clinical scores, neutrophil-lymphocyte ratio and serum C-reactive protein level for severity and mortality in acute pancreatitis. Rev Assoc Med Bras (1992) 2020; 66: 762-70.
- 16.Rasslan R, Novo FDCF, Bitran A, Utiyama EM, Rasslan S. Management of infected pancreatic necrosis: state of the art. Rev Col Bras Cir 2017; 44: 521-9.
- 17.Korkmaz H, Tabur S, Savaş E, et al. Evaluation of serum S100A8/ S100A9 levels in patients with autoimmune thyroid diseases. Balkan Med J 2016; 33: 547-51.
- 18.van Bon L, Cossu M, Loof A, et al. Proteomic analysis of plasma identifies the Toll-like receptor agonists S100A8/A9 as a novel possible marker for systemic sclerosis phenotype. Ann Rheum Dis 2014 A; 73: 1585-9.
- 19.Kessel C, Lavric M, Weinhage T, et al. Serum biomarkers confirming stable remission in inflammatory bowel disease. Sci Rep 2021; 11: 6690.
- 20. Türkmenoğlu Y, Güney E, Bezen D, İrdem A, Ertürk B, Dursun H. Evaluation of \$100A12 protein levels in children with familial Mediterranean fever. Turk J Med Sci 2021; 51: 1396-1405.
- 21.van den Bos C, Roth J, Koch HG, Hartmann M, Sorg C. Phosphorylation of MRP14, an S100 protein expressed during monocytic differentiation, modulates Ca(2+)-dependent translocation from cytoplasm to membranes and cytoskeleton. J Immunol. 1996; 156: 1247-54
- 22.Hu W, Lin C. S100a8 silencing attenuates inflammation, oxidative stress and apoptosis in BV2 cells induced by oxygen glucose deprivation and reoxygenation by upregulating GAB1 expression. Mol Med Rep 2021; 23: 64.
- 23. El Gammal AT, Sturm JH, Pinnschmidt HO, et al. Protein S100A8/ A9: A potential new biomarker for pancreatic diseases. Int J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2017;3: 23-8.
- 24.Foell D, Roth J. Proinflammatory S100 proteins in arthritis and autoimmune disease. Arthritis Rheum 2004; 50:3762-71.
- 25.Cai J, Han T, Nie C, et al. Biomarkers of oxidation stress, inflammation, necrosis and apoptosis are associated with hepatitis B-related acute-on-chronic liver failure. Clin Res Hepatol Gastroenterol 2016; 40: 41-50.
- 26. Aljaberi N, Tronconi E, Schulert G, et al. The use of S100 proteins testing in juvenile idiopathic arthritis and autoinflammatory diseases in a pediatric clinical setting: a retrospective analysis. Pediatr Rheumatol Online J 2020; 18: 7
- 27.Feng Z, Yinchu Z, Yinsheng S, et al. Potential effects of calcium binding protein S100A12 on severity evaluation and curative effect of severe acute pancreatitis. Inflammation 2015; 38: 290-7.

Evaluation of obstetric and neonatal outcomes and cesarean section rates of Syrian and Turkish adolescent pregnant women according to the Robson ten group classification system

[™]Sadık Kükrer¹, [™]Ayfer Pepekal Kükrer², [™]Sefa Arlıer³, [™]Simten Genç⁴, [™]Şebnem Karagün⁵

¹University of Health Sciences Adana City Training and Research Hospital, Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Adana, Turkey ²Adana Acıbadem Hospital, Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Adana, Turkey

³University of Health Sciences Adana City Training and Research Hospital, Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Adana, Turkey ⁴Prof. Dr. Cemil Taşçıoğlu City Hospital, Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Istanbul, Turkey ⁵Mersin University, Faculty of Medicine Hospital, Department of Perinatology, Mersin, Turkey

Cite this article as: Kükrer S, Kükrer Pepekal A, Arlier S, Genç S, Karagün Ş. Evaluation of obstetric and neonatal outcomes and cesarean section rates of Syrian and Turkish adolescent pregnant women according to the Robson ten group classification system. J Health Sci Med 2022; 5(3): 850-860.

ABSTRACT

Aim: Our research has two purposes. To begin with, we sought to determine whether there were any differences in maternal and newborn outcomes between Syrian adolescent and adult pregnant women living in Turkey after the Syrian civil war and Turkish adolescent and adult pregnant women. Second, we wanted to examine and compare the rates of cesarean section (CS) and spontaneous vaginal delivery (SVD) in adolescent and adult pregnant women using the Robson ten group classification system (RTGCS).

Material and Method: Our study investigated data from a retrospective cross-sectional study of 1823 Turkish and Syrian pregnant women who gave birth between September 2020 and August 2021 in a tertiary reference hospital in Turkey's Mediterranean area. Our study enrolled 838 pregnant adolescent girls between the ages of 13 and 19 and 985 pregnant adult women between the ages of 20 and 47.

Results: The probability of adolescent pregnancy is 3.081 times greater among Syrian refugees than among Turkish natives (p<0.001, OR: 3.081, 95% CI: 2.544–3.731). Primary school graduates face a 2.757-fold greater risk of adolescent pregnancy than secondary school graduates (p<0.001, OR: 2.757, 95% CI: 2.15–3.536). Syrian nationality is 1.51 times more likely to be associated with late preterm birth in adolescent pregnancies than throughout the term gestational week (p=0.033, OR: 1.51 95% CI: 1.035–2.203). The probability of Syrian nationality in late preterm pregnancies is 1.51 times higher in adolescent women compared to term pregnancies. Ethnicity does not significantly affect the delivery week in adult pregnant women or the total (p>0.050). Among pregnant adolescents, newborns with a low birth weight (LBW) are 2.041 times more likely to be Syrian nationals than infants with \ge 2500 g. Regardless of the gestational week, infants with LBW are 2.33 times more likely to be Syrian nationals than infants \ge 2500 g.

Conclusion: Adolescent pregnancy is particularly prevalent among young females with poor levels of education and Syrian adolescent girls. Pregnant adolescent women face a greater risk of obstetric and neonatal problems than pregnant adult women of reproductive age. A country-based assessment of the RTGCS will aid in the development of effective strategies for achieving The World Health Organization (WHO)-recommended CS rates by identifying the factors that contribute to the rise in CS rates.

Keywords: Adolescent pregnancy, pregnancy outcomes, refugees, cesarean section, Robson classification

INTRODUCTION

Twenty-one million girls become pregnant in developing countries each year (1). Twelve million of these pregnancies between the ages of 15 and 19 result in birth (1). Around 17 thousand of these pregnant girls are expected to die because of complications associated with parturiency or childbirth problems (2). Pregnancies in adolescents can result in cephalopelvic disproportion (CPD), low birth weight, maternal anemia, preterm birth, acute fetal distress (AFD), perinatal fetal loss, pregnancyinduced hypertension (PIH), eclampsia, postpartum hemorrhage, and emergency cesarean delivery among other complications (3).

Robson's classification (4). RTGCS is a well-known and reliable method for determining CS rates (4). This classification system is supported by the WHO as a global standard for monitoring, assessing, and comparing CS

Corresponding Author: Sadık Kükrer, sadikkukrer@hotmail.com



rates at all levels (5). CS rates are an essential indicator of a country's access to and quality of maternal health services (5). According to a 1985 WHO report, mother and infant fatalities fell in a country with a CS incidence of 10-15% (6). In Turkey, CS rates included 45% to 53% of all live births (7). The reason for this difference in CS rates depends on several factors. Some of these include financial incentives, high compensation that midwives and physicians must pay due to malpractice law, and differences in professional training (7). The WHO advises using the RTGCS as the worldwide standard for comparing and evaluating CS rates in hospital settings (8). The RTGCS allows for a more reliable comparison and analysis of CS rates across hospitals, cities, regions, and countries (9) (**Table 1**).

Table 1.	Robson ten group delivery classification system (RTGCS) (5)
	Robson classification groups description
Group 1	Nulliparous, singleton pregnancy, cephalic presentation, gestation period of \geq 37 weeks (spontaneous labor).
Group 2	Nulliparous, singleton pregnancy, cephalic presentation, gestation period of \geq 37 weeks (induced or CS before labor).
Group 3	Multiparous (without a preexisting uterine wound), singleton pregnancy, cephalic presentation, and gestation of \geq 37 weeks (spontaneous labor).
Group 4	Multiparous (without a preexisting uterine wound), singleton pregnancy, cephalic presentation, and gestation of \geq 37 weeks (induced or CS before labor).
Group 5	Multiparous, singleton pregnancy, prior CS, cephalic presentation, gestation of \geq 37 weeks.
Group 6	Consists of nulliparous women with a single breech presentation.
Group 7	Consists of multiparous women with a single breech presentation (including women with previous CS).
Group 8	All pregnant women, including those who have had several pregnancies (including women with previous CS).
Group 9	All pregnant women with a singleton, transverse, or oblique lying (including women with previous CS).
Group 10	Includes all pregnant women with a singleton pregnancy, cephalic presentation, and a gestational age of <37 weeks (including women with previous CS).

We aim to examine the obstetric and neonatal outcomes of pregnant adult Turkish and Syrian refugee women and Turkish and Syrian adolescents. The results for which we sought answers in our study are 1) What are the differences between obstetric and neonatal outcomes among pregnant adolescents in Turkey and Syrian refugee adolescent pregnant women? 2) What distinctions exist between adolescent and adult pregnant women regarding obstetric and neonatal outcomes? 3) Are there differences in obstetric and neonatal outcomes between Syrian refugee pregnant women and Turkish-citizen pregnant women? In line with the results of our research, we will interpret the solutions considering the literature. In this way, our research aims to help policymakers, ministries, and non-governmental groups decide how to avoid obstetric and neonatal complications for pregnant adolescents and foreign nationals.

MATERIAL AND METHOD

The study was approved by the Health Sciences University Adana City Training and Research Hospital Clinical Researches Ethics Committee (Dated: 26.08.2020, Decision No: 1046). All procedures were carried out in accordance with the ethical rules and the principles of the Declaration of Helsinki which is one of the largest regional hospitals in Turkey's southern region. Additionally, this study was approved by the Scientific Research Platform of the Turkish Ministry of Health, General Directorate of Health Services (2021-07-08T21_48_13). All patients hospitalized in our clinic consent to the use of patient data, procedures to be performed, and complications that may occur during hospitalization, provided that their data remains confidential. All medical documents of our patients can be retrieved from the central electronic data processing system archives with a unique login password defined for each doctor.

As shown in **Figure 1**, we identified 1923 patients as potentially eligible for the study.



Figure 1. Flow diagram of participants

Pregnancies less than 24 weeks, pregnant women with known chronic systemic diseases (oncologic, cardiovascular, autoimmune, endocrinologic), and patients with missing laboratory and clinical information on the epicrisis form were excluded from the study. The gestational weeks of the pregnant women who took part in the study were based on their last menstrual dates and the crown-rump length values measured during the first trimester ultrasounds (10). Our study looked at the APGAR score in the 5th minute because the APGAR score in the 1st minute could not accurately predict the newborn's prognosis. Numerous studies have connected a low APGAR score at the fifth minute to an increased risk of neonatal mortality and a broad spectrum of mental disorders (11, 12). When we looked at CS rates, group size, and contribution to CS in RTGCS (4), we tried to figure out the rise in CS rates among Syrian refugees and Turkish citizens.

Statistical Method

The data were analyzed using IBM SPSS V23. For this purpose, Pearson chi-square and Yates' correction for continuity tests were used to analyzing categorical data by nationality in adolescent and adult pregnancies. The Kolmogorov-Smirnov test was used to determine the normal distribution of quantitative data, and the Mann-Whitney U test was used to assess group comparisons. The risk variables for adolescent pregnancy were identified using logistic regression analysis. For quantitative data, the mean±standard deviation and median (minimummaximum) were used, whereas the frequency (percent) was used for categorical data. The level of significance was set at p<0.05.

Power analysis: A minimum sample size of 300 in each group is necessary to detect a significant difference using this test (600 in total), considering type 1 error (alfa) of 0.05, power (1-beta) of 0.95, the effect size of 0.295, and two-sided alternative hypothesis (H1) (3). The study was completed on 838 individuals (distribution by nationality in adolescent pregnancies), and the power of the test was obtained at 98.4%.

RESULTS

The age distribution of mothers differs according to nationality in both adolescent and adult pregnant women (p>0.05). When analyzed according to education level, the rate of Syrian pregnant women with primary and secondary education is lower than Turkish pregnant women (p<0.001). Pregnancy rates in adolescent pregnant women differ according to nationality (p<0.001). The single pregnancy rate is higher among Turkish citizens. For Syrians, 2nd, 3rd, fourth, and eighth pregnancy rates are high. The number of pregnancies in the adult pregnant group is also related to nationality (p<0.001). While the first and second pregnancy rates are high, the third and fourth to eighth pregnancy rates are lower (**Table 2**)

RTGCS varies significantly between nationalities of pregnant adolescents (p<0.001). Syrian adolescents in Robson groups 2, 5, and 6 have a lower prevalence among Syrian adolescents, whereas Robson groups 3 and 10 have a higher prevalence. In the adult group of pregnant women, there was also a significant relationship between RTGCS and nationality (p<0.001). Robson's first and second groups were lower in Syrian adult pregnant women, while the third and fourth groups were higher (**Table 3**).

Birth types differ according to the adolescent pregnant group (p<0.001). While SVD was higher in Syrians, cesarean section rates were higher in Turks. There is no difference between the initial SVD rates. Similarly, birth types differ according to the adult pregnant group (p<0.001). While the rate of vaginal delivery is higher in Syrians, the cesarean section rate is higher in Turks. There

Table 2. Comparison of the number of pregnancies by nationality and educational level among adolescent and adult pregnant women								
	Adolescent Pregnanci	ies (13–19 years) (n, %)		Adult Pregnancies (20-47 years) (n, %)				
	Turkish citizen	Syrian refugee	р	Turkish citizen	Syrian refugee	р		
Maternal age								
≤15	3 (1)	14 (2.6)				0.842 ^a		
16–19	305 (99)	516 (97.4)	0.162h					
20-34			0.163	533 (84.3)	296 (83.9)			
≥35				99 (15.7)	57 (16.1)			
Level of education						$< 0.001^{a}$		
Illiterate	12 (3.9) ^a	104 (19.6) ^b		9 (1.4) ^a	85 (24.1) ^b			
Primary education	244 (79.2) ^a	368 (69.4) ^b	-0.0013	320 (50.6) ^a	241 (68.3) ^b			
Secondary education	52 (16.9) ^a	58 (10.9) ^b	<0.001"	251 (39.7) ^a	27 (7.6) ^b			
High education				52 (8.2) ^a	0 (0) ^b			
Number of pregnancie	s							
1	250 (81.2) ^a	370 (69.8) ^b		157 (24.8) ^a	51 (14.4) ^b	$< 0.001^{a}$		
2	56 (18.2) ^a	131 (24.7) ^b	<0.001a	225 (35.6) ^a	113 (32) ^a			
3	$2 (0.6)^{a}$	27 (5.1) ^b	<0.001*	107 (16.9) ^a	72 (20.4) ^a			
4-8	0 (0) ^a	2 (0.4) ^a		143 (22.6) ^a	117 (33.1) ^b			
^a Pearson Chi-square test; bYa	tes correction, cMann-Whitney	U test; dIndependent-Samples	T test; F: Fisher'	s Exact test; a-b: There is no d	lifference between the ratios	of columns		

^aPearson Chi-square test; bYates correction, cMann-Whitney U test; dIndependent-Samples T test; F: Fisher's Exact test; a-b: There is no difference between the ratios of columns with the same letter in each row; notation: mean±standard deviation, median (minimum—maximum) frequency (percent).

is no difference between the initial SVD rates. We found a statistically significant difference between the distribution of cesarean section indications according to nationality within the adult group (p=0.027). The abnormal fetal lie and presentation indication rate were higher in Syrian adult pregnant women. The median values of maternal hemoglobin and hematocrit differ according to nationality (p<0.001). In adolescent pregnancy, the median for Turks was higher than the median for Syrians. Likewise, among pregnant women, the median

of Turkish women was higher than that of Syrians. The length of hospital stays for adolescent pregnancies varies according to nationality (p=0.009). The average length of hospital stays is higher in Turks. There is a difference in hospitalization durations according to nationality in pregnant adult women (p=0.001). Two days is the average hospital stay for pregnant women in two nationalities. However, the difference is due to the rank average. While the average rank for Turks is 513.28, the average rank for Syrians is 456.70 (**Table 4**).

Table 3. Comparison of RTGCS by nationality between adolescent and adult pregnant women							
_	Adolescent Pre	gnancies (13–19 year	s) (n, %)	Adult Pregna	Adult Pregnancies (20–47 years) (n		
	Turkish citizen	Syrian refugee	р	Turkish citizen	Syrian refugee	р	
Robson classification							
Group 1	111 (36) ^a	174 (32.8) ^a		67 (10.6) ^a	23 (6.5) ^b		
Group 2	79 (25.6) ^a	54 (10.2) ^b		55 (8.7) ^a	14 (4) ^b		
Group 3	21 (6.8) ^a	65 (12.3) ^b		135 (21.4) ^a	124 (35.1) ^b		
Group 4	$10 (3.2)^{a}$	31 (5.8) ^a		36 (5.7)ª	48 (13.6) ^b		
Group 5	11 (3.6) ^a	6 (1.1) ^b	0.001	190 (30.1) ^a	59 (16.7) ^b		
Group 6	$4(1.3)^{a}$	1 (0.2) ^b	<0.001ª	6 (0.9)ª	$2 (0.6)^{a}$	<0.001ª	
Group 7	$0 (0)^{a}$	5 (0.9) ^a		14 (2.2) ^a	$14 (4)^{a}$		
Group 8	$2 (0.6)^{a}$	9 (1.7) ^a		$7 (1.1)^{a}$	$2 (0.6)^{a}$		
Group 9				0 (0) ^a	2 (0.6) ^a		
Group 10	70 (22.7) ^a	185 (34.9) ^b		122 (19.3) ^a	65 (18.4) ^a		

"rearson Chi-square test; bitates correction, cMann-whitney U test; dindependent-samples 1 test; r: Fisher's Exact test; a-b: inere is no difference betwee with the same letter in each row; notation: mean±standard deviation, median (minimum – maximum) frequency (percent)

Table 4. Comparison of birth types, cesarean section indications, maternal anemia, and length of stays in hospital by nationality between adolescent and adult pregnant women									
	Adolescent Preg	nancies (13–19 yea	rs) (n, %)	Adult Pregnancies (20-47 years) (n, %)					
	Turkish citizen	Syrian refugee	р	Turkish citizen	Syrian refugee	р			
Type of Delivery									
Cesarean Delivery	107 (34.7) ^a	115 (21.7) ^b	$< 0.001^{a}$	368 (58.2) ^a	138 (39.1) ^b	$< 0.001^{a}$			
First vaginal birth	171 (55.5) ^a	300 (56.6) ^a		88 (13.9) ^a	36 (10.2) ^a				
Vaginal Birth	30 (9.7) ^a	115 (21.7) ^b		176 (27.8) ^a	179 (50.7) ^b				
Caesarean section indications									
Abnormal Fetal Lie and Presentation	12 (11.2)	3 (2.6)	0.170^{a}	15 (4.1) ^a	17 (12.3) ^b	0.027 ^a			
Acute Fetal Distress (AFD)	35 (32.7)	40 (34.8)		47 (12.8) ^a	13 (9.4) ^a				
Cephalopelvic disproportion (CPD)	17 (15.9)	24 (20.9)		30 (8.2) ^a	7 (5.1) ^a				
Fetal Macrosomia	8 (7.5)	7 (6.1)		12 (3.3) ^a	$4 (2.9)^{a}$				
Intrauterine Growth Restriction	2 (1.9)	2 (1.7)		5 (1.4) ^a	$0 (0)^{a}$				
Multiple pregnancies (twin pregnancy)	2 (1.9)	9 (7.8)		6 (1.6) ^a	$2(1.4)^{a}$				
Placenta previa				8 (2.2)ª	0 (0) ^a				
Placental Abruption	3 (2.8)	4 (3.5)		$2 (0.5)^{a}$	$1 (0.7)^{a}$				
Preeclampsia	8 (7.5)	6 (5.2)		16 (4.3) ^a	$4 (2.9)^{a}$				
Previous Caesarean Section	20 (18.7)	20 (17.4)		227 (61.7) ^a	90 (65.2) ^a				
I an athen fortune in the arritual (down	1.7±0.8	1.6 ± 0.8	0.009 ^a	$1.9{\pm}0.7$	$1.8 {\pm} 0.8$	0.001ª			
Length of stay in hospital / day	2.0 (1.0-5.0)	1.0 (1.0-5.0)		2.0 (1.0-6.0)	2.0 (1.0-6.0)				
Matamal homoglobin (g/dI)	11.2±1.2	$10.4{\pm}1.0$	< 0.001°	11.7±1.3	10.9 ± 1.1	< 0.001°			
Maternal hemoglobin (g/dL)	11.4 (6.8-13.3)	10.3 (6.5-12.8)		11.7 (6.6-15.5)	10.9 (6.8-14.1)				
	33.1±3.1	31.1±2.6	< 0.001°	34.1±3.4	32.5±2.9	$< 0.001^{d}$			
Maternal hematocrit (%)	33.6 (22.1-39.8)	31.1 (20.4-40.2)		34.2 (20.6-42.9)	32.9 (22.4-40.1)				

^aPearson Chi-square test; bYates correction, cMann-Whitney U test; dIndependent-Samples T test; F: Fisher's Exact test; a-b: There is no difference between the ratios of columns with the same letter in each row; notation: mean±standard deviation, median (minimum – maximum) frequency (percent) In addition, there is a significant difference in newborn weight distribution according to nationality in adolescent pregnancies (p=0.001). Similarly, there is a significant difference between the median newborn heights of pregnant adolescents according to nationalities (p<0.001) (**Table 5**).

Nationality influences adolescent pregnancies (p<0.001). The probability of adolescent pregnancy is 3.081 times greater among Syrian refugees than among Turkish natives. When educational attainment is considered, the risk of adolescent pregnancy is 2.757 times greater among primary school graduates than among secondary school graduates (p<0.001). The incidence of adolescent pregnancy is 3.119 times greater

among illiterate students than among secondary school graduates (p<0.001) (**Table 6**).

The probability of Syrian nationality in late preterm pregnancies is 1.51 times higher in adolescent women compared to term pregnancies. There is no statistically significant effect of the week of delivery in adult pregnancies or total (p>0.050) (**Table 7**).

Among pregnant adolescents, those with LBW are 2,041 times more likely to be of Syrian nationality than normal ones. There was no significant effect on newborn birth weight in pregnant adult women (p>0.050). Regardless of age group, LBW people are 2.33 times more likely to be Syrian citizens than normal ones (**Table 8**).

Table 5. Comparison of neonatal outcomes by nationality between adolescent and adult pregnant women									
	Adolescent Preg	nancies (13–19 year	s) (n, %)	Adult Pregnancies (20-47 years) (n, %)					
	Turkish citizen	Syrian refugee	р	Turkish citizen	Syrian refugee	р			
Gestational week									
>41 weeks	2 (0.6)	2 (0.4)		3 (0.5)	0 (0)				
37-41 weeks	252 (81.8) 404 (76.2)			523 (82.8)	300 (85)				
32-36 weeks	46 (14.9)	111 (20.9)	0.217.	94 (14.9)	46 (13)	0.177a			
28-31 weeks	7 (2.3)	9 (1.7)	0.217a	9 (1.4)	2 (0.6)				
<28 weeks	1 (0.3)	4 (0.8)		3 (0.5)	5 (1.4)				
APGAR Score (5. minute)									
4-6	43 (14)	83 (15.7)		25 (4)	15 (4.2)	0.05 <i>6</i> h			
≥7	265 (86)	447 (84.3)	0.507a	607 (96)	338 (95.8)	0.9560			
Newborn weight (gram)									
≥2500 (g)	246 (79.9)a	355 (67)b		588 (93)	330 (93.5)				
LBW 1500 – 2499 (g)	55 (17.9)a	162 (30.6)b	0.001	38 (6)	16 (4.5)	0.001			
VLBW 1000 – 1499 (g)	V 1000 – 1499 (g) 6 (1.9)a 9 (1.7)a		0.001a	3 (0.5)	2 (0.6)	0.331a			
ELBW <1000 (g)	1 (0.3)a	4 (0.8)a		3 (0.5)	5 (1.4)				
Nowhown height (and)	49.0±3.0	47.9±3.0	<0.001 a	50.0±2.2	50.0±2.6	0.667c			
Newborn neight (cm)	50.0 (36.0 - 54.0)	48.0 (33.0 - 54.0)	<0.0010	50.0 (35.0 - 53.0)	50.0 (34.0 - 55.0)				

^aPearson Chi-square test; bYates correction, cMann-Whitney U test; dIndependent-Samples T test; F: Fisher's Exact test; a-b: There is no difference between the ratios of columns with the same letter in each row; notation: mean±standard deviation, median (minimum – maximum) frequency (percent)

Table 6. Examination of risk factors influencing pregnancy in adolescents									
	Adolescent Pregnancies (13-19 years) (n, %)	Adult Pregnancies (20-47 years) (n, %)	Total	OR (%95 CI)	р				
Nationality									
Turkish citizen	308 (36.8)	632 (64.2)	940 (51.6)	Reference					
Syrian refugee	530 (63.2)	353 (35.8)	883 (48.4)	3.081 (2.544 - 3.731)	< 0.001				
Level of education									
Illiterate	116 (13.8)	94 (9.5)	210 (11.5)	3.119 (2.197 – 4.427)	< 0.001				
Primary education	612 (73)	561 (57)	1173 (64.3)	2.757 (2.15 – 3.536)	< 0.001				
Secondary education	110 (13.1)	278 (28.2)	388 (21.3)	Reference					
High education	0 (0)	52 (5.3)	52 (2.9)						
*Adolescent pregnancies are not included in the analysis because they are not graduates of higher education. OR (95%CI): Odds Ratio (95% Confidence Interval)									

Table 7. The impact of gestational week on nationality									
Ducanon si co	Direth (rue alra)	Natio	nality	Tatal	OP(0/07CI)				
Pregnancies	birtii (weeks)	Syrian refugee	Syrian refugee Turkish citizen		OK (%95 CI)	р			
	Term	406 (76.6)	254 (82.5)	660 (78.8)	Reference				
A J - 1	Late preterm	111 (20.9)	46 (14.9)	157 (18.7)	1.51 (1.035 – 2.203)	0.033			
Adolescent	Very Preterm	9 (1.7)	7 (2.3)	16 (1.9)	0.804 (0.296 – 2.187)	0.67			
	Extremely Preterm	4 (0.8)	1 (0.3)	5 (0.6)	2.502 (0.278 - 22.515)	0.413			
	Term	300 (85)	526 (83.2)	826 (83.9)	Reference				
A dult	Late preterm	46 (13)	94 (14.9)	140 (14.2)	0.858 (0.587 – 1.255)	0.43			
Adult	Very Preterm	2 (0.6)	9 (1.4)	11 (1.1)	0.39 (0.084 - 1.815)	0.23			
	Extremely Preterm	5 (1.4)	3 (0.5)	8 (0.8)	2.922 (0.693 - 12.314)	0.144			
	Term	706 (80)	780 (83)	1486 (81.5)	Reference				
Tatal	Late preterm	157 (17.8)	140 (14.9)	297 (16.3)	1.239 (0.965 – 1.59)	0.092			
Total	Very Preterm	11 (1.2)	16 (1.7)	27 (1.5)	0.76 (0.35 – 1.648)	0.486			
	Extremely Preterm	9 (1)	4 (0.4)	13 (0.7)	2.486 (0.762 - 8.108)	0.131			
*Adolescent pregnancies are not included in the analysis because they are not graduates of higher education. OR (95%CI): Odds Ratio (95% Confidence Interval)									

Table 8. The impact of newborn weight on nationality.									
Ducanoncios	Nowhow woight (guam)	Natio	onality	Total					
Pregnancies	Newborn weight (gram)	Syrian refugee Turkish citizen		Iotal	OR (%95 CI)	Р			
	≥2500 (g)	355 (67)	246 (79.9)	601 (71.7)	Reference				
A d-1	LBW 1500 – 2499 (g)	162 (30.6)	55 (17.9)	217 (25.9)	2.041 (1.444 - 2.886)	< 0.001			
Adolescent	VLBW 1000 – 1499 (g)	9 (1.7)	6 (1.9)	15 (1.8)	1.039 (0.365 – 2.958)	0.942			
	ELBW <1000 (g)	4 (0.8)	1 (0.3)	5 (0.6)	2.772 (0.308 - 24.949)	0.363			
	≥2500 (g)	330 (93.5)	588 (93)	918 (93.2)	Reference				
A	LBW 1500 – 2499 (g)	16 (4.5)	38 (6)	54 (5.5)	0.75 (0.412 - 1.366)	0.347			
Adult	VLBW 1000 – 1499 (g)	2 (0.6)	3 (0.5)	5 (0.5)	1.188 (0.197 – 7.145)	0.851			
	ELBW <1000 (g)	5 (1.4)	3 (0.5)	8 (0.8)	2.97 (0.705 - 12.505)	0.138			
	≥2500 (g)	685 (77.6)	834 (88.7)	1519 (83.3)	Reference				
Total	LBW 1500 – 2499 (g)	178 (20.2)	93 (9.9)	271 (14.9)	2.33 (1.778 - 3.054)	< 0.001			
lotal	VLBW 1000 – 1499 (g)	11 (1.2)	9 (1)	20 (1.1)	1.488 (0.613 - 3.612)	0.38			
	ELBW <1000 (g)	9 (1)	4 (0.4)	13 (0.7)	2.739 (0.84 - 8.934)	0.095			
*Adolescent pregnancies	s are not included in the analysis becau	ise they are not graduates	of higher education OR (95%CI): Odds Ratio	(95% Confidence Interval)				





Figure 2. Percentage distribution of nationalities.

Figure 3. Percentage distribution of education level.



Figure 4. Percentage distribution of birth weight by nationality.

DISCUSSION

This study aimed to compare the clinical features and obstetric and neonatal outcomes of Turkish and Syrian adult and adolescent pregnant women. Also, we used the RTGCS to compare and analyze the birth characteristics of Turkish and Syrian pregnant adolescents and adults. According to the results of our study, adolescent pregnancy is exceptionally high among low-education young females and Syrian adolescent girls. Pregnant adolescent women are more likely than pregnant adult women of reproductive age to experience obstetric and neonatal complications. Robson Group 10 is more common in Syrian adolescent pregnant women than in Turkish pregnant women. This means that Syrian adolescent pregnant women have a higher rate of preterm births than Turkish adolescent pregnant women.

Our study shows that the risk of adolescent pregnancy is three times higher in Syrian refugees than in Turkish citizens (p<0.001). While the average fertility rate is 2.3 in Turkey, the regional fertility rate reaches the highest value at 3.2 in Eastern Anatolia. The total fertility rate among Syrian refugees has been 5.3, and 93% of births occur in health facilities (13). This shows that countries hosting numerous Syrian refugees, especially Turkey, need to make severe social, economic, political, and security plans and take comprehensive measures (13). Vural et al. (14) showed in their study that pregnant Syrian refugee women are younger and have a shorter gestation period. They also underlined those Syrian refugees have a higher risk of adolescent pregnancy. Similar studies in the literature support our findings (15,16). According to Turkay et al. (3), the pregnancy rate among young Syrian refugees was 10.8%, and the pregnancy rate of the Turkish adolescent population was 2.4%. In our study, while this rate is 63.2% for Syrians, it is 36.8% for Turks. This difference is due to the different regional distribution of Syrian refugees.

When our study is analyzed by education level, primary school graduates have a 2.7 times higher risk of adolescent pregnancy than secondary school graduates (p<0.001). Fertility increases as the education level falls, and illiterate women have two more children than women who have achieved a high school diploma or above (17). According to certain studies, education level may even affect preterm birth rates (18,19). It is even stated that the high CS rates in Turkey may be affected by education and literacy levels (20).

When we compared teenage and adult pregnancies by nationality in our study, we determined Syrian refugees had a greater rate of pregnancies and thus a higher rate of live births than Turkish residents. While the single pregnancy rate in the adolescent pregnant group is high in Turks, the rate of two or more pregnancies is higher in Syrians. In the adult population, Turkish women have a greater rate of first and second pregnancies, while Syrian women have a higher rate of three or more pregnancies. While we found no difference between the number of pregnancies among Syrian adolescents and Turkish adolescent pregnancies in Turkay et al. (3), we found a significant difference between the 1st, second, and third pregnancies. This difference is due to the different regional distribution and socio-cultural levels of Syrian refugees. In a similar study, Sayili et al. (21) found that Syrian refugees had a considerably greater parity than Turkish citizens (p=0.010) and a significantly shorter first gestational age (p=0.034).

In our present study, according to RTGCS (5), the high rate of Robson Group 10 among Syrian adolescent pregnant women shows that Syrian adolescent pregnant women give birth more prematurely than Turkish adolescent pregnant women. In the study by Vural et al. (14), the causes of premature births, which are more common in Syrian pregnant women, were associated with inadequate antenatal care, unemployment, malnutrition, inadequate iron supplementation, and low socioeconomic and cultural levels. In Robson Group 1, the proportion of Turkish adult pregnant women is higher than that of Syrian adult pregnant women. This could be because Turkish pregnant women become pregnant at a older age (15,16). This is probably the fear of childbirth, low sociocultural level, the pressure of malpractice laws on physicians, and especially Turkish women's negative expectations about SVD (22).

In our study, when we compared adolescent and adult pregnant women according to their nationalities, Robson Group 5 rates in RTGCS were higher in favor of Turkish pregnant women. Due to the increasing contribution of Robson Group 5 to overall cesarean rates, more women will need to have repeat cesarean sections in the future (23). Tontus et al. (24) observed that each CS delivery in Robson groups 1-4 results in the addition of new cesarean candidates to Robson group 5, which already has the highest cesarean rate in subsequent pregnancies. As a result of Group 5's increased contribution to overall CS rates (23), more women will require a repeat CS as CS rates rise. Lefevre (25) asserts that various factors influence an obstetrician's attitude toward cesarean delivery. These factors include CSs being more profitable than SVDs due to financial incentives, the fear of malpractice, and physicians' desire to spend more time socializing.

When teenage and adult pregnancies were compared according to their national origins, we determined that Syrian pregnant women had a greater rate of SVD. According to Birge et al. (26), the rate of CS in adolescent pregnancies in Turkey is 36.7 percent, and 20.1 percent in Syrian adolescent pregnancies. In their study (26), they reported that CS rates were considerably higher (p<0.001) in Turkish adolescent pregnancies. In their study, Karacam et al. (27) discussed the rise in CS rates in Turks. More women are having CS surgery, an increase in CS surgeries, fear of vaginal birth by expectant mothers, IVF pregnancies, and more pregnant women over the age of 35. Turkay et al. (3), reported no difference in cesarean delivery rates between Syrian adolescent pregnant women and Turkish adolescent pregnant women. On the contrary, our study found a substantial difference in the proportion of CS of teenage Syrian refugees (21.7%) compared to Turkish adolescents (34.7%). Another result of our study is that while there is no difference between the first SVD rates of Syrian and Turkish adolescent pregnant women, subsequent vaginal delivery rates are higher than Syrian adolescent women (21.7% vs. 9.7%). It is seen that adolescent women are adversely affected not only by their first pregnancy and first birth but also by subsequent pregnancies and births. Therefore, adolescent pregnancies are also a risk factor for subsequent pregnancies and births of young mothers (28).

In this current study, we saw that the indications for cesarean section among adolescent pregnant women are not different between Turks and Syrians. When the adult pregnancy group was examined, we found that only the abnormal fetal lie and presentation rates were higher in favor of Syrian pregnant women.

According to our study, pregnant adults had a greater rate of previous CS than adolescent pregnant women, regardless of their nationality. Consistent with the literature, although there is no statistically significant difference between Turkish and Syrian pregnant women, the most common reason for CS indications is previous CS (14,29). Considering this data, if we want to decrease the CS rates in line with the WHO recommendations (9), we must first decrease the primary CS rates. In our study, when adolescent and adult pregnancies were analyzed by nationality, the length of hospital stays was remarkably higher in favor of Turkish pregnant women in both groups. Vural et al.'s (14) study showed that Turkish pregnant women have a more extended hospitalization period than Syrian pregnant women. In our country, by WHO standards (30), we require women and newborns to stay in the hospital for at least 24 hours following SVD and at least 48 hours following cesarean delivery in the absence of postpartum problems. Because of the high rate of CS among pregnant Turkish women, we believe that this difference is reflected in the length of hospital stays.

Anemia adjusted for altitude and smoking was defined by the WHO (31) as values less than 11 mg/dL in pregnant women. In our study, when adolescent and adult pregnancies were compared according to their nationalities, the hemoglobin ratios of Syrian refugee pregnant women were lower. In their meta-analysis study, Karacam et al. (27) reported lower hemoglobin values in adolescent pregnancies (p<0.001). Contrary to our study, in Genc et al. (32), Hb and Htc values in adolescent pregnant women and adult pregnant women were within the WHO-recommended ranges, and they observed no significant difference. We can attribute the high rate of anemia in adolescent pregnancies to their low education level and low socioeconomic status. Adolescent pregnant women may not be aware of the necessity of regular prenatal follow-ups, oral iron supplementation, and laboratory tests to prevent anemia (14).

In our study, we found a proportionate difference in gestational weeks between teenage and adult pregnant women regardless of their nationality. While the delivery of adult pregnancies ended at the 37th and 41st gestational weeks, the delivery of adolescent pregnancies took place at the 32nd and 36th gestational weeks. We found that the probability of Syrian nationality in late preterm delivery in adolescent pregnancies is 1.51 times higher than at the term gestational week. In the study by Genc et al. In the study by Genc et al. (32), pregnant women aged 16 years and younger had a shorter gestational week. They noted in the same study that the pervasiveness of premature delivery was substantially higher in teenage pregnant women than in adult pregnant women (p=0.0001). In the study of Vural et al. (14), the prevalence of preterm birth was higher among Syrian refugee women, and they associated it with low sociocultural level, inadequate prepregnancy care, malnutrition, and post-traumatic stress disorder. In the study by Turkay et al. (3), as with our study, no difference in preterm birth rates was observed between Syrian and Turkish teenagers. In Karacam et al.'s meta-analysis study (27), they stated that preterm birth rates are 2.12 times more common in adolescent

pregnancies, and gestational weeks are shorter than adult pregnancies (p<0.001). According to Korencan et al. (33), preterm birth rates are higher in adolescent pregnant women than in adult pregnant women. The possible cause of premature birth in adolescent pregnant women is related to increased prostaglandin secretion due to insufficient uterine cervical blood flow. Other factors influencing the frequency of preterm birth in adolescent pregnancies include a small uterine volume and a short uterine cervical length of less than 25 mm (33).

When we compared the 5th minute APGAR scores of newborns born to teenage and adult pregnant women based on their nationality, we discovered that Turkish newborns had APGAR scores of 7 and above. We determined that neonates of pregnant adults, regardless of their nationality, had higher 5th minute APGAR ratings than newborns of teenage pregnant women. In the study published by Vural et al. (14), the APGAR score in infants of Syrian refugees was found to be below 7, like our study. As in Turkay et al.'s (3) study, there was no difference in our study's APGAR score rates between Syrian and Turkish adolescents. As a result, we should not forget that babies born to Syrian refugees and pregnant teenagers may need the right equipment and medical attention after birth for possible resuscitation.

In our study, newborns who were born with an LBW were twice as likely to be Syrian nationals as those born with a normal birth weight (p<0.001). However, we identified that Syrian teenage pregnant women's newborns have a lower birth weight than Turkish teenage pregnant women's newborns. Similarly, when we compared the neonates of Turkish and Syrian pregnant women, we determined that Syrian newborns had a lower birth weight than Turkish newborns, regardless of their age. When the weights of neonates born to teenage and adult pregnant women were compared, we revealed that all infants born to teenage pregnant women were underweight, except for newborns weighing less than 1000 g. We identified no difference in preterm birth rates between a Syrian refugee and Turkish pregnant women regardless of age, but a significant difference in favor of Syrian pregnant women between 1500 g and <2500 g in LBW newborns. In our study, newborns born with a LBW were twice as likely to be Syrian nationals as those born with an average birth weight (p<0.001). Regardless of age, newborns with LBW were 2.3 times more likely to be Syrian nationals (p<0.001). Genc et al. (32) showed that infants of adolescent pregnant women gave birth to lower fetal weights and had a higher risk of LBW than infants of adult pregnant women. According to Moraes et al. (34), he attributes this to the fact that adolescent girls at the age of growth and development must share the nutrients they need with their babies. Although the risk

of late preterm delivery (34th-36th gestational weeks) is significant in Syrian pregnant women, the average birth weight of the babies is over 2500 g, according to Vural et al. (14). This is because LBW is caused by preterm birth, IUGR, or both (35). The term LBW means <2500 g absolute weight regardless of gestational week. LBW is an important indicator of maternal health, malnutrition, access to health care, and low socioeconomic status (36). Infants born with LBW are twenty times more likely to die than those born with more than 2500 g (37). Economic studies in low-income countries have shown that cutting down on the LBW burden will save a lot of money for the healthcare system (35).

Strengths and Limitations

Among the study's strengths was the high-quality index of publications against which we compared our results. Our study includes a significant number of patients evaluating Syrian and Turkish adolescent pregnant women. Numerous limitations apply to our investigation. In the information note it published (38), WHO drew attention to maternal mortality rates due to adolescent pregnancies. However, in our study, we realized that we needed to conduct a separate study with the anesthesia and reanimation clinic of our hospital to get sufficient data and evidence about maternal mortality due to adolescent pregnancies. Additionally, the limited sample size of our adolescent pregnant group of young girls aged 10–15 years may introduce bias into the results.

CONCLUSION

As a consequence of our study, the maternal age of pregnant Syrians is younger, and the risk of adolescent pregnancy is threefold that of Turkish nationals. According to education level, the risk of adolescent pregnancy in primary school graduates is approximately three times higher than that of secondary school graduates. According to the RTGCS, Syrian refugees and adolescent pregnancies have higher rates of preterm birth. Among adolescent pregnant women, the probability of late-preterm pregnant women being Syrian nationals is one and a half times higher than that of term pregnant women. Among adolescents who have given birth, infants with LBW are almost twice as likely to be Syrian nationals. Syrian pregnant women give birth to approximately two and a half times more LBW babies than Turkish pregnant women.

ETHICAL DECLARATIONS

Ethics Committee Approval: The study was approved by the Health Sciences University Adana City Training and Researches Hospital Clinical Research Ethics Committee (Date: 26.08.2020, Decision No: 1046).

Informed Consent: Because the study was designed retrospectively, no written informed consent form was obtained from patients.

Referee Evaluation Process: Externally peer reviewed.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The author has no conflicts of interest to declare.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

Author Contributions: All of the authors declare that they have all participated in the design, execution, and analysis of the paper, and that they have approved the final version.

Acknowledgement: The authors would like to express their gratitude to Dr. Naci Murat Associated Professor, a lecturer at Samsun Ondokuz Mayıs University's statistics department, for his significant contributions to the statistical analysis of this study.

REFERENCES

- 1. Macleod C. Adolescent pregnancy: A feminist issue. International handbook of adolescent pregnancy 2014: 129-45.
- 2. Treffers P. Adolescent Pregnancy, Issues in Adolescent Health and Development Geneva, Switzerland: The World Health Organization (WHO); 2004 [Available from: http://apps.who.int/ iris/bitstream/handle/10665/42903/9241591455_eng.pdf.
- 3. Turkay U, Aydin U, Caliskan E, Salici M, Terzi H, Astepe B. Comparison of the pregnancy results between adolescent Syrian refugees and local adolescent Turkish citizens who gave birth in our clinic. J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med 2020; 33: 1353-8.
- 4. Wahane A, Ghaisas AS. Analysis of caesarean sections according to Robson's criteria at a tertiary care teaching hospital in central India. Int J Reprod Contracep Obstetr Gynecol 2020; 9: 4221-7.
- 5. Abubeker FA, Gashawbeza B, Gebre TM, et al. Analysis of cesarean section rates using Robson Ten Group Classification System in a tertiary teaching hospital, Addis Ababa, Ethiopia: a cross-sectional study 2020.
- Wojewodzic L, Suchocki S, BE RM. Analysis of cesarean section births according to Robson's Ten Group Classification in a tertiary hospital over a 6-year period (2010–2015). Ginekologia i Położnictwo-medical project 2016; 4: 9-15; 58-64.
- 7. OECD. Health at a Glance Paris: OECD Publishing; 2019 [Available from: https: //www.oecd-ilibrary.org/content/ publication/4dd50c09-en.
- 8. Palacios-Marques AM, Quijada-Cazorla MA, Marcos-Sanmartin J, et al. Rationalisation of the caesarean section rate in a tertiary referral hospital using the Robson classification. J Obstet Gynaecol 2021; 41: 200-6.
- Betran AP, Torloni MR, Zhang JJ, Gulmezoglu AM, Section WHOWGoC. WHO Statement on Caesarean Section Rates. BJOG 2016; 123: 667-70.
- 10.Golbasi C, Vural T, Bayraktar B, Golbasi H, Sahingoz Yildirim AG. Maternal and Neonatal Outcomes of Syrian Adolescent Refugees and Local Adolescent Turkish Citizens: A Comparative Study at a Tertiary Care Maternity Hospital in Turkey. Gynecol Obstetr Reprod Med 2021: 1-9.
- 11.Iliodromiti S, Mackay DF, Smith GC, Pell JP, Nelson SM. Apgar score and the risk of cause-specific infant mortality: a population-based cohort study. Lancet 2014; 384(9956): 1749-55.

- 12. He H, Yu Y, Wang H, Obel CL, Li F, Li J. Five-minute apgar score and the risk of mental disorders during the first four decades of life: a nationwide registry-based cohort study in Denmark. Front Med (Lausanne) 2021; 8: 796544.
- Erdoğan MM. Syrians barometer 2019 Ankara: Orion Bookstore;
 2020 [Available from: https://www.unhcr.org/tr/wp-content/ uploads/sites/14/2020/09/SB2019-SUMMARY-04092020.pdf.
- 14. Vural T, Golbasi C, Bayraktar B, Golbasi H, Yildirim AGS. Are Syrian refugees at high risk for adverse pregnancy outcomes? A comparison study in a tertiary center in Turkey. J Obstet Gynaecol Res 2021; 47: 1353-61.
- 15. Demirci H, Yildirim Topak N, Ocakoglu G, Karakulak Gomleksiz M, Ustunyurt E, Ulku Turker A. Birth characteristics of Syrian refugees and Turkish citizens in Turkey in 2015. Int J Gynaecol Obstet 2017; 137: 63-6.
- 16.Erenel H, Aydogan Mathyk B, Sal V, Ayhan I, Karatas S, Koc Bebek A. Clinical characteristics and pregnancy outcomes of Syrian refugees: a case-control study in a tertiary care hospital in Istanbul, Turkey. Arch Gynecol Obstet 2017; 295: 45-50.
- 17. Cetinkaya S. The reasons why women prefer c-sections, their knowledge, behavior and attitudes towards abortion. Open J Obstetr Gynecol 2020; 10: 221-36.
- 18. Ozel S, Yaman S, Kansu-Celik H, Hancerliogullari N, Balci N, Engin-Ustun Y. Obstetric outcomes among syrian refugees: a comparative study at a tertiary care maternity hospital in Turkey. Rev Bras Ginecol Obstet 2018; 40: 673-9.
- 19. Turkay U, Aydin U, Salici M, et al. Comparison of pregnant Turkish women and Syrian refugees: does living as a refugee have an unfavorable effect on pregnancy outcomes? Int J Gynaecol Obstet 2020; 149: 160-5.
- 20. Santas G, Santas F. Trends of caesarean section rates in Turkey. J Obstet Gynaecol 2018; 38: 658-62.
- 21. Sayili U, Ozgur C, Bulut Gazanfer O, Solmaz A. Comparison of clinical characteristics and pregnancy and neonatal outcomes between turkish citizens and syrian refugees with high-risk pregnancies. J Immigr Minor Health 2021.
- 22.Eide KT, Morken NH, Baeroe K. Maternal reasons for requesting planned cesarean section in Norway: a qualitative study. BMC Pregnancy Childbirth 2019; 19: 102.
- 23.Vogel JP, Betrán AP, Vindevoghel N, et al. Use of the Robson classification to assess caesarean section trends in 21 countries: a secondary analysis of two WHO multicountry surveys. The Lancet Global Health 2015; 3: e260-e70.
- 24.Tontus HO, Nebioglu S. Improving the caesarean decision by robson classification: a population-based study by 5,323,500 livebirth data. Ann Glob Health 2020; 86: 101.
- 25.Lefèvre M, editor Physician induced demand for C-sections: does the convenience incentive matter? Biennal conference of the American Society of heamth economists; 2014 2014/06/22-2014/06/25; Los Angeles, USA.
- 26.Birge O, Serin AN, Kayar İ. Prevalence and cesarean rates of immigrant adolescent pregnancies. Int J Reprod Contracept Obstet Gynecol 2021; 10: 1292.
- 27.Karacam Z, Kizilca Cakaloz D, Demir R. The impact of adolescent pregnancy on maternal and infant health in Turkey: Systematic review and meta-analysis. J Gynecol Obstet Hum Reprod 2021; 50: 102093.
- 28. Yussif AS, Lassey A, Ganyaglo GY, Kantelhardt EJ, Kielstein H. The long-term effects of adolescent pregnancies in a community in Northern Ghana on subsequent pregnancies and births of the young mothers. Reprod Health 2017; 14: 178.
- 29. Alnuaimi K, Kassab M, Ali R, Mohammad K, Shattnawi K. Pregnancy outcomes among Syrian refugee and Jordanian women: a comparative study. Int Nurs Rev 2017; 64: 584-92.

- 30.Organization WH. Standards for improving quality of maternal and newborn care in health facilities 2016.
- 31.Di Renzo GC, Spano F, Giardina I, Brillo E, Clerici G, Roura LC. Iron deficiency anemia in pregnancy. Womens Health (Lond) 2015; 11: 891-900.
- 32.Genc S, Ciftci MA, Cingillioğlu B, et al. Adverse obstetric outcomes in early and late adolescent pregnancy. J Experiment Clin Med 2022; 39: 237-44.
- 33.Korencan S, Pinter B, Grebenc M, Verdenik I. The outcomes of pregnancy and childbirth in adolescents in Slovenia. Zdr Varst 2017; 56: 268-75.
- 34.Moraes AN, Likwa RN, Nzala SH. A retrospective analysis of adverse obstetric and perinatal outcomes in adolescent pregnancy: the case of Luapula Province, Zambia. Matern Health Neonatol Perinatol 2018; 4: 20.
- 35.Cutland CL, Lackritz EM, Mallett-Moore T, et al. Low birth weight: case definition & guidelines for data collection, analysis, and presentation of maternal immunization safety data. Vaccine 2017; 35: 6492-500.
- 36.Kabir A, Rashid MM, Hossain K, Khan A, Sikder SS, Gidding HF. Women's empowerment is associated with maternal nutrition and low birth weight: evidence from Bangladesh Demographic Health Survey. BMC Womens Health 2020; 20: 93.
- 37. Woelile TA, Kibret GT, Workie HM, et al. Survival status and predictors of mortality among low-birth-weight neonates admitted to the Neonatal Intensive Care Unit at Felege Hiwot Comprehensive Specialized Hospital, Bahir Dar, Ethiopia, 2020. Pediatric Health Med Ther 2021; 12: 451-66.
- 38. World Health O. Adolescent pregnancy: factsheet Geneva: World Health Organization; 2014 [Available from: https://apps.who.int/ iris/handle/10665/112320.

HEALTH SCIENCES MEDICINE

Clinical value of heart type fatty acid binding protein (H-FABP) in acute pulmonary thromboembolism

Tuba Öğüt¹, Ayşegül Şentürk², Murat Alışık³, Cemile Biçer⁴

¹Public Hospital, Department of Chest Diseases, Kayseri, Turkey

²Atatürk Chest Disease and Chest Surgery Training and Research Hospital, Department of Chest Diseases, Ankara, Turkey
 ³Bolu Abant İzzet Baysal University, Training and Research Hospital, Department of Biochemistry, Bolu, Turkey
 ⁴Yildırım Beyazıt University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Medical Biochemistry, Ankara, Turkey

Cite this article as: Öğüt T, Şentürk A, Alışık M, Biçer C. Clinical value of heart type fatty acid binding protein (H-FABP) in acute pulmonary thromboembolism. J Health Sci Med 2022; 5(3): 861-867.

ABSTACT

Introduction: To investigate factors which could possibly be prognostic, to decide on thrombolytic therapy as soon as possible, and to determine the prognostic value of H-FABP, which is a new marker, in pulmonary thromboembolism.

Material and Method: In our study, a patient group, consisting of 58 patients diagnosed with PTE and a control group of 30 healthy individuals were investigated. According to their risk of mortality, patients were analyzed in three groups: high, moderate and low. The moderate mortality risk groups were categorized into two groups according to PAP and patients with PAP≥45 mmHg were "Group 1" and PAP<45 mmHg were "Group 2". Differences in levels of H-FABP and other cardiac prognostic markers between these groups were analyzed.

Results: H-FABP level was measured as 507.6±99.3 pg/ml in the control group and 3203.1±2389.3 pg/ml in the patient group. H-FABP level was found to be the highest in the high mortality risk group, and the lowest in the low mortality risk group (p<0.001). Moreover, in the subgroups of moderate mortality risk group, H-FABP levels were significantly higher in group 1 compared to group 2. For the evaluation of other cardiac markers in PTE subgroups, pro-BNP level was the highest in the high mortality risk group.

Conclusion: The findings in this study show that, H-FABP is a superior marker in determining the prognosis compared to pro-BNP and troponin. High PAP level is one of the important prognostic markers that should be considered along with the electrocardiography findings.

Keywords: Pulmonary thromboembolism, H-FABP, cardiac enzymes, prognostic factors, thrombolytic treatment

INTRODUCTION

Pulmoner tromboembolism (PTE) is one of the most common diseases that is difficult to be diagnosed and that has high mortality and morbidity (1,2).

The diagnosis of PTE and initiation of proper treatment requires urgency. The severity of the disease should be determined swiftly because it might change the treatment approach for the patients diagnosed with PTE (3). In assessment of the severity of the disease, the following approaches are used: clinical evaluation (e.g., hyper-tension, shock), electrocardiograph (ECO), thorax computerized tomography angiography, brain natriuretic peptides (BNP), and cardiac troponins (4,5).

In instances of cardiac injury, heart type fatty acid binding protein (H-FABP) is released to blood stream

faster than troponins and it shows up in blood circulation approximately 30 minutes after the symptom emerges. It reaches peak levels in six hours. Recent studies on PTE diagnosed patients suggest that H-FABP levels during first introductioncan predict early negative clinical incidents with higher accuracy and specificity than cardiac troponin can do (6-8). Moreover, H-FABP levels in Chronic thromboembolic pulmonary hypertension patients are found to be associated with risk of death in the long run (6,9). The main purpose in this study is to research the changes in H-FABP levels, as a new marker, based on the type of pulmonary thromboembolism and compare it with other prognostic markers.



MATERIAL AND METHOD

The study was carried out with the permission of Yıldırım Beyazıt University Non-Interventional Clinical Researches Ethics Committee (Date: 18/06/2014; Decision No: 19). All procedures were carried out in accordance with the ethical rules and the principles of the Declaration of Helsinki. This study was conducted from January 2015 through June 2016 as part of a prospective study in our hospital.

Patients Inclusion and Study Design

The sample consists of 58 patients and a randomly selected healthy 30 individuals to serve as the control group. Patients with hematologic problems, those below the age of 18 and pregnant patients are not included in the study. Further, patients diagnosed with acute myocardial infarction and patients diagnosed with heavy cardiac insufficiency are not also included in the study because the H-FABP levels of such patients could increase as a result of their condition. Patients with systemic illness history are not included in the control group. All patients diagnosed with pulmonary thromboembolic disease using multi-sectorial (with 16 and 64 detectors) thorax computed tomography pulmonary angiography are included in the study.

Patients with venous thrombus are identified employing lower- and upper-extremity venous doppler ultrasonography. ECO results and all symptoms indicated by the patients are recorded along with the demographic characteristics such as age, sex, profession, symptoms on hospital admission, history of risk factors, vital signs, D-dimer, troponin T, CK-MB, Pro-BNP and CRP levels and other background information on the patients are also recorded.

The patients are classified into three mortality risk categories: (1) High risk, (2) Middle risk, (3) Low risk, based on the Acute Pulmonary Embolite Diagnosis and Treatment Manual, published by European Society of Cardiology in 2019 (4). Additionally, the patients are also subjected to a second layer of classification based on their pulmoner artery pressure (PAP) value: those who have a PAP value of 45mm Hg and above are classified in Group 1 (high mortality risk), those with a PAP value less than 45 mm Hg are considered in Group 2 (low mortality risk). Distribution of the patients in these groups are shown in **Table 1**. We have examined

the differences of major cardiac prognostic markers such as H-FABP levels, troponin T, creatine kinasemuscle/brain /(CK-MB), pro-brain natriuretic peptide (pro-BNP).

Biochemical Analysis

We take 3 cc blood from PTE patients at the time of hospitalization using tubes containing lithium heparin and then analyse them in our biochemistry laboratory in less than two hours. Therefore, we have also analysed in these blood samples from the PTE patients to measure the the H-FABP levels with the sandwich method using Hycult biotech HK 401 and Human H-FABP Elisa kits.

Statistical Analysis

Statistical analyses were performed with SPSS for Windows version 17.0 (SPSS Inc., Chicago, III., USA). The Kolmogorov-Smirnov test was applied to determine the probability distribution. In comparing the mean differences between two groups, we used Student's t test, more than two groups we used One-Way-ANOVA (Analysis of Variance) when there were. Relationship between two quantitative variables is tested using Spearman's Correlation test. We have accepted p<0.05 as the threshold value for statistical significance.

RESULTS

The mean ages of the patient and control groups are 63.8 ± 16.1 and 62.1 ± 18.2 , respectively. Control groups have not yielded any significant differences (p>0.05). The patient group was composed of 32 females (55.2%) and 26 males (44.8%). The control group was comprised of 13 females (43.3%) and 17 males (56.7%). Chi square test results have not shown any significant relationship between sexes and groups (p>0.05).

When we compared the pulmoner artery pressure (PAP) among different mortality risk groups of PTE patients, we found that patients in the high-risk group to have higher PAP values (mean: 55 ± 8.7 ; range: 50-80) than those in the low-risk group and those in Group 2 of the moderate risk group (p<0.001) (**Table 2**).

The most common symptom at the time of first arrival to the hospital were shortness of breath (93.1%) and chest pain (55.2%). The frequency of syncope and chest pain among high mortality risk group was significantly higher than other PTE groups (p<0.05).

Table 1. Classification of patients based on mortality risk									
	(n)	Shock or hipertension ^a	Right ventricle dysfunctions (ECO findings)						
High risk (Massive)	15	+	+						
Moderate risk (Submasssive)	Group 1	13	(+)b						
	Group 2	12	(+)c						
Low risk (Low emboli)	18	-	-						
a: 40mm Hg decrease in daily average arterial tension or having an arterial tension of <90/60 mm Hg, b: If PAP>45mm Hg c: If PAP<45mm Hg									

Table 2. Distribution of pulmonary emboli groups based on PAP levels									
		High wish (n-15)	Moder	ate risk	I_{out} with $(n-10)$	Significance			
		rigii risk (ii=15)	Group 1 (n=13)	Group 2 (n=12)	LOW FISK (II=10)	Significance			
Sex	Female/Male	6/9	5/8	6/6	9/9	0.878			
РАР	45mm Hg <n< td=""><td>0</td><td>0</td><td>12 (%100)</td><td>18 (%100)</td><td colspan="2">.0.001</td></n<>	0	0	12 (%100)	18 (%100)	.0.001			
	45 mm Hg≥n	15 (%100)	13 (%100)	0	0	<0.001			
PAP value* (mm Hg)		55±8.7 (50-80)	55 ±9.4 (45-70)	40± 4.6 (35-40)	Normal	< 0.001			
*: PAP values include mean±standard deviation and the minimum & maximum in parenthesis									

The vital symptoms of the patients were found the following measures: an average pulsation count of $117\pm15/\text{min}$, mean systolic tension of 112 ± 16 mm Hg, mean diastolic tension of 71 ± 12 mm Hg, an average respiratory rate of $24\pm6.8/\text{min}$, and $88.6\%\pm6.7$ oxygen saturation rate. Significant differences were detected in vital measures across PTE sub-groups. For instance, the average number of puls and respiratory rates of patients in high risk group were significantly higher than all other PTE groups (p<0.001). The oxygen-free saturation among patients in the low mortality risk group were significantly higher than other PTE groups (p<0.001). Likewise, the systolic and diastolic blood pressure of patients in the low-risk group was significantly higher than other patients (p<0.001).

With radiological tests, we have detected segmentary thrombus in 26 patients (44.8%), sub-segmentary thrombus in 14 patients (24.1%), thrombus at the bilateral main pulmonary artheries in 13 patients (22.4%), thrombus at unilateral main pulmonary arthery in 5 patients (8.6%).

The amount of radiological congestion of thrombus across PTE groups showed significant differences. The existence of thrombus at the bilateral main pulmanory arthery among patients in the high mortality risk group was significantly higher than other groups (p<0.001). Moreover, the H-FABP levels of 6560.3 (1959.6-7912) pg/ml, segmentary value 1997.5 (446.3-6210) pg/ml, and sub-segmentary value of 535.5 (446.6-3071) pg/ml among patients with thrombus at their bilateral pulmonary arthery were significantly higher than those with thrombus at their pulmonary arthery(p<0.001).

The H-FABP level in the patient group was significantly higher than the H-FABP level in the control group (p<0.001). An analysis of the H-FABP levels across PTE

sub-groups showed significant differences (p<0.001). Besides, H-FABP level was higher in the Group 1 than it was in the Group 2 of the moderate risk group (p<0.001). The **Figure 1** is scatter plot diagram that shows the H-FABP levels across patient and control groups.



Figure 1. H-FABP levels in patient and control groups

Cardiac markers varied tremendously among PTE sub-groups (**Table 3**). For example, Pro-BNP level in high mortality risk group was the highes (3678 pg/ml) while it was the lowest in the low risk group (60 pg/ml). Troponin T level significantly higher in the high-risk group than both the moderate and low risk groups (p<0.001). Neither troponin T nor pro-BNP levels showed any significant differences between Group 1 and Group 2 of the moderate risk group. However, H-FABP levels were significantly higher than Group 2 (p<0.001).

Table 3. Cardiac markers, D-dimer & CRP levels across PTE groups										
	Normalization	\mathbf{H} with m $(n-15)$	Mode	Moderate risk						
	Normai values	righ risk (n=15)	Group 1 (n=13)	Group 2 (n=12)	Low risk (n=18)					
H-FABP (pg/ml)	*	6503.9 (3346.3-7912)	4553.0 (3798-6210)	1876.6 (1525.2-3071)	520.8 (446.3-886.8)					
Pro-BNP (pg/ml)	0-198	3678 (102-9000)	320 (60-5578)	153.5 (60-9000)	60 (47-710)					
Troponin T (pg/ml)	0-14	16 (3-55)	14 (7-63)	11 (7.5-19)	9.5 (3-66)					
CK-MB (ng/ml)	0-4.9	2.3 (0.3-6.2)	1.6 (0.3-2.6)	1.5 (0.1-6.6)	1.2 (0.3-2.8)					
D-dimer (ng/ml)	0-500	9300 (2300-10000)	3089 (1400-10000)	3421.5 (835-10000)	1590 (323-5632)					
CRP (mg/dl)	0-0.8	9.4 (5.4-25)	8.3 (1.9-14)	6.7 (2.6-16.8)	2.0 (0.5-4.0)					

When we divide the sample into two groups based on H-FABP levels, accepting 4000 pg/ml as the threshold value, we have found that having H-FABP values of 4000 pg/ml and above was related to a constellation of symptoms, accompanying venous thrombus, and atrial fibrillation in electrocardiography (ECG) (**Table 4**).

In this study, we have found significant positive correlations between H-FABP and PAP, pro-BNP, troponin T level, and oxygen saturation. The correlation of H-FABP with tropenin T was a slight correlation, with pro-BNP there was a mild correlation, and with PAP there was a strong correlation. With increases in PAP, pro-BNP, troponin T, and oxygen saturation levels, the H-FABP level was also increasing (**Figure 2**).



Figure 2. Correlation between H-FABP levels and PAP scores

DISCUSSION

In this study, we have found that the H-FABP level is a superior marker in determining prognosis compared to troponin T and pro-BNP because of H-FABP having a faster septicemia than other cardiac markers such as the aforementioned ones and having significant differences across all PTE sub-groups and having been influenced from PAP levels.

It is very important to determine the severity of the disease rapidly in order to decide treatment for patients diagnosed with PTE. In this way, we can make thrombolytic treatment decisions for required patients because it is scientifically proven that thrombolytic treatment reduces PTE related mortality and recurrence (10). In 2019, this document was revised and updated with the 2019 ESC Guidelines on the Diagnosis and Management of Acute Pulmonary Embolism (4,11). In this guide, mortality risk of acute pulmunorythromboly was groupped into three categories: high risk, moderate risk, and low risk. The moderate mortality group was further divided into low risk and high-risk groups. In this new classification, thrombolytic treatment is recommended for the highrisk sub-group of the moderate mortality risk group. Thus, while acute pulmunorythromboly was considered in two groups and only those in the high mortality risk group was offered thrombolytic treatment, now the number of patients for whom thrombolytic treatment decision could be made has been expanded with the new classification of three risk groups.

It is recommended to use PESI, sPESI, right ventricular dysfunction indicators and cardiac markers in classifying patients. From cardiac markers, BNP and NT-proBNP are released from the ventricule muscles as soon as high

Table 4. Comparison of major parameters that are influential in selecting the patient group that could have worse prognosis condition for thrombolic treatment decision of acute PTE patients across two H-FABP Levels								
	H-FABP <4000 pg/ml (n=32)	H-FABP<4000 pg/ml (n=26)	Significance					
Existence of malignite	3 (9.4%)	10 (38.5%)	0.008					
Shortage of breath	28 (87.5%)	26 (100.0%)	0.120					
Chest pain1	12 (37.5%)	20 (76.9%)	0.003					
Syncope	0	5 (19.2%)	0.014					
Hemoptysis	4 (12.5%)	2 (7.7%)	0.681					
Sputum	13 (40.6%)	3 (11.5%)	0.014					
Flank pain	18 (56.3%)	8 (30.8%)	0.052					
Hipertansion2 or shock	1 (3.1%)	14 (53.8%)	< 0.001					
Heartbeat per minute	109.3±13.3	127.0±11.1	< 0.001					
Respiratory rate per minute	19.8 ± 4.4	30.7±3.8	< 0.001					
Oxygen-free saturation3(%)	93.6±3.1	82.5±4.5	< 0.001					
Existence of deep venous thrombosis	17 (53.1%)	24 (92.3%)	< 0.001					
Existence of atrial fibrillation in ECO (electrocardiography)	5 (15.6%)	13 (50.0%)	0.005					
PAP (mm Hg)4	0 (0-55)	55 (45-80)	< 0.001					
1. Existence of chest pain that cause tightness underneath sternum								

1: Existence of chest pain that cause tightness underneath sternum

2: 40mm Hg decrease in daily average arterial tension or having an arterial tension of ${\leq}90/{60}$ mm Hg

3: Figures include means and standard deviations

4: Figures include median and minimum-maximum in parentheses.

ventricule pressure is reached. Therefore, the level of BNP that is reased to the serum might increase when there is tension with the RV muscle fibresand when myocardial hypoxemia takes place (12). In a study conducted by Cavallazzi and his colleagues, it was found that high levels of BNP and NT-proBNP are associated with mortality and right ventricular dysfunction (13). In a study by Kostrubiec and his colleagues, while none of the patients with NT-proBNP <600 pg/ml levels had mortality or any complications, it was found that the mortality was increased by 6.7 times when the patients had NT-proBNP >7600 pg/ml levels (14). In our current study, pro-BNP increased significantly with pulmunory thrombolism and this increase was significantly the highest in the high mortality risk group and the lowest in the low mortality risk group. These findings are in line with other studies in the literature. Further, have found a positive milde correlation between H-FABP and pro-BNP. With an increase in pro-BNP the H-FABP levels was increasing.

Troponin I and T and a new marker, H-FABP are used as myocard injury markers. In Management Strategies and Prognosis of Pulmonary Embolism (MAPETT 2) study, a significant relationship between high troponin levels and mortality was found and because of this finding the authors proposed troponin as an indicator in predicting right ventricular microinfarctus. Increased serum troponin level is evidence for RV dysfunction (15). In a study conducted by Golpe and his colleagues, the authors report that high troponin I levels among hemodynamically stable PTE patients are associated with the seriousness of the disease (16). In another study by Sanchez and his colleagues, increased troponin levels were found to increase mortality 5.2 times in normotensive PTE patients (17). In our study, we found that troponin T level in low mortality risk group was significantly lower than moderate and high mortality risk groups. However, there was not a significant difference in troponin T levels between high and moderate mortality risk groups. Likewise, there was not any significant difference between Group 1 and Group 2 of the moderate mortality risk group. We have found a weak positive correlation between H-FABP and troponin T levels. As the troponin T levels increased, so did the H-FABP levels. Recent studies in the literature show that H-FABP is a superior marker for acute PTE cases compared to troponin T and pro-BNP (18-20). Dellas and his colleagues' study on a sample of PTE patients found that, as one of the important markers of right ventricular dysfunction, H-FABP has 89% sensitivity, 82% specifity, 99% negative predictive value. In the same study, the authors also mention the value of utilizing H-FABP with tachycardiain prognosis (18). However, in another study by Jenab and his colleagues, patients and in the presence of NT-proBNP association

was not with the short-term adverse events and long-term mortality in terms of H-FABP. The authors explained these contradictions with relatively low number of cases or the different inclusion criteria for their study (21).

We found significantly higher H-FABP values in Group 1 (PAP \geq 45 mmHg) than Group 2 (PAP <45 mmHg). Otherwise, we could not find any significant differences between Group 1 and 2 in terms of troponin T and proBNP levels. There is enough research evidence on H-FABP to be a superior marker in PTE cases. Having higher values of H-FABP among patients with high pulmunory artery pressure led us to think that a high PAP value is one of the influential parameters on prognosis, but its value might be unnoticed when used together with other cardiac markers.

Moreover, in our research we have found a very strong positive correlation between PAP and H-FABP. H-FABP was increasing in parallel with the increase in PAP values. Particularly, having significantly high H-FABP values when PAP was equal to or higher than 45mm Hg values can be interpreted as an indicator of microinfarction and right ventricular infarction with the patients.

When the markers for right ventricular dysfunction are defined in 2019 ESC Guidelines on the Diagnosis and Management of Acute Pulmonary Embolism, we do not see any prognostic evaluation regarding PAP. In our study, we have proved that high PAP should be considered as a bad prognostic parameter in addition to the right ventricular dysfunctions in ECO. In a study conducted by Qian and his colleagues, significantly higher PAP values were found in high mortality risk group than other groups (9).

In another study on PTE cases, 6000 pg/ml was found as the cut-off threshold value for H-FABP level (18). In our study, we have considered this threshold value to be around 4000 pg/ml. With patients whose H-FABP value was 4000 pg/ml and above, we found senkop, hypertension, atrial fibrillation frequency values as significantly high. Additionally, we found significantly higher pulmunory artery pressure among patients whose H-FABP value was 4000 pg/ml or above. Findings of a study by Langer and his colleagues supports the hypothesis that H-FABP can be a promising prognostic marker of short-term mortality among low-risk PTE patients (19).

In addition to the findings above, we have also found strong negative correlation between H-FABP and oxygen saturation, which is one of the parameters in pulmunory embolism seriousness index. As the oxygen saturation decreased, the H-FABP levels increased. This finding shows that hypoxia should be considered as a bad prognostic marker. The relationship between malignite and venous thromboembolism (VTE) is well known. Lee and his colleagues found VTE in 4-28% of the cancer patients (22). Similar to the Lee et al study, we found active malignite in 22.4% of the patients in our study. The earlier study showed 6-month VTE risk for cancer patients is currently 12-fold higher than in the general population (23). Parallel with other studies in literature on distribution of risk factors across PTE groups, we have also found significantly higher amounts of malignite and atrial fibrillation in high mortality risk group than the low-risk group. Therefore, we have come to conclude that atrial fibrillation is an important factor in developing pulmonary thromboembolism both in terms of its etiology and in the prognosis of these patients.

In this study, we have found that H-FABP level is a superior marker over other cardiac markers. There was not a significant difference in troponin T levels between high mortality risk group and moderate mortality risk groupH-FABP is a superior marker in determinin progranosis over pro-BNP and troponin because of its fast diffusion into blood stream and its significant variation across all PTE sub-groups, and its sensitivity for high PAP levels.

The H-FABP level was significantly higher with patients who had bilateral main pulmunory artery thrombus than it was with patients who had segmentary and sub-segmentary pulmunory artery thrombus. In one of our recent studies, cases with central thrombus had significantly higher troponin levels and frequent signs of Right ventricular dilatationon echocardiography, compared to cases with distal thrombus (24).

It is worth noting that our study has s ome limitations due to some factors such as collecting data in one hospital, having relatively low numbers of patients, and a lack of long-term follow up of patients.

In conclusion, diagnostic and treatment of PTE cases is an urgent matter. Therefore, in order to make proper treatment decisions, swift analyses must be made on PTE patients by evaluating clinical findings, markers of right ventricular dysfunction, cardiac markers and radiological findings. There is a much more sensitive approach regarding the classification of PTE patients in 2019 ESC Guidelines on the Diagnosis and Management of Acute Pulmonary Embolism (4). Nevertheless, this classification does not include any prognostic evaluations of PAP. We believe that having high PAP values should be considered as a prognostic parameter. Medium mortality risk group is a heterogenous group. The cardiac markers that are used for prognostic purposes must provide fast diagnosis capability, they must be sensitive and specific. In this regard, we have considered H-FABP as a superior marker over alter alternatives.

In risk classification of the disease, cardiac markers, right ventuculary dysfunctional findings, and pulmunory embolism seriousness index have begun to be used. In this connection, the clinical, physical and laboratory findings are evaluated altogether.

Limitations

Our study has some limitations such as being a singlecentre study and having a limited number of patients.

CONCLUSION

According to the findings of our study, when cardiac markers are evaluated across PTE sub-groups:

- H-FABP is an important prognostic marker across all acute PTE groups.
- H-FABP is a superior marker over troponin T ve pro-BNP in determining prognosis.
- H-FABP levels in low mortality risk group was very close to H-FABP levels in healthy control group. This finding was interpreted as PTE group with low mortality risk to have good prognosis.

Strong positive correlation between H-FABP and PAP, and strong negative correlation between H-FABP and oxygen saturation led us to conclude that all three indicators are aggravating factors.

Making a decision for thrombolic treatment only after clinical, laboratory, and radiological evaluation will be in the best interest of normotensive patients as well. We need the more research to find out the risk coefficients factors of the aggravating factors and additional factors mentioned above.

ETHICAL DECLARATIONS

Ethics Committee Approval: The study was carried out with the permission of Yıldırım Beyazıt University Non-interventional Clinical Researches Ethics Committee (Date: 18/06/2014; Decision No: 19).

Informed Consent: Written informed consent was obtained from all participants who participated in this study

Referee Evaluation Process: Externally peer-reviewed.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

Author Contributions: All of the authors declare that they have all participated in the design, execution, and analysis of the paper and that they have approved the final version

REFERENCES

- 1. Dalen JE. Pulmonary embolism: what have we learned since Virchow? Natural history, pathophysiology, and diagnosis. Chest 2002; 122: 1440-56.
- 2. Nijkeuter M, Sohne M, Tick LW, et al. The natural course of hemodynamically stable pulmonary embolism: clinical outcome and risk factors in a large prospective cohort study. Chest 2007; 131: 517-23.
- 3. Duffett L, Castellucci L A, Forgie M A. Pulmonary embolism: update on management and controversies BMJ 2020; 370.
- 4. Konstantinides SV, Meyer G, Becattini C, et al. 2019 ESC Guidelines for the diagnosis and management of acute pulmonary embolism developed in collaboration with the European Respiratory Society (ERS). Eur Heart J 2020; 41: 543-603.
- Babaoglu E, Hasanoglu HC, Senturk A, et al. Importance of biomarkers in risk stratification of pulmonary thromboembolism patients. J Investig Med 2014; 62: 328-31.
- 6. Puls M, Dellas C, Lankeit M, et al. Heart-type fatty acid-binding protein permits early risk stratification of pulmonary embolism. Eur Heart J 2007; 28: 224-9.
- Moorjani N, Price S. Massive pulmonary embolism. Cardiology Clinics 2013; 31: 503-18.
- 8. Otaki Y, Watanabe T, Kubota I. Heart-type fatty acid-binding protein in cardiovascular disease: a systemic review. Clin Chim Acta 2017; 474: 44-3.
- Qian HY, Huang J, Yang YJ, et al. Heart-type fatty acid binding protein in the assessment of acute pulmonary embolism. Am J Med Sci 2016; 352: 557-62.
- 10. Marti C, John G, Konstantinides S, et al. Systemic thrombolytic therapy for acute pulmonary embolism: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Eur Heart J 2015; 36: 605–14.
- 11.Konstantinides SV, Meyer G, Becattini C 2019 ESC Guidelines for the diagnosis and management of acute pulmonary embolism developed in collaboration with the European Respiratory Society (ERS). Eur Heart J 2020; 41: 543-603.
- 12. Vuilleumier N, Righini M, Perrier A, et al. Correlation between cardiac biomarkers and right ventricular enlargement on chest CT in non massive pulmonary embolism. Thrombosis Research 2008; 121: 617-24.
- Cavallazzi R, Nair A, Vasu T, et al. Natriuretic peptides in acute pulmonary embolism: a systematic review. Intensive Care Med 2008; 34: 2147.
- 14.Kostrubiec M, Pruszczyk P, Bochowicz A, et al. Biomarker-based risk assessmen7t model in acute pulmonary embolism. Eur Heart J 2005; 26: 2166-72.
- 15. Pruszczyk P, Bochowicz A, Torbicki A, et al. Cardiac troponin T monitoring identifies high-risk group of normotensive patients with acute pulmonary embolism. Chest 2003; 123: 1947-52.
- 16.Golpe R, Pérez-de-Llano LA, Castro-Añón O, et al. [Troponin-I in hemodynamically-stable pulmonary embolism: correlation with echocardiography and computed tomography angiography]. Rev Clin Esp 2011; 211: 69-75.
- 17. Sanchez O, Trinquart L, Colombet I, et al. Prognostic value of right ventricular dysfunction in patients with haemodynamically stable pulmonary embolism: a systematic review. Eur Heart J 2008; 29: 1569-77.
- 18. Dellas C, Puls M, Lankeit M, et al. Elevated heart-type fatty acidbinding protein levels on admission predict an adverse outcome in normotensive patients with acute pulmonary embolism. J Am Coll Cardiol 2010; 55: 2150-7.
- 19.Langer M, Forkmann M, Richter U, et al. Heart-type fatty acidbinding protein and myocardial creatine kinase enable rapid risk stratification in normotensive patients with pulmonary embolism. J Crit Care 2016; 35: 174-9.

- 20.Lauque D, Maupas-Schwalm F, Bounes V, et al. Predictive value of the heart-type fatty acid-binding protein and the pulmonary embolism severity index in patients with acute pulmonary embolism in the emergency department. Acad Emerg Med 2014; 21: 1143-50.
- 21. Jenab Y, Pourjafari M, Sotoudeh M, et al. Comparing the effect of cardiac biomarkers on the outcome of normotensive patients with acute pulmonary embolism. Monaldi Arch Chest Dis 2017; 87: 767.
- 22.Lee AY, Levine MN. Venous thromboembolism and cancer: risks and outcomes. Circulation 2003; 107: I17-21.
- 23.Khorana AA, Mackman N, Falanga A, et al. Cancer-associated venous thromboembolism. Nat Rev Dis Primers 2022; 8: 11.
- 24. Senturk A, Ozsu S, Duru S, et al. Prognostic importance of central thrombus in hemodynamically stable patients with pulmonary embolism. Cardiol J 2017; 24: 508-14.

HEALTH SCIENCES **MEDICINE**

Histopathological examination of the placenta after delivery in pregnant women with COVID-19

[®]Fatih Taş¹, [®]Fikri Erdemci², [®]Fırat Aşır², [®]Mustafa Maraşlı³, [®]Engin Deveci²

¹Siirt University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Histology and Embryology, Siirt, Turkey
 ²Dicle University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Histology and Embryology, Diyarbakır, Turkey
 ³Kartal Dr. Lütfi Kırdar City Hospital, Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, İstanbul, Turkey

Cite this article as: Taş F, Erdemci F, Aşır F, Maraşlı M, Deveci E. Histopathological examination of the placenta after delivery in pregnant women with COVID-19. J Health Sci Med 2022; 5(3): 868-874.

ABSTRACT

Introduction: COVID-19 is a viral disease generated by a new coronavirus named SARS-CoV-2. The consequences of this virus on the human placenta and the newborn are still unclear. IL-6 can disturb the placenta's immunological homeostasis and be employed as an inflammatory marker for the poor prognosis of COVID-19 infection. Bax has some features like being a key protein regulating apoptotic mechanisms and plays an important role in both maintaining dynamic balance and integrity in the placenta as in many tissues. This study aims to indicate the impact of COVID-19 on inflammation and apoptotic pathways in the placenta by using IL-6 and Bax antibodies.

Material and Method: COVID-19 positive (n:10) and COVID-19 negative (n:10) normotensive placentas were included. Haematoxylin-eosin staining and immunohistochemical staining (IL-6 and Bax antibodies) were applied. Statistical data of immunohistochemical (IL-6 and Bax expression) staining results were assessed by analyzing the H-score. Biochemical parameters were recorded. Group means were analyzed with a nonparametric Kruskal Wallis Test.

Results: In the COVID-19 group, increased syncytial knots, fibrin deposition, inflammation, fibrinoid necrosis, neutrophil accumulation were observed. The COVID-19 group had considerably higher levels of IL-6 and Bax expression than the control group. Furthermore, COVID-19 patients had statistically lower WBC and higher CRP values than normotensive patients.

Conclusion: COVID-19 has been linked to placental inflammation and trophoblast cell damage, both of which can result in major maternal and fetal problems during pregnancy. We found intense IL-6 expression in the placentas of pregnant women with COVID-19 infection. A rise in IL-6 levels triggers CRP production, and this increase is linked to the severity of COVID-19 as a risk factor. Also, we suggested that COVID-19 infection triggers the apoptotic process in placental tissue by increasing the expression of the proapoptotic Bax protein. It is clinically very significant to follow up COVID-19 positive pregnancies for maternal and fetal health. During this follow-up, IL-6 and Bax expression levels in the placenta, together with histopathological findings and serum CRP levels, can guide the evaluation of the prognosis, severity and response to treatment of the disease.

Keywords: COVID-19, placenta, IL-6, inflammation, Bax, apoptosis

INTRODUCTION

In December 2019, a new coronavirus-related epidemic broke out in Wuhan and World Health Organization labeled it a pandemic (1). The pathogenic factor was determined as severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2) based on phylogenetic research, and the disease caused by the virus was dubbed Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19) (2). The disease is diagnosed by real-time reverse transcriptase-polymerase chain reaction (rRT-PCR) (3). The clinic of COVID-19 viremia is similar to previous coronaviruses, which is a cause of severe acute respiratory syndrome (SARS). Clinical manifestations are fever, cough, fatigue, sputum production, loss of taste sense, myalgia, difficulties in breathing, etc. (2,3). Pregnant patients with COVID-19 disease and nonpregnant adult patients have similar clinical characteristics (4). Groundglass opacity (56.4 percent) and bilateral patchy shadowing were found to be the most prevalent radiological abnormalities on computed tomography (51.8 percent). Lymphocytopenia, thrombocytopenia, leukopenia, and elevated C-reactive protein (CRP) levels are more common laboratory findings in patients with COVID-19 positive. COVID-19 is treated with remdesivir, anticytokinic



biological agents (anti-interleukin-1 (IL-1) (Anakinra) and anti-interleukin-6 (IL-6) (Tocilizumab, TCZ), IVIG (intravenous gammaglobulin), and recently vaccines (e.g., Biontech, sinovac, moderna) are recommended (5,6).

Maternal morbidity is a health problem due to pregnancy. Infections and eclampsia are among the most common causes (7). Pregnancy diseases can adversely affect the fetus as much as the mother. Respiratory viral infections observed during pregnancy cause serious obstetric and neonatal consequences (8). Pregnancyrelated complications associated with maternal and fetal morbidity have a close relationship with the placenta (9). However, the impacts of COVID-19 on human placenta and newborn are not fully understood (10). Since the COVID-19 reports are based on a limited number of cases (10,11), comprehensive studies are needed to define placental histopathological findings specific to COVID-19 infection.

In normal pregnancies, there is a mild systemic inflammatory response (12). Leukocyte count increases, neutrophils and monocytes are activated (13), and concentrations of circulating inflammatory cytokines (IL-6, Tumor necrosis factor-alpha) increase (14). The secretion levels of these cytokines with increasing concentrations are affected by each other (15). Many tissues release IL-6 as a pleiotropic immunomodulatory cytokine in response to infection and tissue damage. Acute phase responses, hematopoiesis, and immune cell development and activation are all regulated by it (16). IL-6, which are products of activated macrophages, has negative effects on pregnancy (17). It interferes with many events affecting fetal growth, such as nutrient transfer, anoxia, and vascular permeability, by acting in the feto-maternal gap (18). IL-6 can also disturb the placenta's immunological homeostasis (18) and be employed as an inflammatory marker for the poor prognosis of COVID-19 infection (19). IL-6 levels over a certain threshold are linked to the necessity for mechanical ventilation. Patients with high IL-6 levels (\geq 80pg/ml) are 22 times more likely to have respiratory failure than those with low IL-6 levels (20). Therefore, antisitokinic drugs such as TCZ, a monoclonal antibody against IL-6, are used as a treatment option for COVID-19 patients (21).

Apoptosis is programmed cell death and plays a significant role in tissue homeostasis, embryonic growth, and immunity. Bcl-2 family control apoptosis with proapoptotic proteins and antiapoptotic proteins (22). The balance between proapoptotic and antiapoptotic protein expression determines the outcome of apoptosis (23). Bax, one of these proteins, is a molecule that stimulates apoptosis and that causes cytochrome c to be released from the mitochondria when produced. When it is released, it activates caspase-9 and caspase-3, respectively (23). Bax has some features like being a key

protein regulating apoptotic mechanisms and plays an important role in both maintaining dynamic balance and integrity in the placenta as in many tissues (24).

This study's purpose is to demonstrate the consequences of COVID-19 on inflammation and apoptotic pathways in the placenta by using IL-6 and Bax antibodies.

MATERIAL AND METHOD

The study was carried out with the permission of Siirt University Non-Interventional Clinical Researches Ethics Committee (Date: 23.09.2020, Decision No: E.11597). All procedures were realized in accordance with the ethical rules and the principles of the Declaration of Helsinki. Patients who were approved to participate in this study were informed about it and completed an informed consent form.

Placental tissue was obtained from patients submitted to the Obstetrics and Gynecology Department of the Siirt Training and Research Hospital. The study included placentas from pregnant women who tested positive for COVID-19 PCR during pregnancy (n:10) and placentas from pregnant women who tested negative for COVID-19 (n:10). This study did not include patients in both groups with secondary or chronic diseases (such as any respiratory infection, pregnancy complications, or other systemic diseases).

Obtaining and Following-up Tissues

Placental tissue was processed for routine histological examination, fixed in %10 formaldehyde, passed through an ascending alcohol series, and then incubated in xylene and in paraffin. 5 μ m thick sections were stained with hematoxylin-eosin (HE) staining and immunohistochemical staining. Biochemical blood parameters were recorded for all patients.

Immunohistochemical Staining

Sections were brought to distilled water and soaked in EDTA buffer solution (pH:8.0, lot number: ab93680, Abcam) for epitope retrieval in a microwave oven at 700 Watts for 10 minutes. For endogenous peroxidase blocking, hydrogen peroxide solution (lot number: TA-015-HP, Thermo Fischer) was dropped into this section and incubated for 20 minutes. After blocking solution, sections were overnight with IL-6 (catalog no:sc-32296, Santa Cruz Biotechnology) and Bax (catalog no: sc-20067, Santa Cruz Biotechnology) antibodies at 1/100 dilution. Diaminobenzidine (DAB) (lot number: TA-001-HCX, Thermo Fischer) was used as chromogen. After counterstaining with Harris haematoxylin, sections were mounted with entellan (lot number:107961, Sigma-Aldrich) and analyzed with Zeiss Imager A2 (Germany) by Zen 3.2 lite software.

The H-score (HS) was used to assess the outcomes of immunohistochemical staining. HS= Σ (1 + i) x pi. Where i indicates the staining intensity (0=no expression, 1=light, 2=medium, 3=dense, and 4=very dense) and pi indicates the percentage of staining intensity (25). Results were given as±standard error. Statistical analysis of the results obtained was made.

Statistical Analysis

IBM SPSS software (ver. 25) was used for statistical analysis. The nonparametric Kruskal Wallis Tests were used to examine the mean values of groups. All data were given as a mean with a standard deviation (S.D.). Any p value<0.05 was admitted statistically significant.

RESULTS

Laboratory Statistics

In terms of RBC (red blood cell), MCV (mean corpuscular volume), MCH (mean corpuscular hemoglobin), HGB (hemoglobin), HTC (hematocrit), PLT (platelet), neutrophil, lymphocyte, monocyte, eosinophil, and basophil values, there was no significant difference (p>0.05) between experimental (COVID-19) and control groups. They are in normal range in both groups. The WBC value in the experimental group (COVID-19) was considerably lower than the control group (p<0.05), whereas CRP value in the experimental group (COVID-19) was considerably higher than the control group (p<0.05) (**Table 1**).

Table 1. Laboratory findings (mean) and statistical comparison between groups								
Parameter	Control (mean±SD)	COVID-19 (mean±SD)	Paired- comparison					
WBC (10 ³ /mm ³)	10.72 ± 1.83	8.66±1.84	p=0.034					
RBC (10 ¹² /L)	4.54 ± 0.43	4.24 ± 0.45	p=0.096					
HGB (g/dl)	12.62 ± 1.68	11.68 ± 1.21	p=0.257					
HCT (%)	39.01±4.51	36.86±2.97	p=0.472					
PLT (10 ³ /mm ³)	254.2 ± 70.61	262.30±77.51	p=0.940					
MCV (fL)	88.50 ± 5.08	87.53±7.19	p=0.910					
MCH (pg)	29.05 ± 1.52	28.42±2.13	p=0.406					
Neutrophil (%)	75.49 ± 3.95	69.28±22.84	p=0.940					
Lymphocyte (%)	18.34 ± 4.32	17.22 ± 4.16	p=0.449					
Monocyte (%)	5.71±1.26	4.78 ± 1.01	p=0.130					
Eosinophil (%)	0.78 ± 0.27	0.95 ± 0.54	p=0.422					
Basophil (%)	0.22 ± 0.10	0.29 ± 0.14	p=0.229					
CRP (mg/dl)	10.22±7.60	22.51±12.83	p=0.026					
SD: Standard deviation								

Immunohistochemical Statistics

Statistical data of immunohistochemical (IL-6 and Bax expression) staining results indicated in **Table 2** were evaluated by investigating the H-score. The levels of IL-6 and Bax expression in COVID-19 group were found to be considerably higher than in the control group (p<0.05).

Histopathological Findings

Haematoxylin-eosin staining of placental tissues belonging to COVID-19 group are shown in Figure 1 and Figure 2, respectively. IL-6 and Bax immunostaining of placental tissues belonging to the control and COVID-19 groups are shown in Figure 3 and Figure 4, in sequence. In the control group, normal histology was observed with cytotrophoblasts, syncytiotrophoblasts, fetal capillaries, and villous stroma. No pathology was observed in the stromal connective tissue and vascular structures (not shown in figures). In the placenta of COVID-19 group, increased syncytial knots, fibrin deposition, fibrinoid necrosis in the vascular wall, intervillous hemorrhage, inflammation, neutrophil accumulation, fetal villi with chorangiosus and oedema were observed (Figure 1 and 2). IL-6 and Bax expression levels were increased considerably in COVID-19 group competing with the control group (p<0.05). IL-6 expression was mostly negative in the control group (Figure 3a), yet it was intense in syncytial knots and syncytiotrophoblast cytoplasm (Figure 3b) in COVID-19 group. Bax expression was mostly negative in the syncytial knots and tertiary villi in the control group (Figure 4a). In COVID-19 group, Bax reaction was positive predominantly in syncytiotrophoblast cytoplasm (Figure 4b).



Figure 1. HE staining of placental tissues belonging to the COVID-19 group (A), İncreased syncytial knots (arrow), fibrin deposition (arrowhead), and intervillous hemorrhage (star) (X10) (B) Fetal villi with oedema and chorangiosus (arrow) (X40)

Table 2. Statistical data of immunohistochemical (IL-6 and Bax expression) parameters													
	Control Placentas							COVID-19 Placentas				Comparison	
	Number	Mean	Std deviation	Median	Min	Max	Number	Mean	Std deviation	Median	Min	Max	between groups
IL-6	10	0.5	0.52	0.5	0	1	10	3.8	0.42	4	3	4	p<0.01
Bax	10	0.4	0.52	0	0	1	10	2.4	0.52	2	2	3	p<0.01



Figure 2. HE staining of placental tissue: fibrin deposition (star) and fibrinoid necrosis in vascular wall (arrow) in the placenta belonging to the COVID-19 group (X20)



Figure 3. IL-6 immunohistochemical staining of placental tissue (A) Generally negative expression was observed in the control group (B) IL-6 expression was observed mostly in syncytiotrophoblast cytoplasm (arrow) and syncytial knots (arrowhead) in COVID-19 placentas (X40)



Figure 4. Bax immunohistochemical staining of placental tissue (A) Generally negative expression was determined in the control group (B) Bax expression was determined mostly in syncytiotrophoblast cytoplasm in COVID-19 placentas (arrows) (X40)

DISCUSSION

The placenta develops dynamically during pregnancy and may undergo various changes depending on pregnancy pathology. Changes in the placenta provide clues about maternal and fetal morbidity (26). Inflammatory and infectious diseases are among the indications that require histopathological evaluation of the placenta (27). However, the relationship of some diseases to pregnancy is not fully understood because some placental lesions do not have pregnancy-specific changes and some placental lesions are not associated with perinatal mortality and morbidity (28). COVID-19 infection during pregnancy is also one of the diseases whose maternal and fetal effects are not yet very clear (29). Therefore, the diagnosis and treatment of the illness during pregnancy is essential to control maternal and infant complications correlate with the disease.

Former coronavirus pandemics, such as SARS and the Middle East respiratory disease (MERS), have been linked to maternal and perinatal complications, including infections, mortality, and spontaneous abortion during pregnancy (30). Similarly, related to COVID-19 disease, conditions such as miscarriage, preterm birth and stillbirth have been reported (31). Therefore, the results of the histopathological analysis of the placenta may have significant contributions to maintaining of maternal and fetal health.

COVID-19 is a disease caused by SARS-CoV-2 that induces inflammation (32). In some studies, it is stated that COVID-19 infection is not present in the placenta, and vertical contamination is quite infrequent (33). Accordingly, the placental alterations produced by COVID-19 may be due to inflammation and maternal infection rather than fetal illness (32). In our study, the laboratory values of pregnant women who have COVID 19 agreed with literature. Additionally, we found that CRP values were high, and patients had leukopenia (**Table 1**).

During pregnancy, viral infections can cause specific placental alterations (32). In the histopathological examination of placentas from SARS patients, decreased placental perfusion, subchorionic and intervillous fibrin aggregation, achorionic villus areas, and fetal thromboangiopathy were observed (30,34). On the other hand, how COVID-19 affects placental pathology during pregnancy is not completely known yet (35). Shanes et al. (32) study on placentas from infected pregnant women with COVID-19 demonstrated that maternal fibrinoid necrosis, vascular malperfusion, decidual arteriopathy and atherosis. Authors also suggested that; perivillous fibrin accumulation, intervillous thrombi, villous oedema, and chorangiosis in some placental tissues. According to these findings, chorangiosis is linked to a decrease in maternal oxygen saturation (32). In another research of placentas from COVID-19 patients, perivillous fibrin accumulation, locally increased syncytial knots, and pathology of fetal vascular malperfusion (thrombosis, intramural fibrin deposition, stromal vascular karyorrhexis, avascular villi) were reported. In addition, in some cases, chronic villitis associated with obliterative vasculopathy has also been observed (10).

In our study, placentas with COVID-19, increased syncytial knots, fibrin deposition, intervillous hemorrhage, inflammation, neutrophil accumulation, fetal villi with chorangiosus, and oedema findings were observed (**Figures 1** and **2**). Both our study and other studies (32) reveal that the observation of various histopathological changes in the placenta suggests that it may be linked to COVID-19. In the study, placentas were analyzed by immunohistochemical methods in symptomatic COVID-19 in second trimester pregnancy. It has been reported that in the feto-maternal gap of the placenta, the SARS-CoV-2 virus is mostly found in syncytiotrophoblast cells by SARS-CoV-2 spike protein immunostaining. In addition, histological examination showed macrophages and T-lymphocyte infiltration suggesting a histiocytic intervillocyte by CD68 and CD3 immunostaining (35). In our study, we showed inflammation and apoptosis in the placenta by using IL-6 and Bax immunostaining (Table 2).

Cytokines, which act as immunomodulators during pregnancy, are of great importance for a healthy pregnancy (36). Implantation, placental development, extravillous trophoblast invasion, cytotrophoblast proliferation, angiogenesis, spiral artery remodeling, cell growth, and apoptosis are all regulated by the maternalfetal space to the existence of cytokines. IL-6 is an important proinflammatory cytokine that plays a role in the acute phase response to injury and infection (37). Furthermore, increased levels of this cytokine in the fetomaternal gap are associated with fetal loss (38). Therefore, elevated IL-6 values may be important in the follow-up of the threat of miscarriage in pregnant women.

Patients with COVID-19 infection usually have high serum inflammatory markers, including high CRP and cytokine (IL-6) levels (39). We found intense IL-6 expression in the placentas of pregnant women with COVID-19 infection, especially in syncytial knots and syncytiotrophoblast cytoplasm (**Figure 3**). Similarly, CRP values were considerably higher in these patients. As a result, IL-6 and CRP readings can be utilized together as indicators to assess the severity of the illness of COVID-19 patients throughout pregnancy.

Monoclonal antibodies are currently used to diagnose, research, prevent, and treat diseases (40). In the treatment of some COVID-19 patients, the effectiveness of monoclonal antibodies developed against cytokines such as IL-6 are evaluated (41,42). In cytokine release syndrome and acute inflammation, there is a significant role of IL-6 (43). Additionally, a rise in IL-6 levels triggers CRP production, and this increase is linked to the severity of COVID-19 as a risk factor (44). Thus, some drugs may be effective in COVID-19 patients by blocking the signal transduction pathway of IL-6 (43). Studies have reported that these drugs cause a significant decrease in CRP levels, an increase in lymphocyte count, and a decrease in COVID-19 clinical symptoms and prognosis (41,45). Tocilizumab is an IL-6 inhibitor and is used in the context of clinical trials in the handling of COVID-19 (46). This drug may be safe due to the small amount of transplacental interaction during pregnancy (47). On the other hand, as the teratogenic effects of such drugs in pregnancy are not fully known, more comprehensive studies are needed to be used in these cases.

Increases in the number of COVID-19 patients lead to the emergence of new variants (Alpha, Beta, Gamma, Delta, and Omicron). Of these, emerging variants such as Omicron adversely affect the success of monoclonal antibody therapy due to mutations in the spike protein receptor binding sites (48). The fact that newly emerged variants (Delta and Omicron) can lead to unsuccessful results in monoclonal antibody treatment (48) reveals that new variants should be taken into account when making arrangements for the treatment of pregnant women with COVID-19.

Apoptotic cell death in endothelial cells of vascular structures due to SARS-CoV-2 infection has been demonstrated in various organs (49). Furthermore, apoptosis has important roles in placental homeostasis, growth, and reform. Abnormalities in the expression of Bax protein, which is involved in apoptosis, are associated with some pathological placental changes (24). In a study, Bax protein was discovered to be a good indicator of apoptotic alterations in placentas with gestational diabetes and preeclampsia (50). In another study, it was reported that the Bax gene could be responsible for pregnancy loss, and variation of this gene would be useful in the evaluation of recurrent pregnancy loss (51).

In our study, Bax expression was observed in the syncytiotrophoblast cytoplasm in the COVID-19 group (Figure 4). It is founded that the cytokine storm and oxidative stress seen in some COVID-19 cases lead to reactive oxygen species-dependent apoptosis of endothelial cells (39). In addition, cytokines such as IL-6 produced in the cytokine storm seen in COVID-19 patients are known to cause apoptosis in lymphoid organs (52). Apoptosis in lymphoid organs due to COVID-19 may also apply to syncytiotrophoblast cells in the placenta. As a matter of fact, the fact that IL-6 and Bax expressions were found to be high together in COVID-19 positive placentas in our study supports this idea. All these data suggest that COVID-19 infection triggers the apoptotic process in placental tissue by increasing the expression of the proapoptotic Bax protein. At this point, it may be beneficial to use Bax and IL-6 expression as a marker to determine apoptotic changes in the placenta in COVID-19.

Limitations

Our study has some limitations; first, the limited number of patients limits the accuracy of the results, necessitating comprehensive studies of large numbers of patients. Second, IL-6 and Bax antibodies were used for immunohistochemistry in this study. Therefore, the scope of research could be expanded in the future by using other markers of inflammation and apoptosis.

CONCLUSION

We believe that COVID-19 causes placental inflammation and damage to trophoblast cells, which can lead to severe maternal and infant disease during pregnancy. Therefore, clinical follow-up of pregnant women infected with COVID-19 is of great significance. During this follow-up, IL-6 and Bax expression levels in the placenta, together with histopathological findings and serum CRP levels, can guide the evaluation of the prognosis, severity and response to treatment of the disease. More comprehensive research is needed to support our recommendations.

ETHICAL DECLARATIONS

Ethics Committee Approval: The study was carried out with the permission of Siirt University Non-Interventional Clinical Researches Ethics Committee (Date: 23.09.2020, Decision No: E.11597).

Informed Consent: Patients who approved to participate in this study were informed about it and completed an informed consent form.

Referee Evaluation Process: Externally peer-reviewed.

Conflict of Interest Statement: All authors state that there is no conflict of interest.

Financial Disclosure: This research received specific grant from Siirt University Scientific Research Center with protocol number 2020-SİÜTIP-037. We kindly thank to Siirt University for their financial aid to conduct this study.

Author Contributions: All of the authors declare that they have all participated in the design, execution, and analysis of the paper, and that they have approved the final version.

REFERENCES

- 1. Cucinotta D, Vanelli M. WHO declares COVID-19 a pandemic. Acta Biomed 2020; 91: 157-60.
- 2. Eastin C, Eastin T. Clinical characteristics of coronavirus disease 2019 in China. J Emerg Med 2020; 58: 711-2.
- 3. Özüdoğru O, Bolatli G, Tas F. Investigation of revers-transcriptase polymerase chain reaction values of patients with COVID-19 findings in lung computed tomography results. J Teknology Laboratorium 2020; 9: 41-8.
- 4. Chen H, Guo J, Wang C, et al. Clinical characteristics and intrauterine vertical transmission potential of COVID-19 infection in nine pregnant women: a retrospective review of medical records. Lancet 2020; 395: 809-15.
- 5. Shoenfeld Y. Corona (COVID-19) time musings: our involvement in COVID-19 pathogenesis, diagnosis, treatment and vaccine planning. Autoimmun Rev 2020; 19: 102538.
- 6. Turner PJ, Ansotegui IJ, Campbell DE, et al. COVID-19 vaccine-associated anaphylaxis: A statement of the World Allergy Organization Anaphylaxis Committee. World Allergy Organization Journal 2021; 14: 100517.
- Koblinsky M, Chowdhury ME, Moran A, Ronsmans C. Maternal morbidity and disability and their consequences: neglected agenda in maternal health. J Health Popul Nutr 2012; 30: 124-30.

- 8. Golden TN, Simmons RA. Maternal and neonatal response to COVID-19. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab 2020; 319: 315-9.
- 9. Hromadnikova I, Kotlabova K, Ondrackova M, et al. Expression profile of C19MC microRNAs in placental tissue in pregnancy-related complications. DNA Cell Biol 2015; 34: 437-57.
- 10.Baergen RN, Heller DS. Placental pathology in COVID-19 positive mothers: preliminary findings. Pediatr Dev Pathol 2020; 23: 177-80.
- 11. Chen S, Huang B, Luo DJ, et al. Pregnancy with new coronavirus infection: clinical characteristics and placental pathological analysis of three cases. Zhonghua bing li xue za zhi= Chinese J Pathol 2020; 49: 418-23.
- 12. Cemgil Arikan D, Aral M, Coskun A, Ozer A. Plasma IL-4, IL-8, IL-12, interferon- γ and CRP levels in pregnant women with preeclampsia, and their relation with severity of disease and fetal birth weight. J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med 2012; 25: 1569-73.
- 13. Li A, Yang S, Zhang J, Qiao R. Establishment of reference intervals for complete blood count parameters during normal pregnancy in Beijing. J Clin Lab Anal 2017; 31: e22150.
- 14. Sharma A, Satyam A, Sharma JB. Leptin, IL-10 and inflammatory markers (TNF-alpha, IL-6 and IL-8) in pre-eclamptic, normotensive pregnant and healthy non-pregnant women. Am J Reprod Immunol 2007; 58: 21-30.
- 15. Popko K, Gorska E, Stelmaszczyk-Emmel A, et al. Proinflammatory cytokines Il-6 and TNF- α and the development of inflammation in obese subjects. Eur J Med Res 2010; 15: 120-2.
- 16. Stinson LF, Payne MS, Keelan JA. Placental and intra-amniotic inflammation are associated with altered fetal immune responses at birth. Placenta 2019; 85: 15-23.
- 17.Granger JP, Alexander BT, Llinas MT, Bennett WA, Khalil RA. Pathophysiology of preeclampsia: linking placental ischemia/ hypoxia with microvascular dysfunction. Microcirculation 2002; 9: 147-60.
- 18.Hsiao EY, Patterson PH. Activation of the maternal immune system induces endocrine changes in the placenta via IL-6. Brain Behav Immun 2011; 25: 604-15.
- 19. Chen X, Zhao B, Qu Y, et al. Detectable serum severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 viral load (RNAemia) is closely correlated with drastically elevated interleukin 6 level in critically ill patients with coronavirus disease 2019. Clin Infect Dis 2020; 71: 1937-42.
- 20.Herold T, Jurinovic V, Arnreich C, et al. Level of IL-6 predicts respiratory failure in hospitalized symptomatic COVID-19 patients. MedRxiv 2020; doi.org/10.1101/2020.04.01.20047381.
- 21.Luo P, Liu Y, Qiu L, Liu X, Liu D, Li J. Tocilizumab treatment in COVID-19: a single center experience. J Med Virol 2020; 92: 814-8.
- 22.Peña-Blanco A, García-Sáez AJ. Bax, Bak and beyondmitochondrial performance in apoptosis. Febs J 2018; 285: 416-31.
- 23.Cil N, Kabukçu C. Effect of vitamin D application on the endometrium. Pamukkale Med J 2021; 14: 175-83.
- 24.Fan J, Yu S, Cui Y, et al. Bcl-2/Bax protein and mRNA expression in yak (Bos grunniens) placentomes. Theriogenology 2017; 104: 23-9.
- 25.Karakoç Z, Topaloğlu U, Ketani MA. Immunohistochemical distribution of ghrelin, obestatin, and leptin hormones in the abomasum of hair goat. Eurasian J Vet Sci 2019; 35: 204-9.
- 26.Curtin WM, Krauss S, Metlay LA, Katzman PJ. Pathologic examination of the placenta and observed practice. Obstet Gynecol 2007; 109: 35-41.
- 27.Lema G, Mremi A, Amsi P, et al. Placental pathology and maternal factors associated with stillbirth: An institutional based case-control study in Northern Tanzania. PLoS One 2020; 15: e0243455.
- 28.Roescher AM, Hitzert MM, Timmer A, Verhagen EA, Erwich JJH, Bos AF. Placental pathology is associated with illness severity in preterm infants in the first twenty-four hours after birth. Early Human Development 2011; 87: 315-9.
- 29. Mullins E, Evans D, Viner RM, O'brien P, Morris E. Coronavirus in pregnancy and delivery: rapid review. Ultrasound Obstet Gynecol 2020; 55: 586-92.
- 30.Schwartz DA, Graham AL. Potential maternal and infant outcomes from (Wuhan) coronavirus 2019-nCoV infecting pregnant women: lessons from SARS, MERS, and other human coronavirus infections. Viruses 2020; 12: 194.
- 31.Di Mascio D, Khalil A, Saccone G, et al. Outcome of coronavirus spectrum infections (SARS, MERS, COVID-19) during pregnancy: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Am J Obstet Gynecol MFM 2020; 2: 100107.
- 32. Shanes ED, Mithal LB, Otero S, Azad HA, Miller ES, Goldstein JA. Placental pathology in COVID-19. Am J Clin Pathol 2020; 154: 23-32.
- 33.Lamouroux A, Attie-Bitach T, Martinovic J, Leruez-Ville M, Ville Y. Evidence for and against vertical transmission for severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2. Am J Obstet Gynecol 2020; 223: 91-4.
- 34.Ng WF, Wong SF, Lam A, et al. The placentas of patients with severe acute respiratory syndrome: a pathophysiological evaluation. Pathology 2006; 38: 210-8.
- 35.Hosier H, Farhadian SF, Morotti RA, et al. SARS-CoV-2 infection of the placenta. J Clin Invest 2020; 130: 4947-53.
- 36.Risvanli A, Godekmerdan A. The effects of post-mating administration of anti-IL-10 and anti-TGFß on conception rates in mice. Int J Fertil Steril 2015; 9: 65-70.
- Lash GE, Ernerudh J. Decidual cytokines and pregnancy complications: focus on spontaneous miscarriage. Jf Reproduct Immunol 2015; 108: 83-9.
- 38.Zenclussen AC, Blois S, Stumpo R, et al. Murine abortion is associated with enhanced interleukin-6 levels at the feto-maternal interface. Cytokine 2003; 24: 150-60.
- 39.Zinovkin RA, Grebenchikov OA. Transcription factor Nrf2 as a potential therapeutic target for prevention of cytokine storm in COVID-19 patients. Biochemistry (Mosc) 2020; 85: 833-7.
- 40.Liu JKH. The history of monoclonal antibody developmentprogress, remaining challenges and future innovations. Annals of Medicine and Surgery 2014; 3: 113-6.
- 41. Aziz M, Haghbin H, Abu Sitta E, et al. Efficacy of tocilizumab in COVID-19: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Med Virol 2021; 93: 1620-30.
- 42. Chen G, Wu D, Guo W, et al. Clinical and immunological features of severe and moderate coronavirus disease 2019. J Clin Invest 2020; 130: 2620-9.
- 43.Zhang C, Wu Z, Li JW, Zhao H, Wang GQ. Cytokine release syndrome in severe COVID-19: interleukin-6 receptor antagonist tocilizumab may be the key to reduce mortality. Int J Antimicrob Agents 2020; 55: 105954.
- 44.Gao YD, Ding M, Dong X, et al. Risk factors for severe and critically ill COVID-19 patients: a review. Allergy 2021; 76: 428-55.
- 45. Mazzoni A, Salvati L, Maggi L, et al. Impaired immune cell cytotoxicity in severe COVID-19 is IL-6 dependent. J Clin Invest 2020; 130: 4694-703.
- 46. Chen CH, Lin SW, Shen CF, Hsieh KS, Cheng CM. Biomarkers during COVID-19: mechanisms of change and implications for patient outcomes. Diagnostics 2022; 12: 509.
- 47. Saito J, Yakuwa N, Kaneko K, et al. Tocilizumab during pregnancy and lactation: drug levels in maternal serum, cord blood, breast milk and infant serum. Rheumatology (Oxford) 2019; 58: 1505-7.

- 48. Tanase A, Manea A, Scurtu AD, et al. The "Invisible Enemy" SARS-CoV-2: viral spread and drug treatment. Medicina 2022; 58: 261.
- 49. Seyit M, Avci E, Yilmaz A, Senol H, Ozen M, Oskay A. Predictive values of coagulation parameters to monitor COVID-19 patients. Int J Clin Practice 2022: 8436248.
- 50.Gokalp-Ozkorkmaz E, Asir F, Basaran SO, et al. Examination of Bcl-2 and Bax protein levels for determining the apoptotic changes in placentas with gestational diabetes and preeclampsia. Proceedings 2018; 2: 1548.
- 51. Mohammad Seyedhassani S, Houshmand M, Mehdi Kalantar S, et al. BAX pro-apoptotic gene alterations in repeated pregnancy loss. Arch Med Sci 2011; 7: 117-22.
- 52. Mutlu P, Mirici A, Gönlügür U, et al. Evaluating the clinical, radiological, microbiological, biochemical parameters and the treatment response in COVID-19 pneumonia. J Health Sci Med 2022; 5: 544-51.

Role of red cell distribution width in colorectal cancer diagnosis and prognosis

OAhmet Karayiğit¹, ODursun Burak Özdemir², OHayrettin Dizen³, OBülent Ünal⁴, Oİlter Özer⁵, OMurat Ulaş⁵

¹University of Health Sciences Adana City Training and Research Hospital, Department of Surgical Oncology, Adana, Turkey ²University of Health Sciences Samsun City Training and Research Hospital, Department of Surgical Oncology, Samsun, Turkey ³Acıbadem Eskişehir Hospital, Department of General Surgery, Eskişehir, Turkey

⁴Istanbul Aydın University Faculty of Medicine, Medical Park Florya Hospital, Department of Organ Transplantation, Istanbul, Turkey ⁵Eskişehir Osmangazi University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Surgical Oncology, Eskişehir, Turkey

Cite this article as: Karayiğit A, Özdemir DB, Dizen H, Ünal B, Özer I, Ulaş M. Role of red cell distribution width in colorectal cancer diagnosis and prognosis. J Health Sci Med 2022; 5(3): 875-881.

ABSTRACT

Objective: We aimed to assess whether red cell distribution width (RDW) was associated with pre-operative clinical features or post-operative clinicopathological outcomes in patients with colorectal cancer (CRC), and to determine the utility of RDW as a diagnostic or prognostic marker of CRC.

Material and Method: This retrospective cohort study was conducted between January 2018-May 2021 at a university hospital in Turkey. A total of 188 patients histologically diagnosed with CRC who had undergone surgery were included in the study.

Results: Our study included 118 (62.77%) male patients, and the mean age of the patients was 66.28 ± 11.71 years. We found that RDW values were significantly higher in females compared to males (p=0.033), in patients with T3 or T4 tumors compared to those with T1 or T2 tumors (p<0.001), in patients with stage 2 and stage 3 tumors compared to stage 1 patients, those with early mortality (p=0.012), in patients with right or transverse colon tumors compared to those with descending colon or sigmoid colon or rectum tumors (p<0.001), and those that died during follow-up compared to survivors (p=0.001). Additionally, age (r=0.233, p<0.001), tumor size (r=0.229, p=0.002) and length of stay in hospital (r=0.167, p=0.022) were positively correlated with RDW values. RDW had 75.7% sensitivity and 67.5% specificity to predict mortality for the cut-off point of 15.7 (AUC: 0.704, 95.0%CI: 0.615-0.793, p<0.001).

Conclusion: These results show that RDW has a potential function as a biomarker for the diagnosis and prognosis of CRC.

Keywords: Colorectal cancer, RDW, prognosis, progression, overall survival

INTRODUCTION

Colorectal cancer (CRC) is the third most common cancer worldwide, with more than 1 million new cases and 600.000 deaths annually (1). It is the second leading cause of cancer-related death among both men and women, and leads to increased healthcare expenditure (2).

Although the mechanisms underlying CRC are not fully understood, appropriate screening and accurate prognostic assessment can reduce deaths from CRC. Stool occult blood testing, stool DNA testing, colonoscopy, and computed tomography (CT) have long been used as screening tools in CRC, but these screening tools have many limitations, such as low sensitivity and specificity, invasiveness, and high cost. Thus, simple, inexpensive and readily available biomarkers for the diagnosis and prognosis of CRC are urgently needed (3). Red blood cell distribution width (RDW) is an important classical element of routine blood examination, mainly reflecting the uniformity of the volume and size of red blood cells. Relatively recent studies have focused on the identification of blood-derived biomarkers that could facilitate the early diagnosis of CRC, but there are currently no widely available markers that can be used to diagnose CRC (4). The RDW value has been shown to be associated with prognosis in various tumors such as renal cell carcinoma, gastric cancer, lung cancer, ovarian cancers, esophageal cancer, endometrial cancer, and breast cancer (3,5). Notably, Ay et al. (6) found that RDW was significantly higher in patients with colon cancer than those with colon

Corresponding Author: Ahmet Karayigit, drkarayigitahmet@gmail.com



polyps, and that RDW could be used as an early indicator for solid colon tumors. Additionally, two recent studies showed that RDW was associated with cancer stage and survival in patients with CRC (7,8). Taken together, these results suggest that RDW may be useful in the diagnosis and prognosis of CRC (3).

The aim of the present study was to assess whether RDW level was associated with pre-operative clinical features and post-operative clinicopathological outcomes of patients with CRC, and to determine the possible utility of RDW as a diagnostic and/or prognostic parameter in CRC.

MATERIAL AND METHOD

This was a retrospective single center study conducted between January 2018-May 2021 at Department of General Surgery, Eskişehir Osmangazi University. The protocol of this study was approved by the Non-Interventional Clinical Researches Ethics Committee of Eskişehir Osmangazi University (Date:15.06.2021, Decision No: 09), and carried out in accordance with the ethical standards stated in the Declaration of Helsinki and its amendments. As the study has a retrospective nature, the Medical Ethics Committee of the Eskişehir Osmangazi University did not require written informed consent from patients. All samples and information were recorded anonymously.

Study Population and Follow-up

A total of 188 patients histologically diagnosed with CRC who had undergone surgery were included in the study. Other inclusion criteria were: being aged older than 18 and younger than 90 years, having a complete blood count result obtained and studied two weeks before the surgery, and being followed for at least 12 months after surgery. Patients who received neoadjuvant chemotherapy and/ or radiotherapy, had an active infection when the blood sample was taken, those in which necessary data were incomplete, patients who were lost to follow-up, subjects with a history of other serious diseases that affect survival outcomes (such as cardiovascular and cerebrovascular diseases, pulmonary diseases, blood diseases, infectious diseases, other malignant tumors, cerebral infarction, pulmonary infarction, uncontrolled hypertension, HIV infection etc.) were excluded from the study.

The following information of each patient was acquired from hospital records: demographic characteristics including age and gender; tumor characteristics including location, size, pathological diagnosis, number of lymph nodes, number of metastatic lymph nodes, differentiation, surgical margin positivity, perineural invasion, lymphovascular invasion, TNM stage and clinical stage (reported according to the pathological classification criteria of the 7th Edition of the American Joint Committee on Cancer guidelines and the Union International Contre Le Cancer criteria for CRC), liver metastasis. Additionally, surgical characteristics including type and extent of surgery, whether ostomy was opened, laboratory measurements (including complete blood count; CBC) length of stay in hospital, follow-up time; complications including leakage, infection and recurrence, and finally, mortality state (early mortality was defined as death occurring within 30 days of surgery).

Patients were called for check-up at regular intervals for an average of 21 months (0-40) postoperatively, and necessary examinations were performed. All outcomes such as leakage, infection, recurrence and death were recorded.

Laboratory Analysis

Blood samples were acquired from the antecubital vein for the measurement of the CBC before the operation. CBC, including hemoglobin and hematocrit values, white blood cell, neutrophil, lymphocyte, platelet counts, and MPV and RDW values were measured via use of routine devices (Sysmex XE-5000, Japan and Roche, Cobas E601, Switzerland) within 2 weeks prior to the date of surgery.

Pathological Analysis

All of the specimens obtained from fully resected tumors were sent to the pathology unit of the Eskişehir Osmangazi University for pathological examinations. Lymph node metastasis, depth of infiltration and tumor size, pathological type and degree of differentiation, radial surgical margin positivity, distal surgical margin positivity, perineural invasion, and lymphovascular invasion were reported by qualified pathologists.

Statistical Analysis

All study data were entered into an SPSS v25 (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA) database and analyses were performed. Q-Q plots and histograms were used to assess quantitative variable distributions. Quantitative variables were depicted with mean±standard deviation or median (1st quartile - 3rd quartile) values with regard to normality of distribution (normal and non-normal, respectively), and as frequency (percentage) for categorical data. Betweengroup comparisons were done with the Mann-Whitney U test or the Kruskal-Wallis test depending on the number of groups being compared, and subsequent post-hoc analyses after Kruskal-Wallis tests were performed with the Bonferroni correction method. Spearman correlation coefficients were calculated to evaluate relationships between quantitative variables. Mortality prediction performance of the RDW was assessed by using Receiver Operating Characteristic (ROC) curve analysis. Optimal cut-off point was determined by using Youden index. Two-tailed p values were calculated and values of p<0.05 were considered to show statistical significance.

RESULTS

Seventy female and 118 male patients were included in our study, and the mean age of the patients was 66.28 ± 11.71 (range 36 - 87) years. Patients and tumor characteristics, laboratory measurements and data obtained throughout clinical follow-up studies are depicted in **Table 1**.

The median RDW value of patients with T3 or T4 tumors was found to be significantly higher than that of patients with T1 or T2 tumors (p < 0.001). We also found a significant relationship between RDW and gender (female > male, p=0.033), tumor stage (stage 1 values lower than stage 2 and 3 values, p=0.010) and mortality. A total of 7 patients had early mortality (postoperative days 0, 2, 3, 5, 14, 22 and 29). The preoperative RDW values of patients who died during this period were significantly higher compared to the other patients (p=0.012). There were no relationships between RDW and any other parameters analyzed (**Table 2**)

When tumor localizations were evaluated, a significant difference was found between the RDW values of patients with right colon tumor (n=67, 35.64%) and patients with rectal tumor (n=74, 39.36%) (p=0.004). Since the number of patients with tumors in other localizations such as the transverse colon (n=15, 7.98%), descending colon (n=16, 8.51%), sigmoid colon and rectosigmoid region (n=16, 8.51%) was insufficient, reliable statistical evaluations could not be performed with respect to specific sites (**Figure 1a, Table 1**). However, when tumor localizations were grouped, the median RDW values of patients with tumors in the right or transverse colon were significantly higher than that of patients with tumors in the descending or sigmoid colon or the rectum (p<0.001) (**Figure 1b**).

In addition, the median RDW value of patients who died was significantly higher compared to those who survived (p=0.001) (**Figure 2**).

There were significant weak positive correlations between RDW and several continuous variables, including age (r=0.233, p<0.001), tumor size (r=0.229, p=0.002) and length of stay in the hospital (r=0.167, p=0.022). There were no significant correlations between RDW values and the number of lymph nodes or the number of metastatic lymph nodes (**Table 3**).

Mortality prediction success of the RDW was found to be statistically significant (AUC: 0.704, 95.0% CI: 0.615 - 0.793, p<0.001) (**Figure 3**). RDW had 75.7% sensitivity, 67.5% specificity, 69.1% accuracy, 36.4% positive predictive value and 91.9% negative predictive value to predict mortality for the cut-off point of 15.7 (equal or higher values predict mortality) (**Table 4**).

Table 1. Summary of patients and tumor of Jahoratory massuraments	characteristics and
Age	66 28+11 71
Gender	00.2011.71
Female	70 (37.23%)
Male	118 (62.77%)
Location	
Right colon	67 (35.64%)
Transverse colon	15 (7.98%)
Descending colon	16 (8.51%)
Pactum	10(8.51%) 74(30.36%)
Pathological diagnosis	74 (39.30%)
Non-mucinous adenocarcinoma	138 (73.40%)
Mucinous adenocarcinoma	50 (26.60%)
Tumor size	40 (27.5 - 60)
Number of lymph nodes	23 (16 - 34.5)
Number of metastatic lymph nodes	0 (0 - 1)
Differentiation	
Poor	20 (10.64%)
Moderate	144 (76.60%)
Vell Padial surgical margin positivity	24 (12.77%)
Distal surgical margin positivity	4(2.15%) 3(1.60%)
Perineural invasion	42 (22 34%)
Lymphoyascular invasion	66 (35.11%)
T stage	
TI	6 (3.19%)
T2	33 (17.55%)
T3	118 (62.77%)
T4	31 (16.49%)
N stage	
NO	117 (62.23%)
N1 N2	48 (25.55%)
Stage	25 (12.2570)
Stage 1	31 (16.49%)
Stage 2	85 (45.21%)
Stage 3	72 (38.30%)
Liver metastasis	1 (0.53%)
Type of surgery	
Laparoscopy	33 (17.55%)
Open surgery	155 (82.45%)
Dight homicoloctomy	E2 (29 100/)
Transverse hemicolectomy	10 (5 32%)
Left hemicolectomy	21 (11.17%)
Anterior resection	24 (12.77%)
Low anterior resection	62 (32.98%)
Abdominoperineal resection	17 (9.04%)
Other	1 (0.53%)
Ostomy	76 (40.43%)
Hemoglobin	12.32 ± 2.12
Hematocrit	37.89±5.56
White blood cell (x1000)	7.34 (5.90 - 9.60)
Neutrophil (x1000)	4.85 (3.91 - 6./1)
Platelet (x1000)	1.40(1.03 - 2.01) 279(223 - 372)
MPV	9 56+1 15
RDW	14.65 (13.30 - 17.55)
Length of stay in hospital, days	6 (5 - 9)
Follow-up time, months	21 (12.5 - 28)
Leakage	7 (3.72%)
Infection	30 (15.96%)
Recurrence	12 (6.38%)
Mortality	37 (19.68%)
Early mortality (≤30 days)	7 (3.72%)
Data are given as mean±standard deviation or median (for continuous variables according to normality of distr (percentage) for categorical variables	1st quartile - 3rd quartile) ibution and as frequency

Median (staguartie-sd)PGender0.033Female15.5 (13.7 · 17.9)Male14.55 (13.2 · 17.9)Male14.55 (13.2 · 17.9)Location6.001Right colon & Transverso colon16.25 (14.0 · 19.1)Desending colon & Sigmoid colon & Recturm14.2 (13.3 · 16.6)Pathological diagnosis14.9 (13.5 · 17.8)Mon-mucinous adenocarcinoma14.9 (13.5 · 17.8)Non-mucinous adenocarcinoma14.9 (13.6 · 17.8)Por0.395 (13.1 · 17.4)Por13.95 (13.1 · 17.4)Por14.65 (13.4 · 17.8)Well16.1 (13.5 · 17.6)Por14.65 (13.4 · 17.8)Yeas14.65 (13.4 · 17.8)Yeas14.65 (13.4 · 17.8)Yeas14.65 (13.4 · 17.8)Yeas14.65 (13.4 · 17.8)Yeas14.43 (13.1 · 18.4)Yeas14.43 (13.3 · 17.8)Yeas15.13 (13.6 · 18.4)Yas15.3 (13.5 · 18.1)Natage0.816Natage0.816Natage0.816Natage0.816Natage0.816Natage0.816Natage0.816Natage0.816Natage0.816Natage0.816Natage0.816Natage0.816Natage0.816Natage0.816Natage0.816Natage0.816Natage0.816Natage0.816Natage0.816Natag	Table 2. Summary of RDW with regardcharacteristics	ard to patients and tun	nor
Gender0.033Female15.5 (13.7 - 17.9)Male14.55 (13.2 - 17.2)Location<0.001Right colon & Transverse colon16.25 (14.0 - 19.1)Descending colon & Sigmoid colon & Rectum14.2 (13.3 - 16.6)Pathological diagnosis0.149Non-mucinous adenocarcinoma14.9 (13.5 - 17.8)Mucinous adenocarcinoma14.9 (13.5 - 17.8)Mucinous adenocarcinoma14.9 (13.5 - 17.8)Mucinous adenocarcinoma14.9 (13.5 - 17.8)Moderate14.65 (13.4 - 17.35)Well16.1 (13.5 - 17.65)Perineural invasion0.504No14.65 (13.4 - 17.35)Well16.1 (13.5 - 17.6)Perineural invasion0.211No14.65 (13.3 - 17.2)Yes14.49 (13.3 - 17.8)Yes14.49 (13.3 - 17.8)Yes14.49 (13.3 - 17.8)Yes15.3 (13.5 - 18.1)No14.89 (13.3 - 17.8)Yes15.3 (13.5 - 18.1)N stage0.586N014.8 (13.5 - 17.7)N114.85 (13.3 - 16.9)N214.4 (13.3 - 17.2)Stage 13.9 (13.2 - 15.3)Stage 2 & 315.1 (13.5 - 17.9)Leakage0.271No14.6 (13.3 - 17.2)Yes17.9 (13.2 - 19.4)Infection0.263No15.1 (13.5 - 15.7)Recurrence0.086No14.6 (13.3 - 17.2)Yes17.2 (15 - 18.75)Status<70.01Alive14.4 (13.3		Median (1st quartile-3rd quartile)	р
Female 15.5 (13.7 - 17.9) Male 14.55 (13.2 - 17.2) Location <0.001	Gender		0.033
Male14.55 (13.2 - 17.2)Location<0.001	Female	15.5 (13.7 - 17.9)	
Location <0.001	Male	14.55 (13.2 - 17.2)	
Right colon & Transverse colon 16.25 (14.0 - 19.1) Descending colon & Sigmoid colon & Rectum 14.2 (13.3 - 16.6) Pathological diagnosis 0.149 Non-mucinous adenocarcinoma 14.9 (13.5 - 17.8) Mucinous adenocarcinoma 14.9 (13.5 - 17.4) Mucinous adenocarcinoma 14.65 (13.4 - 17.3) Poor 13.95 (13.1 - 17.4) Moderate 14.65 (13.4 - 17.8) Well 16.1 (13.5 - 17.65) Perineural invasion 14.65 (13.3 - 17.2) Yes 14.65 (13.3 - 17.8) Yes 14.69 (13.3 - 17.8) Yes 14.9 (13.3 - 17.8) Yes 14.3 (13.1 - 18.4) IT a KT2 13.8 (13.2 - 15.2) T3 & T4 15.3 (13.5 - 18.1) N stage 0.001 T1 & T2 13.8 (13.2 - 15.2) T3 & T4 15.3 (13.5 - 17.7) N1 14.85 (13.3 - 16.9) N2 14.3 (13.1 - 18.4) Stage 0.211 No 14.6 (13.3 - 17.2) Yes 17.9 (13.2 - 15.4) Infection 0.263	Location		< 0.001
Descending colon & Sigmoid colon & Rectum14.2 (13.3 - 16.6)Pathological diagnosis0.149Non-mucinous adenocarcinoma14.9 (13.5 - 17.8)Mucinous adenocarcinoma14.35 (13.2 - 17.2)Differentiation0.477Poor13.95 (13.1 - 17.4)Moderate14.65 (13.4 - 17.35)Well16.1 (13.5 - 17.65)Perineural invasion0.504No14.65 (13.4 - 17.8)Yes14.65 (13.3 - 17.2)Iymphovascular invasion0.211No14.9 (13.3 - 17.8)Yes14.4 (13.3 - 17.7)Yes14.4 (13.3 - 17.2)T stage0.001T1 & T213.8 (13.2 - 15.2)T3 & T415.3 (13.5 - 18.7)No14.8 (13.5 - 17.7)N114.85 (13.3 - 16.9)N214.8 (13.5 - 17.7)N114.8 (13.5 - 17.7)N114.85 (13.3 - 16.9)N215.1 (13.5 - 17.9)Stage 113.9 (13.2 - 15.3)Stage 2 & 315.1 (13.5 - 17.9)Leakage0.271No14.6 (13.3 - 17.2)Yes17.9 (13.2 - 19.4)Infection0.263No15.1 (13.3 - 17.8)Yes14.3 (13.1 - 18.7)Yes0.151 (13.3 - 17.8)Yes14.6 (13.3 - 17.2)Yes14.6 (13.3 - 17.2)Yes0.012No14.6 (13.3 - 17.2)Yes0.012No14.6 (13.3 - 17.2)Yes0.012No14.6 (13.3 - 17.2)	Right colon & Transverse colon	16.25 (14.0 - 19.1)	
Pathological diagnosis0.149Non-mucinous adenocarcinoma14.9 (13.5 - 17.8)Mucinous adenocarcinoma14.35 (13.2 - 17.2)Differentiation0.477Poor13.95 (13.1 - 17.4)Moderate14.65 (13.4 - 17.35)Well16.1 (13.5 - 17.65)Perineural invasion14.65 (13.4 - 17.8)Yes14.65 (13.3 - 17.2)Yes14.65 (13.3 - 17.8)Yes14.65 (13.3 - 17.8)Yes14.61 (13.3 - 17.8)Yes14.4 (13.3 - 17.8)Yes15.3 (13.2 - 15.2)T stage0.001T stage0.801No14.8 (13.5 - 18.1)N stage0.836NO14.8 (13.5 - 17.7)N114.85 (13.3 - 16.9)N214.3 (13.1 - 18.4)Stage 113.9 (13.2 - 15.3)Stage 2 & 315.1 (13.5 - 17.9)Leakage0.201No14.6 (13.3 - 17.2)Yes15.1 (13.3 - 17.8)Yes15.1 (13.3 - 17.8)Yes15.1 (13.3 - 17.8)Yes15.1 (13.3 - 17.8)Yes15.1 (13.3 - 17.2)Yes17.2 (15 - 18.75)Recurrence0.086No14.6 (13.3 - 17.2)Yes17.2 (15 - 18.75)Status<0.011	Descending colon & Sigmoid colon & Rectum	14.2 (13.3 - 16.6)	
Non-mucinous adenocarcinoma 14.9 (13.5 - 17.8) Mucinous adenocarcinoma 14.35 (13.2 - 17.2) Differentiation 0.477 Poor 13.95 (13.1 - 17.4) Moderate 14.65 (13.4 - 17.35) Well 16.1 (13.5 - 17.65) Perineural invasion 0.504 No 14.65 (13.4 - 17.8) Yes 14.65 (13.3 - 17.2) Lymphovascular invasion 0.211 No 14.9 (13.3 - 17.8) Yes 14.4 (13.3 - 17.2) T stage 0.001 T 1 & T2 13.8 (13.2 - 15.2) T 3 & T4 15.3 (13.5 - 18.1) N stage 0.586 N0 14.8 (13.5 - 17.7) N1 14.85 (13.3 - 16.9) N2 13.9 (13.2 - 15.3) Stage 0.010 Stage 1 13.9 (13.2 - 15.3) Stage 2 & 3 15.1 (13.5 - 17.7) No 14.6 (13.3 - 17.2) Yes 17.9 (13.2 - 19.4) Leakage 0.271 No 14.6 (13.3 - 17.2) Y	Pathological diagnosis		0.149
Mucinous adenocarcinoma 14.35 (13.2 - 17.2) Differentiation 0.477 Poor 13.95 (13.1 - 17.4) Moderate 14.65 (13.4 - 17.35) Well 16.1 (13.5 - 17.65) Perineural invasion 0.504 No 14.65 (13.4 - 17.8) Yes 14.65 (13.3 - 17.2) Lymphovascular invasion 0.211 No 14.9 (13.3 - 17.8) Yes 14.4 (13.3 - 17.1) T stage 0.001 T1 & T2 13.8 (13.2 - 15.2) T3 & T4 15.3 (13.5 - 18.1) N stage 0.586 N0 14.8 (13.5 - 17.7) N1 14.85 (13.3 - 16.9) N2 14.3 (13.1 - 18.4) Stage 0.010 Stage 1 13.9 (13.2 - 15.3) Stage 1 13.9 (13.2 - 15.3) Stage 2 & 3 15.1 (13.5 - 17.7) No 14.6 (13.3 - 17.2) Yes 17.2 (15.5 - 15.7) Leakage 0.271 No 14.5 (13.3 - 17.2) Yes 17	Non-mucinous adenocarcinoma	14.9 (13.5 - 17.8)	
Differentiation 0.477 Poor 13.95 (13.1 - 17.4) Moderate 14.65 (13.4 - 17.35) Well 16.1 (13.5 - 17.65) Perineural invasion 0.504 No 14.65 (13.4 - 17.8) Yes 14.65 (13.3 - 17.2) Lymphovascular invasion 0.211 No 14.9 (13.3 - 17.8) Yes 14.4 (13.3 - 17.1) T stage 0.001 T1 & T2 13.8 (13.2 - 15.2) T3 & T4 15.3 (13.5 - 18.1) N stage 0.586 N0 14.8 (13.5 - 17.7) N1 14.85 (13.3 - 16.9) N2 14.3 (13.1 - 18.4) Stage 0.010 Stage 1 13.9 (13.2 - 15.3) Stage 2 & 3 15.1 (13.5 - 17.7) No 14.6 (13.3 - 17.2) Yes 17.9 (13.2 - 19.4) Infection 0.263 No 15.1 (13.3 - 17.8) Yes 14.35 (13.5 - 15.7) Recurrence 0.086 No 14.6 (13.3 - 17.2) Yes 17.2 (15 - 18.75) Statu	Mucinous adenocarcinoma	14.35 (13.2 - 17.2)	
Poor 13.95 (13.1 - 17.4) Moderate 14.65 (13.4 - 17.35) Well 16.1 (13.5 - 17.65) Perineural invasion 0.504 No 14.65 (13.4 - 17.8) Yes 14.65 (13.3 - 17.2) Lymphovascular invasion 0.211 No 14.9 (13.3 - 17.8) Yes 14.4 (13.3 - 17.1) T stage 0.001 T1 & T2 13.8 (13.2 - 15.2) T3 & T4 15.3 (13.5 - 18.1) N stage 0.586 N0 14.8 (13.5 - 17.7) N1 14.85 (13.3 - 16.9) N2 14.3 (13.1 - 18.4) Stage 0.010 Stage 1 13.9 (13.2 - 15.3) Stage 1 13.9 (13.2 - 15.3) Stage 2 & 3 15.1 (13.5 - 17.9) Leakage 0.271 No 14.6 (13.3 - 17.2) Yes 17.9 (13.2 - 19.4) Infection 0.263 No 15.1 (13.3 - 17.8) Yes 14.35 (13.5 - 15.7) Recurrence 0.086 N	Differentiation		0.477
Moderate14.65 (13.4 - 17.35)Well16.1 (13.5 - 17.65)Perineural invasion0.504No14.65 (13.4 - 17.8)Yes14.65 (13.3 - 17.2)Lymphovascular invasion0.211No14.9 (13.3 - 17.8)Yes14.4 (13.3 - 17.1)T stage0.001T1 & T213.8 (13.2 - 15.2)T3 & T415.3 (13.5 - 18.1)N stage0.586N014.8 (13.5 - 17.7)N114.85 (13.3 - 16.9)N214.3 (13.1 - 18.4)Stage0.010Stage 113.9 (13.2 - 15.3)Stage 2 & 315.1 (13.5 - 17.9)Leakage0.271No14.6 (13.3 - 17.2)Yes17.9 (13.2 - 19.4)Infection0.263No15.1 (13.3 - 17.8)Yes17.9 (13.2 - 19.4)Infection0.263No15.1 (13.3 - 17.8)Yes17.2 (15 - 18.75)Status<0.001	Poor	13.95 (13.1 - 17.4)	
Well 16.1 (13.5 - 17.65) Perineural invasion 0.504 No 14.65 (13.4 - 17.8) Yes 14.65 (13.3 - 17.2) Lymphovascular invasion 0.211 No 14.9 (13.3 - 17.8) Yes 14.4 (13.3 - 17.1) T stage 0.001 T1 & T2 13.8 (13.2 - 15.2) T3 & T4 15.3 (13.5 - 18.1) N stage 0.586 N0 14.8 (13.5 - 17.7) N1 14.85 (13.3 - 16.9) N2 14.3 (13.1 - 18.4) Stage 0.010 Stage 1 13.9 (13.2 - 15.3) Stage 2 & 3 15.1 (13.5 - 17.9) Leakage 0.271 No 14.6 (13.3 - 17.2) Yes 17.9 (13.2 - 15.4) Infection 0.263 No 15.1 (13.3 - 17.8) Yes 17.9 (13.2 - 15.7) Recurrence 0.086 No 15.1 (13.3 - 17.2) Yes 17.2 (15 - 18.75) Status <0.001	Moderate	14.65 (13.4 - 17.35)	
Perineural invasion 0.504 No 14.65 (13.4 - 17.8) Yes 14.65 (13.3 - 17.2) Lymphovascular invasion 0.211 No 14.9 (13.3 - 17.8) Yes 14.4 (13.3 - 17.1) T stage 0.001 T1 & T2 13.8 (13.2 - 15.2) T3 & T4 15.3 (13.5 - 18.1) N stage 0.586 N0 14.8 (13.5 - 17.7) N1 14.85 (13.3 - 16.9) N2 14.3 (13.1 - 18.4) Stage 0.010 Stage 1 13.9 (13.2 - 15.3) Stage 2 & 3 15.1 (13.5 - 17.9) Leakage 0.271 No 14.6 (13.3 - 17.2) Yes 17.9 (13.2 - 19.4) Infection 0.263 No 15.1 (13.3 - 17.8) Yes 17.9 (13.2 - 19.4) Recurrence 0.086 No 14.6 (13.3 - 17.2) Yes 17.2 (15 - 18.75) Status <0.001	Well	16.1 (13.5 - 17.65)	
No 14.65 (13.4 - 17.8) Yes 14.65 (13.3 - 17.2) Lymphovascular invasion 0.211 No 14.9 (13.3 - 17.8) Yes 14.4 (13.3 - 17.1) T stage 0.001 T1 & T2 13.8 (13.2 - 15.2) T3 & T4 15.3 (13.5 - 18.1) N stage 0.586 N0 14.8 (13.5 - 17.7) N1 14.85 (13.3 - 16.9) N2 14.3 (13.1 - 18.4) Stage 0.010 Stage 1 13.9 (13.2 - 15.3) Stage 2 & 3 15.1 (13.5 - 17.9) Leakage 0.271 No 14.6 (13.3 - 17.2) Yes 17.9 (13.2 - 15.3) Stage 2 & 3 15.1 (13.5 - 17.9) Leakage 0.271 No 14.6 (13.3 - 17.2) Yes 17.9 (13.2 - 19.4) Infection 0.263 No 15.1 (13.3 - 17.8) Yes 14.6 (13.3 - 17.2) Yes 17.2 (15 - 18.75) Status <0.001	Perineural invasion		0.504
Yes $14.65 (13.3 - 17.2)$ Lymphovascular invasion 0.211 No $14.9 (13.3 - 17.8)$ Yes $14.4 (13.3 - 17.1)$ T stage 0.001 T1 & T2 $13.8 (13.2 - 15.2)$ T3 & T4 $15.3 (13.5 - 18.1)$ N stage 0.586 N0 $14.8 (13.5 - 17.7)$ N1 $14.85 (13.3 - 16.9)$ N2 $14.3 (13.1 - 18.4)$ Stage 0.010 Stage 1 $13.9 (13.2 - 15.3)$ Stage 2 & 3 $15.1 (13.5 - 17.9)$ Leakage 0.271 No $14.6 (13.3 - 17.2)$ Yes $17.9 (13.2 - 19.4)$ Infection 0.263 No $15.1 (13.3 - 17.8)$ Yes $17.2 (15 - 18.75)$ Recurrence 0.086 No $14.6 (13.3 - 17.2)$ Yes $17.2 (15 - 18.75)$ Status <0.001 Alive $14.4 (13.3 - 17.2)$ Exitus $17.1 (15.7 - 19.1)$ Early mortality (<30 days)	No	14.65 (13.4 - 17.8)	
Lymphovascular invasion 0.211 No 14.9 (13.3 - 17.8) Yes 14.4 (13.3 - 17.1) T stage 0.001 T1 & T2 13.8 (13.2 - 15.2) T3 & T4 15.3 (13.5 - 18.1) N stage 0.586 N0 14.8 (13.5 - 17.7) N1 14.85 (13.3 - 16.9) N2 14.3 (13.1 - 18.4) Stage 0.010 Stage 1 13.9 (13.2 - 15.3) Stage 2 & 3 15.1 (13.5 - 17.9) Leakage 0.271 No 14.6 (13.3 - 17.9) Leakage 0.271 No 14.6 (13.3 - 17.2) Yes 17.9 (13.2 - 19.4) Infection 0.263 No 15.1 (13.3 - 17.8) Yes 17.2 (15 - 18.7) Recurrence 0.086 No 14.6 (13.3 - 17.2) Yes 17.2 (15 - 18.7) Status <0.001	Yes	14.65 (13.3 - 17.2)	
No $14.9 (13.3 - 17.8)$ Yes $14.4 (13.3 - 17.1)$ T stage 0.001 T1 & T2 $13.8 (13.2 - 15.2)$ T3 & T4 $15.3 (13.5 - 18.1)$ N stage 0.586 N0 $14.8 (13.5 - 17.7)$ N1 $14.85 (13.3 - 16.9)$ N2 $14.3 (13.1 - 18.4)$ Stage 0.010 Stage 1 $13.9 (13.2 - 15.3)$ Stage 2 & 3 $15.1 (13.5 - 17.9)$ Leakage 0.271 No $14.6 (13.3 - 17.2)$ Yes $17.9 (13.2 - 19.4)$ Infection 0.263 No $15.1 (13.3 - 17.8)$ Yes $17.2 (15 - 18.7)$ Status <0.001 Alive $14.4 (13.3 - 17.2)$ Yes $17.2 (15 - 18.75)$ Status <0.001 Alive $14.4 (13.3 - 17.2)$ Yes $17.1 (15.7 - 19.1)$ Early mortality (≤ 30 days) 0.012 No $14.6 (13.3 - 17.2)$ Yes $18.6 (17.1 - 20.2)$	Lymphovascular invasion		0.211
Yes $14.4 (13.3 - 17.1)$ T stage0.001T1 & T2 $13.8 (13.2 - 15.2)$ T3 & T4 $15.3 (13.5 - 18.1)$ N stage0.586N0 $14.8 (13.5 - 17.7)$ N1 $14.85 (13.3 - 16.9)$ N2 $14.3 (13.1 - 18.4)$ Stage0.010Stage 1 $13.9 (13.2 - 15.3)$ Stage 2 & 3 $15.1 (13.5 - 17.9)$ Leakage0.271No $14.6 (13.3 - 17.2)$ Yes $17.9 (13.2 - 19.4)$ Infection0.263No $15.1 (13.3 - 17.8)$ Yes $17.2 (15 - 18.7)$ Status<0.001	No	14.9 (13.3 - 17.8)	
T stage0.001T1 & T213.8 (13.2 - 15.2)T3 & T415.3 (13.5 - 18.1)N stage0.586N014.8 (13.5 - 17.7)N114.85 (13.3 - 16.9)N214.3 (13.1 - 18.4)Stage 10.010Stage 2 & 315.1 (13.5 - 17.9)Leakage0.271No14.6 (13.3 - 17.2)Yes17.9 (13.2 - 19.4)Infection0.263No15.1 (13.3 - 17.8)Yes17.2 (15 - 18.75)Status<0.001	Yes	14.4 (13.3 - 17.1)	
T1 & T2 $13.8 (13.2 - 15.2)$ T3 & T4 $15.3 (13.5 - 18.1)$ N stage 0.586 N0 $14.8 (13.5 - 17.7)$ N1 $14.85 (13.3 - 16.9)$ N2 $14.3 (13.1 - 18.4)$ Stage 0.010 Stage 1 $13.9 (13.2 - 15.3)$ Stage 2 & 3 $15.1 (13.5 - 17.9)$ Leakage 0.271 No $14.6 (13.3 - 17.2)$ Yes $17.9 (13.2 - 19.4)$ Infection 0.263 No $15.1 (13.3 - 17.8)$ Yes $14.35 (13.5 - 15.7)$ Recurrence 0.086 No $14.6 (13.3 - 17.2)$ Yes $17.2 (15 - 18.75)$ Status <0.001 Alive $14.4 (13.3 - 17.2)$ Exitus $17.1 (15.7 - 19.1)$ Early mortality (≤ 30 days) 0.012 No $14.6 (13.3 - 17.2)$ Yes $18.6 (17.1 - 20.2)$	T stage		0.001
T3 & T415.3 (13.5 - 18.1)N stage0.586N014.8 (13.5 - 17.7)N114.85 (13.3 - 16.9)N214.3 (13.1 - 18.4)Stage 10.010Stage 2 & 315.1 (13.5 - 17.9)Leakage0.271No14.6 (13.3 - 17.2)Yes17.9 (13.2 - 19.4)Infection0.263No15.1 (13.5 - 15.7)Recurrence0.086No14.6 (13.3 - 17.2)Yes17.2 (15 - 18.75)Status<0.001	T1 & T2	13.8 (13.2 - 15.2)	
N stage0.586N014.8 (13.5 - 17.7)N114.85 (13.3 - 16.9)N214.3 (13.1 - 18.4)Stage 113.9 (13.2 - 15.3)Stage 2 & 315.1 (13.5 - 17.9)Leakage0.271No14.6 (13.3 - 17.2)Yes17.9 (13.2 - 19.4)Infection0.263No15.1 (13.3 - 17.8)Yes14.35 (13.5 - 15.7)Recurrence0.086No14.6 (13.3 - 17.2)Yes17.2 (15 - 18.75)Status<0.001	T3 & T4	15.3 (13.5 - 18.1)	
N0 $14.8 (13.5 - 17.7)$ N1 $14.85 (13.3 - 16.9)$ N2 $14.3 (13.1 - 18.4)$ Stage 0.010 Stage 1 $13.9 (13.2 - 15.3)$ Stage 2 & 3 $15.1 (13.5 - 17.9)$ Leakage 0.271 No $14.6 (13.3 - 17.2)$ Yes $17.9 (13.2 - 19.4)$ Infection 0.263 No $15.1 (13.3 - 17.8)$ Yes $14.35 (13.5 - 15.7)$ Recurrence 0.086 No $14.6 (13.3 - 17.2)$ Yes $17.2 (15 - 18.75)$ Status <0.001 Alive $14.4 (13.3 - 17.2)$ Exitus $17.1 (15.7 - 19.1)$ Early mortality (≤ 30 days) 0.012 No $14.6 (13.3 - 17.2)$ Yes $18.6 (17.1 - 20.2)$	N stage	~ /	0.586
N1 $14.85 (13.3 - 16.9)$ N2 $14.3 (13.1 - 18.4)$ Stage 0.010 Stage 1 $13.9 (13.2 - 15.3)$ Stage 2 & 3 $15.1 (13.5 - 17.9)$ Leakage 0.271 No $14.6 (13.3 - 17.2)$ Yes $17.9 (13.2 - 19.4)$ Infection 0.263 No $15.1 (13.3 - 17.8)$ Yes $14.35 (13.5 - 15.7)$ Recurrence 0.086 No $14.6 (13.3 - 17.2)$ Yes $17.2 (15 - 18.75)$ Status <0.001 Alive $14.4 (13.3 - 17.2)$ Exitus $17.1 (15.7 - 19.1)$ Early mortality (≤ 30 days) 0.012 No $14.6 (13.3 - 17.2)$ Yes $18.6 (17.1 - 20.2)$	N0	14.8 (13.5 - 17.7)	
N214.3 (13.1 - 18.4)Stage0.010Stage 113.9 (13.2 - 15.3)Stage 2 & 315.1 (13.5 - 17.9)Leakage0.271No14.6 (13.3 - 17.2)Yes17.9 (13.2 - 19.4)Infection0.263No15.1 (13.3 - 17.8)Yes14.35 (13.5 - 15.7)Recurrence0.086No14.6 (13.3 - 17.2)Yes17.2 (15 - 18.75)Status<0.001	N1	14.85 (13.3 - 16.9)	
Stage0.010Stage 1 $13.9 (13.2 - 15.3)$ Stage 2 & 3 $15.1 (13.5 - 17.9)$ Leakage 0.271 No $14.6 (13.3 - 17.2)$ Yes $17.9 (13.2 - 19.4)$ Infection 0.263 No $15.1 (13.3 - 17.8)$ Yes $14.35 (13.5 - 15.7)$ Recurrence 0.086 No $14.6 (13.3 - 17.2)$ Yes $17.2 (15 - 18.75)$ Status <0.001 Alive $14.4 (13.3 - 17.2)$ Exitus $17.1 (15.7 - 19.1)$ Early mortality (≤ 30 days) 0.012 No $14.6 (13.3 - 17.2)$ Yes $18.6 (17.1 - 20.2)$	N2	14.3 (13.1 - 18.4)	
Stage 1 $13.9 (13.2 - 15.3)$ Stage 2 & 3 $15.1 (13.5 - 17.9)$ Leakage 0.271 No $14.6 (13.3 - 17.2)$ Yes $17.9 (13.2 - 19.4)$ Infection 0.263 No $15.1 (13.3 - 17.8)$ Yes $14.35 (13.5 - 15.7)$ Recurrence 0.086 No $14.6 (13.3 - 17.2)$ Yes $17.2 (15 - 18.75)$ Status <0.001 Alive $14.4 (13.3 - 17.2)$ Exitus $17.1 (15.7 - 19.1)$ Early mortality (≤ 30 days) 0.012 No $14.6 (13.3 - 17.2)$ Yes $18.6 (17.1 - 20.2)$	Stage	~ /	0.010
Stage 2 & 315.1 (13.5 - 17.9)Leakage0.271No14.6 (13.3 - 17.2)Yes17.9 (13.2 - 19.4)Infection0.263No15.1 (13.3 - 17.8)Yes14.35 (13.5 - 15.7)Recurrence0.086No14.6 (13.3 - 17.2)Yes17.2 (15 - 18.75)Status<0.001	Stage 1	13.9 (13.2 - 15.3)	
Leakage 0.271 No $14.6 (13.3 - 17.2)$ Yes $17.9 (13.2 - 19.4)$ Infection 0.263 No $15.1 (13.3 - 17.8)$ Yes $14.35 (13.5 - 15.7)$ Recurrence 0.086 No $14.6 (13.3 - 17.2)$ Yes $17.2 (15 - 18.75)$ Status<0.001	Stage 2 & 3	15.1 (13.5 - 17.9)	
No 14.6 (13.3 - 17.2) Yes 17.9 (13.2 - 19.4) Infection 0.263 No 15.1 (13.3 - 17.8) Yes 14.35 (13.5 - 15.7) Recurrence 0.086 No 14.6 (13.3 - 17.2) Yes 17.2 (15 - 18.75) Status <0.001	Leakage	(0.271
Yes $17.9 (13.2 - 19.4)$ Infection 0.263 No $15.1 (13.3 - 17.8)$ Yes $14.35 (13.5 - 15.7)$ Recurrence 0.086 No $14.6 (13.3 - 17.2)$ Yes $17.2 (15 - 18.75)$ Status <0.001 Alive $14.4 (13.3 - 17.2)$ Exitus $17.1 (15.7 - 19.1)$ Early mortality (≤ 30 days) 0.012 No $14.6 (13.3 - 17.2)$ Yes $18.6 (17.1 - 20.2)$	No	14.6 (13.3 - 17.2)	
$\begin{tabular}{ c c c c } & 0.263 \\ \hline No & 15.1 (13.3 - 17.8) \\ \hline Yes & 14.35 (13.5 - 15.7) \\ \hline Recurrence & 0.086 \\ \hline No & 14.6 (13.3 - 17.2) \\ \hline Yes & 17.2 (15 - 18.75) \\ \hline Status & <0.001 \\ \hline Alive & 14.4 (13.3 - 17.2) \\ \hline Exitus & 17.1 (15.7 - 19.1) \\ \hline Early mortality (\le 30 \ days) & 0.012 \\ \hline No & 14.6 (13.3 - 17.2) \\ \hline Yes & 18.6 (17.1 - 20.2) \\ \hline \end{tabular}$	Yes	17.9 (13.2 - 19.4)	
No $15.1 (13.3 - 17.8)$ Yes $14.35 (13.5 - 15.7)$ Recurrence 0.086 No $14.6 (13.3 - 17.2)$ Yes $17.2 (15 - 18.75)$ Status <0.001 Alive $14.4 (13.3 - 17.2)$ Exitus $17.1 (15.7 - 19.1)$ Early mortality (≤ 30 days) 0.012 No $14.6 (13.3 - 17.2)$ Yes $18.6 (17.1 - 20.2)$	Infection	, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	0.263
Yes $14.35 (13.5 - 15.7)$ Recurrence 0.086 No $14.6 (13.3 - 17.2)$ Yes $17.2 (15 - 18.75)$ Status <0.001 Alive $14.4 (13.3 - 17.2)$ Exitus $17.1 (15.7 - 19.1)$ Early mortality (≤ 30 days) 0.012 No $14.6 (13.3 - 17.2)$ Yes $18.6 (17.1 - 20.2)$	No	15.1 (13.3 - 17.8)	
Recurrence 0.086 No $14.6 (13.3 - 17.2)$ Yes $17.2 (15 - 18.75)$ Status <0.001 Alive $14.4 (13.3 - 17.2)$ Exitus $17.1 (15.7 - 19.1)$ Early mortality (≤ 30 days) 0.012 No $14.6 (13.3 - 17.2)$ Yes $18.6 (17.1 - 20.2)$	Yes	14.35 (13.5 - 15.7)	
No 14.6 (13.3 - 17.2) Yes 17.2 (15 - 18.75) Status <0.001	Recurrence		0.086
Yes 17.2 (15 - 18.75) Status <0.001	No	14.6 (13.3 - 17.2)	
Status <0.001	Yes	17.2 (15 - 18.75)	
Alive 14.4 (13.3 - 17.2) Exitus 17.1 (15.7 - 19.1) Early mortality (≤30 days) 0.012 No 14.6 (13.3 - 17.2) Yes 18.6 (17.1 - 20.2)	Status		< 0.001
Exitus 17.1 (15.7 - 19.1) Early mortality (≤30 days) 0.012 No 14.6 (13.3 - 17.2) Yes 18.6 (17.1 - 20.2)	Alive	14.4 (13.3 - 17.2)	(01001
Early mortality (≤30 days) 0.012 No 14.6 (13.3 - 17.2) Yes 18.6 (17.1 - 20.2)	Exitus	17.1(15.7 - 19.1)	
No 14.6 (13.3 - 17.2) Yes 18.6 (17.1 - 20.2)	Early mortality $(<30 \text{ days})$		0.012
Yes 18.6 (17.1 - 20.2)	No	146(133-172)	0.012
10.0 (17.1 - 20.2)	Yes	18.6(17.1-20.2)	
Same letters denote the lack of statistically significant differences between groups	Same letters denote the lack of statistically signi	ificant differences between g	roups

Table 3. Relationships between RDW and continuous variables				
r p				
Age	0.233	0.001		
Tumor size	0.229	0.002		
Number of lymph nodes	0.048	0.516		
Number of metastatic lymph nodes	-0.059	0.420		
Length of stay in hospital	0.167	0.022		
r: Spearman correlation coefficient				



Figure 1a, 1b. Relationships between RDW and tumor site



Figure 2. Relationship between RDW and mortality



Figure 3. ROC curve of the RDW to predict mortality

Table 4. Performance of the RDW to predict mortality			
Cut-off	≥15.7		
Sensitivity	75.7%		
Specificity	67.5%		
Accuracy	69.1%		
PPV	36.4%		
NPV	91.9%		
AUC (95.0% CI)	0.704 (0.615 - 0.793)		
p <0.001			
PPV: Positive predictive value, NPV: Negative predictive value, AUC: Area under ROC curve. Cl. Confidence intervals			

DISCUSSION

According to the results we obtained, it was found that the RDW values showed significant differences with respect to gender, age, tumor localization, T stage, clinical stage, duration of post-operative hospitalization, tumor size, early death, and death during follow-up.

CRC is the third most common cancer in both men and women and the second leading cause of cancerrelated death (2,9,10). For these reasons, early diagnosis, proper treatment and prognostic assessment of CRC are critical. Blood tests are of great importance for diagnosis, treatment and prognosis, and help clinicians in assessing patients. In addition, the fact that blood tests are easier and less costly supports the focus of interest in the search for new markers associated with the diagnosis, treatment and prognosis of CRC (11-14). RDW is an indicator of the heterogeneity of red blood cell volume and is used in the diagnosis and prognosis of several diseases like anemia, some cardiovascular and infectious diseases and some types of cancer including lung, stomach, esophageal, hepatocellular, breast cancers, and, in recent years, CRC (15-23). In some studies, it has been shown that the RDW level of patients with CRC is higher than that of controls (3,4,7,8,24). The underlying cause of the relationship between RDW and cancer is unknown (1,25), but several possible mechanisms have been considered. The first is the hypothesis that inflammation and oxidative stress around the tumor may increase RDW. The second is that the tumor may indirectly cause changes in erythropoiesis by causing malnutrition, which may increase RDW. Finally, it is also possible that iron deficiency anemia due to bleeding seen in patients with CRC may increase RDW (26-28). All these results show that high RDW may be an independent risk factor for CRC (13).

In some studies, it has been shown that high RDW values might be a negative predictors of survival in several types of malignancies including lung, gastric, esophageal, hepatocellular cancers and breast cancer (1,15,17-20,29). A similar relationship has been suggested to exist between elevated RDW and CRC (8,30). Prior studies have also reported that RDW can independently assess the prognosis of patients with colorectal cancer (13). Pedrazzani et al. (1) have shown that CRC patients with high RDW have a lower 10-year overall survival compared to those with lower RDW. Zhang et al. (30) found high RDW to be associated with poorer overall and disease-free survival in their study of 625 patients with rectal cancer who underwent curative surgery without neoadjuvant therapy. Li et al. (13), in a retrospective analysis of 168 colorectal cancer patients, found a positive relationship between RDW values and both 3and 5-year overall and disease free survival. Similarly, high RDW was found to be associated with worse overall survival by Kust et al. (7) in a retrospective study of 90 patients with CRC; however, this relationship was only present in subjects with stage II cancer. Several other studies have also shown similar results (1,4,31). In this study, we also showed that the preoperative mean RDW values of patients who died during postoperative followup were significantly higher than those who survived. Also, interestingly, we found that patients who died within the first 30 days after surgery had higher RDW values. Additionally, it was observed that patients with high RDW had longer hospital stay after surgery. This significant relationship between high RDW and CRCrelated deaths may be due to chronic inflammation due to cancer, iron deficiency anemia due to chronic blood loss in CRC, folate deficiency, changes in erythropoiesis, dyslipidemia and other metabolic abnormalities (32-36).

Today, TNM stage is accepted as the most significant prognostic factor for CRC (3). Many researchers have shown that RDW was significantly associated with clinical stage, T stage, N stage, M stage and tumor size in subjects with CRC. For instance, Song et al. (32) found that RDW values were associated with TNM stage, pT stage, and pM stage, similar to the results put forth by Yang and colleagues (8). Importantly, they also found that the level of RDW was associated with tumor size. However, there was a difference between the two studies with regard to the relationship between pN stage and RDW level. While the study by Yang et al. (8) found a significant positive correlation between RDW and pN stage, the study by Song et al. (32) did not. Moreover, Yang et al. (8) showed that RDW values in stage 3 and 4 CRC were higher compared to stage 1 and 2, similar to our results. In another research, RDW values were found to be associated with clinical stage, and T status, but not N or M status (4). Consistent with the results by Yang et al. (8), RDW values of CRC patients at the T3 and T4 stages in our study were found to be significantly higher than those with disease stages T1 and T2. We found similar results with regard to comparisons based on clinical staging. That is, the RDW levels of stage 1 patients were lower compared to patients with stage 2 or 3 disease. Likewise, we found that, as the tumor size increases, the RDW value also increases. Taking into

account these studies and our findings, it appears that increased tumor burden in CRC patients is associated with RDW elevation. Despite the fact that there are various studies showing the aforementioned relationship, the underlying causes for said relationship is not known exactly, but the increase in inflammatory activity around the tumor is likely a primary factor.

The relationship between the site of the CRC tumor and RDW has also been an interesting subject. In a study, RDW level was found to be significantly higher in right sided CRC tumors than left sided CRC tumors, similar to the present study (37). We also found higher RDW in patients with CRC tumors localized in the right or transverse colon compared to those with tumors in the descending colon, sigmoid colon or rectum. This interesting association may be a consequence of iron deficiency anemia. Right colon tumors are known to have a greater frequency of demonstrating bleeding and associated symptoms. As a result, anemia is a relatively more common symptom in tumors of the right colon compared to other regions of the colon (38).

Additionally, significant positive correlations between age and RDW levels have been reported previously (1,34,39), and we found supportive results in the current study. The relationship between gender and RDW is still unclear. Some studies have shown that the RDW is slightly higher in females (40), while others have found no significant association between RDW and gender. In our study, we also found that the RDW values of females were significantly higher than that of males; however, current data is not sufficient to draw conclusions regarding this matter.

Although our study showed significant relationships between RDW and various CRC characteristics that were largely consistent with previous studies, it has several limitations that must be noted. First, this is a single center and retrospective cohort study and has relatively few patients. Additionally, a control group was not included in this study, and therefore, comparisons with data from healthy patients were not possible. These may have led to various types of bias. Second, the number of patients in several sub-group analyses could have limited statistical reliability, and therefore, comparisons based on parameters such as tumor localization, pathological diagnosis, differentiation, T stage and N stage should be cautiously evaluated. Considering the presence of various studies showing some degree of relationship between elevated RDW and CRC prognosis, it appears that there is a need for further prospective, long-term multicenter studies with a larger number of patients to accurately assess the diagnostic and/or prognostic value of RDW in patients with CRC.

CONCLUSION

Both our study and similar studies have shown that CRC patients with high RDW levels have shorter postoperative survival or greater likelihood of death. Furthermore, elevated RDW seems to be associated with greater tumor size and more advanced clinical and TNM stages. All these relationships indicate a positive correlation between RDW values and the severity of CRC, and suggest that RDW may have a potential function as a diagnostic or prognostic marker in patients with CRC. For instance, it will not be surprising to suspect higher tumor burden in subjects with relatively elevated RDW -which could potentially be used to make decisions on surgical approach. However, in order for RDW to be accepted as a molecular marker associated with prognosis and survival in CRC, more comprehensive studies which can perform longer-term follow-up are needed.

ETHICAL DECLARATIONS

Ethics Committee Approval: The protocol of this study was approved by the Non-Interventional Clinical Researches Ethics Committee of Eskişehir Osmangazi University (Date:15.06.2021, Decision No: 09).

Informed Consent: Because the study was designed retrospectively, no written informed consent form was obtained from patients.

Referee Evaluation Process: Externally peer-reviewed.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

Author Contributions: All of the authors declare that they have all participated in the design, execution, and analysis of the paper, and that they have approved the final version.

REFERENCES

- 1. Pedrazzani C, Tripepi M, Turri G, et al. Prognostic value of red cell distribution width (RDW) in colorectal cancer. Results from a single-center cohort on 591 patients. Sci Rep 2020; 10: 1072.
- 2. Simon K. Colorectal cancer development and advances in screening. Clin Interv Aging 2016; 11: 967-76.
- 3. Song Y, Huang Z, Kang Y, et al. Clinical Usefulness and prognostic value of red cell distribution width in colorectal cancer. Biomed Res Int 2018; 2018: 9858943.
- 4. Shi C, Xie M, Li L, Li K, Hu BL. The association and diagnostic value of red blood cell distribution width in colorectal cancer. Medicine (Baltimore) 2019; 98: e15560.
- 5. Jandial A, Kumar S, Bhalla A, Sharma N, Varma N, Varma S. Elevated red cell distribution width as a prognostic marker in severe sepsis: a prospective observational study. Indian J Crit Care Med 2017; 21: 552-62.
- 6. Ay S, Eryilmaz MA, Aksoy N, Okus A, Unlu Y, Sevinc B. Is early detection of colon cancer possible with red blood cell distribution width? Asian Pac J Cancer Prev 2015; 16: 753-6.

- Kust D, Lucijanic M, Urch K, et al. Clinical and prognostic significance of anisocytosis measured as a red cell distribution width in patients with colorectal cancer. QJM 2017; 110: 361-7.
- 8. Yang D, Quan W, Wu J, et al. The value of red blood cell distribution width in diagnosis of patients with colorectal cancer. Clin Chim Acta 2018; 479: 98-102.
- 9. Siegel R, Jemal A. Colorectal cancer facts & Figures, 2011–2013. Atlanta, GA: American Cancer Society 2011.
- 10. Group UCSW. United States cancer statistics: 1999–2014 incidence and mortality web-based report. Atlanta: US Department of Health and Human Services, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention and National Cancer Institute 2017.
- 11.Gao Y, Wang J, Zhou Y, Sheng S, Qian SY, Huo X. Evaluation of serum CEA, CA19-9, CA72-4, CA125 and ferritin as diagnostic markers and factors of clinical parameters for colorectal cancer. Sci Rep 2018; 8: 2732.
- 12.Nikolaou S, Qiu S, Fiorentino F, Rasheed S, Tekkis P, Kontovounisios C. Systematic review of blood diagnostic markers in colorectal cancer. Tech Coloproctol 2018; 22: 481-98.
- 13.Li Y, Xing C, Wei M, et al. Combining red blood cell distribution width (RDW-CV) and CEA predict poor prognosis for survival outcomes in colorectal cancer. J Cancer 2019; 10: 1162-70.
- 14.Zhao JX, Liu LR, Yang XY, Liu F, Zhang ZG. Serum CA19-9 as a marker of circulating tumor cells in first reflux blood of colorectal cancer patients. Oncotarget 2017; 8: 67918-32.
- Karsa LV, Lignini TA, Patnick J, Lambert R, Sauvaget C. The dimensions of the CRC problem. Best Pract Res Clin Gastroenterol 2010; 24: 381-96.
- 16.Koma Y, Onishi A, Matsuoka H, et al. Increased red blood cell distribution width associates with cancer stage and prognosis in patients with lung cancer. PLoS One 2013; 8: e80240.
- 17.Zhao T, Cui L, Li A. The significance of RDW in patients with hepatocellular carcinoma after radical resection. Cancer Biomark 2016; 16: 507-12.
- Yazici P, Demir U, Bozkurt E, Isil GR, Mihmanli M. The role of red cell distribution width in the prognosis of patients with gastric cancer. Cancer Biomark 2017; 18: 19-25.
- 19. Chen GP, Huang Y, Yang X, Feng JF. A nomogram to predict prognostic value of red cell distribution width in patients with esophageal cancer. Mediators Inflamm 2015; 2015: 854670.
- 20. Huang DP, Ma RM, Xiang YQ. Utility of red cell distribution width as a prognostic factor in young breast cancer patients. Medicine (Baltimore) 2016; 95: e3430.
- 21.Di Somma S, Magrini L, Travaglino F, et al. Opinion paper on innovative approach of biomarkers for infectious diseases and sepsis management in the emergency department. Clin Chem Lab Med 2013; 51: 1167-75.
- 22.Mahmood NA, Mathew J, Kang B, Debari VA, Khan MA. Broadening of the red blood cell distribution width is associated with increased severity of illness in patients with sepsis. Int J Crit Illn Inj Sci 2014; 4: 278-82.
- 23. Sargento L, Simões AV, Longo S, Lousada N, Palma Dos Reis R. Red blood cell distribution width is a survival predictor beyond anemia and Nt-ProBNP in stable optimally medicated heart failure with reduced ejection fraction outpatients. Clin Hemorheol Microcirc 2017; 65: 185-94.
- 24.Spell DW, Jones DV, Jr., Harper WF, David Bessman J. The value of a complete blood count in predicting cancer of the colon. Cancer Detect Prev 2004; 28: 37-42.
- 25.Kambara T, Simms LA, Whitehall VL, et al. BRAF mutation is associated with DNA methylation in serrated polyps and cancers of the colorectum. Gut 2004; 53: 1137-44.
- 26.Dogan M, Kucuk U, Uz O. Red blood cell distribution width is worthwhile when interpreted with other inflammatory markers. J Geriatr Cardiol 2015; 12: 457-8.

- 27.Ephrem G. Red blood cell distribution width should indeed be assessed with other inflammatory markers in daily clinical practice. Cardiology 2013; 124: 61.
- 28.De Gonzalo-Calvo D, De Luxán-Delgado B, Rodríguez-González S, et al. Interleukin 6, soluble tumor necrosis factor receptor I and red blood cell distribution width as biological markers of functional dependence in an elderly population: a translational approach. Cytokine 2012; 58: 193-8.
- 29.Goyal H, Hu ZD. Prognostic value of red blood cell distribution width in hepatocellular carcinoma. Ann Transl Med 2017; 5: 271.
- 30. Zhang X, Wu Q, Hu T, Gu C, Bi L, Wang Z. Elevated red blood cell distribution width contributes to poor prognosis in patients undergoing resection for nonmetastatic rectal cancer. Medicine (Baltimore) 2018; 97: e9641.
- 31. Wang PF, Song SY, Guo H, Wang TJ, Liu N, Yan CX. Prognostic role of pretreatment red blood cell distribution width in patients with cancer: A meta-analysis of 49 studies. J Cancer 2019; 10: 4305-17.
- 32. Song CS, Park DI, Yoon MY, et al. Association between red cell distribution width and disease activity in patients with inflammatory bowel disease. Dig Dis Sci 2012; 57: 1033-8.
- 33. Corley DA, Jensen CD, Marks AR, et al. Adenoma detection rate and risk of colorectal cancer and death. N Engl J Med 2014; 370: 1298-306.
- 34. Salvagno GL, Sanchis-Gomar F, Picanza A, Lippi G. Red blood cell distribution width: A simple parameter with multiple clinical applications. Crit Rev Clin Lab Sci 2015; 52: 86-105.
- 35. Lippi G, Sanchis-Gomar F, Danese E, Montagnana M. Association of red blood cell distribution width with plasma lipids in a general population of unselected outpatients. Kardiol Pol 2013; 71: 931-6.
- 36. Sharma R, Agrawal V, editors. The relationship between red blood cell distribution width (RDW CV) and C reactive protein (CRP) with the clinical outcomes in non-ST elevation myocardial infarction and unstable angina pectoris: a 6 months follow up study. International Cardiovascular Forum Journal; 2015.
- 37. Bilgin B, Sendur MaN, Hizal M, et al. Prognostic effect of red cell distribution width-to-platelet ratio in colorectal cancer according to tumor stage and localization. J Cancer Res Ther 2019; 15: 54-60.
- 38.Dunne JR, Gannon CJ, Osborn TM, Taylor MD, Malone DL, Napolitano LM. Preoperative anemia in colon cancer: assessment of risk factors. Am Surg 2002; 68: 582-7.
- 39. Alis R, Fuster O, Rivera L, Romagnoli M, Vaya A. Influence of age and gender on red blood cell distribution width. Clin Chem Lab Med 2015; 53: e25-8.
- 40. Lippi G, Salvagno GL, Guidi GC. Red blood cell distribution width is significantly associated with aging and gender. Clin Chem Lab Med 2014; 52: e197-9.

HEALTH SCIENCES **MEDICINE**

Comparison of ocular emergencies in the COVID-19 pandemic and pre-pandemic period in the tertiary hospital of Turkey

Selda Çelik Dülger, Mehmet Çıtırık, Esra Bahadır Camgöz, Mehmet Yasin Teke

University of Health Sciences, Ankara Ulucanlar Eye Training and Research Hospital Ankara, Turkey

Cite this article as: Çelik Dülger S, Çıtırık M, Bahadır Camgöz E, Teke MY. Comparison of ocular emergencies in the COVID-19 pandemic and pre-pandemic period in the tertiary hospital of Turkey. J Health Sci Med 2022; 5(3): 882-886.

ABSTRACT

Aim: To evaluate clinical characteristics and alterations in the of patients admitted to the ocular emergency department (ED) of a tertiary hospital during coronavirus disease period in 2019 (COVID-19) and pre-pandemic period. Also, we intended to share our strategy and experience to prevent disease transmission to health-care staff during patient submission.

Material and Method: In this study, 45901 patients who applied to ED between January and May in 2020 were reviewed retrospectively for ocular manifestations. The five months divided into two groups as the pre-pandemic period and the pandemic period. Clinical and demographic data were collected. The proportion of urgent and non-urgent cases in the pre-pandemic and pandemic period was compared.

Results: A total of 30,576 patients (66.6%) admitted to ED before COVID-19 and 15,325 patients admitted (33.4%) during COVID-19 era. Five hundred thirty-eight (1.8%) of cases admitted in the pre-pandemic period, and 395 (2.6%) of the cases admitted in the pandemic period were in the real urgent category. Conjunctivitis, blepharitis and hordeolum, dry eye diseases, corneal diseases were the most common conditions in both pre-pandemic and pandemic periods.

Conclusion: This study showed that admissions to ED for ocular conditions during the pandemic period decreased significantly, and the rate of real urgent cases increased. Yet even during the pandemic period, non-urgent patients continue to come to the ED.

Keywords: Coronavirus disease, COVID-19, emergency department, patient triage, ophthalmology

INTRODUCTION

Emergency departments (ED) are one of the most crowded units of hospitals. Overcrowding in EDs causes poor quality of care, increased waiting times, dissatisfaction, and increased anxiety of patients, increased cost (1) The most crucial cause of congestion in EDs seems to be an increased proportion of patients with non-urgent complaints. It is probably tempting for patients to be examined in ED in a shorter time and at any time. ED in our hospital serves only eye patients and shares similar problems with General EDs. Overcrowding of EDS has always been and will probably continue to be a problem, but this situation has been even more critical during the COVID-19 pandemic due to the transmission of the virus.

The coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) emerged first in Wuhan, Hubei province, China, in December

2019 by leading an outbreak and turned into a global pandemic (2). The virus caused the disease was called severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2) (3). As the disease spread all over the world in a short time. It was declared as a pandemic by the World Health Organization (4). The countries had to take various precautions such as mask use, social distancing, and stay-at-home rules. The first confirmed case of COVID-19 was declared in Turkey on March 11, 2020, and the early death due to COVID-19 occurred on March 18, which is the date when restrictions began throughout the country. As it is known, due to the high risk of nosocomial spread of the virus, measures were also taken in the hospitals, including delivering only urgent and emergent care, rescheduling visits, postponing elective procedures, and enhancing

Corresponding Author: Selda Çelik Dülger, drsldclk@gmail.com



personal protective measurements. Although all healthcare workers have a risk of transmission of the virus, the ophthalmologist may be at increased risk of infection in examining patients with short working distance, especially during slit-lamp examination.

In this study, we aimed to evaluate the alterations in the number and proportion of ocular emergencies admitted to our hospital's ED during the COVID-19 period and pre-pandemic period in Ankara. We also wanted to share our strategy and experience to prevent the spread of the virus transmission to health-care staff.

MATERIAL AND METHOD

The study was carried out with the permission of Ankara Training and Research Hosptal, Non-Invasive Clinical Researches Ethics Committee (Date: 20.08.2020, Decision No:2020/374). All procedures were carried out in accordance with the ethical rules and the principles of the Declaration of Helsinki.

Participants and Study Design

A total of 45,901 patients admitted to our ocular ED between January and May in 2020 were included in this retrospective study. All procedures were carried out in accordance with the ethical rules and the principles of the Declaration of Helsinki. Written consent was taken from all adult cases and the parents of the child cases. Our hospital was not assigned by the government for COVID-19 treatments. Therefore, it was one of the only hospitals where the eye patients admitted to in Ankara and neighbouring cities in the COVID-19 period and maintained care intensity like in the pre-COVID-19 period.

Data of all the cases admitted to the ED were collected from patients' records, including the patient's age, gender, and diagnosis. The cases were divided into groups according to their ages as the cases younger than 17-yearold, between 17 and 40-year old, and the instances older than 40-year old. The five months were divided into two groups as before COVID-19 and COVID-19 era, based on March 15. The reason for the baseline of March 15 is the first COVID-19 case was confirmed in our country on March 11 and then, as of March 15, official COVID-19 measures were started to be taken in hospitals. We compared the number of patients admitted to the ED 2.5 months before and after March 15.

In Turkey, the patients attending ED are divided into zones according to their priority. Green zone refers to care patients with the least emergent situation, while the red zone is for more urgent cases. After examination, patients are marked with green or red on the system according to immediate status. In this study, we determined the proportions of urgent and non-urgent cases using the zones.

Strategies to Prevent COVID-19 Spread in the Emergency Departments

With the onset of the covid 19 pandemic, the working strategies of the emergency room has changed markedly, as in all departments of our hospital. In order to exclude Covid 19, symptoms such as fever, a history of contact with someone with COVID-19 in the last 14 days, and cough were questioned in all patients who applied to the emergency department. If there were any of them, they were referred to an assigned pandemic hospital. Patients without symptoms or contact history were admitted to the emergency department. All patients who applied were encouraged of the obligation to wear masks and social distance rules. Waiting rooms were readjusted according to 1,5-meter social-distant. Health care providers applied universal personal protective measures like wearing surgical/N95 mask, gloves in the necessity, protective clothing, face shield, and googles. They were informed about the importance of hand washing and disinfection. Slit lamps were meticulously cleaned after each patient examination, and a transparent barrier was placed in slit lamps between ophthalmologists and patients. When examining, both examiner and patient had to be masked, and the room was well ventilated. In hospitals assigned pandemic, patients who are not in the urgent or emergent category were informed about the necessity of examination under elective conditions, not in ED, as the intensity of the ED was tried to be reduced. But this situation could not be applied in hospitals designated as non-pandemic.

Statistical Analysis

Statistical analyses were performed with SPSS 21 (IBM, New York, USA) program. Frequencies and percentages were presented for categorical variables. An independent t-test was used to compare differences between groups because the data were normally distributed.

RESULTS

The mean age of 28,334 (61.7%) male and 17,567 (38.3%) female cases were 37.84 ± 19.73 (range; 0-100). The age distribution of patients were 7,315 (16%) in younger than 17-year-old, 17,908 (39%) in between 17 and 40-year-old, 20,678 (45%) in older than 40-year-old.

A total of 30,576 patients (66.6%) admitted to ED before the COVID-19 era (before March 15) and 15,325 patients admitted (33.4%) during COVID-19 era (**Table 1**). Five hundred thirty-eight(1.8%) of cases admitted pre-pandemic era, and 395 (2.6%) of the cases admitted pandemic era were in real urgent category. It was determined that a significant decrease in the number of patients who applied to ED in the COVID-19 era. (p<0,05) The percentage of rel urgent cases during the COVID-19 era was higher than before the COVID-19 era (**Figure 1** and **Table 1**).

Table 1. Admissions rates to the emergency department in pandemic and pre-pandemic period					
	Total	Non-urgent	Urgent	Count	Data
	Count	Count	Rate	Count	Kate
Pre-pandemic period	30,576	30,038	98.2%	538	1.8%
Pandemic period	15,325	14,930	97.4%	395	2.6%



Figure 1. Urgent and non-urgent cases in pandemic and prepandemic period

Conjunctivitis (including allergic, chronic), blepharitis and hordeolum, dry eye diseases (feeling of ocular surface discomfort and meibomitis were also evaluated in this category), corneal diseases (including corneal foreign body and keratitis) were the most common conditions both pre-pandemic and pandemic period. Some situations were summarized in **Table 2**. The distribution of diagnoses of the cases by the COVID-19 period and months were summarized in **Table 2**, **Figure 2**, and **Figure 3**.



Figure 2. The distribution of diagnoses of the cases by the pandemic and pre-pandemic period

pandemic period in terms of common diagnosis					
Diagnosis	Pre-Pa Pe	Pre-Pandemic Period		Pandemic Period	
Diagilosis	Count	Column N %	Count	Column N %	
Conjunctivitis	11158	36.5%	4203	27.4%	
Blefaritis	1747	5.7%	1680	11.0%	
Dry eye disease	7020	23.0%	2842	18.5%	
Herpes virus keratitis	170	0.6%	111	0.7%	
Adenovirus keratitis	424	1.4%	249	1.6%	
Korneal diseases, keratitis and foreign body	4527	14.8%	3459	22.6%	
Hordeolum and chalazion	1056	3.5%	418	2.7%	
Endophthalmitis	6	0.0%	2	0.0%	
Retina and vitreus diseases	109	0.4%	119	0.8%	
Uveitis	351	1.1%	308	2.0%	
Episkleritis and skleritis	72	0.2%	34	0.2%	
Conjunctival foreign body	423	1.4%	124	0.8%	
Glaucoma	279	0.9%	231	1.5%	
Penetrating and blunt trauma , hyphema	177	0.6%	86	0.6%	
Dacryoadenitis	17	0.1%	16	0.1%	
Postoperative control	188	0.6%	34	0.2%	
Diplopia and optic nerve diseases	7	0.0%	10	0.1%	
Oculoplastic diseases	55	0.2%	17	0.1%	
Other	2789	9.1%	1382	9.0%	

Table 2. Distributions of the patients with pandemic and pre-





DISCUSSION

The ED of our hospital in Ankara, Turkey, serves about the number of 12 500 patients a month (data in 2019) as one of the most crowded EDs. The total amount of ED examinations between January and May in 2020 was 49.501 patients. When we compared the amounts of ED examinations before and after March 15, we found that a significant decrease in the number of patients admitted to ED during the COVID-19 period. At the same time, we observed an increased proportion of real urgent cases during COVID-19. The restriction of outdoor explains the reduction during this period. Besides, the fear of being infected by going to the hospital and statement of government and health-care professionals like keeping away from the hospital except for urgent situations could be efficient.

As in other EDs in Turkey, in our ocular ED, the most common problem is overcrowding, which puts both personnel and patients in a problematic situation. The most important reason for the congestion of EDs is the application of patients with non-urgent complaints consistent with the literature (2,5). The people in Turkey may be applied to EDs with the financial concerns, the expectation of rapid service, or avoiding the necessity of appointment (2). The other significant reason is the feasible hours of operation. Open 24 hours a day, seven days a week, and EDs are a great convenience to the community (6). Also, some patients applying to ED may think that their ocular condition is emergent. In our study, only 1.8% (538 of 30,038 in total) of the cases accessed to ED in the 2.5 months before COVID-19 were in the real urgent category (marked red zone). During the COVID-19 era, the rate increased to 2.6% (395 of 14,930 in total). Consistent with our results, it has been reported in the literature that less than 3% of patients applying to EDs need vital interventions (7). One of the essential findings detected in this study is that non-urgent patients continue to come to the ED even during the pandemic period.

Carvalho and José (8) reported that 55% of the cases admitted to the ocular emergency had inflammatory conditions such as conjunctivitis, blepharitis, chalazion, or hordeolum, all of which need to be treated in primary or secondary care units. In our report, similar to this study, 33.5% had conjunctivitis, 21.5% had dry eye or meibomitis, 17.4% had corneal diseases (keratitis and corneal foreign body), and 7.5% had blepharitis, respectively, in both periods.

The demographic characteristics of our sample were similar to the previous reports (9,10), and the number of males admitted to ED for ocular conditions was higher than females. (61.7% to 38.3%). The average age of our sample was 37.84 years, and most of the patients (45%) had within the range 41 to 100 years. Similar to our study, in a study in which epidemiology of ocular emergencies was evaluated, the majority of admissions were reported as middle-aged men (11).

Transmission of SARS-CoV2 is known to occur by respiratory droplet, aerosol, and contact. Ophthalmologists can be considered as one of the most risky professions in the covid-19 pandemic, since the examination performed by them with slit lamp and ophthalmoscope is shorter than the safe social distance of 1.5-2 meters (12). During the severe acute respiratory syndrome (SARS) outbreak

in 2003, many health care providers infections alerted medical institutions to take more severe precautions in case of a future epidemic (13). Unfortunately, thousands of health care workers have been infected during COVID-19. As mentioned above, a strategy was developed for protection during clinical practice according to guidelines. Triage was one of the most important of them. A detailed COVID-19 and ocular history were taken from the patients before entering the waiting room. All personal protective measures were taken, even if contact history and fever were regular, as the ability to spread the infection was known during the asymptomatic period. Patients who were not urgent in ocular history were turned back to protect both health care workers and patients from the risk of infection caused by crowding in the ED of the pandemic hospital. During this period, none of the health care providers working in our hospital was infected with SARS-CoV2. Although a significant decline in the total number of patient admissions in the COVID-19 period, a tiny proportion of patients had a genuinely urgent medical condition. This determination is crucial to demonstrate the inappropriate utilization of the ED, even during the COVID-19 period.

CONCLUSION

As our knowledge, this is the first study to evaluate diagnoses and alterations in the number of patients admitted to the ocular ED during the COVID-19 period. The most common conditions for emergency admissions were inflammatory ocular surface conditions that do not need to be urgently treated in ED. This study revealed that the majority of patients entries to the ocular emergency department were not real urgent neither COVID-19 period nor before.

ETHICAL DECLARATIONS

Ethics Committee Approval: The study was carried out with the permission of the Ankara Training and Research Hosptal, Non-invasive Clinical Researches Ethics Committee (Date: 20.08.2020, Decision No: 2020/374)

Informed Consent: Because the study was designed retrospectively, no written informed consent form was obtained from patients.

Referee Evaluation Process: Externally peer-reviewed.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

Author Contributions: All of the authors declare that they have all participated in the design, execution, and analysis of the paper and that they have approved the final version

REFERENCES

- Erenler AK, Akbulut S, Guzel M, Cetinkaya H, Karaca A, Turkoz B. Reasons for overcrowding in the emergency department: Experiences and suggestions of an education and research hospital. Turkiye Acil Tip Derg 2014; 14: 59-63.
- 2. Wang C, Horby PW, Hayden FG, Gao GF. A novel coronavirus outbreak of global health concern. Lancet 2020; 395: 470–3.
- COVID-19. World Health Organization. https: //www.ecdc. europa.eu/en/novel-coronavirus-china. Last viewed February 18, 2020.
- 4. Coronavirus disease (COVID-19) Pandemic. https://www.who. int/emergencies/diseases/novel-coronavirus-2019, Last viewed April 27, 2020.
- Arinah WDS, Faisal I, Juni Muhamad Hanafiah, Ismail I, Mohamed AS. Factors associated with emergency department green zone utilization in hospital. Int J Public Heal Clin Sci 2016; 3: 159-73.
- 6. Khan Y, Glazier RH, Moeneddin R, Schull MJ. A Populationbased study of the association between socioeconomic status and emergency department utilization in Ontario, Canada. Acad Emerg Med 2011; 18: 836-43.
- Cour des Comptes: Rapport public annuel. Première partie

 Lesobservations des juridictions financières. Les urgences médicales: constatset évolution récente. Février 2007; 313-47.
- Carvalho RDS, José NK. Ophthalmology emergency room at the University of São Paulo General Hospital: a tertiary hospital providing primary and secondary level care. Clinics (Sao Paulo) 2007; 62: 301-8.
- 9. El-Mekawey HE, Abu El Einen KG, Abdelmaboud M, Khafagy A, Eltahawy EM. Epidemiology of ocular emergencies in the Egyptian population: a five-year retrospective study. Clin Ophthalmol 2011; 5: 955-60.
- 10. Sen E, Celik S, Inanc M, Elgin U, Ozyurt B, Yilmazbas P. Seasonal distribution of ocular conditions treated at the emergency room: A 1-year prospective study. Arq Bras Oftalmol 2018; 81: 116-9.
- 11. Cheung CA, Rogers-Martel M, Golas L, Chepurny A, Martel JB, Martel JR. Hospital-based ocular emergencies: epidemiology, treatment, and visual outcomes. Am J Emerg Medb2014; 32: 221-4.
- 12.Olivia Li J-P, Shantha J, Wong TY, et al. Preparedness among ophthalmologists: during and beyond the COVID-19 pandemic. Ophthalmology 2020; 127: 569–72.
- 13. Wang Q, Wang X, Lin H. The role of triage in the prevention and control of COVID-19. Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol 2020: 1-5.

Fear of COVID-19: reflections on disease severity, sleep and anxiety in fibromyalgia patients

Betül Çiftçi¹, Deniz Öke²

¹Kırklareli University, Faculty of Health Sciences, Department of Physical Therapy and Rehabilitation, Kırklareli, Turkey ²Gaziosmanpaşa Taksim Health Research Center, Department of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation, İstanbul, Turkey

Cite this article as: Çiftçi B, Öke D. Fear of COVID-19: reflections on disease severity, sleep and anxiety in fibromyalgia patients. J Health Sci Med 2022; 5(3): 887-892.

ABSTRACT

Aim: This study aimed to assess the effects of COVID- 19 fear and anxiety on disease severity, pain, sleep quality and health-related quality of life in fibromyalgia patients.

Material and Method: Sixty-four patients with diagnosis fibromyalgia and sixty-five healthy volunteers over 18 years of age were enrolled in the study. Sociodemographic features were evaluated. Fibromyalgia Impact Questionnaire (FIQ), Short Form 36 (SF-36), Coronavirus Anxiety Scale (CAS), Obsession with COVID-19 Scale(OCS), and Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index (PSQI) were administered to all participants.

Results: The mean values of CAS, FIQ, PSQI, and BDI were found to be higher in the fibromyalgia group than the control group (p<0.05). The median/mean value of CAS, OCS, and BDI were higher in patients with losing a first-degree relative patient due to COVID-19 in fibromyalgia group, these results were statistically significant (p<0.05).

Conclusion: According to the results of this study, fibromyalgia may be affected more by psychological stress which affects disease severity during COVID 19 pandemic.

Keywords: Fibromyalgia, COVID-19, anxiety

INTRODUCTION

COVID-19 disease was reported from Wuhan, China in December 2019 as viral pneumonia of unknown origin (1). On January 7, 2020 the new type of coronavirus SARS- CoV-2 was detected as the viral pneumonia agent. The disease has spread all over the world rapidly and the World Health Organization (WHO) defined disease as the novel coronavirus disease (COVID-19) and declared a pandemic (2). The prognosis of COVID 19 disease varies according to age, comorbidities and gender (3). The researches on the etiology, prognostic factors, prevention and treatment of COVID-19 disease continues (4).

Fibromyalgia is a chronic pain disease that includes the musculoskeletal system. The symptoms of fibromyalgia are generalized pain (head-to-toes), fatigue, morning stiffness not exceeding 60 minutes, regional pain syndromes such as migraine, dysmenorrhea, irritable bowel syndrome, autonomic disturbances as orthostatic hypotension, feeling of instability, xerostomia. Anxiety and stress are important factors for fibromyalgia severity and psychological mood problems are seen more frequently in fibromyalgia patients than healthy individuals. The prevalence of anxiety for fibromyalgia patients is 60 % and depression is 14-36% (5).

There are many studies in the literature evaluating fibromyalgia severity during the COVID-19 pandemic. We aimed to evaluate the effects of COVID-19 fear and anxiety on disease severity, pain, sleep quality and health related quality of life in fibromyalgia patients.

MATERIAL AND METHOD

Study Design and Setting

The study protocol was approved by the Kırklareli University Health Sciences Institute Ethics Committee (Date: 12.07.2021, Decision No: E-69456409-199-17531). All procedures were carried out in accordance with the ethical rules and the principles of the Declaration of Helsinki. The participants were informed about the aim of study before applying the study, all participants were asked whether they accepted to complete the study and thus all participants have declared voluntary for the study. The informed consent form was applied to all the participates.



Participants

Sixty-four patients with diagnosis fibromyalgia and sixtyfive healthy volunteers were participated to the study. The following inclusion criteria were applied: (a) having a diagnosis as primary fibromyalgia for more than 1 year according to the American College of Rheumatology criteria (b) being more than 18 years old age (c) being volunteer to participate study. The following exclusion criteria were applied (a) a diagnosis with skeletal muscle diseases, chronic renal diseases, chronic liver failure, malignancy and neurologic diseases; (b): having cognitive impairment that affects answering the questionnaires; (c): being pregnant.

Sociodemographic features including age, gender, body mass index, fibromyalgia duration, education level, having history of COVID-19 disease in participants and loosing first degree relatives were analyzed. The Fibromyalgia Impact Questionnaire (FIQ), Short Form 36 (SF36), Coronavirus Anxiety Scale (CAS), Obsession with COVID-19 Scale (OCS), and Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index (PSQI) were administered to all participants.

Outcome Measures

The beck depression inventory (BDI): It is a scale developed by Beck A. using clinical observations in depressed psychiatric patients and rarely in non-depressed psychiatric patients (6). BDI assesses depression symptoms with 21 multiple choice items. Each item has a 4-point scale variable between 0 (absent) and 3 (severe). A minimum of 0 and a maximum of 63 points can be obtained from the scale The Turkish validity and reliability study of the questionnaire was carried out by Hisli (7).

Pittsburgh sleep quality index (PSQI): PSQI was developed and widely used by Buysse et al. In order to evaluate sleep quality in the last month, the questionnaire consisting of 24 questions includes 19 questions about sleep duration, duration of latency, and the frequency and severity of certain sleep-related problems. The last 5 questions are used for clinical purposes and are answered by the patient's bed or room partner. PSQI consists of 7 components and the score obtained from the components represents the total score. The total score is in the range of 0-21, and an increase in the score indicates poor sleep quality (8). The Turkish validity and reliability study of the scale was performed by Agargün et al. in 2004 (9).

The short form 36 (SF-36): Short Form 36 has eight parts that include general health (5 items), vitality (4 items), physical functioning (10 items), bodily pain (2 items), physical role functioning (4 items); emotional role functioning (3 items); mental health (5 items); and social functioning (2 items). The total score was obtained the combination of the eight sections. Higher scores are

related to well quality of life. The SF-36 was adapted into Turkish in1999 by Koçyigit H et al., and the study results suggest it is useful for clinical studies (10).

The fibromyalgia impact questionnaire (FIQ): FIQ has three parts including function, symptoms and overall impact. High scores indicate worse functionality and increased symptom severity and affects the person more The FIQ was adapted into Turkish in 2000 by Sarmer S et al, and the study results suggests it is useful for clinical studies (11).

Coronavirus anxiety scale all questions (CAS): COVID-19 related anxiety (CAS) was developed by Lee. The questionnaire is a five-item mental health scale that assesses physiological effects as anxiety related to COVID-19. A cut-off point of \geq 9 demonstrates the anxiety related to COVID-19 (12). The Turkish validity and reliability studies was performed by Evren et al.(13).

Obsession with COVID-19 scale (OCS): Obsession with COVID-19 Scale (OCS) is a 4-item scale that helps to assess persistent and disturbing thinking about COVID-19 (14). OCS was found an effective and valid tool for clinical practice. OCS indicates dysfunctional thinking associated with a total score \geq 7. The Turkish validity and reliability studies was performed by Evren et al.(13).

Statistical Analysis

Mean±standard deviation and median (minimummaximum) were used for continuous variables, whereas categorical data was reported with numbers and percentages. The Kolmogorov-Smirnov goodness-of-fit test was used to perform normality analyses in the crossgroup analysis of continuous variables. Evaluation of the groups with the normal distribution of continuous variables was done by using the independent samples t-test. Cross-group comparisons of variables not eligible for normal distribution were analyzed with the Mann-Whitney U test. The chi-square test (Fisher's exact test when necessary) was used for the comparison of categorical data. The analyses were performed with the Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS) software program version 26.0 (IBM Corporation, Armonk, NY, USA). The statistical significance level was set at p<0.05.

RESULTS

A total of 129 participants were enrolled in the study. The participants were grouped into Group 1 (fibromyalgia, n=64) and Group 2 (control, n=65). The mean age, body mass index (BMI), the ratio of female gender, the ratio of educational status as primary school, the ratio of marital status, and usage of drugs (painkiller, antidepressant, and myorelaxant) were found to be statistically significantly higher in fibromyalgia group than control group (p<0.05).

However, there were no statistically significant differences between the two groups in terms of comorbidities, usage of anticonvulsant, history of COVID-19, hospitalization due to COVID-19 and losing a first-degree relative due to COVID-19 (p>0.05). Comparisons of the demographic and some clinical features of groups are presented in **Table 1**.

]	Fibromyalgia (n=64)	Control (n=65)	р
Age (mean±SD)	41.46±9.42	27.33±5.17	< 0.001*
BMI (kg/m²) (mean±SD)	26.38 ± 4.41	23.23±3.88	< 0.001*
Gender (n, %)			<0.001**a
Female	62 (96.9%)	48 (73.8%)	
Male	2 (3.1%)	17 (26.2%)	
Educational status (n, %)			< 0.001**
Primary school dropout	8 (12.5%)	0 (0.0%)	
Primary school	29 (45.3%)	0 (0.0%)	
Secondary school	8 (12.5%)	0 (0.0%)	
High school	11 (17.2%)	3 (4.6%)	
University	8 (12.5%)	62 (95.4%)	
Marital status (n, %)			< 0.001**
Single	7 (10.7%)	45 (69.2%)	
Married	55 (85.9%)	19 (29.2%)	
Divorced	0 (0.0%)	1 (1.5%)	
Widowed	2 (3.1%)	0 (0.0%)	
Comorbidities (n. %)	_ ((),)		0.368**
No	64 (98,4%)	64 (98,5%)	01000
Yes (Hypothyroidism)	1 (1.6%)	0 (0 0%)	
Yes (others)	0(0.0%)	1 (1 5%)	
Usage of painkiller (n_%)	0 (0.070)	1 (1.570)	<0.001**a
Vec	32 (50.0%)	0 (0 0%)	<0.001 a
No	32(50.0%)	0(0.0%)	
Usage of antidopressant drug	32(30.070)	03 (100.070)	<0.001***
Voc	14(21.00%)	0 (0.0%)	<0.001 a
No	14(21.970)	65(100.0%)	
INU	30(78.1%)	03 (100.0%)	<0.001***
Vac	(11, %)	0(0,00/)	<0.001 ° a
ies	14 (23.4%)	0(0.0%)	
NO	49 (76.6%)	65 (100.0%)	0.0444
Usage of anticonvulsant drug	gs(n, %)	0 (0 00()	0.244^^a
Yes	2 (3.1%)	0 (0.0%)	
No	62 (96.9%)	65 (100.0%)	
History of COVID-19 (n, %))		0.666**
Yes	25 (39.1%)	23 (35.4%)	
No	39 (60.9%)	42 (64.6%)	
Hospitalization due to COV	ID-19 (n, %)		0.244**a
Yes	2 (3.1%)	0 (0.0%)	
No	62 (96.9%)	65 (100.0%)	
History of COVID-19 in a fi	rst-degree rela	tive (n, %)	0.650**
Yes	37 (57.8%)	35 (53.8%)	
No	27 (42.2%)	30 (46.2%)	
Losing a first-degree relative	due to COVII	D-19 (n, %)	0.203**a
Yes	6 (9.4%)	12 (18.5%)	
No	58 (90.6%)	53 (81.5%)	
Total	64 (100.0%)	65 (100.0%)	

The mean values of CAS, FIQ, PSQI and BDI were found to be higher in the fibromyalgia group than the control group (p=0.044, p<0.001, p=0.009 and p<0.001 respectively). Also, the mean values of subscales of SF-36 as physical function, pain, physical role functioning, general health, social functioning, and vitality were found to be lower in the fibromyalgia group than the control group (p<0.001, p<0.001 p=0.004, p<0.001, p<0.001, p=0.015 respectively). However, the mean values of OCS, emotional role functioning and mental health were found lower in the fibromyalgia group but the differences were not statistically significant (p>0.05). Comparisons of the outcomes scores among the groups is shown in **Table 2**.

Table 2. Comparison of results of Fibromyalgia Impact Questionnaire, Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index, sub scales of Short Form 36, Obsession with COVID-19 Scale, Coronavirus Anxiety Scale and Beck Depression Inventory between groups			
	Fibromyalgia (n=64)	Control (n=65)	р
CAS	1.05 ± 2.32	0.36±1.35	0.044*
OCS	2.57±3.24	2.35 ± 2.58	0.664*
FIQ	50.0 (3.6-94.4)	27.4 (0-80.9)	< 0.001**
PSQI	10.0 (0-17.0)	6 (1-16)	0.009**
BDI	16 (0-45)	12 (0-36)	< 0.001**
Physical Function	65 (0-100.0)	95 (40-100.0)	< 0.001**
Pain	32.0 (0-90.0)	62.0 (22-100.0)	< 0.001**
Physical Role Functioning	25.0 (0-100.0)	75.0 (0-100.0)	0.004**
General Health	43.5 (5-97.0)	62.0 (15-100.0)	< 0.001**
Social Functioning	62.5 (0-100.0)	75.0 (12.5-100.0)	< 0.001**
Vitality	45.0 (0-90.0)	50.0 (5-100.0)	0.015**
Emotional Role Functioning	50.0 (0-100.0)	66.6 (0-100.0)	0.173**
Mental Health	64.0 (8-92.0)	68.0 (20-100.0)	0.162**
* Independent Samples T Test, ** Mann Whitney U Test, CAS, Coronavirus Anxiety Scale; OCS, Obsession with COVID-19 Scale; FIQ,Fibromyalgia Impact Questionnaire; PSQI, Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index; BDI, Beck Depression Inventory			

The mean value of CAS was found to be statistically significantly higher in patients with COVID-19 history (2.00 ± 3.27) than patients without COVID-19 history (0.43 ± 1.07) in fibromyalgia group (p=0.007). However, there were no statistically significant differences of the mean values of OCS, BDI, FIQ, PSQI and the subscales of SF-36 according to having COVID-19 history in fibromyalgia group (p>0.05) (Table 3).

When the history of losing a first-degree relative due to COVID-19 was compared in fibromyalgia group, the median/mean value of CAS, OCS, and BDI were higher in patients with losing first-degree relative and the differences were statistically significant (p=0.029, p<0.001 and p=0.005, respectively). Also, the mean values of physical role functioning, social functioning and mental health were lower in patients with losing a first degree relative and the differences were statistically significant (p=0.011, p=0.007, p=0.033 and p=0.002, respectively). But there were no statistically significant differences according to FIQ and PSQI scores (p=0.336 and p=0.175 respectively) (**Table 4**).

Table 3. Comparison of results of Fibromyalgia ImpactQuestionnaire, Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index, sub scales of ShortForm 36, Obsession with COVID-19 Scale, Coronavirus AnxietyScale and Beck Depression Inventory in fibromyalgia group interms of COVID-19 history			
	History of COVID-19 (n=25)	No History of COVID-19 (n=39)	р
CAS	2.00 ± 3.27	0.43 ± 1.07	0.007*
OCS	3.00 ± 3.31	2.30 ± 3.20	0.409*
FIQ	54.7 (9.7-81.7)	47.1 (3.6-81.7)	0.175**
PSQI	10.0 (1-17.0)	8 (0-17)	0.317**
BDI	19 (0-45)	15 (0-35)	0.158**
Physical Function	65 (25.0-90.0)	65 (0-100.0)	0.392**
Pain	31.0 (0-90.0)	32.0 (0-90.0)	0.502**
Physical Role Functioning	25.0 (0-100.0)	50.0 (0-100.0)	0.655**
General Health	35.0 (5-82.0)	45.0 (5-97.0)	0.544**
Social Functioning	62.5 (0-100.0)	62.5 (0-100.0)	0.801**
Vitality	35.0 (0-90.0)	50.0 (5-100.0)	0.310**
Emotional Role Functioning	66.6 (0-100.0)	66.6 (0-100.0)	0.625**
Mental Health	64.0 (8-84.0)	68.0 (8-92.0)	0.384**
* Independent Samples T Test, ** Mann Whitney U Test, CAS, Coronavirus			

Anxiety Scale; OCS, Obsession with COVID-19 Scale; FIQ,Fibromyalgia Impact Questionnaire; PSQI, Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index; BDI, Beck Depression Inventory

Table 4. Comparison of results of Fibromyalgia Impact Questionnaire, Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index, sub scales of Short Form 36, Obsession with COVID-19 Scale, Coronavirus Anxiety Scale and Beck Depression Inventory in fibromyalgia group in terms of History of COVID-19 in a first-degree relative

(C11113 OI 1113(OI y	this of this of y of 00 vills 19 in a mist degree relative			
	Loosing first degree relative due to COVID-19 (n=6)	No Loosing first degree relative due to COVID-19 (n=58)	р	
CAS	3.00 ± 3.46	$0.84{\pm}2.10$	0.029*	
OCS	6.83±3.81	2.13±2.86	< 0.001*	
FIQ	54.9 (45.1-57.1)	49.5 (3.6-94.4)	0.336**	
PSQI	11.0 (10.0-15.0)	8 (0-17)	0.175**	
BDI	27 (17-36)	15.5 (0-45)	0.005**	
Physical Function	60 (0-75.0)	65 (20.0-100.0)	0.252**	
Pain	25.5 (0-41.0)	32.0 (0-90.0)	0.198**	
Physical Role Functioning	0.0 (0-25.0)	50.0 (0-100.0)	0.011**	
General Health	38.5 (5-67.0)	43.5 (5-97.0)	0.506**	
Social Functioning	25.0 (0-62.5)	62.5 (0-100.0)	0.007**	
Vitality	30.0 (0-45.0)	45.0 (0-90.0)	0.033**	
Emotional Role Functioning	16.6 (0-66.6)	66.6 (0-100.0)	0.242**	
Mental Health	34.0 (8-52.0)	68.0 (8-92.0)	0.002**	

* Independent Samples T Test, ** Mann Whitney U Test, CAS, Coronavirus

Anxiety Scale; OCS, Obsession with COVID-19 Scale; FIQ,Fibromyalgia Impact Questionnaire; PSQI, Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index; BDI, Beck Depression Inventory

DISCUSSION

The presence of COVID-19 fear and the relationship with disease severity in fibromyalgia patients were evaluated in this study. The psychological effects as anxiety and COVID-19 fear were higher in fibromyalgia patients than healthy participants. The study revealed that the fibromyalgia patients with history of COVID-19 disease had more COVID-19 fear and losing first degree relative due to COVID-19 may improve COVID-19 fear, depression symptoms, fibromyalgia disease severity, sleep problems and effect the health related quality of life in fibromyalgia patients.

Fibromyalgia is defined as a syndrome characterized by chronic and widespread musculoskeletal pain. Insomnia, fatigue, mood disorders, anxiety, depression are the common symptoms (15). The pathophysiological factors of fibromyalgia are not known exactly. Most fibromyalgia patients are hypersensitive to have pain and psychologic factors may be associated occurrence of the pain (16). Epstein et al. (17) have been showed the prevalence of psychological comorbidities as anxiety disorders or depression are 60% in fibromyalgia patients. Also depressive patterns are associated with worse prognosis so that greater pain severity was observed in fibromyalgia patients with comorbidity of depression symptoms than healthy groups (18).

COVID-19 disease as well as the various restrictions taken by the states to prevent the spread of the disease, have also affected the recovery process of patients, especially their mental and physical functions (19). Studies have reported individualis'loneliness level had increased during the pandemic due to lack of social interactions. Increased of individualis'loneliness has been associated with anxiety and depression. (20) During COVID-19 pandemic many assessment tools have been used to evaluate psychological effects of COVID-19. In this current study CAS and OCS were used and the fibromyalgia patients with history of COVID-19 had higher scores demonstrates anxiety associated with coronavirus and thinking about COVID-19 too much. As we know the severity of fibromyalgia symptoms such as higher perception of tenderness after pressure is applied to tender points have been increased with anxiety (21). Batres-Marroquín et al. (22) reported that the fibromyalgia symptoms as pain, anxiety and depression have been worsening COVID-19 pandemic lockdown. Also increased sympathetic nervous system activity play a role on sleeping problems and COVID-19 lockdown- associated life style changes could worsen sympathetic nervous system. Previous studies showed that fibromyalgia patients have norepinephrine-evoked pain (23).

The relationship between sleep disorders and fibromyalgia is known. It has been shown in recent studies to be associated with sleep disturbance and widespread musculoskeletal pain. The effect of insomnia on pain formation and pain persistence is reported (24,25). The relationship between COVID-19 disease and sleep disturbances is known. Sleep duration and timing in COVID-19 positive individuals were affected by the illness behavior of sleep pattern at 30 days postillness (26). It was not surprising that PSQI scores were higher in the fibromyalgia group in this study. However, sleep scores were found to be high in fibromyalgia patients with COVID-19 history. This suggests that COVID-19 may be an effect on sleep disorders in fibromyalgia patients.

Dell'Osso et al. (27) showed that loss events and the severity of illness and health related quality of life in fibromyalgia patients. Similarly, in this current study the patients with losing first degree relatives due to COVID-19 had higher CAS, and OCS scores besides disease severity and low health related quality of life scores. Death and mourning process are universal and refers to losses that can occur at any stage of life. The grieving process reflects affective, cognitive, behavioral, physiological responses which affect individual and family system (28). Losing first degree relative and mourning process have difficulties to accept and adapt for most people. During pandemic period the restrictions, lack of social relations and legal limits on the number of people who can attend funeral could be increase these difficulties of mourning process. The main limitation of this study is its relatively small sample size and a single center study.

CONCLUSION

Psychological disorders are related with fibromyalgia severity and symptoms of disease. Fibromyalgia patients may be more effected in accordance of cognitive, mental and psychological features. These patients should be evaluated closely and treatment of fibromyalgia patients assessed. With the completion of researches on the longterm effects of COVID-19, the effects of COVID-19 disease will be better understood and the management of fibromyalgia will be reviewed.

ETHICAL DECLARATIONS

Ethics Committee Approval: The study was carried out with the permission of Kırklareli University Health Sciences Institute Ethics Committee (Date: 12.07.2021, Decision No: E-69456409-199-17531).

Informed Consent: Written informed consent was obtained from all participants who participated in this study.

Referee Evaluation Process: Externally peer-reviewed.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

Author Contributions: All of the authors declare that they have all participated in the design, execution, and analysis of the paper, and that they have approved the final version.

REFERENCES

- 1. Wu JT, Leung K, Leung GM. Nowcasting and forecasting the potential domestic and international spread of the 2019-nCoV outbreak originating in Wuhan, China: a modelling study. Lancet 2020; 395: 689–97.
- 2. Available from: https://www.who.int/news/item/27-04-2020-who-timeline---covid-19
- 3. Gemcioğlu E, Başer S, İnan O, et al. Effects of blood group types on risk of infection, disease severity, and mortality in COVID-19 patients. J Health Sci Med 2022; 5: 374-78.
- Kara U, Şimşek F, Özhan MÖ, et al. The factor analysis approach to mortality prediction in COVID-19 severe disease using laboratory values: a retrospective study. J Health Sci Med 2022; 5: 528-33.
- 5. Sarzi-Puttini P, Giorgi V, Marotto D, Atzeni F. Fibromyalgia: an update on clinical characteristics, aetiopathogenesis and treatment. Nat Rev Rheumatol.2020; 16: 645–60.
- Beck AT, Ward CH, Mendelson M, Mock J, Erbaugh J. An inventory for measuring depression. Arch Gen Psychiatry. 1961; 4: 561-71.
- 7. Hıslı, N. Beck Depresyon envanterinin gecerliligi uzerine bir calisma. Psikoloji Derg 1988 ; 6: 118–22.
- 8. Buysse DJ, Reynolds CF, Monk TH, et al. The Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index: a new instrument for psychiatric practice and research. Psychiatry Res 1989; 28: 193–213.
- Agargun MY, Kara H AO. The validity and reliability of the Pittsburgh sleep quality index. Turk Psikiyatr Derg 1996; 7: 107–15.
- Kocyigit H, Aydemir O, Olmez N MA. Reliability and validity of the Turkish version of Short-Form-36 (SF-36). Turkish J Drugs Ther 1999; 12: 102–6.
- 11.Sarmer S, Ergin S, Yavuzer G. The validity and reliability of the Turkish version of the Fibromyalgia Impact Questionnaire. Rheumatol Int 2000; 20: 9-12.
- 12. Lee SA. Coronavirus Anxiety Scale: A brief mental health screener for COVID-19 related anxiety. Death Stud 2020; 44: 393-401.
- 13.Evren C, Evren B, Dalbudak E, Topcu M, Kutlu N. Measuring anxiety related to COVID-19: A Turkish validation study of the Coronavirus Anxiety Scale. Death Stud 2020; 3: 1-7.
- 14.Lee SA. How much "Thinking" about COVID-19 is clinically dysfunctional? Brain Behav Immun 2020; 87: 97-8.
- 15. Siracusa R, Paola RD, Cuzzocrea S, Impellizzeri D. Fibromyalgia: pathogenesis, mechanisms, diagnosis and treatment options update. Int J Molecul Sci 2021; 22: 3891.
- 16.Bhargava J, Hurley JA. Fibromyalgia. In: StatPearls. Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls Publishing; October 13, 2021.
- 17. Epstein SA, Kay G, Clauw D, et al. Psychiatric disorders in patients with fibromyalgia: a multicenter investigation. Psychosomatics. 1999; 40: 57–63.
- 18. Leino P, Magni G. Depressive and distress symptoms as predictors of low back pain, neck-shoulder pain, and other musculoskeletal morbidity: a 10-year follow-up of metal industry employees. Pain. 1993; 53: 89–94.

- 19. Tull MT, Edmonds KA, Scamaldo KM, Richmond JR, Rose JP, Gratz KL. Psychological outcomes associated with stay-at-home orders and the perceived impact of COVID-19 on Daily Life. Psychiatry Res 2020; 289: 113098.
- 20.Wilkialis L, Rodrigues NB, Cha DS, et al. Social isolation, loneliness and generalized anxiety: implications and associations during the COVID-19 quarantine. Brain Sci 2021; 11: 1620.
- 21.Giesecke T, Williams DA, Harris RE, et al. Subgrouping of fibromyalgia patients on the basis of pressure-pain thresholds and psychological factors. Arthritis Rheum 2003; 48: 2916-22.
- 22. Batres-Marroquín AB, Medina-García AC, Vargas Guerrero A, Barrera-Villalpando MI, Martínez-Lavín M, Martínez-Martínez LA. Effect of COVID-19 pandemic lockdown on fibromyalgia symptoms. J Clin Rheumatol 2022; 28: 289-91.
- 23.Martinez-Lavin M, Vidal M, Barbosa RE, Pineda C, Casanova JM, Nava A. Norepinephrine-evoked pain in fibromyalgia. A randomized pilot study [ISRCTN70707830]. BMC Musculoskelet Disord 2002; 3: 2.
- 24.Mundal I, Gråwe RW, Bjørngaard JH, Linaker OM, Fors EA. Prevalence and long-term predictors of persistent chronic widespread pain in the general population in an 11-year prospective study: the HUNT study. BMC Musculoskelet Disord 2014; 15: 213.
- 25.Finan PH, Goodin BR, Smith MT. The association of sleep and pain: An update and a path forward. J Pain 2013; 14: 1539–52.
- 26.Donzella SM, Kohler LN, Crane TE, et al. COVID-19 Infection, the COVID-19 pandemic, and changes in sleep. Front Public Health 2022; 9: 795320.
- 27.Dell'Osso L, Carmassi C, Consoli G, et al. Lifetime post-traumatic stress symptoms are related to the health-related quality of life and severity of pain/fatigue in patients with fibromyalgia. Clin Exp Rheumatol 2011; 29: 73-8.
- 28.Beneria A, Castell-Panisello E, Sorribes-Puertas M, et al. End of life intervention program during COVID-19 in Vall d'Hebron University Hospital. Front Psychiatry 2021; 12: 608973.

Is there an association between thyroid function tests and 18F FDG PET/CT parameters in untreated cancer patients?

[®]İhsan Kaplan¹, [®]Canan Can¹, [®]Halil Kömek¹, [®]Ferat Kepenek¹, [®]Hikmet Soylu², [®]Erkan Erdur³, [®]Nurşin Agüloğlu⁴, [®]Cihan Gündoğan¹

¹Gazi Yaşargil Training and Research Hospital, University of Health Sciences, Department of Nuclear Medicine, Diyarbakır, Turkey
 ²Gazi Yaşargil Training and Research Hospital, University of Health Sciences, Department of Endocrinology, Diyarbakır, Turkey
 ³Gazi Yaşargil Training and Research Hospital, University of Health Sciences, Department of Oncology, Diyarbakır, Turkey
 ⁴University of Health Sciences, Dr. Suat Seren Chest Diseases and Surgery Training and Research Hospital, Department of Nuclear Medicine, İzmir, Turkey

Cite this article as: Kaplan İ, Can C, Kömek H, et al. Is there an association between thyroid function tests and 18F FDG PET/CT parameters in untreated cancer patients?. J Health Sci Med 2022; 5(3): 893-900.

ABSTRACT

Objectives: We aimed to investigate the association between the extent of disease, 18F FDG PET/CT parameters (SUVmax and the highest SUVmax) and thyroid function tests (TFT) (TSH, FT4, FT3, FT3/FT4 ratio, AntiTG, and AntiTPO) in untreated cancer patients.

Material and Method: One hundred and seventy-nine patients who underwent FDG PET/CT for metabolic characterization and staging in our clinic between May 2020 and November 2020 were included in the study. Patients were divided into two groups as malignant and benign according to histopathology findings. Thyroid function tests were ordered from all patients at the time of PET/CT imaging. The association between the presence of local lymph node metastasis, distant metastases and thyroid function tests as well as the association between PET/CT parameters and thyroid function tests in benign and malignant groups were statistically analyzed.

Results: Thyroid function tests did not exhibit a significant difference between patients with malignant and benign disease (p> 0.05). Univariate logistic regression analysis revealed that age, FT4 value, and the FT3/F4 ratio were significant parameters in predicting distant metastases. These parameters were also significant in predicting mortality. Multivariate logistic regression analysis showed that age was an independent prognostic factor predicting mortality.

Conclusion: Thyroid function tests are not decisive in differentiating malignant and benign lesions. While no statistically significant correlation was observed between thyroid function tests and PET/CT parameters, univariate analyses revealed that especially FT4 and FT3/FT4 ratio were significant in predicting disease extent and mortality in malignant disease. Age was found to be an independent prognostic factor in predicting mortality.

Keywords: PET/CT, SUVmax, thyroid hormones, malignancy, distant metastasis

INTRODUCTION

Thyroid hormones are regulated by the hypothalamicpituitary-thyroid and peripheral tissue axes and affect cell development, differentiation, and growth (1). Thyroid hormones specifically bind to the membrane and nuclear receptors that activate various oncogenic pathways, resulting in the promotion of cell growth, inhibition of apoptosis, and stimulation of angiogenesis. As a result of these multiple actions, thyroid hormones can play a major role in carcinogenesis. Numerous studies have pointed to an association between the increased risk of both solid organ and hematological malignancies and elevated thyroid hormone levels and/or suppressed thyrotropin (TSH) levels (2-4). Also, many in vitro studies revealed the tumor-promoting effects of thyroid hormones (5-8). Hyperthyroidism is associated with poorer prognosis and increased mortality in cancer patients, while hypothyroidism is associated with improved prognosis and prolonged mortality (9,10).

The most common hormone pattern in euthyroid sick syndrome is normal T4 and thyroid stimulating hormone levels, and low total T3 and free T3 levels. Changes in hormone parameters are thought to be a response to systemic disease in different ways in response to oxidative stress. In addition, it can be observed in acute and chronic diseases, after operations and malignancies. It is not a true syndrome and approximately 75% of hospitalized

Corresponding Author: İhsan Kaplan, drihsankaplan@hotmail.com



patients have significant changes in the hypothalamicpituitary-thyroid axis (11,12).

18F-fluorodeoxyglucose positron emission computerized tomography (18F FDG PET/CT) is one of the most commonly used functional imaging methods in clinical practice. This imaging technique is based on the demonstration of in vivo glucose metabolism (13,14). FDG uptake is routinely measured using the maximum standardized uptake value (SUVmax), which is an accurate and reliable imaging biomarker. 18F FDG PET/ CT and SUVmax are widely used in the diagnosis, staging, and evaluating treatment response of various malignant diseases (15-19). A few recent systematic reviews and meta-analyses have shown that SUVmax can be used as a prognostic factor in numerous malignancies (20-23). SUVmax is closely associated with tumor size, number of metastatic lymph nodes, occurrence and progression of distant metastases, and mortality predictions (24).

In this study, we aimed to investigate whether thyroid function tests (TSH, FT4, FT3, FT3/FT4 ratio, AntiTG, and AntiTPO) exhibit any difference between patients with untreated malignant or benign disease, and analyze the association between the extent of disease, FDG PET/CT parameters and thyroid function tests among these patients.

MATERIAL AND METHOD

The study was conducted with the permission of the Health Sciences University Gazi Yaşargil Training and Research Hospital Clinical Researches Ethics Committee (Date: 26.03.2020, Decision No: 736). All procedures were carried out in accordance with the ethical rules and the principles of the Declaration of Helsinki.

A total of 179 patients who underwent FDG PET/CT for metabolic characterization and staging in our Nuclear Medicine Clinic between May 2020 and November 2020 were reviewed retrospectively. Patients were divided into two groups as malignant and benign according to histopathology findings. Thyroid function tests were ordered from all patients at the time of PET/CT imaging. SUVmax values were measured from all primary lesions as well as local lymph node and distant metastases in patients with malignant disease. The highest SUVmax was recorded for all patients. The association between the presence of local lymph node metastasis, distant metastases and thyroid function tests as well as the association between PET/CT parameters and thyroid function tests in benign and malignant groups were statistically analyzed.

Inclusion Criteria

Patients who had their thyroid function tests measured at the time of PET/CT imaging, did not yet undergo surgery

or medical treatment, and had a histopathological diagnosis were included in the study.

Exclusion Criteria

Patients who are under thyroid hormone replacement for any reason and patients who had a previous history of Iodine-131 radionuclide treatment or thyroid surgery were excluded. Patients who underwent surgical treatment or chemotherapy/radiation therapy for the primary lesion or metastases were also excluded.

18F FDG PET/CT Protocol

All patients were asked to fast and stop intravenous (IV) glucose intake for at least 6 hours before undergoing scans. We confirmed blood glucose values to be ≤ 140 mg/dl by finger-stick method before FDG injection. One hour after the 18F FDG injection of 3.5 MBq/kg-5.5 MBq/kg, we obtained the CT images (120 kV, 80 mAs/ slice, 700 mm transaxial FOV, no gap, 64x0.625 mm collimation, pitch 1.4, 0.5 s rotation time, 3.3 mm slice thickness, 512x512 matrix) from the vertex to the middle of the thigh in the supine position using the Discovery IQ 4 ring 20-cm axial FOV PET/CT device (GE Healthcare, Milwaukee, WI, USA). We then obtained the bedside PET (3D FOV 20 cm, ordered subset expectationmaximization algorithm [OSEM] 5 iterations/12 subset, full width at half maximum [FWHM] 3 mm) images at 2.5 minutes thereafter.

Image Analysis

Images were evaluated by two nuclear medicine attendings with at least 10-years of PET/CT experience. Volumes of interest (VOIs) were drawn from the primary lesion, local lymph nodes, and distant metastases. SUVmax of all lesions and the highest SUVmax of all patients were measured and recorded.

Statistical Analysis

IBM SPSS Statistics for Mac, version 25.0 (IBM Corporation, Armonk, New York) was used for statistical analyses. Normality of data was tested with Kolmogorov-Smirnov test. Comparison of two independent groups with nonparametric distribution was performed using Mann-Whitney U test, while categorical variables were compared with Pearson's chi-squared test using the results of Fisher's exact test. The prognostic role of thyroid parameters in predicting local lymph node metastasis, distant metastasis, and mortality was evaluated with univariate and multivariate logistic regression analysis. Quantitative data were expressed as mean±SD (standard deviation) or median (minimum-maximum), while categorical variables were expressed as percentage (%). Data were evaluated within 95% confidence interval. p< 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

RESULTS

Among the total of 179 patients, 97 (54.2%) were male. The mean age of all patients was 60 years (3-94). Fifty-three patients (29.6%) had benign and 126 (70.4%) had malignant histopathology findings. Histopathological diagnoses of the patients are listed in **Table 1**. Eighty-six (68.2%) out of 126 patients with malignant disease had local lymph node metastases and 44 (34.9%) had distant metastases.

Table 1. Patient numbers and tumor types in malignant and groups	nd benign
Malignant Group (126)	Ν
Lung cancer	28
Breast cancer	21
Gastric cancer	15
Colorectal cancer	13
Prostate cancer	9
Pancreatic cancer	6
Lymphoma	5
Hepatic cancer	3
Cervical cancer	2
Endometrial cancer	2
Ovarian cancer	2
Esophageal cancer	2
Duodenal cancer	2
Multiple myeloma	2
Bladder cancer	2
Renal cancer	2
Gallbladder cancer	2
Tongue cancer	2
Glioblastoma Multiforme	1
Neuroblastoma	1
Paraganglioma	1
Liposarcoma	1
Ampullary tumor	1
Peritoneal carcinomatosis	1
Benign Group (53)	N
Solitary pulmonary nodule	21
Pleural thickening	8
Cervical-Mediastinal-Abdominal lymphadenopathy	5
Bone lesion	5
Tumor of unknown origin	3
Pancreatic mass	3
Hepatic mass	2
Cerebral mass	1
Esophageal mass	1
Breast lump	1
Cervical mass	1
Testicular mass	1
Peritoneal lesionv	1

Our patients had a median TSH value of 1.25 mU/L (0.01-131.00), a median free thyroxin (FT4) value of 1.36 ng/dL (0.10-2.58), and a median free triiodothyronine (FT3) of 3.03 pg/mL (0.61-6.20). The median anti-thyroglobulin antibody (AntiTG) level was 13.73 IU/mL (1.71-3125.00) and the median anti-thyroid peroxidase antibody (AntiTPO) level was 13.80 IU/mL (5.08-538.20). The median FT3/FT4 ratio vas 2.29 (0.79-6.10). A primary lesion was observed in 157 of our patients with a median SUVmax of 8.84 (0.59-91.17) and the median highest SUVmax of 156 patients (primary or metastatic lesion) was 10.34 (0.59-91.17) (**Table 2**).

The Association of Malignant/Benign Lesions with Thyroid and PET/CT Parameters

The median values of age, TSH, FT4, FT3, FT3/FT4 ratio, AntiTG, and AntiTPO levels did not exhibit a statistically significant difference between patient with malignant or benign disease. The median primary lesion SUVmax and the median highest SUVmax were significantly higher in malignant lesions than benign lesions (p<0.001 for both) (**Table 3**).

Table 2. Descriptive Parameters

			Total	
	N	Mean	Std. Deviation	Median (Min-Max)
Age	179	58.41	17.111	60 (3-94)
TSH	178	2.2185	9.76901	1.25 (0.01-131)
FT4	179	1.3676	0.30567	1.34 (0.1-2.5)
FT3	173	3.0601	0.73522	3.03 (0.61-6.2)
FT3/FT4	173	2.3385	0.70569	2.29 (0.79-6.1)
AntiTG	165	55.544	266.148	13.73 (1.71-3125)
AntiTPO	168	27.5317	67.2994	13.80 (5.08-538.2)
Primary Lesion SUVmax	157	11.4343	11.7915	8.84 (0.59-91.1)
Highest SUVmax	156	12.2935	11.7178	10.34 (0.59-91.1)
TSH: Thyrotropin, FT4: Free thyroxin, FT3: Free triiodothyronine, AntiTG: Anti-				

thyroglobulin, AntiTPO: Anti-thyroid peroxidase, SUVmax: Maximum standardized uptake value

Table 3. The Association of	Maligna	ant/Benign Lesions with	TFT and PET/CT P	Parameters	S				
		Benign			Malign				
	Ν	Median (Min-Max)	Std. Deviation	Ν	Median (Min-Max)	Std. Deviation	р		
Age	53	55 (7-80)	15.01	126	63 (3-94)	17.82	0.079		
TSH	53	1.35 (0.01-6.84)	1.36	125	1.23 (0.01-131)	11.63	0.104		
FT4	53	1.32 (0.78-1.92)	0.26	126	1.34 (0.1-2.58)	0.32	0.769		
FT3	50	3.11 (1.94-6.2)	0.75	123	2.97 (0.61-4.96)	0.72	0.126		
FT3/FT4	50	2.44 (1.27-5.27)	0.71	123	2.23 (0.79-6.1)	0.69	0.142		
AntiTG	49	13.94 (10-185)	38.11	116	13.46 (1.71-3125)	316.01	0.268		
AntiTPO	50	14.56 (6.76-538.2)	85.1	118	13.55 (5.08-515.1)	58.1	0.154		
Primary Lesion SUVmax	45	2.17 (0.59-24.1)	4.66	112	12.11 (1.2-91.17)	12.46	0		
Highest SUVmax	44	2.35 (0.59-24.1)	5.12	112	13.39 (1.2-91.17)	12.19	0		
TSH:Thyrotropin, FT4:Free thyroxi	n, FT3:Fre	e triiodothyronine, AntiTG:Ant	i-thyroglobulin, AntiTPO	O:Anti-thyro	oid peroxidase, SUVmax: Maxim	num standardized uptak	e value		

The Correlation between Thyroid and PET parameters

There was no significant correlation between the primary tumor SUVmax, the highest SUVmax, and thyroid function tests in 126 patients with malignant disease. AntiTG level was significantly correlated with sex (r: -1.99, p: 0.033). Age also had a significant correlation with TSH, FT3, AntiTG, and FT3/FT4 ratio (r: .242, p: 0.020; r: .780, p: <0.001; r: .307, p: <0.001; and r: .033, p: 0.006, respectively). Local lymph node metastasis was significantly correlated with FT3/FT4 ratio as well (r: .462, p: 0.045). Distant metastasis, on the other hand, was significantly correlated with age, FT4 level, and FT3/FT4 ratio (r: -.193, p: 0.030; r: -.221, p: 0.013; and r: .241, p: 0.007, respectively). Mortality was also significantly correlated with age, FT4 level, and FT3/FT4 ratio (r: -.280, p: 0.002; r: -.242, p: 0.006; and r: .245, p: 0.005, respectively) (Table 4).

Logistic Regression Analysis on Predicting Local Lymph Node Metastasis

Univariate logistic regression analyses for age, TSH, FT4, FT3, FT3/FT4 ratio, AntiTG, and AntiTPO levels failed to demonstrate a significant parameter in predicting local lymph node metastasis (**Table 5**).

Logistic Regression Analysis on Predicting Distant Metastasis

Univariate logistic regression analyses revealed age, FT4 levels, and FT3/FT4 ratio to be significant for predicting distant metastasis (OR: .977, p: 0.046; OR: .172, p: 0.008; and OR: .957, p: 0.005, respectively). However, multivariate logistic regression analyses failed to demonstrate an independent prognostic variable (**Table 6**).

Table 4. Correlation of TFT and PET/CT Parameters among Patients with Malignant Disease										
		Sex	Age	Primary Lesion SUVmax	Highest SUVmax	Local Lymph Node Metastasis	Distant Metastasis	Mortality		
Corr	r		.146	.008	010	.090	.022	.029		
Sex	р		.104	.930	.918	.319	.811	.750		
Age	r	.146		.107	.155	056	193	280		
	р	.104		.259	.104	.531	.030	.002		
TOLI	r	106	208	098	076	.017	004	041		
TSH	р	.242	.020	.308	.428	.853	.963	.649		
E ' T ' 4	r	075	.067	058	062	104	221	242		
F14	р	.405	.454	.547	.517	.246	.013	.006		
ET2	r	.026	344	080	135	.159	.115	.096		
F15	р	.780	.000	.408	.162	.079	.206	.293		
ET2/ET4	r	.093	319	.000	071	.181	.241	.254		
F13/F14	р	.307	.000	.999	.462	.045	.007	.005		
AntiTC	r	199	253	075	128	077	.147	.117		
Anuig	р	.033	.006	.450	.195	.410	.115	.212		
AntiTDO	r	092	.004	050	171	.097	006	116		
AIIIITPO	р	.325	.966	.609	.080	.294	.949	.212		

TSH:Thyrotropin, FT4:Free Thyroxin, FT3:Free Triiodothyronine, AntiTG:Anti-Thyroglobulin, AntiTPO:Anti-Thyroid Peroxidase, SUVmax:Maximum Standardized Uptake Value

Table 5. Logistic Regression Analysis on Predicting Local Lymph Node Metastasis										
		Univa	riate analysis		Multivariate analysis					
		OP -	95% C.I.f	5% C.I.for EXP(B)		D	OD	95% C.I.for EXP(B)		n
	D	OK -	Lower	Upper	р	D	OK	Lower	Upper	P
Sex	.393	1.481	-	-	.316	-	-	-	-	-
Age	008	.992	3	94	.456	-	-	-	-	-
TSH	037	.964	.01	131.00	.731	-	-	-	-	-
FT4	575	.563	.10	2.58	.352	-	-	-	-	-
FT3	.456	1.578	.61	4.96	.100	-	-	-	-	-
FT3/FT4	.447	1.564	.79	6.10	.116	-	-	-	-	-
AntiTG	.001	1.001	1.71	3125.00	.314	-	-	-	-	-
AntiTPO	.001	1.001	5.08	515.10	.818	-	-	-	-	-
Primary Lesion SUVmax	.014	1.014	1.20	91.17	.363	-	-	-	-	-
Highest SUVmax	.005	1.005	1.20	91.17	.749	-	-	-	-	-
TSH:Thyrotropin, FT4:Free thyroxin, F	T3:Free triiodotl	nyronine, Anti'	TG:Anti-thyroglo	bulin, AntiTPO: An	ti-thyroid pero	xidase, SI	UVmax: M	aximum standa	dized uptake val	ue

Logistic Regression Analysis on Predicting Mortality

Univariate logistic regression analyses revealed age, FT4 levels, and FT3/FT4 ratio to be significant for predicting distant metastasis (OR: .947, p: 0.004; OR: .223, p: 0.042; and OR: .3.970, p: 0.006, respectively). Age was determined to be significant prognostic marker for mortality in multivariate analyses (OR: .949, p: 0.018) (Table 7).

DISCUSSION

In this prospective study investigating the association of thyroid function tests with the extent of malignant disease in patients with a tumoral lesion, we did not observe a significant difference in thyroid function tests between malignant and benign groups. Also, PET/CT parameters and thyroid function tests did not exhibit a statistically significant correlation. FT3/FT4 ratio was significantly correlated with local lymph node metastasis and was shown to be a prognostic factor predicting distant metastasis and mortality in univariate analyses.

Thyroid hormones specifically bind to the membrane and nuclear receptors that activate various oncogenic pathways, resulting in the promotion of cell growth, inhibition of apoptosis, and stimulation of angiogenesis. Therefore, thyroid hormones can play a major role in carcinogenesis. Numerous studies indicate an association between increased risk of both solid organ and hematological malignancies and elevated thyroid hormone levels and/or suppressed TSH levels (2-4).

In a study performed with 158 patients with various types of cancer and 100 healthy controls, no statistically significant difference was observed between the groups in terms of the prevalence of thyroid dysfunction (16% and 14%, respectively; p: 0.51). However, the authors reported that thyroid dysfunctions are usually overlooked in cancer patients (25). In their prospective study with more than ten thousand participants, Khan et al. (26) found that elevated FT4 levels were associated with a higher risk of solid organ malignancies, but this association was weaker when corrected for patients under thyroid medications. Still, the highest FT4 level was associated with 13% increase in the risk of solid organ malignancies compared to the lowest FT4 level. TSH level was not associated with the overall risk of cancer. In our study, we did not observe any difference in thyroid function tests between the malignant and benign groups.

Table 6. Logistic Regression Analysis on Predicting Distant Metastasis											
		Univariate analysis					Multivariate analysis				
	р	OD	95% C.I. fo	for EXP(B)	-	р	OD	95% C.I. for EXP(B)			
	D	OK	Lower	Upper	р	D	UK	Lower	Upper	Р	
Sex	.091	1.095	-	-	.809	-	-	-	-	-	
Age	023	.977	3	94	.046	019	.981	-	-	.127	
TSH	.029	1.030	.01	131.00	.658	-	-	-	-	-	
FT4	-1.762	.172	.10	2.58	.008	-1.239	.290	-	-	.127	
FT3	.229	1.257	.61	4.96	.391	-	-	-	-	-	
FT3/FT4	.957	2.605	.79	6.10	.005	.434	1.544	-	-	.318	
AntiTG	.009	1.009	1.71	3125.00	.317	-	-	-	-	-	
AntiTPO	.010	1.010	5.08	515.10	.413	-	-	-	-	-	
Primary Lesion SUVmax	.009	1.009	1.20	91.17	.598	-	-	-	-	-	
Highest SUVmax	012	.988	1.20	91.17	.458	-	-	-	-	-	
TOLE Threader in FTA Days Thread	ET2 E. T		LA ANDRO A		AULTDO	A	D	TX7	. Ct 1		

TSH: Thyrotropin, FT4:Free Thyroxin, FT3:Free Triiodothyronine, AntiTG:Anti-Thyroglobulin, AntiTPO:Anti-Thyroid Peroxidase, SUVmax: Maximum Standardized Uptake Value

Table 7. Logistic Regression Analysis on Mortality										
		Un	ivariate ana	lysis		Multivariate analysis				
	D	OP	95% C.I. f	95% C.I. for EXP(B)	D	OP	95% C.I. for EXP(B)			
	D	UK	Lower	Upper	р	D	UK	Lower	Upper	Р
Sex	.160	1.174	-	-	.748		-	-	-	-
Age	054	.947	3	94	.004	052	.949	-	-	.018
TSH	.024	1.025	.01	131.00	.772	-	-	-	-	-
FT4	-1.501	.223	.10	2.58	.042	-1.189	.304	-	-	.262
FT3	.359	1.432	.61	4.96	.328	-	-	-	-	-
FT3/FT4	1.379	3.970	.79	6.10	.006	.658	1.931	-	-	.300
AntiTG	.010	1.010	1.71	3125.00	.567	-	-	-	-	-
AntiTPO	.003	1.003	5.08	515.10	.666	-	-	-	-	-
Primary Lesion SUVmax	018	.982	1.20	91.17	.295	-	-	-	-	-
Highest SUVmax	016	.985	1.20	91.17	.397	-	-	-	-	-
SH: Thyrotropin, FT4: Free Thyroxin, FT3: Free Triiodothyronine, AntiTG: Anti-Thyroglobulin, AntiTPO: Anti-Thyroid Peroxidase, SUVmax: Maximum Standardized Uptake										

Among the various values determined with 18F-FDG PET/CT, the most widely used parameter is SUVmax, which measures the metabolic rate of glucose uptake by tumor cells. Recent systematic reviews and metaanalyses have shown that SUVmax can be used as a prognostic factor in numerous malignancies (20-23). Increased SUVmax is associated with aggressive tumor behavior and patients with higher SUVmax have a higher risk of recurrence and progression (27). Therefore, aggressive treatments are more effective in patients with higher SUVmax and are associated with progression free survival (PFS) and/or overall survival (OS) advantage. Tumor size and the number of metastatic lymph nodes are well-defined prognostic factors in various types of cancer as they are closely related to distant metastasis and progression (28). However, there is no study in the literature about how SUVmax and the highest SUVmax, which are PET/CT parameters, and thyroid parameters are related. In the current study, SUVmax and the highest SUVmax had no significant correlation with thyroid function tests.

In their study evaluating the relationship of suppressed TSH levels and mortality, Ittermann et al. (29) failed to show a significant association between low serum TSH levels and cancer mortality. Similarly, Zhang et al. (30) observed no association between thyroid hormone levels within the reference range and mortality. In concordance with the above-mentioned studies, we found no statistically significant association between TSH levels and tumor extent and mortality.

The effect or ineffectiveness of thyroid hormones on tumor progression and the efficacy of systemic anticancer therapies has been previously described but has not yet been clearly demonstrated or thoroughly understood. The association between worse survival and decreased FT3 levels, also named as low T3 syndrome, is documented in a variety of clinical scenarios (31,32). The mortality rate of critical patients with distinct alterations in serum thyroid parameters is significantly increased. Also, preclinical experiences point to an association between low serum FT3 levels and mortality in the frail elderly (33,34). In their study on the association of thyroid hormone levels within the reference range with mortality, Zhang et al. (30) found that FT3 levels were negatively correlated with cancer mortality. In another study on patients with lung cancer, 33% of patients demonstrated abnormalities in their thyroid function tests, and most of them had euthyroid sick syndrome (ESS) (a low T3 variant), indicating poorer prognosis (35). In our study, FT3 levels did not significantly predict mortality and were not associated with the extent of primary tumor.

Pinter et al. (36) reported consistent data indicating elevated FT4 levels to be a poor prognostic factor in

patients with advanced hepatocellular carcinoma. On the other hand, some studies have shown a direct association between high FT4 levels and better physical performance or survival in elderly patients (34,37). In their beforementioned study, Zhang et al. (30) did not observe any association between FT4 and mortality. The univariate analyses of the current study showed FT4 level to be a factor predicting distant metastasis and mortality.

Serum levels of the active forms of thyroid levels depend on the iodothyronine deiodinases, an enzyme family that can convert biological precursor T4 to active T3 (deiodinases 1 and 2) and inactive rT3 and T2 (deiodinase 3) (38, 39). Aside from their roles, the three deiodinases differ in their tissue of expression: D1 is expressed in liver and kidneys, while D2 is expressed in skeletal muscle cells where most of the T3 is produced. D3 is accepted as an inactivating enzyme and is vital for placental and fetal tissues (39). Chronic diseases, cachexia, hepatic or renal failure, and chronic systemic inflammation lower the activity of D1 and D2, but augment the activity of D3, causing decreased FT3 levels (40,41). These clinical scenarios are prevalent in cancer patients, especially in the terminal stage, and are typically associated with worse prognosis. Most of our patients had malignancy, some of them were being followed up in the intensive care unit due to chronic disease and malignancy. Therefore, changes in thyroid hormones may be affected by euthyroid sick syndrome.

Using FT3/FT4 ratio rather that the mean of two hormone levels can act as a more functional marker for peripheral deiodination activity and can even help classifying patients with normal FT3 levels (32). To date, limited data are available regarding the prognostic impact of thyroid hormone levels in patients with advanced cancer and the potential role of the FT3/FT4 ratio remains undiscovered (36,42,43). Two recently published studies have shown that low FT3/FT4 ratio better predicts OS and PFS in patients with metastatic colorectal cancer, independent of other prognostic factors (44,45).

Another recent study on hospitalized elderly patients with acute illnesses showed that peripheral thyroid hormone conversion dysfunctions evaluated by FT3/FT4 ratio is closely associated with frailty and survival, even if FT3 is within reference range (38). Low FT3/FT4 ratio is reported to be a strong prognostic factor for both PFS and PS in patients with metastatic renal cell carcinoma (46). In the current study, univariate analyses revealed the FT3/FT4 ratio to be a prognostic factor for both the extent of disease and mortality.

Aging is known to trigger functional and structural changes in the hypothalamic-pituitary-thyroid axes, causing ESS (47). Tellini et at. (48) investigated the

incidence of ESS in 220 geriatric patients hospitalized for cancer and observed that the risk of ESS is higher in elderly cancer patients with recent major weight loss and worse clinical conditions. The incidence of thyroid dysfunction in the normal population may vary depending on iodine deficiency, geographical differences, and ethnic factors. NHANES III, a wide population screening study, showed that subclinical and clinical hyperthyroidism and hypothyroidism potentially contributes to morbidity in especially the elderly in the US (49). Patients with malignant disorders have a higher risk of thyroid dysfunction than the normal population. Increasing age and lower performance score is also significantly associated with thyroid dysfunction (50). In our study age was both correlated with thyroid function tests and was a factor predicting the extent of disease in univariate analyses and an independent prognostic factor predicting mortality.

The limitations of our study include the limited number of patients and therefor the inability to group then according to tumor types, the numerical inequality in malignant and benign groups and the inability to followup patients for long term.

CONCLUSION

Thyroid function tests did not exhibit a significant difference between malignant and benign lesions. No statistically significant correlation was observed between thyroid function tests and PET/CT parameters. Univariate analyses revealed that especially FT4 and FT3/FT4 ratio were significant in predicting disease extent and mortality in malignant disease, while age was found to be an independent prognostic factor in predicting mortality. Even though further studies are needed, we recommend cancer patients with advanced age to have thyroid function test as a part of their first clinical screening.

ETHICAL DECLARATIONS

Ethics Committee Approval: The study was conducted with the permission of the Health Sciences University Gazi Yaşargil Training and Research Hospital Clinical Researches Ethics Committee (Date: 26.03.2020, Decision No: 736).

Informed Consent: Because the study was designed retrospectively, no written informed consent form was obtained from patients.

Referee Evaluation Process: Externally peer-reviewed.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

Author Contributions: All of the authors declare that they have all participated in the design, execution, and analysis of the paper, and that they have approved the final version.

REFERENCES

- 1. St Germain DL, Galton VA, Hernandez A. Minireview: defining the roles of the iodothyronine deiodinases: current concepts and challenges. Endocrinology 2009; 150: 1097-107.
- Khan SR, Chaker L, Ruiter R, et al. Thyroid function and cancer risk: the Rotterdam study. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2016; 101: 5030-6.
- 3. Hellevik AI, Asvold BO, Bjøro T, et al. Thyroid function and cancer risk: a prospective population study. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 2009; 18: 570-4.
- 4. Dalamaga M, Lekka A, Karmaniolas K, et al. Is thyroid autoimmunity a risk factor for developing primary myelodysplastic syndrome? Cancer Causes Control 2008; 19: 371-8.
- 5. Davis FB, Mousa SA, O'Connor L, et al. Proangiogenic action of thyroid hormone is fibroblast growth factor-dependent and is initiated at the cell surface. Circ Res 2004; 94: 1500-6.
- 6. Bergh JJ, Lin HY, Lansing L, et al. Integrin alphaVbeta3 contains a cell surface receptor site for thyroid hormone that is linked to activation of mitogen-activated protein kinase and induction of angiogenesis. Endocrinology 2005; 146: 2864-71.
- 7. Lin HY, Davis FB, Gordinier JK, Martino LJ, Davis PJ. Thyroid hormone induces activation of mitogen-activated protein kinase in cultured cells. Am J Physiol 1999; 276: 1014-24.
- Lin HY, Su YF, Hsieh MT, et al. Nuclear monomeric integrin αv in cancer cells is a coactivator regulated by thyroid hormone. FASEB J 2013; 27: 3209-16.
- 9. Tosovic A, Bondeson AG, Bondeson L, et al. T3 levels in relation to prognostic factors in breast cancer: a population-based prospective cohort study. BMC Cancer 2014; 14: 536.
- Journy NMY, Bernier MO, Doody MM, et al. Hyperthyroidism, hypothyroidism, and cause-specific mortality in a large cohort of women. Thyroid 2017; 27: 1001-10.
- 11. Selvaraj N, Bobby Z, Sridhar MG. Is euthyroid sick syndrome a defensive mechanism against oxidative stress? Med Hypotheses 2008; 71: 404-5.
- 12.Ganesan K, Wadud K. Euthyroid sick syndrome. StatPearls [Internet]. Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls Publishing; 2022.
- 13. Kwee TC, Basu S, Saboury B, et al. A new dimension of FDG-PET interpretation: assessment of tumor biology. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging 2011; 38: 1158-70.
- 14.El-Galaly TC, Gormsen LC, Hutchings M. PET/CT for staging; past, present, and future. Semin Nucl Med 2018; 48: 4-16.
- 15.Ma CL, Li XD, Sun XR, et al. Using 18F-fluorodeoxyglucose positron emission tomography/ computed tomography to estimate the length of gross tumor and involvement of lymph nodes in esophagogastric junction carcinoma. J Cancer Res Ther 2018; 14: 896-901.
- 16. Gupta G, Gandhi JS, Sharma A, et al. A study of the pathological outcome of positron emission tomography-computed tomography 2-(18F)-fluro-2-deoxy-D-glucose avid lesion: A 5 years retrospective study. J Cancer Res Ther 2017; 13: 1000-6.
- 17. Shao M, Zi J, Wen G. 2-fluoro-2-deoxy-D-glucose positron emission tomography versus conventional imaging for the diagnosis of breast cancer and lymph node metastases. J Cancer Res Ther 2018; 14: 661-6.
- 18.Liao CY, Chen JH, Liang JA, et al. Meta-analysis study of lymph node staging by 18 F-FDG PET/CT scan in non-small cell lung cancer: comparison of TB and non-TB endemic regions. Eur J Radiol 2012; 81: 3518-23.

- 19.Xia Q, Liu J, Wu C, et al. Prognostic significance of (18)FDG PET/ CT in colorectal cancer patients with liver metastases: a metaanalysis. Cancer Imag 2015; 15: 19.
- 20. Sarker A, Im HJ, Cheon GJ, et al. Prognostic implications of the SUVmax of primary tumors and metastatic lymph node measured by 18F-FDG PET in patients with uterine cervical cancer: a meta-analysis. Clin Nucl Med 2016; 41: 34-40.
- 21.Im HJ, Pak K, Cheon GJ, et al. Prognostic value o volumetric parameters of 18F-FDG PET in non-small-cell lung cancer: a meta-analysis. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging 2015; 42: 241–51.
- 22.Pak K, Cheon GJ, Nam HY, et al. Prognostic value of metabolic tumor volume and total lesion glycolysis in head and neck cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Nucl Med 2014; 55: 884-90.
- 23.Xie M, Wu K, Liu Y, et al. Predictive value of F-18 FDG PET/CT quantization parameters in diffuse large B cell lymphoma: a metaanalysis with 702 participants. Med Oncol 2015; 32: 446.
- 24.Sala E, Kataoka M, Pandit-Taskar N, et al. Recurrent ovarian cancer: use of contrast-enhanced CT and PET/CT to accurately localize tumor recurrence and to predict patients survival. Radiology 2010; 257: 125-34.
- 25. Shani D, Brand DA, Patrick PA. Unrecognized thyroid dysfunction in patients with cancer. Support Care Cancer 2003; 11: 63–5.
- 26.Ruiter R, Aerts JG V, Hofman A, et al. Thyroid function and cancer risk: the Rotterdam study. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2016; 101: 5030–6.
- 27.Kim J, Lee Y, Lee D, et al. The prognostic significance of the lymph node ratio in axillary lymph node positive breast cancer. J Breast Cancer 2011; 78: 204–12.
- 28.Carter CL, Allen C, Henson DE. Relation of tumor size, lymph node status and survival in 24740 breast cancer cases. Cancer 1989; 63: 18-7.
- 29.Ittermann T, Haring R, Sauer S, et al. Decreased serum TSH levels are not associated with mortality in the adult northeast German population. Eur J Endocrinol 2010; 162: 579–85.
- 30.Zhang Y, Chang Y, Ryu S, et al. Thyroid hormones and mortality risk in euthyroid individuals: the Kangbuk Samsung health study. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2014; 99: 2467–76.
- 31.Lamprou V, Varvarousis D, Polytarchou K, et al. The role of thyroid hormones in acute coronary syndromes: prognostic value of alterations in thyroid hormones. Clin Cardiol 2017; 40: 528-33.
- 32. Fragidis S, Sombolos K, Thodis E, et al. Low T3 syndrome and long-term mortality in chronic hemodialysis patients. World J Nephrol 2015; 4: 415-22.
- Bertoli A, Valentini A, Cianfarani MA, et al. Low FT3: a possible marker of frailty in the elderly. Clin Interv Aging 2017; 12: 335-41.
- 34.De Alfieri W, Nistico F, Borgogni T, et al. Thyroid hormones as predictors of short and long-term mortality in very old hospitalized patients. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci 2013; 68: 1122-8.
- 35.Ratcliffe JG, Stack BH, Burt RW, et al. Thyroid function in lung cancer. Br Med J 1978; 1: 210-2.
- 36. Pinter M, Haupt L, Hucke F, et al. The impact of thyroid hormones on patients with hepatocellular carcinoma. PLoS One 2017; 12: e0181878.
- 37.van den Beld AW, Visser TJ, Feelders RA, et al. Thyroid hormone concentrations, disease, physical function, and mortality in elderly men. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2005; 90: 6403-9.
- 38. Pasqualetti G, Calsolaro V, Bernardini S, et al. Degree of peripheral thyroxin deiodination, frailty, and long-term survival in hospitalized older patients. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2018; 103: 1867–76.
- 39. Warner MH, Beckett GJ. Mechanism behind the non-thyroidal illness syndrome: an update. J Endocrinol 2010; 205: 1–13.

- 40. Mancini A, Di Segni C, Raimondo S, et al. Thyroid hormones, oxidative stress, and inflammation. Mediators Inflamm 2016; 6757154.
- 41.De Luca R, Davis PJ, Lin HY, et al. Thyroid hormones interaction with immune response, inflammation and nonthyroidal illness syndrome. Front Cell Dev Biol 2021; 8: 614030.
- 42. Yasar ZA, Kirakli C, Yilmaz U, et al. Can non-thyroid illness syndrome predict mortality in lung cancer patients? A prospective cohort study. Horm Cancer 2014; 5: 240-6.
- 43.Gao R, Liang JH, Wang L, et al. Low T3 syndrome is a strong prognostic predictor in diffuse large B cell lymphoma. Br J Haematol 2017; 177: 95-105.
- 44. Schirripa M, Pasqualetti G, Giampieri R, et al. Prognostic value of thyroid hormone ratios in patients with advanced metastatic colorectal cancer treated with regorafenib: the TOREADOR study. Clin Colorectal Canc 2018; 17: e601–15.
- 45. Pasqualetti G, Schirripa M, Dochy E, et al. Thyroid hormones ratio is a major prognostic marker in advanced metastatic colorectal cancer: results from the phase III randomised CORRECT trial. Eur J Cancer 2020; 133: 66–73.
- 46. Maruzzo M, Verzoni E, Vitale MG, et al. Prognostic value of thyroid hormone ratio in patients with advanced metastatic renal cell carcinoma: results from the threefour study (Meet-URO 14). Front Oncol 2021; 11: 787835.
- 47.Bossoni S, Cossi S, Marengoni A, et al. Low T3 syndrome and outcome in elderly hospitalized geriatric patients. J Endocrinol Invest 2002; 25: 73-4.
- 48. Tellini U, Pellizzari L, Pravadelli B. Thyroid function in elderly with neoplasms, Minerva Med 1999; 90: 111-21.
- 49.Hollowell JG, Staehling NW, Flanders WD, et al. Serum TSH, T4, and thyroid antibodies in the United States population (1988 to 1994): National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES III). J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2002; 87: 489-99.
- 50.Dişel U, Beşen A, Karadeniz C, et al. Prevalence of thyroid dysfunction in untreated cancer patients: a cross-sectional study. Med Oncol 2012; 29: 3608-13.

Impact of patient satisfaction with insulin pens on glycemic control

DIşılay Kalan Sarı¹, DHüseyin Demirci²

¹University of Health Sciences, Antalya Training and Research Hospital, Department of Endocrinology and Metabolic Disorders, Antalya, Türkey ²Medicana International Hospital, Department of Endocrinology and Metabolic Disorders, Ankara, Turkey

Cite this article as: Kalan Sarı I, Demirci H. Impact of patient satisfaction with insulin pens on glycemic control. J Health Sci Med 2022; 5(3): 901-906.

ABSTRACT

Aim: Adherence to the insulin regimen is poor. The use of an insulin pen contributes positively to glycemic control by increasing patient satisfaction and adherence. The aim of this study is to analyze the influence of patients' opinions of insulin pen use on glycemic control in type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM).

Material and Method: 126 patients with T2DM who use insulin and inject it with insulin pens were included in the study. Patients' evaluations about the pens (ergonomics, ease of reading the dosage scale, dose selection, needle change, and ease of use of the insulin pen in general) were assessed. Glycemic parameters, demographic characteristics, and treatment protocol were recorded.

Results: Patients who perceived the use of the insulin pen as ergonomically 'excellent' had a significantly lower HbA1c $(8.0\pm1.4\%)$ (p=0.04). HbA1c was significantly lower in patients who perceived needle tip replacement as 'very easy' $(8.0\pm1.6\%)$ (p=0.04). No statistically significant relationship was found between the ease of reading the dosage scale and the HbA1c value (p=0.53). The HbA1c value decreased significantly in patients who rated the dosage selection as 'very easy' $(8.1\pm1.7\%)$ (p=0.02). The HbA1c value increased significantly in patients who rated the pen as 'difficult' to use $(12.2\pm1.6\%)$ (p=0.01).

Conclusion: In our study, we found that patients' opinions of insulin pen use may influence glycemic control parameters. HbA1c was better in patients who found the insulin pen as easy to use and good in ergonomics. In T2DM, patient assessment of insulin pen injection is related to glycemic control. New studies are needed to say whether this situation is related to the appropriate dose of insulin injection or adherence to therapy.

Keywords: Diabetes mellitus, insulin, injection, HbA1c

INTRODUCTION

The incidence of diabetes mellitus (DM) is increasing in our country (13.7%) as in the whole world (1). The American Diabetes Association (ADA) recommends a glycemic target of glycated hemoglobin (HbA1c) < 7% (53) mmol/mol) for the treatment of type 2 DM (T2DM) (2). Despite new pharmacological agents, many patients do not reach glycemic target values (3). A major obstacle to effective treatment of DM is lack of adherence (4). People with type 1 DM take insulin only. Some people with T2DM fail to control their blood glucose with diet, exercise, and oral hypoglycemic agents and require insulin. However, adherence to the insulin regimen is poor (5,6). There are numerous factors that influence patients' adherence to therapy. These include age, duration of disease, adverse events such as hypoglycemia or weight gain, injection method, pain on injection, number of daily injections, and patient confidence in treatment (7). Improving the adherence to insulin treatment helps to reduce HbA1c levels and improve metabolic control (8). In addition, studies show that the injection method (such as the technology used, the prevention of lipohypertrophy by changing the injection site each time) can affect glycemic control by providing the appropriate dose and absorption of insulin, apart from patient compliance (9). Insulin therapy is administered with a syringe, insulin pen, or insulin pump. In patients with T2DM, insulin is usually injected with insulin pens. Instead of the syringe, the use of insulin pens contributes positively to glycemic control by increasing patient satisfaction and adherence (10). Over the years, different insulin pens have been developed to improve accuracy and ease of use. In order to increase the ease of use, many features of insulin pens

Corresponding Author: Işılay Kalan Sarı, isilaykalan@gmail.com



have been tried to be developed. These include portability, ease of reading the dose scale, ease of dose adjustment, ergonomic design, sturdiness, safety, and the ability to distinguish between pens in patients using multiple pens (different colors or thickness etc (11). Nowadays, there are various insulin pens with different characteristics and innovations among the conventional (with replaceable cartridge) and disposable (with single cartridge) insulin pens. Studies have shown that using the insulin pen that the patient prefers and is satisfied with will increase the success of the treatment (12) The aim of this study is to analyze the influence of patients' opinions of insulin pen use on glycemic control in T2DM.

MATERIAL AND METHOD

This cross-sectional study included patients with T2DM who were treated between September 2013 and March 2014 in Endocrinology Department of Kırıkkale University Faculty of Medicine Hospital. The study was approved by the Clinical Researches Ethics Committee of the Kırıkkale University (Date: 17.07.2013, Decision No: 14/01). All procedures were performed in accordance with the ethical rules and the principles of the Declaration of Helsinki.

Patients aged 18 to 70 years who had been using an insulin pen regularly for at least one month, used an insulin needle tip of the same brand and size, were motor and intellectually capable of self-administering an insulin pen, had no severe retinopathy affecting vision and had no severe neuropathies or motor deficits were enrolled in the study. Exclusion criteria were that patients were under 18 years of age and older than 70 years of age, used the insulin pen for less than 1 month, had severe retinopathy affecting vision, had severe neuropathy or motor deficits that could interfere with the use of the insulin pen, were unable to self-inject the insulin pen and were assisted by their relatives, and used needle tips of different brands and sizes. During this period, patients with a T2DM diagnosis using an insulin pen were evaluated consecutively, and patients who met the inclusion and exclusion criteria were included in the study. Care was taken to ensure that half of the patients enrolled in the study used disposable pens (with a prefilled insulin cartridge) and the other half used conventional insulin pens (with a replaceable insulin cartridge). During this 6-month period, a total of 126 patients were enrolled in the study. Patients had provided written informed consent. All patients underwent a physical examination and biochemical evaluation. Patients were asked questions about their demographic characteristics, disease characteristics, insulin treatment details, and ratings of the insulin pen they used. The presence of diabetic neuropathy was determined by the signs and symptoms of peripheral neuropathy, including numbness in the hands and/or feet, dysesthesia and/or paresthesia, hypersensitivity to touch, burning pain, neuropathic foot ulcers, and decrease or loss of deep tendon reflexes. Patients' renal functions were evaluated by measurements of serum creatinine, microalbuminuria, and creatinine clearance. After exclusion of hematuria and urinary tract infections, values of albumin/creatinine ratio greater than 30 mg/g in the spot urine collected at least twice were accepted as diabetic nephropathy. Diabetic retinopathy was diagnosed by an ophthalmologist after an ophthalmologic examination. A 10-cm visual analogue scale (VAS) was used to assess pain during injection, starting with horizontal "No pain" and ending with "Unbearable pain" (13). Fasting blood glucose (FBG) and glycated haemoglobin (HbA1c) levels were recorded. For HbA1c analysis, cation exchange high performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) was used and for FBG and other biochemical tests, spectrophotometric method on Beckman coulter AU5800 (Beckman coulter Inc. CA, USA) autoanalyzer was used.

Patients' ratings of insulin pens in terms of ergonomics, ease of needle tip replacement, readability of the dosage scale, dose selection, and ease of use of the pen were assessed. Patients were asked their opinion on ergonomics with one of 5 different levels from very poor to excellent (very poor, poor, moderate, good, excellent). And they were asked their opinions on the ease of insulin pen use and the other three features with one of 5 different grades, from very difficult to very easy (very difficult, difficult, moderate, easy, very easy). The HbA1c values based on these 5 assessment groups were compared.

The SPSS 16 (Statistical Package for Social Sciences) program was used for statistical analysis of the results of the study. Results were expressed as mean±standard deviation (mean±SD). Descriptive statistics were performed for all variables. One-way ANOVA was used to determine if there were statistically significant differences between groups. Tukey's post-hoc test was used to determine where the difference existed between the groups. Shapiro-Wilk test was used to determine whether the distribution of the data was normal or not. Before correlation analysis, patient satisfaction status was graded. It was graded as very poor or very difficult, 1; poor or difficult, 2; moderately, 3; good or easy, 4; excellent or very easy, 5, and correlation analysis was performed between numeric parameters, not categorical. Pearson's correlation coefficient is preferred when the data are normally distributed, and Spearman Rank's correlation coefficient is preferred when the data are not normally distributed. The significance was evaluated at the p < 0.05 level.

RESULTS

One hundred twenty-six patients with a mean age of 55.3±11.1 years were included. 89 of the subjects (71%) were female. The mean duration of diabetes was 11.8±7.3 years and the mean duration of insulin use was 4.7±4.8 years. Table 1 shows the demographic characteristics, microvascular complications, insülin pen types and laboratory findings of the subjects. Twenty-three (18.2%) patients had previously used other insulin pens. The remainder were either using an insulin pen for the first time or had previously used the same type of insulin pen. All patients used the same brand and size of needle tip (32 G - 6 mm). Only 53.2% of the patients used the needle tip once as recommended, while the others used it at least twice. The mean number of uses of the same needle tip was 1.76±1.1, and the mean intensity of needle pain was 2.8 ± 2.2 . The number of needle repetitions of patients and the severity of needle pain according to the VAS scale were presented in Tables 2 and 3. The severity of needle pain and the number of uses of the same needle tip were compared. There was no correlation between the number of reuses of the same needle tip and the severity of pain (p=0.2; r=0.1).

Table 1. Demographic characteristics, microva and laboratory findings of the subjects included	scular complications 1 in the study
Age (year)	55.3±11.1
Gender (Male/Female) n (%)	37/89 (29/71)
Duration of diabetes (year)	11.8±7.3
Duration of insulin use (year)	4.7 ± 4.8
Type of insulin pen n (%)	
Conventional pen	63 (50%)
Novopen TM	34 (54%)*
Humapen TM	29 (46%)*
Disposable pen	63 (50%)
Flexpen TM	12 (19%)**
Solostar TM	17 (27%)**
Kwikpen TM	34 (54%)**
Insulin regimen n (%)	
Premix insulin	68 (54%)
Basal insulin	29 (23%)
Basal-bolus insulin	29 (23%)
Insulin dose (IU)	39.6±22.9
Number of using the same needle tip	1.76 ± 1.1
Intensity of needle pain	2.87±2.2
Educational status n (%)	
Primary School	65 (51.6%)
High School	25 (19.8%)
University	24 (19%)
Illiterate	12 (9.5%)
FBG (mg/dl)	177.7±72.6
HbA1c (%)	$8.4{\pm}1.7$
Retinopathy n (%)	42 (33.3%)
Nephropathy n (%)	24 (19%)
Neuropathy n (%)	36 (28.6%)
All parameters are given as mean+standard deviation	unless otherwise stated

All parameters are given as mean±standard deviation unless otherwise stated. FBG; fasting blood glucose, HbA1c; glycated hemoglobin. * The percentage in the conventional pen group is given. ** The percentage in the disposable pen group is given.

Table 2. Number of patients' reuse of the same needle tip							
Number of needle tip reuse	Total n (%)						
1	67 (53.2)						
2	39 (31)						
3	11 (8.7)						
4	4 (3.2)						
5	3 (2.4)						
6	1 (0.8)						
7	1 (0.8)						

Table 3. Intensity of needle pain acc	Table 3. Intensity of needle pain according to VAS score							
Intensity of needle pain (cm)	total n							
0	-							
1	18							
2	26							
3	21							
4	17							
5	5							
6	26							
7	5							
8	2							
9	5							
10	1							
VAS: Visual Analogue Scale								

Ergonomics and HbA1c

There were no patients who found the insulin pen ergonomically 'very poor'. 14.3% of the patients found the insulin pen ergonomically 'excellent'. According to the one-way ANOVA test, HbA1c values differed significantly between the four ergonomic evaluation groups (p=0.04). A post hoc analysis was performed to determine from which groups the difference originated. HbA1c values were significantly different in all groups. HbA1c values in the 'excellent' group were significantly lower than those in the other groups and HbA1c values in the 'moderate' group were significantly higher than those in the other groups (Table 4). Correlation analysis revealed a negative correlation between HbA1c and ergonomic satisfaction. When ergonomic satisfaction improves, HbA1c decreases (p=0.01; r=-0.2). A negative correlation was also found between FBG and ergonomic satisfaction (p=0.01; r=-0.2). A statistically significant difference was found between insulin regimens according to the ergonomic evaluation groups (p=0.0001). The rate of basal-bolus insulin regimens was significantly lower in the "excellent" group than in the other groups.

Table 4. Comparison of HbA1c values based on ergonomicassessment groups (mean±SD)							
	Ergonomics						
	Excellent (n=18)	Good (n=77)	Moderate (n=24)	Poor (n=7)	р		
HbA1c	8.0±1.4	8.3±1.6	9.3±1.9	8.8±1.3	0.04		
SD: standar	SD: standard deviation; HbA1c: glycated hemoglobin						

Ease of Needle Tip Replacement and HbA1c

In our study, no patient found needle tip replacement "very difficult." 34.9% of patients found it "very easy." According to the one-way ANOVA test, HbA1c values differed significantly between the four assessment groups (p=0.04). In a post hoc analysis, HbA1c values were significantly different in all groups. HbA1c values in the 'difficult' group were significantly higher than those in the other groups (Table 5). HbA1c values in the 'very easy' group were significantly lower than those of the other groups. In correlation analysis, a negative correlation was found between the ease of needle tip change and HbA1c level. The HbA1c value decreased with increasing ease of needle tip change (p=0.006; r=-0.2). When analyzing the correlation between the ease of needle tip change and FBG, a negative correlation was observed (p=0.001; r: -0.3). There was no significant difference between the groups with respect to the insulin regimen used (p=0.08).

Table 5. Comparison of HbA1c values based on ease of needle tipchange assessment groups (mean±SD)								
	E	ase of need	lle tip change	e				
	Very easy (n=44)	Easy (n=64)	Moderate (n=13)	Difficult (n=5)	р			
HbA1c	8.0±1.6	8.4±1.6	9.3±1.6	9.6±2.2	0.04			
SD: standard	SD: standard deviation; HbA1c: glycated hemoglobin.							

Ease of Reading the Dose Scale and HbA1c

7.1% of patients found the readability of the dose scale 'very difficult' and 21.4% of patients found it 'very easy'. No statistically significant relationship was found between the readability of the dose scale and HbA1c level. However, the group that perceived the readability of the dosage scale as 'easy' and 'very easy' had the lowest mean HbA1c value ($8.3\pm1.6\%$ and $8.3\pm1.7\%$, respectively) (p=0.53) (**Table 6**). No correlation was observed between the ease of reading the dosage scale and the HbA1c (p=0.21; r=-0.09) or FBG (p=0.12; r=-0.1). There was no significant difference between groups with respect to the insulin regimen used (p=0.08).

Table 6. Comparison of HbA1c values based on ease of readability of the dosage scale assessment groups (mean±SD)							
	Ease of readability of the dosage scale						
	Very easy (n=27)	Easy (n=57)	Moderate (n=22)	Difficult (n=11)	Very difficult (n=9)	р	
HbA1c	8.3±1.7	8.3±1.6	8.5±1.4	9.3±2.5	8.5±1.5	0.53	
SD: standa	SD: standard deviation; HbA1c: glycated hemoglobin						

Ease of Dose Selection and HbA1c

2.4% of patients found dose selection 'very difficult'. 27% found it 'very easy'. One-way ANOVA test showed that HbA1c values were significantly different between the five evaluation groups (p=0.02). In the post-hoc analysis,

HbA1c values in the 'difficult' group were significantly higher than the other groups, and HbA1c values in the 'very easy' group were significantly lower than the other 4 groups (**Table 7**). A negative correlation was observed between the ease of dose selection and HbA1c (p=0.01; r=-0.2) and FBG (p=0.001; r=-0.3). There was no significant difference between groups with respect to the insulin regimen used (p=0.35).

Table 7. Comparison of HbA1c values based on ease of doseselection assessment groups (mean±SD)								
Ease of dose selection								
	Very easy (n=34)	Easy (n=65)	Moderate (n=17)	Difficult (n=7)	Very Difficult (n=3)	р		
HbA1c	8.1±1.7	8.3±1.5	8.6±1.8	10.5±1.7	8.4±1.4	0.02		
SD: standa	SD: standard deviation; HbA1c: glycated hemoglobin							

Ease of the Insulin Pen Use and HbA1c

One patient (0.8%) rated the use of the pen as 'very difficult'. 27.8% of patients rated the use of the pen as 'very easy'. One-way ANOVA test showed that HbA1c values differed significantly between the five assessment groups (p=0.01). Post hoc analyzes showed that HbA1c values in the 'difficult' group were significantly higher than those in the other groups (Table 8). HbA1c levels were lower in the 'very easy' group than in the 'difficult' (p=0.001), 'very difficult' (p=0.04) and 'moderate' groups (p=0.01). There was no significant difference between the 'easy' group and the 'very easy' group (p=0.09). There was a negative correlation between the ease of use of the pen and HbA1c level (p=0.02; r=-0.2). No correlation was found between ease of use and FBG value (p=0.08; r=-0.2). There was no significant difference between groups in terms of insulin regimen used (p=0.16).

Tablo 8. Comparison of HbA1c values based on ease of insulinpen use assessment groups (mean±SD)							
	Ease of insulin pen use						
	Very easy (n=35)	Easy (n=75)	Moderate (n=13)	Difficult (n=2)	Very Difficult (n=1)	р	
HbA1c	8.2±1.4	8.3±1.7	9.0±1.7	12.2±1.6	8.7±1.3	0.01	
SD: standard deviation; HbA1c: glycated hemoglobin							

DISCUSSION

Studies have shown that adherence to insulin therapy is low (5,6). In a study of 1099 subjects, the average adherence to insulin was 71% (5). In a systematic review of type 2 diabetics receiving insulin, adherence was 63% (6). The type of injection and patient satisfaction with therapy are important factors influencing adherence and thus glycemic control (7). After insulin pens were shown to facilitate insulin injection and increase adherence, insulin pens with different features and brands were

developed to facilitate patient use. Another issue with insulin therapy and injection is that mistakes can have serious consequences. Overdose of insulin can lead to severe hypoglycemia and coma, and underdose of insulin can lead to hyperglycemia and sometimes ketoacidosis. Considering the importance of injecting at appropriate doses and patient compliance, it is now observed that insulin pen technology is gradually devoloping and different types of pens are being manufactured. While some pens have a half-unit option and a memory option, others offer different color options, an 80-IU dose option, a clearly audible click sound, and low injection effort. Patient preference, availability of the pen on the market, the insulin formulation it contains, price, and physician choice determine the type of pen used (14). Studies have shown that patients prefer some insulin pens to others, and insulin pen preferences may vary from person to person (15-18). Using the insulin pen that the patient prefers and is satisfied with may positively influence treatment outcome. We confirmed this hypothesis in our study and found that the more comfortable patients are with the method of insulin injection, the more likely they are to adapt to insulin therapy, which may contribute to a decrease in HbA1c. This observation is consistent with other studies that have shown that glycemic control improves as patient satisfaction increases (12,19,20). Nicolucci A et al. (19) used the WHO -Diabetes Treatment Satisfaction Questionnaire (DTSQ) to measure satisfaction with the diabetes treatment regimen. The DTSQ score was inversely related to HbA1c levels and diabetic complications. A large cohort study of 4513 type 2 patients treated with insulin DM showed that proper pen selection and professional education resulted in higher patient satisfaction and better glycemic control. This study also showed that both better glycemic control and satisfaction with treatment can reduce body mass index (12). In the study by WK Redekop et al. (20), diabetic patients with higher HbA1c levels were less satisfied with treatment than other patients. In this study, the presence of complications was found to be associated with lower satisfaction. In our study, treatment satisfaction had a significant effect on HbA1c levels. It is well known that proper use of insulin injection techniques is important to optimize treatment efficacy and achieve better glycemic control. If the patient finds the pen to be very ergonomic, this may indicate that there are no obvious problems in holding and gripping the pen and therefore they can inject more accurately. The fact that patients find it very easy to choose a dose may have a positive impact on glycemic control by reducing the possibility of errors in dose adjustment and making dosing more accurate. If it is easy to change the needle tip while using the pen, the injection time will be shorter and patients will need less time to inject insulin. This can reduce repetitive use of the needle tip. The ease of changing the needle tip likely contributes to treatment adherence and good glycemic control through correct injection. Correct injection is critical to achieving blood glucose goals. Failure to inject correctly will result in undesirable outcomes such as inability to deliver an adequate insulin dose, increasing pain, and tissue damage at the injection site. One of the biggest mistakes in insulin injection is the reuse of the needle tip. In our study, it was observed that about half of the patients (53.2%) discarded the needle tip after the single use as recommended. In the literature, reuse of the same needle tip for insulin injection as in our study is very common. In a study conducted in Moscow, single use of the needle was never observed, 7% of patients changed the needle every 2-3 days, 46% changed it once a week, and 23% changed it once a month (21). In the European epidemiological study of insulin technique, Strauss K et al. (22) found that a needle tip was used an average of 3.3 times. Injection pain increases when the needle tip is reused. In the study by Misnikova et al. (21) it was observed that injection site pain was more frequent when the needle tip was reused, and the risk of microbial contamination was 26.6%, even after the needle had been used once. In our study, there was a weak positive correlation between the number of times the same needle tip was reused and the severity of pain.

Our study had some limitations. This study did not compare the superiority of one insulin pen over another. In addition, the effect of patient ratings of each insulin pen group on glycemic parameters was not examined because there were not enough patients in each insulin pen group to make comparisons. Only whether patients' evaluations about the insulin pen they used affected HbA1c levels was examined. The study population was a heterogeneous group of participants that included patients who used premix as well as patients who used basal and basal-bolus insulin only. Apart from evaluating patients on treatment, other factors that may influence HbA1c levels and FBG, such as insulin dose used, number of insulin injections, diet, and physical activity, could not be studied. Although there were no patients with severe neuropathy and retinopathy in the study population, patients with neuropathy and retinopathy were not excluded when calculating the Visual Analogue Scale (VAS) score and assessing the ease of pen use and other factors. These complications may affect patients' assessment of the pen.

CONCLUSION

Our study showed that in T2DM, patients' opinions of insulin pen injection may affect the glycemic control. If patients perceive the insulin pen as easy to use and ergonomically good, this may lead to better glycemic control. However, we did not investigate whether this situation is related to the appropriate dose of insulin injection or adherence to therapy. However, we think this could lead to new studies that involve more patients and investigate patient satisfaction and the importance of appropriate injection in insulin therapy. To demonstrate the influence of patients' opinions about the insulin pen on HbA1c levels, more comprehensive studies are needed that examine all parameters that may influence HbA1c levels.

ETHICAL DECLARATIONS

Ethics Committee Approval: The study was approved by the Clinical Researches Ethics Committee of the Kırıkkale University (Date: 17.07.2013, Decision No: 14/01).

Informed Consent: All patients signed the free and informed consent form.

Referee Evaluation Process: Externally peer-reviewed.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

Author Contributions: All of the authors declare that they have all participated in the design, execution, and analysis of the paper, and that they have approved the final version.

REFERENCES

- 1. Satman I, Omer B, Tutuncu Y, et al. TURDEP-II Study Group. Twelve year trends in the prevalence and risk factors of diabetes and prediabetes in Turkish adults. Eur J Epidemiol 2013; 28: 169-80.
- 2. Nathan DM, Buse JB, Davidson MB, et al. Medical management of hyperglycemia in type 2 diabetes: a consensus algorithm for the initiation and adjustment of therapy: a consensus statement of the American Diabetes Association and the European Association for the Study of Diabetes. Diabetes Care 2009; 32: 193-203.
- 3. Al Mansari A, Obeid Y, Islam N, et al. GOAL study: clinical and non-clinical predictive factors for achieving glycemic control in people with type 2 diabetes in real clinical practice. BMJ Open Diabetes Res Care 2018; 6: e000519.
- Garcia-Perez LE, Álvarez M, Dilla T, Gil-Guillén V, Orozco-Beltrán D. Adherence to therapies in patients with type 2 diabetes. Diabetes Ther 2013; 4: 175-94.
- Donnelly LA, Morris AD, Evans JM. DARTS/MEMO collaboration. Adherence to insulin and its association with glycaemic control in patients with type 2 diabetes. QJM 2007; 100: 345-50.
- 6. Cramer JA. A systematic review of adherence with medications for diabetes. Diabetes Care 2004; 27: 1218-24.
- 7. Farsaei S, Radfar M, Heydari Z, Abbasi F, Qorbani M. Insulin adherence in patients with diabetes: risk factors for injection omission. Prim Care Diabetes 2014; 8: 338-45.
- 8. Sarbacker GB, Urteaga EM. Adherence to insulin therapy. Diabetes Spectr 2016; 29: 166-70.
- 9. Gorska-Ciebiada M, Masierek M, Ciebiada M. Improved insulin injection technique, treatment satisfaction and glycemic control: Results from a large cohort education study. J Clin Transl Endocrinol 2020; 19: 100217.

- 10. Meece J. Effect of insulin pen devices on the management of diabetes mellitus. Am J Health Syst Pharm 2008; 65: 1076-82.
- 11. Clarke A, Spollett G. Dose accuracy and injection force dynamics of a novel disposable insulin pen. Expert Opin Drug Deliv 2007: 4: 165–74.
- 12. Gorska-Ciebiada M, Masierek M, Ciebiada M. Improved insulin injection technique, treatment satisfaction and glycemic control: Results from a large cohort education study. J Clin Transl Endocrinol 2020; 19: 100217.
- 13. Wewers ME, Lowe NK. A critical review of visual analogue scales in the measurement of clinical phenomena. Res Nurs Health 1990; 13: 227-36.
- 14. Veasey R, Ruf CA, Bogatirsky D, et al. A review of reusable insulin pens and features of TouStar-a new reusable pen with a dedicated cartridge. Diabetol Metab Syndr 2021; 13: 147.
- Asakura T, Jensen KH. Comparison of intuitiveness, ease of use, and preference in two insulin pens. J Diabetes Sci Technol 2009; 3: 312-9.
- 16. Reimer T, Hohberg C, Pfützner AH, Jørgensen C, Jensen KH, Pfützner A. Intuitiveness, instruction time, and patient acceptance of a prefilled insulin delivery device and a reusable insulin delivery device in a randomized, open-label, crossover handling study in patients with type 2 diabetes. Clin Ther 2008; 30: 2252-62.
- 17. Warren ML, Brod M, Håkan-Bloch J, Sparre T, Chaykin LB. Patient-reported outcomes from a randomized, crossover trial comparing a pen injector with insulin degludec versus a pen injector with insulin glargine U100 in patients with type 2 diabetes. Curr Med Res Opin 2019; 35: 1623-29.
- 18. Yakushiji F, Fujita H, Terayama Y, et al. The best insulin injection pen device for caregivers: results of injection trials using five insulin injection devices. Diabetes Technol Ther 2010; 12: 143-8.
- Nicolucci A, Cucinotta D, Squatrito S, et al. Clinical and socioeconomic correlates of quality of life and treatment satisfaction in patients with type 2 diabetes. Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis 2009; 19: 45-53.
- 20. Redekop WK, Koopmanschap MA, Stolk RP, Rutten GE, Wolffenbuttel BH, Niessen LW. Health-related quality of life and treatment satisfaction in Dutch patients with type 2 diabetes. Diabetes Care 2002; 25: 458-63.
- 21. Misnikova IV, Dreval AV, Gubkina VA, Rusanova EV. The risks of repeated use of insulin pen needles in patients with diabetes mellitus. Diabetology 2011; 2: 2.
- 22. Strauss K, De Gols H, Hannet I, Partanen TM, Frid A. A pan-European epidemiologic study of insulin injection technique in patients with diabetes. Pract Diab Int 2002; 19: 71-6.

HEALTH SCIENCES **MEDICINE**

Examination of patients admitted to a university hospital with methanol intoxication

Murat Doğan

Hitit University Erol Olçok Training and Research Hospital, Department of Internal Medicine, Çorum, Turkey

Cite this article as: Doğan M. Examination of patients admitted to a university hospital with methanol intoxication. J Health Sci Med 2022; 5(3): 907-911.

ABSTRACT

Objective: The aim of this study is to evaluate the demographic data, clinical features and laboratory findings of patients followed up with methanol poisoning in our internal medicine clinic. In addition, to examine the data of the patients followed in our intensive care unit and to contribute to the literature in this direction.

Material and Method: In this study, 21 patients diagnosed with methanol intoxication who were hospitalized in the internal medicine clinic of our hospital between 01.01.2019 and 01.04.2022 were included. Demographic information of the patients, initial complaints, accompanying symptoms, laboratory results, blood gas values, intensive care unit requirements, mechanical ventilation needs, length of hospital stay and whether they received hemodialysis treatment were recorded from the hospital automation system.

Results: 21 patients were included in the study. The mean time for patients to apply to the hospital after drinking alcohol was calculated as 31.42 ± 4.27 hours. The mean hospital stay was 3.0 ± 1.02 days. While 12 patients were followed up in the intensive care unit, it was found that 6 patients needed mechanical ventilation and 9 patients needed hemodialysis. Glucose, creatinine, acetyl aminotransferase (AST), partial carbon dioxide pressure (PaCO₂), lactate, anion gap and base gap were found to be statistically significantly higher in the group treated in the intensive care unit (p<0.05). When the blood gas parameters at the time of admission were compared between the groups who received and did not receive hemodialysis treatment of the patients who presented with methanol intoxication, pH, lactate, anion gap and base deficit were found to be statistically significantly higher (p=0.001).

Conclusion: Hyperglycemia, increased serum creatinine value and metabolic acidosis were found to be significantly different in patients hospitalized in the intensive care unit

Keywords: Methanol, intensive care unit, hemodialysis

INTRODUCTION

Methanol, CH₃OH, is a clear, colorless, volatile liquid with a distinct odor that tastes the same as ethanol. Methanol intoxication may result from accidental exposure, overconsumption of compounds containing methanol with suicidal intent, or following consumption of distilled and contaminated alcoholic beverages(1). Toxicity of methanol is related to the production of toxic metabolites by the enzyme alcohol dehydrogenase (ADH), which can lead to metabolic acidosis, blindness (in methanol poisoning) and death(2). The initial acidic metabolites lead to metabolic acidosis, whereas the end metabolites mediate organ damage. Methanol is metabolized to formic acid, which produces acidosis as well as retinal and optic nerve damage leading to blindness observed in methanol poisoning (3). Although methanol poisoning can occur as an isolated ingestion, it is infamous for being involved in numerous epidemics. In outbreaks, methanol poisoning usually results from consumption of alcoholic beverages that have been spiked with methanol due to its low cost. These epidemics occur world-wide, often with high mortality rates(4-9).

Management of intoxicated patients starts with decontamination and supportive measurements besides the corrective metabolic therapy. Antidotal therapy with fomepizole or ethanol is a cornerstone, as it helps to inhibit toxic metabolites formation. Hemodialysis is an essential treatment for enhancing toxic metabolite removal. The time interval between methanol exposure and receiving treatment is closely related to the outcomes.



The identification of at-risk patients requiring admission to the intensive care unit (ICU) and prompt treatment may prevent complications and long-term deaths(10,11).

The aim of this study is to evaluate the demographic data, clinical features and laboratory findings of patients followed up with methanol poisoning in our internal medicine clinic. In addition, to examine the data of the patients followed in our intensive care unit and to contribute to the literature in this direction.

MATERIAL AND METHOD

This study was planned retrospectively. The study was carried out with the permission of Hitit University Faculty of Medicine Non-Interventional Clinical Researches Ethics Committee (Date: 30.03.2022, Decision No: 2022-07). All procedures were carried out in accordance with the ethical rules and the principles of the Declaration of Helsinki.

In this study, 21 patients diagnosed with methanol intoxication who were hospitalized in the internal medicine clinic of our hospital between 01.01.2019 and 01.04.2022 were included. Our study was planned retrospectively. Since methanol level was not measured in our hospital, patients whose ethyl alcohol level was measured in the hospital file system (<10 mg/dl) and who had a history/clinic of suspected alcohol intake were included in our study. Fifteen patients with an ethyl alcohol level below 10 mg/dl and 6 patients with an ethyl alcohol level above 10 mg/dl who consumed unlabeled and homemade alcohol in their anamnesis, had visual impairment, changes in consciousness, and had a high anion gap in blood gas analysis were also included. Demographic information of the patients, initial complaints, accompanying symptoms, laboratory results, blood gas values, intensive care unit requirements, mechanical ventilation needs, length of hospital stay and whether they received hemodialysis treatment were recorded from the hospital automation system.

Statistical Analysis

SPSS (version 26.0) software was used for statistical analysis. Frequency and percentage values were used for categorical data, and mean±standard deviation values were used for continuous variables. If the continuous variables in our study were in a normal distribution, the "t-test in independent groups" was used when comparing independent groups, and the "Mann Whitney U" test was used when comparing continuous variables that did not fit the normal distribution in two groups. In the evaluation of categorical variables, "Pearson chi-square" and "Fisher's exact probability" tests were used. Statistically significant value was accepted as p<0.05.

RESULTS

The mean age of the patients was 35.52±11.22. The mean time for patients to apply to the hospital after drinking alcohol was calculated as 31.42±4.27 hours. The mean hospital stay was 3.0±1.02 days. When evaluated according to the symptoms of admission; It was determined that 6 patients had blurred vision, 6 patients had nausea, 6 patients lost consciousness, 1 patient had loss of vision, and 2 patients had no complaints, but the patients who had taken alcohol together had symptoms. Among the accompanying spmtoms; There were fatigue in 17 patients, nausea in 15 patients, vomiting in 12 patients, dizziness in 13 patients, and blurred vision in 15 patients. While 12 patients were followed up in the intensive care unit, it was found that 6 patients needed mechanical ventilation and 9 patients needed hemodialysis (Table 1).

Table 1. Demographic and clinical data of patients				
Sex (n)	20 male / 1 Female			
Age (Mean±SD)	35.52±11.22			
Time to Admission to the Hospital (Mean±SD)	31.42±4.27 hours			
Length of Stay in Hospital (Mean±SD)	3.0±1.02 days			
Follow-up in the Intensive Care Unit (n)	12			
Hemodialysis Treatment (n)	9			
Mechanical Ventilation Requirement (n)	6			
Presenting symptom (n)				
Blurred vision	6			
Nausea	6			
Vision loss	1			
Loss of consciousness	6			
No symptoms	2			

The hemogram, biochemistry and blood gas analysis results of the patients who received and did not receive treatment in the intensive care unit are given in **Table 2**. Glucose, creatinine, acetyl aminotransferase (AST), pH, partial pressure of carbon dioxide (PaCO₂), bicarbonate (HCO₃), lactate, anion gap and base deficit were found to be statistically different in the group receiving treatment in the intensive care unit (p<0.05).

When the blood gas parameters at the time of admission were compared between the groups who received and did not receive hemodialysis treatment of the patients who presented with methanol intoxication, pH, PaCO₂, HCO₃, lactate, anion gap and base deficit were found to be statistically significantly different (p=0.001) (**Table 3**).

unit			
	Treated in the intensive care unit group	No treated in the intensive care unit group	p value
White blood cell (10 ⁹ /L)	10.12±4.74	8.96±3.63	0.072
Hemoglobin (g/dL)	17.09 ± 2.1	17.01 ± 3.02	0.896
MPV(fL)	9.98±1.67	9.96±1.76	0.671
Platelet(109/L)	247.45 ± 90.72	227.06±91.72	0.328
Neutrophil leumphocyte ratio	5.34±4.37	4.46±2.63	0.186
Glucose (mg/dL)	199.43 ± 74.95	138.33±52.76	0.013
Urea	26.07±9.75	27.19±10.83	0.234
Creatinine	1.09 ± 0.41	0.96±026	0.041
Sodium	133.07±5.26	133.58 ± 6.34	0.532
Chlorine	101.46 ± 4.27	101.23±4.39	0.841
Potassium	4.76 ± 0.92	4.52 ± 0.87	0.547
Acetyl aminotransferase	82.90±61.06	65.23±27.41	0.001
Alanine aminotransferase	47.38±25.43	42.67±24.12	0.253
pН	6.91±0.13	7.31±0.19	0.001
PaCO ₂	58.02±13.15	32.78±11.62	0.001
HCO3	7.14 ± 3.93	10.07 ± 3.45	0.002
Lactate	8.02±3.96	4.63±2.73	0.019
Anion gap	29.09 ± 4.78	21.23±6.43	0.043
Base deficit	-25 69+4 96	-16 45+5 32	0.001

 Table 2. Comparison of hemogram, biochemistry and blood gas

 parameters of patients treated and no treated in the intensive care

Table 3. Comparison of initial blood gas values of patients receiving and not receiving hemodialysis treatment							
	Hemodialysis group	Non-hemodialysis group	P value				
pН	6.95±0.11	7.34±0.21	0.001				
PaCO ₂	65.73±11.93	28.85±10.34	0.001				
HCO3	6.34±2.45	11.85 ± 3.42	0.001				
Lactate	12.83±3.75	3.63±1.86	0.001				
Anion gap	28.55±3.96	19.36±4.61	0.001				
Base deficit	-24.05 ± 4.13	-15.31±5.8	0.001				

DISCUSSION

The current study established male predominance over females (20 male, 1 female), which was thoroughly reported (12,13). The mean age of patients involved in the current study was 35.52 ± 11.22 years, which is consistent with multiple case reports in various settings (14,15). On the other hand, Ahmed et al. (13) reported slightly higher age (mean 36.2 ± 8.6 years) (12). Furthermore, Kurtas et al. indicated that individuals aged 41–50 years are more exposed. Rulisek et al. (16) reported an increased incidence of methanol intoxication in the elderly aged 50.9 ± 2.6 years. The noticed age variation indicates the prevalence of methanol exposure in all age groups, especially during outbreaks.

In this study reported in presentation to the hospital (mean 31.42±4.27 hours) and hospital stay of 3 days. These results are in line with a previous study conducted in the

USA, in which patients intoxicated with methanol spent approximately 4.0 ± 6.1 days. Prolonged hospitalization places a noticeable burden on health care providing services (17). In a study by Md Noor et al. (10). reported the time to hospital admission as 24-96 hours

The current research revealed that nausea, blurred vision, vision loss and loss of consciousness were the most common presentations. Similarly, Ahmed et al. (12). reported that about half of the presented patients suffered from blurred vision Md Noor et al. (10). reported in a study that approximately one-third of patients presented with vomiting, blurred vision, and altered consciousness level

While 12 of the patients included in our study were admitted to the intensive care unit, it was determined that 9 of these patients received hemodialysis treatment and 6 patients needed mechanical ventilation. In the study of Sharif et al. (18), it was reported that 9 out of 37 patients admitted with methanol intoxication were admitted to the intensive care unit. 51.4% of the included patients treated with supportive measures without requiring hemodialysis or antidotal therapy, 21.6% received fomepizole, 13.5% underwent hemodialysis, 10.8% underwent hemodialysis, and received fomepizole, while 2.7% only received ethanol

In our study, no significant difference was found in hemoglobin, white blood cells, NLR and platelet parameters between the patients who were followed up and those who were not followed up in the intensive care unit. These findings corroborate those of other studies (18,19).

Hyperglycemia and serum creatinine has been shown to be a poor prognostic factor in methanol intoxications in studies (10,11,20). In our current study, glucose and serum creatinine levels were found to be significantly higher in patients followed in the intensive care unit, which supports the studies in the literature.

In our study, pH and HCO₃ levels were found to be low in the blood gas analysis results of the patients followed in the intensive care unit, while lactate, PaCO₂ and anion gap were found to be high. There was no death due to methanol intoxication among our patients. In 1998, Liu et al. (21). reported that 18 of 50 (36%) patients at the Toronto Hospital died of methanol poisoning. Coma or seizure on presentation and severe metabolic acidosis (pH <7) were indicators of poor prognosisIn the study by Meyer et al. (22) the strongest predictor of death was a blood pH of <7.0. An analysis by Hovda et al. (4). of a methanol outbreak in Norway between 2002 and 2004 revealed that respiratory arrest, coma, and severe metabolic acidosis (pH<6.9 and base deficit >28 mmol/L) were strong predictors of poor outcome
Coulter et al. (23). analyzed the literature data of 119 patients with methanol poisoning and concluded that large osmolal gap, anion gap, and low pH (pH <7.22) were associated with increased mortality and that pH has the highest predictive value. Another study reported the significant function for the anion gap as an unfavorable outcome predictor, which agrees with other studies. The association between methanol toxicity and high anion gap metabolic acidosis is due to formic acid formation. The parallel decrease in HCO3 and elevated serum formic acid in patients with unfavorable outcomes supports the crucial role of formic acid in methanolinduced acidosis. Acidosis accelerates the toxicity by enhancing more formic acid diffusion into the cells (18). Finally, it was suggested in a multicenter study that low pH (pH <7), coma (GCS score <8), and inadequate hyperventilation (pCO₂ \geq 3.1 kilopascal (kPa) in spite of a pH <7) on admission were the strongest predictors of poor outcome after methanol poisoning (5).

Hemodialysis is a commonly used reliable management procedure. Hemodialysis removes methanol and its toxic metabolite formic acid from the blood. Indications for hemodialysis include a serum methanol concentration of 50 mg/dL (15.6 mmol/L) or more, the presence of metabolic acidosis, and visual disturbances(24,25). In our study, the pH value of the patients who received hemodialysis was 6.95±0.11 and this value was found to be significantly lower than the group that did not receive hemodialysis.

Study limitations: This study has some limitations. Retrospective planning, the small number of patients, and the fact that we do not know how much and what type of methanol alcohol the patients consume are among these limitations.

CONCLUSION

In summary, hyperglycemia, increased serum creatinine value and metabolic acidosis were found to be significantly different in patients hospitalized in the intensive care unit. However, the retrospective nature of the study, lack of control of a retrospective cohort, small patient population and absence of methanol, formic acid or ALDH2 measurements limit the certainty of our conclusions. In addition, since our study is planned retrospectively, post-discharge sequelae could not be evaluated in patients.

Ensuring high quality-controlled production and distribution of alcoholic beverages. Establishing a tracking system to limit illegal alcohol production. Increasing orientation of populations about hazards of industrial alcohol and illegal alcoholic beverages.

ETHICAL DECLARATIONS

Ethics Committee Approval: The study was carried out with the permission of Hitit University Faculty of Medicine Non-Interventional Clinical Researches Ethics Committee (Date: 30.03.2022, Decision No: 2022-07).

Informed Consent: Because the study was designed retrospectively, no written informed consent form was obtained from patients.

Referee Evaluation Process: Externally peer-reviewed.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

Author Contributions: All of the authors declare that they have all participated in the design, execution, and analysis of the paper and that they have approved the final version.

REFERENCES

- 1. Oguz AB, Gunalp M, Polat O, Genc S, Gurler S. Transdermal methanol intoxication. Arch Iran Med 2019; 22: 671-2.
- 2. Jammalamadaka D, Raissi S. Ethylene glycol, methanol and isopropyl alcohol intoxication. Am J Med Sci 2010; 339: 276-81.
- 3. McMartin K, Jacobsen D, Hovda KE. Antidotes for poisoning by alcohols that form toxic metabolites. British J Clin Pharmacol 2016; 81: 505-15.
- Hovda KE, Hunderi OH, Tafjord AB, Dunlop O, Rudberg N, Jacobsen D. Methanol outbreak in Norway 2002–2004: epidemiology, clinical features and prognostic signs. J Intern Med 2005; 258: 181–90.
- 5. Paasma R, Hovda KE, Tikkerberi A, Jacobsen D. Methanol mass poisoning in Estonia: Outbreak in 154 patients. Clin Toxicol (Phila) 2007; 45: 152–7.
- 6. Zakharov S, Pelclova D, Urban P, et al. Czech mass methanol outbreak 2012: Epidemiology, challenges and clinical features. Clin Toxicol (Phila) 2014; 52: 1013–24.
- Levy P, Hexdall A, Gordon P, Boeriu C, Heller M, Nelson L. Methanol contamination of Romanian home-distilled alcohol. J Toxicol Clin Toxicol 2003; 41: 23–8.
- Hassanian-Moghaddam H, Nikfarjam A, Mirafzal A, et al. Methanol mass poisoning in Iran: role of case finding in outbreak management. J Public Health (Oxf) 2015; 37: 354–9.
- 9. AbdulRahim FAA, Shiekh AA. Substance abuse and homeless: mass methanol poisoning in Khartoum. Sudan Med J 2012; 48: 1–5.
- 10.Md Noor J, Hawari R, Mokhtar et al. Methanol outbreak: a Malaysian tertiary hospital experience. Int J Emerg Med 2020; 13: 6.
- 11. Lee CY, Chang EK, Lin JL, et al. Risk factors for mortality in Asian Taiwanese patients with methanol poisoning. Ther Clin Risk Management 2014; 10: 61-7.
- 12. Ahmed F, Khan NU, Ali N, Feroze A. Methanol poisoning: 27 experience at a tertiary care hospital. J Pak Med Assoc 2017;67: 1751–2.
- 13. Kurtas O, Imre KY, Ozer E, et al. The evaluation of deaths due to methyl alcohol intoxication. Biomed Res 2017; 28: 3680–7.
- 14.Kraut JA. Approach to the treatment of methanol intoxication. Am J Kidney Dis 2016; 68: 161–7.

- 15. Diagne MH, Nyumbandogo EK, Vincent P, Muschart X. Methanol intoxication. Louv Med 2019; 138: 207–12.
- 16. Rulisek J, Waldauf P, Belohlavek J, et al. Health-related quality of life determinants in survivors of a mass methanol poisoning outbreak: six-year prospective cohort study. Clin Toxicol 2020; 58: 870–80.
- 17.Kaewput W, Thongprayoon C, Petnak T, et al. Inpatient burden and mortality of methanol intoxication in the United States. Am J Med Sci 2021; 361: 69–74.
- 18.Sharif AF, AlAmeer MR, AlSubaie DS, et al. Predictors of poor outcomes among patients of acute methanol intoxication with particular reference to Sequential Organ Failure Assessment (SOFA) score. Environ Sci Pollut Res Int 2021; 28: 60511-25.
- 19. Chang ST, Wang YT, Hou YC, et al. Acute kidney injury and the risk of mortality in patients with methanol intoxication. BMC Nephrol 2019; 20: 1–8.
- 20. Sanaei-Zadeh H, Kazemi Esfeh S, Zamani N, Jamshidi F, Shadnia S. Hyperglycemia is a strong prognostic factor of lethality in methanol poisoning. J Med Toxicol 2011; 7: 189-94.
- 21.Liu JJ, Daya MR, Carrasquillo O, Kales SN. Prognostic factors in patients with methanol poisoning. J Toxicol Clin Toxicol 1998; 36: 175–81.
- 22. Meyer RJ, Beard ME, Ardagh MW, Henderson S. Methanol poisoning. N Z Med J 2000; 113: 11–3.
- Coulter CV, Farquhar SE, McSherry CM, Isbister GK, Duffull SB. Methanol and ethylene glycol acute poisonings – predictors of mortality. Clin Toxicol (Phila) 2011; 49: 900–6.
- 24.Palatnick W, Redman L, Sitar D, Tenenbein M. Methanol halflife during ethanol administration: implicationsfor management of methanol poisoning from the departments of emergency medicine. Ann Emerg Med 1995; 26: 202-7.
- 25. Roberts DM, Yates C, Megarbane B, et. al. Recommendations for the role of extracorporeal treatments in the management of acute methanol poisoning: a systematic review and consensus statement. Crit Care Med 2015; 43: 461-72.

Can *Saccharomyces boulardii* treat and eradicate *Helicobacter pylori* among children instead of bismuth?

Meryem Keçeli Başaran¹, Nur Şeyma Zengin²

¹Gaziosmanpaşa Training and Research Hospital, Department of Pediatrics, Division of Pediatric Gastroenterology, İstanbul, Turkey ²Gaziosmanpaşa Training and Research Hospital, Department of Pediatrics, İstanbul, Turkey

Cite this article as: Başaran Keçeli M, Zengin NS. Can *Saccharomyces boulardii* treat and eradicate *Helicobacter pylori* among children instead of bismuth?. J Health Sci Med 2022; 5(3): 912-916.

ABSTRACT

Aim: The objective of this study is to compare the use of *Saccharomyces boulardii* (*S. boulardii*) in eradicating *Helicobacter pylori* (*H. pylori*) in children as an alternative to bismuth, which has a limited scope of application due to its side effects.

Material and Method: Included in the study were 220 pediatric patients with symptomatic *H. pylori* gastritis. The patients were randomized into three treatment groups. Patients who received bismuth or *S. boulardii* in addition to the standard triple therapy for 14 days were compared with the control group who received only triple therapy.

Results: Analysis of the bismuth, *S. boulardii*, and control groups' treatment success showed that the *H. pylori* eradication rate was highest among study participants who received bismuth (95.2%), followed by patients who received *S. boulardii* (92.4%). The most frequent side effects were observed in the patient group that received bismuth (17.5%).

Conclusion: Although bismuth continues to be successful in eradicating *H. pylori*, alternative treatment protocols are necessary because of its side effects and limited use in pediatric patients. *S. boulardii* can be administered instead when bismuth can not serve as alternative due to its side effects.

Keywords: Eradication, Helicobacter, S. boulardii, side effects, triple therapy

INTRODUCTION

Helicobacter pylori (H. pylori) may lead to superficial gastritis, peptic ulcer, mucosa-associated lymphoid tissue (MALT) lymphoma, and gastric adenocarcinoma (1). While the worldwide rate of *H. pylori*-infected individuals is 50%, the corresponding rate in Turkey is 65% (2). Moreover, H. pylori's prevalence rate has been reported at around 40% among children with symptoms (3). Various diagnostic methods and treatment models have been developed for the early detection of *H. pylori* infection and the prevention of chronic complications resulting from the infection. A study conducted in Turkey reported that H. pylori's antimicrobial resistance to clarithromycin was 24.86%, while its resistance to metronidazole, levoflaxacin, amoxicillin, and tetracycline was 33.75%, 23.77%, 0.97%, and 3.51%, respectively (4). In another study carried out in Turkey, H pylori resistance to clarithromycin and fluoroquinolones were 27% and 15%, respectively (5). Since 2000, the success rate of triple therapy has fallen below 80% (50-79%) due to H. pylori resistance to metronidazole and clarithromycin (6). In cases of robust antibiotic resistance, bismuth, PPI,

and two antibiotics are recommended. If bismuth is not available, quadruple treatments of three antibiotics and PPI are advised.

Recently, H. pylori eradication failure has increased to 20% in quadruple treatments comprising bismuth (7). Since bismuth treatments have high side effects, alternative treatment methods are necessary. Recently, probiotic treatment alternatives are receiving emphasis to improve both treatment compliance and success. Saccharomyces boulardii (S. boulardii)'s mechanism of action in the eradication of *H. pylori* is not clear yet. It is thought that it prevents the colonization of *H. pylori* and other bacteria and it strengthens the mucosal defense (8). Moreover, it is claimed that it can increase patient compliance due to fewer side effects relative to bismuth. There is not enough research on this subject. Randomized controlled studies in pediatric patients are insufficient in particular. This study compares the treatment efficacy and side effects of bismuth and S. boulardii in children with symptomatic H. *pylori* gastritis with the control group.

```
Corresponding Author: Meryem Kecelı Basaran, meryem.keceli07@yahoo.com
```



In this study, it was aimed to compare the use of *S. boulardii* in the eradication of *H. pylori* in children instead of bismuth, which has a limited application area due to its side effects.

MATERIAL AND METHOD

The study was carried out with the permission of Taksim Training and Researches Hospital Ethics Committee (Date: 25.12.2019, Decision No: 177). All procedures were carried out in accordance with the ethical rules and the principles of the Declaration of Helsinki. The patients, or their parents or guardians, signed written statements of informed consent.

This research involved a prospective, parallel design, single-center study. It included 220 pediatric patients aged between 12 and 18 years old who applied to the hospital's pediatric gastroenterology outpatient clinic due to chronic dyspeptic complaints. All patients had dyspeptic complaints for at least 3 months and received neither diagnosis nor treatment for *H. pylori* previously. A total of 26 patients were taken out (i.e., 8 patients with drug allergies and 18 patients lost to follow-up). Patients were randomly assigned to three treatment groups by a physician who had no involvement with the study. Each patient was assigned a number. The patients were then followed up on treatment and side effects based on these numbers.

Patients with upper gastrointestinal bleeding, patients who had undergone stomach or intestinal surgery, patients with a history of antibiotic or probiotic use in the previous three months, patients taking aspirin, and patients suffering from bleeding-coagulation disorders were excluded from the study.

Upper-gastrointestinal-system endoscopy and biopsies were performed on all patients. Biopsy samples were evaluated for *H. pylori* according to Sydney classification (0=absent, 1=mild, 2=moderate, 3=severe) (9). Patients' *H. pylori* eradication rates were analyzed via a stool antigen test four to six weeks after treatment. Stool antigen test is a qualitative immunochromatography test (CERTEST BIOTEC SL, Spain).

According to the most recently published ESPGHAN/ NASPGHAN guidelines, patients underwent a treatment period of 14 days, during which they were randomly assigned to treatment groups. Treatment for the control group included pantoprazole (1mg per kg per day) (max. 40 mg) twice a day, amoxicillin (50 mg per kg per day, twice a day), and metronidazole (15 mg per kg per day, twice a day) (10). The two other groups received bismuth subsalicylate or *S. boulardii* treatments, for the comparison of *H. pylori* eradication across the three groups. These treatments were administered simultaneously with the standard antibiotic treatment. The bismuth treatment group consisted of 63 children, whereas the *S. boulardii* group and the control group had 66 and 65 children, respectively (**Figure 1**). For the bismuth subsalicylate treatment, four 262 mg tablets were administered daily (Bizmopen, 262 mg tab, manufactured by Dincsa İlac san. ve tic. A.S., Istanbul, Turkey). Bismuth subsalicylate was prefered over other bismuth salts due to its lower absorption within gastrointestinal system and weaker interaction with patient diet. For the *S. boulardii* treatment, two 250 mg *Saccharomyces boulardii* tablets (Reflor, manufactured by Sanofi-Synthelabo Ilac A.S., Istanbul, Turkey) were administered for 14 days.



Figure 1. Flow chart of the current study

Treatment side effects were analyzed by an independent and blinded pediatrician during the 1st and 2nd weeks of treatment with open-ended questions and side-effect diaries of the patients.

Statistical Analysis

Statistical analysis was performed with SPSS software for Windows version 22.0 (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA). The normality condition in quantitative variables' was checked with a Kolmogorov-Smirnov test. Kruskal-Wallis H test was conducted to examine whether any difference in quantitative variables had occurred between the independent groups. The independence hypothesis between qualitative variables was tested using chi-square analysis. Since the quantitative variables did not resemble a normal distribution, their descriptive statistics were explained with the median (25th to 75th percentiles), and the descriptive statistics of the qualitative variables were expressed in terms of frequency (%). P values below 0.05 (p<0.05) were considered statistically significant.

RESULTS

Table 1 compares the control, bismuth, and *S. boulardii* groups in terms of age, gender, family history, *H. pylori* activity, and complaint duration. The three treatment groups did not differ from one another with respect to age, family history, gender, *H. pylori* activity, or complaint duration (p>0.05).

Table 1. Comparison of the general characteristics of the treatment				
groups				
		Treatment		
	Control	Bismuth*	S. boulardii*	р
Age (year)	14 (13-16)	15 (14-16)	14.50 (13-16)	0.745ª
Family history				
Yes	35 (53.8)	31 (49.2)	35 (53)	0.855 ^b
No	30 (46.2)	32 (50.8)	31 (47)	
Gender				
Male	33 (50.8)	22 (34.9)	30 (45.5)	0.185 ^b
Female	32 (49.2)	41 (65.1)	36 (54.5)	
<i>H. pylori</i> activity	2 (1-2)	2 (1-2)	2 (1-2)	0.947ª
Complaint duration (month)	10 (7-12)	10 (8-12)	10 (9-13)	0.199ª
a: Kruskal Wallis H test ; treatment	b: Pearson Chi S	quare test, *: In	addition to stand	ard triple

Table 2 shows the frequency and percentage distributions of the study's endoscopic findings by treatment group. The most common endoscopic finding across all three treatment groups was antral hyperemia. No statistically significant difference in endoscopic findings was observed between treatment groups (p=0.960). Among the control, bismuth, and *S. boulardii* groups, the most common pathological diagnosis was antral gastritis. A comparison of the treatment groups based on biopsy diagnosis revealed that the groups shared similar diagnosis distributions, with no difference between them (p=0.175).

Table 2. Comparison of endoscopic findings and biopsy diagnosis according to treatment groups				
		Treatment		р
	Control	Bismuth	S. boulardii	
Endoscopic Findings	ŝ			0.966 ^c
Normal	8 (12.3)	4 (6.3)	4 (6.1)	
Atrophy	3 (4.6)	2 (3.2)	3 (4.5)	
Erosion	5 (7.7)	4 (6.3)	5 (7.6)	
Hyperemia	33 (50.8)	38 (60.3)	41 (62.1)	
Nodularity	13 (20)	13 (20.6)	11 (16.7)	
Ulcer	3 (4.6)	2 (3.2)	2 (3)	
Biopsy diagnosis				0.175 ^b
Antral gastritis	30 (46.2)	31 (49.2)	42 (63.6)	
Chronic gastritis	15 (23.1)	9 (14.3)	9 (13.6)	
Pangastrit	20 (30.8)	23 (36.5)	15 (22.7)	
b: Pearson Chi Square test	; c: Fisher-Free	man-Halton test		

As **Table 3** shows, an evaluation of the control, bismuth, and *S. boulardii* treatment groups' *H. pylori* stool antigen tests pointed out that *H. pylori* eradication success was highest among the bismuth group at 95.2%. The patients who received *S. boulardii* treatment followed, with a 92.4% eradication rate, and the difference between these two groups was not statistically significant. Among the control group, the eradication rate was 84.6%. This rate is near the acceptable level recommended for *H. pylori* eradication.

Table 3. Comparison of eradication rates of treatment groups					
			Treatment		
		Control	Bismuth	S. boulardii	
Stool	Negative	55 (84.6)	60 (95.2)	61 (92.4)	0 000
test	Pozitive	10 (15.4)	3 (4.8)	5 (7.6)	0.099
b: Pearson G	Chi Square test				

Table 4 exhibits the frequency of side effects—such as headache, nausea, diarrhea, constipation, abdominal pain, and taste disturbances—across the treatment groups. While abdominal pain and taste disturbances were not present in the control group, headache and diarrhea were not reported in the *S. boulardii* group. A comparison of the treatment groups' side effects revealed that the most common side effects were prevalent in the bismuth group (17.5%). However, the three treatment groups experienced a similar frequency of side effects, and no statistically significant difference was observed (p=0.123).

Table 4. Distribution of side effects by treatment groups						
		Treatment				
	Control	Control Bismuth S. boulardii				
Side effects				0.123 ^b		
Headache	1 (1.5)	2 (3.2)	0 (0)			
Nausea	2 (3.1)	2 (3.2)	1 (1.5)			
Diarrhea	2 (3.1)	2 (3.2)	0 (0)			
Constipation	2 (3.1)	1 (1.6)	1 (1.5)			
Abdominal pain	0 (0)	2 (3.2)	1 (1.5)			
Taste disturbance	0 (0)	2 (3.2)	1 (1.5)			
b: Pearson Chi Square test						

DISCUSSION

H. pylori remains a serious public health problem due to its high prevalence in the population, and it continues to increase the number of symptomatic pediatric patients as well as antibiotic resistance (11,12). Treatment regimens containing bismuth are emphasized because of rising eradication rates. In a pediatric study carried out in Turkey, a bismuth containing sequential treatment has achieved *H. pylori* eradication rate over 90% (13). Reports by the Fifth National China Consensus and the Maastricht-V Consensus have also recommended quadruple therapy containing bismuth. Nevertheless, bismuth is not preferable because of its side effects and its unavailability in some countries (14,15). Limitations also affect the use of bismuth in pediatric patients. Therefore, a search for alternative *H. pylori* eradication treatment in pediatric patients is ongoing.

Upper gastrointestinal endoscopy and biopsy remain the gold standard in diagnosing *H. pylori*. An antral nodularity appearance in endoscopy is associated with *H. pylori* (16). Antral nodularity (93%) was the most common endoscopy finding in a study on children less than 20 years of age. Moreover, other endoscopy findings related to *H. pylori* such as mucosal edema, diffuse rash, and antral hyperemia were also observed in these patients. It is acknowledged that *H. pylori* positive children may present various endoscopy findings besides antral nodularity (17). In our study, the most common endoscopic finding was antral hyperemia, followed by antral nodularity.

The most common method for evaluating H. pylori eradication success is the ¹³C urea breath test or stool antigen test for H. pylori (18). In our study, an evaluation of the control, bismuth, and S. boulardii treatment groups' H. pylori eradication success via stool antigen tests identified the highest success rate in bismuth treatment (95.2%). Liu et al. (19) reported the eradication rate of quadruple therapy containing bismuth at 98.8%. The eradication rate for 10-day sequential treatment reached 92.4% in their study. In another pediatric study conducted in Turkey, the eradication rate with bismuth-containing quadruple therapy was 92% (13). We found the similar success rate among patients who received S. boulardii in our study. However, with sequential treatment, varying eradication rates have been reported in Asian countries. For instance, Korea has 81.9% eradication rates, China 82.6%, and Taiwan 90.5%. Researchers have associated these different eradication rates with poor patient compliance in sequential therapy. A recent study conducted in Taiwan showed that extending sequential therapy from 10 days to 14 days increased eradication rates by 3-4% (20). Therefore, we decided to prescribe a 14-day combined treatment for our patients. As a result, we detected an eradication rate of 84.6% for our patients in the control group. This rate is near the acceptable level recommended for H. pylori eradication.

Lee et al. (21) reported epigastric pain (23.6 %) and diarrhea (16.7%) as the most common side effects in a 14-day quadruple therapy containing bismuth. This rate was more common among the patient group who received bismuth, in parallel with our study. In our study, the rate of side effects was 17.5%, and nausea and abdominal pain were among the most frequent side effects. In conventional *H. pylori* eradication treatments, side effects are observed at a rate of 5–30%, which reduce treatment success. The

frequency of side effects was 6.7% for patients who received quadruple bismuth treatment for 10 days, versus 11.7% for patients who received quadruple therapy containing bismuth for 14 days (22). In a study conducted on children in China, side effects were reported in 15.3% of patients whose treatments included bismuth (23). This situation affects treatment compliance and success. Therefore, the use of probiotics to increase eradication success among children with H. pylori gastritis is an important topic of discussion. Therefore, some studies have involved yeast as probiotics, such as S. boulardii (24). A study by Zhou et al. (25) found that the administration of S. boulardii decreased nausea, vomiting, diarrhea, and abdominal distention compared to the control group; however, no significant difference was detected between the two groups. Another study in children showed that S. boulardii increased treatment compliance by reducing diarrhea during eradication treatment. Furthermore, a slight increase was detected in the H. pylori eradication rate relative to the control group (26). Similarly, in our study, the side effects decreased, and the eradication rate increased compared to the control group. Unlike other studies, children receiving S. boulardii treatment and bismuth treatment were put into comparison. The eradication rate in children on S. boulardii treatment was close to those who received bismuth treatment.

In conclusion, the use of probiotics in the treatment of gastrointestinal problems has been popular in recent years. Probiotic bacteria and *S. boulardii* fungi have been used for *H. pylori* eradication in adult studies. Their positive contributions to treatment have been noted. Therefore, they may be used to increase eradication success, particularly among pediatric patients when bismuth is not a feasible option. With fewer side effects, *S. boulardii* increases treatment compliance and success for pediatric patients, a sensitive group that needs additional consideration for treatment. The most important limitation of this study is that a *H. pylori* culture could not be obtained. Moreover, antibiotic resistance could have been checked, and the treatment groups could have been randomized accordingly.

ETHICAL DECLARATIONS

Ethics Committee Approval: The study was carried out with the permission of Taksim Training and Researches Hospital Ethics Committee (Date: 25.12.2019, Decision No: 177).

Informed Consent: All patients signed the free and informed consent form.

Referee Evaluation Process: Externally peer-reviewed.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

Author Contributions: All of the authors declare that they have all participated in the design, execution, and analysis of the paper, and that they have approved the final version.

REFERENCES

- 1. Kotilea K, Kalach N, Homan M, Bontems P. *Helicobacter pylori* infection in pediatric patients: update on diagnosis and eradication strategies. Paediatr Drugs 2018; 20: 337-51.
- Bayındır Bilman F, Özdemir M, Baysal B, Güzel Kurtoğlu M. Prevalence of *H. pylori* in gastric biopsy specimen in the southeastern region of Turkey. J Infect Dev Ctries 2016; 10: 1177-82.
- 3. Zabala Torrres B, Lucero Y, Lagomarcino AJ, et al. Review: prevalence and dynamics of *Helicobacter pylori* infection during childhood. Helicobacter 2017; 22: 10.
- 4. Kocazeybek B, Tokman HB. Prevalence of primary antimicrobial resistance of *H. pylori* in Turkey: a systematic review. Helicobacter 2016; 21: 251-60.
- Güven B, Gülerman F, Kaçmaz B. *Helicobacter pylori* resistance to clarithromycin and fluoroquinolones in a pediatric population in Turkey: A cross-sectional study. Helicobacter 2019; 24: e12581.
- Papastergiou V, Georgopoulos SD, Karatapanis S. Treatment of *Helicobacter pylori* infection: past, present and future. World J Gastrointest Pathophysiol 2014; 5: 392-9.
- 7. Suzuki H, Nishizawa T, Hibi T. *Helicobacter pylori* eradication therapy. Future Microbiol 2010; 5: 639-48.
- McFarland LV. Systematic review and meta-analysis of Saccharomyces boulardii in adult patients. World J Gastroenterol 2010; 16: 2202-22.
- Dixon MF, Genta RM, Yardley JH, Correa P. Classification and grading of gastritis. The updated Sydney System. International Workshop on the Histopathology of Gastritis, Houston 1994. Am J Surg Pathol 1996; 20: 1161-81.
- 10. Jones NL, Koletzko S, Goodman K, et al. Joint ESPGHAN/ NASPGHAN Guidelines for the management of *Helicobacter pylori* in children and adolescents (Update 2016). J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr 2017; 64: 991-1003.
- 11. Kuo YT, Liou JM, El-Omar EM, et al. Primary antibiotic resistance in *Helicobacter pylori* in the Asia-Pacific region: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Lancet Gastroenterol Hepatol 2017; 2: 707-15.
- 12. Savoldi A, Carrara E, Graham DY, Conti M, Tacconelli E. Prevalence of antibiotic resistance in *Helicobacter pylori*: a systematic review and meta-analysis in World Health Organization Regions. Gastroenterol 2018; 155: 1372-82.
- Arslan M, Balamtekin N, Günal A. Efficacy of a novel sequential treatment regimen containing bismuth for *Helicobacter pylori* eradication in Turkish children. Helicobacter 2020; 25: e12757.
- 14. Malfertheiner P, Megraud F, O'Morain CA, et al. Management of *Helicobacter pylori* infection-the Maastricht V/Florence Consensus Report. Gut 2017; 66: 6-30.
- 15.Liu WZ, Xie Y, Lu H, et al. Fifth Chinese National Consensus Report on the management of *Helicobacter pylori* infection. Helicobacter 2018; 23: e12475.
- 16.Burkitt MD, Duckworth CA, Williams JM, Pritchard DM. *Helicobacter pylori*-induced gastric pathology: insights from in vivo and ex vivo models. Dis Model Mech 2017; 10: 89-104.
- 17. Hojo M, Nagahara A, Kudo T, et al. Endoscopic findings of *Helicobacter pylori* gastritis in children and young adults based on the Kyoto classification of gastritis and age-associated changes. JGH Open 2021; 5: 1197-1202.

- 18. Keller J, Hammer HF, Afolabi PR, et al. European guideline on indications, performance and clinical impact of 13 C-breath tests in adult and pediatric patients: An EAGEN, ESNM, and ESPGHAN consensus, supported by EPC. United European Gastroenterol J 2021; 9: 598-625.
- 19. Liu KS, Hung IF, Seto WK, et al. Ten day sequential versus 10 day modified bismuth quadruple therapy as empirical firstline and secondline treatment for *Helicobacter pylori* in Chinese patients: an open label, randomised, crossover trial. Gut 2014; 63: 1410-15.
- 20. Liou JM, Chen CC, Chen MJ, et al. Sequential versus triple therapy for the first-line treatment of *Helicobacter pylori*: a multicentre, open-label, randomised trial. Lancet. 2013; 381: 205-13.
- 21.Lee JY, Kim N, Park KS, et al. Comparison of sequential therapy and amoxicillin/tetracycline containing bismuth quadruple therapy for the first-line eradication of *Helicobacter pylori*: a prospective, multi-center, randomized clinical trial. BMC Gastroenterol 2016; 16: 79.
- 22. Chen Y, Liu Q, Hu F, Ma J. Identifying the best regimen for primary eradication of *Helicobacter pylori*: analysis of 240 cases. Microbiologyopen 2021; 10: e1223.
- 23.Zhou Y, Ye Z, Wang Y, et al. Comparison of four different regimens against *Helicobacter pylori* as a first-line treatment: A prospective, cross-sectional, comparative, open trial in Chinese children. Helicobacter 2020; 25: e12679.
- 24. Szajewska H, Horvath A, Piwowarczyk A. Meta-analysis: the effects of *Saccharomyces boulardii* supplementation on *Helicobacter pylori* eradication rates and side effects during treatment. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2010; 32: 1069-79.
- 25. Zhou BG, Chen LX, Li B, Wan LY, Ai YW. *Saccharomyces boulardii* as an adjuvant therapy for *Helicobacter pylori* eradication: A systematic review and meta-analysis with trial sequential analysis. Helicobacter 2019; 24: e12651.
- 26. Bin Z, Ya-Zheng X, Zhao-Hui D, Bo C, Li-Rong J, Vandenplas Y. The efficacy of *Saccharomyces boulardii* CNCM I-745 in addition to standard *Helicobacter pylori* eradication treatment in children. Pediatr Gastroenterol Hepatol Nutr 2015; 18: 17-22.

The relationship between white coat hypertension and the index of cardiac electrophysiological balance (ICEB)

Murat Karamanlıoğlu¹, DEkrem Şahan²

¹Atatürk Chest Disease and Thorax Surgery Training and Research Hospital, Department of Cardiology, Ankara, Turkey ²Ankara Bilkent City Hospital, Department of Cardiology, Ankara, Turkey

Cite this article as: Karamanlıoğlu M, Şahan E. The relationship between white coat hypertension and the index of cardiac electrophysiological balance (ICEB). J Health Sci Med 2022; 5(3): 917-921.

ABSTRACT

Aim: The index of cardiac electrophysiological balance (ICEB) is a new marker that can show the potential for ventricular arrhythmia and indicate the balancebetween ventricular depolarization and repolarization. A tendency toward ventricular arrhythmia has been shown innon-dipper hypertension and prehypertensive patients in various studies. White coat hypertension (WCH) has been shown to be associated with target organ damage and the actual development of hypertension. In this study, we aimed to evaluate the effect of dipper and non-dipper patterns on the ICEB in patients diagnosed with WCH.

Material and Method: A total of 108 patients were included in this study. Patients were divided into two groups as dipper and non-dipper patterns according to ABPM. QT/QRS (ICEB) and cQT/QRS (ICEBc) were recorded with computerized interpretation of the electrocardiogram.

Results: While electrocardiographic parameters including heart rate, PR interval, QT interval, cQT interval, and ICEB were similar in both groups (p>.05), in the non-dipper group, QRS duration was lower (p=.017) and ICEBc was higher (p=.001).

Conclusion: ICEBc may predict asusceptibility to ventricular arrhythmias in WCH patients. Therefore, non-dipper WCH patients with a high ICEBc should be followed for arrhythmia outcomes in addition to hypertensive outcomes.

Keywords: White coat hypertension, non-dipper pattern, the index of cardiac electrophysiological balance, electrocardiography, ventricular arrhythmia, QT interval

INTRODUCTION

White coat hypertension (WCH) is a condition in which home blood pressure (BP) or ambulatory BP measurements (ABPM) are normal, but outpatient measurements are high (1). Although it appears to be a benign condition, it has been shown to be associated with target organ damage and the actual development of hypertension (2,3). Normal blood pressure shows a circadian rhythm. At night, blood pressure decreases by more than 10% compared to the average daytime value; this is called a dipping pattern. A non-dipping pattern is a reduction in blood pressure of less than 10% at night and is associated with increased cardiovascular risk and target organ damage (1,4,5). Supraventricular and ventricular arrhythmias are causes of cardiovascular morbidity and mortality. Predicting these dysrhythmias and initiating early treatment or avoiding the causative conditions can reduce morbidity and mortality. Many studies have shown a predisposition to ventricular arrhythmias in patients with non-dipper hypertension

and left ventricular hypertrophy (6-8). A tendency toward ventricular arrhythmia in patients with prehypertensive non-dipping pattern is demonstrated by a fragmented QRS (9). The predictive value of the frontal QRS axis, which demonstrate myocardial repolarization, has been demonstrated in patients with non-dipper hypertensionand without left ventricular hypertrophy (10). In the evaluation of arrhythmia, electrocardiographic (ECG) findings such as QT dispersion, QTc, Tp-e (Tp-e=peak-to-end interval of the T wave), Tp-e/QT have been evaluated in many studies (11–14). The index of cardiac electrophysiological balance (ICEB) is the ratio of QT to QRS (QT/QRS), which is a new marker that can show the potential for ventricular arrhythmia and is easily calculated on asurface ECG (15). It has been demonstrated that ICEB can be used in place of cardiac wavelength λ (λ = effective refractory period [ERP] x conduction velocity [CV]), which is measured in anelectrophysiology laboratory and can



indicate the balance between ventricular depolarization and repolarization (16). An imbalance may predispose one to Torsades de Pointes (TdP) and other ventricular arrhythmias. In this study,we aimed to evaluate the effect of dipper and non-dipper patterns on ICEB in patients diagnosed with WCH.

MATERIAL AND METHOD

This retrospective study was carried out with the permission of Ankara Keçiören Training and Research Hospital, Non-Invasive Clinical Researches Ethics Committee (Date: 09.11.2021, Decision No: 2012-KAEK-15/2424). All procedures were carried out in accordance with the ethical rules and the principles of the Declaration of Helsinki.

Patient Selection

In our study, patients with a systolic blood pressure (SBP) of ≥140 mmHg and/or a diastolic blood pressure (DBP) of ≥90 mmHg in a physical examination and who underwent ABPM with suspected WCH (the blood pressure readings in the hospital were higher than they are in other settings, such as the home) were evaluated from May 2020 to July 2021. In accordance with the 2018 European Society of Cardiology (ESC) / European Society of Hypertension (ESH) guidelines (1), 151 patients were diagnosed with WCH. A detailed physical examination was performed on the patients and medical history was taken. Demographic and laboratory data were obtained from the automated hospital system and recorded. Diagnoses of hypertension on ABPM records, diabetes mellitus, chronic kidney disease, coronary artery disease, left ventricular systolic dysfunction (EF<50%) and moderate-severe valve disease in echocardiography, endocrine (hyperthyroidism, diseases anemia), obstructive sleep apnea syndrome, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, pregnancy, drug use affecting the autonomic nervous system, branch block, atrial fibrillation, and atrioventricular block on an ECG were determined as exclusion criteria. Forty-three patients with one or more of the exclusion criteria were excluded from the study.

ABPM Recordings

Twenty-four-hour ambulatory blood pressure recordings were obtained using the oscillometric system (Altgasse 68 6341 Baar, Switzerland). Daytime recordings were made between 06:00 and 22:00, nighttime recordings were madebetween 22:00 and 06:00. Blood pressure values were taken every 30 minutes for daytime recordings and were taken every hour at nighttime. Information about sleep duration was obtained from the patients, and no adverse events related to the device were reported during the day or at night. It was required that the false measurement rate be less than 20%. Daytime, nighttime, and 24-hour systolic, diastolic, and mean blood pressures were obtained from ABMP recordings. A 24-hour mean of \geq 130/80 mmHg, daytime mean of \geq 135/85 mmHg, and nighttime mean of≥120/70 mmHg were accepted as hypertension, and clinical blood pressure measurements were SBP ≥140 mmHg and/or DBP ≥90 mmHg; those with normal ABPM values were considered WCH (1). A dipper pattern was determined as a $\geq 10\%$ decrease in mean blood pressure during the nighttime, according to the mean blood pressure value during the daytime, and a ≥10% decrease in mean blood pressure was a nondipper pattern (1). The patients diagnosed with WCH were divided into two groups, dipper and non-dipper, according to ABPM records.

Electrocardiography and Echocardiography

A 12-lead surface ECG was obtained from all patients, in the supine position, after resting for at least 5 minutes. Heart rate, PR, QRS, QT, and cQT intervals were obtained from computerized interpretation of the electrocardiogram results (Nihon Kohden, Tokyo, Japan). Also, QT/QRS(ICEB) and corrected QT (QTc)/ QRS (ICEBc) values were calculated from these ECG data for every patient. Transthoracic echocardiography was performed on all patients with GE Healthcare Vivid S60N. Left ventricular diastolic diameter, interventricular septum, and posterior wall measurements were taken on the parasternal long axis just below the mitral valve tips in diastole to calculate the left ventricular mass and index (17). The left ventricular ejection fraction was measured by using the modified Simpson's method (17). Left ventricular hypertrophy was evaluated according to the LV (left ventricle) mass index. LV mass was calculated with the following formula: Lv mass=0,8x(1,04x((LVEDD (left ventricle end diastolic diameter)+IVSd (Interventricular septum distance)+PWd (posterior Wall distance))3-LVEDD3)))+0,6. LV mass index was calculated using the following formula: LV mass index=LV mass/Body surface area (BSA) (17). BSA was calculated with the Mosteller Formula: BSA = ([height(cm)x weight(kg)]/3600)1/2.Values >95 g/m² for women and >115 g/m² for men were accepted as left ventricular hypertrophy.

Statistical Analysis

Numerical data were expressed as mean standard deviation, and non-numeric data as a percentage (%). Data were saved in the SPSS version 23.0 statistics program. Continuous variables with normal distribution were compared with the Student t-test. The Pearson method was used in the correlation analysis of the independent variables in each population studied.

RESULTS

The mean age of the entire population in our study was 52.8, and 52% of the dipper group and 50% of the non-dipper group were women. There was no difference between the two groups in terms of bodymass index and smoking, respectively (p=.426,p=.882). Transthoracic echocardiographic parameters, left ventricular ejection fraction (LVEF), left ventricle enddiastolic diameter (LVEDD), interventricular septum thickness (IVST), and posterior wall thickness (PWT) were examined, and no significant difference was observed in both groups (p>.05). In addition, there was no statistically significant difference between the two groups in terms of left ventricular hypertrophy (p>.05) (Table 1). There was no difference between the two groups in terms of hemoglobin and electrolyte values (p>.05). While for he ABPM records, the 24-h mean SBP was not statistically different between the two groups (p>.05), the 24-h mean DBP was significantly higher in the dipper group (p<.001). Daytime SBP and DBP were significantly higher in the dipper group (p=.024,p<.001), and nighttime SBP was significantly higher in the non-dipper group (p=.002)(Table 2). While electrocardiographic parameters including heart rate, PR interval, QT interval, cQT interval, and ICEB were similar in both groups (p>.05), in the non-dipper group, QRS duration was lower (p=.017) and ICEBc was higher (p=.001) (Table 3).

Tablo 1. Demographic laboratory and echocardiographic features					
Variable	Dippers (n=50)	Non-dippers (n=58)	P value		
Age, years	51.06±9.7	52.97±9.5	0.310		
Gender					
Male, n (%)	24 (48%)	29 (50%)	0.020		
Female, n (%)	26 (52%)	29 (50%)	0.858		
Body-mass index, kg/m ²	28.15±3.7	28.74±3.9	0.426		
Smoking, n (%)	26 (52%)	31 (53.4%)	0.882		
LVEF, %	60.64±2.8	59.8±2.7	0.132		
LV mass (g)	146.06±51.2	155.53±25.1	0.216		
LV mass index (g/m ²)	74.28±9.6	81.46±11.6	0.001		
LVEDD (cm)	4.68±0.36	4.68±0.29	0.976		
IVST (cm)	0.87±0.06	1.08 ± 1.06	0.172		
PWT (cm)	1.03 ± 1.00	0.96±0.08	0.604		
Hemoglobin (g/dl)	14.1±1.26	16.16±1.51	0.339		
Na (mEq/L)	140.1±2.3	139.1±2.8	0.114		
K+ (mEq/L)	4.10±0.26	4.19±0.42	0.199		
Ca (mEq/L)	9.54±057	9.52±0.44	0.980		

LVEF:left ventricular ejection fraction. LV:left venricul. SBP:systolic blood

pressure. DBP:diastolic blood pressure ,LVEDD:left ventricle end-diastolicdiameter IVST:interventricular septum thicknessPWT:posterior wall thickness. P value in bold :statistical significanse

Tablo 2. ABPM records			
Variable	Dippers (n=50)	Non-dippers (n=58)	P value
24 h mean SBP, mmHg	118.34 ± 8.9	116.72±8.7	0.345
24 h mean DBP, mmHg	72.38 ± 5.58	67.26±5.77	< 0.001
Daytime SBP, mmHg	122.88 ± 9.44	119.02 ± 8.07	0.024
Daytime DBP, mmHg	76.4 ± 5.98	70.34 ± 5.76	< 0.001
Night-time SBP, mmHg	107.36 ± 8.56	112.16 ± 7.46	0.002
Night-time DBP, mmHg	63.28±5.09	63.59±5.44	0.765
SBP: systolic blood pressures DB significanse	P: diastolic blood p	pressures. P value in t	oold :statistical

Tablo 3. Electrocardiographic findings					
Variable	Dippers (n=50)	Non-dippers (n=58)	P value		
Heart rate, beats/min	81.02±14.15	83.6±16.49	0.379		
PR interval, msec	146.5 ± 14.51	152.8 ± 19.4	0.061		
QRS duration, msec	85.30±7.82	81.38 ± 8.84	0.017		
QT interval, msec	369.80±34.99	369.31±37.75	0.945		
QTc interval, msec	405.5±22.24	410.76±19.71	0.196		
ICEB	4.38 ± 0.52	4.55±0.58	0.119		
ICEBc	4.78±0.45	5.09 ± 0.64	0.001		
ICEB: index of cardiac electrophysiological balance, ICEBc: index of cardiac electrophysiological balance with heart rate correction. P value in bold :statistical similficance					

DISCUSSION

Hypertension is one of the most common diseases in clinical practice (1). Identifying conditions predisposing individuals to hypertension, taking the necessary precautions, and treating them contribute to areduction of morbidity and mortality (1). In addition, predicting arrhythmias that may be associated with hypertension and taking the necessary precautions may have a positive effect on outcomes in cardiovascular system-related conditions. Although WCH seems to be benign, Mancia et al. (18) showed that hypertension developed in 42.6% of WCH patients in a 10-year follow-up. In another study, it was shown that the development of hypertension was approximately three times more common compared to people with normal blood pressure (19). Not only hypertension, but also WCH has been found to be associated with cardiovascular diseases. Therefore, WCH is a relevant clinical condition. Recent studies have shown that left ventricular hypertrophy and carotid atherosclerosis are more common as target organ damage in patients with WCH than in normotensive patients (20,21). In addition, it has been shown that cardiovascular mortality is higher in patients with WCH than in normotensive or prehypertensive patients (22).

A Non-dipping pattern is a reduction in blood pressure of less than 10% at nightcompared to the average daytime value and is associated with increased cardiovascular risk and target organ damage (1,4,5). In many studies, it has been shown that the non-dipper

pattern predisposes for VA (ventricular tachicardia and/ or ventricula fibrillation) in patients with hypertension (6-14). Therefore, WCH may be a predisposing factor for cardiovascular diseases as well as for arrhythmia. By identifying the WCH population with a predisposition to ventricular arrhythmia, it may be possible to ensure that the agents to be selected s antihypertensives in the future have antiarrhythmic properties or to avoid proarrhythmic agents in different treatment options. LVH has been shown to have a proarrhythmic effect in hypertensive and prehypertensive patients in studies (6-8,10). In our study population, there was no statistically significant difference between the groups in terms of LVH. LVH had no effect on our study population in terms of both ECG findings and arrhythmia. Therefore, the importance of the ICEB value as a proarrhythmic indicator was increased in our study group.

ICEB is a relatively new marker that indicatesventricular arrhythmogenesis and is obtained by dividing QT/QRS in ECG (15). Lu et al. (16) suggested that a significant increase in ICEB may cause TdP-induced VA, while a decrease may cause non-TdP-induced VA. ICEBc is the QTc/QRS ratio, and in healthy chronic smokers it may predicta tendency toward TdP-induced VA (23). It has also been shown that ICEB can predict cannabinoidinduced VA (24). In our study, ICEB values were higher in the non-dipper group, and ICEBc was found to be significantly higher. The shorter QRS duration on the depolarization side and the longer QTc interval in the direction of repolarization may explain the higher ICEBc values in the non-dipper group. It is known that non-dipper status increases the frequency of left ventricular hypertrophy and causes cardiac conduction problems and autonomic dysfunction and heterogeneity in ventricular repolarization (25,26). Sympathetic activity has been shown to increase in WCH patients compared to normatensives, and, in another study, anincrease in sympathetic activity and decrease in vagal activity have been shown to prolong QTc (27,28). In addition, an increase in nocturnal sympathetic activity and a decrease in vagal activity were shown in patients with the non-dipper pattern (29,30). The non-dipper state and increased adrenergic effect may cause deterioration in ventricular homogeneity, and this may be related to the ICEBc results in our study. Ultimately, non-dipper statusmay lead to increased susceptibility to ventricular arrhythmia in WCH patients.

The main limitations of our study were the small number of patients and its retrospective nature. ABPM could not be used in normotensive patients due to theretrospective nature of the study. Prospective follow-up periods were not performed for the evaluation of arrhythmia in the patients.

CONCLUSION

ICEBc was found to be significantly higher in patients with WCH and non-dipper patterns compared to those with dipper patterns. ICEBc may predict asusceptibility to ventricular arrhythmias in WCH patients. Therefore, non-dipper WCH patients with a high ICEBc should be followed for arrhythmia outcomes besides hypertensive outcomes.

ETHICAL DECLARATIONS

Ethics Committee Approval: The study was carried out with the permission of Ankara Keçiören Training and Research Hospital, Non-Invasive Clinical Researches Ethics Committee (Date: 09.11.2021, Decision No: 2012-KAEK-15/2424).

Informed Consent: Because the study was designed retrospectively, no written informed consent form was obtained from patients.

Referee Evaluation Process: Externally peer-reviewed.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

Author Contributions: All of the authors declare that they have all participated in the design, execution, and analysis of the paper and that they have approved the final version

REFERENCES

- 1. Williams B, Mancia G, Spiering W, et al. 2018 ESC/ESHguidelines for themanagement of arterial hypertension. Eur Heart J 2018; 39: 3021-104.
- 2. BenDov IZ, Kark JD, Mekler J, Shaked E, Bursztyn M. The white coat phenomenon is benign in referred treated patients: a 14 year ambulatory blood pressure mortality study. J Hypertens 2008; 26: 699-705.
- 3. Pierdomenico SD, Lapenna D, Di Mascio R, Cuccurullo F. Short and long-term risk of cardiovascular events in white coat hypertension. J Hum Hypertens 2008; 22: 408-14.
- 4. Ohkubo T, Hozawa A, Yamaguchi J, et al. Prognostic significance of the nocturnal decline in blood pressure in individuals with andwithout high 24-h blood pressure: the Ohasama study J Hypertens 2002; 20: 2183–9.
- 5. Fukuda M, Munemura M, Usami T, et al. Nocturnal blood pressure iselevated with natriuresis and proteinuria as renal function deteriorates in nephropathy. Kidney Int 2004; 65: 621-5
- 6. McLenachan JM, Henderson E, Morris KI, Dargie HJ. Ventricular arrhythmias in patients with hypertensive left ventricular hypertrophy. N Engl J Med 1987; 317: 787–92.
- 7. Pringle SD, Dunn FG, Macfarlane PW, McKillop JH. Significance of ventricular arrhythmias in systemic hypertension withleft ventricular hypertrophy. Am J Cardiol 1992; 69: 913–7.
- 8. Siegel D, Cheitlin MD, Black DM, Seel. Risk of ventricular arrhythmias in hypertensive men with left ventricular hypertrophy. Am J Cardiol 1990; 65: 742–7.

- 9. Eyuboglu M, Akdeniz B. Association between non-dipping and fragmented QRS complexes in prehypertensive patients. Arq Bras Cardiol 2019; 112: 59-64.
- 10. Tanriverdi Z, Unal B, Eyuboglu M, et al. The importance of frontal QRS-T angle forpredicting non-dipper status in hypertensive patients without left ventricular hypertrophy. Clin Exp Hypertens 2018; 40: 318-23.
- 11. Panikkath R, Reinier K, Uy-Evanado A, et al. Prolonged Tpeak-totend interval on the resting ECG is associated with increasedrisk of sudden cardiac death. Circ Arrhythm Electrophysiol 2011; 4: 441–7.
- 12. Algra A, Tijssen JG, Roelandt JR, Pool J, Lubsen J. QTc prolongation measured by standard 12-lead electrocardiography is an independent risk factor for sudden death dueto cardiac arrest. Circulation 1991; 83: 1888–94.
- Gupta P, Patel C, Patel H, et al. T(p-e)/QTratio as an index of arrhythmogenesis. J Electrocardiol 2008; 41: 567–74.
- 14. Akboga MK, Gulcihan Balci K, Yilmaz S, et al. Tp-e interval and Tp-e/QTc ratio as novel surrogate markers for prediction of ventricular arrhythmic events in hypertrophic cardiomyopathy. Anatol J Cardiol 2017;18: 48–53
- 15. Robyns T, Lu HR, Gallacher DJ, et al. Evaluation of index of cardio-electrophysiological balance (iCEB) as a new biomarker for the identification of patients at increased arrhythmic risk. Ann Noninvasive Electrocardiol 2016; 21: 294–304.
- 16.Lu HR, Yan GX, Gallacher DJ, et al. A new biomarker-index of cardiac electrophysiologicalbalance (iCEB)-plays an important role in drug-induced cardiac arrhythmias: beyond QTprolongation and Torsades de Pointes (TdPs). J Pharmacol Toxicol Methods 2013; 68: 250–9
- 17.Lang RM, Badano LP, Mor-Avi V, et al. Recommendations for cardiac chamber quantification by echocardiography in adults: an update from the American Society of Echocardiography and the European Association of Cardiovascular Imaging. J Am Soc Echocardiography 2015; 28: 1-39.
- Mancia G, Bombelli M, Facchetti R, et al. Long-term risk of sustained hypertension in white-coat or masked hypertension. Hypertension 2009; 54: 226-32.
- 19.Sivén SSE, Niiranen TJ, Kantola IM, et al. White-coat and masked hypertension as risk factors for progression to sustained hypertension: the Finn-home study. J Hypertens 2016; 34: 54–60.
- 20. Fukuhara M, Arima H, Ninomiya T, et al. White-coatand masked hypertension are associated with carotidatherosclerosis in a general population: the Hisayama study. Stroke 2013; 44: 1512-7
- 21. Cuspidi C, Sala C, Tadic M, et al. Is white-coat hypertension a risk factor for carotid atherosclerosis? A review and meta-analysis. Blood Press Monit 2015; 20: 57–63.
- 22.Gustavsen PH, Høegholm A, Bang LE, et al. White coat hypertension is a cardiovascular risk factor: a 10-yearfollow-up study. J Hum Hypertens 2003; 17: 811–7
- 23.Özdemir L, Sökmen E. Effect of habitual cigarette smoking on the index of cardiac electrophysiological balance in apparently healthy individuals J Electrocardiol 2020; 59: 41-4.
- 24.Efe SC, Oz A, Guven S, et al. Evaluation of index of cardiacelectrophysiological balance as arrhythmia predictor in bonsai users. Minerva Cardioangiol 2020; 68: 559-66.
- 25.An HR, Park S, Yoo TH, et al. Non-dipper status and left ventricular hypertrophy as predictors of incident chronic kidney disease. J Korean Med Sci 2011; 26: 1185–90.
- 26. Myredal A, Friberg P, Johansson M. Elevated myocardial repolarization lability and arterial baroreflex dysfunction in healthy individuals with nondipping blood pressure pattern. Am J Hypertens 2010; 23: 255–9.
- 27. Grassi G, Seravalle G, Trevano FQ, et al. Neurogenic abnormalities in masked hypertension. Hypertension 2007; 50: 537–542.

- 28. Abildskov JA. Adrenergic effects of the QT interval of the electrocardiogram. Am Heart J 1976; 92: 210–6.
- 29. Kohara K, Nishida W, Maguchi M, Hiwada K. Autonomic nervous function in non-dipper essential hypertensive subjects. Evaluation by power spectral analysis of heart rate variability. Hypertension 1995; 26: 808–14.
- 30.Ino-Oka E, Yumita S, Sekino H, et al. The effects of physical activity and autonomic nerve tone on the daily fluctuation of blood pressure. Clin Exp Hypertens 2004; 26: 129–36.

HEALTH SCIENCES MEDICINE

Clinical, sonographical and cytological comparison of toxic and non-toxic thyroid nodules

Derya Köseoğlu², Derya Köseoğlu², Dözden Başer³

¹Amasya University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Internal Medicine, Division of Endocrinology and Metabolism, Amasya, Turkey
²Hitit University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Internal Medicine, Division of Endocrinology and Metabolism, Çorum, Turkey
³Yozgat City Hospital, Department of Endocrinology and Metabolism, Yozgat, Turkey

Cite this article as: Çetin Z, Köseoğlu D, Başer Ö. Clinical, sonographical and cytological comparison of toxic and non-toxic thyroid nodules. J Health Sci Med 2022; 5(3): 922-925.

ABSTRACT

Aim: To compare patients with toxic and non-toxic nodular/multinodular goiter in terms of clinical, sonographical and cytological features.

Material and Method: The medical data of 326 patients were reviewed retrospectively. Clinical and sonographic features were examined. Four hundred and eighty-one nodules were compared sonographically and cytologically. One hundred twenty-four patients had toxic nodular goiter and 202 of them had non-toxic nodular goiter.

Results: The toxic nodular goiter group was older, they had more male sex, more multi-nodularity, larger thyroid glands and nodules with more sonographically suspicious features (p<0.05). One hundred sixty-five of 481 nodules belonged to the toxic group. Nodule size was > 40 mm in 13.9% of the nodules in the toxic group and 5.4% of those in the non-toxic group (p= 0.003). Central vascularization (p <0.0001) and hypoechogenicity (p =0.005) were higher in nodules of the toxic group. The two groups were similar in terms of fine needle aspiration biopsy (FNAB) results.

Conclusion: Toxic nodules can have sonographically suspicious features like non-toxic nodules, and their evaluation with FNAB should not be avoided or postponed, thus ensuring more adequate treatment and follow-up of toxic nodular thyroid disease.

Keywords: Thyroid nodule, toxic, sonography, biopsy, malignancy risk

INTRODUCTION

Hyperthyroidism is characterized by increased thyroid hormone synthesis and release in the thyroid gland. Toxic adenoma (TA) and toxic multinodular goiter (TMNG) are the most common causes of hyperthyroidism after Graves' disease and their incidence increases with age (1).

The treatment of TA and TMNG is radioactive iodine or surgery (2). However, there is an opinion that, because thyroid stimulating hormone (TSH) is suppressed in hyperthyroidism, oncogenesis is also inhibited and thus hyperthyroidism has a protective effect against thyroid cancer (3). While thyroid cancer affects 7-15% of the population, early publications showing that the incidence of cancer is lower in hyperthyroidism (4). Therefore, cytological evaluation for toxic (or hot) nodules has not been considered. Previously, the estimated cancer risk of non-functioning nodules is around 10-20%, while this rate is very low for hot nodules (5,6). However, there are more recent studies showing that the cancer risk is higher in hyperthyroidism (7).

In a recent study investigating the risk of malignancy in hot nodules, a similar risk of malignancy was found between hot nodules and cold nodules. The risk in hot nodules was determined as 4.3% (8).

According to American Thyroid Association (ATA) 2015 guideline, fine needle aspiration biopsy (FNAB) is not recommended for toxic nodules as they are rarely considered malignant (9). However, as mentioned above, hot nodules may not be as benign as it seems. In this study, we compared hot nodules with non-toxic nodules in clinical, sonographic and cytological terms. And so, we tried to determine the malignancy risk of toxic nodules.

Corresponding Author: Zeynep Cetin, drzeynepcetin@gmail.com



MATERIAL AND METHOD

Ethical approval was obtained from Amasya University Hospital Non-Invasive Ethics Committee (Date: 07.01.2021, Decision No: 18). All procedures were carried out in accordance with the ethical rules and the principles of the Declaration of Helsinki.

This is a multicenter study. It included 326 patients who were diagnosed as TA, TMNG and non-toxic nodular goiter between 2018-2020.

Patients with toxic nodular goiter (TNG) were diagnosed according to the following diagnostic criteria: suppressed serum TSH levels with elevated serum free thyroid hormones and increased uptake on thyroid scan. Patients with non-toxic nodular goiter (non-TNG), had 1 or more nodules and their thyroid functions were euthyroid or hypothyroid.

Patients who were<18 years of age or pregnant or had active infections, chronic organ failure and/or malignancy were excluded.

Age, gender, TSH, thyroid ultrasonography (USG) and FNABs were examined. Thyroid USG (first center's USG is Aloka, Mollsfeld, Meerbusch, Germany, second is Toshiba TA700, Japan) and FNABs were performed by two endocrinologists educated from the same center. Thyroid gland and thyroid nodules were reported in three dimensions as antero-posterior, transverse and longitudinal. Thyroid volume was calculated with this formula: Anterior-posterior diameter x transverse diameter x longitudinal diameter x0.52. USGs were reported according to ATA guideline (9). 99mTc pertechnetate scintigraphy was performed to separate hot-cold nodules. Size (>1 cm), content (solidmix), echogenicity (hypoechoic), vascularization (central), calcification (microcalcification), margin structure (irregular edge), anteroposterior/transverse diameter ratio (>1) of the nodules were evaluated with USG. FNAB was applied by aspirating method to 481 nodules with at least 1 suspicious feature. Thyroid functions of the patients in the toxic group were in the subclinical hyperthyroid and euthyroid stages while FNABs were performed. FNABs were reported as benign, malignant, suspicious for malignancy, follicular neoplasia, atypia of undetermined significance (AUS)/follicular lesion of undetermined significance (AUFL) according to the Bethesda classification (10). Performing sonography and biopsy procedures by endocrinologists following the patients is an important difference of this study.

Statistical Analysis

Statistical analysis were made by IBM SPSS for Windows Version 25.0. Numerical variables were summarized with mean±standard deviation or median (min-max). Categorical variables were indicated by number and percentage. The Pearson chi-square test, Continuity Correction or Fisher's exact test were used to determine whether there was any difference between the groups in terms of categorical variables. The Kolmogorov Smirnov test, mean/standard deviation ratio, Skewness/Kurtosis, histogram and detrended normal graphics were used to determine whether the normal variables showed normal distribution, and the homogeneity of the variance was examined by the Levene test. Differences between two independent groups in terms of numerical variables; t-test and Mann Whitney U were used. Post-hoc analysis was used to determine which subgroup made the difference. The significance level was taken as p <0.05.

RESULTS

The patients with TNG consisted of 124 individuals and 202 of the patients had non-TNG. General characteristics of the participants are given in **Table 1**. Age 65 and over was defined as geriatric age. The TNG group was older, they had more male sex, more multi-nodularity, larger thyroid glands, nodules with more suspicious features and, as expected, lower TSHs. (**Table 1**).

Binary logistic regression analysis was performed for the effect of these parameters on toxicity; Only TSH and age were significantly different between two groups (**Table 2**), no meaningful results were reached for other parameters (these were not shown in the table).

Table 1. Comparisons of two groups according to individual characteristics							
Parameter	Toxic goiter (n=124)	Non-toxic goiter (n=202)	Р				
Age, year	58.49 ± 10.906	50.79±11.282	< 0.0001*				
Geriatric age, n (%)	40 (32.3)	21 (10.4)	< 0.0001*				
Male gender, n (%)	36 (29)	34 (16.8)	0.009*				
Subgroup (according to nodule number), n (%)							
NG	19 (15.3)	54 (26.7)					
MNG	105 (84.7)	148 (73.3)	0.016*				
Right thyroid volume, mm ³	23332.49±16128.059	17873.14±13342.562	0.001*				
Left thyroid volume, mm ³	21244.21±14253.341	15811.78±12649.67	< 0.0001*				
Number of nodules with suspicious features	1.78 ± 1.079	1.42 ± 0.703	0.003*				
TSH	0.10 (0.001-7.66)	1.30 (0.01-9.44)	< 0.0001*				
NG: nodular goiter, MNG: multinodular goiter, TSH: thyroid stimulating	g hormone *: statistically significant p valu	e					

Table 2. Binary logistic regression analysis for parameters that differ significantly in Table 1						
Decrementar θ D $E_{\rm sup}(B)$ 95% CI for Exp(B)						
Parameter	р	P	Ехр(Б)	Lower	Upper	
Geriatric age	-1.230	0.018*	0.292	0.105	0.810	
TSH 1.740 <0.0001* 5.697 3.468 9.358						
*: statistically signi	*: statistically significant p value					

A total of 481 FNABs were received. TNG group had 165 nodules. The comparison of the two groups in terms of the nodules undergoing FNAB was given in **Table 3**. Chi square analysis was performed for categorical variables; Which subvariables caused the difference was determined by post-hoc analysis and these were marked with letters. Accordingly, it was found that the nodules in the TNG group were larger, had more smooth edges, more calcification, worse blood flow patterns (central, central + peripheral), and more hypoechoic pattern. There was no difference in biopsy results and nodule content (**Table 3**).

Table 3. Comparison of two groups according to the biopsied nodules				
Parameter	Toxic group (n=165)	Non-toxic group (n=316)	Р	
Biggest diameter	27.86 ± 11.310	21.131±10.227	< 0.0001*	
Size, n (%)			0.003*	
< 10 mm	4 (2.4)	15 (4.7)		
10.01-39.99 mm	138 (83.6)	284 (89.9)		
> 40 mm	23 (13.9) ^a	17 (5.4) ^b		
Content, n (%)			0.282	
Solid	57 (34.5)	125 (39.6)		
Mixed	108 (65.5)	191 (60.4)		
Edge, n (%)			0.014*	
Smooth	141 (85.5) ^a	236 (74.7) ^b		
Irregular	$14 (8.5)^{a}$	57 (18) ^b		
Unclear	10 (6.1)	23 (7.3)		
Calcification, n (%)			0.038*	
Absent	122 (73.9) ^a	268 (84.8) ^b		
Micro	11 (6.7)	11 (3.5)		
Macro	19 (11.5)	21 (6.6)		
Micro+macro	7 (4.2)	5 (1.6)		
Eggshell	6 (3.6)	11 (3.5)		
Vascularization, n (%)			< 0.0001*	
Absent	94 (57)	206 (65.2)		
Peripheral	43 (26.1)	91 (28.8)		
Central	$7 (4.2)^{a}$	1 (0.3) ^b		
Peripheral+central	21 (12.7) ^a	18 (5.7) ^b		
Echogenicity, n (%)			0.005*	
Isoechoic	31 (18.8)	70 (22.2)		
Hypoechoic	38 (23) ^a	47 (14.9) ^b		
Hyperechoic	0ª	16 (5.1) ^b		
spongiform	96 (58.2)	183 (57.9)		
FNAB result, n (%)			0.152	
Benign	122 (73.9)	197 (62.3)		
Malign	1 (0.6)	1 (0.3)		
Susp for malign	3 (1.8)	9 (2.8)		
FN/ Suspicious FN	0	2 (0.6)		
AUS / AUFL	18 (10.9)	51 (16.1)		
ND	21 (12.7)	56 (17.7)		
FN: follicular neoplasia, AUS lesion, *: statistically significar	AUFL: unspecified at p value, a: There w	atypia / indeterminate vas a significant differen	follicular nce with	

compared non-toxic group in post-hoc comparison., b: There was a significant difference with compared toxic group in post-hoc comparison.

DISCUSSION

The results of the study: Patients with TNG were older, they had more male gender than patients with non-TNG, had larger thyroid glands and more nodules with suspicious features. The toxic nodules had larger size, more central blood supply, and hypoechogenicity rather than the other group. However FNAB results show similar cytological risk with the non-TNG. Since only 12% of the patients were thyroidectomy, the FNAB results could not be confirmed by pathological data. Undoubtedly, the Covid-19 pandemic had an unfavourable effect on this. In our country, as in many countries, elective hospital admissions and elective surgeries have decreased significantly due to the pandemic. The patients had to be followed conservatively with antithyroid drugs instead of primary treatment.

The frequency of TNG in areas of iodine deficiency increases up to 50% and is more common in the elderly (11). There is no distinct gender dominance in toxic nodular goiter (12). In our study, patients with toxic goiter were older and they had more geriatric age patients (>65 years) than non-TNG group. Female gender was higher in both groups, but individuals with male gender had a larger ratio in TNG. (29% vs 16.8, p=0.009, **Table 1**). Since women in our country apply to hospitals more than men, there may be such a difference with the literature in terms of gender. Besides, in logistic regression analysis, the high number of getriatric patients was significant, while no significant effect of gender was observed (**Table 2**).

Thyroid nodules are usually seen as multiple nodules but may also be single (13). In this study, MNG was higher in both groups, but the rate of multinodularity was higher in the toxic group (84.7% vs 73.3%, p=0.016). The reason for this is that the number of nodules increases with age and the TNG patients were older.

In the study, the TNG group's thyroid volumes were higher and they had more nodules with

suspicious features (**Table 1**). The development of toxic nodular/multinodular goiter depends on many factors. Chronic stimulation of thyroid gland causes diffuse enlargement of the gland, which progresses to goiter and nodule formation. In addition to the autonomic activity of nodules, toxic nodular/multinodular goiter develops with the effect of other factors such as genetic factors, iodine deficiency, stress, gender, and drugs (14). Therefore, the detection of larger thyroid gland and higher number of nodules in the toxic group seems compatible with the literature.

FNAB is the most appropriate method for preoperative evaluation of the malignancy risk for thyroid nodules. Performing it with USG increases its effectiveness. FNAB is recommended for nodules with suspicious features such as largest diameter > 1 cm, hypoechogenicity, poorly defined margin, absence of halo, presence of microcalcification, antero-posterior diameter/transverse diameter ratio > 1, and intranodular vascularization (9). In toxic nodular thyroid diseases, radionuclide scintigraphy is performed, in this procedure, non- or hypo-functioning nodules have high risk of malignancy. It is recommended to perform FNAB of these nodules, but if the nodule is hyperfunctioning, FNAB is not recommended (15). In practice, FNAB of hyperfunctioning nodules is not performed (16). In addition, if biopsy is performed on a hot nodule, it may show a follicular pattern, which is not associated with malignancy.

However, an increasing number of follicular cancers and follicular variant papillary thyroid cancers are detected in hot nodules. For this reason, the diagnosis of follicular neoplasia in the biopsy of hot nodules is not as reassuring as previously thought (17).

Therefore, if hot nodule has suspicious sonographic feature(s), it should be considered for FNAB. In our study, FNABs were performed for 481 suspicious nodules and the two groups were compared. The TNG group had suspicious sonographic features such as larger size, central blood supply, hypoechogenicity, and they had lower risk in terms of calcification and margin structure and are at similar risk with the other group for nodule content. Hence, it can be said that toxic nodules carry suspicious features like non-toxic nodules or more than them. All in all, FNAB results were similar in both groups. Interestingly, there is no result with follicular neoplasm in the toxic group. The meaningful result of our work is that, toxic nodules are not less risky than non-toxic.

Limitation

Essentially, the patients should be operated and histopathological diagnosis should be seen to tell the actual malignancy risk, but unfortunately, we could not confirm the FNAB results. Because of the pandemic, only 26 were operated, appropriate follow-up of most of the patients could not be performed.

CONCLUSION

In summary, toxic nodules have significant suspicious patterns like non-toxics, and their evaluation with FNAB should not be avoided, thus ensuring more adequate treatment and follow-up of toxic nodular thyroid disease.

ETHICAL DECLARATIONS

Ethics Committee Approval: Ethical approval was obtained from Amasya University Hospital Non-invasive Ethics Committee (Date: 07.01.2021, Decision No: 18).

Informed Consent: Because the study was designed retrospectively, no written informed consent form was obtained from patients.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

Author Contributions: All of the authors declare that they have all participated in the design, execution, and analysis of the paper and that they have approved the final version

REFERENCES

- Gilbert J. Thyrotoxicosis investigation and management. Clin Med (Lond) 2017; 17: 274-7.
- 2. Bahn RS, Burch HB, Cooper DS, et al. Hyperthyroidism and other causes of thyrotoxicosis: management guidelines of the American Thyroid Association and American Association of Clinical Endocrinologists. Thyroid 2011; 21: 593-646.
- 3. Fiore E, Rago T, Provenzale MA. Lower levels of TSH are associated with a lower risk of papillary thyroid cancer in patients with thyroid nodular disease: thyroid autonomy may play a protective role. Endocr Relat Cancer 2019; 16: 1251-60.
- 4. Mandel SJ. A 64-year-old woman with a thyroid nodule. JAMA 2004; 292: 2632-42.
- Maia FFR, Zantut-Wittmann DE. Thyroid nodule management: clinical, ultrasound and cytopathological parameters for predicting malignancy. CLINICS 2012; 67: 945-54.
- Eng CY, Quraishi MS, Bradley PJ. Management of thyroid nodules in adult patients. Head Neck Oncol 2010; 2: 1–5.
- 7. Tam AA, Ozdemir D, Alkan A, et al. Toxic nodular goiter and thyroid cancer: Is hyperthyroidism protective against thyroid cancer? Surgery 2019; 166: 356-61.
- 8. Baser H, Topaloglu O, Bilginer MC, et al. Are cytologic and histopathologic features of hot thyroid nodules different from cold thyroid nodules? Diagn Cytopathol 2019; 47: 898-903.
- 9. Haugen BR, Alexander EK, Bible KC, et al. 2015 American Thyroid Association management guidelines for adult patients with thyroid nodules and differentiated thyroid cancer: the American Thyroid Association guidelines task force on thyroid nodules and differentiated thyroid cancer. Thyroid 2016; 26: 1-133.
- 10. Cibas E, Ali SZ. The 2017 Bethesda system for reporting thyroid cytopathology. Thyroid 2017; 27: 1341-6.
- 11.De Leo S, Lee SY, Braverman LE. Hyperthyroidism. Lancet 2016; 388: 906–18.
- 12. LiVolsi VA, Baloch ZW. The pathology of hyperthyroidism. Front Endocrinol (Lausanne) 2018; 9: 737.
- Knobel M. Etiopathology, clinical features, and treatment of diffuse and multinodular nontoxic goiters. J Endocrinol Invest 2016; 39: 357.
- 14. Medeiros-Neto G. Multinodular goiter. Feingold KR, Anawalt B, Boyce A, eds. In: Endotext [Internet]. South Dartmouth (MA): MDText.com, Inc.; 2000–16.
- 15. Abraham-Nordling M, Torring O, et al. Graves' disease: a longterm quality-of-life follow up of patients randomized to treatment with antithyroid drugs, radioiodine, or surgery. Thyroid 2005; 15:1279–86.
- 16. Rosario PW, Rocha TG, Mourão GF, Calsolari MR. Is radioiodine scintigraphy still of value in thyroid nodules with indeterminate cytology?: a prospective study in an iodine-sufficient area [eng]. Nucl Med Commun 2018; 39: 1059-60.
- 17. Mirfakhraee S, Mathews D, Peng L, Woodruff S, Zigman JM. A solitary hyperfunctioning thyroid nodule harboring thyroid carcinoma: review of the literature. Thyroid Res 2013; 6: 7.

Pneumococcal and influenza vaccination rates among patients with cardiovascular disease

[®]Kenan Erdem¹, [®]İpek Duman², [®]Muhammet Kızmaz³, [®]Tevfik Fikret İlgenli¹

¹Selçuk University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Cardiology, Konya, Turkey
 ²Necmettin Erbakan University, Meram Faculty of Medicine, Department of Medical Pharmacology, Konya, Turkey
 ³Health Sciences University, Kayseri Health Practice and Research CenterDepartment of Familiy Medicine, Kayseri, Turkey

Cite this article as: Erdem K, Duman I, Kızmaz M, İlgenli TF. Pneumococcal and influenza vaccination rates among patients with cardiovascular disease. J Health Sci Med 2022; 5(3): 926-931.

ABSTRACT

Introduction: Influenza virus infections and pneumococcal pneumonia are associated with significant increases in hospitalization and mortality rates in patients with cardiovascular diseases (CVD). In Turkey, pneumococcal and flu vaccines are recommended for patients with chronic heart disease, adults aged 65 and older and adults who are at risk of pneumonia.

Material and Method: This study was conducted between July 2019 and December 2019 among 240 CVD patients. The survey consisted of 29 questions aimed at evaluating the sociodemographic characteristics of the patients, the history of influenza and pneumococcal vaccines, and their knowledge and attitudes towards vaccines.

Results: Vaccination rates were low in CVD patients. Last year, only 10% of the participants had been previously vaccinated with the pneumococcal vaccine and 27.75% with the influenza vaccine. While the percentage of vaccination influenza vaccine among university graduates was significantly higher than all other groups, this high was not detected for pneumococcal vaccine.

Eighty percent of the participants visited their family physicians regularly in the previous year, while only 61.6% received information about the vaccination from the doctor or nurse. Influenza vaccine (39.2%) was recommended at a higher rate than pneumococcal pneumonia (12.1%) by the physicians or nurses of the participants during the visits. (p < 0.05)

Conclusion: Our results suggest that training programs on adult vaccination are needed for both healthcare professionals and patients at risk to achieve higher vaccination rates.

Keywords: Cardiovascular disease, influenza vaccine, pneumococcal vaccine, survey

INTRODUCTION

Background and Significance

Pneumococcal pneumonia and influenza are associated with excess mortality and morbidity in the elderly and are associated with acute myocardial infarction risk (1-2). While community-acquired pneumonia is associated with up to eightfold increases in the risk of myocardial infarction. Influenza virus infections are also associated with considerable increases in cardiovascular hospitalizations and mortality (3-4). Pneumococcal vaccination is recommended for at-risk populations, including cardiovascular diseases (CVD's) in the USA in 2015 and Europe in 2016 (5-6). In Turkey, pneumococcal and influenza vaccinations are recommended for adults >65 years of age and adults at risk of pneumonia, including patients with chronic heart disease (7). Despite the above recommendations, a large proportion of at-risk adults, are thought to be non-immunized.

Purpose

There is little information regarding cardiovascular patients' knowledge, attitudes, and behaviors with cardiovascular disease concerning pneumococcal and influenza vaccinations. The survey was conducted to evaluate the pneumococcal and influenza vaccine coverage among cardiovascular disease patients, their knowledge, and the factors influencing pneumococcal and influenza vaccinations.

MATERIAL AND METHOD

The study was carried out with the permission of the Selçuk University Faculty of Medicine Clinical Researches Ethics Committee (Date: 12.06.2019, Decision No: 2019/142). All procedures were carried out in accordance with the ethical rules and the principles of the Declaration of Helsinki.

Corresponding Author: Kenan Erdem, erdem.kenebr@yahoo.com



The questionnaire was prepared by the researchers based on previous literature (8). The questionnaire consisted of 29 questions aiming to assess patients' sociodemographic characteristics, influenza and pneumococcal vaccine history, and their knowledge and attitudes concerning the vaccines.

Participants were consecutive 240 adult patients (120 women and 120 men) who presented to the Department of Cardiology Outpatient Clinic who previously had a diagnosis of CVD. Patients with heart failure and cardiomyopathies, atherosclerotic heart disease, heart valve diseases, cyanotic congenital heart disease, pulmonary hypertension who were recommended to be vaccinated according to the expert opinion of Turkish Society of Cardiology were included in the study (9). The patients were examined in two different groups as those with coronary artery disease (CAD) and other cardiovascular diseases (non-CAD) recommended for vaccination. Heart failure was evaluated in the non-CAD group, regardless of etiology. Patients who were unable to conduct a face-to-face questionnaire and patients who refused to participate in the study were not included in the survey. Diagnoses of CVD, coronary artery disease (CAD), chronic diseases, and vaccination history were based on the participants' statements.

Statistical Analysis

The statistical power analysis tool " G^* Power version 3.1" was used to calculate the sample size. Based on the

preliminary study results, 240 participants were needed for the study based on β =86 power, α =0.05 margin of error and d=0.25 effect size.

All data were evaluated using SPSS 21.0 statistical package program. Number, percentage (%), and mean±standard deviation was used to evaluate the data. Chi-square test was used for categorical data. Kappa test was used to compare vaccination status and post-poll vaccination opinions. A p-value of <0.05 was considered significant.

RESULTS

A total of 240 participants were included in the study. The mean age was 65.90±11.56 years (min:31 max:93). The gender ratio was equal. The mean body mass index (BMI) was 28.58±4.59 (min: 15.40 max: 46.29).

Relation between sociodemographic characteristics and the participants' knowledge and opinion on pneumonia and influenza vaccines and their immunization levels are given in detail in **Tables 1** and **2**. The education and income levels were mainly considered as low. Participants were diagnosed with CVD for a median of 7.00 years (min: 1 max:42). 165 patients (68.75%) had a diagnosis of CAD (**Figure 1**). CAD was the leading heart disease, and majority of the participants had at least one chronic disease involving another system besides cardiovascular disease.

Table 1. Relation Between Demographic, Social and Health Status, Vaccination Status and Knowledge of Participants					
All participants n=24	0	Vaccin	ated for	Knows need	for vaccination
Sex		influenza/	pneumococcus	influenza	pneumococcus
Female	n=120	25.8% (n=31)	10.8% (n=13)	30.8% (n=37)	10.0% (n=12)
Male	n=120	21.7% (n=26)	9.2% (n=11)	34.2% (n=41)	11.7% (n=14)
Education status					
Illiterate	n=13	0% (n=0)	7.7% (n=1)	0% (n=0)	0% (n=0)
Literate	n=49	24.5% (n =12)	10.2% (n=5)	30.6% (n=15)	6.1% (n=3
Primary	n=110	22.7% (n =25)	11.8% (n =13)	31.8% (n =35)	12.7% (n =14)
High School	n=45	15.6% (n=7)	8.9% (n=4)	33.3% (n=15)	11.1% (n=5)
University	n=23	56.5% (n=13)*	4.3% (n=1)	56.5% (n=13)*	17.4% (n=4)
Occupation					
Housewife	n=95	20.0% (n=19)	10.5% (n=10)	26.3% (n=25)	8.4% (n=8)
Public servant	n=15	40.0% (n=6)	6.7% (n=1)	60.0% (n=9)	20.0% (n=3)
Worker	n=9	33.3% (n=3)	11.1% (n=1)	11.1% (n=1)	0.0% (n=0)
Retired	n=81	23.5% (n=19)	8.6% (n=7)	39.5% (n=32)	14.8% (n=12)
Other	n=40	25.0% (n=10)	12.5% (n=5)	27.5% (n=11)	7.5% (n=3)
Smoking habit					
Yes	n=42	21.4% (n=9)	9.5% (n=4)	35.7% (n=15)	9.5% (n=4)
No	n=198	24.2% (n=48)	10.1% (n=20)	31.8% (n=63)	11.1% (n=22)
Alcohol consumption					
Yes	n=9	11.1% (n=1)	0.0% (n=0)	33.3% (n=3)	11.1% (n=1)
No	n =231	24.2% (n=56)	10.4% (n=24)	32.5% (n=75)	10.8% (n=25)
Chronic illness other th	nan CVD				
Yes	n=211	24.6% (n=52)	10.4% (n=22)	33.2% (n=70)	10.0% (n=21)
No	n =29	17.2% (n=5)	6.9% (n=2)	27.6% (n=8)	17.2% (n=5)
CVD: Cardiovascular Disease	e. *p<0.05 compared to ot	her education status			

Table 2. Vaccination and Knowledge Status of the Participants			
All participants N=240			
		n	%
Dib you receive an influenza vaccination last year?	Yes	57	23.8
Are you vaccinated regularly for influenza every year?	Yes	54	22.5
How many influenza vaccines have you received in your life?			
	1	33	3.8
	2	30	12.5
	3	15	6.2
	4	54	22.5
	never	108	45
Do you know that heart patients should receive an influenza vaccine?	Yes	78	32.5
Has a doctor or nurse previously suggested you should be vaccinated for influenza?	Yes	94	39.2
Did you ever receive a pneumococcal vaccine?	Yes	24	10
Do you know that heart patients should receive the pneumococcus vaccine?	Yes	26	10.8
Has a doctor or nurse previously suggested you should be vaccinated for pneumonia?	Yes	29	12.1
Have you ever been diagnosed with pneumonia?	Yes	44	18.3
Were you hospitalized for pneumonia?	Yes	28	11.7
If you were vaccinated for pneumonia, which vaccine was it?			
	Polysaccharide	5	2
	Conjugated	0	0
	I don't know	19	8
	I haven't been vaccinated	216	90
Why are you not vaccinated for influenza? (more than one answer)			
	I don't trust it	13	5.4
	I don't believe in its protection.	53	22.1
	I don't need it	35	14.6
	It is expensive	1	0.4
	I didn't know I needed it	84	35
	I received the influenza vaccine	57	23.8
	I don't trust	11	4.6
		n	%
Why are you not vaccinated for pneumonia? (more than one answer)			
	I don't believe in its protection.	11	4.6
	It is expensive	35	14.6
	I didn't know I needed it	159	66.2
	I received the pneumonia vaccine	24	10.0
Are you considering getting an influenza vaccine this year	Yes	168	70.0
Are you considering getting a pneumonia vaccine this year?	Yes	151	62.9
Have you visited your family doctor in the last year?	Yes	192	80.0
From what source did you obtain information about vaccines			
	Doctor	124	51.6
	A nurse or other healthcare worker	24	10.0
	Internet or media	23	9.6
	Friends and environment	24	10.0
	I didn't need information	45	18.8



Figure 1. Cardiovascular Disease

Vaccination rates were low in CVD patients. Only 10% of the participants had been vaccinated ever before with pneumococcal vaccine and 27.75% with influenza vaccine last year.

There was no significant difference in vaccination status and knowledge levels when patients were classified and compared in two groups according to under and over 65 years of age, gender, and with or without a family physician examination in the previous year (p>0.05). Likewise, when the patients were grouped according to their profession, income, smoking and alcohol habits, and chronic diseases, there was no significant difference in vaccination status and knowledge levels (p>0.05).

Education status was of importance for influenza vaccine $({\bf Table\,1}). The percentage of university graduates who were$ vaccinated was significantly higher than all other groups, while illiterate participants had the least percentage (p<0.05). There was no significant difference between the other three groups (p>0.05). Similarly, higher percentage of university graduates know that they should receive the influenza vaccine than other groups (p<0.05). There was no significant difference between the other three groups (p>0.05). No relation was found between education level and pneumococcal vaccination. There was no significant difference regarding the participants' education level and the percent of participants who previously received pneumococcal vaccination (p>0.05). Similarly, there was no significant difference in education level and the percentage of participants who said they knew cardiovascular disease patients should be vaccinated against pneumococcal pneumonia (p>0.05). There was no significant difference between participants with heart failure and others in influenza and pneumococcal vaccination and information levels (p>0.05).

When asked if they would get vaccinated after the survey, significant number of participants who were not immunized with influenza or pneumococcal vaccine said they would consider getting vaccinated in the following days (p<0.05) (**Table 3**).

Comparison of CAD patients with non-coronary artery (non-CAD) cardiac disease patients are presented in **Table 5**. Greater percentage of participants with CAD had received the influenza vaccine in the last year and were vaccinated for pneumococcal disease and knew they should receive influenza vaccine. Also, significantly more CAD patients were informed by their doctors or nurses that they should receive an influenza vaccine (p<0.05).

While eighty percent of participants visited their family physician regularly during the previous year only 61.6% obtained information concerning vaccination from a doctor or a nurse. During the visits higher percentage of participants were suggested by their physician or their nurse to be vaccinated for influenza (39.2%) than pneumococcus pneumonia (12.1%) (p<0.05) (**Tables 1,2**). Participants with CAD were informed more than non-CAD patients (**Table 4**).

Table 4: Comparison of coronary artery disease (CAD) patients
with non-coronary artery (non-CAD) cardiac disease patients.
p<0.05 = significant

All participants N = 240								
	CAD	Non-CAD	X2	р				
Did you receive an influenza vaccine last year?								
Yes	27.3% (n = 45)	16.0% (n = 12)	3.812	0.039				
Are you v	accinated regularly	y for influenza ever	y year?					
Yes	4.8% (n = 41)	17.3% (n = 13)	1.670	0.196				
Do you know that heart patients should receive an influenza vaccine?								
Yes	35.8% (n = 59)	25.3% (n = 19)	4.757	0.045				
Has a doc vaccinate	tor or nurse previo d?	ously suggested you	should be					
Yes	46.1% (n = 76)	24.0% (n = 18)	10.532	0.001				
Did you ever receive a pneumococcal vaccine?								
Yes	13.3% (n = 22)	2.7% (n = 2)	6.519	0.011				
Do you ki vaccine?	now that heart pat	ients should receive	the pneum	lococcus				
Yes	10.9% (n = 18)	10.7% (n = 8)	0.003	0.955				

DISCUSSION

This survey findings highlight the knowledge and immunization levels of our CVD patients about pneumococcal and influenza vaccines. Despite high rates of visits to family physicians and nurses, the survey results show low vaccine coverage in CVD patients at risk for bacterial and viral pneumonia. Patients with CAD have higher rates of vaccination against influenza and pneumococcal pneumonia compared to other CVD patients. The survey also displays a relation between the rate of influenza vaccination and the participants' education level.

CVD accounts for approximately 31% of all global mortality (10). Vaccination is a basic approach for the prevention of pneumonia and influenza. Immunization of patients with CVD (particularly congestive heart failure, ischemic heart disease, and stroke) with pneumococcal and influenza vaccine effectively reduces mortality (11). The influenza vaccine is also associated with a reduced risk of primary cardiac arrest and mortality (12). Despite the effectiveness of vaccination in reducing mortality in at-risk patients, vaccination coverage seems to be lower than desirable, even among CVD patients. One of the main reasons for the low rate of immunization in the elderly population and patients

Table 3. Comparison of Pre-Survey Vaccination Status with Post-Survey Tendency for Vaccination. p<0.05=significant							
	All participants N=240 Are you considering getting an influenza vaccine this year?						
		Yes	No				
Did your manaine an influence your aims last your?	Yes (n=57)	91.2% (n=52)	8.8% (n=5)	Kappa: 0.167			
Did you receive an innuenza vaccine last year?	No (n=183)	63.4% (n=116)	36.6% (n=67)	p<0.001			
		Are you considering getting a pneumonia vaccine?					
		Yes	No				
id you ever receive a pneumococcal vaccine?	Yes (n=24)	87.5% (n=21)	12.5% (n=3)	Kappa: 0.081			
	No (n=216)	60.2% (n=130)	39.8% (n=86)	p:0.009			

with CVD may be the low awareness of primary care physicians and nurses. According to a European survey on the pneumococcal vaccine, one of the main drivers for vaccination was healthcare professionals' recommendations. The same survey showed that only 50% of the 1300 primary care physicians were aware of invasive pneumococcal disease. The researchers concluded that to increase vaccination rates, primary care physicians should be aware of patients at risk of pneumococcal infections (13). In Turkey's healthcare system every citizen is assigned to a family physician (general practitioner) and a nurse and the cost is covered by the General Health Insurance Scheme (14). Previously Korkmaz et al. (15) examined the influenza vaccination rates of 818 individuals with chronic diseases in Turkey. Their results showed that only 12.6% of all participants and 19% of participants over the age of 65 were vaccinated annually. The most common reason for not getting vaccinated was not knowing the necessity of the vaccine. The most significant source of knowledge on vaccination was their physician. Kaya et al. (16) conducted a questionnaire on the influence of regular influenza vaccination on heart failurerelated hospitalization and mortality rates in patients registered to the Turkish Research Team-HF (TREAT-HF) network. Although the heart failure-related hospitalization rate was lower in vaccinated patients, their results failed to show a difference between vaccinated and non-vaccinated heart failure patients in terms of mortality. Although our results show a high rate (80%) of a visit from our participants to their family physician during the last year; the vaccination rate was low. The pneumococcus and influenza vaccine rates were 10% and 27.75%, respectively, in our study. In the study of Korkmaz et al. (15), which included patients with all chronic diseases, the influenza vaccination rate was 12.6% in all age groups. This rate was twice as high in our study, probably because heart diseases are considered riskier by physicians and patients. Likewise, the vaccination rate was higher in the Korkmaz et al. (15) study in patients over 65 years of age, considered at higher risk for mortality. Examining hospitalization and mortality rates in the heart failure cohort only, Kaya et al. (16) determined the influenza vaccination rate in high-risk patients as 40%. These results imply that vaccination rates increase in diseases with high mortality risk.

Vaccination rates of our patients are well below the desired level of vaccine coverage. CVD patients who are at high risk should be endorsed by their family physician, nurse, or cardiologist to be immunized. We asked the participants if they were directly advised by their family physician or their nurse to be vaccinated against pneumococcal pneumonia and influenza. Their healthcare workers did not inform approximately forty percent of the participants. The present immunization rate points out that even healthcare workers are not well informed concerning the hazards of influenza pneumonia and especially pneumococcal pneumonia in CVD patients.

Educating both the patients and healthcare workers, and setting targets for vaccination coverage rates effectively increases vaccination rates. There were significant increases in vaccination coverage in the elderly population after a single day education program for family physicians in Denizli Province, Turkey (17). Before the education program, the pneumococcal vaccination rate among patients >65 years of age was 11.6%. By the 8th month after the program, vaccination coverage reached 59.5% cumulatively (17). Likewise, a prospective observational study conducted during routine follow-up visits showed a significant relationship between patients' knowledge and vaccination rates for influenza and pneumococcal pneumonia. Vaccination rates were 6.44% for pneumonia and 22% for influenza in elderly patients receiving healthcare at home (18). Even the present survey resulted in a remarkable increase in the number of our participants who decided to get vaccinated this year after being aware of the benefits of immunization during the survey.

Similar to our results, low vaccination rates were reported worldwide. A survey conducted in Japan in 2013 reported a 20.9% overall vaccination rate in persons aged >65 (19). Reports from Japan point out that public subsidies and patients' knowledge about pneumococcal vaccines are important for the lower vaccination rate (19-20). National free routine vaccination programs are effective in increasing vaccination rates (20). According to General Health Insurance legislation in Turkey, both pneumococcal and influenza vaccines are provided free of charge to naïve persons >65 years of age and at-risk patients regardless of age by family physicians. Vaccine administration requires the attention of all physicians and public health organizations (21). Unless all physicians and healthcare workers, most notable cardiologists are aware of the impact of vaccination in reducing mortality in CVD patients, free vaccine programs will not be effective.

Because of the social burden of influenza and pneumococcal disease, implementing standing order programs to improve adult vaccination coverage for these diseases should be a national public health priority. It is of foremost importance to raise the vaccination rates amongst patients with CVD. Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP) recommends implementing standing orders programs alone or combined with other effective interventions that can help improve vaccination coverage by institutional providers (5).

CONCLUSION

Although patients with CVD are at increased risk for viral and bacterial pneumonia, our survey displays low vaccine coverage in this high-risk group of patients. Our results display significant relation between healthcare workers suggestions and vaccination rates of CVD patients. We are in the opinion that education programs for both healthcare workers and at-risk patients about adult immunization, and cheaper availability or free vaccination provision will provide higher vaccination rates. Further cohort studies are warranted to provide necessary information on vaccination rates to plan an education program to promote pneumococcal and influenza vaccination among patients with CVD.

Limitations

This study is only a cross-section from Konya Province, central Turkey; still, it demonstrates the need for better education of both the healthcare workers and at-risk patients.

ETHICAL DECLARATIONS

Ethics Committee Approval: The study was carried out with the permission of the Selçuk University Faculty of Medicine Clinical Researches Ethics Committee (Date: 12.06.2019, Decision No: 2019/142).

Informed Consent: All patients signed the free and informed consent form.

Referee Evaluation Process: Externally peer-reviewed.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The author has no conflicts of interest to declare.

Financial Disclosure: The author declared that this study has received no financial support.

Author Contributions: The author declare that they have all participated in the design, execution, and analysis of the paper, and that they have approved the final version.

REFERENCES

- 1. Corrales-Medina VF, Madjid M, Musher DM. Role of acute infection in triggering acute coronary syndromes. Lancet Infect Dis 2010; 10: 83-92.
- Nguyen JL, Yang W, Ito K, Matte TD, Shaman J, Kinney PL. Seasonal influenza infections and cardiovascular disease mortality. JAMA Cardiol 2016; 1: 274-81.
- 3. Madjid M, Miller CC, Zarubaev VV, et al. Influenza epidemics and acute respiratory disease activity are associated with a surge in autopsy-confirmed coronary heart disease death: results from 8 years of autopsies in 34,892 subjects. Eur Heart J 2007; 28: 1205-10.
- 4. Thompson WW, Shay DK, Weintraub E, et al. Influenza-associated hospitalizations in the United States. JAMA 2004; 292: 1333-40.
- Freedman MS, Hunder P, Ault K, Kroger A. Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices Recommended Immunization Schedule for Adults Aged 19 years or Older-United States 2020. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 2020; 69: 133-5.

- 6. Esposito S, Bonanni P, Maggi S, et al. Recommended immunization schedules for adults: Clinical practice guidelines by the Escmid Vaccine Study Group (EVASG), European Geriatric Medicine Society (EUGMS) and the World Association for Infectious Diseases and Immunological Disorders (WAidid). Hum Vaccin Immunother 2016; 12: 1777-94.
- Şenol E, Azap A, Erbay A, Alp-Cavus S, Karakus R, Acar A. Erişkin bağışıklamasının hedefindeki aşılardan biri olarak pnömokok aşısı: Türk Klinik Mikrobiyoloji ve İnfeksiyon Hastalıkları Derneği Erişkin Bağışıklaması Çalışma Grubu Uzlaşı Raporu. Kimlik Der 2018; 31: 2-18.
- 8. Kizmaz M, Kumtepe Kurt B, Çetin Kargin N, Döner E. Influenza, pneumococcal and herpes zoster vaccination rates among patients over 65 years of age, related factors, and their knowledge and attitudes. Aging Clin Exp Res 2020; 32: 2383-91.
- 9. Çelik A, Altay H, Azap A, et al. Vaccination of adults with heart failure and chronic heart conditions: Expert opinion. Turk Kardiyol Dern Ars 2018; 46: 723-34.
- 10.World Health Organization. https://www.who.int/health-topics/ cardiovascular-diseases/#tab=tab_1. accesse 20 Novembe 2020.
- 11.González-Romo F, Barrios V. Why should we recommend pneumococcal vaccine in patients with chronic heart diseases? Rev Esp Cardiol (Engl Ed) 2018; 71: 57-8.
- 12. Siscovick DS, Raghunathan TE, Lin D, et al. Influenza vaccination and the risk of primary cardiac arrest. Am J Epidemiol 2000; 152: 674-7.
- Lode H, Ludwig E, Kassianos G. Pneumococcal infectionlow awareness as a potential barrier to vaccination: results of a European study. Adv Ther 2013; 30: 387-405.
- 14. World Health Organization. Regional Office for Europe, European Observatory on Health Systems and Policies, Turkey: health system review. Tatar, Mehtap, Mollahaliloğlu, Salih, Sahin, Bayram. et al. (2011). World Health Organization. Regional Office for Europe. https: //apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/330325. accesse 20 Novembe 2020.
- 15. Korkmaz P, Paşali Kilit T, Onbaşi K, Mistanoglu Ozatag D, Toka O. Influenza vaccination prevalence among the elderly and individuals with chronic disease, and factors affecting vaccination uptake. Cent Eur J Public Health 2019; 27: 44-9.
- 16. Kaya H, Beton O, Acar G, et al. Influence of influenza vaccination on recurrent hospitalization in patients with heart failure. Herz 2017; 42: 307-15.
- 17. Ünal S, Tanriover MD, Tas E, Güner I, Cetin ÖY, Sayar I. Aile hekimlerine eğitim verilmesi ve aşılama hedeflerinin belirlenmesinin pnömokok aşılanma oranları üzerine etkileri. Flora 2015 20: 10-5.
- 18. Yilmaz T, Yilmaz TE, Ceyhan S, et al. Evde sağlık hizmetleri birimine kayıtlı geriatrik hastaların influenza ve pnömokok aşısı ile aşılanma durumları ve doktor önerisinin etkisi. Ankara Med J 2018; 3: 391-401.
- 19. Naito T, Yokokawa H, Watanabe A. Impact of the national routine vaccination program on 23-valent pneumococcal polysaccharide vaccine vaccination rates in elderly persons in Japan. J Infect Chemother 2018; 24: 496-8.
- 20. Naito T, Matsuda N, Tanei M, Watanabe Y, Watanabe A. Relationship between public subsidies and vaccination rates with the 23-valent pneumococcal vaccine in elderly persons, including the influence of the free vaccination campaign after the Great East Japan Earthquake. J Infect Chemother 2014; 20: 450-3.
- 21.Gross PA, Hermogenes AW, Sacks HS, Lau J, Levandowski RA. The efficacy of influenza vaccine in elderly persons. A metaanalysis and review of the literature. Ann Intern Med 1995; 123: 518-27.

HEALTH SCIENCES **MEDICINE**

The pathobiological harmony between the local pulmonary/ bone marrow RAS and its management via tissue-RAS modulating agents in COVID-19

DEce Ünal Çetin¹, DYavuz Beyazıt¹, DFatma Beyazıt², DAlpaslan Tanoğlu³, Dİbrahim Celaleddin Haznedaroğlu⁴

¹Çanakkale Onsekiz Mart University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Internal Medicine, Çanakkale, Turkey ²Çanakkale Onsekiz Mart University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Çanakkale, Turkey ³Sancaktepe Sehit Prof. Dr. İlhan Varank Training and Research Hospital, Department of Gastroenterology, İstanbul, Turkey ⁴Hacettepe University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Internal Medicine, Division of Hematology, Ankara, Turkey

Cite this article as: Ünal Çetin E, Beyazıt T, Beyazıt F, Tanoğlu A, Haznedaroğlu İC. The pathobiological harmony between the local pulmonary/ bone marrow RAS and its management via tissue-RAS modulating agents in COVID-19. J Health Sci Med 2022; 5(3): 932-937.

ABSTRACT

Coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) outbreak, caused by severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2), poses an unprecedented threat to public health and healthcare systems. It presents unusual pathophysiological effects mainly characterized by immune-inflammatory response and prothrombotic state causing acute respiratory distress syndrome and multiple organ failure. SARS-CoV-2 enters target cells after binding to the angiotensin-converting enzyme 2 (ACE2) receptor and therefore has a direct effect on the renin-angiotensin system (RAS). Apart from affecting numerous organs including lungs, heart, gastrointestinal system, spleen, brain and kidneys, the spike protein of SARS-CoV-2 could attack hematopoietic stem cells and hematopoietic progenitor cells in bone marrow (BM) microenvironment together with the precursor and mature blood cells. Within this hematopoietic viral spread context, it is crucial to search the clinicopathological correlations of COVID-19 in order to develop specific potential therapeutics against pleiotropic SARS-CoV-2 actions. Therefore, pharmacological disruption of the pathological cross-talk of local BM RAS and pulmonary RAS via administration of the tissue-RAS modulating agents such as soluble ACE2, angiotensin (1-7), TXA127 and MAS receptor agonists may prevent the clinical progression of the COVID-19 syndrome via reducing the hematopoietic virus propagation and systemic multi-organ spread.

Keywords: COVID-19, SARS-CoV-2, ACE2, renin-angiotensin system, bone marrow

INTRODUCTION

The genesis of immunoinflammatory prothrombotic COVID-19 syndrome takes place following the infection of the severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2) (1,2). COVID-19 can affect multiple organ systems, and in particular, its impact on the respiratory tract has led to an increase in morbidity and mortality worldwide (3). Systemic COVID-19 syndrome could affect numerous organs including lungs, heart, gastrointestinal (GI) system, brain, kidneys, and bone marrow (BM) with the exaggerated or disproportionate immunological activation. SARS-CoV-2 virus or its spike protein attacks on hematopoietic stem cells (HSC), hematopoietic progenitor cells (HPC), together with the precursor and mature blood cells (4-6). Within this hematopoietic viral spread context, it is crucial to search the clinicopathological correlations of COVID-19 in order to develop specific potential therapeutics against pleiotropic SARS-CoV-2 actions (2,4,7).

COVID-19 syndrome has three clinicopathological courses comprising initial, propagating and complicating phase (8). Each of these phases includes unique characteristics in relation to distinct immunogenomic mechanisms affecting critical tissue-based reninangiotensin system (RAS) genes (9). The circulating RAS is usually considered as an endocrine system, however there are also numerous local tissue RASs within many organs, such as the BM, lung, kidney, heart, pancreas, brain, liver, GI tract and muscles (10,11). Being an important component of RAS, angiotensin-converting enzyme 2 (ACE2) which is a 40 kb gene positioned on chromosome Xp22 counteracts the adverse effects



of angiotensin II. The ACE2 enzyme is found in high levels especially in lung alveolar tissue, nasopharyngeal tissue, enterocytes, vascular tissue, nervous tissue, and the kidney, nearly all points of potential viral entry for SARS-CoVID-2 (12). ACE2 transcription is enhanced during the initial phase of COVID-19. ACE2 molecule is the critical receptor of SARS-coronaviruses to enter the target cells (13). SARS-CoV-2 entry to human cells requires binding to the ACE2 receptor and utilizing a spike protein (S) for attachment. The viral S protein must be primed by transmembrane protease 2 (TMPRSS2) to facilitate interaction with ACE2 receptor and the subsequent fusion of viral and cellular membranes (14). ACE2 receptor is expressed on the surface of hematopoietic stem/ progenitor cells within the context of local BM RAS, which represents a target for the SARS-CoV-2 attack on BM hematopoiesis (5).

This review aims to demonstrate the pathobiological harmony between local pulmonary RAS and tissue hematopoietic BM RAS during the immunogenomic progression of the multi-systemic COVID-19 syndrome. Furthermore, the possible role of RAS modulating agents such as soluble ACE2, angiotensin (1-7), TXA127 and MAS receptor agonists will also be discusses as an alternative treatment alternatives against COVID-19 in order to reduce hematopoietic virus propagation and systemic spread.

Local Pulmonary RAS and COVID-19

Local tissue-based RAS significantly impacts on the injury/repair response within distinct organ/tissue systems. In this context, local pulmonary RAS is an already established regulator of the lung epithelial and endothelial cells (15,16). Through a combination of the circulating and tissue homeostatic systems, the local tissue RAS affects cellular biological events in the lungs. Local RAS activation within the pulmonary circulation and lung parenchyma could influence the pathogenesis of the lung injury via numerous mechanisms including a substantial increase in vascular permeability, vascular tonus and fibroblast activity, and by decreasing alveolar epithelial cell survival (15). Pulmonary ACE2 plays a pivotal role in protecting the lung from Ang II-AT1R induced inflammation because not only is there a local pulmonary RAS but the lung is also the major site for conversion of inactive Ang I to Ang II (17,18). Therefore, loss of the ACE2, following the binding of SARS-CoV-2, not only exposes the lung tissue epithelium to locally produced Ang II as well as to Ang II produced in the lung from circulating Ang I.

SARS-CoV which is very similar to SARS-CoV-2, and ACE2 interactions have been extensively studied in lung microenvironment (13,19-21). The first genetic proof

whether ACE2 is indeed crucial for SARS-CoV infections in vivo was investigated by Kuba et al (13). It has been reported that SARS-CoV infections lead to the ACE2 down-regulation by the binding of the SARS-CoV spike protein to ACE2. Thus, the SARS-CoV family, including SARS-CoV-2, utilizes ACE2 as a critical receptor to enter target host cells. This loss of ACE2 expression resulted in severe acute respiratory failure. Recently in a study by Turk et al. (9) the whole-genome expression data of the lung epithelial cells infected with SARS-CoV for 12, 24, and 48 hours were analyzed, and a total of 15 RAS family and 29 immune genes were found to be highly associated with the exposure time to the virus in the studied groups. This finding strongly suggests the crucial role of the RAS genes on the initiation of the infections caused by coronavirus family members in the lung ecosystem.

Local Bone Marrow RAS, Hematopoietic Stem/ Progenitor Cells and COVID-19

Despite the obvious fact that the local pulmonary RAS is a major victim of the SARS-CoV-2 related immune dysregulation and cytokine release via ACE2, there is scarce evidence depicting the role of BM RAS in the progression of SARS-CoV-2 infection. Locally active RAS in the BM that affects the growth, production, proliferation, and differentiation of hematopoietic cells. The interactions of hematopoietic RAS with other tissue RASs are evident (10,11,22,23). All of the major RAS molecules including renin, angiotensinogen, angiotensin receptors and ACE are located within the BM microenvironment. Being the entry receptor for SARS-CoV-2, ACE2 expression has also been described in several types of cells including hematopoietic stem cells (HSCs) and endothelial progenitor cells (EPCs). In a recent study by Ratajczak et al (14), ACE2 and the entry-facilitating transmembrane protease TMPRSS2 are reported to be expressed on very small CD133+CD34+Lin-CD45- cells in human umbilical cord blood, which can be specified into functional HSCs and EPCs. Moreover, the authors demonstrated that in human small embryonic-like stem cells (VSELs) and HSCs, the interaction of the ACE2 receptor with the SARS-CoV-2 spike protein activates the Nlrp3 inflammasome, which if hyper-activated may cause to cell death by pyroptosis. Therefore, human VSELs residing in adult tissues could be damaged by SARS-CoV-2, with remote effects on tissue/organ regeneration.

Recently, Kucia and coworkers demonstrated that ACE2 receptor is expressed on the surface of Hematopoietic Stem/Progenitor Cells, for SARS-CoV-2 viral entry (5). In their experiments; CD34+CD133+lin-CD45-, CD34+Lin-CD45+ HSCs and CD34+ CD133+ KDR+ CD31+ EPC cells were phenotyped for the expression of ACE2 and the SARS-CoV-2 entry-facilitating transmembrane protease TMPRSS2 at the mRNA level and by FACS at the protein level. They exposed those cells to the NCP-CoV (2019-nCoV) spike protein. The authors disclosed that the ACE2 receptor and SARS-CoV-2 entry-facilitating transmembrane protease TMPRSS2 are expressed by all types of hematopoietic stem cells (5).

Likewise, Ropa et al. also explored the expression of ACE2 in primitive and mature blood cells using RTqPCR as well as western blotting that ACE2 is expressed at both the mRNA and protein levels. Moreover, they established that the SARS-CoV-2 spike protein could induce critical cellular alterations in the primitive and mature hematopoietic cells (6). They also observed ACE2 expression on the cell surface of small subpopulations of mature blood immune cells, including 1-2% of T-cells, 2-4% of B-cells, and <1% of NK cells and monocytes. In their study, ACE2 receptor was found to be expressed in 15-60% of the HSCs, 5-50% of the multipotent progenitor cells and 5-15% multipotent lymphoid progenitor cells. The exposure to viral S protein critically affected those cell populations. CD34+ hematopoietic stem cells exhibited 33% less expansion, granulocyte-monocyte progenitors 38% less expansion, and common myeloid progenitors/megakaryocyte-erythroid progenitors 15-30% significantly less expansion when exposed to the SARS-CoV-2 S protein. Thus, SARS-CoV-2 S protein significantly impacts hematopoiesis and myeloid differentiation based on their findings (6).

The data on the implications regarding the viral attack on hematopoiesis and immune response in COVID-19 syndrome are accumulating. Ihlow and colleagues suggested that severe lymphocyte depletion and overactivation of the adaptive immune system commonly observed during the COVID-19 progression are caused by the substantial loss of B-cells associated with viral SARS-CoV-2 burden (24). The authors demonstrated BM hypercellularity with increased myeloid/erythroid ratio, and left shift of erythropoiesis with leukoerythroblastic anemia blood picture. Prothrombotic state is associated with left shift of BM megakaryopoiesis. Their striking finding is that CD20+ B-cell and plasma cell depletion in both BM and spleen of the patients with COVID-19 associated with severe lymphocytopenia. Interestingly, there was a tendency towards higher pulmonary SARS-CoV-2 RNA load in COVID-19 patients with B-cell depletion in their study (24). In accordance with these findings, a recent dual center study from Deutsche COVID-19 OMICS initiative demonstrated elevation of HLA-DRhiCD11chi inflammatory monocytes with an interferon-stimulated gene signature in mild COVID-19, and dysfunctional mature neutrophils, HLA-DRlo monocytes and occurrence of neutrophil precursors as evidence of emergency myelopoiesis in severe COVID-19 patients (25). Thus, severe COVID-19 infection is

associated with profound alterations in the myeloid cell compartment providing a detailed insight into the systemic immune response to SARS-CoV-2 infection.

All of those preliminary data cast further focus on the interactions of pulmonary RAS and hematopoietic BM RAS for the proper description of the COVID-19 pathogenesis and clinical management in the bedside. SARS-CoV-2 entry and damage to human cells expressing ACE2 receptor is a key factor in determining the tropism and influencing the severity of infection. Therefore, following the respiratory tract illness by regulating molecular pathways associated with ACE2 receptor in the lungs, the virus might affect local BM RAS, as well. Subsequently, BM hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells can trigger the spreading of the virus to different circulating and local angiotensin systems including local adipose tissue RAS, local cardiac RAS, local pancreatic RAS and local renal RAS. That pathobiologic sequence could further enhance to a multi-systemic immune dysfunction.

The Intimate Relationship Between Local Pulmonary RAS and Bone Marrow RAS

While the BM is the major site of hematopoiesis in the adult, spleen and liver also has important hematopoietic functions in some part of life. Although all of these systems are well known in respect to their roles in hematopoiesis, accumulating evidence suggests that lung is also a primary site for platelet biogenesis and reservoir for resident megakaryocytes (MK) and HPCs (26,27). Lefrançais et al. (27) demonstrated that the lung contains an array of hematopoietic progenitors including short term-HSCs, multipotent progenitors (MPP)2, MPP3/4, and myeloerythroid progenitor populations, which were morphologically indistinguishable from BM primitive HPCs. These cells were found to exist at lower numbers versus the BM and spleen, except for larger short term-HSCs in the lung versus spleen. In accordance with these findings, studies also showed that thrombopoietin (Tpo) stimulation can cause platelet release in the pulmonary vasculature (28). Haznedaroglu et al. (29) explored local Tpo concentrations inside the pulmonary artery and associated vessels in patients with and without pulmonary hypertension (PHT). Tpo concentration inside the pulmonary artery was found to be significantly higher than the Tpo concentrations in the right and left ventricles in patients with PHT. Authors suggested that lung vasculature holding the major regulatory thrombopoietic hormone, Tpo, may be an important place for megakaryocytopoiesis. Based on those data it is reasonable to suggest that BM and lung tissue work in a harmony in hematopoiesis under the direct control of tissue RASs. Meanwhile, pulmonary inflammation is the key event in the lung damage of COVID-19

(30). Localized inflammation in the SARS-CoV-2+ patients can cause decrements in the anticoagulant pathways. Likewise, the inflammatory process leads to the stimulation of endothelial cells expressing tissue factor, secreting molecules. Those pathobiological prothrombotic events are driven by the monocytes, platelets, neutrophils, platelet-leukocyte aggregates, all of which are of hematopoietic BM origin.

Preventing immunogenomic progression of COVID-19 syndrome by disrupting pathobiological harmony between local pulmonary RAS and bone marrow RAS with RAS modulating agents

ACE2 catalyses the hydrolysis of angiotensin II to its metabolite, angiotensin 1-7 and angiotensin I to angiotensin 1-9 to protect tissues from several types of injuries (31). It is highly expressed in several human organs and tissues at varying degrees, including lungs (on the surface of type II alveolar epithelial cells), BM, heart (on myocardial cells, coronary vascular endothelial cells, and vascular smooth muscle), kidney (on proximal tubule cells), and small intestine (on the enterocytes) (10,32). Therefore, in addition to efforts to synthesize direct viral inhibitors of replication, using RAS modulating agents for preventing immunogenomic progression of COVID-19 syndrome may be a reasonable option for blocking ACE2 which is the cellular target of SARS-CoV-2 (12). In this context, RAS modulating drugs including soluble ACE2, angiotensin (1-7), TXA127 and MAS receptor agonists might be useful by not only blocking the entry of SARS-CoV-2 into the human cells, as well as by blocking the spreading of the virus from local pulmonary RAS to other local tissue RAS systems including BM.

Soluble ACE2 is a novel compound under development with two actions of mechanisms against SARS-CoV-2. The first mechanism is its capability to bind to viral spike protein and thereby neutralising SARS-CoV-2, and the second action of mechanism is minimising injury to multiple organs, including the lungs, kidneys, and heart, because of unabated RAS hyperactivation and increased angiotensin II concentrations (33,34). Inhibition of SARS-CoV-2 infections in engineered human tissues using soluble ACE2 was first demonstrated by Monteil et al. (35) in which authors showed that soluble ACE2 can significantly block early stages of SARS-CoV-2 infections and clinicalgrade recombinant human ACE2 can reduce SARS-CoV-2 infection in cells and in multiple human organoid models. Apart from this experimental study, the safety and efficiency of soluble ACE2 was also provided in a patient with severe COVID-19. In this case report, intravenous delivery of soluble ACE2 demonstrated a significant effect on blocking the systemic spread of the virus from the lung to other organs (34). Angiotensin-(1-7) is another key component of the RAS, which can counter-regulate several deleterious effects caused by angiotensin II. Intravenous infusion of angiotensin 1-7 theoretically activate RAS axis to prevent a further drop in blood pressure and the ACE level will increase and the ACE2 level will decrease owing to the accumulation of angiotensin 1-7 (36,37). This means that providing high levels of angiotensin 1-7 and ACE while reducing inflammatory bradykinin will be protective against ACE2, the entry site of the virus into the host cells (38). The clinical potential of this peptide as a therapeutic agent to treat several pathologies including tumoral conditions by inhibiting the growth of tumor cells and reducing local inflammation and angiogenesis is successfully demonstrated (39,40). Thus, there are also ongoing clinical studies available investigating the safety, efficacy and clinical impact of the infusion of angiotensin-(1-7) in COVID-19 patients with or without respiratory failure requiring mechanical ventilation (www.clinicaltrials.gov; NCT04332666, NCT04401423, NCT04375124). Apart from angiotensin-(1-7), the identification of Mas as a G protein-coupled receptor for Ang-(1-7) undoubtedly contributed to establish Ang-(1-7) as a biologically active component of the RAS (41). Experimental and clinical evidences supported the idea that Mas receptor activation is an important mechanism to fight the deleterious effects triggered by an inappropriate increase in Ang II/AT1 receptor in different diseases as demonstrated by Santos et al. (42). Moreover, the activation of the Mas receptor with Mas analogs can be important additive measures to control the inflammatory response mediated by SARS-CoV-2 (43,44).

CONCLUSION

There is a body of evidence now that demonstrates the critical role of local tissue RAS systems in COVID-19 pathophysiology. Tissue-based RAS genes are important at the initiation of the infections caused by coronavirus family members and may have a strong relationship with the exchange of immune genes in due course following the infection (9). Thus, the spread of the disease to other parts of the body through RAS activation seems to be responsible for the progression of the disease from respiratory viral illness (SARS-CoV-2) to a multisystemic immunoinflammatory pro-thrombotic syndrome. Therefore, it is crucial to acquire a greater knowledge on the biological role of the tissue RASs within different organs and in distinct physiological pathways since the RAS components have the ability of widespread tissue involvement in COVID-19. Among them, the pathobiological interactions of the local pulmonary RAS and tissue-based hematopoietic BM microenvironment RAS together with their pharmacological manipulation seems to be the rational fields for future experimental and clinical research studies.

ETHICAL DECLARATIONS

Referee Evaluation Process: Externally peer-reviewed.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

Author Contributions: All of the authors declare that they have all participated in the design, execution, and analysis of the paper, and that they have approved the final version.

REFERENCES

- 1. Mutlu P, Mirici A, Gönlügür U, et al. Evaluating the clinical, radiological, microbiological, biochemical parameters and the treatment response in COVID-19 pneumonia. J Health Sci Med 2022; 5: 544-51.
- Haznedaroglu IC. Immunogenomic phases of COVID-19 and appropriate clinical management. Lancet Microbe 2020; 1: e278.
- Güneysu F, Durmuş E. Pre-hospital antithrombotic drug use status of died COVID-19 patients. J Health Sci Med 2021; 4: 564-8.
- 4. Ciftciler R, Ciftciler AE, Haznedaroglu IC. Local bone marrow renin-angiotensin system and COVID-19. Int J Hematol Oncol 2020; 30: 113-20.
- Kucia M, Bujko K, Ciechanowicz A, et al. The ACE2 receptor for COVID-19 entry is expressed on the surface of hematopoietic stem/progenitor cells and endothelial progenitors as well as their precursor cells and becomes activated in Nlrp3 inflammasomedependent manner by virus spike protein - a potential pathway leading to a "Cytokine Storm".Blood 2020; 136: 8.
- Ropa J, Cooper S, Capitano ML, Broxmeyer HE. SARS-CoV-2 spike protein induces cellular changes in primitive and mature hematopoietic cells. Blood 2020; 136: 25–6.
- 7. Çiftçiler R, Haznedaroğlu İC. COVID-19, renin-angiotensin system, and hematopoiesis. Turk J Haematol 2020; 37: 207-8.
- 8. Turk C, Turk S, Malkan UY, Haznedaroglu IC. Three critical clinicobiological phases of the human SARS-associated coronavirus infections. Eur Rev Med Pharmacol Sci 2020; 24: 8606-20.
- 9. Turk C, Turk S, Temirci ES, Malkan UY, Haznedaroglu İC. In vitro analysis of the renin-angiotensin system and inflammatory gene transcripts in human bronchial epithelial cells after infection with severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus. J Renin Angiotensin Aldosterone Syst 2020; 21: 1470320320928872.
- 10. Haznedaroglu IC, Beyazit Y. Local bone marrow renin-angiotensin system in primitive, definitive and neoplastic haematopoiesis. Clin Sci (Lond) 2013; 124: 307-23.
- 11.Haznedaroglu IC, Beyazit Y. Pathobiological aspects of the local bone marrow renin-angiotensin system: a review. J Renin Angiotensin Aldosterone Syst 2010; 11: 205-13.
- 12.Saponaro F, Rutigliano G, Sestito S, et al. ACE2 in the Era of SARS-CoV-2: controversies and novel perspectives. Front Mol Biosci 2020; 7: 588618.
- 13.Kuba K, Imai Y, Rao S, et al. A crucial role of angiotensin converting enzyme 2 (ACE2) in SARS coronavirus-induced lung injury. Nat Med 2005; 11: 875-9.
- 14.Ratajczak MZ, Bujko K, Ciechanowicz A, et al. SARS-CoV-2 entry receptor ACE2 is expressed on very small CD45- precursors of hematopoietic and endothelial cells and in response to virus spike protein activates the Nlrp3 inflammasome. Stem Cell Rev Rep 2021: 17: 266-77.

- 15. Marshall RP. The pulmonary renin-angiotensin system. Curr Pharm Des 2003; 9: 715-22.
- 16. Goyal R, Leitzke A, Goyal D, Gheorghe CP, Longo LD. Antenatal maternal hypoxic stress: adaptations in fetal lung Renin-Angiotensin system. Reprod Sci 2011; 18: 180-9.
- 17.Wang D, Chai XQ, Magnussen CG, et al. Renin-angiotensinsystem, a potential pharmacological candidate, in acute respiratory distress syndrome during mechanical ventilation. Pulm Pharmacol Ther 2019; 58: 101833.
- 18.Lumbers ER, Delforce SJ, Pringle KG, Smith GR. The lung, the heart, the novel coronavirus, and the renin-angiotensin system; the need for clinical trials. Front Med (Lausanne) 2020; 7: 248.
- 19. Yoshikawa T, Hill TE, Yoshikawa N, et al. Dynamic innate immune responses of human bronchial epithelial cells to severe acute respiratory syndrome-associated coronavirus infection. PLoS One 2010; 5: e8729.
- 20.Wu Y. Compensation of ACE2 function for possible clinical management of 2019-nCoV-induced acute lung injury. Virol Sin 2020; 35: 256-58.
- 21. Pucci F, Bogaerts P, Rooman M. Modeling the molecular impact of SARS-CoV-2 infection on the renin-angiotensin system. Viruses 2020; 12: E1367.
- 22. Beyazit Y, Purnak T, Guven GS, Haznedaroglu IC. Local bone marrow Renin-Angiotensin system and atherosclerosis. Cardiol Res Pract 2010; 2011: 714515.
- 23. Ciftciler R, Haznedaroglu IC. Pathobiological interactions of local bone marrow renin-angiotensin system and central nervous system in systemic arterial hypertension. Front Endocrinol (Lausanne) 2020; 11: 425.
- 24. Ihlow J, von-Bruenneck A-C, Michaelis EG, et al. COVID-19: B-cell depletion and sepsis related changes in bone marrow and spleen. Blood 2020; 136: 46.
- 25. Schulte-Schrepping J, Reusch N, Paclik D, et al. Severe COVID-19 is marked by a dysregulated myeloid cell compartment. Cell 2020; 182: 1419-1440.e23.
- 26.Borges I, Sena I, Azevedo P, et al. Lung as a niche for hematopoietic progenitors. Stem Cell Rev Rep 2017; 13: 567-74.
- 27.Lefrançais E, Ortiz-Muñoz G, Caudrillier A, et al. The lung is a site of platelet biogenesis and a reservoir for haematopoietic progenitors. Nature 2017; 544: 105-9.
- 28. Zou Z, Fan X, Liu Y, et al. Endogenous thrombopoietin promotes non-small-cell lung carcinoma cell proliferation and migration by regulating EGFR signalling. J Cell Mol Med 2020; 24: 6644-57.
- 29. Haznedaroğlu IC, Atalar E, Oztürk MA, et al. Thrombopoietin inside the pulmonary vessels in patients with and without pulmonary hypertension. Platelets 2002; 13: 395-9.
- 30.Sim MM, Banerjee M, Hollifield M, et al. Inflammation drives coagulopathies in SARS-CoV-2 Patients. Blood 2020; 136: 34-5.
- 31. Vickers C, Hales P, Kaushik V, et al. Hydrolysis of biological peptides by human angiotensin-converting enzyme-related carboxypeptidase. J Biol Chem 2002; 277: 14838-43.
- 32. Abd El-Aziz TM, Al-Sabi A, Stockand JD. Human recombinant soluble ACE2 (hrsACE2) shows promise for treating severe COVID-19. Signal Transduct Target Ther 2020; 5: 258.
- 33. Steckelings UM, Sumners C. Correcting the imbalanced protective RAS in COVID-19 with angiotensin AT2-receptor agonists. Clin Sci (Lond) 2020; 134: 2987-3006.
- 34.Zoufaly A, Poglitsch M, Aberle JH, et al. Human recombinant soluble ACE2 in severe COVID-19. Lancet Respir Med 2020; 8: 1154-8.
- 35. Monteil V, Kwon H, Prado P, et al. Inhibition of SARS-CoV-2 infections in engineered human tissues using clinical-grade soluble human ACE2. Cell 2020; 181: 905-913.e7.
- 36. Yamamoto K, Takeshita H, Rakugi H. ACE2, angiotensin 1-7 and skeletal muscle: review in the era of COVID-19. Clin Sci (Lond) 2020; 134: 3047-62.

- 37.Rossi GP, Sanga V, Barton M. Potential harmful effects of discontinuing ACE-inhibitors and ARBs in COVID-19 patients. Elife 2020; 9: e57278.
- 38.Imanpour H, Rezaee H, Nouri-Vaskeh M. Angiotensin 1-7: a novel strategy in COVID-19 treatment. Adv Pharm Bull 2020; 10: 488-9.
- 39.de Paula Gonzaga ALAC, Palmeira VA, Ribeiro TFS, et al. ACE2/ angiotensin-(1-7)/mas receptor axis in human cancer: potential role for pediatric tumors. Curr Drug Targets 2020; 21: 892-901.
- 40.Machado-Silva A, Passos-Silva D, Santos RA, Sinisterra RD. Therapeutic uses for Angiotensin-(1-7). Expert Opin Ther Pat 2016; 26: 669-78.
- 41.Savergnini SQ, Fraga-Silva RA, Ferreira AJ, dos Santos AS. Mas receptor agonists as novel antihypertensive agents. Curr Hypertens Rev 2012; 8: 24-34.
- 42.Santos RAS, Sampaio WO, Alzamora AC, et al. The ACE2/ Angiotensin-(1-7)/MAS axis of the renin-angiotensin system: focus on angiotensin-(1-7). Physiol Rev 2018; 98: 505-53.
- 43.Shete A. Urgent need for evaluating agonists of angiotensin-(1-7)/ Mas receptor axis for treating patients with COVID-19. Int J Infect Dis 2020; 96: 348-51.
- 44.Magalhaes GS, Rodrigues-Machado MDG, Motta-Santos D, Campagnole-Santos MJ, Santos RAS. Activation of ang-(1-7)/mas receptor is a possible strategy to treat coronavirus (SARS-CoV-2) Infection. Front Physiol 2020; 11: 730.

HEALTH SCIENCES **MEDICINE**

PUBLICATION RULES, PUBLICATION POLICY, GENERAL PRINCIPLES AND SUBMISSION RULES

AUTHOR GUIDELINES

Journal of Health Sciences and Medicine (JHSM) is a refereed, open access and periodical publication. The articles published according to the journal's writing rules are accepted through the **DergiPark** system. All numbers are available at our https://dergipark.org.tr/en/pub/jhsm/archive web address and **Dergipark** web page for free. Our purpose is to provide high-quality scientific articles for diseases'diagnosis and treatment having appropriate innovations internationally. It is a scientific medical journal published six times (**January, March, May, July, September, November**) a year. The articles coming as a refereed journal are primarily evaluated in terms of common rules conformity with the standard requirements defined by the **Committee of International Medical Journal Editors** (www.icmje.org) in biomedical articles. You can access all of the articles published in our journal electronically, read and download from our web site (https://dergipark.org.tr/en/pub/jhsm). Our goal is to make sure that your colleagues send the decision and publishing process of publications that we send to you in the shortest possible time. We would like to emphasize that we are always open to suggestions and constructive criticisms to raise the quality of our publication, and that we will show the necessary sensitivity to the statements in this regard. The **English** name of the journal will be used in the article operating system and citations.

Journal of Health Sciences and Medicine (JHSM) It is a scientific, internationally refereed journal that publishes retrospective/prospective clinical and laboratory studies, interesting case presentations, invited collections, editorial letters, original images, short reports and surgical technical articles about every branch of medicine. The language of the journal is **English**. Articles are accepted in English. Sent for evaluation to be published or published articles in another journal or not written in accordance with the journal's rules are not accepted for evaluation. The editor, co-editor and publisher do not take any responsibility for the articles published in the journal.You can access all of the articles published in our journal electronically, read and download from our web site: https://dergipark.org.tr/en/pub/jhsm.

JOURNAL NAME

Journal of Health Sciences and Medicine

ABBREVIATION OF JOURNAL NAME

J Heatlh Sci Med/JHSM

CORRESPONDENCE ADDRESS

Manuscripts should be sent by e-mail by the responsible author, after registering with **DergiPark**, by going to https://dergipark.org.tr/en/journal/2316/submission/step/manuscript/new.

ARTICLE GENERAL WRITING RULES

All scientific responsibility of the manuscripts belongs to the author (s). The editor, co-editor and publisher do not accept any responsibility for the articles published in the journal.

EDITORIAL PRE-CONTROL EVALUATION

Manuscripts sent to the **Journal of Health Sciences and Medicine (JHSM)** are evaluated in terms of format and plagiarism. Manuscripts that do not conform to the format are sent back to the author responsible for evaluation. Spelling rules should be reviewed to avoid such a waste of time. All manuscripts submitted for publication are evaluated by two or more domestic/foreign referees. The evaluation of the articles is made considering the scientific importance and originality. Manuscripts that are accepted for publication can be rearranged by the editorial board without informing the authors. After the article is submitted to the journal or accepted for publication, the order of names cannot be changed, author name cannot be added or removed.

SCIENTIFIC AND ETHICAL RESPONSIBILITY

The editorial and the publication processes of **Journal of Health Sciences and Medicine (JHSM)** are shaped in accordance with the guidelines of the World Association of Medical Editors (**WAME**), the Committee on Publication Ethics (**COPE**), the International Council of Medical Journal Editors (**ICMJE**), the Council of Science Editors (**CSE**), the European Association of Science Editors (**EASE**) and National Information Standards Organization (**NISO**). The journal conforms to the Principles of Transparency and Best Practice in Scholarly Publishing (doaj.org/bestpractice).

The protocol for clinical research articles must be approved by the **Ethics Committee**. In all studies conducted on humans, the "Material and Method" section was approved by the relevant committee or the **Helsinki Declaration of Principles** (https://www.wma.net/what-we-do/medical-ethics/declaration-of-helsinki/). It should be stated in the text that all persons included in the study signed the Informed Consent Form. The articles submitted to the **Journal of Health Sciences and Medicine (JHSM)** will be deemed to have been conducted in accordance with the **Helsinki Declaration of Principles**, and have received ethical and legal permissions and will not be held responsible. If "Animal" was used in the study, the authors stated in the Materials and Methods section of the article that they protect animal rights in accordance with the principles of the **Guide for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals** (www.nap.edu/catalog/5140.html), and that they have received approval from the ethics committees of their institutions. it is difficult. In case reports Informed Consent an should be obtained from patients regardless of the identity of the patient. If the **Ethics Committee Approval** is required in the article; the received document should be sent with the article. The article should be passed by the authors for **academic plagiarism prevention program**. It is the authors'responsibility to ensure that the article complies with the ethical rules.

All manuscript submissions should be scanned for plagiarism research and then uploaded to the journal system. In the event of alleged or suspected research misconduct, e.g., plagiarism, citation manipulation, and data falsification/ fabrication, the Editorial Board will follow and act in accordance with the COPE guidelines. See **Guidance from the Committee on Publication Ethics** (COPE).

Each individual listed as an author should fulfill the authorship criteria recommended by the International Committee of Medical Journal Editors (ICMJE- www.icmje.org). The ICMJE recommends that authorship should be based on the following 4 criteria: (1) Substantial contributions to the conception or design of the work; or the acquisition, analysis, or interpretation of data for the work; (2) Drafting the work or revising it critically for important intellectual content; (3) Final approval of the version to be published; (4) Agreement to be accountable of all aspects of the work in ensuring that questions related to the accuracy or the integrity of any part of the work are appropriately investigated and resolved.

In addition to being accountable for the parts of the work he/she had done, an author should be able to identify which co-authors are responsible for the specific other parts of the work. In addition, authors should have confidence in the integrity of the contributions of their co-authors.

All those designated as authors should meet all of the four criteria for authorship, and all who meet the four criteria should be identified as authors. Those who do not meet all four criteria should be acknowledged and thanked on the title page of the article. If the editorial board suspects that someone who does not meet the authorship requirements has been added as a writer, the article will be rejected without further investigation.

Journal of Health Sciences and Medicine (JHSM) requires and encourages the authors and the individuals who involved in the evaluation process of submitted manuscripts to disclose any existing or potential conflicts of interests, including financial, consultant, and institutional, that might lead to the potential bias or a conflict of interest. Any financial grants or other supports received for the submitted study from individuals or institutions should be disclosed to the Editorial Board. To disclose a potential conflict of interest, the ICMJE Potential Conflict of Interest Disclosure Form should be filled in and submitted by all of the contributing authors. Cases of the potential conflict of interest of the editors, authors, or reviewers are being resolved by the journal's Editorial Board within the scope of COPE and ICMJE guidelines. The Editorial Board of the journal handles all of the appeal and complaint cases within the scope of COPE guidelines. In such cases, authors should get in direct contact with the editorial office to regard their appeals and complaints. When needed, an ombudsperson may be assigned to resolve cases that cannot be resolved internally. The Editor in Chief is the final authority in the decision-making process for all of the appeals and complaints. When submitting a manuscript to the Journal of Health Sciences and Medicine (JHSM), authors should accept to assign the copyright of their manuscript to the Journal of Health Sciences and Medicine (JHSM). If authors rejected for publication, the copyright of the manuscript will be assigned back to the authors. When using previously published content including figures, tables, or any other material in both of the print and electronic formats, authors must obtain permission from the copyright holder. Legal, financial and criminal liabilities in this regard belong to the author(s). Statements or opinions expressed in the manuscripts published in the Journal of Health Sciences and Medicine (JHSM) reflect the views of the author(s) and not the opinions of the editors, the editorial board, or the publisher; the editors, the editorial board, and the publisher disclaim any responsibility or liability for such materials. The final responsibility in regard to the published content rests with the authors.

ARTICLE IS NOT PUBLISHED ELSEWHERE

Each author should indicate to the editor on the presentation page that part or all of the manuscript is not published elsewhere and is not in the process of being evaluated in another journal at the same time. Oral or poster presentations presented at congresses should be indicated on the title page with the name of the congress, place and date. All responsibility for the articles published in the journal (ethics, scientific, legal, etc.) belongs to the authors.

COPYRIGHT TRANSFER FORM

Copyright Transfer Form (https://dergipark.org.tr/en/journal/2316/file/3808/download) can be obtained from the link. In the native language of the manuscript should be filled in must be sent on-line when loading. According to the 1976 Copyright Act, all kinds of publication rights of articles accepted for publication belong to the publisher.

WRITING LANGUAGE CONTROL

The publication language of the journal is **English**. English articles and Abstract should be checked by a professional linguist before being submitted. The spelling and grammatical errors in the manuscript are corrected by our English language consultant and editorial committee.

STATISTICS EVALUATION

All prospective, experimental and retrospective research articles should be evaluated in terms of statistics (if required by the statistical expert) and indicated by appropriate planning, analysis and reporting.

ACCEPTANCE OF PUBLISHING

After the approval of the editors and referees, the publication date of the article is taken into consideration. A Doi number is obtained for each post.

ARTICLE WRITING RULES

Manuscripts are double-spaced with Microsoft Word, and titles (Abstract, Introduction, Material and Method, Results, Discussion, References, etc.) are written in 12 pt. 2.5 cm space should be written at the top and bottom. The writing style should be Times New Roman. "System International" (SI) units should be used. Figures, tables and graphs should be referenced in the text. Abbreviations should be given in parentheses where the word first appears. Review articles and research articles should not exceed 4000 words, case reports 2000 words, letters to the editor should not exceed 500 words (This limits to all article types are excluding Abstract and References section). Pages should be numbered from the abstract page.

SECTIONS OF MANUSCRIPT

1. Presentation to the Editor

This is the article that the author of the article sends to the editor of the journal. In this section, it should be noted that part or all of the article is not published elsewhere and is not in the process of being evaluated in another journal at the same time, "**Material Support and Interest Relationship**" status, language and statistical checks are made.

2. Title Page

The category of the article submitted at the beginning of the page should be indicated (clinical analysis, research article, experimental study, case report, review, etc.). The names and surnames of all authors should be numbered after the superscript and numbered from 1, and they should be added under the names of the institutions, clinics, cities and countries. On the title page, each author's **Orcid ID** should be his/her e-mail address. This page should include the Authorized Author (s), name, full address, telephone and **e-mail** (address information should be indicated in English. Oral or Poster presentations presented at congresses should be indicated on the title page by giving the name, place and date of the congress.

3. Article File

There should be no names of authors and institutions, only this information should be on the title page.

Title: There should be a short and clear title. It should not contain abbreviations.

Abstract: English abstracts should be written. In research articles; It should be divided into sections of Aim, Material and Method, Results, Conclusion and should not exceed 400 words. In the review, case reports and the like.

Keywords: A minimum of 3 and a maximum of 6 keywords should be written. Words should be separated by semicolons. Keywords should be submitted in accordance with Subject **Medical Subject Headings (MESH)** (www.nlm.nih.gov/mesh/MBrowser.html).

Figures, Photographs, Tables and Graphics: It should be indicated at the end of the sentence where it is mentioned in the text, should not be placed in the text, and should be added to the end of the text after the references. Abbreviations used should be indicated in the description below. If previously printed figures, pictures, tables and graphics are used, written permission must be obtained and this permission should be stated in the description of figures, pictures, tables and graphics. The article should be passed by the authors for academic plagiarism prevention program. The picture/photo should be in jpeg and at least 300 dpi resolution.

Text Sections: The text samples to be sent for publication are as follows.

<u>Editorial Comment/Discussion</u>: It is the evaluation of the original research articles published by the expert other than the authors. It is published before the articles in the journal.

<u>Research Article:</u> Prospective-retrospective and all kinds of experimental studies can be published. Introduction, Materials and Methods, Results, Discussion, Conclusion. Abstract (approximately 400 words; aim, material and method, results and conclusion sections), Introduction, Material and Method, Results, Discussion, Conclusion, Acknowledgments, References.

<u>Review:</u> Can be prepared by invited authors or directly. It can be prepared to include the latest medical literature for any subject that has medical characteristics. Abstract (about 300 words, unpartitioned), titles, references.

<u>Case Report:</u> These are rare or different articles in diagnosis and treatment. It should be supported with sufficient number of photographs and diagrams. Abstract (about 250 words; no section), Introduction, Case report, Discussion, Conclusions.

<u>Letter to the Editor</u>: The articles that are published in the journal within the last year include a maximum of 500 words containing various opinions, experiences and questions of the readers. There are no Title and Abstract sections. The number of references is limited to 5 (Max: 10). It should be indicated which article (number, date) is dedicated and at the end there should be the name, institution and address of the author. The answer to the letter is given by the editor or the author (s) of the article and published in the journal.

<u>Education</u>: Scientific articles supported by the latest clinical and laboratory applications that send messages to readers on current issues within the scope of the journal. Abstract (about 200-250 words; no section), related titles, references.

<u>Book Evaluations</u>: Evaluations of national or internationally accepted books of current value within the scope of the journal.

WHAT SHOULD BE INDICATED BEFORE THE RESOURCES

ETHICAL CONSIDERATIONS

Ethics Committee Approval: The study was carried out with the permission of Ethics Committee of (Date:, Decision no:).

Informed Consent: All patients signed the free and informed consent form. (If retrospective study; **Informed Consent:** Because the study was designed retrospectively, no written informed consent form was obtained from patients.)

Referee Evaluation Process: Externally peer-reviewed.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

Author Contributions: All of the authors declare that they have all participated in the design, execution, and analysis of the paper, and that they have approved the final version.

Acknowledgements: If any, it should be written before references.

References: References should be written according to the order of arrival. If the number of authors in the source is 6 or less, all authors (surname and first name should be the first letter, the names of the authors should be separated by commas) should be specified; ('et al "), the name of the article (only the first letter of the sentence and the first letter of the special names will be capitalized), short journal name, year, volume, short page number (15-8, not 15-18) and a space between the punctuation marks. The format used for the manuscript submission should be as specified in Index Medicus (www.icmje.org). The list of references should only include studies that have been published or accepted for publication or have a Doi number. Journal abbreviations should follow the style used in **Cumulated Index Medicus** (http://www2.bg.am.poznan.pl/czasopisma/medicus.php?lang=eng.). The number of references should be limited to 40 in research articles, 60 in reviews, 20 in case reports and 5 (max. 10) in letter to the editor. References should be given in parentheses at the end of the sentence just before the period. For example (4,5). The author (s) is responsible for the accuracy of the references. Importance should be given to the synthesis of domestic and foreign sources.

4. Figures and Table Titles

Titles should be written after the references. Each must be submitted as a separate image file (at least 300 dpi resolution, jpg).

After the article is accepted for publication, the first copy of the string will be sent to the responsible author by e-mail. In this text, only the spelling errors will be corrected and no additions or substitutions will be made. The responsible author will notify the editorial center by e-mail of the corrections within 2 days.

SOURCE WRITING EXAMPLES

Excerpt from journals;

Cesur S, Aslan T, Hoca NT, Cimen F, Tarhan G, Cifci A. Clinical importance of serum neopterin level in patients with pulmonary tuberculosis. Int J Mycobacteriol 2014; 3: 15-8 (not 15-18).

Excerpt from the book;

Tos M. Cartilage tympanoplasty. 1st ed. Stuttgart-New York: Georg Thieme Verlag; 2009.

Excerpt from the book, which is the only author and editor;

Neinstein LS. The office visit, interview techniques, and recommendations to parents. In: Neinstein LS (ed). Adolescent Health Care. A practical guide. 3rd ed. Baltimore: Williams & Wilkins; 1996: 46-60.

Excerpt from the book with multiple authors and editors;

Schulz JE, Parran T Jr.: Principles of identification and intervention. In: Principles of Addicton Medicine, Graem AW. Shultz TK (eds). American Society of Addiction Medicine, 3rd ed. Baltimore: Williams & Wilkins; 1998: 1-10.

If the editor is also the author of the chapter in the book;

Diener HC, Wilkinson M (editors). Drug-induced headache. In: Headache. First ed., New York: Springer-Verlag; 1988: 45-67.

Excerpt from PhD/Undergraduate Thesis;

Kilic C. General Health Survey: A Study of Reliability and Validity. phD Thesis, Hacettepe University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Psychiatrics, Ankara; 1992.

Excerpt from an internet site;

Site name, URL address, author names, access date should be given in detail.

Giving a Doi number;

Joos S, Musselmann B, Szecsenyi J. Integration of complementary and alternative medicine into the family market in Germany: Result of National Survey. Evid Based Complement Alternat Med 2011 (doi: 10.1093/ecam/nep019).

For other reference styles, see "ICMJE Uniform Requirements for Manuscripts Submitted to Biomedical Journals: Sample References".

Eder I hereby declare that all or part of the material in this study has not previously been published in any place and is not currently being evaluated elsewhere for publication. electronic submissions and all kinds of pre-declarations.

Sponsorship Statement

Authors should declare, if any, the roles of sponsors of the study:

1. Design of the study 2. Data collection, analysis and interpretation of the results 3. Writing the report

CHECKLIST/CONTROL LIST

The checklist must be complete.

What should be in the article;

-Editor to Presentation Page

-Title Page

- Ethical Status,
- "Conflict of Interest"
- Orcid numbers and author information should be on this page.

-Main Text

- -Copyright Transfer Form
- 1. **Presentation page to the Editor:** It should be written by the responsible author addressed to the editor. Phone and E-mail must be added. The title, short name of the submitted article, 'this work has not been sent to any journal and it is not under consideration and it is authors' own work' should be written in a Conflict of Interest statement'
- 2. Title page: Article titles/Short titles, Authors and Institutions, Corresponding Author's postal address and telephone, Orcid no (mandatory since 2019) and E-mail addresses of all authors. Special names and lowercase letters should be used in the title.
- **3. Main pages of the article:** Article Titles/Short Titles, Abstract and Keywords, Article Text, References, Table and Figure Titles, Tables. **This page will not contain author names or institution information.**
- **4.** Font: Titles should be "Times New Roman 12 and 12 pt, with 11 pt, double-spaced line spacing and 2.5 cm indentation in all areas.
- 5. Abstract: Abstract should begin with the title ABSTRACT and include the sections "Introduction/Aim, Material and Method, Findings/Results, Conclusion".
- **6.** Keywords should be added under the abstract in "Keywords", under "Abstract". Keywords should be at least 3, at most 6 words, separated by commas, and should be MeSH-compliant.
- 7. Material and Method section should indicate the approval of the **Ethics Committee** (it is recommended to include the place, date, ethics committee number). In articles that do not require Ethics Committee Approval, it should be stated that the Approval/Permission of the Institution has been obtained (in order to avoid Conflict of Interest). Related documents should be sent on request. It should be noted that the author (s) is responsible for ethical problems.
- 8. Statistical terms (such as p, r, α) should **not** be used in the discussion.
- **9. "Financial Support/Conflict of Interest Status";** should be stated before the bibliography and "*Acknowledgment*" should be written before the bibliography.
- **10. References Representation;** should be as detailed in the spelling rules. Journal's number number "(2)" **is not** in bibliography. In articles with up to six authors, the names of all authors should be written (with the first letter of surname and first name), and for articles with seven or more authors, the first three authors should be cited as et al. (et al.). The name of the manuscript should be in the form of sentence usage (**except for special names and first letter**). **The journal should be given a short name.** A space must be left between the punctuation marks after the journal name.
- 11.Tables, Graphs, Pictures and Figures should be placed under a separate title after the bibliography. Figures/ Images (at least 300 dpi resolution, must be jpeg file) and Tables should be submitted as one or more separate files.
- **12.Copyright Transfer Form:** Must be filled in the original language of the manuscript. It must be signed by all authors. In the absence of the signature of all authors, the **Corresponding Author** may take responsibility and sign on behalf of all authors.
- 13. Acceptable similarity rates: Up to 5% for one-to-one similarity, Maximum 20% for total similarity.